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PROCEEDINGS on the TRIAL of Muhammad Bahadur Shah, Titular 
King of Delhi, before a Milijary Commission, held at Delhi on the 27th day 
of January 1858, and followmg days by order of Major-General Penny, C,'B" 

Commanding the Division, pursuant to instruGtions from Sir John Lawrence, 
Chief Commissioner of the Punjab, for the trial of such prisoners as may be 
duly brought before it. • 

President.-Lieutenant Colonel Dawes Artillery. 

Members.-Major Palmer, Her Maje~~'s 6th Regiment •. 

Major Redmond, Her Maj~ty's 61st Regiment. 

Major Sawyers, Her Majesty's 6th Carabineers.­

'Captain Rothney, 4th Seikh Infantry., 

lnt~rpreter.-Mr. James Murpby. 

Prosecutor lor Governmellt.-Major F. J. HlJl'rlot, nephty JudgeA<l-
vocate General. . . " 

CHARGES. 

,1st. For that .he, being a pensioner of the British Goverpment in India' 
did at Delhi, at various times between the 10th of May and 1st of October 
1857, encourage, aid and abet Muhammad Bakht Kbo!:) Subadar of the regi­
ment, cf Artillery and divers others, native commissitfned officers and soldiel'~ 
unknown, of the East' India Company's army, in the crimes of mutiny and 
rebellion against the State. . 

. 2nd. For having. at Delhi, at various times between the 10th of May 
and 1st of October 1857, encouraged, aided and abetted MirzlJo Moghal, his 
own son, a subject of the British Government in India, and. others unknown, 
inhabitants of Delhi, and of the North-West Provinces of India, also subjects 
of the said British Government, to rebel and wage war against the State, 

3rd. For that he, being a subject· of the British Government in India, 
and not regarding the duty of his allegiance, did. at Delhi, on the 11 th 
May 1857"or thereabouts, as a false' traitor against the State proclaim and 
declare himself the reigning King and sovereign of India, and did then and 
there traitorously seize aad take unlawful possession of the city of Delhi; and 
did, moreover, at various times between the 10th of May and ls.t of October 
1857, as snch false traitor aforesaid, treasonably conspire, consult and agre~ 
with Mirza M oghal, his own lion, and with Muhammad Bakht Khan, Suqadar 

• of the" regiment of .Artillery, and divers others false traitors unknowD, to raj~o 
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levy, and make ins\lrrection, rebellion, and war against the St~t~ and further 
to fulfil and perfect his treasonable design of overthrowing and destroying 
the British Government in India, did assemble armed forccs" at Delhi, and 
send them forth to. fight and wage war against the said British Government. 

4th. For that he, at Delhi, on the 16th of May 1857, or thereabouts 
did, within the precincts of the palace at D~lhi, feloniously cause, and becom~ 
accessory to the murder of 49 persons, chIefly women and children of Euro­
pean and mixed European descent; and did, moreover, between the 10th 
of May and lst of October 1857, encourage aild abet divers soldiers and 
others in mur~ering. European o.ffi:cers, and cthe~ ~nglish subjects, including 
women and children, both by glvmg and promlSlng such murderers scrvice 
advancement, aud distinctions; and further, that he issued orders to different 
native rulers having local authority in India, to slay and murder Christians 
and English people, whenever and wherever found on their territories j the 
whole or any part of such conduct being an heinous offence under Act 
XVI of 1857. of the LegislativeCouncil in India. 

The prisoner pleaded Not Guilty. 

PROSECUTION. 

Judge Advocate's address to the Court. 

GENTLEMEN.-Before proceeding further in this case, it. may be neces­
sary to mention that evidence.will be submitted to you which may not beat 
strictly on the charges that have just been perused. It is deemed that all 
the circumstances t:onnected with the late rebellion, even though not in 
direct relation to the indictment, may be here appropriately recorded j 
indeed, up to a late date it had been decided that as the king's life had been 
guaranteed, this investigation should not be accompanied by charges at all, 
or even assume the fQrm of a trial, but should embrace all such matters as 
the discovered corresp,mdence and other reliable sources of information 
might indicate. 

I know not whether the Court would, under such circumstances, viz. 
the abseuce of specific accusation, have been called upon to l'ecord an opinion, 
but feeling that any investigation in reference to the prisoner must be more 
satisfactory if he himself were a party to it, and had the opportunity of refut­
ing by documentary or other testimony, such allegations as might appear to 
his detriment, I suggested that it would be better to have these in a specific 
and tangible shape, so that on snch points guilt or iunocence might be clearly 
established. This has been acceded to, and hence the charges that I have 

I jnst had the honour of perusing; but it must be clearly understood, that the 
scope of the investigation is not in any way confined by the obs.ervance of 
technicalities, such as belong to ~ more formal and to a regular trIal. 

The official letter which I addressed to Major-general Penny, c. B., 
commanding the division, on the subject of investigating charges against t~e 
prisoner, having met with his approval, is now laid before the Court for theIr 
information. 

• 
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No. 59~ 

Sir, Delhi, 5t~~~.J:8~. 

I HAVE the honor to report for your information, that having'" ~ 
the trial of the Rajah of Ballabhgarh, I am now prepared to enter on such 
investigation as may be deemed requisite in reference to the complicity of 
the ex-King of Delhi in the late rebellion, &c. . 

To render such investigation, satisfactory, it is in my opinion necessary, 
that it should assume the forht of a direct trial, viz j that charges should be 
framed, and the ex-King be called y.1;>0n to plead to them. 

I do not perceive how, under other circumstances, any result can be 
arrived at as to the ex-king's guilt or innocence that will not be open to the 
objection of being one sided and 1!lnjust. . 

If a verdict be sought on any points that may come under investigation, 
it is surely desirable that both sides of the case should l)e heard and equally 
considered. Snch a verdict, whether one of conviction or acquittal;· will 
have the stamp of authority, and stand a final and decisive record, either in 
·favour of or against the prisoner. I beg then to suggest that this course 
be adopted, as the only means of coming to a .conclusion satisfactory to the 
Court, the prisoner, and the public. Should I obtain your concurrence for 
80 doing, I will at once draw up charges on which the ex-king can be ar~ 
raigned, .and proceed on his trial with the forms usual in such cases. 
Awaiting your instructions. 

(Signed) 

To Major-General Penny, C. B. 

Commanding Meerut Division, Delhi. 

FRED. 1. HARRIOT, Major, 

Deputy Judge Ad1:!ocate-General. 

. I fully, concur in the opinions. expressed by the Deputy Judge Advocate 
General. . . 

(Signed) N.· PENNY,. Major-General, 

Commanding Delhi Field Force;. 

This'lettei having been forwarded ·t.6 Mr. Saunders,. Officiating Com .. 
missioner. at. Delhi, it was decided t~at the suggestions. in it should be acted 
on j and the charges have been framed, and this trial commenced accord­
ingly; but still, that part of the original intention to enter . into a. full and 
complete investigation of aU points in referenctl to the rebelhon has not been 
abandoned, and I have mentioned this circumstance to account for the in. 
traduction of matter that might otherwise appear extraneous, and to prepar~ 
the Court for the reception of it. . Havin~ finished this ·preliminary state­
ment, I will. say a few words on the natur~o.f the pending trial, and the 
proof likely t~ be bro\lgh~ in support of the llldlctment. 
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The trial, whet.b.er it be considered in reference to the once exalted 
rank of the prisoner, to the position which his birth and descent still give 
him in a political point of view, to the magnitude of the crimes imputed t<1 
-him, or to his connexion with events which will for ever remain recorded in 
the pages of history, "must be of no ordinary interest. The trial, indeed, 
will be an unusual one, for, under all circumstances, it will c1o~e with the 
verdict; hut still that verdict will be looked fOl' by thol1sands with feelingg 
snch as -are seldom awakened by the proceedings of It court of criminal 
jurisdiction. 

The following extracts from a letter, No. f, 19, of the 26th November 
1857, addressed by C. B. Saunders, Esquire, Officiating Comm.is!ioner a& 
Ddhi, to Major-General- PennY1 c. D., Commanding the Delhi Field Force, 
will explain the circumstance of the Court being restricted to a verdict; and 
that it is owing to Major-General 'Vilson having guaranteed the prisoner 
his life, that sentence, even in case of conviction, has been barred. 

The letter of Mr. Saunders is written under instructions from Sir John 
Lawrence, Chief Commissioner of the Punjab, and the extracts from it are 
as follows : -

_ " I have at the same time to inform you, that the life of the ex-king 
baving been guaranteed to him by Captain Hodson, acting under instruc­
tions from Major-General Wilson, it will not be in the competency of the 
Military Commission to pass any sentence on him, eYen should a conviction 
be the result of their inquiries. II 

" 1 have the bon or to forward such documentarY evidence in reference 
to this case as I llave been able to obtain, and shail be at all times ready 
to give you any assistance in my power in furthering the object in view, by 
rrocuring the attendance of witnesses, &c." 

'\'-l, 

" I have had the vernacular documents very carefully translated by Mr. 
James Murphy, De~ut1 Colleetor of Customs at Delhi, who is an excelleut 
linguist, and can, If you approve, place Lis services a.t your disposal f01' 
employment as an interpreter." 

The documentary evidence is of great extent, and to render it as in. 
telligible as possible, I have arranged it under five different heads; viz. 
First, miscellaneous papers. Second, those which refer to a loan. Third1 
those which refer to the pay of the soldiery. Fourth, relating to all military 
matters; and Fifth, those which relate to murders committed, and which 
bear special reference to the fourth charge. A very great number of these 
documents are supposed to have orders on them "Written by the prisoner 
himself, and evidence to this point will be called; the genuineness of the 
other papers will be established in such manner as under the circumstances 
of the case may be found possible; but lIome, I fear, will have to be 
presented to you without direct proof of having come from those to whom 
they are attributed. In such cases the Court will bear in mind that a full 
investigation is the great desideratum, and that such cannot be perfected, 
if evidence, credible in itself, be rejected merely because Bome unimpol'tant 
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formula cannot be complied with. They will recollect the difficulties as to 
proof which must ever attach to documents not in the handwriting of thoso 
who are the authors of them, and who, at the present moment, have weighty 
reasons for declining to acknowledge anything that may connect· them with 
the prisoner under trial. The oral testimony I need not dilate on. I shall 
endeavour to procure it from the most reliable sources; 'but it must still be 
borne in mind, that almost every native that I can possibly brillg before this 
Court as an evidence will have some interest in giving his narrative a colour­
ing as favourable to himself and to the circumstances which he relates, as 
inay be co~sisten.t with tho¥ broad and acknowledged facts of the mutiny 
and rebellion whiCh are already known to us all.' I shall now commence 
with the documentary evidence, and bring forward my first witness in proof 
of the handwriting of the prisoner, and of others who may have taken part 
in it. 

. . 
Fi1'st Witness.-Ahsan .Uulla Khan, late Physician to the e:.tJ-King. 

. E:camined by the Judd8 Advocate--Papers under .the head Miscel .. 
laneous, numbered 2, 3, 4, 13, 14, 19, 20, 21, 22, 24, 27, 30, 33, 39,40, 41, 
43, 44, 48, 50, 52, 53, 54, are shown to witness, who declares that the orders 
written at the head of each are in the handwriting of the prisoner. Also the 
following are shown to witness, Nos: 6, 15, 18,25,26,31,32,35,36 and 
45, who recognises the special cypher as being affixed by the prisoner's 
own hand. Papers Nos. 5, 16, 29, 34, and 38, are shown to witness, and he 
declares that the writing in all of them is that of Mukund Lal, who' was 
special secretary to the prisoner; and that the seals on three of them, viz., 

. Nos. 5, 16, and 34, are impressions, from the King's state seals. Papers 
Nos. 12, 23, 28, 37, 42, 46, 47, 51, and 55 are shown to witness, who 
does not recognise the handwriting in any of them, but says the seal on No. 
23 is that of Mirza Moghal, the commander-in-chief; on No. 37 the im­
pressions of the . seals, of the chief police officer, and of the Chief Court of 
Justice of Delhi; on No. 42 there are the impres(J.ons of the office seal of 
the police station of Budderpore, and of the King's own secretorial ; on 
46, the seal is an impression of that of Mirza Moghal.. He does not rocog­
nise anything in reference to the other numbers. Papers Nos. 1, 7, 8, 9. 
10, 11, 17, and 49 are shown to witness. He recognises the seals on all 
these eight papers as impressions from the special seal engraved with the' 
King's cypher) and with the exception of the writing in parer No. 10, he 
recognises that on all the others as that ofMukund Lal, the prisoner's special 
secretary. No. 56 is shown to witness; he recognises ~t as the handwriting 
of M:ukund LaI, and as bearing the King's own state sea!. -

The Judge Advocate now peruses translation~ of the above papers down 
to No. 36, which are entered as follows:- . -

Ct Papers arranged under the Head of MISCELUNEOUS." 

No. l.-:"':'ORDER under the Seal engraved.in the King's Special Cypher, 
dated 14th May 1857. 
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To the Special Slave MUhAmmad Ali Beg, Subordinate Collector' or 
Land Revenuf:t of the Southern Division of the District. 

BE it known to you,-¥o:a. are directed immediately on receipt of this 
order to proceed to the royal presence, and to bring with you the revenue 
you have collected. You are directed f)lrther to make complete arrange­
ments for the preservation of order throughout the limits of your jurisdic­
tion. You will consider these orders imperative .. ' 

No. 2.-PETITION from Moulavi Muhamma!.rZohur Ali~ Police Officer 
of Najaf Garb, dated 18th May 1851. 

To the King!, Shelter of too W orId t 

Respectfully showeth,-TBAT' the orders of the royal missive' have been· 
, fully explained to all the Thakurs,* Chowdaries,t Kanungoes,t and Pat­

waries, § of this township of Najf 'Garh, and the best arrangements have 
been established. Further, that, agreeable to your- Majesty's injunctions 
steps are being taken to collect horsemen and footmen j and it is explained te>­
them that 'their allowanceil will be paid from the revenlle of this division of the­
district. Your slave's asm17ances on this point, ,however, will not be be­
lieved.till some Ghazees, IIrecentlyengageli shall have arrived. As regards, 
Nagli Kakrowla" Dachaoo-Kallan, and other adjacent villages, YOUT slave has, 
to represent that, unrestrained by the dr'ead of consequences, and bent 
on 'all sorts 'Of excesses, the inhabitants have commenced' plunderillg 
traveller!il.Twopetitioris regarding the conduct of these lawless disturbers. 
of the peace have already been submitted. and I am now in hopes that 
some royal prince, of reputation and capacity, may be depwted; ,with ,a 
sufficient force of .cavalry, infantry, and Ghazees, to settle the portion of 
the c(tuntry 'constituting your petitioner's jurisdiction, your sIllive will thea 
point out these lawless villagers, and will be able for the future to preserve 
order and prevent crime. If delay or indecision is allowed to occur, many 
lives, it is to :be feared, will be sacrificed. Some of the establishment at 
this station were very much straitened in pecuniary means, and had no 
choice but to go away. If with kind consid.eration, therefore, some funds 
are granted, a portion will .be given to the men here referred to, and horse. 
men and footmen will be eritertainedto preserve order. But your Majesty 
is the lord and master. ~ This petition is forwarded to yonr Majesty by the 
hands of the cartmen who were recently subjected to lawiest treatment. I 
would beg, that your Majesty's 'orders may be sent by these men. (Prayers 
for the King's prosperity.) Signed and 'sealed, the Slave Muhammad Zahur­
Ali, Police Officer 0/ ~aja£ Garh. 

• Thakur-Principa.lland proprietor. 
t Chowdary-Head man of trades ar professions. 
:t Kanungo-Registrar of landed proprietary rights. 
§ Patwary-Village accountant. 
1\ Ghszu.-Panatics pledged to sacrifice their liv8IJ, if necessary. in lighting in defence ot the' 

Mahomedan faith. 
,. A wrm of expression with which petition. are frequently closed, implying that t!,B' 

petitioller baa discharged hi. duty, 6nd that it nmain. 'With the partr petitioned t() uerCIW 
prerogative, and determine what ,honld be donlt. 
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'Autograpn order by the King in Pencjl. 

Mirza Moghalwill quickly send a regiment of infantry, ~th its officers 
to Naja! Garh. 

No. a.-PETITION of Captain' Dildar .Ali Khan, dated 23rd May 1857. 

To the King! S'helter of the World I 

Respectfully showeth,-.-THAT the guard which had been stationed for 
the protection of your slave'f, house, having been withdrawn within the last 
four or five aays, ill-conducted characters of the city have been goiug, in 
mobs, to plunder it. It is in this house that your slave's wife and children 
reside, ~nd he therefore prays that a guard inay be .stationed to protect it. 
(Prayers for the King's Prosperity.) Petition of the home-bDrn slaveJ 

Captain Dildar Ali Khan, 

Autograph. order of the K.ing in Pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will station &. guard, from the 20th Regiment Native 
Infantry, at the petitioner's house. 

No.4.-PETITION of Rajab Ali, Jemadar oBhe Delhi Magazine, dated 
24th May,1857. , ' ' 

To tlie King! Shelter of the Worid r 
Respectfully showeth,-THAT we salves, who are nurtured by your salt, 

leave our familie~ at our homes, and are agreeably to your Majesty's orders, 
daily 'engaged in the -magazine from morning till night. The disorders' and 
disturbances prevailing in' the city being beyond all limits, we present 
ourselves at the royal threshold, and pray that orders under your Majesty's 
seal may be issued to aU the police officers that they maintain efficient 
arrangements in the several. jurisdictions, for the protection of the houses 
of the magazine servants ; moreover, your slaves residing in the Khalassy 
lines, which are situated in the Nigambodh police section as well as the 
rest of the inhabitants, wearied of their lives, by the elCcessive oppression 
they are suffering, pray that the present police officer may be transferred to 
some station outside the city. so that your petitioner may obtain rest and 
quiet. Petition of the slave, Rajah Ali, jemadar,'of the Delhi magazine. 

Autograph Order by the K~ng, in Pencil.* 

Mirza Moghal will station all the men who brought treasure from 
Bulandshahr at the magazine, and the soldiers 9f the royal levies are not 
to be allowed to carry away anything from the magazine without special 
permission. 

No. 5.-0RDER under the State Seal of the King, dated 25th May 1857. 

To the Shelter of Sy~ds, Syud Abdul Hasan. 

LEARN,-That from the day you left Roh~uk, no account has been 
received fr~m yoU of ,the state of affairs there. You are therefore directed 

• This order haa no connexion with the petition, and waa written on it evidently by mistake. 
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immed~ately on the.,receipt of this special mandate, to communicate detailed 
particulars <4 the state of that district, as to whether or not you have 
succeeded in bringing it under entire subjection. Submit your petition in 
this matter without delay. Consider this order extremely imperative. 

Note on the reverse--" Copy taken." 
! 

No. 6.-0RDER under the Autograph Cypher of the King, in pencil, 
dated 27th May 1S57. 

To Mirza Moghal.f 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant ltIirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise 
Mirza Moghal Bahadur. Learn, That the articles which are detailed below, 
and which are forthcoming in the magazine, are required to strengthen the 
bridge over the J umna. You are, therefore, directed to have them made 
over, by the superintendent of the magazine, to Chuni Lal, the superinten­
dent of the bridge~ 

Cables,* large, as many as may be required. 
Planks, large, as many as may be required. 
String, as much as may be required. 
Iron hatchets • • . • . . 2 
Iron adzes 2 
~nh~ 2 
Iron chisels 2 
Iron nails, large 100 

No.7. ORDER under the Seal engraved in the King's Special Cypher, 
dated 29th May 1857. 

To the Emblem of Dignity, Jang Baz Khan, Police Officer of Alapur. 

LEARN, That you, slave, have been nominated and posted to the situa. 
tion of police officer of Alapur. You will take heed to conduct the dutics 
of this appointment with all integrity, honesty, and care; and' you will, 
moreover, under all circumstanceii, maintain such efficient arrangements 
throughout your jurisdiction, that pillage, highway robberies, and murden 
may not occur. 

Note on 'the reverse, "Copy taken!' 

No. S.-ORDER under the Special Seal engraved in the King's Cypher, 
,dated 29th May 1857. 

To the Slave, Emblem. of Resolution, Multammad Ali Beg. 

CONSIDER yourself favoured, and know that you are directed, agreeably . 
to our royal orders, to establish the office of the private revenues of' ~he 
kingt, and the principal subordinate office of the district for the collectIou 
of the land revenue,t in the house of James Skinner Bahadur, and in that 
recently purchased by the wife ofthe said James Bahadur. Be assured of 
our favour • 

• Langar, the world in'the origmal me&1lB either a cable' or an anchor. ' 
t Xhaln Sharif.. : Hazur TabliL 
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No. '9.-0RDl!:R under the Seal engraved in the, King'~ Special Cypher, 
dated 31st May 1857. • 

To Bet Ram, JJand-holder af the Village of Goraml·a. 

MAKE efficient and effectual arrangement for the supply of commissariat 
necessaries, and you shall be fully rewarded by our royal government. . . 

No. 10.-0RDER attested with the -Seal engraved in -the King's special 
Cyp~er j dated 5th June 18i7. 

To the Men of the Royal Levies and one Company of the British Native 
Infantry', constituting the Guard at the Lahore Gate. 

To the effect, that some pipes of spirits, offensive to the sight,· and 
forbidden by the Mahomedan religion, were taken in plunder. Th,at thl'ee 
of these of the large size, were left in the ml,Lgazine for the manufacture of 
powder j that one was sent to the hospital to the doctor, and that the rest 
are now bestowed, according to the detail below, on the writers of the 
Kayasth caste, old servants of the King. It is therefore incumbent, that no 
hindrance to. the conveyance of the pipes to the houses of the writers may be 
offered at tbe gate. They will be removed according to these orders of our 
royal presence, and no man accordingly is to question or hinder their 
removal. . 

Munshi Mukund Lal 
Sheo, late clerk in the private office of the King .. 
Samman, late inspector of the Farash Khana 
Sukhan Lal and Juwaila Prashad 
Sant Lal, Lakshman. Das, officers of the pay de­

partment 
Jowlea Nath 
To the doctor at the Hospital 

1 pipe. 
1 

" 1 ." 
·1 " 

1 
1 
1 

" 
" 
" 

No. 1l . ......:..ORDER under the Seal engraved in the King's special Cypher, 
dated 6th June, 1857. 

To the Emblem of Dignity I The honored of the Sovereign, lIIuhammaa ' 
. Takki Khan. 

LEARN, That whereas you, our special slave, were formerly. appointed 
superintendent of our Hall.ofSpecial Audience, you are now, in considera­
tion of your high literary attainments, and your honesty and dignity, nomi­
nated to the office of sudder amin of Shahjahanabad,* the seat of the im­
perial government, in room of the keranyt dismissed. You will conduct 
the duties of this appoi~tment in subjection to the authority of the highly 

/ distinguished paragon of accomplishments, the Moulavi Sudderuddiu 
Bahadur. 

No. 12.-PETITION of Zu.otay Khan, attached to the Police Station of 
Basant, dated 16th June 1857. 

• Delhi. t Wl'itcl', a contemptuous lI11u~ion to the Euglish officer. 
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~o the King I Adoration of the World ! 

PREVIO!S to this, yonr Majesty's orders were received, to the effect 
that 40 footmen, from the force here, should be detached to the police station 
of Paharganj, but delay occurred in carrying out these orders, in consequence 
of divers necess~ies not having been ready. To-day, your slave has been 
honoured with a seconll order, reiterating the first: your Highness, agreeably 
to your Majesty's orders, your slave will aliend ~the royal presence to­
mOl'row, bringin~ 40 footmen of his station,8nd will afterwards install them 
at the Paharganj sta,tion. These men have bee~ paraded and mustered in the 
presence of Nathia Khan, trooper. (Prayers for the :King's prosperity.) 
Petition of the slave; Zabtay Khan, attached to the poli!!e station of Basant. 

Note on. the reverse.-" The contents have been learned 16th June 
]857 .... 

No. 13.-ORDBB. under the King's special Cypher, in. pencil, in. Autograph, 
dated 18th June 1857. 

To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise 
Mirza. Moghal Bahadur! • Learn, ,that yesterday, an order was passed, under 
our own special signature, ~n a petition from the inhabitants of the old 
fort, prohibiting acts of devastation against the petitioners,' and that this 
petition was then sent to you. It is surprising that up to the present time, 
no arrangement should have been'made, and that you should not have given 
effect to the prohibition by sending out some cavalry. It is the business 
of the army to p·otect, and not to desolate and plunder. The officers of the 
army will, therefore, immediately restrain their men from the commission of 
these improprieties; and further, as the intelligence of the approach of the 
enemies' troops was false, these lawless soldiery should not now be kept in 
the old fort, but, on the contrary, entrenchments should be constructed for 
them at the distance o.f five or six miles, and they sh!luld be stationed there 
so that our subjects may obtain immunity from the hardships complained 
of; and that, at the same time, a barrier may be raised against the approach 
of the enemies' troops. You will immediately take steps to arrange this 

.matter, and will allow no neglect to occur in reference to it. Be assured of 
our kindness. 

, (In pencil, in the King's handwriting, to give the order greater force, 
no doubt), .. Make arrangements quickly." 

No. l4.-JOINT PETITION of Chand Khan and Ghulab Khan, on behalf 
of themselves and other Residents of Jysingpur allll Shahganj, otherwise 
known as Paharganj; dated 19th June 1857. 

To the King r Shelter of the W orId r 
Respectfully showeth,-THAT whereas in these days of aU8picious pros­

pects, we .poor residents of Jysingpur and Shahganj, otherwise known as 
PaharganJ, and of other places, forming a community, pa.ss our time under 
your royal and light dispensing prestige in freedom from all grievances. 
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Whereas thill township of Paharganj has always borne thq, royal name, * and 
whereas frequently the t;roops of the state, eIQ.erging from the 4jmir Gate, 
visit Paharganj, and oppressing the shopkeepers, forcibly take away their 
wares without the payment of prices, and also entering the dwelling-houses of 
the destitute and indigent, forcibly carry away all such articles, as beds, woods, 
vessels, &c., that they can lay. hands on, and wound with fire-arms and 
swords those who may suppliiate their forbearance. Wearied by this oppres­
,sion fro~ the army J we are reauced to the necessity of petitioning your august 
presence, that from regard to justice, as well as from kind consideration fol' OUll 

condition, the officers of the asmy maybe ordered to explain to) and enjoin on 
their men that they desist from oppressing us and the other poor residents of 
Paharganj. (Prayers foJ.'" the King's prosperity.) 'Petition of the-lowest of 
servants, 'Chand Khan and Ghulab Khan. ' -

Autograph Orderhy the King in pencil'; 

Mirza Moghal will adopt such measures against these' devastators 
as will compel them to desist from plundering, so that our subjects may not 
be aggrieved or oppressed. . 

An incomplete note on the reverse inapplicable to this case. 

~o. 15.-ORDEB. under the 'Autograph' cypher'.of the King, in peng~~ 
dated 20th June 1857.. 

To Mirza .Mo!)hal: 

Son,-THE ilIus.triollS and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-d'in, otherwise Mirza, 
Moghal ,Bahadur. Learn, that Abdul Hasan alia, Mir Nawab, son of thel 
Jawyer Mir Taffazul Hasan, is a suspicious character, and it is our royal: 
pleasure that he be not allowed to come into the pala,ce. W e hav~ recently. 
heard that. this man is with you. You are therefore directed to have him, 
ejected immediately, and have orders, conveyed to. both gates, that on no. 
account is he to be allowed admission into the palace for the fmure. Con­
sider these orders imperative~ Moreover, listen to nei intercessions that may 
be made by others in this man's favol'. Be assured of our favour. 

No. H~.-ORDER under the King"s State'Seal, dated 24th June 1857. 
, . 

To the SlaV'e, Emblem of P~wer, iumma-ud-din-Khan. 

LEARN,-That your petition soliciting permission to open a newspaper 
press has been received ~nd read, and that your request ~s granted. You 
are, aGcordingly~ authorlsed hereby to start the newspaper m ,full ~onfidence., 

, You are, how~ver, directed to obse:t:Ve great care that ~al~e. mtellIgence, or, 
that statements by which the characters 9£ respectable mdlvlduals, or of the 
residents of the city, may be aspersed, directly or by implication, be not 
inserted." 
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No. 17.,-ORl).;ER unuer the Seal engraved ill' the King's Special 
• Cypher, dated 26th June 1857. 

To Mirza Mogltal, 

SOU,-TUE, illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise Mirza 
Moghal Bahadur. Learn,-'1ihat orders have, d,ay after day, been issued to 
the officers of the cavalry to vacate the garden, ~nd they have till now done 
llOtliing bu.t make excuses and promises, DefiRite orders are therefore now 
issued to the intent that you, our son, will summon the officers and, win 
te11 tLLm that if they co~sider themselves the &'ervants of the State, they 
w,lluut go to the battel'les to~morrow, but will leave the garden and remove 
their quarters to Keetur's* house, situated under the palace, where there 
is abundance of accommodation and ample shelter of trees. \Vhat they urge 

'in rl-ply you will submit for our consideration, 

No, IS.-0RDER under the Autograph Cypher of the King, in Pencil, 
dated 27th June 1857. ' 

To Mil'za Mag/wi and 1J.firza Khair Sultan. 

Sons,~TnE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise Mirza 
Mogbal Bahadur, and Mirza Khair Sultan Bahadur. Learn,-That your 
petition regardmg the proceedings of four or five ill-conducted men, who as­
I;UII-in go, as a disguise, the appearance and dress of soldiers of the nati ve infantry 
of the COp1pany, have gone about plundering the inhabitants of the city, and 
have now left for the country, and representing the detriment to the Govern­
ment which must ensue in consequence, and further requesting permission to 
take measures for suppressing such practices, and for capturing the men alluded 
to has been perused. It is a matter of some surprise that from the lawless 
doings of but four or five men so much plunder and devastation in the city and 
so much ruination of the people generally should result; and that, on their 
capture alone the establishment of order should be expected to depend; for 
not a day has elapsed since the arrival of the army and its taking up 
quarters in the city, that petitions from the townspeople have not been 
submitted representing the excesses committed by numerous infantry sepoys, 
about whom there could be no suspicion of disguise, and that orders have not 
been issued day after day to you, our sons, to take measures, with the aid of 
a military force, to suppress these disorders. Considering all this, it seems 
now altogether unlikely that order can be secured while the army remains in 
the city. However, Yllu, our sons, are nevertheless directed to send to our 
glorious Ilresence, lIome, oue able to recognise the vagabonds allud­
ed to, that lIe may be sent, accompanied by borsemen and footmen 
of our own royal levies, with a mandate to the chief police officer of 
the city and llis lIubordinates, to arrest and forward without delay to our 
presence, those whom he may point out, and if any villany or 
instigation to plunder shall be proved Ilgainst thollC who may be thus 
apprehended, they will receive punishments adequate to their guilt. Eut 
you, our sons, are directed to take all proper steps to prevent the men of the 
army from plundering and desolating the city. In every case of an oifence of 
these kin~s being proved, or where a man may be found in the private reBi. 

• Aeetur, a comlption, pPrl,apl, of lOme Engli.h name. 
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dence of any of the inhabitantsl the officers will award punishment to the 
offender, so that these evils may be suppressed. :B~ assured of our 
kindness. 

No. 19.-PETITION of Muhammad Khair Sultan, dated 27th lune 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the W orId ! 

Respectfully showeth,-.JruAT.162 sheep and goats, which were being 
taken to the English, have been captured and brought in by Sheo Das Pathak 
and Narayan Singh, sepoys oj the 46th Regiment Native Infantry, serving 
in the batteries, and that five European soldiers have . been killed on this 
occasion. It is submitted for information. Petition of the humble Khair 
Sultan. 

Autograph Note in Pencil, by the King. 

162 sheep and goats have been received. 

Note at the top-" Index .. No. 290." 

No. 20.-PETJTION of Baldeo, Farmer of Ferozabad; dated 28th lune 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully showeth,-TuAT owing to the unsettled state of the times, 
and in consequence of the city· gates being kept closed, your slave has 
stored the produce of his winter crop of grain.of the agricultural year 1264, 
on the premises of a relation in the old fort. The officers of the ·regiment 
stationed there now oppose its removal, and your slave is pressed for pay­
ment of his rent for the year referred to, by his landlord Syad Abdulla 
Mafeedar*. Your slave therefore trusts that an order, under your royal 
signature, may be sent to the officers stationed in the old fort; directing them 
not to oppose the removal of the grain to the city, so that yOUI' slave may 
sell it and pay his rent. The petition of the slave Haldeo, cultivator of the 
"Village of Ferozabad Khadir endowment to the shrine of Sharif Rauat 
Muhammad Chisti. 

Autograph order by the King, in pencil. 

Ahsan Ulla Khan, have an order written. 

Note on the Reverse.-An order has been written. 

No. 21.-PETITIONOf Syad Abdulla, Priest at the Shrine of Hazrat Shelch 
Muhammad C4isti, dated 29th lune 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the' World! 

PREVIOUS to tRis, your petitioner submitted a petition, 'representing that 
some of the cultivators of the re:r..t free village of Ferozabad Khadir had not 
paid their rents on account of the winter crop of the agricultural year 1264, 
and he requested that aid might be. granted to enforce. payment. p"p to 
that time no damage had been sustamed by the crops, whlch the cultIVators 
could urge as a reason for delay. Now, however, the whole of the autumnal 

• Reut free teDIUlt. 
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crop Of sugar ca~. churree, Ite'. of the agricultural year 1265, has been to­
tally devastated, and more than this, the very implements of agriculture 
such as ploughs, the wood-work on wells, have been all carried away in 
plunder by the soldiers. Under these circumstances, certainly the rents 
cannot be realised j and as the revenue of this village has been assigned as 
a,n en~owment to support the expenses of the ~l~shouse' under y?ur peti­
tIOner s management, he depend,S on your royal {klll,dn~ss and coItslderation, 
and trusts such arrangements will be adopted, a~ wIlllnsure that no soldier 
shall cause loss to the agriculturists of the said l illage. . A petition from the 
cultivators . also is being submitted. Petiti6n of the Anchorite Syad 
Abdulla, son of Byad Shah Sabur Ali Chisti. Official Seal of the Shrine. 

Autograph order of the King in pencil, illegible. 

No. 22.-JOINT :retition of Jogai Kishwar and Sheoprashad, (No date) t 
. ·Merchants. 

To the -King I Shelter of the W orId. 
Your Majesty,-PUING, agreeably to your Majesty's orders, 1200 

rupees into· the Royal.Treasury" we obtained If. document under your sp~cial 
signature, assuring us that we should. for the future have full immunity 
from all vexation alid' annoyance at the bands of tIie functionaries of the 
State, tM Princes Royal of illustrious descent, the soldiers of the army 
and all others. Notwithstanding all this, however, some troopers, bent upo~ 
plunder, still come daily to your slave's house in the name of the princes, 
and wish to take our lives, or carry us prisoners. Left without other choice 
we have been sitting concealed for the last three or four days, alid our 
servants and retainers being subject to every grievance and hardship, have. 
not known what to do. Denied ingress and egress to and from our house 
we have been rendered houseless as it were, and the privacy of our families. 
has been completely ruined. If the princes royal, delegated' to. 
protect the, subjects of the State and the poor begin themselves. 
to plunder and oppress, where then can there be any safety fOI' 
the subject? From your Majesty's goodness, clemency and justice, 
equal to Nowsherwan's we expect that a written order will be addressed 
to each of the royal princes of illustrious ancestry, namely, his Highness. 
the Lord of the World, Mirza Muhammad Moghal Bahadur, Mirza Khair 
Muhammad Sultan Bahadur, Mirza Muhammad Abulbakr Bahadur, Mirza 
Muhammad Abdulla Bahadur and others, to the effect that for the future 
no soldier of the cavalry or infantry be permitted to go to your slave's honse 
and commit acts of aggression there j and that the military guard at present 
stationed there be removed, because lawless characters of the city take ad­
vantage of the guard being .changed to plunder your sl/!ve's property. We 
further expect from your Majesty's kindness and consideration that a guard 
of militia from the chief police station of the city may he placed at our house, 
that we and our servants may not be hindered in going in and out, and may 
be protected from the ill-conducted characters of the city i and we pray 
moreover, that a written order may be sent to the chief police officer, that 
none of the ill-conducted characters above alluded to may be permitted to 
get up disturbances with your petitioner!'. ( Prayers for thc prosperity of 
the reign.) Petition of the slaves, J ogal Kishwar and Sheoprashad, merchants. 

t Date of final order, the lit J wy1857. 
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No'date. Autograph signatUre of the firm in.Hindi. 

Autograph order by the King, in pencil. 

l.ru'Za Moghal Eahadur Will station a guard at the· house of the peti. 
tioners. NO' date. Index No. 218. 

Note on the Reverse.-.Jgreeably to' his Majesty's commands a. writteJi 
()rder has been issued, datedJlst July 1857. ' 

No. 23.-PETITION\f Mirza Moghal, dated 2nd July 1857. 
To the King! Shelter ~f the World I 

Respectfully showeth.-THAT a petition has this day been received from. 
the inhabitants of the city, to the effect that they have been directed by the 
chief police officer to wait armed, and in a. body, on the officers of the troops 
arrived from Eareilly. It does not appear what the object Of this order is. 
Your petitioner, tnerefore, suggests that such orders as may be necessary 
jn this case may be issued, sO' that they may be complied with. Petition 
of the slave, Mirza Muhammad Zohur-ud-din Bahadur. Official seal of the 
Commander-in-Chief Bahadur. . 

NO' order. 

NO'. 24.-PE.TITION of Syad Muhammad, Ascetic,.dated 4th July 1~57. 

TO' the King! Shelter of the World! 
Respectfully showeth,-THAT. the soldiers of the 9th regiment Native 

Infantry quarterl)d near Skinner's. house, which is close to the Cashmere 
Gate, are destroying the houses adjoining the Ailkha~d Khan Police Station, 

. and situated in the rear of Skinner)s house.· Several teneme'nts,' forming 
a sqUBrIl, som'e of brick, or stone, and some of mud or unbaked bricks, imll 
belonging to ascetics, are situated in the locality. The aforesaid soldiery 
had before dug out and taken awftJ the doors and door-frames. They are 
DOW destroying the roofs. As your Majesty dispenses jU!!tice to all, your 
petitioner depends on your Majesty's goodness and favor, and prays that 
the entire demolition of these houses by the soldiers may be prevented, so 
.that what remains of them maybe saved from their aggressive hands. It 
was necessary, and has therefore been submitted. (prayers for the king'~ 
prosperity.) Petition of the ascetic, the lowly Syad Muhammad. 

Autograph Order. by the King in Pencil. 
Mirza Mogha1 Bahadru. will·lay strict injunctions on the officers of the 

9th regiment Native Infantry, to refrain from the spoliation complained or. 
. "Note on the reverse.-The order has been written. 

Number on the face (index number probably) "204." 

No. 25.~PETITION of Ahaan-ul-hak, dated 4th July 1857. 

To the. King t Shelter of th~'vy orld! . 
Respectfully showeth,-THAT Mirza Abulbakr Sahib has lately been 

in the habit, with unrestrained license and recklessness, of visiting for evil 
purposes the house of Princes II Farkhunda Zama.n.i, situa.ted in Bahram Khan's 
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Teraha (your petitioner's houses being in the same division. of the city) 
and of indulging in the practice of all those acts which may be expected t~ 
result from drunke~ness.. Acc?rding to his custoI? he ca~e .yesterday be­
fore noon to the saId pnncess s house, and remaIned. drInkIng spil'ituous 
liquors. and hearing singing for the rest of the day. About an hour and 
a-half after sunset. he prepared to leave j but £e key of the street-gate, ac­
ci~enta~ly being with the ~atchmaIl:' and.he.· ot coming imm~diately, the 
MIrza was delayed. Upon this, the MIrza bemg} a hurry, drew hIS pistol and 

. fired it at your slave, who happened at the time(to be sitting at his door with 
some friends. Your 'slave kept silent, althougJl- no pretext had been afforded 
for this violence: but the Mirza,. nevertheless, gave unlimited hand to his 
tongue. and thought to enter your slave's house, and to plunder and to carry 
off all the property it contained. Your slave, however, shut the door, fixed 
on the chain, and got inside. The Mirza had intended to killyour slave, 
and it was with this object he discharged his pistol at him j but as some 
little portion of your slave's life remained uncompleted, the shot did not 
take effect. After the door had been closed, the Mirza drew his sword, and 
made several attacks upon it, and moreover directed his servants to throw 
stones at different places over the walls, and at the doors. He further gave 
orders, that the artillery, infantry, and cavalry, should plunder the house and 
slaughter the inmates. The watchman stationed at the Faiz Bazaar arriving, 
the Mirza forcibly threw him on the ground, and it was probable that he 
would have severed the watchman's head from his body. This did not 
occur j but the Mirza so bruised the watchman's back and head with blows, 
as to leave him half dead. Moreover, the Mirza kept striking with his drawn 
sword in all directions, and very much injured the door with successive shota 
from muskets, and so distributed the infantry soldiers in the bazaar, at 
the same time ordering the troopers to plunder and murder, that many of 
the people passing in the streets were hit by the bullets. The assistant to 
the chief police officer of the city was hit by one t * * * * 
,* * * * Nothing remains of the property that belonged 
to the residents of this part of the city; or to the police officert * * 
* * * * * * All the goods and chattels, 
~ikewise, which happened to be in the yard in front of the house were 
carried off in plunder, and the Mirza, then destroying the door, left a guard, 
and went away. In this disturbance, 'your slave has had a foretaste of 
the day of judgment. Whatever has passed, now· defending on your 
Majesty's kindness, I trust that full punishment may be awarded. Other­
wise, to-morrow is not far from to-day, and the said Lord of the World, 
Mirza Abulbakr bent on evil purposes will certainly come with cannons, 
muskets a~d swords, and will carry out his designs, and what we helpless 
subjects will have suffered will be something astounding. (Prayers for the 
prosperity of the reign. ) " 

List of property carried off. 

Cotton 'carpet, five yards long, valued at seven rupees 1 
Copper vessels (Iotas) . . •. 2 
Copper saucers and covers, valued one"rupee 2 

t ]?ortioDS of the original have beeD tom out. 
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Janumaz, valued two rupees .. 
Benares scarf, valued seven rupees 
A horse, colou,r dun, valued 200 rupees 
A small portable hookah .• 

- A pair of bullocks, value 100 rupees .• 
A sword, valued 15prupees " .• 

Petition of Muhamma~ Ahsan-ul-hak. 

.. 
•. 1 

1 
1 
1 

17 

1 pair. 
1 

ORDER under the Autogra~h Special Cypher of the King, in Pencil, in 
reference to the circum\tances represented in the above Petition, 

dated 5th July 1857. 

To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-TuE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise Mirza. 
:M:oghal Bahadur. Learn,-That you are directed to search out, and recover 
from the servants of Mirza Abulbakr Bahadur a sword and a pink turban, 
the property of Kamdar Khan, watchman of the Faiz Bazaar, who was 
wounded, and to forward them to the royal presence.. You are directed 
also to recover from the men of the said Mirza, the property of Muhammacl 
Ahsan~ul-hakJ son of the Mufti t Ikram-ud-din, whose petition is /ilnclosed j 

as also to recover and forward to the royal presence, the property of Khuda 
Buksh Khan, assistant to the chief police officer. Be assured of our 
kindness. 

No. 26.-0RDER under the Autograph Cypher of the King, in.Pencils, 
dated 11th July 1857. 

To Jfil'za Jfoghal. 

Son,-TUE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwi.se Mirza 
M:oghal Bahadur. Learn,-That you were formerly ·directed, by· a special 
mission, as well as by. ollr verbal injunctions, to make search for a horse, 
a pistol, and other property belonging to the assistant to the chief 
police officer of the city. We learn to-day, from the representation 
of the chief police officer, that Jugga Sais, has just come, after 
recognising the assistant's horse in the camp of the cavalry at the Ellel~­
.borough'rank. You, our son, are therefore directed to have the horse point­
ed out to-morrow without fail, and recovering him from the troopers, to 
restore him to the police officer. Be assured of our kindness. 

Order on the reverse, v.ithout signature or seal, but given by Mirza Moghal 
apparently :- Let an order be issued to the officers of the cavalry, directing 
the institution of inquiries regarding the horse in question. If the hOI'se, 
pointed out, is proved to be the property of the· assistant police officer, he 
must be sent here immediately. Dated 12th July 1857. 

Note unaer the Order.-" This order should have been written on a 
separate paper. Jt has been written here by oversight!' 

:I: Professor of tho lIahomcdlW lliw. 
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No. 27.-PrETlTJON of 111i"za Moghul, dated 11th July 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the W orlJ. 

Respectfully showeth,-THAT the pistol, sent tlllOUgh Yusuf Brg, lIas 
been received. ~l!- regard to your Majesty's orders, ~ommunicated verbally 
through your petltIoner's foster father,· your SlaV~Ubmlts, that your· Majesty 
knows every particular of your slave's conduct vithout his explaining it. 
Nothing is hidden from your Majesty. Y:mr sla e affirms, with the solem­
mtyof an oath, that no orders are ever issued bu such as your Majesty has 
been pre\'iously made acquainted with j or, if a y are issued, the physician, 
at least, is always informed of tlwm. Your slave issues no orders whatever 
without your Majesty's knowledge. Further, as regards the distribution of 
money to the troops, your slave prays, that Billdi Banker may be summoned, 
and may be .made to declare on oath, whcther or not your slave has always 
regarded the smallest fraction, and a lac of rupces, as sums equally insigni­
ficant, and whether the embezzlement of the least trifle can have occurred. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign,) l'ctition of the sla"fe, Zohur-ud­
din. Attested with the official seal of the "Commander-in-Chief, 
13ahOOur." 

Autograph Dnler by the King in rcneil (inappropriate). 

a Institute inquiries.'" 

a No. 401" (apparently illdcx number). 

No. 28.-'PETITION of Jamuna Das, Land-holder, resident of Muttra, 
dated 14th July 1857. 

To the King 1 Shelter of tLe World! 

Respectfullyshoweth,-YouR exaltcd Higlme8s, your slave has for 
some years been staying at his home without occupation, and has passed 
his time as best he was able. He has I:OW come to your Majesty's threshold 
in search of a subsistence, and In'ays that ordrrs may be issued from 
your .royal presence, empowering Ilim to make arrallgements for settling the 
country from DeLli to Muttl'lL, :tlld thellCC on to Agra. As your slave is a 
l'esident <If Muttra, and is in consequence fully acquainted with the whole 
of that district, he will, through your Majesty's an spices and the favour of 
God, be able to establish arrangements which will be thoroughly cfficicht. 
Your slave, moreover, knows ncar 2,000 men in that district, who are prac­
tised in the use of fire-arms. All he requires is ~'our Majcsty's orders, a,nd 
he will then establish postal and commissariat arrangements in every ':lty 
and town from Delhi to l\Iuttra, s.c. 'I'en or fifteen days after reachmg 
':Muttra, your slave will scnd about 10 laes of rupces to the royal treasu:y, 
for the expenses of the State, He prays, thel'£:fore, that the matter bemg 
taken into favourable consideration one picce of ordnance, with shot and 
powder, and some infantry, may be made over to him, to proceed in t?at 
direction. Arriving in that district, your slave will, with the blessmg 
of God, make thoroughly efficient arrangements, and your Maje~ty'8 Go­
vernment will be firmly established. Without your royal authorIty, your 
slave is unable to do anything, and that which is accomplished, will here-
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after be thoroughly manifest to your' Majesty. . Beyonq this, matters are 
in the dispensation of God. It was necessary, and has therefol'e been. sub­
mitted. (Prayers for the prosperity of. the reign.) 

Piece .of ordnance; with powder and shot, 1 

Regiment of infantry, JNith cavalry,. . . . . . " •. 1 

Seal, to certify: King's huthority for the petitioner's proceedings, 1 

Beisdes the above, wh~\ever else it may please his Majesty to bestow. 
Petition of the slave J amuna Das,. putail, of old nourished by his Majesty's 
salt,l'esident of Muttra, at present staying at Delhi. 

Signature of the petitioner in Hindi. 

Note.-No order on the petition, but there is a separate one in 
reference to' it from the king, to Mirza Moghal, which has bcen translated as 
a separate paper. . 

No 29 -PETITION [l'om Rattan Chand, Superintendent of the 
Royal Gardens, and Private Estates of. the King, 

attached to Sahibabad, &e. No date. 

To the King! Shelter Of the World I 

Respectfully showeth,-TH.<l.T the troopers quarterecl in the Chandni 
Chowk, * have picketed their horses immediately in the front of the shops. 
Many of the tenants have, -in consequence, vacated their shopil and gone 
away, and those that remain are ready to follow the same course, from dread 
of the troopers. Mnch loss of rent, as well as damage to the shops, which 
·baving· been plastered with mortar are yet in, repair, is noW' occurring. 
Your petitioner prays, therefore, that orders according to the royal pleasure 
may ,be issued in this matter. PetitiQn of the consumer of the royal salt 
the slave Rattan Chand, superintendeut of the gardens. and personal estates 
of the King at Sahibabad, &c. 

Note in margin :. <t Copy taken."" 

ORDER by the King, in reference to the above Petition, without Signature, 
Seal, or Cypher, dated 16th JuJy.1857 . 

. To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohurrud-din, otherwise Mirza 
Moghal Bahadnr. Learn,-l'hat we are informed, by a petition from Rattan 
Chand, superiutendent of the Sahibabnd" Garden, which is .herein enclosed in 
original, that the troopers ofthe cavalry come from Jodhpur have picketed 
their horses in front of the shops, and hav,e taken possession of a number of 
them. That some of the shopkeepers bave, in consequence, vacated their 
shops and gone away; and that those of the tenants who remain are ready to 
do the same. Under these eircnmstances, loss to our personal revenue must' 
ensue. You, onr son, are therefore directed to cause these troopers to remove 

.• The principal street of the city. 
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from their present location, and to assign them some other place to stay in, 
.so that this cause of loss to our revenue may be checkcd. Be assured 
of our kindness. 

No. 30.-PBTI1'ION of Sheodial and Shadiram, Merchants, 
dated 17th July 18:V.*· ' 

To the King! Shelter of thd Wodd ! 

Respectfully showeth,-THAT great mobs Ilf people go daily to the 
Dlercantile shops of your slaves, situated near the Cashmere Gate, and 
commit the most riotous proceedings there. Sometimes they bring the 
chief police officer of the city, at others the soldiery, accusing your 
slaves, as a plea for their conduct, of sending supplies to the enemy. Be 
it manifest to your Majesty, that we are the hereditary and homeborn slaves 
of your illustrious house. From such proceedings our total ruin and im­
poverishment must ensue; we therefore pray that our shops may be placed 
under the lock and key. of the State, so that it may be protected, and we 
Dlay obtain safety from the grievance represented. (Prayers for the 
prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave, Shadiram and Sheodial, 
shopkeepers. No date. . 

Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will provide for the protection of the petitioners. 

On the Reverse-" No. 557." 

Order on the reverse, without signature or s cal, apparently by Mil'Za 
:Moghal, in furtherance of the king's order. 

This petition, bearing an order in the royal handwriting, directing 
arrangements, has reached this office to-day. The petitioners request that 
their shop may be placed under the lock and key of the State, and that it 
may be protected. It is therefore ordered, that a written order be sent to 
the chief police officer of the city, to the intent that agreeably to the request 
of the petitioners, he place their shop under lock and key, and attend so to 
its protection that no damage may be allowed to occur to it. It is not 
necessary to send the liquors here.t Dated 17th July, 1857. 

Note under the Order-" An order has been written." 

No. 31.-0RDER under the Autograph Special Cypher of the King, in 
pencil, dated 17th July 1857. 

To llfirza Moghal. 
Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Zohur-ud-din, otherwise Mirza MogLal 

Bahadur. Learn,-That on perusal of the petition of Syad Husein Ali 
Khan, police officer of Paharganj, regarding the wounding of a jemadar antI 
some policemen by the violent hands of the goojurs of Aliganj, Mallanji, 
Hasangarh, and Alapur, a special order was sent to you, with the said 
petition in original. To-day, on perusal of a representation from the police 

• Th~re is no date to the petition. This is the date of the final order on ~t: 
tlhis eentence appean to bear allusion to !lOme verbal requ&st of the petltloners. 
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officer of Mahrowli, we. learn that the same Goojurs afe now engaged in 
highway robbery, and in plundering the country. The suppression of such 
disorders is of the utmost moment, and you are directed therefore immedi. 
o.tely to send out one company of Infautary, and 50 troopers, to capture the 
Goojurs in question, with the chief men* of their villages. If they are 
captured, they shall receivefe punishment due to their misdeeds, and com. 
plete order will ensue. Be ssured of our favour. 

Note on the Face.-". ceived 27th July, 1857, Number 849." 

No. 32. -ORDER under the Autograph Cypher of the King, in pencil. 
To 1'!lirza Moghal. ' 

• Son,-TuE illustrious and valiant :Mirza Zohur-ud-arn, otherwise :Mirza 
:Moghal Bahadur. Learn,-That from the petition of Jamuna Das, land;. 

, holder, resident of :Muttra, now staying in Delhi, it is ascertained that he 
has 2,000 men, at his command, experienced in the use of fire-arms.; that 
he promises to bring 10 lacs of rupees to the'royal treasury.; that he declares 
his ability to make efficient arrangements along the road from Delhi to Agra j 
and that he requires a military force. comprised of Artillery, Infantry, and 
Cavalry, together with amunition, and a seal of authority. As it is necessary 
to inquire, first, in what way this man will carry o~t all the above projects. 
and how he, will proceed to prove what he says, you. our Sail. are directed to 
assemble a court of all the principal officers of the army, and, to confer and 
consult with them about the matter, and to submit for our consideration. 
distinctly noticing every particuJ-ar. wheth~r or not'it is likely that hE( can bring 
what he proposes to a successful Issue .; and If he can, what course he will adopt. 
You will also state what the wishes of the officers of the army may be in this 
matter. and whether the man has the capacity for this business, or whether 
he will only pillage and plunder on his own account. All these points affect­
ing the plan, the means, and the proceedings by which he can carry out all 
that is said in his petition, you will state distinctly for consideration, and 
definite orders will then be issued. The original petition is enclosed in this 
missive.; make yourself thoroughly acquainted with its eontents, and whatever 
may be clearly ascertained and proved in this matter, submit for Our con­
sideration. Be assured of our kindness. Secondly, does this man propose 
to dig up a buried treasure of 10 lacs of rupees-or does he know of any 
treasury where this money is deposited-or dJes he intend to plunder anyone 
for it ? It is necessary he should be questioned on this point also. 

No. 33.-PETITION of Imam-Baksh Chowdary,t add all the :Men of the 
Ice Pits. No date, Date of Final Order, 18th July 1857. 

"To the King! Shelter of the World! 

Respectfully showeth,-TuAT we, your slaves have from time immemo .. 
l'ial, been cherished and nurtured by the salt of your :Majesty's house. The 
troops which have now arrived, have encamped near your slave's houses, 

-which are contiguous to the ice-pits opposite the Turkoman Gate, and your. 

• Lumberdars. . t Chief man of any trado, profession, or occupation. 
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. slaves are, in con$equence, exposed to great annoyances' and ruination; the 
very timbers, of the roofs of their hO'\ses having been carried away. Many 
of the inhabitants, considering their lives in danger, have deserted the place, 
but 'your, slave has remained, solely because the ice used by your Majesty's 
butler is supplied from his ice pits. Your Majesty desires the fostering 
care and protection of all God's creatures. Y~ur petitioner therefore prays 
that Madhuganj, the property of the Rajah of Jypur, adjoiniug Rajah 
Jysingh's Observatory,§ and near to the Turk~an Gate, its enclosing wall 
being still in preservlltion, may be graciously ,.lestowed on him; and that 
an order may be issued to the force come from areilly, prohibiting opposition 
aud hindrance, so that your slaves obtaining safety may night and day 'Pray 
flIT your Majesty's prosperity. 'Ve further beg that the order to the officers 
may be issued under YO,ur special signature. Petition of the slave Imam-
,baksh, and all the men of the ice-pits. • 

Autograph order by the King, in pencil. 

Mirza Moghal Bahadur will give the petitioners place in the observatory, 
and will have an order written. 

Order on the reverse, without signature or seal, apparently by Mirza 
lVIoghal,in furtherance of the King's order: 

Let orders iu accordance with those of the royal presence be issued, 
dated 18th July 1857. 

Note below order.-f( An ord.er has been written!' 

No. 34.-TRANSLATION of a Firman from Delhi, addressed to Muhammad 
Khan, Nawab of,Najibabad. 

SEA L. 

Abuzaffar Siraj-ud-din Muhammad. 

Bahadur Shah. 

Padshah-i-Ghazi 1253 A. Hijri, 
and 1st of reign. 

Amir-ud-dowlat, Zia-ul-l\tulk, l\luhammad Mahmud Khan Bahadur, 
'Muzaffar Jaog, OlIr own special servant, worthy of kindness and protection, 
the object of our favours. 

Know I The petition of that special servant, containing full particu­
lars respecting the disturbed state of all the pergunnahs of that zillah from 
the acts of plunderers and rascab, and the method adopted for putting a stop 
to the same by entertaining as many footmen and llOrsemen I1S possible, and 
calling to mind the hereditary services of that faithful one towards our royal 
house, and requesting that our royal attention may devolve upon that zillah 

§ Tb .. Jantra Mantra. 
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all of old, has been perused, and aU has become known. l;,O~.ir6.&~tJ{8 
forefathers of that especial servant have eVe!' been the objects or" fi{~s P'» 
former emperors; but that especial.servant has always been looked ujifm by 
us with particular favor, inasmuch as you left me no service which was .• 
coming~ un.pe.rformed fo~ :Mirza ~~a~:Rukh, deceased, the l.ight of our ~oyal 
eyes. (TIns IS an allusIOn tr CIVIlit1es rendered on a shootmg expendltion, 
which Mirza Shah-Rukh, th_ emperor's son, made some 10 or 12 ago years 
to Rohilkhand.) j 

Therefore you are entit.~d to our especial kindness. 

If you, in addition tc your former good acts, render still more efficient 
service, then will the royal favor be increased, and your request that the 
arrangement of the whole zillah be made over to you s11all be complied with. 
Until a perfect sunnud be issued, you are to keep in deposit the revenues of 
the district, after paying the troops and the revenue officers, and you are 
to remit the balance to us. 

With reference to the large amount of treasure, chattels, and horses, which 
came into your hands after the flight of the British officers, you must send them 
at once with an account cnrrent by the hands of l\Iathura Das* and two of 
the royal sowars, in order that the real value of your professions may be at 
once jested, and that you may obtain promotion. 

28th Zu'l Kll.dat, 21st year of our reign, corresponding with the 21st 
July 1857. 

No. 3:i.-PETITION of Karim Baksh, alias NattllUa. No date. Date of 
King's order, 22nd July 1857. 

To the King I Divine and Merciful! 

Respectfully showeth,~THAT a week or 10 days ago, Jawahar Baksh, 
private of the nth Regiment of Infantry, stole a black female mule, the 
property of your slaye, from the street blown as the Kazi-ka-Howz. Your 
slave, with much difficulty, found the mule after five days' search, when 
Jawahar Baksh restored it after taking II rupees for doing so. Three days 
subsequently to tllis, tIle said private, accompanied by ~lDother, came to your 
slave's house, "hid1 is situated in the 'l'urkoman JlOlice jurisdiction, 
and seizing him as a delinquent, took him before Mirza Sultan Beg, Doctor 
of the llth Regiment of Infantry. The doctor placed your slave ill arrest, 
and said the mule was his, and that your slave should either bring the 
animal or remain a prisoner. Fearing that his life' waS in jcopardy, your 
slave marIe the ffil,lle over, when the 11 rupees he had formerly given were 
returned. The truth is, that about five months ago, your slave Furehased the 
animal in. question from Ramzan Khan, Risaldal', of the 5th Troop, 8th 
Regiment of Irregular Cavalry, who is a resident of Delhi. Your slave prays 
that with fostering concern for the protection of the poor, your Majesty will 
inquire of the above-named Risaldar, and of four or five other officers of his 
regiment, so that your slave may obtain justice, and ever pray for your 

• S. B. Tilis is the na~e of the old tre BEnrer, 1IDd father of the present Bijnorc treasurer.' 
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Majesty's prosperity. ,It was necessary, and has therefore been snbmittcd 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the IIlave Karin: 
Baksh, alia. Natthua, claimant for justice, proprietor of the mule. 

Autograph order of the King, in ink, authenticated with cypher 

. (No. 631), dated 22nd Jdly 1857. 

Let an order be written to the officers of tie 11th regiment of infantry. 

Note in a corner on the Reverse.-" The Ivritten order J1 in this case 
has not been issued . 

. No. 36.-0RDER under tbe Special Autograph Cypher of the King, in 
Pencil (No. 643), dated 22nd July 1857. 

To Mirza Moohai. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise 
Mirza Moghal Bahadur. Learn' Formerly some troopers took up quarterl'l 
in the Hayat-Baksh and Mahatab gardens, and owing to the injury tbese 
gardens suffered from the troopers staying in them, they were made to re­
move, agreeably to our royal orders. But now near 200 soldiers of the 54th 
Regiment Native Infantary, and a doctor, with his family, have located 
themselves there, and thus, unless they remove the causes of damage to the 
said gardens, will continue as before j moreover, our rozal corteoe frequently 
condescends to go in that direction, and much inconvenience is felt on such 
occasions. You, our son, are therefore directed to speak to the officers of 
the Court on this matter, and to have these soldiers and the native doctor 
removed from the gardens. In doing this, -you will secure onr extreme 
divine approbation. Be assured of our kindness.. ' 

The prisouer now requests that a lawyer of the name of Ghulam Abba~ 
may be allowed to attend and assist him in Court. To this the Court accede, 
and Ghulam Abbas takes his scat in Court accordingly. 

The interpreter now iJUruses the originals of the papers, the translationil 
of which were read by the judge-advocate, and it is explained to 
the prisoner's assistant what evidence in respect to each paper was given by 
the witness yesterday. The interpreter having perused Persian originals 
clown to No. 36, the judge-advocate resumes reading the English translations 
clolln to No. 56, which are entered as follows :-

No. 37.~ORDER under the Seal of the Royal Court of Justice, 
dated 22nd July 1857, . 

To the Emblem of Valour, the Chief Police Officer of Delhi. 

The files of papers relating to the,cases of two out of the five prisonerll 
sent by 'you are present in this office, as specified below i but those of the 
remaining three are not forthcoming. If you have in your possellsion any 
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receipts of this royal Court for th~ three missing files, you are directed to 
submit it; Rnd for the future, it is necessary that all prisoners who are for­
warded to this Court, should be accompanied by the usual form of committal 
with all prisoners in the same way. 

• List Cases. 
I 

tiles forthcoming. 

Case 0 \ Gumani, defendant. 

Case of Rahm UUa, d~fendant. 

Files not forthcoming. 
Harsukh. 
Ghulam Ali. 
'Khuda Baksh. 

PETITION of Mubarak Shah, Chief Police Officer of the City, on 
the reverse of the above Order, da.ted 24th July 1857. 

To the King, &e. 

The explanation called for by this order is submitted in a separate 
petition, which is enclosed. Petition of the slave, Mubarak Shah, chief 
officer of the city of DeIhl. 

EXCLOSURE referred to in the above Petition of Syad Muhammad Shah, 
, dated 24th July 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the , World! 

Respectfully showeth,-TDAT your l\fajesty's order, to the effect 
that five prisoners despatched from the chief police office' of the . city had 
reached, and that of these, the files of the cases of Gumani and Rahm Ulla 
are in the office of the royal court of justice, but that those of Harsukh, 
Ghulam Ali and Khuda Baksh have not been found, and therefore, directing 
t.hat if any receipt of the Royal Court is forthcoming in this office it be sub­
mitted; and further enjoining that in future cases, the usual form of com­
mittal, the plaintiff, and the proofs of guilt be sent with the prisoners, 
has been received. Your exalted Highness, the particulars are these: 
Harsukh was apprehended by the subordinate police officer of Allahabad, on 
suspicion of obtaining his livelihood by evil practices, and was sent to this 
police station as a character of this sort; but as there was no plaiutiff, and 
110 stolen property was found in his possession, no papers were preparcd in 
his case. As regards Ghulam Ali, (so called through a clerical error, his 
correct name being Ghulam Muhammad), the particulars are thcse : hp wall 
scnt to me from the Chandni Chowk police statiou, with a written statement 
of the case against him, to wit, that the following stolen property had 
)Jcen found in his possession:-

Brass vessels, the property of Jammanji Cashmiri. 

. Shcep and goatskin shoes belonging to Muhammad Ali, seller of shoes, 
clothes and other things, the property of Ghulam Haidar Khan. 
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In the investigation at the chief police station, tIle charge baving been 
conclusively proved by the written statement of the subordinate police officer, 
by the testimony of witnesses, and by Ghulam Ali's own confession, the pro­
perty was made over to the claimants oil their several receipts, their owner­
ship being first fully ascertained, and a full statement of the case, together 
with the parers received frilm the· subordinate p,olice station, was forwarded 
to your Majesty. In reference to the prisoneriJ this case, it was specifically 
mentioned in my report, that he' had formerll been a· watchman in the 
division of the city known asthe Turkoman, but hat the clerk of the Chand­
ni Chowk police-office had, on his own authorit removed him to the front 

. of the Ashrafi-ka Kutra .. Perhaps the clerk approved of the services of the 
watchma~. Accordingly, a copy of this report is present in the book of 
copies, amongst the petition from the police station for the 15th July 1857.' 
With advertence to the case of Khuda Baksh, on a reference to the diary of 
this police station, it is ascertained from the entry for the 17th July 1857, 
that Khuda Baksh, trooper, apprehended the prir.oner as one engaged in evil 
practices for. a livelihood, and brought him to this station, affirming that he, 
the trooper, had lent a'pistol to one Nunlleh, son of Kaulia Khan~ mendic'ant; 
that the prisoner had forcibly taken the pistol from Nunneh, and ran off with 
it; and that from that day he had been in hiding, and had only now been 
seized. This was the trooper's charge,and it was confirmed by the testimony 
of Kaulia Khan, mendicant. '1'he report in this case was forwarded to the' 
presence of his highness the Commander-in-Chief, Sahib Mirza Moghal 
Bahadur, in view to orders being issued, but none bave as yet been received. 
It is further. submitted that search having been made in the office of the 
police station, no receipt of the Royal Court, on account of the papers in this 
case, could be found. The reason is, that frequently, when parers are for­
~ arded, no receipts are given from the Royal Court, and it is accordingly a 
matter which cannot be hclped. Such as the particulars were, they are 
submitted: For the future great care will be observed, and wheu a prisoner 
is forwarded, the form of committal, the plaintiff, and the proofs will be sent 
at the same time. All the subordinate police officcrs of the city have been 
made acquainted with the orders on this subject, and will carefully conform 
to them. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petitiou of tile slave, 
Syad l\Iubarak Shah, chief police officer of tbe city of Delhi, attested with 
the seal of the chiet police office of the seat of Government, "Shabjahauabnd. 

Note in a corner at foot-"Copy taken." 

No. 38.·-RoYAL MANIFESTO or Proclamation, without Signature, Cypher, 
or seal, probably an Office Copy, kcpt for record, dated 23rd July 1857. 

To all the inhabitants of the Town of Rohtak. 

l/ROCLA:!IIATION is made. 'fhat one man is not to stretch out the hand 
of 'fiolence auaillst anothcr, and that all are to continue in full subjection 
to the authority of the principal landholders, who are kn~JWn to. ~)e thc well 
wishers of the State. Civil establishments aud a 8ufficICnt mllitaJ'y force 
will very soon be seut to make all necessary arrangements. Anxious COll­

cern for the welfare and comfort of his subjects is cherished j by Ilis Majesty; 
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but all such as allall be guilty of acts of turbulence or .disolledience against 
lawful authority, will be most severely punished. '1'his proclamation is 
therefore issued for public information. 

No. 89.-PETITION of Mirza Moghal, dated 24th July 1857. 
~ 

To the King I Shelter of the Wodd I 

Respectfully showeth, ... 1-THAT fourteen middle-sized horses, wit'll some· 
magazine cart drivers, haTe this day been selzed and brought to your 
slave by some infantry soldiers. The drivers assert that these horses ·are 
their own private property. The truth of this statement can (not?) lle 
ascertained without an investigation. Your petitioner submits that, if he 
be so directed, he will, without entering into any inquiry, attach these 
horses to the Royal Artillery. Some of them are equal to the draught of 
guns, but others, being small/lnd w,eak, are totally unfit; or if such is the 
royal pleasure, these horses ca,ll for the present be kept here, till all the 

. forms of a regular investigation shall have been gone through, when they 
can be sent to the royal presence. Let instructions, agreeably to your 
M ajesty'spleasure, be issued under the royal signature, so that in accor­
dance with them steps may be taken. It was necessary, and bas been sub­
mitted. Petition of the slave Zohur-ud-din. 

Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

No. 859. 

Institute an enquiry, and lay the result before the royal presence. 

Note below Order.- "Received 27th July 1857." 

No. 40. PETITIO~ of Muhm'ok Shah, Chief Police Officer of the City, 
dated ,25th July 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World r 
Respectfully showeth,- THAT inform'ation was brought at noon to-day 

that a great crowd of infantry soldiers had assembled and broken into the 
house of Alopi Prashad and Hurmall, Khatries, on the pretext of searching 
for Europeans. I immediately despatched my assistant to prevent excesses on 
the part of misconducted characters, and beiilg still anxious., sent !luch other 
aid as appeared necessary. '1'he assistant returned and reported that the 
officer of the regiment had sent him away, saying that lIe would preserve or­
der, and that there was, accordingly, no necessity for the assistant's presence. 
I have just now heard that no suspicious property or European was found· 
in this search; but, nevertheless, the owners of the house cannot but llave 
suffered some loss, the extent of which it would be difficult to determine. 
I have further heard tha.t the soldiers have taken away the hyo owners of 
the house, and have placed them in arrest. '1'he proceedings in this case 
were altogether at variance with the \1sage according to which search should 
be conducted, and by such proceedings the subjects are aggrieved and 
oppressed. In those ca~es in which the statements of the informers 
a,re deemed worthy of credit, no oppres&ion or disgrace is inflicted on any 
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person who is not; guilty, if se.arch is made ~fter the est~blished usage Ly 
four or.five trus~~orthy men In .company 'with. the pohce establishment. 
1 submit the petition for your Majesty's prerogative to ,settle this matter. 
It WIIS necessary, al\d has therefore been submitted (Prayers for the 
King's prosperity.) Petition of the slave Syad Mubar~k Shah Khan chief 
police officer. Seal of "the chief police offleCl< of the seat of the i~ perini 
government, Shahjahanabad.1I. '. 

Autograph Order'by the KinJ in pencil. 

Mirza Mogllal will quickly send tIle officers of the regiment and "'ill 
have these poor innoceLt men released from arrest. ' 

No. 41.-PETITION of Imam Ulla Khan, Trooper, dated 26th July 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sholl'eth,-THAT your sla'Ve's horse lias become unsenice. 
able, in consequence of a crack in 'one of bis hoofs, and that, depending 
on your Majesty's' fostering consideration for your home-born slaves, he 
trusts he ~ay be allowed one month's leave of absence, that lie may search 
for and brmg another. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petitioll 
of the least ot all home-born slaves, the bargir,* Imam Ulla Khan, trooper, 
attached to the pay department. 

Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

The officers of the pay department will give one month's leave of 
absence. 

No. 42.-PETI'rION of Saliuram, Proprietor of Dullock Train,-No date 

Date of King's order, 28th July 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World. 

Respectfully showeth,-THAT your slave's bullock train, for passellge~ 
and parcels, llad been long running between Delhi and Muttra. When the 
revolt of the troops occuned, all llis arrangements were deranged, and one 
of his wa<r"'ons, which had been coming from Muttra, remained at the Arab 

hh 'I'h l' Serai, in consequence of the disturbed state of the c?untry. .e. peop c . In 
whose charge the waggon was left now decline belDg resp-:mslble for Its 
safety, and importnne your slave to llave it brought. away. to Delhi. YOllr 
slave depends on your Majesty's kindness alld consldera~lOn! therefore, to 
allow him the aid of a peon to have the waggon brought lD .lD s~fetr frolll' 
the Arab Serai, and your slave will ever pray for your 1\Ia.1esty s life amI 
prosperity .. It was necessary, and has therefore been submItted. (Prll;yers 
for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave Sal!gram, proprietor 
of bullock train, subjectof the King, resident of the Danba. No. date. 

• llargir i, a troop"," in " corps ot Irrl'gular CaTaI'1 who ha. ·hi, hone found him. 
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ORDER on the Reverse, attested by the State Seal of the King. 

Ordered~ that the police officer submit a statement, dated 27th July 
1857. 

Separate slip attached, Being a short abstract 'of Saligram's petition, 
with amplification of the King's order. '~ A waggon belonging to the peti-· 
tioner is standing at the Ar~ib Serai." 

.. 
Exposition of Order. 

:Mirza Moghal Bahadur will send a peon with Saligram, bullock train 
poprietor, to have the waggon brought into the city in safety. 

POLICE OFFICER'S Report of the Order having been carried into effect. 

'To the King ! N ourisher of the Poor ! 

YourMajesty,-AGREEAB~Y to the royal orders, I have had the wag-. 
gon made over to the claimant, by Tara Brahman, and his receipt for the 
same is subinitted, under cover of this report,dated 29th July 1857 .. Peti­
tion of the slave, Khwaja Nazir-ud-d~n Khan, polic.e officer of Bhadrapur, 
staying at the Arab Serai. Personal seal of the petitioner, and that of 
the Bhadrapur Police. Office. 

Saligram's Receipt, Enclosure to Police Officer's Report. 

I, Saligram, son of Moti Ram, by caste Brahman, resident of Delhi, 
having left a waggon at the Arab Serai, in the charge of. Tara Brahman, 
have now received the same, through the- police officer of Bhadrapur, who 
is staying at the Arab Serai, agreeably to the orders of His Majesty the 
King. I have therefore given this writing, that it may remain as a testi­
mony, and be of nse. Dated 28th July 1857. Witnesses: signatures in 
the Hindi character of Chajju and Maida, shop-keepers of Arab Serai. Sa­
ligram's attestation by mark. 

Order on the margin of the police officer's report, repea.ted on Salig 
ram's receipt without signature- or seal. . 

"File ill the office.'! Dated 30th July 1857. 

No. 43.-PETITION of Dundia Khan, Farmer of the Old Fort.-No date. 

Date of final Order, 30th July 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the World ! 

Respectfully shqweth-TBATyour petitioner is a poor farmer, and has of 
old been your Majesty's subject. That he has claims against his tenantlt on 
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account of the autumnal crop, but cannot obtain payment from them, and 
that whim he applies to them, they put him off with promises fl'om day to 
day. He therefore depends on your Majesty's favour and goodness, and 
expects that an order will be issued to the officers stationed in the Old Fort, 
to have the money which is due to your slave, realised f<lr him, so that he 
may pay his,instalment of the Government revlmue. Your petitioner fur­
ther submits, that if he is authorised, he will collect the revenue of the 
hamlets connected with the Old Fort, agreeably(to the papers of the village 
accountants, and will bring it to the royal pre~cnce, for now it is being 
uselessly lost. In its reaching the, royal treasury, your slave will have 
obtained distinction. Furthermore, your petitioner represents, that when 
he: speaks to the farmers to carr] on ,their sowings and the agricultural 
operations,' in view to provide for .future production, they, do ,not Jleed his 
injunctions, and that, if some do take steps to cultivate their lands, the 
pe()ple of the army, camel-drivers, &c" destroy their .cultivation. Seeing 
them,' cow-herds, &c., let their cattle loose into the fields, and when your 
slave remonstrates,. the said . camel-drivers co,me forward t,o resist him fOl'ci­
bly. Your slave's 'preservation or ruin is in'your Majesty's hands, and he 
therefore,prays, that five troopers, and a petty officer of cavalry, may be 
assiguea to aid and protect him, so that his agricultural operations may be 
put in train of commencement, and when they have been sufficiently ad­
vanced, after a month or fifteen days, if your Majesty's wishes, the, troopers 
may be recalled. Otherwise, how shall we farmers be able either to pay the 
Government revenue for the present season, or support ourselves and our 
families, for we shall have been utterly ruined, and rendered houseless? 
However, your Majesty is master.* (Prayers for the prospcrity of the 
reign.) Petition of the slave, of old nourished by his Majesty's salt, 
Dundia Khan, farmer, resident of the Old }'ort. No date. 

Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will peremptorily enjoin on the officers of the infantry 
regiment staying in the Old Fort, that damage be not done to the cultivation 
of our subjects. 

Exposition of Autograph Order. 

Mirza Moghal will peremrtorily enjoin on the officers of the infantry 
and 7th cavalry, that damage be not done to the cultivation of our subject». 
(The order was evidently not correctly deciphered). 

Note in a corner at the top, bearing the royal signature. 

Order without signatnre or seal, apparently by Mirza Moghal. -Let 
the farmers of the Old Fort be summoned. Dated 28th July 1857. 

The king's orders have been carried out. There is DO need to summon 
the farmers. Dated 30th July 1857 . 

• A form of expres8ion frequeutly used at the end of petition., to. iDlply that· it rett. wiLD 
the party petitioned to attend to the repreaentation. 
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Note below. Order.-It Orders have' been issued to the officers of the 
infantry and the 7th canlry, stationed at the Old Fort." . 

No. 44.-PETITION of Mirza Mo"ghal and Mirza .Khair Sultan, dated 
t3th August 1857. . . . 

To the ID-ng 1 Shelter of the W orId I· . 
• • I 

Respectfully showeth,-TRAT owing to the suspension of aU remittances 
to and from the country, there is at present a great scarcity of money, and 
unless a mil1t for coinage is set in operation, it will sooIi not be Pfocurable. 
We, therefore, pray'that your divine Majesty's order~ may be issued, that 
we slaves, making all necessary arrangements connected with the measure, 
may have the operations of coinage commeuccd. We, therefore, submit 
enclosed herein, a petition from a person offering to contract for the mint; 
arid from your Majesty's kindness and favour, . we expect that this tender 

. of contract will be accepted. It was necessary, and we have therefore 
submitted it. (Prayers for the' prosperity of the. reign.) Petition of the 
slaves, Mirza Muhammad Zohur~ud-din, and Mirza. Muhammad Khail: 
~~ -

Autograph Order of the King, in pencil. 

It is approved of. 

No. 45.-0RDER under the Autograph Special Cypher of the King, 10 

pencil, dated 7th August 1857. 

To Badr-ud-din Ali Khan, Seal Engraver. 

You are directed to prepare and present, executed in the best style of 
finish and design, aud showing llis titles, a seal for the adviser, of the state, 
the respected of the country, our own special slave, Muhammad Bukht 
Khan, Lord Governor Bahadur, Controller.of all matters military and civil. 
As is usual, insert the year of OUI' reigu 21 in the seal. 

Note in the Margin.-"Similar to the royal cypher,"-meatling perhaps, 
the same size as the special seal of the king, engraved in the .cypher. 

Impression ot: a seal in the margin illegible, with a note at its sids • 
. It is like Note on Revel'se-" Copy kept." 

No. 46.-ADDREss from Mirza ]foghal, on tIle part of the King, attested 
with the official seal of the Commander-in-Chief, rambling and un­
connected, and fl'om the style, appearing to have been wl'itten from the 
King's dictatioD, dated 9th 'August 1857. . 

. : 
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To the Officers oBbe Bullumtair (Volunteer) Paltsn, 36th* Regiment 
of Native Infantry.· , 

The orders of the royal presence are to the following effect. 

In the first place, it is to be observed that 'setting aside all regard for 
my own life even, I have done all in my power to satisfy and please the 
soldiery in every matter. The reason was, I Lad assured the army that 
I should regard them as my own children. 'lllie petulance of one's own 
child has to be borne with, and so I have borne with yours, indulging you 
in all your wishes. But it is to be deplored that you have, notwithstanding, 
shown no concern for my life, and have had no consideration for myoid 
age. It is incumbent. on you now to reflect on my infirmities, and the 
changes my health is momentarily undergoing. The care of my health was 
altogether in the hands of the physician, Ahsan UUa Khan, who kept him­
self constantly informed of the changes it underwent. Now, there is none 
to care for me but God, while the changes in my health are such as may 
not be imagined. All the soldiers and officers ought now, therefore, to 
gratify me in this matter, as I have even indulged them in every \'Yish of 
theirs, and should remove the guard at present over the physician, and 
release him from arrest, so that be may be at liberty to come and go,when­
ever he may think it necessary to examine my pulse. Moreover, if my 
enemy is instigating you, you should not heed his insinuations. Should any 
one insinuate suspicions against the physician, you sllOuld tell him to inter­
(:ept some letter attested with his seal; and bring it to you, thl1t you may 
have proof that he is .an enemy, and that you will then yourselves punish 
him. Furthermore, the property that was plundered from the physician'. 
house belonged to the king. It is therefore proper that it should be traced 
and collected, and should be sent to our presence, and that the people, 
through whose instigation it was plundered, should be adequately punished, 
agreeably to the decision of the Court. If you· are not disposed to comply 
with these requests, let me be conveyed in safety to the Khawaja Sahib.t I 
tihall there sit and employ myself in the occupation of a Mujawir t. And, if 
this even is acccdcci not to, I shall relinquish every concern, and go away~. 
Let those who think they can detain me, attempt to do 80. Not having been 
killed by the hands of the English, I shall be killed by yours. Further, the 
oppression that is at present being inflicted on the people, is not iuflictecl 
011 them; it is inflicted 011 me. It is incumbent on you all to take mea­
:mres to prevent it. Or let me have my answer!!, Rnd I shall swallow a 
diamond and kill myself,. Moreover, on the plunder of the physician'. 
house, a small box containing our seal was carried away. No paper, of 11 

date subsequent to the 7th August 1857, beal'ing the impression of that 
seal, will be valid . 

• This "ppe .. n to be a mistake. The 38th Regiment Native Int..ntr1 was called the 
Dullummir Pulmn. 

t A Shrine ef great rcput..d s .. nctity Dear the Kutb. :t lIuj .... ir. s .. eeper oC a M08que. 
§ In the origin .. l .. I shall jump up." ... one giving up a.n undertaking thoroughl1 a.nnoyed 

and disgusted. 
II That is, tell me pl .. inly that you do not intend to heed my .ruhe •• 
~ In the origin .. l, litera.1Jy, I shallllwallo .. & diamond and go ~. deep. It i •• , pro,ailin: 

iJ.... in India that swallowing a diamond ill an effectual me~ of Iweide. 
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No. 47.-0RDER by the King without Signature, Cypher or Seal (an o~ce 
copy apparently), dated 11th August 1857. 

To the Ever Faithful Muhammad Akbar Ali. Khan Bahadur; RulerofPatnani. 

, CONSIDER yourself receiving favour, and know, that agreeably to 
the representation of Durg.t· Prashad, registrar of landed proprietary 
rights of the districts of Patnahi, all the particulars of the outrage. 
ous conduct of Muhammaf!, Khan, Risaldar) against you our special. 
slave, and of your having gone away from Patnahi, in consequence of 
the said risaldar having been killed by the farmers of Ranghur caste of the 
fatnahi district, as well as the devastation of your territory, ,and the plunder 
of your property by th~ peasantry of that part of the country, have fully 
come to our royal knowledge. It has been clearly ascertained that the wound­
ing and slaughter of the risaldar and the troopers who were with him cannot 
be ascribed to anything but the said risaldar's own misconduct, and you. 
our special slave, are therefore directed to return to your residence, and 
restoring your ancient demesne, in all confidence and assurance, to its former 
order and tranquility, to continue obedient to our royal orders. Understand 
that your doing this will lead to your benefit and advantage. Be assured. 
,Of our kindness. 

Note on the reverse.-" Copy kept." 

No. 48.-PETITION of Mirza Moghal.-No date. 

Date of an Office NO,te as below, 18th August 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the World ! 

, Respectfully showeth,-THAT your Majesty has directed me to pay 200 
rupees to be expended on repairs to the bridge, whereas already the daily 
hire of the labourer is paid every evening. There is no necessity accordingly 
for the payment of this 200 rupees. There is no contract on account of the 
bridge that the money should be given. The hire of the labourers is distri­
buted to them daily, and now too it will be paid every' evening. It was 
necessary and I have therefore submitted it. (Prayers for the prosperity of 
the reign.) Petition of the ~lave, Mirza Zohur-ud-din. No date. 

A,utograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will make the necessary arrang~ments. 
Note on the Face.-Received 18th August 1857. "This is to be ,kept 

with the receipts." 

No. 49.-Royal MIssive, under the S~al Engraved in the King's Special 
Cypher, dated 20th August 1857. . 

, To our sons, Wassih Ali Shah, Saji .. ud-din Sultan Muhammad, Mi7'z(£ 
Bahadar, Bakht Bahadur son of Mirza Muzaffar Bakht Bakadar, Mirza' 
Taimur Shah, Sultan Husein, Mirza Safari Sultan Zain-ul-ab-diri; 
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: Mirza Safi Sultan,' Safi-ud-din jVassih Muhammad Mirza Sofi Sultan 
Hyder Mirza, Sufi Tehmanseh Mirza, Mirza Zai-ud-din Bakkt, and Mirza 
Khurshed Kadr, son of Mirza Usman Kadr. 

LURN,-That all the particulars of the runious hardships and distresses 
you, our sons, ha.ve suffered in the province of Oudh, as embodied 
in your petition, ha.ve come fully to our Royal knowledge. In the wonderful 
changes now occurring the will of God has «-'ome to pass. Nevertheless, 
hearing of theliJe matters, fraught as they are wi.th dangers, we have to some 
extent been grie.ved and concerned in mind j llOwever, what the Great Al­
mighty in His unbounded and universal mercy has willed, He has willed for 
the best, and that which may hereafter happen. Under all circumstances 
preserve unanimity amongst yourselves, and stay in the quarter of Lucknow 
called Aminabad; and pass your time in confidence of safety and protection 
from the present dangers. Please the ~yer-revered God, the present calami­
ties and confusion will now, with His'J;).i.Vine help, speedily come to an end. 
The appearances of order are already becoming manifest, and you will soon 
,see reason for entire confidence reflected in the mirror of your own minds. 
Continue to cherish perfect assurance. Be assured of our kindness. 

No. 50.-PETITION of Pirhakslt Beg Tinker.-No date. 

To the King; Shelter of the World. 

Respectfully showeth,-THAT your slave kept 8 tinker's shop in tlie 
precincts of the palace, at which tlle culinary vessels and other articles of 
the royal household were tinned, and that the infantry soldiers having 
destroyed the forge have tal,en possession of the house and will not now be 
preniied on to vacate it. Your slave therefore depends on your Majesty's 
gracious favor and cousideration, for the issue of an order to Mirza Moghal, to 
the effect that he take your slave with him, and ha.ve the shop vacated, in order 
that your slave may resume his occupation of tinning the ~oyal vessels. It 
was necessary, and I have therefore submitted it. (Prayers for the prospe­
rity of the reign.) Petition of the slave, Pirbaksh Beg, tinker, servant of 
the State. No date. 

Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

Mirza Mo~hal will have the matter settled agreeably to this petition. 
, 

No: 51.~PETITJON of Mirza Moghal.-No date. 

To the King' Shelter of the World r 

T8.ANSLATloNS having been made by one able to read English" it is ascer­
tained that the three .Knglish papeu !oun~ on Khabru, 8a18, ~ho was 
brought in by some canlry meu, are testlmomals of. good and satIsfactory 
Benice, which have been given to him. by the EnglIsh. 
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TWO'certificates of good character, from Harriet---.,..(the reat. of the 

name, as written in the petition, is illegible) j year 1853. 

One certificate of good service from (name as written in petiton, illegible); 
~ie~te.nant, .in favour of the same Khabru; year 1856. . 

Petition of the Home-b'orn slave Zohur-ud-din. 

" No. 52.-PETITION of the Sbopkeepers of the Chatta.-No d.ate 
• 

To the King l Shelter of the World ! 

Respectfully showeth,-THAT a body of soldiery have established their 
residence immediately in the front of our shops, and we slaves are un­
able to open them in consequence. We pray, therefore, that, in conformity 
with justice, orders may be issned to the'officers of the State for the removal 
of these soldiers from their present locality, or that otherwise, the goods iIi 
the shops may be made over to us in "'"the presence of the servants of yonr 
Majesty's Government. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition 
of the slaves, the shopkeepers of the Chatta. 

Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will have their shops given to these shopkeepers. 

No. 53.-~e PETITION of Ahmacl Khan and ;It-fuhammacl Khart. 

No date. 

To the King; Nourisher of the poor. 

Respectfully Showeth,-THAT we slaves having built a honse, with one 
open han and one room, at our own personal expense outside the fort, 
on ground the property of the State, near Ellenborough Tank, for which 
we have paid ground-rent to your Majesty for the last 10 or 12 years, and 
had our residence there. Since yesterday the troopers of the regiment of 
cavalry, which left the Hayat-Baksh Garden, and has come out of the 
Palace, have forcibly occup\ed your slaves' dwelling above referred to. We 
have, from antiquity, been your majesty's home--born slaves and servants, 
and we accordingly depend on your fostering consideration for the issue of 
a prohibition against our being molested in the occupancy of our house. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slaves, Ahmad 
Khan and Mnhammad Khan, mace-bearers, servants of the king. 

Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will issue order that the troopers were directed to en. 
camp outside the city. '1'1Iey will accordingly now go·out. If they require 
marquees or tents they will be supplied with them. They must not oppress 
old residents. Let them indent on the Government for tents and marquees. 

Transcript of the king's order on the reve:t:se in ink. 

Note on the reverse.-tr A written order has been issued!' 
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:NO. 54.-PETITION of Bhu!ia"Land-holder of Farridabad.-No da~e. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Your Majesty,-THIS slave is a land-hold,er of Farridabad, and is a 
silversmith by caste.. The matter he has to submit is, that 50,000 rupees, 
more or less, belongmg to the Government of tbe East India Company are 
now present in the subordinate Revenue Office' at Palwal. Some of the 
Ballahhgrha Rajah's officials went there; but the land-holders of the place would 
not allow them to take the money. Your slave, therefore, prays that 100 
!Iorseme~ a.nd 50 infautry may be sent with him, that he .may bri?g it away, 
and pay It mto the royal treasury. Your zealous slave IS exertl\l<J' him~elr 
solely that he may obtain a subsistence. It was necessary, and is ;ubmitted. 
Further, on perusal of this petition let orders be issued, and, with the cav­
alry and infantry, let a means of conveyance for your slave be also bestowed. 
Petition of Bhutia, land-holder of Farridabad. 

Autograph Order by the King (in pencil). 

Mirza Moghal will speak to the officers of the army, and will immedi­
ately take steps to send for this treasure. 

No. 55 . ....:...PETITION of NafJi Baksh Khan.-No date. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

. Respectfully showeth,-THAT it is manifest to your Majesty, that justice 
is approved of and lawless cruelty condemned by the Creator of the universe. 
I therefore pray, if in your Majesty's estimation it is proper to do so, that 
you would tell the :>fficers of the army, who request your permission to 
slay the ladies, children, and other prisoners, that, agreeably to their prayers, 
you placed ·your haud on their heads, andjoined them in the cause of the 
faith; but that in killing the prisoners in question you will abandon the 
tenets of your religion. That they must first obtain a fatwa,* and a 
bywasta,t and that, if these shan sanction the slaughter, they can slay the 
prisoners alluded t~; but that your Majesty will not give an order on the 
subject contrary to the laws of the Prophet; and that if they do not ap­
prove of this, they may first wreak their rage 011 your own royal person. 
I trust that your Majesty's orders, agreeably to the suggestions above 
submitted, will be issued to the officers of the army in a toue of decision. 
Considering it necessary, I have laid the subject before your royal presence. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave, Nabi Baksh 
Khan, agent of his Highness Arsh Aramgah.t No date. 

• .. Fatwa"-Legal opinion or decree of a M .. homelan lawyer. 
, ... Bywasta" -Corruption of" Vy .. vasth ... • - Legal. opinion or decree ot a Hindu PBndit. 
l "Arah Aramg .. h "-posthumous title of the late King Akbar Shah. .. Arah" the eighth or 

highest heaVeD. .. A.ramgah·· of rest. It is cuetolDlll'1l1'ith lOme clas_ ot native. to apeak of 
deceaaed kinge by their posthumeolJl title •• 
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No. 56.-0RDER under the seal of the King diWerent from that in the 
. Cypher.-No date. 

SEAL. 

The Father of Victory ! 
The CandlE' of Religion ! 
~fuhamina<i Bahadur Shah, King, Defender 

of the Faith I 

To the special Slave, worthy of kindness and favours. The Lion of 
the State I The honoured of the Country I Muhammad Abdul Rahman 

Khan Bahadur. 

The Tiger in battle I Receive our kindness and know I-THAT, owing 
to the occurrence of many unpleasant circumstances, and being unable, iu 
consequence of our advanced age and debility of body, to attend to the 
aWairs of the government and country~ we have now no desire left but to 
engage in such 'good works as are approvable' to God and mankind, and 
to spend the remainder of our life in .the service and worship of God. It is 
therefore, our fixed resolve in our present griefs and sorrows shortly to go 
in the garb of an ascetic (pilgrim) first, with all the members of the exalted 
house of Taimur, to the shrine of his reverence Khwaja Kutb-ud-din, of 
eminent holiness, and arriving there, and making arrangements for all the 
neeessaries of the journey, to proceed thence to the holy tabernacles (Mecca 
and Medina). :May God increase the veneration and respect in which they 
are held I for this perishable world aWords no certain dependence. You, 
our slave, are therefore written to, to come quickly to our royal presence, 
with those of your retainers and attached followers in whom you may have 
the fullest confidence, in whatever way your doing so may be practicable, 
and accompanying us to the said shrine, have all the property and chattels 
of the whole of the members of the royal family conveyed thither in safety. 
Moreover, such cumbrous property as the princes will not at the present 
time be able to take with them, they will leave in their several residences 
in the palace; and for the protection of this, in concert with the royal 
servants, you will station som~ of your soldiers j and leaving also an ad­
equate force for a few days at the said shrine, to protect our divine person 
till our departure for the holy house of God (Mecca), you will return to 
your fief (or freehold). In acting thus, you will secure our entire divine 
approval and pleasure, and your fame will likewise spread through man­
kind, that you, the selected from amongst all well-wishers, have at a time 
like the present, from regard for old relations (of sovereign and subject), 
rendered services such as none others of our oldest proteges had the grace 
( or virtue) to aWord. Accordingly, whatever haste you are able to make in 
this matter will be extremely proper and necessary. Be assured or our 

. kindness. Secondly. There is no carriage whatever (procurable) here. Be 
sure, therefore,. to bring 400 or.. 500 carts, and 500 or 600 camels with 
you. . No date.: 
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The interpreter now peruseS' in the original, Persian papers, the trans­
lation of which was read,by the Judge Advocat~ down to No. 56: 

Ghulam Abbas is now duly affirmed as a witness. 

Examined hy Judge Adf{ocate. 

. Question.-Where were.you on the morning of the 11th of May 1857, 
when the mutinous troops came from Meerut? , 

Answer.-I was at the entrance of this ver, hall of special audience. 

Question.-Relate all that you witnessed on that occasion. 

Answer.-At about eight o'clock in the morning, I heard of the arrival 
of five or six troopers of the Company's cavalry, and of their being in front 
of the gilt dome over the king's special sitting-room. They· cried out 
clamorous~-y, upon which the king told his immediate attendants to ascer­
tain who were making such noise. One of them went to the balcony, and 
had some conversation with the troopers, and then returned with his report to 
the king. I don't know what report he made, but the king came out into 
the apartment adjoining the sitting-room above-mentioned, and called for 
me. The king then told me that these troopers said they had revolted, 
and come from Meerut, resolved on fighting for their faith, and killing the 
Europeans, and directed me to go immediately to Captain Donglas, tell him 
the matter, and request him to make suitable arrangements j the king at 
the same time directed one of the household attendants to close the gate 
under the sitting-room. I went to Captain Douglas as ordered, and ex­
plained my message. Captain Douglas immediately accompanied me, saying 
he would see what the matter was. He arrived at this hall of audience, 
and the king immediatly came out and joined him j the king at this timQ 
was strong enough to walk about without other help than that of a stick. 
The king asked Captain Douglas if he knew what was the matter, and 
how it was that this force had come,· and suggested that he should at once 
take steps or make any arrangements that might be 'necessary for the 
occasion. Ahsan Ulla Khan and I were both present at this time. Captain 
Douglas requested that the gate under the king's sitting-room might be 
vpened, that he might go and speak to the troopers. The king said that 
he would not aHew him to do so, as they were murderers, and might kill 
him also. Captain Douglas again tried to persuade the king to have the 
gate opened j but the king would not consent, and laid hold of Captain 
Douglas' hand, saying, "I won't let you go." Ahsan UUa Khan at the 
same time took hold of Captain Douglas' other hand, saying, It If you want 
to see and speak to these men, you can do both one and the other from 
the balcony." Upon this, Captain Douglas came up to the railing between 
the King's apartments and the hall of BIecial audience, overlooking the spot 
where the troopers were collected. I accompanied Captain Douglas to the 
railing, and there perceived about 30 or 40 of the troopers below. 
Some had their swords drawn, others had pistols and carbines in 
their hands; more were coming from the direction of the bridge, accompa­
nied by men on foot, apparently grooms, with bundles on their heads. 
Captain Douglas said to the troopers, It Dont come here j these are the 
private apartments of the ladies of the pala.ce; your standing opposite them 
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is a disrespect to the King.JI On this they gradually, one by one, went off 
in the direction of the Rajghat Gate j and when they had all gone, Captain 
Douglas went again to the king, who said, " Have the gates of the palace, as 
well as those of the city, closed immediately, lest these men should get in." 
Captain Douglas assured the king that there was no cause to fear, that it was 
his duty to attend to the business, and that he would go and make arrangements 
immediately. On this, both the king and Captain Douglas went each to 
their own apartments, and "1 and Ahsan UUa Khan, the physician, came and 
sat down in this hall of specillJ audience. After remaining about half an hour 
we both went to Ahsan UUa Khan's room in the palace. We had been there 
about an hour when a servant of Captain Douglas came running with a mes­
sage requiring the attendance of Ahsan UUa Khan. At the request of the 
latter I went up with him. The man who had come for us said that Captain 
-Douglas was in the key-room,; but, on nearing the place, we heard that he I 

had gone back to his own quarters. It was at this time I noticed there was 
a good deal of smoke rising from the direction of the quarter of the city 
known as the Darya-Ganj, and heard from some of the passers-by that it was 
caused by the troopers having fired .the Bungalows. We thus went on to 
Captain Douglas' quarters over the Lahore Gate of the palace. On reaching 
his room I noticed· that Captain Douglas was in the third apartment, and 
we met Mr. Simo.n Fraser in the intermediate one. Ahsan UUa Khan went 
on to see Captain Douglas, and I returned with Mr. Fraser, agreeably to 
his request, who directed me to go and ask the king for two guns and some 
of his infantry to protect Capt. Douglas' residence. I and Mr. Fraser came down 
the stairs accompanied by another gentlemen who was with him. Mr. Fraser 
had a sword sheathed in his hand, and the other gentleman, whose name I 
don't know, had a pistol in one hand, and a gun in the other. Mr; Fraser 
desired me to go quickly,; he was himself on his way to the king, but I 
preceded him. On my reaching the king's apartments, I sent word to him, 
when he came out of his sitting-room and I explained to him Mr. Fraser's 
request. The king immediately gave orders to the men in attendance to take 
two guns and all· the troops that were present, with such of the officers as 
could be found, to Captain Douglasl quarters. At this time ALsan UUa 
Khan arrived and told the king that Captain Douglas had requested that 
two palanquins might be sent for the two ladies that were staying with him j 
and that they might be brought away and concealed in the apartments of the 
ladies of the palace. The king told Ahsan UUa Khan to make a!'rangementsl 

and he instructed the servants in attendance to take two palanquins with the 
proper complement of bearers, and carry them,· not by the djrect way, but 
round by the garden, so as to avoid the crowd of mutinous troops, who had 
by this time got into the palace. The king while these orders were being 
given, stood inside urging their completion, Ahsan UUa. Khan standing by 
.him. After a short time, one of the servants who had gone for the palkees, 
returned and reported that they had been sent, and very soon aft~r, the at­
tendant who had been sent with the palkees returned, and S8J.d that Mr • 
. Fraser had been. killed. This was shortly before 10 o'clock. Ahsan Ulla Khan 
on this sent other men to see if the repol't was correct, and to get par­
ticulars of what was occurring, and to ascertain how and where Captain 
Douglas was. These men came back very soon after, and stated, that 
not only Mr. Fraser, but Captain Douglas and the ladies, and the other 
Europeans residing with them, had all been killed. Hearing this, the king 
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went inside, and Ahsan Ulla Khan' and I canie into the hall. of special 
audience in perfect bewilderment as to what should be done. Immedi­
ately after this tWQ comIanies of infantry which were on guard at the Palace 
gates, followed by the mutinous cavalry, that had come from Meerut, 
marched into the court-yard of the hall of special audience, and com­
menced firing their muskets, carbines, and 'pistols in the air, at the 
same time making a great clamour. The king hearing the noise, came 
out, and standing at the door of the hall o~ special audience, told hill 
immediate attendants to direct the troops to diicontinue the noise they were 
making, and to call the native officers forward, that they might explain the 
object of such proceedings. On tws the noise was quelled, and the officers 
of the cavalry came forward, mounted as there were, and explained that they 
had been required to bite cartridges the use of which deprives both Hindus 
·and Mahomedans of their religion, as the cartridges were greased with beef 
and pork fat, that they accordingly killed the Europeans at Meerut, and 
had come to claim his protection. The king replied, ff I did not call for 
you; yo~ have acted very wickedly." On this about ('ne or two hundred of 
the ~utinous infantry, the infantry from Meerut, having also arrived by 
this time, ascended the steps, and came into the hall, saying, ff that unless 
you, the king, join us, we are all dead men, and we must in that case just do 
what we can for· ourselves." The king then seated himself in a chair, and 
the soldiery, officers and all, came f:>rward one by one, bowed their heads 
before him, asking him to place his hand on them. The king did so, and 
each withdrew, saying just what came into his mind. When the crowd be­
came excessive, I retired .. The tumult and noise at this time was very great~ 
all speaking loudly together. After a little while the king went to his own 
apartments, and the troopers, picketting their horses in the court-yard, the 
mutinous troops took up their quarters and spread their bedding in the hall 
of audience,' and placed guards all about the palace. After this I went to 
Hakim Ahsan Ulla Khan's rooms, and lay down. About four, or it may have 
been after four o'clock, in the evening, I heard the report of a great ex­
ploaion, and on going out, observed a great column 01 dust in the direction 
of the magazine. The people about at the time said that the mutineers had 
attacked the magazine j but I afterwards learnt that tbe Bri~sh officers in the 
place had blown it up. About five o'clock I heard that the mutineers had 
seized some Europeans, men, women, and children, to the number of about 
seven or eight, and that they had applied to the king for permission to kill 
them; but that the king had asked the sepoys to give their prisoners over 
to him, and that he would have them kept in safe custody. Thcyaccording­
ly made them over on the condition that the guards should be furnished from 
among themselves. Upon this the king had them confined in some apart­
ment, and issued orders that their food should be regularly supplied at hill 
expense. After sunset I was intending to go to my house in the city, when 
on reaching the court-yard of the· hall of public audience, I found a great 
concourse of troops there also, and learnt that they were from the Delhi 
regiments. After this I mounted my horse and went home. On coming to 
the palace next morning, I learned that the guns, the reports· of whic~ 
I had heard at 10 or 11 o'clock the night before, had been fired by the DeIhl 
native battery as a salute to the king. I can't say whether it was on his 
assuming the reins of government, or any other cause: I then came on to 
the hall of special audience, where I met Ahean UIla Khan, whom I asked 
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·if the king had decided on any meas~e to put down the disturbance. He 
told me that the king had despatched a letter on the subject by camel ex­
press, to the Lieutenant-Governor at Agra, and about ~~ days after I again 
asked him if any answer had been received. He said that the camel rider 
had returned without a receip.t or reply, but said he had delivered the letter, 
and was told a reply would be sent afterwards. After the occurrence of ~he 
first day I discontinued m~ regular' attendance at the palace, coming only 
occasionally, once in three or four days, and even on those occasions I mere­
ly paid my respects to the king, and then went away, and accordingly can't 
speak to after events. . 

Question.-Did you hear who had niurderedM~. Fraser? Was it dOIie 
by servants of the king, or by whom? . . 

. Answer.-At the time, it was said the soldiers. had risen, and 
Mr. Fraser had been killed in the riot j but, subsequently I heard that he 
had been cut down by a man who was a lapidary by trade, and had a shop 
in the bazaar immediately under Captain Douglas' residence. I am unable 
to say what the man's name was or where he is' now; . 

Question.-When the king put his hand on, the heads of the native offi­
cers and soldiers, what was the meaning of his doing so ? Was it in accep .. 
tance of their services? -" . 

Answer.-It was equivalent to an acceptance of their .allegiance and 
services; but I cannot say what the king's intentions were at the time. . 

Question.-Wben was it that the kin~s authority was publicly proclaim­
ed in Delhi j or when was it that it was generally known that he had assum~ 
ed the reins of government here? 

Answer.-I do not know of any regular proclamation having been made, 
though such may have been done without my hearing of it j but the very day 
of th~ outbreak the king's authority was established. . 

. . Question.-.Was it on this account that the guns were fired as a salute 
to him? 

Answer.-I don't know j all I heard was, that the artillery-men fired if, 
as a salute on the occasion of their coming under the king's rule . 

. Question.-You know how many guns were fired on this occasion? 

Answer.-The usual royai salute, I think, about 21 guns. 

Question.-On what day di~ the king hold his fi.rst public court? 

Answer.-He commenced holding his court daily from the very day of. 
the outbreak j the audience he gave the troopers may be considered as the 
first court he held. . . 

·Question.-Priol: to the outbreak, had you been a frequent inmate and 
associate of the king and his family? 

Answer.-I used to come to the palace daily, and an interchange of all 
communications between the agent of the Lieutenant-Governor a~d the king, 
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was carried on by me. 'I .Was a serv~nt of the king i but had been appointed 
. through the influence of the late Sir Theophilus ~etcalfe. 

Question.-Had you any opportunities of knowing what passed in 
the palace, or the general subjects of conversation that wel'e indulged in 
prioJ.' to the outbreak? . ' 

Answer.-I had such opportunities, but,1 never heard anything in 
particular. 

Question.-Were you so much in the confidence of the king, or of 
those about hiri:I; as to be likely to be entrusted with any secrets or measures 
that they might wish to conceal from the British Government._ 

Answer.-I was not among those who would be likely to be consulted, 
or informed of such matters i but Ahean UUa Khan and Khwaja Mahbubali 
Khan were more likely to be entmsted. 

Questjon.-Had you, before the outbreak, any opportunities of becoming 
acquainted with the prisoner's handwriting? 

. Answer.-Yes, I used frequently to see his writing. and should be able 
to recognise it. .. . 

Question,-In the papers submitted to the Court, and which purport to 
bear the autograph writing of the prisoner, and his seal, have you any reason 
to object on account of their not being genuine? 

. Answer.-The generality of the papers bear the writing of the king; 
'there may, perhaps, be a doubt about one or two. 

Question.-Were you present when any women and children of European 
~escent were murdered in the palace? 

Answer.-No, I was not in the palace j but I heard afterwards that some 
had been murdered. 

Question.-Do you know by whom they were so murdered j was it by 
the soldiery, or by the prisoner's own servants? 

Answer.-I can't speak pcsitively on the subject; but when I came 
into the place two or three days after, I asked Ahsan una Khan why he 
did not use his influence to stop the slaughter. He said he did all he could; 
but the mutineers would not be restrained. 

Question.-Did Ahsan Ulla Khan give you to understand that he was 
. present on the occasion. 

Answer.-No, he didn't distinctly mention whether he walilpresent or not. 

Questjon.-How many Europeans were murdered on that occasion? 

. Answer.-I did not know the number before, and it is just possible that 
I may have heard it, and may have forgotten; but I now learn, that is within 
the last ten or fifteen days, that the number was about 50, including 
women and children. . 
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Question.-Were these women and children murdered with the'prisoner's 
~onsent? \ 

r Answer.-I have no further, knowledge on the subject beyond what I 
heard from Ahsan Uila Khan, who said that ,the king had prohibited the 
.slaughter, but unavailingly.. ' , 

, Question.-Do you know whether a diary of events was kept during the 
rebellion by any of the king'~' servants, and if so who wrote it? 

Answer.-r do not know'whether one was kept or not i one was kept 
before the outbreak. ' 

Question.-Was Mirza Moghal, the king's son,' appointed the Com .. 
mander-in~Chief of the rebel army in Delhi, and if so, by whom and when? 

Answer.-Mirza Moghal was certainly appointed Commander-in-Chief 
of the army, and it was generally said that he had been appointed by the 
king in compliance with the request of the army. 

Question:-Previous to the outbreak, had you ever heard of any discontent 
in the native army? 

Answer.-Yes I did hear that in Calcutta two regiments had mutinied 
in consequence of having to use greased cartridges i- and that they had been 
disbanded. 

Question.-Before the outbreak at Delhi, did you hear that the regi .. 

ments at this station were in any way dissatisfied? 

Answer.-No. 

EXAMINED BY COURT. 

Question.-Did you at any time after the ,murder of the E~ropeans, see 
either bodies, blood or other traces of such murders, having been committed? 

Answer.-I saw nothing of the kind. 

Question'.-Do you know the spot where these women and children were 
murdered? 

Answer.-I heard they were murdered in the first court-yard, as you 
enter the palace from the Lahore Gate, near the cistern; people about the 
place mentioned this, but did not point out the exact spot. 

Question.-Do you know what became of the bodies? 

Answer.-I don't know how they were eventually disposed of; but I 
heard they were removed in carts. 

RE-EXAMINED BY lUDGB ADVOCATE. 

Question-Do you know whether these women and children were impri­
soned before being murdered, andif so, where? 

'n ,Answer.-I heard they were imprisoned, and were kept. confined in the 
king's kitchen, or in an apartment adjoining, 
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Question.:-How many days they were confined? 

Answer.-About a week or ten days. 

Quesiion.-Who kept tbe prisoners state seals during the rebellion? 

Answer.-They used to remain in the pri$o!leJ:"s private apartments. 

. Question.-Was the use of. them entirely under the control of the 
~~? ~. 

Answer.-The seals were never affix.ed but with the king's authority. 

The following papers in Persian, under the head Miscellaneous, from No. 
57 to 58, having been fl111y established as genuine before the Court on the 
trial of the Rajah of Bullubhgarh, are now received without further evidence 
regarding them, and the translations are read and entered as follows :-

The papers in the origiual Persian are also read to the prisoner. 
Papers arranged under the head· of· Mi~cellaneous. 

No. 57.:-0RDER from the king, under the State seal.-No date. 

To the special Slave, worthy of favour and kindness, Rajah Nahar Singh 
Bahadur. 

KNOW! That we have heard that you have appointed a police officer of 
your own to Bhadrapur; one however, by name Nazir-ud-din Khan, already 
stands appointed by the government, and he is now present in Arab Serai. 
You, our slave, will therefore, according to the dictates of your own devo­
tion, dismiss the man you have nominated. 

No. 58·.-PETITION of Rajah Nahar Singh of Ballabgarh. No date. I 
To the King, Shelter of the World I Dispenser of Justice I &c. 

Respectfully showeth,-THAT, as the state of the road to Delhi was 
very unsettled, your slave has, according to your Majesty's. orders, been en­
gaged, night and day, in instituting the most efficient arrangements. Still 
however, the lawless inhabitants of the village of Pali, which adjoins the 
Bullubgarh boundary, and which, during the Foujdaree* was attached to 
this State, have broken out into reckless and lawless violence, and have so 
taken to highway robbery and plunder, that the whole population is in great 
distress in consequence, notwithstanding that I, your slave, am bringing them 
into order little by little, yet still I cannot venture to act to any full extent· 
without your Majesty's orders. If your royal permission is granted, such 
efficient arrangements will be adopted, that these miscreants and rebels of 
the said village will not have the daring to continue in their present prac­
tices, and the arrangements along the road, from Bullubgarh to Delhi, will 
be perfected. Further, I have heard from some persons who had requests 
to make to me, that it has been represented to your Majesty that the chief 

. • By this term is meant the time when the Rajah of Bhartpur held hi. principalit.y nnder 
the Mahomedan government, in consideration of certain sourcel which were B8ligned to him, and 
which were caUed the Foujdaree. Hence it is that the Jate of llhartpur and the lurroundiog 
districts call themeelvOl Foujda.ra, and evell. when asked their caite8, replied that they are 
Foujdarl. 
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of Bullubgarh'has secreted two Englishmen; with their wives and children. 
, God is witness that this is entirely Ii. false and unfounded calumny. How, 
could your slave dare to commit an.. act of the kind, without your Majcs:. 
ty's wishes and . orders ? A native, however, who was formerly a Christian,' 
had been twelve years in my service: but 1 put even him away, fearing your 
Majesty's displeasure. This man has now discarded Christianity, and em .. 
braced the Mahomedan religion> and he is accor4ingly deserving of mercy and 
forgiveness. If your Majesty permits it, 1 shall have him re.called. (I~rayers 
for the prosperity of the reigll.,) Petition of the ancient slave and servan~, 
Nahar Singhl chief of Bullubgarh. Seal of Rajah Nahar Singh Bahadur. ' 

No. 59.-PETITION of Nah~r Singh, pf B1;tllubgar4. No date. 

To the King I Lord of Maukind I Shelter of the World, &c.! 

Respectfully sheweth!-THAT YOl1r M.ajesty'~ ,order !Iirecting my atten .. 
dance at the court as of old, to superintend aud direct the police arrange .. 
Plents of the city of Delhi and its envirous, accompanied by a second order 
to give my attention to the protection of the road, anI}, to use measures' fol'" 
the safety of travellers, sq.pplies, &c" has been receive<f,. 1 declare it 
8ole~nly as the truth, that, cQnsiderjng myself exceedingly honoured 1J.nd 
exalted in receiving these orders, 1 offered my than1!:sg~vings, with humble 
prostrations, in the house of G04. J\~ay Ile conqescend to accept my 
midnight prayers, ~nl}, for ev~1," presenre your M/!-jesty. in prosperity anil 
~ood fortune, ' 

My Lord! although by the infiueI)..Ce of your royal auspicllS, the most 
~omplete tranquility e~ists il). this your slave's territory, for that 1 am night 
and day engaged D).aking arrangements a,nd IJl.aintaining order, still some 
refractory and turbulent characters, inhabitants of the village of Pali, which 
adjoins the Bulluhgal'h bound:J,ry, and the rebels and reckless characters of 
the town of Palwallikewise, which Ij.lso is near the boundary, have become 
so insurrectionary, and have so entirely adopted a course of highway 
robbery and plunder, that how shall 1 describe it? Although, from certain 
prudential considerations of my own, as welllls on the request of th~revenue 
and police officers, and registrars of landed proprietary rights of the said 
town, 1 -have made arrangements to some extent, by affording them the aid 
pf some cl10valry !!ond infantry; bfl.t, withollt your Majesty's orders,1 do not 
wish to interfere to the degree waich is necessary and desirable. I have eu,\, 
listed new horse and foot levies fo~ the E)fficient protection of the high road from 
Bullubgarh to :pelhi, and am nig1tt and day occupied in arrangements to 
maintain order. 1 110m your ancient and hereq,itaryslave, and ~!I 'I may be 
Qrdered so will 1 act, God willing! 1 s4a11 shortly reali~e the hOMur of 
presenting myself before your Majesty, after efficient arrangements and 
tranquility shall have been established, for certainly the existing state :,f 
things is disgraceful, and involves the dread of the roy~l displeasure. It was 
necessary, and I have therefore submitted it, (Prayers for the prosperity of 
the reign,) Petition of t4e home-born slave, Nahar Singh, Chief of 
Hullubgarh.Seal of R~~a Nahar Singh Bahadur. 
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No. 60.-PETITION .of Ahmad Ali, Confidential Agent of the Raja of 
Bullubgarh. No date. 

To the King! Shelter of the World! 

Respectfully sheweth,-THA.T on his departure from this, some time ago, 
.agreeably to your Majesty's orders, to attend to the arrangement in hill 
iterritory, the Rajah left certain necessary a!-'1;icles here, such as clothes, &c., 
which he has now sent for; I pray, therefoI:e, that a passport may be granted, 
to the effect that the carts coming from Bullullgarh are not to be molested 
'by anyone, and that when the things a},'e being sent, the soldiers at the 
Delhi Gate are not to oppose any hindrance. ( Prayers for the prosperity 
of the reign.) Petition of the menial slave, Ahmad Ali, confidential agent 
of the Rajah of Bullubgarh. Seal of Ahmad Ali. 

Mirza ]t1oghal will have the pass made out and given. 

No. 61.-PETITION of the Rajah of Bullubgarh, dated 20th May 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the W..orld I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THA.T previously to this I have submitted several 
petitions, but have not been honoured with a reply to even one. I now: 
again submit that the refractory inhabitants of the village of Pali, &c., have 
taken to committing highway robbery and plunder in all directions, and are 
grievously oppressing the populace and subjects. Although I have brought 
the said village, little by little, into some 'order, I cannot nevertheless, with~ 
out your Majesty's orders, presume to act with confidence in any matter. I 
am engagea, night and day, raising new cavalry and infantry levies. Besides 
this, my health is frequently affected by the adverse state of the weather. 
Setting this aside, however, I shall make efficient arrangements and provision 
against all the refractory and rebellious characters of this district, and will 
then present myself at your Majesty's court. I have sent Kalandar Khan 
Risaldar, to the royal presence, with some cavalry and infantry, agreeably 
'to your Majesty's orders: as he is directed so he will act. Petition of the 
hereditary slave, Rajah Nahar Singh, chief of Bullubgarh. Seal of Rajah 
Nahar Singh, Bahadur. " , 

No. 62.-PETITION of the Ra.tah of Bullubgarh, dated 21st May 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT by your Majesty's order, the protection of 
the high road to Delhi, and the arrangements of the police station of 
Bhadrapur, had been assigned to your devoted petitioner. Nevertheless, 
since another police officer hal been appointed by your Majesty, I have, 
agreeably to your orders, dismissed the whole of the establishment of the said 
police station, and have installed your Majesty's nominee. I had 
despatched. Kalandar Baksh Khan, Risaldar, with 80me cavalry aud infantry, 
agreeably to your Majesty's orders, to assist in the arrangements; but when 
they arrived. at the gates of Delhi, they were prevented entering the city; 
and the guards told them that they should first give up their arms. Your 
Majesty knows that a soldier's arms are hi. decorations and adorn.ment, aud 
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his remammg' in attendance without them would be improper, as incon­
sistent with the profession of soldiery. They therefore returned, and have 
temporarily taken up their residence in the Old Fort. Let an order, there­
fore be issued, that these men may come before your royal presence; and 
devoting their lives, may zealously engage in, all necessary and becoming 
services. I, who am your ancient servant, ,~onsider that obeying your com­
mands advances my dignity. ,I learn from the clerk of the Bhadrapur police 
office, and submit the same for your information" that the police officer ap­
pointed by your Majesty hus arrived. (Prayers for the prosperity of the 
reign.) Petition of the slave and ancient servant, Nahar Singh, Bahadur, 
chief of Bullubgarh. Seal of Rajah Nahar Singh, Bahadur. 

No. 63.-PETITION of (the Rajah of Bullubgarh, dated 22nd May 1857: 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT your Majesty's orders, with which your slave 
has been honoured, whether as regards the arrangements for the protection of 
thl'l high:road from Bullubgarh to Bhadrapur, and thence on to the Delhi gate, or 
in the village of Pali and towns of Palwal and Futtehpur, and other places, 
have, by the blessing of God and your Majesty's auspices, been. effectually 
carried out, and police and revenue officers have everywhere been established. 
The efficiency of your slave's measures and arrangements have become gene-, 
rally known, in so much that it must have come to your Majesty's hearing 
also. Adoration of the World I Some thoughtless characters, enemies aI,ld 
rebels against this State, who have absconded after committh;lg every injury 
in their power, and who are now amongst those who Fresent themselves at the 
royal court, are not pleased at hearing of the success of the above arrange­
ments, and desire that disrepute should be m~de to attach to my gooclnjlme 
and exertions; and they even instigate the regular infantry soldiers stationed 
at the city gates against me and my servants. I fully believe it probable 
that, in their, stupidity, they may even to your Majesty utteJ: sentiments 
prejudicial to your hereditary slave; but let not their allegations ever, be be- , 
lieved; for formerly too it was their, practice, from feelings of erit¢ty, to 
speak disparagingly of your slave; and then, too, their calumnies used not 
to be heeded in the least.. I pray, therefore, that from a regard for, proper 
arrangemen.ts, your Majesty will, with due consideration, peremptorily'order 
the regular infantry soldiers at the gates riot in any way to object to, disagree 
with, or hinder the servants of the Bllllubgarh State in any matter what. 
soever, otherwise detriment to' the arrangements will ensue, to arrange­
ments which have been made for the protection of your f)ubjects 
solely' in conformity with your Majesty's orders. Further, your 
Majesty is master, and I am your old servant. In ·carrying. 
out, your Majesty's orders, I wish that nothing like' the . least' ' 
deficiency should occur; and accordingly the enlistment of cavalry 
and infantry, to be employed in keeping order, is going on. In a short 'time 
hence I shall send some more cavalry and infantry for the police, and other 
general arrangements. Your slave is, under all ~ircumstances, devoted in 
heart and sou~. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of. the 
ancient slave and servant, Nahar Singh~ 'BiWa;durl ' Chief of Bullubgarh., 
Seal of Rajah Nahar Singh, J38.hil.dut:~ . ,I 
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No. 64.-PETITION of the Rajah of Bullubgarh. dited 24th May 1851. 

To the King! Shelter of the W orId I 

Respectfully sheweth.-TsAT I have had the very great honour to receive 
your Majesty's leiter. intimating the issue of orders to the guards at 
the gates, prohibiting their interference with the servants of the 
llullnbgarh State; granting my cavalry and infantry permission to 
encamp under the palace windows; alid. at~ the same time. with your 
wonted kindness, directing my attendance at the royal court. For 
the 'very great honour confel'red on me by this order, I made my offering 
of thanks in humble prostrations befoTe God. May God ever preserve youI' 
Majesty in the enjoyment of every blessing. 

Adoration of the world' I i. yoUr devoted !iIave, consider obeying your 
orders my happiness. But. owing to the necessity for arrangements. to put 
down the rebellious characters of the village of Pali. &c .• I have been helpless 
and unable to appear at the royal presence. 'But. please God. I shall have 
much happiness in doing so after the disturbers of the peace of the sur­
rounding country shall have been effectually brought into subjection. My 
Lord. this is Sunday, and. according to my usual custom. I went to take an 
airing in the Dilkhusha garden. While I was there the new moon of the 
festival of the Eed appeared, and was. about the same time distinctly seen 
by all the residents of this place. From regard for my obligations, as your 
home-born slave. I offer my wishes that this good news. full of promise, 
namely. the festival of the Eed, which is an occasion for rejoicing, may be 

. the forerunner of good fortline and happiness to your Majesty. (Prayers for 
the eternal prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave and servant. Nahar 
Singh, chief of Bullubgarh. Seal of Rajah Nahar Singh. Bahadur. 

No. 65.-PETITION of the Rajah of Bull~bgarh. dated 25th May 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World i 

Respectfully sheweth,-TsAT' I yesterday submitted a petItion connected 
with the state of affairs, from which every particular must have come to your 
Majesty's knowledge. By God's blessing, and your MajestyJ. good fortune, 

. the arrangements up to the Delhi Gate, audin the COUl}try around this district, 
nrc now perfect. It is necessary, in my opinion. however, to place one police 
-officer, oi'.the lower grade, and 10 soldiers at the lIanuman station, and one po­
lice officer and 25 soldiers at Mahrowli. After that, through your royal prestige, 
the arrangeIpents will be thoroughly complete. !fyour Majesty is pleased to 
1s.ue orders to that efiect, the proposed arrangements shall be made for both 
1'la(:e8,. (Prayers for the eternal prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the 
home-1.x>rn slave, NaharSillgh, Chief of Bullubgarh. Seal of It Rajah 
Nahal Singh, Eahadur." 

No. 66.-PETITION of the Rajah of the Bullubgarh. dated 27th May 
1857. 

To the King f ~helter of the World? 

Respectfully Bheweth,-TsAT, I have had the very great honour of re­
ceiriDg your Majesty'. ordeJ'~ directing the ~uppre88ion anti prevention of 
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the crimes, (jf murder' and pillage; and'my sending 20 horsemen to_ the 
police stations of Mundka and Shahdari to preserve order and arrangements 
there. Feeling myself highly honoured and distinguished, I have 'offered 
up my thanks in humble prostrations before God. Adoration of the World I 
I shall speedily make arrangements to despatch the horsemen, as I am or­
dered by your Majesty i but, in the meantime, some of my servants are 
being sent to look after the place, agreeably to your Majesty's orders. I 
am unceasingly, engaged in ~arrangements' and plans for the prevention of 
crime; but now the ill-condllcted and refractory Goojurs, Mewattees, and 
other castes, have discovered a more determined spirit of violence, andare 
daily resolved on making a sudden attack on the town of Farridabad, and even 
on Bullubgarh itself. But as the blessing of God, and the infl.uenceof 
your Majesty's prestige, are,both in my favour, I shall certainly make 
effectual arrangements, and will then shortly realize the honour of waiting 
on your Majesty, for this is my earnest desire. (Prayers for the prosperity 
of the reign.) Petition of the home-born slave, Nahar Singh, chief of 
13ulIubgarh. Seal,of Rajah Nahar Singh, Bahadur. , 

No. 67.-PETITION ofthe Rajah of Bull'ubgarh, dated 30th May 1857. 
To the King I Shelter of the W orId I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT some days, have now elapsed, that I bave 
Dot been made acquainted with the continuance of your Majesty's good health, 
and I have been anxious in consequence. May God preserve you in pros­
perity and happiness. From yoUr Majesty's order to the address of Moulavi 
Ahmad Ali, I have to-day learned the, circumstance of the plunder of the carts 
at Bhadrapur. I have accordingly, in confJrmity with your Majesty's: com­
mands, issued stringent injunctions to the police officer at Bhadrapur to search 
for and trace out the property and the 6ffenders. Please God, the matter will' 
be thoroughly investigated. t have just now sent off 20 more horsemen to 
your Majesty, to be emplpyed In maintaining order. I mention this for your. 
information. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the 
home-born slave, Nahar Singh, Chief of Bullubgarh. Seal of Rajah Nahar 
'Singh, Bahadur. ' , . 

AUTOGRAPH ORDER by the King (in Pencil). 

'The contents of ~hi~ petition have been learned. This slave is our well-wisher: 

No. 68.-PETITION of the Rajah 'uf Bullubgarll, dated 28th May 1867. 

To the King! Shelter of the W orId ! 

'Respectfully sheweth,-THAT I yesterday sent an answer to your ~ra­
'jesty's missive, and it must have come under your perusal. Through God's 
blessing; and your Majestts ~'uspices, there is complete tranquillity in 
every respect througl!out thIS dIstrIct to-day, . I send five gold mchprs as 
a congratulatory offermg, on accountol'the festival of the Eed-ul-Fitr. As 
a mark of favour an~ regard for y.our home-bo~n slave, ~e~ this offering be 
accepted. (Prayers for the prosperIty of the reIgn.) PetItIOn of the home-' 
born slave, Nahar Sing, chief of Bullubgarh. Seal of Rajah Nahar Singh" 
:Bahadur. ' 
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AUTOGJUl'B' ORDER by the King, in pencil (illegible). 

No. 69.-PETITION of the Rajah of Bullubgarh, dated 31st July 1857 • 
. To the King! Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-TBAT your Majesty is fully aware how entirely 
my former officials had the most complete authority in every matter, and 
how unreservedly every business was confide~ to their care. These men 
in their short-sighted cupidity, embezzled and made away with property 
worth lacs of rupees. When the secret of their. misconduct became disclos­
ed, and I took steps to compel them to render their accounts, and to 
make restitution for the deficiencies, they one and all, upon one plea or an­
other, went off to Delhi, where they are now residing in their respective homes. 
So little do they dread being brought to account by your Majesty's .officers, 
that they have prepared themselves for further acts of ingratitude, and use 
their worst endeavours, to the prejudice and injury of all cases connected 
.with this State, which happen to come before your Majesty's government. 
Thus, for instance, your Majesty having been more than eyer graciously dis­
posed towards this slave, these men have succeeded QY their false and un­
founded representations,' in making me the object of your aversion and anger; 
for they bave made you believe that while I am professedly a servant of the 
State, in beart I am a friend of tbe English, that I am collecting stores of 
lead and powder with traitJrous designs; and that I have closed the high 
road to all travellers and traffic. So completely have your Majesty's feelings 
of gracious kindliness beeu changed for those of anger, displeasure, and re­
sentment, tbat Ahmad Ali, wbo was tbe trusted agent of your distrusted slave, 
and wbo remained in attendance at your royal court, feeling himself in utter 
disgrace, has come away to tbis place, at tbe same time that Kalandar Baksb 
Kban, Risaldar, wbo bad been in attendance according to your Majesty's own 
orders, bas received bis dismissal. Your exalted Highness, all that my ene­
mies liave alleged adverse to my interests are lies, which must in the end fail 

. of their object. They trust by sucb conduct as the,. bave been pursuing,. to 
impress your Majesty with a firm belief of tbeir own zeal and devotion, hoping 
by tbis means to secure immunity from all question or inquiry on the part of 
the officers of your Majesty's government, and the quiet and unmolested enjoy­
ment of the immense riches they have amassed by their frauds against this 
State. My ancestors and I have ever been tbe ancient and hereditary devoted 
slaves and servants oftbis exalted dynasty, and have never entertained an idea 
of disloyalty against you wbo dispens~ mandates to the six cardinal points,* 
and tbe seven kingdoms of the world. For unalloyed gratitude and fidelity, 
I am as silver which has been thoroughly tried. If you test me a bundred times 
I shall not fail in the test.. The proof of this profession and statement is 
this: Before the present disturbances I was staying at Delhi on some busincss. 
If I did not cberish the most beartfelt devotion and fidelity for your Majesty 
even then, bow was it that I made proposals, through the superintendent, Mir 
Fatteh Ali Sabib, that I might be allowed the bonour of an interview? If 
the obligations of fidelity and loyalty were not impressed in their brightest 
colours on the tablet of my heart, how was it then that this secret and long­
cherisbed wish should bave been. disclosed, and should bave received expres­
sion in 'Words? Let my enemies do what they please. I, your ancient slave, 
shall still, under all circumstances, continue your devoted well-wisber •.. 

• :£he six cardinal pointe are the East, Weet, North, South, ZeDith aDd Nadir. 
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It My eyes Will n~ake the impression of any fa~e but yours, . 

U My mirror will not reflect the countenance of a stranger.l' 

M9feover, although I, your ancient slave, profess' the Hindoo religion, 
having o1>served the conduct and behaviour of those who say that God above is 
~upreme, I hav~ re~ained in subjection to the guidance of the !eaders of th6 
Mahomedan faIth, In' so much that, although from the first eXlstence of the 
town there had been no MahJm~dan mosque either in the fort or outside in, 
the market, I have caused '" lofty one for congregational prayers, .built of 
stone, to be erected within th~ fort itself •. I have, moreover, had an eedegah,. 
a place set apart exclusiv7ly for prayers at .. the festival of ~~e Eed, built near 
my garden, called the dilkhusha,. to encourage and conciliate the Mahome ... 
dans. I, your ancient and eternal well-wisher, have ever desired that the 

. Mahomedan faith should be extensively proclaimed,. Your Majesty I Let your. 
displeasure now be c~anged for feelings of graciousness, an~ let me, who am 
an expectant of your kindness, be, as before, regarded anew wlth eyes of favour 
and benevolence; and let not your Majesty give credence to the false allega­
tions and absurd statements of my enemies and adversaries. 

l( Be watchful· against your associates in position. 

"For water, through pure by nature, is the rival of the mirror/' 

Moreover, in your unbounded favour and graciousness, let orders be is­
lIued to. the servants of your Majesty's government. to sei~ethe above enemies' 
and inimical characters, and to make them 'over to me. so that their villanies: 
may come to an end, and the cloud of your Majesty's displeasure and anger 
may be dispelled; and 'that· I may bring them to an account for 
my losses. amounting to lacs of rupees.' ~s regards the petition 
presented to the Lord Saheb Bahadur by Rustam Ali,a resident of Kuraoli. 
that Gaindah and others, II persons, were taking two carts laden with wheat 
and "heat-meal, as supplies to Delhi, and that the Rajah's police officer 
seized and sent them to Bullubgarh, where the freight of the carts 'were 
confiscated, I urge that the statements of the petitioner are altogether false, 
and contrary to facts. The true features of this ·'.business, without reserve 
.or exaggeration, are, Gaind,h, who is a leader of ill-conducted characters 
and highway robbers, had, in the first instance, accompanied by some 
desperados, residents of his own village, plundered the village of Nuglee, in 
the Bhadrapur jurisdiction, and conveyed the booty to his own and adjoin­
ing villages. Subsequently, bent on . plunder, they made a raid on the 
'Village of Mu.growlee; in -the· Bullubgal'h jurisdiction. By the merest, 
chance the police and revenue officers' of Farridabad happened in their 
patrolling excursion to ~ome to the Magrowlee b:mndary, and saw what was 
:going on, when these plunderers and highway robbers immediately consult~ 
ed their safety in flight; but tlie revenue officer, acting with decision and 
promptitude, seized some of the miscreants, and, having pinioned their arms, 
forwarded them to the criminal court of this place. The file of papers 
~omplied in this case is forthcoming. If, in proof of what is here stated, it 
he so ordered, the original, or a copy, as may be required, shall be submitted 
for your Maje'llty's inspection, when you will be thoroughly inform~ of all 
the facts. The case of the buggy and Nabi Baksh Merchant is similar. The 
particulars of this matter are, that my Iilervants had purchased the buggy 
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whi~h has been attached. fr~m a Brahmin subadar oft~e 11th regiment of 
Nattve Infantry, and Nabl Bush Merchant was proceedmg in it to Bullub­
garh. 'So pray your Majesty I certainly inquire into this case. As one or 
two English letters were found in the buggy, I solemnly swear by God, that 
lor my servants have no knowledge of them whatever as to who is the wri. 
ter, who the addressed, or what their purport. It accordingly appears evi .. 
dent that some enemy of ~his Stll:te has h~ these letters written surreptiti. 
ously, by some one acquamted With Enghsh, abd has bad them c(;mcealed iq 
the buggy. Let your Majesty certify yourself Qf the truth of all that is here 
submitted, by the testimony of the I-riests at the shrine of Muhammad Sbah 
Nizam-ud-din. May he ever be blessed. I beg I ~ay ,be honoured with a 
favourable reply to this petition. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) 
Petition of the slave, Rajah Nahar Singh, Bahadur, chief of Bullubgarh. 
Seal of Rajah Nahar Singh, Bahadul'. 

No. 70._PETITIO'N of the Rajah of Bullubgarh, dated 5th August 1857. 

To the King I &c. &c. 

[After a long preamble of the most fnlsome and unmeaning compH .. 
ments.] 

Respectfully sheweth.-..Tsu blessed and happy is the lot of those wbo 
enjoy the blisl of remaining in your Majesty's presence. Although I have 
not been able to realise this happiness, and am still actually at a distance, 
but, with a hundred solemn assurances of my good intentions as of old, and 
with a thou8and 8incere professions of my fidelity as throughout time imme .. 
morial I ever had, I nevertheless feel as though I were amongst those who are 
immediately near your exalted throne. Humbly and respectfully presenting 
my congratulations, I send 8 gold mohurs, as an offering of felicitation on 
acconnt of the festival of the Eed, and trust they will be condescendingly 
accepted. Prayers (the moSt extravagant) for the prosperity of the King, 
and invectives and curses the most rancorous and bitter against his enemies. 

For your Majesty, • • 5 gold mob un. 

For the Queen, 2 JI 

For the Prince, Mirza lawan Bakht. 1" 

Petition of the slave Rajah Nahar Singh, Bahadw-, chief ()f Bllllubgarh. 
Seal of Rajah Nahar Singh, Bahadur. 

No. 71.-ORDER by the King, without signature, cypher, or seal, dated 
8th August 1857. 

To Rajah Nahar Singh. 

Your petition, with an offering of 8 gold mohurs, has been re~ived, 
and has been the means of confirming our confidence on your good lnten .. 
tions. ~s vou are a hereditary slave, it is incumbent on you not to ne~lect 
any- one of the obligations of fidelity and devotion. Be assured of o~r klDd~ 
ll"~S. 



TRIAL' OF EX+-KING, OF - bELiu.', 

For myself, , 5 gold tnohul's. 

For the Queen, 2 " 
For Mirz'a Jawan· Bakht Bahadur, 1 JJ 

No. 72.-0RDER b7 the King, without signature, cypher, or seal, dated' 
9th August 1857. , ' . 

To the special -slave, worthy of kindness and favour! Rajah Nahar. 
Singh Bahadur. 

CONSIDER yourself receiving the royal favour, and know that your mis-'· 
sive sending a present of 8 gold Blohurs as lI. present of congratulation on, 
the occasion of Eed-i-azha has not removed my displeasure in the least. As 
it has p.ot been the custom of this Co\1rt to return such presents, yours, has 
been accepted. It is imperative on you to follow in the path of your father 
a.nd your grandfather, and from your heart to engage in acts of devotion and 
zeal. Be assured of our kindness. 

, No. 73. -PETI'l'ION of the Rajah of Bullubgarh, dated 14th August 1857. 

To the King! Vicar of God, &c. 

Respectfully 'shewetb,-THATI have had the very great honour to. re~ 
ceive your Majesty's missive, acknowledging the receipt of my congratulatory 
present, on the occasion of the festival of the Eed. I have considered myself 
highly honoured and distinguished; but where i~ the tongue, or where the 
languag8 with which I could appropriately expres's my praises and thanks for 
such eminent condescension and graciousness, and ~s regards thi! intimation 
that the cloud of your Majesty's displeasure has not yet been entirely dis­
pelled, do, my lord, let me urge that I am, as is already well known to you, 
an old and ,ancient true and faithful servant of y<?prMajesty's house; that 

, I am from my heart, every rr.oment and every second, occupied in carrying 
out your Majesty's orders. There is not a day ,that my heart forgets to think 
npon all your kindness; there is not a moment that my tongue does not 
speak of your great condescension. Pray do, nnder all circumstances, con-. 
sider me your slave, as one of the lowliest of YOUf Majesty's servants, and 
condescend to regard me with the eyes of graciousness and favour, for your 
Majesty's unbounded kindness and support were in times long gone by 
always 'bestowed on the ancestors of me, who am the least of all your servants~ 
and yo~r Majesty's countenance and protection in every variety of way, were 
ever abundantly conferred on me personally also. Depending on all these for~' 
mer abounding and conspicuous kindnesses, mercies, and favours, I trust that 
the cloud of displeasure which, owing to the false and unavailing statements 
of my enemies, has dimmed the mirror of your Majesty's mind, naturally 
bright as the sun, will now be dispelled and dissipated, and the dust of anger 
and dissatisfaction, which has from the same cause settled on the edge of your 
Majesty's disposition towards me, will be washed off and removed. :More­
over, my trusted 'representative at your 1.lajesty's Court has for some time 
been denied the happiness of presenting himself, and I pray nOl" that he 
~ay be directed to attend. I present the same request in reference to the 
Risaldar of my troop of cavalry. I further pray that I mlly be favo~ll;ed with 
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kettle-drums lind standards, as a means wherehy your Majesty's fame nnd 
p-eatness may be proclaimed to the four quarters, and the six cardinal 
)lOint.~ of the world, alld at the same time the credit and dignity of me your 
faithful and dcvoted standard.bearer, may be advanced amongst all classes. 
Au auspil"ious desire to wait on your Majesty continucs impressed on my 
heart; but as yet I 118ve bcenso unfOl-tullate, as not to have been able to 
realise tllis Ilcartily elieri"hed purpose, in cOllse\luellce of the numerous ail. 
meuts with which I Ilave been afIlicted since I camc from Dclhi, amI from 
which I Ilue not yet obtained complete relief. May your M njcsty's victori­
ons and conquering standards alll'avs be elevated, and may defeat for ever 
attend on your enemies. Petition or the slave Rajah N ahar Singh, Bahadur, 
chief of Bullubgarh. Seal of Rajah Nahar Singh Bahadur. 

No. 14.-0RD1!& without signature, eypllcr, or seal, apparently from 
J£rrza MODkal, dated 16th August 1857. 

To the especial slave,Emblem of Good. Intentions, Rajah Nahar BinDli of 
Bullubgarh. . 

CoNSm,EJl yoonelf honoured. Frequent occasions for verbal instructions 
creur, and a necessity is then felt for tlle presence of tIle tl'ustcd rcpl'csenta_ 
tires of our faithful retaiuers. It is accordingly nccessary and propel' that 
an agent fJ'Om yon, our !Opecial sla,"e, sllould remaiu in attcndance. You al'O 
tberefore directed to lIominale two of your trusted serVllnts as YOllr agcnts, 
and to semi them to the royal court, so that whcnever verbalordcrs may he 
necessary. no difficulty may, be eXllcl'icucetl. Entertain evcry confidence, 
and iD l!Cuilillg the agents alloW' no delay to occnr, for with the blessing of 
God. it i~ 1I0t pDSt<ible or probable that tlley cnn have anything to dread 
Gr fear from this oour1. Cqnsider yourself honoured. 

No. 75.- rUI'TlCN of tIle TIajah of BulIuhgarb, dated 22nd August 1857. 

'fo the King! Vicar of God I &C. &c. 

I:e. .. pectfully sbcweth,-TBAT it is well impressed on your Majesty's mind, 
t'hat your pctitioncr is, by ancestry, the llOme.born slave of your illustrious 
'house; anel tllat I your III ave, anel my anccstors, as I IIItill contiuue to do, 
ki"c c"er remaint'd in t<uujection to your lIajesty's orders, and lillve always 
been engaged in acta of obedience, devotion, and zeal j and I therefore chcrish 
the most Rnl:ious desire to present myself at your court. 'fhe pl'Oof of this 
sb.t£:oment alJ(1 )lrofession is, that if I did not consider mysclf as nurtured 
and rcared by your hands, and if I did not in my heart cherish and preserve 
the most 811l:ious desire to obtain an interview, knowing what unbounded 
beIJefits I sllOuld realise~ how then was it that during the government of tho 
Evg1ish. I repeated my ]letition throngh Mir Fatch Ali, for permission to 
walloD your Majesty. WIlen I did !!O, you were }Ilcased to observe that my 
beart-felt fidelity and dcvotion were manifest, but that from pl'udclltial 
CXJrulideratioDs, Decessary at the time. my attendance in your presence 'Would 
Z10t be proper. lest eome evil might eDsue. That your slave DOW ]Ias tho' 
misfortulle Dot to realize the happiness of preseuting liimself at your court, 
ita to be ascribed to tiro I"CaIODL The fint is, that .iD.~ th~ ,day of my 
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return from Delhi, I have been suffering from various bodily complaints and 
ailments, external and internal. Tile second reason is, that &9 my enemie~ 
have alienated your Majesty's kindness and good-will fl'om me, by means of 
their false and calumnions statements, I have been aft'aid, lest on my going 
to Delhi, they might devise some plan for my being subjected to indignity 
and disgrace, anel by feeding the fire of your Majesty's wrath, with the oil 
of falsehood, boldly and audaciously advanced, might raise its Hames t!) twice 
their present fm'y, I have:' moreover, learned from several quarters that 
the officers and servants of the State are just now very much stt'aiteneJ ill. 
pecuniary meaus, and that they have accOl'dingly arranged for dellllLlldillg a 
contribntion and present in money from me, although my irlcorne it very 
limited, Your Majesty, who is thoroughly acquainted with the whole of the 
affairs and circumstances, public and private, of all rour retainers, knows also, 
that, compared with the States of all the other cllleftains, y'OUl' slave's terri­
tory is considerably the smallest, and that its revenue has nevel' been equal to 
its necessary and unavoidable expenses; but that, ou the C()utr:Lry, the State 
has. always been thousands of rupees in debt. As rega.rds that which had 
been accumulated by the ancestors of this least of the lowest ot' your ser­
vants, it is to be submitted that the former officials of my government, by 
embezzlement and fraud, plundered and carried away the. whole ·of that, and 
emptying my treasllryand store-room~, have abundantly filletl their OWIl. 

]lOuses with the money and property they had containetl. Having absconded I 
from this, they want off to Delhi, where they are now staying at their homes, 
concocting and propagating eVeI'y variety of calumny audscalldal ag:1iust my 
government, U[ldel' thcse circumstances, then, hmv coultl!, Y()Ul' slave., 
whose means arc so limited, arrange for a contribution, a pl'eiCllt iu money, 
and the expenses of the army? Yes, cert~unly, it: YOllr M:tjesty's advisers and. 
the servants of your government will, according to the list below, apprehend 
and make over to me my former faithless and corrupt officials, who are uow 
residing in Delhi, and who, by their embezzlements, have robbetl m':} of about 
11 lacs and 25,000 rnpees, half of whatever I may be able to recover from 
them of their plunder I shall pay into the royal treasury. If, on the other 
hand, it is not deemed advisable that they should be seized and made over' 
to me, then let your Mltjesty's servants themselves apprehend them, and 
recover the claims and demands of this State. Of all the money tha.t may 
be thus recovered, let them pay such portion as they may think fit into. the 
royal ~reasury, and let them return the rest to me. The emblem of nobility 
and greatness, Mil' Fateh Ali, condescendingly took the trouble to'come here, 
and by doing so has laid me under obligations as if he had conferred unlimited 
kindness, He evinced, moreover, a very kind and fatherly interest in my affairs. 
All the orders which were entrusted toMir Fateh Ali for verbal commullica. 
tion I have been made acquainted with by him, word for word j as the answers 
were such as it \vas not expedient should bc put into ,vriting, I have' 
explained them to the Mir Sahib, who will communicate them to yonI' 
Majesty verbally, A further petitiou is, that whatever he may urge in behalf' 
of me, who am a slave deserving of your kindly graciousness aUlI favour~ 
JDay iu ev~ry respect be accepted and approved of, witb that wontcl! kindncss. 
condescension, support, and benevolence from ancient tim:.}s, All that was 
necessary I have submitted for your Majesty's illformatiou.. May yolU' Ma .. 
jesty's servants ever be cheered 'by victory and conquest, anli m!Ly youl." 
destitute enemiei ever be dispirited aud humbled. by calamities ad oppression. 



The 'pllysicial1Abdul Hak; who was Prime 
Minister of the State, 10,00,000 

l\Iuktra Prashad, 'lawyer, .. 

Rajah Lal, chief se~retary, 

Nisar Ali, Deputy Prime Minister, .. -

J owalla 'N ath, Paniiit, treasurer, 

Sher Khan, the said physician's personal friend,.. 

Hisar-ud-din, jemadar and superintendent of my 
landed property in Delhi, who. was also assistant 

to my lawyer, 

Amir Ali,' Superintendent of Buildings . and 
Store-rooms, 

Saadut Ali Khan, police. officer, 

Ahmad Mirza, farmer of Bullubgarh "ill ages and of 
my vineyard in' Delhi, 

. M ubarak Ali Khan, 

15,000 

10,000 

10,000 

30,000 

25,000 

5,000 

10,000 

, 8,000 

10,000 

2,000 

~ Petition of tIle slave, Rajah Nahar Singh,Baharlur. Seal of Rajah 
N ahar Singh Bahadul'. 

No, 76,-PETITION of the Rajah of Bullubgarh, dated lst September 
1857. 

To the King! Vicar of God! &c &c. 

. Respectfully sheweth,-THAT I have had the very great honour to receive· 
your Majesty's missive replying to my petition, intimating your acceptance 
of my present of a dun horse, and directing me to entertain no fcars of op-' 
pression from the army. The acceptance of my present has conferred on roo 
the highest distinction. Let your Majesty ever consider roe your de­
voted and ancient slave and servant. If with your unlimited graciousness' 
and favor you will be pleased to bestow the Pali and Palwal sections of tbe 
district on me, I'shall make the most complete judicial and revenue arrange­
ments there. So complete shall these arrangements be, that everyone, high 
or low, rich or poor, will be satisfied with them, and your Majesty also will 
graciously view your slave's tact, exertions and plans, with approving favour 
and kindness. Prayers for the continuance of the king's victories and con­
quest. Petition of the slave, Rajah Nahar Singh, Bahadur. ,Seal of Rajah 
Nahar Singh, Bahadur.· 

lifo: 77.-l'ET1TION of the Rajah of Bullubgarh, dated 2nd ,September 1857. 

~o the King! Vicar of God ( &c. &c. 

Re!!pectfu1l1 sheweth,-TuAT I have had t~ very great honour to receive 
yaur .Majc,lIty's:missive, iutiIp.ating.your ',acceptal\.c~ of my 1Jrescnt of a dun 
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horse, and' directing me to be assUl'edthat no one of the army 'shall 
commit any act of oppression or grievance against the Bullubgarh State. I 
feel as though I were elevated to the very summit of distinction, The tongue 
and language are alike altogether at fault adequately to express thankfulness 
commensurate with such signal and abounding graciousness and condes­
cension. May God preserve and protect your Majesty, to the end of time, 
in the performance of similar acts of favour and support! Refuge of royalty! 
It is a most extraordinary circums~ance,that your Majesty has ordered that 
no one connected with the ar~y shall commit any act of oppression against 
the Bullubgarh State; and to-day, the 2nd of September 1857, I' receive a 
letter from Muhammad Bakht Khan, Commander-in-Chief of the army, 
saying that all the prisoners .throughout the c('untry had been set 
at large, but that Hardeo Baksh, Pran Su,kh and others, Dbusar, 
and Jamayat Khan, coachman, were still in imprisonment, and direct­
ing me to forward them totbe army, together with their bonds and en .. 
gagements, in the custody of the ten troopers he had sent. It is fully , 
known to your Majesty that the above-named prisoners are accountable to 
this State for frauds amounting to lacs of rupees, and have agreed to pay 
this money, for which they are so accountable. How then can men, respon­
sible for such claims and demands, be released '; for if they should be set 
free, the loss to me, your slave, would be excessive. The above prisoners 
are not like those incarcerated in criminal gaols, from' whose enlargement 
and release from prison no manner of loss could result. If such detenus as 
the al;love are released, endless evils, mischievous to my arrangements, will 
arise, and their suppression afterwards will be exceedingly difficult. Under 
t~ese circumstances, ,then, I humbly supplicate that an order may 
be' issued to the Commander-in-Chief to refrain from requiring 
that persons Ie$ponsible to the Rullubgarh State should. be sent to hi~ 
and that he will on no account call for them, as, from such pro­
ceedings on his part, it is in every point of view evident that damage to the 
very foundations of this State must accrue-. I trust, therefore, that my 
request will receive the honour of approval, for I, your slave, am an old 
and devoted servant and well-wisher of your throne; which is the thresh': 
hold of earth·and heaven. I expect, moreover, that your Majesty's servants 
will make over Hakim Abdul Hak, Pandit Jowala Prashaad, and others 
-,:ny officials, as I have claims against them, amounting to about lliacs and 
25,000 rupees, so that I may realise this money from them. ~rayers for 
the king's prosperity. Further, I forward the Commander-in-Chief's letter 
in original. After perusal, let it be kindly returned, with. a favourable 
answer to this petition. Petition of the slave Rajah Naltar Sing, Bahadur. 
Seal of Rajah Nahar Sing, Bahadur. . ' 

Ahsan UUa Khan, Physician, is re-called. 
, 

Papers Nos. 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 13, arranged under the head of Loan, are 
shown to witness, who declares 'that the seals on all are im pressiolls from the 
special seal in the prisoner's cypher. The witness declares further that the 
papers, with tne excertion of No.6, are all in the handwriting of l\:fukund 
La!, the prisoner's secretary. :Papers I, 2, 3, 10, II, 12, 14, 15,'16, are now 
shownto witness, and, with exception of 2, 3, and 12,of which he. knows 
1I0thing, he gives the follo~ing'statcments of' the· others. .No.;l is ill tlle ' 
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handWriting of Muku~d LaI, and attested as genulne by t1le king's autograph 
cypher j and :No. 11 is also attested with the autograph cypher j but witncss 
does not recognise the band writing. 'l'he ordel's 011 the petitions Nos. 10, 
14, 15, and 16 are in the king's own }laud; bllt the witness docs 110t recog­
nise the IIandwriting. The translations of the 16 papers uuder the head of 
Loau are now read and entel'ed, as follows :-

PAPERS ARRANGED UNDER THE 'uEAD OP LOAN. 

No. I.-ORDER und!!r t}le Autograpll Cypher of tIle King, in Pencil, 
dated 8th July 1857. . 

To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otllerwise Mirza 
Mogllal Bahadur! Lcam!· That you, the light of OUI' eyes, already kuow, 
that a very small balance of cash remains iu our treasury. 'j'hat thel'c is no 
immediate. prospect of revenue from any quarter, and that the little money 
which remaius must of necessity be very soon expended. YOII are directed 
to call together, dUl'ing the day or to-night, all the officers of the regimeuts 
which first arrived, in order that they may deliberate and decide on mealls to 
be adopted fot raisiug funds to meet the daily necessary anrl cmergent 
expenses. A meeting of this kind, ill the language of the s()1Uiel'Y, is called 
a" cOllrt." You are to u"e stt'ingent injunctions in this matter, aud the 
result of the deliberations, iu the shape of a feasible pl:m for replenishing 
the treasury, whatever it may ba, you will canse to be emb:>Jie(1 ill a petition 
from them, which you will lay before the royal presence to-morrow. It is a 
necessary measure of prudence and prcca~tioll '0 make arrangements ill 
this matter before the treasm'Y is quite exhausted. l\Ioreovei', as 110 private 
treasury was ever kcpt by us, and as the contributions to· the State loau 
have ·uot been realised, all our servants, old an(l new, are now in pecuniary 
difficulties. '1'ile money amounting to a lac and 20,000 rupees, which was 
levied last month as a loan at interest from the merchants of the city for 
our private expenses, was not all received accordingly. Under these 
circumstances, how are the expenses of others to be provided for? You will 
explain· all these points, particularly and clearly, to each officer, alld 
having their answer . put into writing, will not fail to submit it to-morrow 
for our consideration. 

Note on the face-" Received, 14th July 1857!' 

No. 2.-PETITION of the :Members of the Court, datcd 10th July 1857. 

To the King I Nourisher of tIle Poor r 
Respectfully sheweth,-Tun we have had the honour to be favoured 

by your Majesty's onler, and hesides other particulars, we learn that your 
Majesty'. commands are to tlu! effect, that tbe treasure which wa'l brought 
bas been nearly aU expended in meeting the requirement~ of the army, all(l 
the little now remaining must shortly be paid away to the same end, and 
that we, the officers of the court, are therefore directed to devise some 
feasihle expedient to replenish the treasury. Your Majesty, in our judgment, 
&I the lint atep in this matter, the army should go out. 



II~ 

r Proposition First.-That money on loan at interest lIe' obtained {rom 
Borne merchant. and that this loan, with interest, be paid oft' on'the establish. 
ment of order.· 

Proposition Second.":'-Thll,t a force consisting of 1,500 infantry, 500 
caTall'y, and t,wo horse artillery guns" be sent out into the country to e~tahlish 
police stations, revenue offices, amI postal arrangements, so tllat It may 
}lecome widcly known that your Majesty's rule Ims been established. Fur. 
ther, that tllis force be empowered to take charge of all money which may 
be fOUlld collected anywbere on account of tbe revenues of tbe State, and 
wbich may be voluntarily made over to it. But it sbould be thoroughly 
impresseri on all its memhet·s, that such of them as shall commit any act 
of plunder, tyranny, or oppression, will he severely punished. 

Our first prayer is,-That both the above written suggestions for raising, 
money, may be adopted. 

'Our second prayer is,-That one of your Majesty's nohles, in whose 
integrity your Majesty may have tbe most complete confidence, may be sent 
with tbe forct', to make arrangements for the civil administration of the 
country. ' 

Our third prayer is,-Tbat tIle noble your Ma.iesty may depute sllOuld, 
however, bl! wal'lled, as thoug-h by this conrt, tlmt if, on going out, be 
slmll oppress any pOOl' landholder 01' any~lIhordinate collector of revenue, 
or if lie shall take bribes or donceurs, he will be vunishrcl according to the' 
decision of this COUl't, rfhe settlement of the proprietary rights of landholderS: 
may be effected after the. follo~ing way. • 

. In each case it shall bc ascertained tJl8t tIle name of the claimant is. 
on record in the papers of the )'egistrar* 'of proprietary rights in land, 
or in those of the village accountant, t anel the claimant shall be required 
to file receipts of his former payments of land rent, to show that he con.' 
tributell to the finances of the State, and tllat the settlement of assessment 
had been made ill his favour. If, on inspection of their .documents, and on 
the testimony of witnesses, viz. of the registrar of landed rights, the villalTe 
accountant, and other respectable men of the place, it shall be clearly prov~d 
that the claimant had really been the landholder, and the principal man, 
or one of the principal men, recognised by the Government, as answerable 
for the revenue of' the whole village, or of a considerable section of it, the 
settlement will be made in his lIame, If a subsequent claimant shall 
come forward, his petition will be taken, and au ordel' will be I'ecordecl on 
it, to the effect that a final award will be given after investigation. But in 
the fil'st instance, the appointment to the position of headman t responsible 
for the revenue of the village will be given to those \Vho had formerly 
held the situation. 

Our fourth prayer is,-That, 'if the noble deputed to settle the country 
does not aCt in every particular, according to these orders, the landholders' 
will be at liberty to lay their complaints bofore this court, aDiI if, after 
due deliberation, it is foulld that the noble's orders have been such as should 

• XanWigo. 
." .,' 

t l'atwaJ7. 
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be reversed, they will be annulled, . and the real owners will be installed in 
their just rights. The petition of the slaves, the officers of the court, 
Jiwaram Subadar M~jor Bahadur, Sheoram Misr Subadar Major. Tahniyat. 
Khan Subadar l1aJor, Hetram Subadar Major. Ilnd Beniram Subadar 
!Iajor. 

No. 3.-PETITION of Mirza Moghal. dated 12th July 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of tlie World! 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT your Majesty's order, dated 10th July 
1857, directing, with reference to the small balance of cash in the treasury 
that the members of the court should deliberate on the matter. and that i 
should submit their petition on .the subject, has been received. In con-, 
forJ;llity with your Majesty's orders, the petition, prepared. after due 
deliberation by the members of the court, is sl1bmitted to the royal presence 
enclosed herein. Such orders as may be issued in this business, will b~ 
carried into effect. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign) Petition of 
the slave and bondman, Zohur-ud-diu. 

No. 4.-0&DE& under the Seal engraved in the King's special Cypher, 

dated 15th July 1857. 

To Mirza }jfogltal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Muhummad Zohur-ud-din, 
othel'wise Mirza Moghal Bahadur. Learn! That, just now, we are under 
tIre necessity of raising a temporary loan, at an interest of one per cent. 
per mensem, from the merchants of the city, to defray the allowances of the 
army. Many of the merchants paid up the amonnts that were claimed from. 
them. Others, however, on the ground of non-payment, were apprehended. 
and brought to the palace by the soldiers of the royal levies, and are now 
detained as prisoners in the captain's guard, attached to the office of the 
court chamberlain. We have just heard that with the collusion of some 
infantry soldiers, the relations of the merchants have devised plans to 
liberate them from custody. Even just now a private of the infantry coming 
from the direction of the guard at the Lahore Gate of the city, which ill 
included in the Tamaku-ka-kutra, entered the captain guard: and on the 
instigation of one Lakshmiram, said he would take away Lakshmiram's Bon. 
The officers'and men of the guard interposing, the private in question used 
much violent language towards ,them, and even threatened to shoot them, 
and liberate the lad. From the representations of the officers, it is further 
ascertained that he will return in the afternocn, accompanied by 18 or 20 
other soldiers, in order to raise a disturbance with the men of. the captain's 
guard. You, our son, are therefore directed this instant to send a reinforce­
ment § to the captain's guard for the effectual custody of the prisoners 
confined there, and you will direct that no soldier be allowed to take away 
any prisoner. Do not allow the neglect or delay of a second to occur in 
this matter, for if such things be permitted. our authority must be deranged. 
Be assured of our kindness. 

§ The word wed in the original i. :' Pahara," which meane a Guard, but inddlllito ~8 to 
strength. 
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Note on the reverse by Mirza Moghal probably, but without signature 
or seal. ." . 

.A guard has been stationed, agreeably . to the orders of the royal 
presence, "at the captain's guard. Dated 15th July 1857. 

No. 5.-:-0SDEB under the Seal engraved in the King's SpeciaL 
Cypher; dated 28th July 1857. 

To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise Mirza 
Moghal; Commander-in-Chief, Bahadur! . Learn.' That no money whatever 
remains in the treasury for paying the daily and monthly allowances of the 
troops, nor yet for defraying the daily urgent expenses of the magazine, the 
artillery, and the manufacture (If powder. Without powder the active 
operations against the infidels must be interrupted. It is necessary, there­
fore, quickly to devise some plan for raising funds through the means of a 
loan, without interest, from all the Panjabi" and other merchants, and from 
the rich'servants of the English, and forward it to the Roya.l treasury. 
You are further directed to forward drafts of notes of hand, specifying the 
amount of contribution in each, so that corresponding notes of hand, under 
our special seal, promising payment on the realization of the revenue of the 
country, and the capture of treasuries, may be granted. No fraction of any 
portion of this loan will be left unpaid. You will give full assurance to all 
parties on this point, as well as that, in the event of their arranging for the 
m~mey required, besides being' repaid the loan, as a mark of favour, they 
will be elevated to appointments and emoluments proportioned to their 
qualifications:. But if, notwithstanding such assurances, and the hopes of 
ad"antages thus held out, any of the people mentioned do not exert them­
selves to arrange for the money, but advance unfounded excuses, you, our son, 
-are empowered to chastise them as may be proper, so that severity may 
bring them to the path of propriety and obedience to our Royal orders may 
be the result, and the e.xpenses of the magazine, the artillery, and the manu­
facture of powder, may be no longer interrupted, and all necessary operations 
may be prosecuted daily. You will use such well advised steps in this 
matter as will result in your collecting and ~ending the money to the treasury 
within three days. You are directed to enjoin on your agents, however, 
to refrain from making aIt-y demand now on such of the merchants as assisted 
in the former loan, arranged through the late deceased Manil'-ud-dowlat,. 
or on such of them as have given written engagements to pay the balances. 
of their several contributions within fixed periods. You will lay no further 
demand or claim on the whole of these men, so that nothing at variance 
with the terms of the agreements given under our special seal may occur 
and no caus? for distrust to others may arise. Be assured of our kindncss. 

No. _6.-0ltDEB und~r the Seal engraved in the King's Special Cypher •. 
. dated 29th July 1857. . 

To Brindahan, alias Bindi Mall, Treasurer to the Artillery. 

To the effect that a bond, under our special seal, for 4,198 rupees and 
9\ annas, for the distribution of six months' pay to the Artillery, as being 
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bestowed on yononr slave, it is incumbent on yon to arrange that this money 
be forthcoming. Be assured that the funds on loan pomised by the city 
merchants, will now be very soon realized by Rai Mukund Lal, when the 
amount of this bond will be repaid with every fraction of interest. Entertaill 
every confidence that most stringent orders will be issued for the speedy 
repayments to yon of this loan, and that it will be very soon repaid. Consi­
der this order imperative, and act as you ~re being written to. 

No. 7.-ORDEB under the Seal engraved in the King's Special 
CYl'her, dated 29th July 1857. 

To the Special Slave i Rai Mukund Lal Bahadur. 

CONSIDER yourself receiving mercies, and know. That the balance 
of a contribution to the State loan, amounting to 5,300 rupees, has been 
realized, through Gangaram peon, and a voucher under our special seal 
has been granted for it, and know also, that a special order has been addressed 
to you, our special slave, to repay this sum from the receipts on the account 
of the loan promised by the city merchants. Rs. 4,198 91 have now 
been obtained from Rai Brindaban as a temporary loan, at an interest of 1 
per cent. per mensem, in order that six months' pay may be given to the 
artillery. You, our special slave, are therefore ordered to realize quickly the 
money claimable from the city merchants, aud to repay this aggregate sum 
of R,. 4,198. 91 with interest, .when you will recover and lay before 
our Itoyal presence the vouchers granted under our special seal. Snch sums 
as you will afterwards realize, you will pay into the Royal 'l'reasury. You 
will consider the words in this matter imperative. • 

No. S.-ORDER under the Seal engraved in the King's Special 
Cypher, dated 29th July 1857. 

To Mirza Moglial. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Muhammad Zohur-ud-din other­
wise Mirza Moghal Bahadur. Learn I That as our servants of the artillery 
branch are in pecuniary difficulties in consequence of the revenue from Rohat, 
Kakrul, and other villages not having been received, and as we mercifully 
cherish a concern for the comforts of all our dependants and most especially 
for the comforts of this branch of them, who are now to receive pay after 
six months, an order has been issued to Brindaban, alias Bindi Mall, 
treasurer, to arrange for the payment of their allowances, and a bond, under 
our special seal, has, at the same time, been granted to him for Rs. 4,198 
91 it being definitcly specificd that the money on loan, promised by the city 
merchants, and to be realized through the agency of our special slavc. 
RBi Muknnd Lal, shall be the source from which this s~m will be repaid. 
Do you, our pon, therefore, also issue an order for the same treasurer's g~eater 
satisfaction and confidence, so that, being fully assured he may exert hImself 
effectually to arrange for the money; and that this very day six months pay 
may be distributed to the artillery, after the usual manner, and they 
having their difficulties removed may in this respect be placed on t~e same 
footin!r as the rest of the Government lervants. Be assured of our kIndness. 
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No.' 9.-BoND or' Promissory Note for Money borrowed, under the 
Seal engraved in the King's Special Cypher, dated 29th July 1857. 
To the effect, that the sum of Rs. 4,198 91 has been paid into the 

Royal Treasury, as a temporary loan, at an interest of 1 per cent per men­
sem, by Briudaban, treasurer, for the payment of six months' allowances to 
the servants of the artillery branch, and it has been definitely settled that this 
debt will be repaid from the receipts on account of the loan promised by the city 
merchants. When therefore, Rai Mukund Lal shall in a few days, according 
to the Royal orders, have realized, from the city merchants the money promised 
on loan, the whole and entire sum of Rs. 4,198 9! will be repaid to the said 
treasurer, together with the interest, and no balance to the extent of the smallest 
fraction will be left unpaid, and, moreover, before the liquidation of this 
debt, no portion of the money that will be realized on account of the State 
loan will be paid to any other person, or be 3FPropriated even to the Royal 
reqll:irements. This document is therefore executed as Ii. bond. 

No. 1O.-PETITION of Mirza Moghal, da~ed 6th August 1857. 

To the King J Shelter of the World I 

, Respectfully sheweth,-TBAT aU the influential men of the city, as well 
as the inhabitants generally, urge that they have no objection to raise funds 
for the expenses of the army, but ~hat it would be more gratifying to them 
if the contributions of all, rich or poor,· Hindu or Mahomedans, were realiz­
ed through the influential men of both religions; and that, at the same time" 
by this arrangement, a much larger sum in the aggregate would be obtained. 
I therefore pray that this proposal of the city inhabitants may be approved 
of, and that your Majesty's orders may be issued to the influential men 
named in the accompanying separate list, to carry it into effect. (PrayeJ's 
for the prosperity of the reign.) If the whole of the inhabitants contribute, 
a very considerable amount will be realized, and no one will entertain 
suspicions against this slave of embezzlement or appropriation. All being 
attested by the influential men of the city, a list of whom is enclosed,ac­
cording to their several ability, no individual will have room· for excu_~es 
or delay. 

The Hindus will be assured that your M~jesty regards Hindus and 
Mussulmans with equal favour, and the army will see that the whole of the' 
inhabitants, whether Hindus or Mussulroaus, are sharers in the arrangement 
for raising funds to meet its expenses. 'Petition of the slave Zohur-ud-din. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

The arrangement is a judicious one, and is approved of. 

No. n.-ORDER under the King's Autograph Special Cypher, dated 
, 19th August 1857. , 

To the Special Slaves, worthy of,favours and kindness, the Members of 
, tIle Court. 

CONSIDER yourselves receiving mercies and leard'! That as agree.' 
ably to. the request of you, devoted and zealous ,serva.nts of the State, 
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you are being empowered to arrange and work out all matters and 
affairs, general and particular, connected with the collecting of th~ 
revenue from the, cOUlltry, and the bringing to a satisfactory issue the projel't 
of a loan from the merchants and influential men of the city, it is incumbeut 
on YO,u to act with zeal and integrity in the matters with which you haH' 
been mtrusted, and that you llhould make efficient arranO"emeuts for cI\l'ryiuO' 
on ,the operations of war, and for obtaining final victory ~ver the hostile host 
of mfidels, as well as for protecting the city and its inhabitants. All YOUi' 

acts and arrangements will be approved of and sanctioned. In reference to 
you, no representations of any interested partie'! whatever will be heeded ; 
and in all such orders as may emanate from your Court, none of the ser\'allts 
of the State nor the Princes Royal will in any way interfere. The money 
you . may collect on acc:>unt of the loan from the merchants and the 
influential men of the c~ty, will be deposited' in your Court, and will be 
expendcd in paying the army, and on account of the necessities of the 
magazine, &c., and when the revenue of the country shall have been realized, 
first of all the loan from the city merchants, together with its interest, shall 
be repaid. Be assured of our kindness. 

No. 12.-PETITION of Mathura Das and Salig Ram, Merchants of 
Delhi, dated 23rd August 1857. 

Abstract of Petition, on the face, above the Address. 

WE slaves, selling our culinary vessels, and overcoming a thousand 
'difficulties, have already paid rupees 7,500 in the first iustance to your 
Majesty, and in the second to Mirza.Khair Sultan Bahadur. 'Ihe member8 
of the Court and the Officers of the army, intent on our ruin, now demand a 
third payment. We therefore pray that your Majesty's injunctions may be 
laid on the servants of the State and the officers of the army, to refrain from 
imposing any further demands on these faithful slaves. 

To the King I Shelter of the W orId I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT let it not be hidden from your divine 
Majesty's knowledge that previous to this your Majesty's commands 
were laid on us, your faithful slaves, to pay 6,000 rupees into the 
Treasury; and we were told that we . should be subjected to no further 
demand. Your slave's house had been previonsly plundered of every­
thing it contained, and of all we possessed, by the soldiery and other 
people, on the day of the arrival of the troops from Meerut in Delhi, and all 
our banking and mercantile transactions were, in consequence, utterly 
ruined and suspended. Unable, therefore, though we were to meet your 
Majesty's ,commands, nevertheless that your Majesty's orders should be 
obeyed, we sold such articles of jewellery, culinary ,'essels, &c., as still 
remained in our possession, and borrowing besides to make up the full 
sum, we paid the money into the Royal Treasury on the 3rd and 5th of June 
1857. Recently again, the Commander-in-Chief Bahadur, and Mirza. Khair 
Sultan Bahadur, placed us under strict and peremptory injunctions to make 
a second money payment, to meet the expenses of the army. Feeling our 
utter helplessness, after a thousand difficulties we succeeded in making up 
1,500 rupees, whiCh we gave to the said Royal Princes, obtaining in return a 
receiptl together with an orderl under the sealand siguature of Mirza Muham-
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mad Khair Sultan Bahadur, (may his prestige last for ever I ), that no further 
demand was, on any account, to be made on 'ns by the servants of the 
State, or by the officers of the army. Notwithstanding all ,this, the 
members of the Court and the other officers of the army now a third 
time require' money from your faithful slaves, and are determined on their 
ruin. Whereas we, your Majesty's well-wishers, have no protection, but 
that of God or your' Majesty j and whereas ou two former occasions, 
despite the d~fficulties 'Ye had to overcome, we obeyed your Majesty's 
orders and paId. money mto the treasury, and whereas we are now. with 
difficulty able to procure even the· daily necessaries of life, we theref.re 
present this petition, and pray that according to the claims of jnstice, 
and the dictates of your Majesty's desire to foster the poor, your Ma­
jesty will be pleased to issue orders to all the servants of the State and 
the officers of the army, to refrain from imposing this third demand on your 
slaves, as also to desist from their endeavours to ruin your slaves, by 
these'repeated demands, which they try to enforce by every means of 
coercion, so that thus obtaining justice, we may. pray for the increase of 
your 'Majesty's' wealth and power. Otherwise, in consequence of the dread 
of degradation, and from their. inability to raise the funds required, the 
lives of your slaves will be sacrificed. It was necessary, and has 

. therefore .beensubmitted. . ( Prayers for the prosperity of'the reign.) Peti­
tion of the slaves Mathura Das and Salig Ram, merchants of Delhi . 

. Signatures of the firm of Mathura Das and Salig Ram in the Hindi mer­
cantile character.' 

No. 13.-0RDER under the Seal engraved in the King's Special 
Cypher, dated 27th August 1857. 

To Mirza Moghal; 

Son,-THE illustrious and. valiant Mirza' Zohur-ud-din, otherwise 
Mirza Moghal Bahadur .. Learn 1 That the merchant, Ramjidas Gnrwalla 
having twice paid money into the Royal Treasury, and having, more­
over, in conformity with our orders, made arrangements for the loan 
of the State, it is in~umbent that you, our son, . should make no further 
demand on him. You will consider our injunctions stringent in this 
matter, and' will act in accordance with these orders. 

No. 14.-PETITION of Nahi Baksh, and others. No date. 

To the King! Shelter of the World! 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT; in the present anarchy, your slaves have 
suffered heavy and ruinous losses, inasmuch as whatever commerce we. car­
ried on, whether at Calcutta, or Banares, or Cawnpore,. or DelhI, or 
Umballah or Lahore has been ruined, and all our mercantIle stores have 
been plundered and devastated, ,while th~ burden of our former debts s.till 
lies on our shoulders and we are now' wIthout· even the means of meetIng 
the daily expenses n;cessary for the subsiste~ce of ourselves and our families. 
Let your Majesty ~scertai!1 the truth of th.l!~ . statement .from trustwort~y 
parties, and by an lDspectlon of our mercantIle books. Mll'za Moghal SahIb 
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DOW demands 50,000 rupees from us. Whence can we produce the same? 
At present we should find it extremely difficult to raise even 5,000 rupee'!. 
We, your slaves, have DOW been three days prisoner') in the arrest of Captain 
:Mir Haidar Husein Khan, and the said captain would not allow us out of 
custody, even to join in the prayers on the Eed.i-azha. Left without other 
resource, we petition your Majesty, (at the same time praying to God to 
protect and preserve you over the heads of us, your slaTes,) that your 
Majesty will issue an .order for our release from arrest. We haTe now for 
20 days been administering to the wants of 1,200 mujahids*, and shall 
continue to do so. But more than this is impossible, is out of our power to 
perform, and cannot be done. We depend on your Majesty's consideration, 
equalling that .of Cyrus, that, with a fostering concern to nourish Rud 
cherish the poor, your Majesty's orders will with condescending goodness, 
be issued for our release. It was necessary, and we have submitted it. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) The petition of the slaves Nabi 
Baksh, Haji Mulla Buksh, Karim Baksh, Jawan Bakht, Pir Baksh, Fateh 
Muhammad, Muhammad Husein, Muhammad Baksh, Taimur Ahmad, 
Karim Baksh, Kutb-ub-din, Saifulla, Haji Rahim Baksh, Karim Baksb 
Ahmad, Karamdin, Haji Ahmad, and others. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will take recognizance for future good behaviour, 80 that 
they may not again, in infringement of positive orders, send commissariat. 
necessaries or other supplies to the infidels, and provided the advice of the 
Lord Gonrnor coincides, he will then release them all. 

No. 15.-PBTITION of Mirza Moghal. No date. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Ir is known to your Majesty that the army having been reduced to 
starvation in consequ~nce of not being paid their daily allowances, your 
slave, as well as they were constrained to petition your Majesty on the 
subject, when, having condescended to view the distress, you were pleased to 
issue orders that some plan for raising a loan, to carryon the expenses of 
the army, should be devised; and accordingly, a Royal missive was 
bestowed on your slave in this matter. In accordance therewith, your slave 
summoned the merchants and Panjabis of the city, and conferred with them 
on the subject, and some gave written engagements to pay in a day or two, 
and then went away. I have just learned that Muhammad Bakht Khan 
has received a written order also, to summon the merchants and obtain money 
from them. A circumstallce like this is calculated to cause disunion and 
dissension in the army. Let your Majesty consider this, and recall the 
order given to Mnh:J.mmad Bakht Khan, and let your Majesty also prohibit 
his taking iteps in this business, because arrangements for the money have 
already been made by me. Considf'rinlr it nec~ssary, I have submitteJ this 
petition. (Prayers for the prosperity of the raign.) Petition of the slave 
Zohur-ud-din. No date . 

• Fanatioa' pledging themsel.,eI to exterminate in1idlel 
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Autograph Order by the King; in Peneil. 

My life!* Con~ictin~ or~er~,.one aft~r ano~er, ca~lnot be iS~lled. 
for just now the army IS qUlte disl!lrlted. If the desll'ed object ?e attamed, 
it will not matter whether the requll'ed funds shall have been ralSed accord­
ing to your orders. to the mer~hants, or thr~)Ugh the agency of the general. 
Otherwise there WIll be necesslty for adoptmg some other plan. No date. 

No. 16'.-PETITION of Muhammad Khair Sultan. No date. 

To, th,e King I Shelter of the Warld! 

Respectfully sheweth,-:-THAT aided by 200 troopers 'and a brigade 
major, placed at his disposal by the Lord Sahi~, your 'slave has been assiduously 
engaged, since morning, in collecting the money required by your Majesty's' 
Government. Just now, however, the merchants of the city have put for­
ward the objection~ that Gouri Shankar has ordered them on no account to 
give the money to any of the Royal Princes, but to pay it into the Court 
only. ' Your Majesty I Under such circumstances, extreme (lonfusion' and' 
derangement of plans is to be expected, and mischief-makers of this sort 
are deserving of severe punishment, for wantonly setting plans on foot to 
interrupt the business of the State. Your slave submits that, until such 
IJlischief-makers shall have, been severely punished, till then arrangements 
which will result in success cannot be made. It is submitted for informa­
tion. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the lowly 
Muhammad Khair Sultan. No date. 

Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

Besides the shopkeepers, you will 'realise money to-morrow morning, 
as may be advisable, from merchants also; and will forward it to the Royal 
presence. Let no one be put to inconvenience, nor yet let tlte business of 
the State be interrupted-(a couple of words here are illegible, but the 
sense is not affected or left incom plete). This which is here written is the" 
only prohibition, and there is none othe~. 

The interpreter reads in Persian the original papers under the head or 
Loan, the translations of which are given above. 

Ahsan Ull~ Khan recalled, and the eight papers arranged under the 
head of Pay shown to him. 

Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Queation.-What do you know of the handwriting Or seal on these 
papers? , ' 

ARawer.-The orders on six of the papers, viz., Nos. 1,4, 5, 6, 7, and 
8 are in the handwriting of the prisoner. The writing of No.2 is that of 
Mukund Lal, the prisoner's secretary, and the seal is an impressiou from 
the special one engraved in his cypher. The writing'in paper No. 3, ~hich 
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is a petition from the prisoner's 80n .Mirza Moghal, and is' attested by hi~ 
official seal as Commander-in-Chief, appears to be in the handwriting of 
Jowalla Nath, one of his clerks. 

The translation of these papers is now read and entered as follows :­

The papers in original Persian are also now read to the prisoner. 

PAPERS ARRANGED UNDER THE HEAD OF PAY. 

No. I.-PETITION of Mirza Moghal, dated lst ~une 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the World! . 
THE army has been two days at the Shadari Battery, and did not come to 

receive their daily allowances. 'rhree days' accumulated arrears are due 
to-day, and the army is going in to demand payment. To-morrow a fourth 
day's allowances will be payable, and a second application will be necessarv. 
To prevent this I pray I may at once be favoured with 15,000 rupees as the 
aggregate allowances of foUr days. Petition of the slave Zohur-ud-din. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

Bussunt will give 15,000 rupees out of the Treasury. Further, Mirza 
Moghal, enjoining all diligence on Mirza Fazil Beg Khan, will have an 
acCount prepared of all the money he has caused to be paid out of the 
Treasury up to this date, and will lay it before us. 

No. 2.=-ORDER attested with the Seal engraved in the King's Special 
Cypher, dated 22nd June 1857. 

To Mi"za Moghal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise Mirza 
Moghal Bahadur. Learn! That by the representations of Sam man Lal, 
we are informed, that, in the first instance, sweetmeats were given as daily 
rations to the artillerymen serving the guns in the Cashmere and Baddarraw 
Gate Main Guard and other bastions through the agency of the Mu'azzaz­
ud-dowlat Bahadur,* and that, subsequently, from the 11th June 1857, 
daily money payments have been made instead, as per separate list. That 
although the supply of rations, or the daily allowance of money instead, 
is a matter appertaining to tIle military department, in the above instances, 
the expense was defrayed from the Royal Treasury, and that under these 
circumstances he prays for an order under our Itoyal signature, to our 
illustrious SOli, Mirza Moghal Bahadur, to the effect that he should cause 
reimbursement to be made. You are directed to remit to Samman Lal the 
sum C?f 110 rupees, aggreeably to the statement furni8h~d by him, the 
details of which are subjoined. You are further directed to make arrange­
ments for the future payment of the daily allowances to the artillerymen 
the same all those, according to which they are paid to the whole of the 
infantry regiments. Be assured of our kindness. 

• " The respected or the State," one or ~ titlet or MuhalDlllllCl Bakht Khan. 
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To Kan1&i Khan, A.~tn\erYll19.~ 
,;' Ditto ' 'ditto 
"Ditto ditto 
"Ditto tlit,to 
" " Ditto 'ditto 
" Artillerymen Itt Ule Lahore Gate 
.. ;Ditto at tho Main Guard. 

" KanIai Khan '.. .., 
" Artillerymen at the Main Guard 
" Ditto at the Lahore G .. ta 

, "I .Kal!-Iai Khan ... ..' ... 
" ,ArtIllerymen itt tlle Lahore Gate .," 

Dit~o at the 1\fain Guard 

Xanlo.i Khan ,.. .-. 
" Artillerymen at the Lahore Gate 
" . , Ditto at the Main 'Guard 

II Kanlai Khan ... '.. .. . 
" ;Artillel'ymen 'at the Lah(lre Gate .. . 
" Ditto at the Main Guard ... 

" ,Kaniai :Khan ... ,... . .. 
" Artillerymen at the Lahore Gate ... 
" Ditto at the Main Guard ' ... ' 
" :Blne Bastion 

'" Kanlai Khan ... ... 
" Artillerymen stf,he Main Guard ." 
" Ditto' at tile Lahore Gate ; .. 
" BIlle B""tion 
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No. 3,-PETITIO!Il of Mirza, l.fo!J.hai, dated nth July 1857. 

To the' King! Shelter of the WarId ! 

Respectfully Sheweth,.-THAT your slave having adopted means to 
assure the whole of. the arJ,llY, infantry and cavalry; of their being Jl.aid and 
promoted, as soon as the country, shall, have been settled, the revenue 
realized, and the' enemy' finally and fully' defeated, encloses a copy of an 
outline of these measures, and trusts that, agreeably to it, an order will be 
graciously issued by your Majesty, so that the army may be made acquainted 
with your Majesty's feelings' of favour and kindness in: their ,behalf, and 
being thus .inspired witl;J. hopes of advancement, and distinction, each, and 

,all may fight in your Majesty's cause, even to the sacrificEi of· their lives. 
(Prayers for j;he prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the 'slave,Zohur-ud­
din, attested with the official seal of the Commander-in-ChiefBahadur. 
No order. (En~loBure referred to not forthcoming.) 
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No. 4.-PETlTlON of Mirza Moghal, dated 10th July 1857. 

To the King t Shelter of the World ! 

Respectfully Sheweth,-TuAT a petition, with a nominal list, has this 
day been received from·Muhammad Jahangir Khan, Captain of the Gwalior 
Rajah's Artillery, p~aying that some pecuniary provision may be made to 
enable him to meet the expenses of the daily exigencies of existence. Your 
Majesty's erders are to the effect, ,that all newly arrived troops are to be 
referred to the Bareilly General. 

The aforesaid petition and list are therefore, submitted herewith in origi­
nal. Such orders as may be issued in this case will be acted upon. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave, Zohur.ud-
din. ' 

Note at foot of the Petition. 

This petition is without the enclosu.res. Signed Kalyan Narayan, 8th 
August 1857. 

My life!. * Inform the General 80 that they may learn that the 
T~asury has been quite exhausted. 

Number in a corner at the top (Index number apparently) "778," and 
note immediately below, tt Received 26th July 1857." 

No. 5 . .,--PETITION, of Mirza Moghal, dated 12th Jl1ly 1857. 

To the King t Shelter of the W orId t 

Respectfully Sheweth,-THAT -the sum of 37,000 rupees, with the 
additional 2,000 rupees from the Commissariat funds, with which your 
slave was favoured on the 12th of July 1857, has been all expended, and not 
a fraction now remains in hand, and while sllch is the case, your Majesty 
has passed an order on the petition of the cavalry men recently arrived, 
that your slave will make arrangements for paying their daily allollances. 
The cavalrymen shown in the subjoined list claim arrears for 16 or 20 days 
each, that is to the 12th July 1857. Your petitioner therefore prays that 
10,000 rupees may now be granted in order that these arrears may be paid 
off; and he further prays that in future he may be placed in funds each 
day, to pay the allowances for that day. 

R. D. 

3,696 4 

428 2 

1,594 2 

140 

Mu'azzaz·ud-din Khan, risaldar, 15 days 

Mardan Khan, 10 men, to 12th July 18117 

Turradar Khan, and Faiz-ud-din Khan, 10 days 

Syad GuIzar Ali, 22 men, 28 days, to 12th July 

Ghazi-ud-din Khan, risaldar, 125 men, 13 days 1,950 •• 

Abdul Majid Khan, 2 men, 19 .days of the month 
Zeekhand 133 

• 4 term of eDdelW'meD~ applied to the peLitioDef, and meaning rll1 "D. 

p. 
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Ahmad .Khan and Madari Khan,' risaldars 9th Regi­
ment of Cavalry, number of men and daYI! not 
ascertained 

. Karim Baksh, risaldar, who has neen paid to the enti 
of the month and more, now claims allowances 
for 20 days of tlte month Zu'I Kaadat 

71 

Petition of the slave, Zohur-ud-din, attested with the official seal of 
the Commander-in-Chief Bahadur. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

In consequence ot the scarcity of funds in the Treasury, so large an 
amount cannot be given. Those who are willing to be satisfied with a triBe, 
may be paid something as pecuniary. assistance. 

No. 6.-PETITIOlf of Mirza Moghal', dated 13th July 1857. 

'l'o· the King! Shelter of the World t 

HITHERTO, Karim' Baksh, risaldarof the 1st Lucknow Irregular 
Cavalry, and the men of his corps, have been paid monthly. He has now 
presented a petition, dated t1e 12th July 1857, soliciting payment of daily 
allowauces, in the same way that they are paid to others, and demanding ar­
rears for 19 days. The real state of the matter is; that these people have learn­
ed that there is very little money in the treasury, and it ill on this account 
they now apply for daily allowances. Such orders as may be issued will be 
complied with. . (Prayers for the prosperity afthe reign.) fetition of the 
.lave Zohur~ud-din • 

. Autograph Order by the Ki~g, in Pencil. 

Those who are paid monthly will not get daily allowances. 

Note at the top.----" Received, 26th July 1857," " Number 798." 
(Index number probably.) ".'0 . 

No. 7.-PETITION of Mirza M~hammad Azim. N; date. 

To the King! Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully Sheweth.-THAT the servants of your Majesty who came 
from Hansi and Hissar, and who have been placed under: your slave, have not 
received their pay for two months and 20 days. As the treasuries of Siraa, 
Hissar, Hansi, and other J:laces, were, with great care and zeal, brought by 
them, and lodged in the Royal Treasury, and here, too, accompanying your 
slave in every engagement, three or four of these servants daily certify their 
fidelity with their lives, they therefore now demand their pay. Your slave, 
actuated by zeal, has arranged that if your Majesty will now grant one 
month's payout of the two months and 20 days' arrears which are due, he 
will satisfy the men. If, on the other hand, no pay whatever is now granted 
the force will have cause to be disheartened. It is strange that. all the rest 
of the army should have been paid. I tranllmit enclosed in this petition an 
abstract for one month's pay for all the. men of the force, in expectation tha.t 
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orders may be issued .. It was necessary, and has beenl·epl'esented. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.)' Petition of the special slale 
:Muhammad Azim, door-keeper (may his sins be forgiven). ' 

Autograph signature ....... Note below signature: "The seal 
was no~ at Land just now.n 

Autograph Order by ~he King, in pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will give one month's pay. 

No. 8.-:-PETI,TION of:Mirz.a Moghnl. No date. 

To the King I Shelter'or: the' World I 

AGREEABLY to your Majesty's orders, 10,000 rupees, part of the re"enue 
received from Garhi Harsaru, were drawn fro~ the '.l'reasuryand distributed 
to the troops in payment of four days' aJlowances, Two days' allowances 
more are now due; and of the revenue received from Garhi Harsaru, a 
balance of 7,010 rupees and' 13 annas remains in the Treasury. It is 
expected, from your Majesty's condescending kindness, that or!lel's wi,ll be 
issued to draw this moriey, and distribute it in payment of daily allowances, 
to tlie cavalry and infantry. It was necessary, and I have submitted it. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave, Mirza 
Zohur-ud-din. ' 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

The sum of 5,000 rupees was on each qf two former occasion II granted 
as the allowances for two days, and is now again sent. Do you distribute it. 
No date. 

Fifty-one Papers, arranged under the Ilead of Military, are IIllown 
to witness. 

Que8tion.-What do you know of the handwriting or seals on these 
Impers? . 

Answer.-In papers Nos. 1,2,5, 5, 6, 15, 16, 18, 20, 23,24,25,20,27, 
28, 29, 31, 33, 37, 38, 41, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, all the orders are 
in the handwriting of the prisoner: paper 21 bears the special cypher of the 
rrisoner, but it is not an autograph one: paper 17 is altogether in the 
handwriting of the prisoner: papers Nos. 8, 9, 10, 12, and 14 are attested 
with the prisoner's autograph cypher: papers Nos. 4, 11, 30, 42, and 51 al'e 
aU in the handwriting of Mukund Lal, the prisoner's secretary, aud are 
also attested with the prisoner's special state, seal: I do not recognise the 
writing in papers Nos. 7, 22,32,36,39, and 40 .. In paper19, I l'ecogni~e 
Mirza Mogbal's official seal as Commander.in-Chief, and on paper No. 3-' 
tIle impression is from his seal as Governor-General. In parer No. 13 the 
order is attested by the seal of the prisoner's secretariat' office, and the 
police officer's report of the order having been carried into effect, is attested 
by his own private Ileal and that of the Bahadrapur police office. 



TRIALOll' EX·KING OF DELm. 7: 

These papers are now read and ·entered as follows :.:..... 

PAPERS ARRANGED UNDER THE HEAD OF MILITARY. 

No. l.~JOINT PETITION of Shekh Bansu, Corporal, and 60 Privates of the 
44th Regiment Native Iilfantry, dated 24th May 1857; 

To the King I Shelter of the W orId I 

Respectfullysheweth,-THAT your slaves started from Agra for Meerut, 
in charge of.90 Arab.horses; brought their ,charge in safety .toAligarh, 
and came .on thence tq Bulandshahr. .9n ·arriving at Bulandshahr· they 
fOULd that qisturbances had. commenced, .and saw .hundreds of the country 
people riotously plundering the treasury. ;Feeling it a duty to their faith, 
and assured of God's ~anction, they atta~ked these rioters, and secured 

.. ·what remained of the treasure, and brought.i~ and the' horses to l)elhi, 
intending to malie them over to your Majesty, as the property of the State. 
On our arrival at the bridge of boat!! there remained in oul," . possession 
83 horses and the treasure, minus 45,000 rupees,. which wer!l laden on 
two waggons, and were plundered from us on the road. ·When we crossed 
the bridge we were met by numbers of the townspeople, who beat the 
grooms, and forcibly took away several of the horses. Had your slaves 
not }leen. under the impression that. these men .had been sent by. your 
Majesty for our protection, yonr slaves would have used resistance; The 
treasure and the 22 hor8es whieh remained with' us have been made over 
to the Government; the missing horses are, however, still with the cavalry­
men and others who took them fr0m us, and can be recognized by the 
grooms. We therefore pray that orders may be issued to Mirza Moghal 
to recover them, as they are pointed out by the grooms, from. the ·lDen ill 
whose possession they are, and to·restore them to the·State. 

A~tograph O~der by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will institute inqniries, and tracing the horses upon 
the clues the petitioners may give, will settle· this matter in the way that 
may be proper. 

Note Oll the teverse.-tC Remained in abeyance." 

No. 2.-PETITION of Mirza Mog'hal, dated 29th May 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the World ! 

As your Majesty's army is. about marching to· Meerut, in view to 
. efficient arrangements being. made for collecting and protecting com­
missariat supplies, it is urged that 20 horsemen and 50 footmen of the new 
levies, maybe assigned to your slave for this purpose. Petition of the 

. slave Zohur-ud-din. 

Autograph. Order by the King, in Pencil. 

. Mir Haidar. Hosein Khan will depute 20 horsemen, and Shah·Rukh 
Beg 50 footmen. (The rest of the order is illegible.) 
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No. 3.-PETITION of GovTi Shankar Stika I, of the lIurrianah Light Infantry 
Battalion. , 

To the King 1 Nourisher 01 tlle Poor. 

THE state or affairs here is-. That by the blessing of God, and through 
your Majesty's auspices, your Majesty's rule was established at 10 o'clock 
A. M. to-day. The districts of Hissar and Sirsa are both iu the possession 
of this regiment, and be assured the corps will shortly come to your Majes­
ty's presence, bringing treasure with them. We urge for your consider­
ation that our strength'is that of only one regiment, and some men are 
absent on general and special leave. Moreover, we have hitherto furnished 
detachments which were relieved monthly, for the command dutielt at SirsK 
and Hissar. The distance from Hansi to Sirsa is 90 miles, that from 
Hansi to Dehli is .90 miles more. It will be difficult for UlI, being only one 
regiment, to travel over this 180 miles with the trea1!uries of two districti. 
It is on this account urged for your Majesty's consideration, that a rein­
forcement of artillery and cavalry may be sent to our aid, as also a relief 
to take our place here. An order is ·also required specifying whether we' 
shall come by the way of RoMak or by that of Jhajjar. A further petition, 
is, that the British troops from Karnaul will certainly come to cut us up. 
It is necessary, therefore, that your Majesty should reflect on this, and' 
issue your commands accordingly. (Prayers for the king's prosperity.) 
Petition of the slave Gouri Shankar Sukal, Hurrianah Light Infantry 
Battalion. 

Autograph Order by the King, in J;>enciJ. 

Mirza Moghal will make all neces~ary 'arrangements. 

No. 4.---ORDER attested with the Seal engraved in the King's Special' 
Cypher, dated 30th May 1857. 

The Officers and all the Troopers of the 4th Regiment of Irregulk 
Cavalry. To the Men of two Companies of the 5th Regiment 'of 
Native Infantry and of one Company of the 29th Regiment Native' 
Infantry, and to all other Cavalry and Infantry, besides Chuni Lall 

and Ramcharan, Troopers of the 5~h Troop, 4th Regiment of Irregu­
lar Cavalry. 

HAVE come into our royal presence, and affirmed, that the whole army, 
cavlllry and infantry, entertain the resolve to tender their allegiance at our 
royal court, and that they can bring with them treasure and the various 
munitions of war. In acceptance of their prayers, it is ordered-provided 
that murder and the pillage, of villages on the way, and in the vicinity 
of the seat of the Imperial Government, shall not be perpetrated, and prg­
vided also that, after reaching the royal presence you will observe full 
obedience in all matters~then without hesitation or delay present yourselves, 
at onr court, bringing the treasure alluded to. The I'oyal favour will in 
every way be bestowed on you slave •. ' 
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No. 5.-PETITION of Mi"za Mogllal, dated 9th June 1857. 

To the King! Shelter' of the World! 

YOUR Majesty has been pieased to direct that your slave should pro­
ceed into the batteries, and your slave accordingly sent fur and consulted 
General Abdul Sammad Khan Bahadur,* telling him that he should also go. 
He, however, replied that, as no further confidence could be placed o,n the 
infantry, and the cavalry only could be depended on, his advice was not in 
favour of my going, nor would he go himself. He added, that when the 

. forces of the chief'st government, however, shall have arrived, the soldiers 
composing them being experienced and tried veterans, his and my going into 
the ,batteries then, will be proper. Your Majesty's orders directed that I 
should not act in any matter without the said general's concurrence; and he 
not giving his consent in this business, your slave refrained from going 
with some troopers, who came and clamoured for his accompanying them. 
Other particulars relating to this matter I shall submit verbally, and as 
regards your Majesty's commands, that Mir Haidar Husein should not be 
allowed to have anything to do with the artillery, or I should be visited 
with your Majesty's -displeasure and reprehension, your sla.ve had prohibi~­
ild his interference; but the troopers themselves seized Haidar Husein, and 
carried him away. (Prayers for the king's prOtiperity.) Petition of the 
Blave Mirza Zohur-ud-din. 

Autograph Order by the King, in. Pencil. 

The contents of the petition have been understood. Act according to 
Abdul Sammad Khan Bahadur's suggestions. 

No . .6.-0RDER Ullder the Autograph SpecllJ Cypher of the King, in 
pencil, dated. 10th June 1857. 

To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Moghal Eahadur. Learn I 
That Gulab and Jowalla Singh, residing in Pahari Dharang, convey supplies 
to the enemy~ and intelligence has just arrived that they are now there. 
You are imperatively directed immediately to despatch one company of re­
gular infantry and 50 troopers of the regular cavalry, to arrest them and 
their associates. Do not allow any delay in this business. 

Note on the reverse-"Orders issued." 

No. 7.-P.ETITION of Zaotay Khan, attached to the Police Station of 
Basant, dated 16th J1lDe 1857. 

To the K~ng I Adoration of the World! 

I HAVE this day received certain information that near 2,000 troops who 
have revolted from the British, and are now coming from Nasirabad,. are 
encamped at Garhi Harsara to-day, and will be here to-morrow. There are 
no means for arranging for the usual supplies at this place. I hope, there­
fore, that some officers or troopers will be deputed by your Majesty, on .this 

• Father-in-law of the Jhajjar N"wab. t Jha.iiar Naw"b • 
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duty. (Prayers for the king'i prosperity.) A further petition is,. that your 
petitioner had no previous knowledge of the approach o( these troops, or he 
might have made arrangements in anticipation. The' information brought· 
to-day was quite nnexpccted. May it be suggested that. such orders should 
now be issued as can he carried out. Petition of the slave Zabtay Khan, at. 
tached to the police station of Basant. No order on the petition. . 

Note on the reverse-ccOrders have been issue~, 16th June 1857. 

No. 8.-0RDEIj. llnder the Autograph Special Cypher of the King, in 
pencil, .d.ated 20th June 1857. 

To Mirza MODhal. 

Son,-TIIE illustrious and valiant Mirza. ~Iuhammad Zohul'-ud-diu, 
otherwise Mirza Moghal Bahadur. Learn! That six carts have been pre­
pared to .bring in saltpetre, which is stored outside the city, as it is required 
for the manufacture of powder. You will, therefore, assign 25 .men of thc 
regular infantry to protect it on the road, so that the quantity required may 
be carefully conveyed to the magazine, and you wUl also issue a written 
order to the military guard at the Lahore Gate not in any way to hinder 
thc passage in and out of the .c8.rts employed in its conveyance, ' 

No. 9.-0RDER under the Special Cypher of the' King, in Pencil, dated 
18th June 1857 .. 

To Mirza MODhal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din,otherwise Mirza 
~loghal Bahadur, JJearn! 'l'hat, we h!lve received a petition from tho officers 
of the two regiments of infantry, and of the artillery and cavalry come frolD 
Nasirabad, submitting, that if permission is granted, they will raise batterirll 
on three sides and .attack the enemy, and urging that it is necessary for tlte 
regiment of Sappers and Miners to construct the batteries, and for the w1101e 
of the cavalry present to protect every part of the rear of the' attacking force, 
so that the petitioners may make the attack the day after to-morrow. 'fhis 
-petition has been laid before us,in order that measures may be adopted to 
carry out its suggestions, and you are accordingly directed to issue' writtcu 
orders to the Sapper! and Miners, and to the whole, of the cavalry, to aCCODl. 
pany the Nasirabad force, the first to construct the batteries, and the second 
to cQ-operate in the attack the day after to-morroW'. 

No. 10.-0R!>ER under the Autograph Cypher of the King, in Pencil, 
dated 20th June 1857. 

To Miria MODhal. 
Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza. Zohur-ud-din, otherwise 

Mirza Moghal Bahadur. Learn! That owing to the large daily expenditure 
of powder none is now left in the magazine, and orders have in consequence 
'been issued that materials required in its manufacture should be purchased, 
and that though large numbers of powder.makers are employed, it can.n~t 
be produced as expeditiously as is necessary, while the daily demand for It 18 

very emergcnt. You' are directed to collect it from the men-named in the 
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subjoined list, as well as all that you may find after search in places where 
barrels of it are' likely to be forthcoming, and to have all you may thus col­
lect conveyed to the magazine by to-morrow. Consider ,this business as 
taking ~rece~ence in impo!tance abo!e all others, and see that everf necessary 
precantlOn IS observed In conveymg the powder to the magazme, so that 
when it is required, there may. be nO interrtiption to the operations, and a. 
ell.use of complaint as well as of danger to the men when fighting, may be 
removed. :Be assured of our kindness. 

From Our son, the illustrious Mirza Khair S~tan Bahadur, 350 barrels. 

From the 74th regiment Native Infantry 'at the Lahore Gate, 232 barrels. 

From the men of the 38th regiment Native Infantry, sta-
tioned at the Delhi Gate of the palace, 80 barrels. 

From the Cashmere Gate ( about); 70 barrels. 

From all the regiments, all that may be fouild with them. 

No. n.-ORDER under the Seal engraved in the King's, Special Cypher. 
dated 21st June, 1857. 

To Mirza Moghal • . 
Son,-The illustrious and valiant. Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise Mirza 

Moghal Bahadur. Learn! That you aredil'ected to take 10 marquees and 
10 sepoys' tents 'from the 20th, 74th, 38th, and 11th regiments of Native 
Infantry, and to have them given over to the 30th and 15th regiments of 
Native Infantl'y and to the Artillery going into the Batteries to oppose the 
enemy. Be assured of our kindness. 

No. 12.-0RDER under the Autograph Cypher of the King,'in pencil, 
dated 24th June 1857. ' 

To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise :Mirza 
:Moghal Bahadur. Learn I 'l'hat you are directed to see that the rations for 
the men of the cavalry and infantry. be sent, to the batteries with the same 
regularity as the ammunition, and. that no one be permitted to take or make 
away with these rations on the road. The supplying of rations to the army 
is a matter of pre-eminent importance. You are, moreover, .directed to 
apply by petition for all articles which may be required for the ratiollS, 
and they will be despatched immediately. 

Note on a corner at top-H Index, No. 26." 

No. 13.-0RDER under the Kingis State Seal, dated 27th June 1851, 

1.'6 the Emblem of Honour Khwaja-Nazir-url-rli~, Police Offi~ ot 
. . . ., Bhadrapur. ,: 

:BE it known. 'to your' That info~mation is derived from ~our petition~ 
the arrival in Arab Serai of some men of the cavalry and iMantry of· t~ 
Neemuch force, and oft4eir dem~ding large quantities otcommissarlat 
necessaries and confectionaries from the bazaar peopl~1 which in co~eJlce 
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of t~e paucity, of the population, are not procurable. It is. observed -also" 
that your request that the chief police. officer of the city may be dire:ted to 
~end o1;1t the~upplies re9.uu:ed, and a~cordingly orders in this particular were 
ImmedIately IssUed to hIm. But, OWlllg to the unsettled state of affairs in, 
the ,city, tbe presence 'of the soldiery of the regular infantry, and to the cir­
cumstance of most of the shops being closed, it will be difficult to supply 
confectional'Y in the quantity needed; meal, &c. may be ;procured. More­
over, agreeably to the request of you, emblem of honour, 20 men of the in­
fantry and 10 of the cavalry, servants of the king, are sent, that you may' 
make use of their services on this occasion. On the departure of the force 
you will allow these mElD to return. A special order to the officers of the 
force in question is enclosed. You will have this delivered' immediately, so 
that no excesses Elr ill-usage may be committed against the baEa3r people or 
othel" residents of the place. 

Note on the reverse-" Received 26th July 1857." 
POLICE Officer's Answer on the reverse, dated 27th ,J uly 185? 

To the King I Nourisher of the Poor I 
YOUR Majesty! The 20 foot soldicrs and 10 troopers were sent to your 

slave, in view to his using their serviccs, were sent back to your royal pre­
sence after the departure of the force.wllich came from Neemuch. Wazir 
Ali Jemadar 'and 'the infantry sepoys -afl'orded the services required from 
them in full accordance with your slave's wishes. Your slave has further' 
tesubmit, that the supplies sent by the chief ilOlice officer of Delhi arrived. 
at three o'clock in the afternoon, after effectual arrangemcnts llad been 
made here, and lIVere returned. Petition of the slave Kh\vajn Muhammad 
Nazir-ud-din Khan, police officer of TIhadrapur, staying at Arab Serai. 

Seal of the Bhadrapllr police officer, engraved. in the year '.)f the Ki.ng's 
reign 21st j also seal of Khwaja Muhammad Nazir-ud-din Khan. 

Order without Signatllre or Seal. 

Ordered that this be filed in the office. 

No. 14.-0RDIH\ under the King's Special Autograph Cyphe~. in pencil. 
c.ated 29th June 1857. 

To Mirza Monhal. 

Son,-THE illustrious :Mirza Zohur-ud-diu. otherwise Mirza Moghal 
Dahadur. Learn! 'l'hat the river has to-day risen very cOllsiderably, while. 
intelligence has been received that the Bal'eilly troops will arrive to-morrow j' 
stringent orders have accordingly been ~ssued to the superintendent of the 
bridge to get together all the boats he can collect. and to have this force 
ferried across the river. Using boats, it will have to cross in portions. 
and the whole of the force will not be able to get over at once j and as a 
measure of pTecaution, therefore, you, our son, are now directed to issue 
an order to the officers under your seal, that no one, neither officer nor 
private, of those crossing in the boats subject the superintendent or boatmen, 
to any ill-usage or violence, as stringent owen to repair the bridge have 
also heen issued. The inconvenience of a day or two. therefore. theT ought 
to put up with,heerfully• ' 
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No. 15 • .,.....PETITION of Mirza Moghaj~ dated 30th June 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT an elephant taken from the batteries of the. 
enemy has this day been brought in, ~scOl·ted by some' troopers and some 
Jahadis, and is now forwarded with this petition to your royal presence. 
Your slave trusts he will be favoured, wi th a receipt. (Prayers for the 
king's prosperity. ) Petition of the sla.ve Mirza Zoliur-ud-din. . 

Autograph note by the King, in Pencil. 

The elephant has reached the royal presence. 

Note in ink-ct Received 16th July 1857." ct 499" (Index numbe! 
apparently.) 

No. 16.-JOIN~ PEmTIoN of Mirz,;, Moghal and Mirza Ahdulla, dated 1st 
July 1857. 

To. the King! Shelter of the World t 

Respectful1y sheweth,-THAT the bridge has now been tnoroughly 
completed, and that the petitioners trust,' therefore, that the troops arrived 
from Bareilly, &c., and nowencampcd on the oPFosite side of the river, may 
be allowed to cross over during the night, as during the day the shot and. 
shell of the English continue to fall. If it is so ordered, these troops will 
be made to encamp outside the Ajmir Gate. On the other hand, whatever 
orders are issued will be complied with. The petition of Mirza. Zohur-ud. 
din and Mirza Abdulla Sahib. 

Autograph order oy the King, in pencil. 

Direct this force to encamp outside the Turkoman Gate. 

Note in the Margin-ct Index, No. 242," 

Order on the reverse, without signature, but authenticated by an official 
seal-(Impression just sufficiently lrgible to show that it is the seal of the 
Commander-in-Chief, Mirza MoglIa!.) "Ordered that the orders in this 
case having been carried out, this petition be filed. in the Office." Dated 
2nd July 1857. 

No. 17 . .....:.AN Autograph Order of the King, in pencil. No date. 

To the especial Slave, the Lord Governor, Muhammed Bakht Khan, Bahadur. 

RECEIVE our favoilr and understand. That whilst the Neemuch force 
bas reacheL! Alapur, its baggage is still here j and that you are, therefore, 
directed to take 200 troopers and five or seven compauies of infantry, aneL 
to have all the baggage alluded to, such as tents, &c., together with com~ 
missariat supplies, conveyed by these Ghazis to Alapur. You are furtlter 
directed not to allow the infidels staying near the Eedgah to advance. 
Be it known to you further, that if the army l'eturns without victory; and 
divested of its appliauces .of war, the cOllsequences must be disastrous. 
You have been premonished, and you are to. consider these orders. stringent. 
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~o .. IS.-PETITION of Mirza Moghal, dated 9th July 1851. 

To t~e King! Shelter of the World I 

1,tespectfully sheweth,-TBAT Sarfaraz Khan Dufl'OOar and Muhammad 
Khan Artilleryman, coming over with their horse from the batteries of the 
enemy, report the capture of the hostile battery at Sabzi Mundi, and of two 
of the enemY's guns by the Ghazis of your Majesty~s victorious army. May 
this auspicious event be a subject of gratulation to all well-wishers of the 
State. These 'two men who have now come to the royal presence were the 
servants of the enemy; they have now girded their loins in your Majesty's 
cause. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slaTe 
Zohur-ud-din, attested with the 'official seal, of the Commander-in-Chief 
:Bahadur. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil • 

. Thf; ~Qntents. of this. petition have come to our knowledge~ May the 
event be auspicious to you, the light of our eyes* also. 

No. 19.-PETITION of lIlirzll Moghal, dated 12th lUly 1851. 

To the King I Shelter of the W orId I 

Respectfully sbeweth,-TBAT your sl~ve, agreeably to your Majesty's 
orders, explained your wishes t<J the chiefs of. the army, and that yesterday 
Muhammad .:Bakht Khan General :BahOOur came to your slave. Hearing 
your wishes from him, I again explained them to all the officers ot the army, 
to the best of my ability, but. they would not assent to them. Your slave, 
therefore, encloses the petition of the officers, for your Majesty's considera­
tion. Further whatever orders.t It was necessary, and has therefore been 
submitted. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the 
slave Mirza Zoh,ur-ud-din, attestetl with the official seal of the Commander­
in-Chief :BahOOur. 

No. 20,-PETITION of Mirza Noghtll, dated 12th Jnly 1857. 

To the King I Shelt6r of the World I 

. Tau JDusket lock~ and other magazine property, which have been found 
In the house of Hulasl Lascar, are forwarded to your Majesty's presence, 
wit~ !'- separate detailed list. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) 
PetltIon of the slave Zohur-ud-din. 

Separate List. 
List of magazine property found in the house of Hnlasi Lascar, 

in the presence of Siddhai, Jemadar of Lascars; Kalka 'lewan, sepoy 
-th company of - r~giment Native Infantry; and Karim :Baksh, 
trooper of the 4th Irregular Cavalry; on the 12th July 1857; on informa­
tion lodged by Ragunath Rao, sepoy of the - regiment Native Infantry : 

• . A term. of endearment, meaning" m11on." 
t A .hort form of expression with which petitiont are eMluently eloecd, meaning tbat .ueb 

ol'de1'l al are iuued will be earried into tWeet. . 
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Pisto.l barrel~ with ramrod 

Brass mountings of a stock 

Pistol ramrod (h:on) 

Musket bayonet~ 

Musket and pistol locks ; large~ 9 j small, 20 

Piece~ of the works of a lock 

Nails and hooks 

1 

1 
1 

6 
29, 

3 
14 

Autograph Note, authenticated by ~ing's Cypher, in Pencil. 
, Have reached the royal presence. 

81 

No. 21.-PETITION of all the Officers of the 11th Regiment Native 
, Infantry, dated 16th July 1857. 

To the Nourisher of the Poor I his Highness the General Sahib Bahadur I 
YESTERDAY, about noon, Kalyan Singh, corporal, having eaten his 

dinner, went to the ramparts, where he found Mahabal Singh, sepoy of the 
second company 11th regiment Native Infantry, who was on duty at the time 
as sentry over the guns, ,asleep at his post. Seeing this neglect, the corporal 
took away the sentry's musket, and then wakening him, asked him what had 
become of it. The sentry replied that he did not know who' had' taken it 
away. The corporal immediately reported the circumstance to Somair 
Singh, Subadar Bahadur, and, agreeably to his orders,' the sepoy was placed 
in arrest. To-day all the officers of the regiment assembled. as a court, and 
the prisoner, Mahabal Singh, appearing before them, acknowledged having 
been asleep while on duty as a sentry. The offence of the prisoner being 
thus established by his own confession, he is forwarded to your Highness 
with this petition: The punishment which. may be awarded by your Highness 
will be approved of by all of us. The petition/of 'all the -commissioned and, 
non-commissioned officers of the 11th regiment Native Infantry, stationed at 
the Ajmir Gate. . 

Order by the King. 

Ordered,-TBAT your petition, reporting the offence of Mahabal Singha 
sepoy, in going to sleep while on duty as a sentry, as established by his, own 
confession before the court, and forwarding him to the. court of the Com­
mander-in -chief Bahadur, with the yiew that the punishment necesslU"J in 
the case might be awarded, has been considered. Your court are, therefore 
directed yourselves to determine what punishment may be adequate, and to 
carry it out. at once. Your decision will be approved of. Authentica~ed by 
the king'fI autograph cypher in,ink. Dated 17th July 1857. 

Note below the Order-U An order has been written!' 

No. 22~-P,ETITION of Mirza Moghal, dated· 17th July 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World! 

Respectfully, sheweth,r-TBAT your Majesty is cognizant that before 
~ uhammad Bakht Khan came, active operations of war were carried on' 
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daily and without intermission, and your Majesty knows likewise that since­
the arrival of the Bareilly general, several engagements have taken place, It 
so occurred to-day that your slave, purposing tq make an attack, had formed: 
the army and taken it outside the city, when the a-bove-named general in. 
terposell, and for a long time kcpt the whole force sta.nding inactive, wanting 
to know by whose orders'it h:ul gone out, and, saying that it was not to pro­
ceed without his permission, caused it to retm'n, A }lI'occediuO'" like this 
even an open enemy wonld not attempt, namely, that the armyOshoulcl be 
proceeding to all attack, . and: one should interfere and cause it to return, 
Your slave therefore supplicates that if the. entire coabol and· mana6ement 
of the army have, from the royal presencc, been bestowed on' the said general, 
your slave may be directed, by writtcn order, t<? refrain from. interfering iu. 
all military matters, and he will no longer interfere, but will acquaint the 
officers of the army that for the future they are to remaiu with the said 
general, and are to yicld obedience to him, Having his OI'del'S revcrsed 
cannot but cause vexation and chagriu to auy officel', high 01' low, If, on 
the other hand, the control of the army is supposecl to be vested ill your 
slave, the said gencral shoull! not interfel'e ; he has entire authority over. his 
own regiments, Such dema,llds as are made for the services of his regimentS' 
from this he should invariably comply with. Petition of the slave Zohur-

. ud- din. No order, 

No, 23,-PETITION of JIir:a Moghal, dated 19th July 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World. 

YOUR petitioner's prayer is, tltnt tlll'ough your Majesty's IJropitions aus­
pices arrangements have now becn completccl tor CRl'l'yillg on active ofl'clIsive 
operations daily, night o,n<1 clay, and that sinca yc.~tt'l'day this has becn ,101lC, 
If aid could be afforded now from the dil'ection of Alapul', with thc Diville 
blessing and through the influence of your Majesty's ever-enuul'ing prestige, 
a final and decisive victory, it is to be expected, would soon be obtained, I 
therefore pray. that positive orders may be issued from the throne to the 
Hareilly general to afford the aid in question; that is, that he be directed to 
proceed with his troops to Alapur, and to make an attack on the infidels 
from that direction, while your slave with his division of the army makes 
another on this side, so that the two forces, co-operating in the fight may in 
one or two days consign all the damnable hell-doomed infidels to hell, 
Moreover, it is to be expected that the force going to Alapur will cut off' 
the enemy's supplies. It was necessary, and has been therefore submitted. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign,) Petition of the slave Zohur-ud-din'~ 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil, authenticated with Cypher •. 

Mirza Moghal will make whatever arrangements may be proper. 

• Order on the reverse, without signature or seal, (apparently by Mirza 
Moghal, in furtherance of the king'. approval of his suggestions)-'" Order­
ed, that an order be written to the Bareilly general." No date. 

Note below the above Order-"It has been written!' On the fa"e,­
"No. 1,024/" and immediately below it-"Received 30th July 1857. 
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No. 24.-PETITION of Mirza 'Moghal,'dated 30th July 1857.' 

To the. ~ng I Shelter of the . World.' 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT a petition has this day been presented by 
Amb.· Khan, Resaldar of the fourth troop, requesting that the horse-gear 
detailed in the subjoined Jist might be supplied to him: Your Majesty is 
therefore petitioned for permission to have the things in question made over. 
Petition of the slave Mirza. Zohnr-ud-din. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza MogDal will have the horse-gear given as demanded • . 
No. 200.' 

Order on the ;reverse, without signature or seal (but given probably by 
Mirza Moghal, in furtherance of the king's -order )-" Ordered, that when 
the gear of all the horses is given, these will also be supplied." Dated 
3mh July 1857. 

No . .25.-PETITION of I{hwaja Kliairat Ali, Clerk in the Governor's 
Office, dated 1st August 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the World f 

IT is fully manifest to your Majesty, tlutt since yesterday, 20,000 
troops have heen suffering the greatest incon venience and discomfort, exposed 
tQrain, and .1l11suppIied with food. I therefore trust that an order may be . 
issued to the chief police officer of the city to despatch, for the presen.t, 100 
mallllds of parched gl'am to the camp on the other side of the Bus'!ye Bridge; 
-otherwise, this will ·be the second day of starvation to the troops. It has 
been submitted for inforn::.ation. Petition of the slave, Khwaja Khairat Ali, 
clerk in the Governor's Office. 

Autograph note by the King, in Pencil. 

The purport has been learned. Note on the face, It 3rd Augllst 1857, 
Index No. 1165." 

No. 26.-PETITION of Khai1"Qt' Ali, Clerk in the General's Office, 
dated 1st August 1857. 

To the King I Lord of the W orId 1 

ltespeetfully sheweth,-THAT one Company of the 18th Regiment 
Native Infantry has since yesterday been present in the battel'Y at the 
Eedaah, while the said regiment has gone with the LOl'd SaIteb to Alapur.· 
This" company also is now ordered to proceed thither. Your petitioner begs. 
that a reliet' may be sent from the regiments iu the city, to take its place in 
the batterv. Beyond this, it is for YOut' Majesty to determine. Petition of 
the slave Khwaja Khab.'at Ali, cIel'k in the General's office. 

Autograph order by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza; Moghal will arrange thisJmmediateIy. 

Note in the Margin-cc Received 3rd August 1857.'~ 
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No. 27.-PETITION of Ghulam Mu'id-utl-din Khan, Principal Risaldar. 

No date to the Petition. Date of final orders, 2nd ~ugust 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-TRAT your slave has coroe to this city from 
. Tonk, accompanied by nearly 500 men, who are organized as a body, and by 
nearly 1,500 besides, who have come devoting their lives, to fight in the 
religious war against the infidels.· That he aud his followers joined in the 
attack yesterday, that 18 infidels were despatched to hell by your slave's own 
hand, and that five of his followers were killed and five wounded. 

Your Majesty. The rest of the army gave us no help whilst we were 
engaged in combat with the infidels. Had they even stood by, only to 
make a show of support, it was to have been expected, that with the help 
of Providence, a complete victory would yesterday have been obtained. 
But there is no remedy against the will of God. I trust that some arms, 
together with some trifling funds, may be bestowed on my followers, so that 
they may have the strength to fight against and slay the infidels, and in do­
ing this may realize their desire. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) 
Petition of the lowly slave, Ghulam Mu'id-ud-din Khan, chief Risaldar j 
came from Tonk. No date. 

Order on the reverse, without signature, cnher or seal, probably by 
Mirza Moghal.-Ordered, that at present there are no arms. When some 

. shall have arrived they will be given. Funds will also be arranged for and 
llestowed. 

No. 28.-PETITION of BaTcM Khan, dated 4th August 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-TRAT I have on two, or rather on three former 
occasions, petitioned your Majesty for' artillery, and now again submit this 
petition, to be supplied with the following ordnance :-

I2-pounder guns, four. If four can be granted well, otherwise let two 
certainly be given. 

I8-pounder guns, also four. If four can be granted it will be just 
what is desired, if not the presence of two is certainly advisable. 

24-pounder guns, let the same number be granted, and it will be ex. 
treme kindness to your slave, otherwise the presence of two is extremely 
desirable. Also 32-pounder guns, four or two. It will be a great favour. 

Mortars, lO-inch, four j 8-inch, four j 5~-inch four j and 24-howitzers, 
eight. 

And I also trust I may be favoured by your Majesty with the full al. 
lowance of ammunition for those guns, such as sbell, sbrapnell, and common 
shells. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the special slave, 
attested with the seal of Muhummad Bakht Khan.) . 
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No. 1183. 

Autograph by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will make arrangements. 

. Order on the reverse, without signature or seal, (apparently by .Mirza 
:Moghal, in furtherance of the King's order.) Let an answer be written. 
It is known what number of guns there are.* Dated 3rd August 1857. 

No. 29.-0rder under the seal of Mirza Muhammad Khair Sooltan Buhadur, 
son of Muhammad Bahadur Shah, King, Defender of the Faith, dated 11th 

August 1~57. 

To the Officers,' Subadars, Chiefs and others of the whole Military Force 
coming from the Bombay Presidency. 

To the effect, that the statement whi~h_ some person has made to you, of 
the defeat of the Royal Troops at DelhI, IS altogether -a false and lying 
fa.brication; contrived by the contemptible infidels, namely, the English. The 
true story is, that nearly 80,000 or 90,000 regular organized military troops 
are now present here; nearly 10,000 or ;1.5,000 regular and other cavalry. 
These troops are constantly engaged, night and day, in attacks upon the 
infidels, and have driven back their batteries from the ridge. In three or four 
days hence, please God, the whole ridge will be taken, when everyone of 
the base un believers will be humbled' and ruined, and will be sent to hell. 
You are therefo~e directed, immediately on seeing thi~ _o~der, to use every 
endeavour speedIly to reach the royal presence, so that Jommg the army of the 
faithful, yon may give proofs of your zeal, and may establish your claims to 
renown. Consider this imperative. 

ORDER. 

FROM Mirza Khair S!J,lian, to the Bombay' Army, dated 11th 
August 1857. 

GIVING assurance that the report of the defeat of the royal army is a. 
lying invention of the English, who will themselves be exterminated in 
_ three or four days. 

No. 30.-0RDER. under the Seal engraved in the King's Special 
Cypher, dated 13th August 1857. 

To the Slaves, the Emblems of Valour, Karimulla Khan, Risaldar, 
1st Regiment; Lal Singh, Subadar, lst Troop of Artillery j Sahib 
Lal, Subadar, 2nd Troop of Artillery i Shekh Imam-Baksh, Suba­
dar, 3rd Troop of Artillery; Lal Pande, Subadar, 4th Troop of 
Artillery; Ram Singh, Subadar,. 5th Troop of Artillery i Amanat 
Ali, Subadar, lst Regiment of Infantry; Lalla Prashad, Subadar, 
2nd Regiment of Infantry; Jiwa Singh, Subadar, 3rd Regiment of 
Infantrv; Ramdin, Subadar, 4th Regiment of Infantry; Basharat 
Ali, SubadarJ 5th Regiment of Infantry, of the Gwalior Contingent 
Force, and the Officers of the Morar Infantry. 

II Uncertain. 
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LEARN I that the petition of you slaves has been perused, and the brave 
acts of you valiant soldiers experienced in war have been ascertained. It is 
incumbent on YOll that, accompanied by the infantry of the Gwalior State 
and the Rajah, you should engage in steps to capture the Fort of Agra, 
or you may obtain treasure from the B,ajah, and use means to capture the 
fOl·t with your own forces. From the officer down to the private, each and 
every individual will be deemed deserving of our highest favour and con­
sideration, and will be honoured with favours and preferments beyond limit, 
and will in gradation be advanccd to the ranks of adjutant, general, and 
coloneL 

No. 31.-PETITION of Muhammad Baksh Ali, formerly Gaol Superin­
tendent of Jhansi, dated 18th August 1857. 

To the King! Dispenser of Blessings on the W orId f Shelter of 
Mankind, &c. 

Respectfully sheweth,-TsAT the order passed on your slave's petition, 
that besides the 500 soldiers now present, he may entertain sufficient men to 
cOinplete a regiment of infantry, shall be carried into effect. Your peti­
tioner's request, however, was that orders might be issued to change the 
designation of the force under your slave from that of Ali-Ghol* for any other 
which your Majesty might be pleased to select, as the men composing it have 
beel!. thoroughly drilled and disciplined. 

Whatever designation your- Majesty may now assign them, they will 
always retain. Your slave, therefore, prays that orders, under your Majesty'. 
seal and signature, may be issued in this matter. (Prayers for the prosperity 
of the reign.) Petition of the lowly Muhammed Baksh Ali, Superintendent 
of the Jhansi Gaol, officer of the Ali-Ghol. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

Shamshir--ud-dowlat Bahadur will have an order written after the usual 
form of such orders. The name " Faiz JJ is assigned to this regiment. 

Note on the reverse.-An order has been written. 18th August 1857. 

No. 32.-0rder from the King, without Signature, Cypher, or Seal, appa­
rently an Office Copy, dated 21st August 1857. 

To all the Officers of the Bombay Army, 25 Regiments of Infantry, 
and the Artillery. 

GIRDHARI SINGH, Subadar of the grenadier company of the 16th Regi­
ment, has come into our royal presence, and given an account of your valour, 
bravery, and laudable aspirations, which we have been extremely gratified to 
hear. You are, from this day, to be reckoned our homebom slaves and 
servants. It is incumbent on you, therefore, immediately on seeing this or­
der, to make double marches, and hasten to the royal presence. On no ac­
count make any delay, for we are looking out for your arrival with anxious 
expectation. Use every activity, and come without making any halts on 
your march. 

• " Ail GhoI," a name applied to any band ot men. 
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No. S3.-PETITION of Bhawani Singh, Private of the 30th regiment of Native 
Infantry, dated 23rd August 1857.* 

To the King! Shelter of. the World! 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT before ~en are employed in the magazine 
it is necessary that each individual should be made to declare his place of 
residence; and the correctness of his statement on tliis point should be test­
ed by a reference to the place itself, or he might be made to furnish security. 
And further, a descriptive roll of him should be prepared and should be placed 
in the office, and he should then be emFloyed. If these precautions are ob­
served, no fears for the safety of the magazine need be entertained; but if, 
without enquiry, every one is indiscriminately engaged,' emissaries of the 
enemy may obtain admission, and cause much damage. Moreover, one offi­
cer with a clerk, might be stationed in the magazine, for the sole purpose of 
mustering and inspecting the labourers, morning and evening, to see that no 
strangers or agents of the enemy are admitted. Your slave presents this 
petition solely from feelings of zeal, and :relies on your Majesty~s kindness 
and consideration for the.issue of orders, under your Majesty's signature, 
that efficient arrangements for the protection of the magazine may be obser­
ved. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave Bhawani 
Singh, private of the 30th Regiment Native Infantry. 

Autograph order by the King, i~ pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will quickly make the necessary arrangements. . Pre­
cautions in this matter, above all others, are pre-eminently necessary. 

Order without signature or seal, apparently by Mirza Moghal. Ordered 
that arrangements be made, da.ted 23rd August 1857, 

No. 34.-0RDER by General Muhammad Bakkt Khan, a.ttested with his Offi­
cial seal, dated 23rd August 1857. 

T:> the Officers of the Regiment of Sikhs. 

His Majesty the king just now summoned our highness to his presence, 
and said he had every confidence that the Sikh regiment will perform great 
achievements of valour, and with condescension s}:oke of you in terms of the 
greatest praise; you are therefore written to, to the intent that immediately 
on reading this order, five companies will get under arms, and go to the 
Shamgir Eatt!lry.t You will on no account allo)V any delay to occur in this 

·matter. 

Signature at top illegible; office seal of the General Sabjb. 

REPLY, on the Reverse, of the Officers of the Sikh Regiments~ without 
Signature, Seal or Date. 

Your highness, we have learned the purport of your orders; we have to 
submit, however, that our regiment went into the Teli-wara battery at 4 • 

. O'clock, p. m . 

., There is no date t~ the petition; the 23rd Aug~st 1857 is the ~ate of the 1inul orde.r. . 
t This was the battery which was constructed on the other side of the river, and annoyed the 

picq Ilet at the Metcalfe House. . 
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No. 35.-PETITION from ltfanammad Bakht Khan, dated 231'd August 1857. 

To :Mirza ltfoghal, the Lord of Gifts, &c., &c., Mirza Muha-nmad 
Zohur-ud-din, Commander-in-Chief Sahib Bahadur I 

THE order directing me to send one officer from each corps of infantry, 
cavalry, &c., to meet as members of the court arranged hy your llighness's 
wish has been received. I sent ~or the commissioned officers in question, and 
explained to them the_necessity for their attendance at your court at 10 
a. m. to-morrow. They have all willingly and heartily agreed to attend, as 
they have been directed. Thf'y urge, howel'er, that their baggage has just 
now been laden; but that, after reaching Palum they will return, and will, 
with hearty pleasure, attend the court in question. This petition is sub­
mitted for your information. PetitlOn of the slave Muhammad 13akht Khan, 
Lord Governor-General, attested with the seal of Muhammad Bakht Khan, 
Commander-in-Chief of the Army. 

Note on the face-" The purport of the petition has been learned." 

No. 36.-Petition of Jewaram Ajodbya Chobe and others, Commissioned 
officers of the 3rd Regiment Native Infantry, dated 26th August 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the World I 

YOUR Majesty's orders in the first instance were to the effect that such 
men as were late in joining the royal forces s}lOuld be kept on as supernume­
raries, in tbe grades in which tbey had formerly sened. This order lias 
given entire satisfaction to all the officers and soldiery. Those men who 
have been late in arriving have now, however, given a petition, and have had a 
seniority list prepared. All the privates and non-commissioned officers have 
in this matter accordingly represented to their commissioned officers the in­
justice they will suffer, if, to the ~rej~ldice of the ~vident claims of those who 
coming long before, haye been dally m the battel'les, and have on every oc­
casion yielded obedience to all your Majesty's commands, places are given to 
men who have joined after such great delay. 'w B, all the commis~ioncd offi­
cers ofthe 3rd Regiment of Infantry, therefore pray that your Majesty's 
first order, which gave such entire satisfaction to the whole army, may be 
allowed to continue in undisturbed force. Considering it necessary, we have 
laid the matter before your Majesty. (Prayers for the prosperity of the 
reign.) Petition of the slaves Jewaram Ajodhya Chobe and others, all the 
commissioned officers of the 3rd Regiment of Infantry. 

No order or note of any kind. 

No. 37.-PETITION of Nur Muhammad Khan, Risaldar 10th Irregular Caval­
ry, dated 29th August 1857. 

Abstract of petition in the margin above the address. 

THE petitioner was in the 10th Regiment of Irregular Cavalry, which 
consisted of 600 troopers; 50 of them are lIOW here present, and have come 
to fight for their faith. The petitioner }lrays that he may be authorized to 
call in the whole of the troopers, and re-enrol them. 
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To the :King! Shelter of the World! Nourisher of the Poor! 

My corps, the 10th Regiment of Irregular Cavalry, was stationed at 
l>eshawur in the cantonments of Nowshera. Five of the officers, Keshri 
Singh, Kalander Khan, &c., combining with the infidels, and practising de­
ceptions on the men, had us called out to a parade, and had our arms, such' 
as carbines, swords, &c., taken from us. Cheerfully enduring the greatest 
hardships and difficulties for two months, we. slaves have now come to your 
royal presence to defend the faith and to offer up our lives in protecting 
your Majesty's throne. Moreover, the English having placed their guns in 
position against us, we abandoned all our property, money, and three months' 
arrears of pay, and having accomplished the journey, have now presented 
our.selves at your .royal door to sacrifice our lives. Most of the troopers. of 
the 10th Irregular Cavalry have gone to their homes, but their residence is 
near. Ifl am authorizedl I shall immediately call them all in, and set up 
the corps at once, when it will remain in attendance, and will employ itself 
night and day, in giving effect to your Majesty's orders .. It will, besides, 
join in the attacks against the batteries, and its members will willingly sac­
rifice their lives if necessary. This alone is your slave's ambition also. Let 
a written order be bestowed, that he may at once enrol the troopers of the 
10th Irregular Cavalry. 

About 50 of them are now present with your slave. On obtaining your 
Majesty's order he will enrol the rest. It was necessary, and I have there­
fore submitted it. (Prayers for the King's prosperity.) Secondly, if your 
Majesty's orders are kindly besto'\'led on your slave, and some horses are 
given to him, he will remain in attendance. Petition of the slave Nur Mu­
hammad Khan, Risaldar of the 10th Regiment of Irregular Cavalry, come 
from Peshawur from the cantonments of N owshera, expectant of the royal 
favour. 

Autograph order by the King, in pencil. 

:Be assured that favourable provision will be made for you. 

No. 38.-PETITION of Colonel Ahmad Khan, stationed at Ghazi-ud-din­
nuggur, dated 9th September 1857. 

To. the King I Nourisher of the Poor! 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT leaving your imperial presence, your slave 
came to Ghaziabad, and here learned that yesterday, the 8th of September. 
some Europeans, assisted by the Jats, burned and sacked Pilkhowa, and three 
or four neighbouring vil.lages. '1'he force engaged in this destruction was 
comprised of aoout 30 Europeans, 300 Jats of the Diihia tribe, and four 
guns. They are still encamped there, and the farmers of the surrounding 
country, fearing similar devastation, and feeling their pelplessness, are paying 
the revenue. Moreover, definite intelligence has been received to-day, that 
near 50 Europeans and Jats, with two or three guns, have assembled at 
Begamabad with the intention of destroying the bridge over the Hindun and 
of desolating Ghaziabad, and have cut off the supplies which used to be taken 
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to Delhi from Pilkhowa, &c. It is therefore prayed that, with kind considera­
tion, your Majesty will send some royal troops, accompanied by guns, in 
this direction for the punishment of the infidels, so that full chastisement 
may be inflicted on them, and the collection of the revenue of the State may 
be commenced. If however, delay shall occur, the bridge over the Hindun 
will be broken, and the enemy will desolate Ghaziabad. Furthermore, there 
is a very strong fortress of masonry at the village of Mukimpoor, near 
Pilkhowa, in which there are about 50 or 60 maunds of old gunpowder. 
Should the Europeans get into this fortress, their expulsion afterwards will 
be very difficult; and a second Dum Dumma * will come into existence, and I 
shall then be utterly unable to counteract their operations. If my regiment 
of infantry accompanied by guns could be thrown into the said fortress by 
to-morrow the English might be well punished, and would certainly be 
routed with deserved chastisement j but your Majesty being master, it is 
your prerogative to decide. Such orders as may be issued will be carried out. 
(Prayers for the continuance of the king's power.) Petition of the slave, 
attested with the seal of Ahmad Khan, stationed at Ghaziabad. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will adopt measures agreeably to this petition. 

On the reverse, an order, apparently autograph, attested by the king's 
cypher in ink :-

The Brigade-Major Sahib will know that he is to act as may be proper. 

Another order, also on the reverse, without signature or seal, probably 
by the Brigade-Major :-Ordered, that the 14th Regiment march on this 
duty. Dated 10th September 1857. 

No. 39.-PETITION <>f Kasim-ud-din, Private of the 7th Company, 
59th Regiment Native Infantry. No date. 

To the King! Shelter of the World I 

YOUR Divine Majesty! Your slave 'was a private in the 7th com­
pany of the 59th Regiment of Native Infantry, which was stationed at 
Amritsar. The English disarmed the men, and made them prisoners. Those 
of them, however, who get opportunities ma~e their escape and come away. 
Your slave has presented himself solely to fight fer the faith. His armli, 
however, were taken from him by the English at Amritsar, and such personal 
property as he had has been plundered from him by the Goojars. He is now 
without funds to meet his daily expenses of food, and he is also without 
arms j he therefore trusts that he may now be enrolled in the G3rd Regiment 
of Native Infantry, in which a brother of bis, by name Kasir-ud-din, is ser­
ving. Your slave also trusts that as he has come solely to fight for the faith, 
pecuniary assistance and arms may be bestowed on him j and obtaining the 
means of subsistence, he will ever pray for your Majesty's prosperity. 
Petition of the slave, Kasim-ud-din, private 7th company 59th Regiment 
~ative Infantry, come from Amritsar. No date. No order. 

The IIBDl8 given by the ua.tivel to the Artillery School at Meerut. 
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No. 40.-PETITION of Ghulam Ali, Superintendent of the Magazine. 
No date. 

'To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT there is a flat~roofed house, situated near 
the court of justice, and at present in the possession of Mirza Kochuk 

. Sultan, the same in the front of which musket bullets are being' moulded, 
and the magazine stores which are your slave's charge, and are kept in the 
hall of public audience, are not in sufficient safety. For instance, the wax 
and other things are lying outside and the men of the army carry away what 
they please: your slave therefore trusts that the flat-roofed 'house aforesaid 
may be taken from the Mirza above respectfully alluded to, and made over to 
him, so that the wax and other things, being all necessary articles, may be 
deposited there and kept in safety. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) 
Petition of the slave Ghulam Ali, Superintendent of the Ma'gazine. No date. 

No. 41.-JOINT PETITION of Mirza Moghal, Mirza Abdul Hasan, Shah 
Bakhtawar and Mirza Khair Sultan, Sons of the King. No date! 

To the King! Shelter of the World. 

Respectfully prayeth,-THAT four regiments ot infantry, two of cavalry, 
and 12 guns of horse and foot artillery, according to the detail below, with 
a full supply of ammunition and other necessaries of war, and some treasure; 
may be speedily made over to your slaves, in order that they may proceed to 
Paneeput, and may there, through your Majesty's auspices, and by God's 
blessing, obtain immediate and complete victory, and at· once return to the 
Royal presence.* This day has been fixed for our departure. 

74th Regiment of Native Infantry 1 

38th ditto ditto 1 

54th 

20th 

Volunteers 

ditto 

ditto 

ditto 

ditto 

Corps of Gwalior Cavalry' •• 

Corps of Regular Cavalry 

24-Pound,er Guns 

Howitzer and Mortar 

Companie& of Militia 

Jhajjar Cavalry 

1 

1 

400 Men. 

1 

1 

.4 

2 

2 

100 Troopers. 

Petition attested with the seals of Mirza Sultau Zohur-ud-ain, Com­
mander-in-Chief Bahadur i Mirza Muhammad Abdul Rusan, Colonel of the 
20th Regiment of Native Infantry i Shah Bakhtawar, son of the king, Abu 
Zafar, and Mirza Khair Sultan Bahadur. 

'It In the originalllterall,y II and at once" return and again realize the bliss of kissing your 
.;Majesty's feet. . 
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Autograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

The deplI:r~ure of you, our sons, is exceedingly right and proper; but 
first get a petItIOn from the officers of the regiments expressing their willing­
ne.ss to. accompany y~u, and l~y it bef?r~ us, .that we may have assurance on 
Hus pomt. (A portlOll of tlus order IS IllegIble, but the meaning of so much 
as has been deciphered is complete, and is not affected.) 

No. 42.-0RDER under the seal engraved in the King's Special Cypher. 
No Qate. 

To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-THE illustrious and valiant Mirza Zohur-ud-din, otherwise M irz~ 
Moghal Bahadur. Learn, that the numerous applications presented by men 
of valorous aspirations who have already done much service, in the hope of 
obtaining employment as foot soldiers and horsemen, which you have sub­
mitted, enclosed in your petition, have been received. Considering the want 
of funds in the State treasury, the absence of all present prospects of the 
realization of the land revenue from the different sub-divisions of districts, 
owing to the circnmstance that no military force has as yet gone out to 
arrange this matter, and the prevalence of murder and pillage in the immedi­
ate vicinity of the seat of Government; and further, in consideration of the 
collection in the city of large organized military forces from all parts of the 
country, and the insufficiency of the treasures brought by them for their 
own daily expenses; permission to employ these men cannot be accorded, 
for whence can they be aided with funds, or pay, to meet their expenses? 
Such being the case, it is injudicious to give hopes to people whose homes 
are far distant; it is therefore ordered that you will distinctly inform the 
men giving the petitions referred to, and all others who may hereafter present 
similar petitions, that such of them as can remain for one or two months 
without requiring pecuniary assistance, may stay. When order shall have 
been established, and the revenue' of the country realized, they will be re­
warded with appointments commensurate with their several qualifications; 
but this, even then, will only be done when the prior claims of the regular 
military troops shall have been satisfied. It is inexpedient therefore, retain­
ing men who are in pecuniary destitution, on the indistinct hope of employ­
ment hereafter, based on the contingency.f the establishment of order. 
Please God, when the present disturbed state of affairs shall have given 
place to tranquillity, when officers to receive the revenue shall have been 
established throughout the country, and the revenue shall have begun to 
come in from aU directions, thousands of men may then be employed; at 
present there is no option. Two of the petitions have been signed. The 
purport of all is the same; inform all the petitionerS'. Be assured of our 
kindness. 

No. 43.-JOINT PETITION of Jowahir Singh, Sepoy, stationed at Meemt ; 
]1.oushan Singh, Land-owner, of Brajhari; and Chandi Ram, Land-owner. 

No date. 
To the King; Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT two days have now elapsed since your 
slaves submitted a pctition, regarding arrangements in BabugharJ Aligarh, &c., 
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but nothing appears to' have been done by the Government as yet in 
the way of despatching troops or adopting measures'. It is to be apprehend. 
ed that delay in the settlement of the said districts may lead to loss to the 
State, besides that inv6lved in the loss, of the treasuries at present in safety 
at Babugarh, Aligarh, Chataur and other places., Cherisher of the, Poor t 
At Babugarh there are 20,000 rnpees nnder the safe custody of 24. military. 
men, and at Chataur there are 20 lacs of rupees in the, charge of Mardan 
Khan, guarded, by 600t Jats, while the treasury at Aligarh is forthcoming, 
guarded by three companies of regular infantry. Moreover, there are 1,500 
horses at Babugarh, together with the money for their necessary current ex· 
penses. If your Majesty: will take immediate 'steps for d~spatching troops 
and for establishing arrangements in tile above places, it is to be expected that 
the :whole of the above said property will be secured and will COIne into-your 
Majesty's possession; but if a delay of one or two days is allowed to occu'r~ 
there is undoubted'room for apprehension that it will be all lost. The]!e is 
not a man of the English army in the whole of the space betweeQ. the two 
rivers* from Saharunpoor toAgra, who will offer to oppose one regiment of 
infantry sent by your Majesty. There is only one Turnbull, who, with the 
joint magistrate at .Bulundshahl', continues exciting disturbances, enlisting 
men, and communicating intelligence.. In case of delay ou your Majesty's 
J)art, your Majesty's loss is. to be apprehended. ,The inhabitants of 60 
villages, men of the Khatri caste, are ready to lay down their lives for your 
Majesty. .But the residents of the other side of the Gange!! do not fully 
credit what your slave tells them. However, when these landholders shall 
Itave seen a small body of troops placed under your slave, 'together with your 
Majesty's written order, and will have had the evidence of their OWll eyes, they 
will all engage to die in your Majesty's cause. I trust, therefore, -that an 
order under the state seal will be bestowed on your slave, directing him to 
raise new horse and foot levies. Assured of the help 'of the military forC'e, 
84 villages in the holding of Kaihar Singh, landholder of Mukimpur, in the 
district of Meerut j and in the same way, 87 villages, with Devi Singh, far~ 
mer of Bhumrahi, who have already resolved to sacrifice their lives for your 
Majesty, will immediately on seeing the force and the order under your 
Majesty's seal, openly engage with all their energies in your Majesty's cause. 
'l'hey are, as one body, animated by one soul, all of one mind with your slave. 
Y,our slave's only ambition is the welfare of your Majesty's government. If 
delay is allowed to occur, serious loss to the State will be the certain result. 
Beyond this your Majesty has the power. It was necessary, and I have 
therefore submitted it, from zeal for your Majesty. It, is requested that one 
regiment of infantry with artillery, may be placed at your slave's disposa~. 
(Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petit jon of the slaves JowahIr 
Singh, sepoy, stationed at Meerut j' Roushan Singh. landholder, of 13rajhari j 
and Chandi Ram, landholder: Seal of" H.oushan Singh, year 1253." 

. Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will immediately issue orders to the officers of the 
infantry, and as regards the despatch of troops, will act agreeably to Jowahir 
Singh's requisition. 

No date to either petition or order . . 
II Voal!. 
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No. ·44.-PETITION of Mirza Moghal. No date. 

To the King! Shelter of the W Olld ,. 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT numbers of men who have recently arrived, 
expecting employment, and are now in attendance at the royal threshold, 
have presented petitions, praying that daily allowances may be assigned 
to them. These petitions are enclosed herein, and I trust that such orders 
as are issued may be written on the face of each petition, so that they be 
acted ~pon. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave 
Zohur-ud-din. . 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

AS'regular military troops are now coming in great numbers from all 
directions, and there is no 'money in the tre,asury, under these circumstances 
how (a portion cf the order here is illegible) is it to be done? You are 
accordingly directed to write in fuller detail. 

In a corner at the top-No. 763. 

No. 45.-P.ETITION of Rajab .Ali. No date. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT your slave ha.a. been sending for the ord. 
nance stores from the magazine, and having them placed for safety iu 
certain cells in the palace, ever .since the day of the revolution. Nathu 
Khan, however, now objects to sending these stores, and opposes your 
slave's requisitions for their being brought from the magazine to the palace. 
Your slave therefore depends on your Majesty's kindly kindness and con­
sideration, and trusts that an order may be issued to the Lord of the World, 
Mirza Muhammad Moghal Bahadur, that whatever stores your slave may 
write for may, on his requisition, be immediately forwarded from the maga­
zine, that they may be placed in safety. (Prayers for the prosperity of the 
reign.) Petition of the home-born slave Rajab Ali. 

A utograph Order by the King, in pencil. 

Our 80n, Mirza Moghal, will imperatively direct Nathu Khan to for­
ward to the palace, without delay, all magazine stores that Rajab Ali may 
send for. Moreover, it is not proper that Nathu Khan should remain in the 
magazine. You will, therefore, appoint some other trustworthy person in hi. 
stead. 

Note on the reverse.-"Orders have been issned." 

No. 46.-PIiiTITION of Rambak,h, Subadar of the 74th, and Kuli Yar 
Khan, Subadar Bahadur, of the 9th Regiment of Native hfantry. No date. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT we entertain no manner of objection to go 
out and fight~ and to raise entrenchments, in conformity with your Majesty'. 
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orders to the address of us home-born slaves; but this is a day of the week 
on which it is unpropitious to proceed towards the East. We shall accor­
dingly leave a! a propitious .hour. However, we will commence with the 
eutrenchments, &c., at three o'clock. We have submitted this for your 
;Majesty's informatiou. The petition of Rambaksh Subadar, 74th, and Kuli 
Yar Khan, Subadar Bahadur, 9th Regiment of Native Infantry. 

Autograph Orde~ by the King, in Pencil. 

Both regiments, taking the necessary ammunition, will start to-night 
or certainly to-morrow. 

No. 47.-PETITION of Mirza Moghal. No date. 

To the King I Shelter of the World I 

YOUR exalted Majesty may keep your mind free from every dread of the 
enemy. Your slave has personally been staying in the batteries with the 
troops for two days, and where the batteries cf the infidels were, there they 
are still. They have made no advance. If their batteries had advanced very 
considerably, they must have come into the city. The whole army is pre­
pared to slay the infidels, and an attack is about being made immediately. 
Through your Majesty's prestige, the batteries will be speedily taken; and 
as some of the soldiers come into your Majesty's presence, and report what 
they have heard, and not 1I'hat they have seen, pray do not believe their 
statements; but be fully assured that S(l long as there is life in the frames of 
your slaves, no harm shall reach your Majesty: Beyond this, matter!! are 
in the dispensation of God. Your slave is not neglectful. Let it be known 
to your Majesty that he stays personally in the batteries. Petition of the 
slave Zohur-ud-din.· 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

The purport has been ascertained. Kadir Baksh* too is with you. Do 
whatever is proper. No date. 

No. 48.-PETITIO~ of Ghulam Mirza Husein, Risaldar 18th Regiment 
of Irregular Cavalry. No date. 

To the King I Shelter of the World! 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT your slave's forefathers and ancestors 
were, from antig,uity, the ser~ants o~ your Majesty; and all such dignities 
and distinctions as were conferred on them by your Majesty's illustrious 
house are on record in the royal archives. The day that the sun of your 
Majesty's dominion and power suffered eclipse, that same day desolation 
and ruin came to your slave's prospects an~ fortunes. Left destitute of 
option, he consented to serve the· infidels, and accordingly. continued 55 
years in the rank of a risaldar. Hearing the fame of your Majesty's auspici­
ous accession atPeshawur, where my regiment is still stationed, after a 
thousand· difficulties I obtained lea.e from the commanding officer, and 
have now presented myself at your Majesty's door, having left all my pro-

• Kadir 13l1hh ,,&I the Commandant of Bllpperl and Miners. 
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perty, worth thousands of rupees, with the regiment, in consequence of thl! 
displeasure of the English. ResiJes the loss of the property thus abandoned 
your slave has suffered the following other losses: one house, recently. buiit 
by him at an outlay of 5,500'rupees, and five old houses, worth 3,000 rupees, 
were razed to the ground on account of the railway, and a bill for 3,500 
rupees on the Gurgaon treasury, which your slave despatched before leaving 
the regiment,' was never cashed, owing to the disturbances, the treasury 
itself indeed having ceased to exist. Moreover, on the way, the Rajah of 
Patiala (doomed to banishment from God's sanctuary) had your slave plun­
dered. from hand to hand of all the property, such as cattle, tents, and mal'­
quees which he had with him; so completely did he do this, that your slave 
has not a horse left fit to ride. Having, ten days ago, presented himself at 
your Majesty's. door, he DOW submits this petition, and prays that he may 
receive the distinction of being attached to some force or of being appointed 
to some district, so that he may efficiently and carefully discharge the duties 
which may be conferred on him. In consequence of your slave's having 
camels, a traveIling carriage drawn by bullocks, servants, &c., his daily ex· 
penses are seven or eight rupees. Considering it necessary, I have detailed 
every particular. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign) Petition of Gh11" 
lam Mirza Husein, risaldar of the 18th Regiment, resident of the district GUI'­
gaon, subdivision of districtPahval, village of Saadatnagar. Seal of "SY:ll1 
Ghulam Mirza Husein, 1255/' 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza Moghal, I send the petitioner to YOll, as he is an old ljioldier. 

No. 49.-PE'l'ITION of Mohan Pande, Subadar, and lahwari Prashad Pat/wk, 
Jemadar. No date. 

To the King! Nourisher of the Poor I 

YOUR Majesty! The usual menial servants not having been procurable, 
were not entertained in your slave's company. They have, however, now 
been engaged according to the list below, aud we trus~ that their allowance!! 
from the date of their being entertained may be granted. We have 
submitted this petition, as being necessary . . 

Brahman to supply water 

Barbers 

Washermen 

Tailor 

Shoemaker 

Scavenger 

• 

TOTAT 

1 

2 

2 
1 

1 

1 

8 
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, . Petition of the slaves MobanPande, subadar, aud Ishwari 'Prasbad 
Pathak, jemadar. 

Autograph Orde~ by the' King, iIi Pencil. 

In consequence of there being no money in. the treasury, nothing can 
be done just now. No date. Index No. 776. . . 

No. 50.-JOINT PETITION' of Kamd(Jr,Khan, and others" of the Con­

stabulary, Force. , No date~ 

To the King! Shelter of the World' 

WE slaves, 50 men of the constabulary force, who were stationed over 
the gaol at Meerut, having come thence to your royal presence, are now 
discharging all such duties as are assigned. to us, by the- orders of the 
Commander-in-chiefBahadur:. Your army is now about to leave for Meerut, 
and. 16 of our number are anxiously eager to go and fight in its company_ 
We therefore trust that Mirza Moghal, may be ordered to direct us to 
go also, that through your Majesty's prestige, never to be overthrown, we 
may share in the' victory. 'It was necessary, and has been submitted. 
Petition of Kamdar Khan, and others, of the constabulary force. 

A~t~graph Order by the King, ip. Pencil. 

. The officer of the Meerut gaol, on duty under the palace lattices, will 
know that he is to go whithersoever our son Mirza Moghal may send him, and 
tt> forward to him any number of men. that he may call for. He iS,to be 
obedient to aU orders of our said son. . 

No. 51.-0RDER under the Seal engraved in the, King's Special Cypher. 

No date. 

To Mirza Moghal. 

Son,-THIIl illustrious and valiant Mirza Muhammad Zohur-ud-din, 
otherwise Mirza Moghal Bahadur. Learn' Th~t agreeably to orders of 
ye&terday, the articles detailed below are now sent to Y0';1; ~ave them placed 
in the custody of your servants; and as the commlssanat arrangements 
are under your direction, do you act in this matter also as you may think 
proper. The distribution of money to the troops is entrusted to you,.and ' 
is satisfactorily managed, inasmuch as each individual receives the full amount 
of his claim. In the same way, with similar facility as regards these articles, 
you will he a1!le to give different portions 'ofthe army, cavalry and infantry, 

'such quantities as they may severally require, and they will receive them at 
once., Be assured of our kindness. 

Gram 

Satu (meal of parched barley) 

Sugar' 

Gur (jagry) , 
Sweetmeats. 

63 'maunds'. 

13 maunds 30 grs. 

13 maunda' 29 grs. 

61maunds. 

·30 maunds. 
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Further, you, the light of our eyes, are at lib~rty either to appoint a 
contractor, or to manage the matter yourself, by making your own purchases 
in the market. No .date. 

The interpreter now reads in the original Persian the papers, the tran •• 
lations of which are given above. 

Ahsan Ulla Khan, the Physician recalled. 

Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Que8tion.-Look at these. six papers, and see if you recognize the 
handwriting of any of them. Six Persian papers, arranged under the 
head of "murder," are now shown to witness • 

. Anawer.-The orders on Nos. 1 and 6 are in the hand of the prisoner, 
papers 2, 3, 4 are in the handwriting of Khairat Ali, who was clerk in the 
office of Bakht Khan, as governor.general This man was in the habit of 
bringing papers of the· kind ready prepared, and having them attested with 
the King's seal, and SO attested, used with the prisoner's sanction to despatch 
them according to their address. 

Que8tion.-W as it usual to retain office copies of such papers ? 

Answer.-Yes; he used frequently to bring two copies of each paper, 
on one the seal used to be impressed, frequently so by the King's own hand j 
and this copy used to be returned to him for despatch, while the second 
copy unattested was retained for record in the prisoner's office. 

Question.-Do you know anything about the paper No.5? 

Anawer.-'No, I do not recognize the writing. 

Que8tion.-Is \t possible or likely that this may be an office copy in 
the handwriting of some newly-employed clerk, whose hand you are unac· 
quainted with? 

Anawer.-Yes; I believe it to be the hand-writing of Bome clerk in 
Muhammad Bakht Khan's office. 

The translations of the six Fapers, arranged under the head of " murder," 
are now read by the Judge Advocate, and entered as follows :-

The papers in the original Persian are now read by the interpreter. 

PAPERS ARRANGED UNDER TBE BEAD It MURDElL." 

PETITION of Ghulam Ahha8, Duffadar,* 1st Troop 4th Regiment 

of Cavalry, dated 29th July 1857. 
To the King! Shelter of the World I 

Respectfully sheweth,-TBAT your petitioner was a duffadar in the 4th 
Regiment of Cavalry. Having disposed of the English at Muzafarnagar, t 

• DWI'adar, petty officer in. troop of cavalry. t Jl18t thut e:rpre8lecl in the original. 
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he reached your royal presence on the 23rd June 1857. He is now serving 
with devotion in your Majesty's cause, and bears his share in the engage­
ments. Your slave's ancestors have, from antiquity, 'been nourishe~ by your 
Majesty's salt. Your slave therefore expects that, on the capture of the 
ridge occupied by the British, he will :now, through your Majesty's favour and 
consideration, be elevated to some appointment of distinction, so that reach­
ing his ambition, he may ever pray for your Majesty's prosperity. Prayers 
for the prosperity of the reign.} Petition of the slave, of old nourished by your 
Majesty's salt, Ghulam Abbas, Duffadar of the 1st Troop 4th Regiment of 
Cavalry, come from Muzafarnagar. Seal of" Ghulam Abbas." 

Autograph Order by the 'King, in Pencil. 

Mirza M:oghal will nominate' the petitioner to some appointment, ac­
cording to the usages of the army. 

No~ 2.-0RDER from the King, without Signature, Cypher, or Seal, evidently 
, an office copy J,'etained for record, dated 7th August 1857. 

To the ever Faithfui, Bao Bhara; the Ruler of Ku~ch Bhoj •. 

CONSIDER yourself receiving the royal favour, and know! That Gir­
dhari Singh, Subadar of the Grenadier company of the 16th Regiment of 
the Bombay Native Infantry being introduced by the adviser of the State, 
the honoured of the country, t4e special slave, Muhammad Bakht Khan, 
Governor-general Bahadur, has come into the, royal presence and affirmed 
that you, ever faithful one, having put the whole of the infidels to the sword. 
have thoroughly cleansed and purified your domains ,of their unclean presence. 
We have been extremely gratified to hear of such conduct on your part, 
and you are therefore honoured with this address, to ~he intent that you 
will institute such arrangements throughout your terrItory, as that none 
of the creatures of God may in any way be aggrieved or oppressed. Fur­
ther, should any numbers of infidels reach your dominions by sea, you 
will have them slain. In doing this you will act entirely in accordance with 
our pleasure and wishes; and all such desires as you will entertain, and 
all such requests, as you will ma.ke to our p~esence, will in every point be. 
acceded to. Be assured of our kmdness. One copy, and extract transcript. 
To the ever faithful Rawal Ranjit Singh, ruler of Jasalmir. Dated Uth 
August 1857. 

No. 3.-0RDER from the King, without Signature, Cypher, or'Seal, an 
office copy apparently retained for record, dated'Uth August J857. 

To the ever Faithful, Ra.yit Singh, Chief of Jasalmir. 

CONSIDER yourself receiving the royal favour, and know! That the 
chief Chamman Singh, brother of the rule.\" of Jaipur, having obtained the 
hono~ of admittance to our august presence, through the adviser of the 
State the honoured of the country, the special' slave Muhammad, Bakht 
Khar: Lord Governor-General Bahadur, director of all matters Military and 
Civil,'has declared and. affirmed that' yon, emblem of fidelity, cherish an 
anxious desire and wish tc come to the royal presence, * and only delay 

• In the originalllterally, "to kiss the royal feet." 
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doing so, pending the issue of a: special order j' you 'ar~ therefore 'Lonoured 
with this address. It is clear to our belief that throughout your dominions 
the name or trace of those ill-omened infidels, the English, must not have 
remained; if! ho~ever, by any chance or fossibility some have escaped till 
now by keepmg hIdden and concealed, first slay them, and after that, having 
made arrangements for the administration of your territory, present yourself 
at our. court, with your whole military following. Considerations and 
friendliness a thousand-fold will be bestowed on you slave, and you will be 
distinguished by elevation to dignities and place, which the compass of your 
qualifications will not have capacity to contain. Be assured of our kind-' 
lless. 

- No. 4.-0RDER of the' King, without Signature, Cypher or Seal, dateu 
11th August 1857. 

To all Hindus and Mahomedans who wish the advancement of Religion. 

BE it, known to you r That Falak-ud-din Shah, being one of those 
who have pledged themselves to fight for the Mahomedan faith, in the 
religious war against the infidels, and being director of finance and the army, 
is sent to collect ghazis * as well as money for the expenses of the armies 
bestowed by God, which have come from all directions, and have assembled 
at the royal threshold for the destruction of the Christians; and which 
have already sent thousands of the British soldiery, and others of the 
English, to hell. It is incumbent on you to consider well your own advant­
age, and to forward to the royal presence, such amounts of treasure as he 
may determine, at the same time sending your accredited agent also. Yon 
will, moreover, give the above-named Falak-ud-din Shah such aid, rn 
military forces, for arrangements on the way, and for the slaughter of 
Christians, as he may demand. Those who will join in the cause of the 
faith and of religion, will receive distinctions; and those who will confeder­
ate with the Christians, will be utterly despoiled of life and property :-

LIST. 

The Chief of Chattauri to contribute seven guns anu 
'Ihe Chief of the town of Parrawae 
The Chief of the town of Dharmpur 
The Chief of Dhanpur 
'I'he Chief of Pahansu 
The Chief of Saclabad 
'fhe Chief of Dattowli 
'l'he Chief of Begampur 
'I'he Chief of Badoun 
The Chief of the town of J airu 
The Mercllants of the city of Mutha _ . 
The Rajah of Ballabhgarh . . . . 
The Chief Ghulam Husein, of Attrowli 
The Rajah of Bhartpur 

'.' 

R,. 
50,000 
10,000 
5,000 
5,000 
5,000 
5,000 
2,000 

10,000 
10,000 
5,000 

50,000 
1,00,000 

20,000 
5,00,000 

TOTAL, R,. 12,45,000 

• Men "oluntarily pledging their Ii".,. to fight in defence oC the Kahomedan religion. 
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No. 5.-PETITION of Muhammad Bakht Ali, formerly Gaol Superinten­
dent of the Jhansi District, now Officer Commanding the Ali-Ghol, 

dated 16th August 1857. 

To the King! Dispenser of Blessings on the World! Shelter of 
Mankind, &c. . 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT, in a former petition, your Majesty 'Was 
made acquainted with the acts of devotion and resolution, which your slave 
performed in the Jhansi, Orai, Calpee, Etawah, Mynpoory and other dis­
tricts, as regards the slaughter and ruination . of the accursed sect, the 
Nazarenes, * as also with the devotion your slave, and the soldiers accom .. 
panying him, have displayed from the date of their arrival in your Majesty's 
presence, the 16th July 1857, up to the present moment in the several 
attacks on and engagements with the Nazarenes ; a list of these soldiers has 
been deposited in the archives of your Majesty's Government; your 
slave, therefore, expects that 'when complete victory shall have been gained, 
rewards similar to those which. may be bestowed on the rest of the army, 
will be conferred on your slave and his family, and on -his equally devoted 
followers. Moreover, as at present,' only 500 soldiers, designated ·the 
Ali-Ghol, who, with your slave, are ready to sacrifice their lives in your 
Majesty's service, are in attendance. at the royal door; if the royal permis­
sion is gra.nted, a complete regiment will be raised. But as several 
bodies, all bearing the same title, Ali-Ghol, have arrived from different 
places, such distinctive appellation as your Majesty may select for that under 
your slave will be adopted, so that it may be generally known. Agreeably 
to your Majesty's commands, your slave ~s about proceeding to Malagarh; 
he therefore subm.its this petition,' that orders may be issued. . (Prayers 
for the prosperity of the reign. ) Petition of the slave Muhammad Bakht 
Ali, Superintendent of the Gaol, Jhansi district, at present Officer Com_ 
manding Ali-ghol. t Countersigned" Muhammad Bakht Khan," agreeably 
to the request of the petitioner. 

AUTOGRAPa ORD:E:q. by the King, in Pencil (partially unintelligible). 

Bakht Ali's request is accepted, out a's yet no one has been paid e~cept 
from the receiptil of 1J0me places. So long as -all cannot be paid them 
regular allowances no single individual will receive anything. 

Paper marked A. is now produced, enclosed in its original envelope~ 
on which is the Dehli post-office stamp, proving that it was posted at 
Delhi on the 25th of March 1857, and another stamp of the Agra post-office 
proves that it was duly received there on the 27th of March 1857. The 
Judge Advocate explains that this important document was found among 
the papers of the late Mr. Colvin, Lieutenant-Governor at Agra.. The 
translation is now read, and entered as follows :~ 

• N asq,m, Christians. 
t Ali Ghol-Ali's hosts. A term llrst applied to the o.nnies of Ali, the sOll-in-law of 

Muhammed, to denote their overwhelming numbers; and subsequently used by the Mahomedan 
invaders in distinction of their Mahomedan forces from the "Sippeh Hindi" (corrupted ~to 
ieebundee), or native mercenary troops raisedby them in India. 
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TlU.NSLATION of 'a Petition from Muhammad Darwash to his Honour the 
Lieutenant~Govemor North Western Provinces, dated 24th, posted 
at Delhi 25th, and xeceived ,at .the Agra post-office, 27th March 
1857. 

NOURISHEB of the poor I May your prosperity continue I Your 
highness I The arrangements for the despatch of letters from the King of 
Delhi to the King .of Persia, through the Pir-zada Hasan Askari, have been 
_tated in a former ,petition, and must have come to your knowledge. I, who 
am a.mendicant of itinerant habits,ltave since learned, for a certainty that 
~:w:o lIlen with letters from the King of Delhi through the said Hasan Askari, 
;proceeded about three or four months ago towards Constantinople, in com­
:pany with a caravan going to Mecca. Hasan Askari has ;now assured 
ItheKingof Delhi that he has certain information that the prince royal of 
llersia has fully taken .possessionof and occupied Bushire, and that he has 
~ntirely expelled the Christians, or rather has not left one alive there, and 
has taken many of ,them prisoners; and that very soon indeed, the Persian 
.m:my will advance by the way of Candahar and Cabul towards Delhi. He told 
the king also, that his Majesty was altogether too careless about correspond­
,ing with the King of Persia. The king then gave Hasan Askari20 gold 
mohurs, and Tequested him speedily to despatch letters to Persia, and direct­
ed him to give the gold mohurs to the man who should take the letters, 
for the expenses of his journey. Hasan Askari accordingly took the money, 
.and returned to his house, and 'has prepared four men to carry the letters, 
making them assume the.,coloured garments of religious mendicants; and 
it is reported that they will leave for Persia in a day or two. The petitioner 
has not been able to ascertain their names. In the palace, but more espe­
cially in the portion of it constituting the personal apartments of the kin6' 
the subject of conversation night and day is the early arrival of the Persians. 
Hasan Askari has, moreover, impressed the king with the belief that he has 
learned, through .a divine revelation, that the dominion of the King of 
Persia will, to a certainty extend to Delhi, or rather over the whole of Hin­
dustan, .and that the splendour of the sovereignty of Delhi will again revive, 
as the sovereign of Persia will bestow the crown on the king. Throughout 
the palace, but particularly to the king, this belief has been the cause of 
great rejoicing, so much so, that prayers are offered and vows are made, 
while at the same time Hasan Askari has entered upon the daily perform­
ance, at an hour and a half before sunset, of a course of propitiatory 
ceremonies, to expedite the arrival of the Persians and the expulsion of the 
Christians. 'It has been arranged, that every Thursday, several trays of 
victuals, wheat-meal, oil, money in copper coin, and cloth, should be sent by 
the king in aid of these ceremonies; and they are accordingly. brought to 
Hasan Askari. Some of the higher functionaries of the Gove~ment, 
drawn into a faith in this man by his frauds and deceptions~ are In. the 
habit of visiting his house, and consider his words. and actIon~ entitled 
to the greatest reliance. Where would be the use m my nammg these 
traitors? May the Almighty God confound the enemies of the Gov~m~ent I 
Your petitioner keeps learning these matters .fr0Tl! certain ~f hIlI friends 
who have admittance to the presence of thiS Klllg of Delhi, and who are 
moreover in the habit of 'Visiting Hasan Askari also. Actuated by good 
will, I have communicated the above particulars. It rests in the province 
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of the ever-enduring Government: to make necessary and effeotual mange­
ments. Petition of the well-wisher Muhammad Darwesh. Dated 24th: 
March 1857. Seal of " Fakir Mnhammad Darwesh." 

Witness examined by Judge Advocate. 

. Questton.-Did you know a man at Delhi, of the name of Muhammad.: 
Hasan Askari, a priest by descent? 

Answer.-Yes,. I did ;, he lived near the Delhi Gate, and used to visit 
the king very frequently.. , 

Question.-How long'ago is it since you saw him? 

Answer.-I saw him last some twenty days betbre the' English' troops' 
re-took Delhi. . . 

Question.-Do· y.ou. know where he went to, or what became of him? 

Answer.-No, I do not. 

. . Question.-:-At what time were his visits so. frequent to tlie ldng, and do 
you know about what time he was first introduced to the king's presence 1: 

Answer~-He was first introduaed aboutifoUl'years.ago. A· daugliter of 
the king became a disciple of. his, and she spoke so highly of his sanctity 
that the king employed him during his -illness to pray for him, and send 
him. charms to effect his recovery j and within the'last two 01'· three years 
his visits to the king became very frequent. Thisdaughter used· to. live all 
the Delhi Gate, in a honse adjoining Hasan Askari, .and it was common­
ly reported that she was: also his mistress. 

Question.-Did:this man, Hasan Askari, pretend to possess miraculous: 
powers, or to be able to foretell future events? 

Answer.-He used to interpret dreams, and also fOl'eten'coming events;, 
and professed to be inspired. 

Question;-Do you know wh~ther he ever predicted anytliing relative to 
the war which was then being waged between the English and the King 'of 
Persia? . 

Answer.-Not while the war between the British and· Persians was go­
ing on j but two years ago he got 400 rupees fromthe prisoner, which were 
given to a man,· who it was'said was going to Mecca,; but it afterwards 
transpired that he had not gone on the Mecca pilgrimage, 'but had proceeded 
to the King of Persia. The man's name was Sidi Kambar;. he was an 
AOyssinian.; and I suppose came from Abyssinia. 

Qu~stion.-Do you know why it was given out that this man was going 
to Mecca, when his. real destination was to the King. of Persia l' 

Answer.-I cannot account for the deception. I was told by one of the 
court spiesj by Jattu.· orJat Mall,. that Hasan Askari; had sen.t· this man 
to Persia instead of Mecca, and: on making inquiries· from some of thGt 
court servants, I found this information was correct. 

Question.-Did. you ever hear of what was the object of this man's 
mission to Persia ? ' 
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Answer.-No; but I heard from Kuli Khan and Basant. two of the 
king's body servants, that Hasan Askari had given Sidi Kambar some papers 
at night-time, attested with the king's seal, and sent him oft'to Persia. 

Question.-Was the war between the, Persians and British frequently 
the subject of conversation at the Delhi palace, and did the king appear 
much interested in the issue of it ? 

Answer.-No. it was not particularly the subject of conversation; the 
native newspapers coming into the palace used to contain particulars of its 
progress, and the king never seemed to me to evince any marked interest 
either one way or the other. 

Question.-Did this war. among the Mussulman popUlation of Delhi 
generally, excite much i~terest, and was it looked upon as a religious war?_ 

Answer.-No. the Mussulmans of Delhi are Sunnis, and those of Persia. 
ate Shiahs; the former did ,not consequently take much interest in the 
war. 

Que8tion.-Are you aware whether in March last. viz. abont ten months 
ago,'the king gave Hasan Askari 20 gold mohurs for any particular purpose? 

Answer.---He used to give him money J but I don't know on what 
account, or on what particular occasion. 

Question.-Have you ever heard of any men being sent 'from here to 
Constantinople in co~pany with a caravan going to Mecca? 

An8Wer.-No; I never heard of any men being sent to Constantinople 
on any occasion. 

Question.-Do you know anyone at Delhi under the title of Muhammad 
l>arwesh? 

.4nswer.-No. I do not. 

. Question.-Was there any document purporting to bear the seal of the 
King of Persia pasted np on the Jama Masjid, or other part of the city or 
Delhi, a few months prior to the outbreak? 

.4nswer.-Yes, a few months before the outbreak, I heard that 8 paper 
purporting to be a proclamation from the King of Persia, was pasted at the 
Jama Masjid. 

Question.-Did you ever hear how the paper came there? 

Answer.-No, but I heard the contents were such as would have been 
written by the sect of Mahomedans called Shiahs. 

Question.-W u it generally supposed that the document wa~ a genuine 
[lne? 
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Answer.-People were not certain about its authenticity; they generally 
seemed to doubt it. . 

Qw?stion.-What was the purport of the document? 

Answer.-I heard that it exhorted aU classes of Mahomedans to set aside 
their sectarian differences, and to combine as one body of Mahomedans at 
the present time, and be ready to fight under the same banner, should there 
be any cause for $0 doing. 

Question.-Did not .this document create a great discussion and sen-
1I8tion in the city? . 

. Answer.--No, not to any very great extent. 

Question.-Did you hear this document talked of in. the palace or by 
the prisoner. -, 

A1I8wer.-The prisoner never spoke of it before me; but I heard it 
alluded to by a few other persons in the palace. . 

Question.-Did the annexation of Oudh by the Company cause much 
feeling of dissatisfaction among the Mussulman population of Delhi ? 

Answer.-No, it caused. no dissatisfaction whatever: on the contrary, 
the Mussulmims of Delhi were very much pleased with it, as the people of 
Lukhnow being Shiabs, had killed Moulavee Amir Ali, who was a Syad 
and a Sunni. 

Question.-Were any other notices or warnings pasted up on the Jama 
Masjid a short time before the outbreak, intimating dissatisfaction on the 
part of the Mussulmans ? 

A1I8wer.-1 don't recollect any. 

Question.-Did the native newspapers at Delhi, any time before the 
rebellion, urge the necessity or propriety of a religious war against the 
English? 

Answer.-No, they never did; had such been done the Government 
Clfficer would have noticed it. 

Paper marked A. is now read in the original Persian by the Interpreter. 

Ahsan Ulla Khan, physician, recalled. 

Examined by Judge Advocate. 

. Question.-You have heard the petition of Muhammad Darwesh read; 
do you know 'anything of the 'trays of food, wheat-meal, oil, money in copper 
coin, and cloth, said to have been sent by the king in aid of the ceremonies 
performed by Hasan Askari ? . 

. A1I8wer.-Yes, all these things were usually sent: but I do not know 
that they were ~cnt for the special purpose mentioned in the petition. 

Question-You have mentioned that Jat Mall was one of the court 
1!pies, did the king pay him for news given. 
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.&nswer.--No,he was not a servant of the king i hit was news-writer on 
the part ot the British Government. 

~stion.-How w~s it then that yon· came t() get secret information 
from him, and how, bemg known as Government news-writer, was it that 
this man was entrusted with such a secret? 

.&nswer.-Jat Mall used to g~ about the palace ~llecting all sorts of 
news, and having heard the matter, asked me what I knew of it, at which 
time I was quite ignorant of the subject, and it was only subsequently that 
I heard it confirmed. 

Jat Mall, formerly news-writer to the Lieutenant Governor,. at Agra. 

Examined by .Judge. Advocate. 

Ouestion.-Did you know a man of the name of Hasan Askari here 'I 

.Answer.-Yes, I did. 

Ouestion.-W as he frequently in attendance on the prisoner 'I 
.Answer.-Yes. 

Ouestion.-Relate what IOU know of his transactions with the king? 

.Answer.-He used: to come and repeat. incantations over the king, and 
after praying, breathe on him; he used also to profess to be possessed of 
miraculous gifts from heaven, the gift of prophecy, the power of interpreting 
dreams, i. e.,-[The prisoner here voluntarily declares his helief that Hasan 
.Askan did really possess the powers here attrihuted to him,J-Hasan Askari 
used to declare that he was frequently audibly addressed from heaven; he 
used to come daily to the prisoner at various hours just as he was sent for, 
and frequently used to come uninvited-especially in the evening; when he 
would have secret audiences with the king. 

Question.-Did you ever hear any particular dream which this man 
Hasan Askari interpreted to the king? 

Answer.-Yes; about the time that·. the Persian forces came to Herat, 
I heard that Hasan Askari communicated one of his own dreams to the king 
to the effect that he had seen a hurricane approaching from the west, which 
was followed by a great flood of water devastating the country; that it passed 
over, and that he noticed that the king suffered no inconvenience from it, 
but was borne up over the flood seated on· his couch. The way in which 
Hasan Askari interpreted this dream was, that the King of Persia with 
his army would anuihilate the British power in the East. would restore the 
king to his ancient throne and reinstate him in his kingdom, and at the ,same 
time the infidels, meaning the British. would be aU slaughtered. 

Question.-Do you know whether, through the means of this man Hasan 
Askari. letters were sent to the King of Persia or communications kept up 
with him? 

..4.nswer.-Yesj I do know that letters used to be lent. About a year 
and a half or two years ago, a kafilah was going to Mecca. A man of the 
name of Sidi KambarJ who was chief of the Abyssiniansin the palace, asked 
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permission 10 accompany it as·a. 'Pilgrim. This was .granted, and 'according 
to th~ custom on such occasions, he was given a. year's pay in advance, and 
it was said at .the time that according to a -usage common to the Mahomedans 
the prisoner had sent a petition, addressed to God, to be posted upon his 
account 'On the wallsof-the 'Shrine 'at Mecca. After' some eight or nine daysJ 
Jheard that Sidi Kambar's going to Mecca was only a pretence, and that in 
reality he had started direct for Persia with letters from the ,King of Delhi 
to the King of Per!lia. I heard this from Khwaja Baksh, a messenger of the 
king's, and from oneo'f the prisoner's armed personal attendants whose name 
I do not recollect. I acquaintedOaptain Douglas with this matter at the 
time, who said it was a very serious -business, and directed me to make every 
pDSsible inquiry about it, because such correspondence on the part of the 
King of Delhi with the King of Persia was interdicted. I accordingly asked 
Ahsan Ulla Khan, the physician" the particulars, as he was fully intrusted 
with the direction of all private matters that reqUired to be written. Ahsan 
Ulla Khan denied having any information 0Ii. this subject. and declared that 
if anything of the kind had happened it was without his knowledge. I eom. 
municated this to Captain Douglas. and still continued' my inquiries. and 
some 20 days afterwards I learned. I forget now from whom. that Haidar 
Husein. commandant of the prisoner's artillery. and Hasan .Askari.had some 
letters written. and having them authenticated, in some way had them des. 
patched to Persia by Sidi Kambar. 1 commuriicated this to Captain Douglas 
and explained to him that as it was known that the circumstance had reached 
his ears. the people about the prisoner were on their guard in speaking of it, 
and that therefore I could elicit nothing further. 1 alsC]) suggested to Cap.tain 
Douglas that arrangements might be .made for intercepting Sidi Kambar 
beyond Lahore. He, however replied that there could be no certainty as to 
which route he had taken, and said it would be useless to take any steps 
about it. 

Question.-Was the subj~ct of the war with Persia. much talked of by 
the king and those about the palace? 

Answer:-Yes. it was ~a. frequent subject of conversation both in the 
palace and in the city. 

Question.-Do you know whether it was talked of and referred to in the 
light of a religious war or one through which the Mahomedans of this city 
were to be restored to powerl? 

An-swer.-Yes, that was the general impression throughout the country, 
but some who were better informed knew, and used to say. that the King of 
Persia was not by any means able to cope with the English. 

Question.-Do yon know whether any: c?mmunications were e!er 
attempted or made from the prisoner or others In his confidence to the natIve 
officers or sepoys of the Company's army? 

Ans~er.-No I never heard of any communication originating with the 
prisoner or his c~nfidential agents, except in one instance, about Sl years 
ago

l 
when Bome 10 or 12 Mahomedans on one occasionl and four or five on 
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another, came to the· prisoner, offering to become his disciples, a request 
which the prisoner complied with. This had not gone far when the late Sir 

oTheophilus Metcalfe heard of it, and immediately took measures to check the 
practice. 

Question.-Was the annexation of Qudh by the Company much discussed 
by the king or the inmates of the palace, and if so, what was the light in 
which they viewed it ? 

Answer.-No, Ionly heard the annexation spoken of twice,-once when 
the troops were going down towards Cawnpore, on which occasian the pri. 
soner asked Mr. Fraser and Captain Douglas if Oudh was to be annexed. 
They both stated that they had no information on the point; but about a. 
month after it was reported generally that the annexation had taken place. 

Question.-Did Hasan Askari ever predict anything as to the king~8 
length of life~ or his future success against the English? 

Answer.-Yes, he told the king that he had assigned 20 years of his own 
life to prolong that of the king, but I never heard that he predicted such 
success against the English beyond what I have mentioned as the interpreta. 
tion of his dream. 

Question.-Did you ever hear anything talked of in the palace about the 
centenlUJ' of the battle of Plassy, or was there any prophecy that the English 
rule would terminate at the end of 100 years from its commencement? 

Answer.-No, I never heard of it. 

Question.-Were you aware that the regiments of the East India Com. 
pany at Delhi were in any way dissatisfied before they broke out into mutiny? 

Answer.-There was an evident feeling of disaffection among them from 
the little I could observe myself passing in and out of the palace. Some 20 
or 25 days before the outbreak, the sepoys used to talk among themselve!l 
about the burning of the houses at Ambala, coupling the circumstance with 
the greased cartridges,.and avowing their determination not to use them. 

Question.-Was this subject, viz. the disaffection of the sepoys, discussed 
in the palace? 

..tlnswer.-Yes, the burning of the houses, and the general disaffection of 
the troops, on account of the greased cartridges, used to be commonly spoken 
of in the palace j but I never heard it referred to by or before the king. 
I heard a few days before the outbreak from some of the sepoys of the gate 
of the palace, that it had been arranged in case greased cartridges were 
pressed upon them, that the Meerut troops were to come here, where they 
would be joined by the Delhi troops, and it was said that this compact had 
been arranged through some native officers, who went over on court martial 
duty to Meerut. 

Question.-Did you mention or report this to anyone? 

Answer.-No, it was a military matter, and I did not like to speak 
about it; my reports were all confined to subjects immediately connected 

- with the king. . 
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Question.-Were you here wheuthe mutinous troops came from :Meerut? 

Answer.-I 'was at my own house in Delhi .when·J heard that some. 
of the cavalry from :Meerut had killed the toll collector at the Salimpur 
Bridge, and burnt the toll-house. I however, did not credit the report, 
and went on writing my news-letter. Having completed it, I came 
to the palace, and I then learned that Captain Douglas, :Mr. Fraser, 
:Mr. Hutchinson, the magistrate, and :Mr. Nixon, the head clerk of the 
Commissioner's office, had gone in the direction of the Calcutta Gate, 
to make arrangements against the mutineers. I consequently followed 
them, and there saw that they had the Calcutta Gate, viz., the one nearest 
to the bridge of boats, closed. While occupied there, some one happened to 
report that the mutineers had entered the city by the Zinat-ul :Masjid Gate, 
and were then in Darya Ganj, and had already fired the staging bungalow, 
and certainly the smoke was then visible. This was about eight o'clock 
in the morning, and ju~t afterwards I saw three of the Company's cavalry 
coming from the direction of Darya. Ganj, pursuing at a gallop some European 
gentleman, -at whom one of them fired his pistol as they came up, but missed 
his aim. This gentleman rode on in the direction of the magazine, and escap­
ed. Just then :Mr. Fraser took a musket from one of the constabulary guard 
at the gate, and shot one of the troopers; the other troopers then shot the 
horse of the mau who had been killed, and :Mr. Fraser then got into his 
buggy, accompanied by Captain Douglas and Mr. Hutchinson, both on foot, 
proceeded in the direction of the palace. Mr. Hutchinson had by this time 
been wounded in the right arm just above the elbow, by a pistol shot from 
one of the troopers, and while Mr. Fraser was proceeding to the palace some 
more troopers had arrived, and one of these coming up behind fired his 
pistol, but missed :Mr. ~'raser. At this time Bakhtawar, who was an orderly 
chaprassy of Captain Douglas, was seated behind the buggy of Mr. Fraser. 
Captain Douglas, seeing that he was surrounded by these troopers, jumped 
into the fort ditch, and in doing so fell upon some loose stones, and was 
lUuch hurt in consequence. The troopers by this time began to disper&e 
'in pursuit of the Europeans in all directions, so, getting an opportunity, 
Bakhtawar and other native government servants took Captain Douglas :lut 
of the fort ditch, in a state of insensibility, and carried him to his apartments 
over the palace gate. When he recovered his speech and senses a little, 
he issued instructions to people ahout him to bring in - :Mr. Hutchinson, 
who had also heen wounded, which was done. :Mr. I!~rasei'; who was 
walking in the covered way below adjoining the Lahore Gate of the palace, 
accompanied by some gentlemen who had only that morning arrived from 
Calcutta, directed Pran, messenger, to go and procure two cannons from 
the king. Pran had just left on this errand, and Mr. Fraser had just come 
under the centre opening of the covered way, when by this time a great 
crowd of men and boys of all ages having collected, began clapping their 
llands as a kind of insolent bravado at what was -occurring. Mr. Fraser, 
seeing such marked feelings of hostility, began to return to Captain Doug~ 
las'quarters, and as he reached the foot of the stairs, Haji, lapidary, raised 
his sword to make a cut at him. Mr. Fraser, who had a sheathed sword in 
his hand, turned sharply round, and thrust at him, with the sword in its 
sheath, saying to the havildar of the gate guard, " What kind of behaviour 
is this. ?~: Upon which the havildar lUade a show of driving off the crowd; 
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but no sooner was Mr. Fraser's back turned, than the havildar nodded with 
his head to the lapidary, to signify to him that now he should renew his 
attack. The lapidary, thus encouraged, rushed upou Mr. Fraser, and in­
flicted a deep and mortal won.nd on the Ti~ht side of his neck. Mr. Fraser 
at once fell, when three other men of the names of Khalll'k Dad, a Cabali 
Pathan, Moghal Beg or MoghaJ. Jan, and Shekh Din Muhammad, who had 
been concealed in an out-house adjoining, rushed out and cut him with 
their swords over the head, face, and chest till he was quite dead. Shekh 
Din Muhammad was an armed orderly in the king's pay, and Khalak Dad 
arid l\loghal Beg were also armed retainers of Mahbub Ali Khan, the king's 
prime minister. These three men, after having despatched Mr. Fraser, 
followed by a crowd of others, raB. up-stairs t$ Captain Douglas' apart­
ments (Wer the palace gate. After they had arrived at the second landing 
place, a servant of Government in attendance on Captain Douglas j by 
name Makhan, told him of the circumstance" and was ordered to 
close the staircase". While this wa~ being done on the north side of the 
apartment, numbers of the crowd rushed in hy a corresponding staircase on 
the southern side, and came down and forced open the door which Makhan 
had closed, and thus gave admission to the armed crowd, headed by the 
three men already mentioned as haviug cut Mr. ~'raser when be had fallen. 
These }:eople successively murdered "Captain Douglas, Mr. Htltchinson the 
Collector, the Revet'end Mr. Jennings, Miss Jennings, and Miss Clifford, 
all of whom were in Captain Douglas' apartments. 'l'he stranger who 
had arrived that morning from Calcutta contrived to get out on the ramparts 
of the palace wall, and had gone unobserved as far as Mirza Kochak's house 
near the Delhi Gate of the palace, when he was fired at by" somebody, and 
wounded in the sholllder. On this he retraced his steps and was eventually 
cut down at the foot of the sOllthern staircase leading to Captain Dou.glas' 
apartment. All these murders were committed in about a quarter of an 
hour. The details, as given here, I collected from Makhan, Bakhtawar, 
Pran and Kishan, servants of the Government in attendauce at the time 
on Captain Douglas; but of the "circumstances up to the death of Mr. 
Fraser, I was myself au eye-witness. 

Questioll.-After the Europeaus in Captain Douglas' apartments had 
been murdered, what did the populace or sold.iery proceed to do ? 

.Answer.-Immediately after the murder of the EU1'opeans, I went to 
my home in the city, and. did not come to the palace agaiu. for several 
"days. " 

"Que8tion.-When did the king assllme the reins of govet'nment? anel 
was a royal salute fired on the occasion? 

" ..lnawer.-He began to take possession of the government stores, viz. 
the gunpowder outside the city, and all the ordnance, arms, &c. in the 
magazine, on the second or third day after the arrival of the Meerut troops, 
and in a week or so, began generally to issne royal orders to the different 
departments, and to receive petitions on government business. A salute of 
21 guns was certainly fired during the night of the lith of May; but I am 
not certain what was the occasion of it. Some said it was the salute to the 
colours ~f the regiments come from Meerut, and some said that the IJrisoner 
had gone into Salimgarh, and the guns had been fired as a salute to him. 
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Question.-When was Mirza Moghal appointed commander.in-chief? 

A.nswer. He was virtually commander-in-chief from seven. or eight 
days after file outbreak, inasmuch- as the native officers used to go to< consult 
and confer with him, and receive their orders from him; but it was not till 8' 

month had elapsed, that he was publicly proclaimed and received his dress 
of honour. On the same occasion the other sons of the king, and grandsons 
of the king were severally made generals and colonels, each receiving their 
dress of honoul'. 

Question.-What part did Hasan Askari act during- the time of the-
rebellion j was he one of the kings's chief counsellors? -

An8Wer.-He continned in the same position with reference to the king 
as formerly, and did. not appear-to take any such active part in the rebellion 
as to be particularly remarkable. A daughter of the prisoner was avowedly 
a disciple of Hasan Askari; bnt people generally said that there was au 
improper intimacy between them. 

Question-.-Do you know: whether any ladders were taken from th!3' 
palace for the- purpose of scaling the magazine? 

Answer.-I heard: that scaling ladd'ers were used at the- magazine;. but 
I don't know where-they were brought from. 

Question.-Did! you ever hear of the circulation of- chapaties about 
the country some months before the outbreak;. and ifso, what was supposed 
to be the meaning of this? -

Answer.-Yes, I did hear of the circumstli:nee. Some peopl'e saiel 
that it was a pl!opitiatory: observance to avert some impending calamity; 
others that they were circulated by the Government to signify that the' 
popUlation throughout the country wonld be compelled to nse the same food 
as the Christians, and thM be deprivM of their religion; while others ,again 

, said, that the chapaties we1'e circulated to make it known that Government 
was determined to force Christianity on the country by interfering with their 
food, and intimation oCit was thus given, that, they might lie prepared t() 
resist the attempt. 

Question.-Is sending snch articles about the country a custom among 
the Hindu or Mllssulmans;: and would the meaning be air once understoocl 
without any accompanying explanation? 

Answer~-No, it is not"bY any means a custom; I am 50 yeMs, old, and. 
never heard of such a thing before. 

Question.-Did you ever hear that a.ny message was sent with the 
chapaties II' 

Answer.-No, I never heard of any. ". 

Question.-Were these chapaties chiefly circulated 1'>y M~homedans or 
Hindus: 

_ Answer.-They were circulated indiscriminately, without reference to 
either religion, among the p~asantry ofille country. 
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Question.-.:.. When did you first return to the palace after the 11 th of 
~fay? 

Answer.-I had beard a report in the city that the Europeans were to 
be slaughtered; I don't know the exact date, but it was some seven or eight 
days after the outbreak; and I got into the place among the crowd. 'l'his 
was about eight o'clock in the morning. On my reaching the first court­
yard of the palace, I saw the Europeans seated in a row, with their hands 
tied behind their backs along the edge of the square reservoir, and also 
along the small canal leading to it; there were men, women and children. 
Shortly after I arrived one of the Meerut cavalry mutineers fired a pistol 
at them; be was standing at the same distance on horseback; the s110t 
missed the Europeans, and bit one of the king's sepoys, who was standing 
some way oft' behind them; this man died in consequence, and, owing 
to tbis accident, the crowd decided on killing the Europeans with swords. 
The king's retainers, as well as some of the mutineers, drew their swords to 
carry out this resolve; but I had not nerve to stay and witness the execu­
tion, so went home, and subsequently heard thnt they had all been slaughtered 
by the king's servants and the mutinous soldiery. 

Question.~ Were any guns fired as a token of joy on the occasion? 

Answer.~No, I heard none. 

Question.-Did the prisoner give his consent to the murder of these 
Europeans? 

Answer.-On the first day of the' soldiery making a request that the 
Europeans ·should be executed, the king refused his sanction; but it was 
said that on the day following Basant Ali Khan, a personal attendant of the 
king, 3;nd a man notorious for his savage disposition, went among tile soldiers 
a:ndinstigated them to insist on the murder of the Europeans. 'lhey diel so 
and the king ordered the Europeans to ·be given up to them; at least this is 
what I subsequently heard at my own house. On the morning of the mas­
sacre, Baunt Ali Khan is stated to have stooel in the court-yard of the hall 
of special audience, and to have called out loudly, tliat the king had sanc­
tioned the slaughter of the Europeans, and that the personal armed retaineJ's 
of the prisoner were directed to go aud assist in carrying it into effect. 

Queslion.-In your opinion, coulJ the king, had he been anxious to do 
so, have saved the Europeans, especially the women and children? 

Answer.-I heard in the city that the king did wish to save the Euro­
peans, particularly the women and children, but that he was over-ruled by the 
violence of the soldiery, and had not the firmness to oppose them. 

Question.-"ras there not ample room for the women· and children in 
the apartments occupied by the females of the king's establishments, and 
would not the European women and children have been safe there? 

.Answer.-Certainly there was abundance of room; 500 people might 
have, been concealed, and been safe there; there are also several I!ecret 
recesses and crypts, which, had the rebels· even dared to violate the sanctity 
of the women's apartments, would llave escaped all search. 
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Question.-Were you present in Delhi during the whole siege by the 

British? 

Answer.-I continued in Delhi fQl' three months and a quarter after the 
outbreak, when the king's people began to search for servants of the British 
Government on suspicion of sending intelligence to the English I then 
made my escape from the city, and did not return till some time after the 
city haei bee.n re-taken. 

Question.-Are you aware whether any other Europeans were murdered 
after the massacre of those in the palace? . 

Answer.-No, I don't know that there were any left to be murdered; 
hut before the massacre above described, I heard- that some 38 or 40 hacl 
defended themselves in some underground recess, and being starved out, were 
killed about two .or three days after the outbreak. 

Question.-Did you ever hear the sepoys allege any other ground of 
{!omplaint besides that of the greased- cart~idges. 

Answer.-No, I never did. 

Question.-How did the sepoys generally speak cf the Company's Go­
vernment during the siege? 

Answer.-The soldiery generally talked of the government with bitter 
complaints of the attempt on their caste and religion, and alway", avowed 
their intention to kill Europeans whenever they met them. Those, however, 
who were wounded, contraste~ the neglect with which they were. treatedjn 
Delhi with the care they would have experienced under similar circumstances 
llad they been fighting for the English. 

Question.-Do you think there was any difference between tbe lfaho­
medans and lIindus in regard to their feelings for or against the English' 
Government? 

Answer.-Yes, certainly; the Mahomedans as a body were well pleased 
at the overthrow of the British Government, while the merchants and res­
pectable tradesmen among the Hindus regretted it. 

Question.-Was there no difference of feeling on this point among the 
Mahomeclan alJd Hindu soldiery; were both equally bitter against the Eng­
lish Government? 

Answer.-The general feeling throughout the armv was the same, both 
among the Hindus and Mahomedans. . • 

Question.-Do yon think the arrival of the soldiery from Meerut was 
expected in the palace? 

Answer.-Yes, they were expected. Letters came in from Meerut on 
Sunday, bringing intelligence that 82 soldiers had been imprisoned, and that 
a serious disturbance was to take place in consequence; Owing to this the 
guards at the gate of the palace made no secret of their intentions, hut­
spoke openly of what they expected to occur~ which wa~. that some of the 
troops after mutinying at Meerut woulJ come over to Delhi. 
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Question.-Have' you any means of knowing whether this was com­
municated or made known to the prisoner at this time? 

Answer.-No, I have not. 

Question.-Can you judge from any circumstances that occurred either 
at the time or afterwards, that the prisoner had any foreknowledge of the 
coming of the troops from Meer,ut? 

Answer.-Nothing came under my observation either before or after­
wards from which I could draw such a conclusion. 

Cross-examined by Prisoner. 

Question.-You stated in your evidence the day before yesterday, that a 
gentleman who tried to make his escape in the direction of Mirza Kochak's 
house, was wounded by a shot there; do YOll know whether Mirza Kochak 
was in his house at the time? 

Answer.-No, I can't speak to particulars of this kind. 

Question.-Do you know whether the people who murdered Mr. Fraser 
were encouraged to do so by me, or were they instigated to the act by the 
army? 

. Answer.-As far as I know, the king had not had 'time to hear of, the 
murder before it was committed; the rioters were sufficiently disposed to 
murder, and being encouraged by the army, perpetrated it at once. 

Question.-Did you hear that I expres'led a wish to have the corpses of 
the murdered Europeans removed, and that the soldiery would not allow· 
me? 

Answer.-No, I 'have no knowledge on the subject. 

Question.-Do you know whether I gave the order to my armed retain­
ers to assist in slaying the Europeans, or did Basant Ali Khan falsely give 
out that I had done so ? 

Answer.-I can't say. 

Examined by Court. 
Question.-At the time you saw the Europeans bound before being 

slaughtered, did you observe that any of the king's confidential servants or 
officers were present? 

Answer.-No, l saw none of these in the court-yard; but Mirza Mughal. 
one of the king's sons, was standing on the roof of his house overlooking the 
court-yard, :lnd at the same time other sons and two grandsons of the king 
",ere standing on their houses, apparently for the purpose of witncssing 
the massacre. 

Question.-Did you observe that any of these made any attempt to save 
. the women and children from being murdered, or otherwise? 

Answer.-No, they appeared to be spectators. It had been determined 
that the massacre was to take place, and there was no necessity for their 
urging the execution of it. 
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Captain Forrest, Assistant Commissary of Ordnance. 

Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Were you in Delhi on the 11th of last May? 

Answer.-I was. 

115 

Question.-Did you on that occasion see any of the mutinous soldiery 
from Meerat ? 

Answer.-I did. I first saw them, viPJ., some cavalry in front (nearly 
a regiment), followed by the 11th and 20th regiments of Native Infantry, 
crossing the bridge on the road from Meerut. They were coming up in 
military formation, I would say in sub-divisions of companies with fixed 
bayonets and sloped arms, at aboot nine o'clock: I did not see any of tliem 
previous to this; but I was informed that a small portion of the cavalry had 
arrived on the Delhi siae of the bridge much earlier, viz., about seven o'clock. 
I was in the magazine at the time I saw the troops passing over the b:ddge, 
having gone there a short time before in consequence of a communication 
which Sir Theophilus Metcalfe 'made to me,.to the effect that the mutineers 
were expected in from Meerut, and he wished me to get two guns out of the 
magazine, so as to place them in position, to sweep the bridge, and prevent 
the mutineers from crossing; but there were no cattle to draw out the 
guns, neither were there any artilletymen to man them, so Lieutenant 
Willoughby concurred with me in thinking the best plan would be to close 
the magazine gates, and defend the place as long as we could; and we 
thought that if we could hold the magazine till the evening, the European 
troops would be certain to arrive from Meerut and relieve us· Between the 
hours of nine and ten, a subadar of the 38th Native Infantry, who was com­
manding the 'magazine guard outside, informed me through an aperture, 
that the King of Delhi had sent a guard to take possessil.n of the magazine, 
and to bring all the Europeans there up to his palace, and that if they did 
not consent to this, none of them were to be allowed to leave the magazine. 
I did not see the guard at this time; but I saw the man who had brought 
this message. He was a well-dressed M ussulman. We told the subadar of 
the guard that he was to pay no attention to any orders he might receive 
from anyone, lInless it was Lieutenant Willoughby or myself; but we hcld 
no communication with, nor did we deign any answer to the man w~o had 
brought the above message. Shortly after the above, a native officer in 
the king's service anived with a strong guard of the king's own soldiers in 
their uniform, and told the above-mentioned subadar and the non-commis­
sioned officel'S that he was sent down by the king to relieve them of duty. 
The same orders were given to the subadar by myself to pay no attention to 
such authority. At this time the native officer who had come down with a. 
strong detachment, of the king's soldiers, placed guards of about 12 men 
under a non-commissioned officer over each gate of the magazine. These 
men took uF their posts in regular military style, posted their arms, received 
their orders, and behaved altogether like regular soldiers. They were all in 
the full uniform of the king. 'I'his was some time between ten' and eleven 
in the morning, about an hOllr after which the door-keeper on the 
outside of the gate called out that he wished to speak either to Lieutenant 
Willoughby or myself. We both approached the gate together~ when 
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1he man and sentry at the gate both informed us that the King of Delhi 
had sent people to carry away the whole of the Government 'stores there 
on lhe outside of the gate, and that they were unable to prevent them . 

. To. this neither Lientenant Willoughby or myself gave any answer; but ou 
looking through the gate we could distinctly see the stores being removed. 
The men who were employed in this work were common labourers, superin­
tended and controlled by a guard of the king's soldiers in their own regular 
uniform. Shortly after this the subadar of our guard again expressed a wish 
to see either Lieutenant Willoughby or myself; we accordingly went to him. 
He told us that a messenger had come from the ~ing to say that if we didn't 
immediately open the gates, that he would have scaling ladders sent down 
to scale the walls, and these ladders shortly afterwards arrived, and were 
placed against the south-eastern turret or corrier of the magazine. The 
native establishments of the magazine observing this immediately ascended 
by a sloped shed on the inside of the wall, gained the ladders, and made 
their escape out of the magazine. This being done, the mutineers without 
delay ascended the ladders, and commenced attacking us inside the magazinc, 
which they continued to do till half-past three in the evening. As they 
ascended the ladder they gaim'd admission into the small turret, and as soon 
as a sufficient number was collected, aud were about descending into the maga­
zine, we opened on them with grape from four field pieces, using two at a 
time, and keeping two loaded in reserve. There was only:Mr. Buckley and 
myself to man these guns. Two guns, however, were placed at the other gate 
of the magazine double charged, under Sub-Conductor Crow and Serjeant Ed­
wards; they remained with lighted matches in their hands, with orders fl"Om 
Lieutenant Willoughby not to fire till the gate was forced. Doth tllese 
men were killed in the magazine. Another gun was placed on the river face 
under charge of Conductor Shaw, who escaped to the main guard at the 
Cashmere Gate,. after the magazine was explorlcd, and was there shot by 
a sepoy of the 5,lth N. 1. Lieutenants Willoughby and Raynor wrre active, 
going from post to post, giving such orders as were required, supcrintending 
the defence, and abo personally aS8isting in it. During the time this was 
goilJg on, ·Lieutenant Willoughby and myself frequently went to the gate, 
which was close by, and asked who was leading or commanding the attack, 
and the same answer was given us on every occasion, viz., a son and a 
grandson of the king's were present, organizing the attack on ttll ; hut the 
men who ascended the sc.aling ladders and entered the magazine were all 
sepoys of the 11th and 20th regiments N. 1. Another message, about one 
Q'c1ock, came in the king's name to say, that if we did not surrender he 
would mine and blow up a part of the wall, which was known to be weak, 
and 80 effect an entrance. 

Queslion.-You have narrated what occurred at the magazine up to 
half-past three o'clock. 'Vhat ensued after that? 

..dnswer.-About that time WP. lind expended the last rounds of am­
munition for the field piec~!I, and the Magazine haloing been entered in two 
places, further defence was impossible. Conductor Buckley harl hcen "hot 
in the arm, anrl I had been hit twice on the lland. Lientenant ""illoughby, 
who commanded in the magazine, had, early in the morning, bad arrange­
ments made to enable us to blow up the magazine, should circumstanccs 
render such an extreme measure necessary, and now, at half-past three p. )1., 
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seeing the moment had arrived to do so, he ordertlu It: JgI.'l.:WY:~·Ltllll 
signal to be made, wqich was done by Mr. Conductor Bu e-r~~ 
where Conductor Scnlly was standing, and lifting his hat. Co cta lIy 
sceing this, at once fired the train, and the magazine was blow _t at 
same second with a fearful explosion, killing hundreds of the natives a • 
Frag.rnents of the building were said to have been thrown half a mile and 
upwards, aud several European women and children who had fied to the 
magazine were killed and severely injured. Conductor Scully was himself 
so dreadfully wounded that his final escape was impossible. I saw him after 
the explosion, but his face and head "\Vere so burned and contused that I 
don't think life could have long remained in him. -I have only to add to 
this, that not one man of the native establishments in the magazine (the· 
Bengalee writer excepted) remained true to us. They all took the first op­
portunity of escaping with the arms given to them for the purpose of aiding 
us in the defence of the magazine. Lieutenant Willoughby and myself 
escaped to the main guard at the Cashmere Gate. Lieutenant Raynor and 
Mr. Buckley escaped in another direction, and finally reached Meerut; all 
the remainder were killed either by the explosion or after quitting the 
magazine. Lieutenant Willoughby was killed two or three days afterwards, 
on the road to Meerut. ' 

Question.-Did the ladder brought to scale the magazine appear to be 
new, or made purposely for that object? . 

Answer.~I could only see a foot of the ladder that reached above the 
walls, so am unable to answer these points. • 

Question.-Was there anything nnusual in the dress or conduct of any 
of' your native establishment at the magazine before the outbreak, froI\l. 
which it may be inferred that they were cognizant of what was going to 
occur? 

Answer.-I noticed nothing in the dress of the men; but their behaviour 
for several days previous to the outbreak was insolent and overbearing, 
especially that of those who were Mahomedans. Mr. Buckley and I had 
both remarked this, and spoken to each other about it. On the· morning 
of the 11th May, when I went to the magazine I remarked that the sirdars­
and durwans were well dressed, better than I had ever seen them before; 
also the magazine men did not appear in their usual working dress, but were 
much cleaner. This I remarked at the time to Lieutenant Willoughby, 
who coincided with me, and said the circumstance had struck him also. 

Question.-Have you any reason to suppose that any of your native 
establishment at the magazine had been in correspondence on the subject 
of the ~artridges with the sepoys of the army? . 

Answer.-I had no suspicion of such a circumstance while I was at 
Delhi· but on reaching Meerut, and going into hospital about the 19th of" 
May ~n account of my wounds, I was asked by the artillery hospital serjeant 
there (I tkink his ll..lllJle is G:oddard )'. ~hether there.had been ~ clever 
native at the head of t. magazme establIshment at DelhI. I told lum there 
was/and mentioned on~ll· particular, viz., Kal'im :Baksh, who was an intcl-
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ligent man a1J.d also a good scholar, capable of writing Persian well. The 
serjeant then said to me that a native had been to him that morning, antI 
informed him that some one in the magazine at Delhi had been sending 
circulars to all the native regiments, to the effect that the cartridges prepar­
ed in the magazine had been smeared with a composition of fat, and that they 
were not to believe their European officers, if they said anything in contradic­
tion of it. This man, Karim Baksh, was very active during the time the 
natives were attacking the magazine, in communicating with them, and 
so suspicious did his whole conduct seem that Lieutenant 'Willoughby 
ordered me to remove him from the gate, adding that I was to shoot him 
if he attempted to return to it. This man has since been hung for his 
treacherous conduct on that occasion. 

Cross-examined by Prisoner. 

Question.-What kind of uuiform did the men wear whom you say 
were my soldiers, and went to claim possession of the magazine 011 my 
account? . 

Answer.-They wore a blue dress, with a forage cap, and a small design 
in brass, of a gun on it ; the uniform was such as I have seen for the last 30 
years worn by your artillery soldiers, and these men, when askcd who they 
werc, with one voice exclaimed that they were your soldiers. 

• Examined by the Court. 

Question.-Have you ever ascertained whcre the scaling ladders w~re 
brought from ? 

Answer.-No, I have not. 

Makhan, a Mace-bearer of Captain Douglas. 

Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Were you ill attendance on Captain Douglas on the 11 th of 
last May? 

Answer.-Yes, I was present on that morning at the entrance into 
Captain Douglas' apartments. 

Question.-What did you witness on that occasion ? 

Answer.-Abont seven o'clock a cavalry soldier rode up to the Lahore 
Gate of the palace, and demanded admittance to the interior, which the 
guard at the gate refused. He however persisted, and a report was im­
mediately made to Captain Douglas, who at once went down to inquire 
into the matter. Captain Douglas asked the man what he wanted, when 
he replied that he had mutinied at Meerut, and arriving at Delhi had come 
to the guard for a drink of water and a pipe. Captain. Douglas gave orders 
to seize him, when he immediately galloped off. Returning from the gate, 
Captain Douglas was yet in the covered way, when a messenger sent by 
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the king met him, and reported tb.at a number of troopers had arrived, and 
were collected under. the lattices of the palace. Hearing this, Captain 
Douglas came on at once to the hall of audience, and going to the balcony 
asked the troopers what they wanted there. One of them replied, " We 
bave mutinied at Meerut, and have come here for justice." Captain Douglas 
said, "Go to the old fort of Fll."ozshah, and you shall have justice." 
After this Captain Douglas returned to the Lahore Gate of the palace, 
where he heard that Mr. Fraser was engaged making arrangements at the 
Calcutta Gate, accompanied by the principal police officers of the city, and 
the guard allowed for the protection of the agency, and immediately went 
on to join Mr. Fraser. I and the chaprassy present went with him. 
At the Calcutta Gate there were collected Mr. Fraser, Mr. Hutchinson, 
and two other gentlemen whose names I do not know. Mr. Fraser was 
directing the chief native police officer of the city to take two of his 
sowars and see that there was no laxity in the arrangements at the gates. 
While he was there engaged, four or five cavalry troopers were seen 
approaching at full speed, with drawn swords, from the direction of· the 
palace. One of them approached and fired his pistol at Mr. Fraser, who 
immediately jumped out of his buggy, while Buktawar Singh, chaprassy, 
took a musket from the police guard at the gate, and handed it to his master. 
The musket was loaded, and Mr. Fraser shot the trooper dead on the spot. 
This dispersed the man's comrades, who, however, before making off, 
wounded Mr. Hutchinson in the arm. An excessive crowd having by this 
time collected, Captain Douglas jumped into the fort ditch, and was severely 
hurt in the feet and back by so doing. Mr. Fraser then came to the Lahore 
Gate of the palace in his buggy, while Captain Douglas and Mr. Hutchinson 
walked along in the ditch of the fort. On reaching the gate Captain 
Douglas had to be assisted out, and being considerably hurt, asked to be 
taken into the room called the Kulivat Khana till he should recover a little 
from the shock he had received. • In the meantime, the Reverend Mr. 
Jennings came down to him, and he and Mr. Hutchinson conveyed him to 
the apartments over the gate; At this time Mr. Fraser remained below, 
trying to suppress the disturbance, ana while thus engaged, I noticed that 

. Haji, lapidary, cut him down with a tulwar, and almost at the same instant 
some of the king's servants cut at him with swords till he was dead. I was 
at the head of the stairs, and this was perpetrated at the foot of them. 
One of Mr. Fraser's murderers was an Abyssinian. After this they mude a. 
rush to the upper apartments, when· I immediately ran round by allother 
door, and closed the door at the top of the stairs. I was engaged in shut­
ting all the doors when the crolld who had found entrance by the southern 
stair,' having forced one of the doors on that side, came and gave admission 
to ~he men who had assisted in ID11J}ering 1\11'. Fraser. These immediately 
rushea'into the apartments where the gentlemen, viz, Captain Douglas, 
"Mr;~Hutchinson and Mr. Jennings had retired, and attacking them with 
sw~rds, at once murdered them and the two young ladies. On this I raIl 
dQwn the staircase. As I got to the bottom I was laid hold of by olle 

_ ·j!aindoh, a bearer in the service of thc king, who said, "Tell me wl1Cr~ 
JCaptain Douglas is; you have concealed him." He forced me up.stairs 
with him. I said, "You have yourselves killed all the gentlemen already;" 
but on reaching the room where Captaill Douglas was, I saw that he Was not 
,quite dead. :M:amdoh pel'cciving this also, hit him with a bludgeon on the 
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forehead, and killed him immediately. I saw the other Lodies, iucluding 
those of the two ladies. Mr. Hutchinson was lying in one room, aud the 
bodies of Captain Douglas, Mr. Jennings, and the two young ladies in another, 
on the floor, with the exception of that of Captain Douglas, which was 011 a 
bed. A gentleman had arrived that morning travelling from Calcutta, and he 
was killed somewhere in the direction of the Delhi Gate of the palace, he hav­
ing tried to escape on that side. All the murders were perpetrated within a 
quarter of an hour after Mr. Fraser's death, and it was now between nine 
and ten o'clock, A. M. Mter the death of the gentlemen, the crowel began 
IJlundering their property, and fearing for myself, I ran off to my own house 
in the city, and never returned to the palace till after the re-capture of Delhi. 

Question.-Did yon accompany CaFtain Douglas when he went from the 
covered way in the palace to the hall of special audience, and if so, did he at 
that time have any interview or conversation with the prisoner? 

Answer.-Yes, I accompanied Captain Douglas, followiug Lim at a distance 
of abont two paces, and can aver that he had neither interview nor conversa­
tion with the king of any kind, and that he returned to his own apartmeut~ 
without having spoken to him at all. 

Question.-Can you positively affirm that, from tIle time Captain 
Douglas rose in the morning of the 11 th of May to the hour of his death 
that same morning, he had neither interview nor cOllversation with the 
prisoner? ' 

Answer.-I can and do positively affirm that he had neither interview nul" 
conversation with the king on the morning ill question. 

Question.-Did any other servant of Captain Douglas accolllllUIlY him 
to the hall of special audience with yoursclf ? 

Answer.-Yes, Bakhtawar Sing and Kis}lan Singll, rucsscllgcr~, were 
also with us. 

Cross-examined by Prisoncr. 

Queslion.-Did Captain Douglas, in your hcaring-, rC(luil'e tllat the gate 
under the prisoner's sitting room should be opencd, so that he might. go aud 
speak to the mutinous cavalry below? 

Answer.-Yes, he did; he said to us, (( I !>hall ~o down to tIle 
mulincers," and we dissuaded him from doing 80. 

Question.-Was not the prisoner in the hall of u(;:votion when Captain 
Douglas passed on to the balcony, anel in doing so did not the lattcr go 
through the usual form of salutation to the king? 

Answer.-Yes, the king was thcte, and Captain Douglas saluted llim at 
a distance, and passed on, but did not speak to him. 

Question.-How far did Captain Douglas pass from tIle kiug? 

Ansrver.-About fifteen paces. 
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Question.-Did you hear the prisoner dissuading Captain Douglas from 
going down to the troop~rs standing under the lattices? ' 

Answer.-No, I did not. 

Question.-Did any thing pass between Ahsan Ulla Khau and Captain 
Douglas that morning? 

Answer.-Yes, when Captain ,Douglas returned hurt by his faU, Ahsan 
UUa Khan went up to his room. I was not present· at the interview, and 
don't know what passed between them. 

Question.-Do you know whether Ahsan UUa Khan went to Captain 
Douglas of his own accord, or was he sent for? 

Answer.-I don't know. 

Question.-When Captain Douglas came to the palace did any conver~a­
tion take place between him and Ahsan UUa Khan or myself, or any other 
'of the king's servants? ' 

Answer.-I think not; but I did not observe closely. 

Sir Theophilus Metcalfe Examined by Ju.dge Advocate. 

Question.-Some short time before the outbreak in May last, was there 
auy paper stuck up on the walls of the Jama Masjid, purportinO' to be a 
proclamation from the King of Persia? b 

Answer.-Y.es, it was a small dirty piece of paper, with a naked sword 
and shield depicted, one on the right and the other Oll the left of it, and the 
purport of it was that the King of Persia was about to visit this country, and 
he called upon all the faithful followers of the prophet Mu.hammad to join 
with him in extirpating the English infidels, and offering landed estates and 
other large rewards to all who would do so; it was further stated that there 
were 500 men in Delhi at the time of putting up the placard who wel'e devoted 
to his interests. 

Question.-Was there any allusion ill it to th'e effect that the Shiah sect 
and Sunni sect of Mahomedans should forget their differences, and make 
common cause against the English? 

Answer.-No, I'ton't think there was. 

Question.-Was the document palpably a false one in purporting to come 
from the King of Persia? 

Answer.-Yes, I think so. 

Question.- How long did it remain on the walls of the Jama Masjid? 

Answer.-About three hours. It was put up there at night; I don't 
know the exaet date, but it was about six weeks before the outbreak, and I 
suppose it, may have remained up about. three hOl\l'S;, ill the ,morning a 
cuncourse of people was collected round It, and on hcarlllg of thIS, I had it 
taken down. 
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Question.-Did it, as flU.'.as you are aware {)f4 excite much discussion or 
interest among the natives {)f Deihl ? 

Answer.-No. 
Question.-Was.any effort made to trace where it came from? 

Answer.-None j it was considered altogether too contemptible. Any 
disaffected person in the city might have pnt snch a paper, and to have made 
a fuss about it would only have been investing it with undue importance. 

Question.-From any other source or cause had you any reason to 
suppose that about this time there was any usual amount of disloyalty to the 
English Government among the pc?pulation of Delhi ? 

Answer.-No, not among the people ofDclhij but thcy were perfcctly 
aware of the want of fidelity in the sepoy army, and the subject was frequently 
discussed. As an instance, it was currently reported, abont fifteen days before 
the outbreak, that an anonymous petition had becn presented to the ma­
gistrate, stating that the Cashmere Gate of the city would be taken out of the 
possession of the English. This gate being our chief stronghold in the citv, 
and main connexion with the cantonments of Delhi, it would naturally be 
the first point seized in any attempt at insurrection in the city, and was also 
the only gate at which there was any military guard j the importance of it, 
therefore, in a stratagetical point of view, must have been obvious to all. 
This petition was never received j but the current report about it was indi­
cative of what was then occupying the thoughts of many of the natives. 
As a further proof of the feeling then existing, a sidi of the king. who was in 
constant attendance at the palace, secretly urged a risaldar of the 14th 
irregular cavalry to leave our service, and to take service with the king, 
telling him, as an inducement to do so, ~hat before the hot weather was over, 
the Russians would have come to India, aud the Governmcnt of the English 
be at an end. The risaldar communicated this to me; his name is Everett. 
lIe speaks English, and is partly of European extraction. He also inform­
ed me that about six months before, the King had sent au emissary to 
ltussia. This risaldar is now at Belaspur. 

Question.-Can you give the Court auy information ahout the chapaties 
which were circulated from village to village some months before the 
outbreak~ and has it lJeen ascertained Low they origillatcd, or what was 
the purport of their being circulated? • 

Answer.-There is nothing but conjecture regarc1ing them ; but the 
first suggestion made by the natives in reference to them was, that they 
were thus sent about in eonuexion with some sickness that prevailed j 

but this was clearly au error, as I took the troul)le of ascertaining that 
these chapaties wcre never sent into any native states, lmt were confined 
always to Governmcnt villages ; they were spread through ollly tiye 
villages of the Delhi territory, whcn they were immediately stowell by 
authority,. and they neycr proceeded furthcr up country. I sent for the 
men who had brought them from the district of Bulal1(lshahr, alltl tllCir 
apology for circulating tllem was that they believed it to be dOIlc .by order of 
the English Government, thnt thcy had rcceived them elsewhere, and lind 
but forwarded them on. I belicve the mcaning of the chapatics was not 
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understood in tne Delhi district j but originally they were to be faken to 
all those who partook of one kind of food connecting a body of men 
tOj!;ether, in contradistinction to. those who lived differently, and had 
different customs. I think these chapaties ori6inated at Lucknow, and 
were no doubt meant to sound 81 note of alarm and. preparation, giving 
warning to the people to stand by one another on any danger menacing 
th-em. 

Question.-Did you ever hear that the subject of the advance of 
tae Persians upon Herat was much discussed among the natives? 

Answer.-Yes, very much so j and frequently in connexion with 
the idea of Russian aggression upon India. Every native newspaper had, 
at this time, its correspondent in Cabul, and there was a constant com­
munication kept up with the north, every newspaper having its weekly 
quota of information from thence. 

Queslion.-Do you know where the sidi who tried to induce Mr. 
Everett to abandon Government. service now is ? 

Answer.-Yes j he was killed at Arab Serai. 

Question.-Can you give the Court any other information relative to 
any agitation. thait about this time prevailed amo.ng the sepqys or native 
population of Delhi? 

Answer.-Yes· j I know that about five or six weeks before the outbreak:, 
it wall currently reported in the lines of the sepoys, and much discussed 
among them, that 100,000 Russians were coming from the north, and 
tJlat the Company's Government would be destroyed j in fact, the idea 
of a. Russian invasion was universally prevalent. . 

Question.-Are you aware whether the King of Delhi, his relatives 
or other adherents, had any secret or treasonable correspondence or com­
munications with the Company's Native Army at any time before the 
outbreak? 

Answer.-No, I cannot speak to any such points. 

Question.-Do yo~ know whether the King of Delhi ever sent an 
emissary or letters to the King of Persia? 

.t1.nswer.-I have heard that he did, but cannot speak positively. 

Hasan Askari, Pirzada, Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Qucstion.-Were you in Delhi at the time of the outbreak, and if so, 
what' was' your OCcufation ? 

Answer.-Yes, I was at Delhi; .my occupation was that of a. priest, 
and on one occasion when the King was sick and had other prIests to 
pray for him, he eventually sent for me. I went through some prayers 
and afterwards brea.thed on him, and the King recovering, used afterwards 
frequently to send for m.e. ; but finding this i~convenient, I ~egge~ that 
I might not be called for III future, and the Kmg then promIsed WIth an 
oath that he would scnd for me only whcn he should be seriously unwell. 
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Question.-Did you know a man called Sidi Kambar, a servant of 
the King? 

Answer.-I knew Beveral of the Abyssinians amongst the armed 
attendants of the King by sight ; but I knew by name only two or 
three of the King's servants ; Sidi Kambar was not one of them. 

Question.-It has been given in evidence before this Court that YOIl 

entrusted an Abyssinian o~ the name of Sidi Kambar, a servant of the 
King, with letters from the King of Delhi to the King of Persia; what 
do yon know about this? 

Answer.-I know nothing of the matter whatever. 

Question.-It has been given in evidence that you professed to have 
the power of prophecy, that you could interpret dreams, that you pretended to 
have been audibly addressed from Heaven, and also that you claimed 
miraculous power: to the truth of this the prisoner has himself assented : 
what have yon to say in reference to these subjects? 

Answer.-I call God to witness that I never pretended to anything 
of the kind. I 

Question.-What made yon, as yon say, breathe upon the King: did 
you suppose that your breath had any curative effect? 

Answer.~It is written i~ ou~ b~ok. that when a man prays for an­
other and then breathes on him, It IS likely t:> have a beneficial effect. 

. Question.-Did yon evcl' tell the King that you had had ~ drcam 
about a hurricane from the west, or any other quarter, coming upon 
India, devastating the land with a flood, which would bear up the King 
aud anniliilate the English? 

.W Answer.-God knows, I never had such a dream, nor did I evcr say 
so . but people from the palace used frequently to come to me, telling me 
th;t they had been having dreams of the kind. I told them it was all a 
fallacy, and that I had no faith in dreams myself. 

Question.-When did you leave the city of Delhi, and what hall bcen 
ihe reason of your concealing yourself till discovered by the police? 

Answel·.-~en it became generally known that the city was to l)c 
carried by assault, it was understood that the inhabitants were required to 
leave the place, and they began to flock out in crowds. I went out too. 
l.first went out and stayed at Shahr Mirza.ud-din, till told to go away from 
that also. I next went to the Kutb, and from that to Garhi Harsaru, where 
I fell sick. I also went to other places till I reached Laknowti, where I 
heard that a search was being made for me at Gangoh. I aecorilingly decid­
ed on going there on my own accord, and wcnt. On intelligence reaching 
my brethren there that I was coming, the troopcrs hearing of my being ill 
the vicinity came. Odt and seized me while I was at my praycn ill the shrinc 
oCthe Imam Sahib. 

The witness withdraws. 
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Bakhtawar Singh, Chaprassy, Ex~mined by Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Were you in Delhi <?n the 11 thof May last? 

Answer.~Yes, I ~as. 

125 

Question.-Relate what you witnessed on that occasion. 

Answer.-I was the servant on duty supervising the repairs of the fort 
ditch, and was going with the acoo~nt book for Captain Douglas' inspec­
tion. I was on my way, when a trooper came galloping up from the direc .. 
tion of the Calcutta Gate. The trooper had not reached the palace gate 
when I observed that Captain Douglas was standing there. I saw Captain 
Douglas speaking to the man; but before I reached the palace gate myself 
the trooper turned his horse and rode off. Captain Douglas told me to 
go up to his apartments, and said that he was going to the interior of the 
palace and should return immediately. Captain Douglas .did so, and I 
stayed at the gate, Makhan, Kishan Singh and others accompanied him. 
Captain Douglas had bardly gone when Mr. Fraser arrived in his buggy 
and inquired for him. Mr. Fraser alighted and walked on through the 
covered way up to the opening. He then said to me he was going 
to the Calcutta Gate, and that I was to tell Captain Douglas so on his 
return. I then myself proceeded in the direction of the King's apartments 
and met Captain Douglas returning in a state of excitement. I gave him 
Mr. Fraser's message. Captain Douglas went to the Lahore ,Gate of the 
palace, and told the native officer on guard there to close it, which was done. 
Captain Douglas at the same time gave orders that no crowd was to be 
allowed to assemble on the bridge leading into the palace. Just about this 
time an officer of the King's, styled a captain, also came there from the 
direction of the main street of Delhi. The gate had been closed and 
Captain Douglas' buggy was inside, so he directed me to ask this native 
officer for his buggy that he might go in it as far as the Calcutta Gate, 
whither Captain Douglas proceeded in it, I occupying the seat behind At 
the Calcutta Gate we found Mr. Fraser, Mr. Nixon, head clerk, and four 
or five other gentlemen. The gate was closed. after a short time. Mr. 
Fraser and Captain Douglas got into the buggy together, and were returning 
to the palace accompanied by the other gentlemen on horseback, but had not 
proceeded far when four or five troopers came galloping up at full speed from 
the direction of the Ellenborough Tank. About this time there was a 
general cry that the. troopers had come. On reaching the party of gelltle­
men, one of the troopers wounded Mr Hutchinson in the arm with a pistol 
shot; the others also fired, but without effect. On this Mr. Fraser and 
Captain Douglas both got out of the buggy and went out of the way of the 
mutineers, aud stood - by the guard room of the constabulary force at the 
gate: two more gentlemen joined them there. Mr. Fraser got a musket 
from the constabulary force, and shct one of the troopers. This checked the 
others, and they turned and fled. A great crowd had by this time collected, 
and Captain Douglas and another gentleman jumped into the fOl't ditch, 
along which they came on to the palace ga~e. Mr. Fra~er and ot~ers coming 
by the road; but there was such confUSIon a,t the tIme I can t say how. 
Captain Douglas was in ,a fainting state fro~ the i~juri.es he had re~eived 
from jumping into the ditchJ and we accordlDgly laId hIm on a bed ill the 
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Kuliyat Khana~ In a short time Mr. ,Jennings, the clergyman, came down, 
and at his suggestion Captain Douglas was taken up ,to the apartments, above 
the gate, where he was placed. .on abed" Mr,. Jennings sending the serVants' 
away, and telling them not to crowd about the place .. We then received an 
mer to go for the King's physician, and Abdulla 'Ohuprassy 'fetched him 
accordingly. The physician, Ahsan Ulla Khan, had just left, when we 
servants who were sitting there, saw some five, Mahomedana, King's ser­
vants" cominl?; along the covered way calling out "Din din/J Just' at this 

, time Mr. 'Fraser happened to come down to the foot of the ,staks, aM these 
, men immediately 'attacked him and killed him with their swords.' While 

this wall happening ~n the nOl'th side of tae gate, a mixed crowd, armed with 
8words, bludgeons, &c., ran up the :stairs on t~e south side, and gained the 
apartments above"those assembled on the north side joining them there. :By 
this tim~ everyone tried to make llis own escape, and I did so with the rest. 
From t}tat date I never came to the palace till I returned to Delhi from ' 
Jabhn-ka.-Katla. I should mention that at the commencement of the attack 
the crowd was. headed and urgecl Oll by.a Mtusu~~ havik\.ar of the 88th 
Jlfatilre hfautry, who wuone of the pud, at "thQLaJrol'e Gate of tlle palace. 
I know. nothing ~. ' , ' ' ,',,:', " " , 

•• '"11 • • • •• t . I 

. Ku~ Sin!Jh, Cliuprassy, E!ltant-ined by Judge Advoca~. 

Q~8tion.-Were yon in Delhi on the 11th of May last? 

. ,&n81Der.-.;.Yesi I was in. at~lildance 0:'1 Captain Douglas. 

Question.-Were you present when Captain 'Douglas went in the direc­
tlon of the king's apartments to speak to the q'lutinou/l cavalry beneath ~he 
balcoay'; and ,if so, can ,you state whether Captain Douglas spoke to the 
King Of not on the oCcasion ? 

:. .&nawer.-Yell, I w.as present, .rut there was ,s_ome little conversation 
between, Captain Douglas and the )ring; the latter advised him not to go 
down among the mutineers, _and. as Captain Douglas was gJing away, the 
prisoner requested that his own servants:, in reference to the gates having 
been closed, might not be denied. admittance to the palace. ' . ' ' 

Qae,tioft.-How far was Captain Douglas from the King when this was 
said? 

.Ans;Oer.-He w~s passing by, and did not stop to speak; he may have 
been about fo~ p.~, as the King had come out of his Hall of Devotion, and 
'!U standi~g by the doon:vay. ' 

Cross-examined by Prisoner. 

. Questioft.-On returning, did Captain Douglas go by the passage near-
est the Hall of Special Audience, or the other one? .' 

.4n8wer.~He went by that next to the Hall of Devotion" 
. . ~ . 

Que,tion.-Dld not the prisoner remark that he had been "'err comfort-
able under the EnglUh Government ?, ", 
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Answel'.-No, he did not speak in allusiQn to the Government, but to 
the attentions he had received personally from Captain Douglas, who he said 
'had been kind to him. 

Question.-Did Captain Douglas make a request to the prisoIl£r to be 
allowed to go down to the cavalry beneath the balcony, and if not, how did 
the prisoner learn that he wished to do so? 

Answer.-I don't remember; it occurred nine months ago; but Captain 
Douglas e~pressed a wish to have the gate below opened. 

Chuni, News-writer for the public, examined by Judge Advocate. 

QuesiioTf.-Were you present in Delhi: on the morning' of the llth· of 
May last? ' 

Answer.-Yes, I was af my house. 

Question.-Did you witness the soldiers coming from, Meerut on that 
day j if so state all that you know relative to it? 

Answer.-No, I did not see them coming; but hearing that the city 
gates were being closed, I w~nt out to ,see what was happening; and on my 
coming into the Chand'n.i Chouk street, I saw the chief police officer of the 
cilty busy having the shops closed. I heard from him that Sir Theophilus 
Met,calfe was similarly engaged. I went with the crowd in the direction of 
the Calcutta Gate, and there saw Mr. Fraser and four or five other gentle­
men. 'M-r. Fraser's personal guard' of Jhajjar troopers was with him. Mr. 
Fraser went to th~ top of the gate, accompanied by another gentleman and 
Sharif-ul-Hak, the chief police officer of the city, and at this moment the 
police officer of the secondclas!! at the Sabzi Mandi. After a while Mr. 
Fl'aser' came down and disposed the force- present, by telling the Jha:jjar 
troopers to fall in and form, and at the same time mad~ the Constabulary 
Gua:rd form and! draw their swords, himself taking a position between them~ 
This had just been done· when about seven troopers and two men mounted' 
on camels, galloped up by the road along the palace from the direction of 
Daryaganj, and immediateIy on coming within pistol shot distance, the 
whole party fired at the European gentlemen at the gate. On this the 
crowd dispersed in all directions, a:nd I also went home. I observed, how­
ever,. before leaving, that the- Jhajjar sowars made no :resistance, but deserted 
Mr.' Fraser, and fled immediately the troopers came down. After.that 1 did 
not leave my house till evening... and knew nothing of the furtheI: 'incidents' 
of that day. / 

Question.-When you went down to the Calcutta Gate; was a large 
,crowd already assembled there? 

Answer.-There were at least 400 or 500 people collected in the small 
space known as the Grape Garden. 

Question.-At what hour was thi'S ? 
AMwer.-lt was near nine;- but I can't speak with· certainty as .tp the 

time. 

Question.-What was it, do you' suppose, that made such a number of. 
people collect there; the- quarter oot being one'oftraffic ? 
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Answer.-The u~usual st,ir caused by the closing of the gate, led to the 
collecting of the rabble there, the crowd being increased by the bathers from 
the river hurrying to get in before the gates should be closed. 

Question.-You say you were a news-writer; you consequently ought 
to be well informed on what was passing; do you believe that no iuformation 
had been given to many of the people a day or two before of what was likely 
to occur on the 11th? 

Answer.-I heard nothing of a preconcerted outbreak arranged parti­
cularly for 11th of May; but there was considerable agitation and excite­
ment in the city, ~onsequent, first, on a paper purporting to be a procla­
mation from the King of Persia, and secondly, on the reports whieh arrived 
of the burning of the bungalows at Ambala and of the reported disaffection 
of the troops in consequence of their being required to use greased car­
tridges. 

Question.-Did you edit a paper of your own; and if so, what Was the 
title of it? 

Answer.-I did edit a paper, and headed it ct Delhi News;" but it was 
not known by that title, or any other; it was' a mere explanation of the 
contents. I wrote it daily, and took the manuscrirt round and read it to 
my subscriber~. 

Question.-Used you to file copies; and if so, have you any in your pos­
session now? 

Answer.-I did file the originals regularly, both before and after the 
outbreak. I succeeded in preser.ving all those issued since the llth of May 
by building them up in a wall, and on the recapture of Delhi, I made up 
any deficiencies with the assistance of Nandkishwar, and putting them in a 
complete form, I made them over to Colonel Burn, the military governor 
of Delhi, who had them translated. 

Question.-How many Jhajjar sowars had Mr. Fraser with him on the 
11th of May? . 

Answer.-Including officers, the guard comprised two or three and 
twenty men, and the whole of them were apparently with Mr. Fraser when 
he was attacked. 

Question.-You have said that all these men, though in regular forma­
tion at the time, turned and fled on the aFProach of five or six cavalry troop­
ers; to what do you attribute this; do you believe that these men had pre­
vious information of what was going to happen? 

Answer.-Myopinion is that they had no previous knowledge on the 
subject; the mutineers calling out ct Din din," the Jhajjar men acted on the 
impulse of the moment in deserting Mr. Fraser. 

Question.-You did not previously state that they had called out any­
thing j how is it you forgot to do 80? 

Ansu·er.-It is eight months ago since all this happened; as the different 
incidents come to my recollection I mention them. When I left the troop-
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era were calling" Dixt din/~ and were assuring the crbwd. on both sides that 
they would npt ,hal'ID or molest any of the native!!. . . ...: : . 

. Question.-What were the general points of information tit' news you 
used to give in your paper previous to the 11 th of May; did any ofthe ar­
ticles' ever refer ,to the native army, or the disaffection supposed to exist in it? 

Answer.-My paper used to contain articles on all subjects of general 
interest, ~nd all information that I could glean from. printed papers. I re­
member on some few occasions having alluded to the cartridge question, and 
the mutinous spirit evinced by the army in connexion ;with them. . . 

, Question.-DQ you remember ever WlIiting any articles on the advance 
of the Pe~sians upon Herat P ' .. 

Answer.-I ~on't remember particularly having done so j but generally 
I used to insert suoh news concerning Persia as I was able to obtain from the 
journals of the city printed in Persian. . " 

Qu(!stion;-':"As you read' these articles yourself to your subscribers, you 
. must know which generally excited the greatest inteJ:est. Was the disaffec­
tion . supposed to exist among the sepoys much attended to ? 

Answer.-It caused no excitement among the Hindus; but the Mahome­
dans took a marked i,nterest iri the news about Persia, and used to go about 
exulting and boasting that the. Persian'll were ~oming,_ and would, ~o thi" 
that, and the other.:('Aaregam&·thegeneial disaffection of the troops, the 
Mahomed~ns pJ).Iy,8eemed a1fe~. b'y' it, and cert!UPly appeared to be very 
much excited and mterested~' ':. " , 

-. .~ .. ' -", ~ 

.. Question.-At the time the Persians'were said to be coming, was there 
much talk also regarQ,ing the Russians? 

Answer.-Yes, th~y were both spok~n of; but the Persians· more 
frequently so. 

. Queation.-Were tUere any native newspapers circulated at Delhi, whQse 
general tone and tenor were adverse to the British Government? 

Answer.-There was one such paper, a we~kly, published by Jamal-ud­
din, the articles in which eVinced decided enmity a~ainst th e Government; 
it was called the H Sadik-ul-Akhbar,n or the "Authentic N ews.JJ 

Que8tion.-Had this paper,a great ci~culation, and was it a printed one? 

A~er.-It h:uI a circulation of some 200' copies in alid !out of the city 
of DelhI, and waslIthograp;hed. " 

Question.-Did this· paper confine itself to its weekly publication, or did 
it som,etimes issue extras on particular news arriving? ' 

An8Wer.~Yes,c on' oCcasions of important intelligence ~ving,. extras 
were issued.' 

Que8tion.-Am~ng ~wh1ijh; or what class of men, ,hf'Cl ~,,!P~ ,i~ chief 
circulation? . " ," . . 
.: . . '!'. t , I~. . _ I. .' ; ,. " • . t· , .. ",; ,.. ,'. . ". . 

. :AnSUler·-lt h.ad, l\n. equar:~irc;ullltj9Ii .axQ;911l.tall olasses capable of 
" ~lDg., Wltho:t distlDctn of cast.e...·. ' 
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Question.-Two hundred appears a very small number of copies for so 
populous a place as Delhi j is it customary among the natives to read their 
papers among knots of friends if assembled to hear the news, and does one 
copy of a paper suffice for several families? 

Answer.-Yes, it has been the custom among the subscribers to circulate 
their copies amongst their relations and friends. , 

Question.-Was the" Authentic News" considered the leading journal 
in Delhi j and what was its circulation as compared with others? 

Answer.-Yes, it was c:onsidered the leading journal; the articles in it 
were better written, and some being extracted from papers published in 
English, had more interest for the Mahomedans. I cannot speak what re­
lative circulation it had with others; but the copies of it sold were certainly 
much more numerous than of any other native paper. 

Question,-You have mentioned it was very hostile in tone to the British 
Government j can you recollect the subject of any particular articles which 
evinced this feeling ? 

Answer.-I cannot-remember any particular article in which such feel­
ing was more conspicuously evinced than in others; but in those rehting to 
Persia and the Russians, the 19tyle and tone of composition was always 
hostile, and very bitterly so. 

Question.-Did you ever hear of any anonymous petition being sent 
to the magistrate, to the effect that an attack was to be made upon the 

"Cashmere Gate, and that it was to be wrested from the possession of the 
English? 

.Answer.-No, I don't recollect having heard any such report. 

Queslion.-Did you ever hear a report that there would be a great 
disturbance on the 21st of M~y or any other fixed date? 

Answer.-No, I n,ever heard any report of the kind. 

Question.-Do you recollect the circumstance of chapaties being circu­
lated from village to village? 

Answer.-Yes, I remember hearing of it ,before the outbreak. 

Question.-Was this subject discussed in the native newspapers; and 
if so, what was considered the meaning of it ? 

Answer.-Yes, it was alluded to j and it was supposed to portend some 
coming disturbance, and was moreover understood as implying an invitation 
to the whole population of the country to unite for some secret object after­
wards to be disclosed. 

Question.-.:...Do you know whence these chapaties originated, or to what 
qu&.rter general opinion among the natives attributed them ? 

Answer.-I have no knowledge as to where they were first startedj 
hut it was generally supposed that they came from Karnaul and Panipat. 
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Question.-Do you know whether a copy of the "Authentic News" 
used to be sent to the inmates of the palace? 

.A.nswer.-Yes, several copies used to be sent to the palace; but I dQ 
not know by whom they were taken. 

. Question.-Was a court journal kept by order of the prisoner duriIlg 
the rebellion? . 

dnswer.-Yes, one was kept; and it was published at the Royal litho­
graphic press, in the palace; before the outbreak, it contained chiefly items 
of intelligence connected with the palace, but other matters too were occd.­
sionally admitted to it. It was called the Suraj-ul-Akhbar, or the ." SuD. 
of Intelligence,l' 

Question.-Were you present in the palace on the occasion of any Eu­
t:opeans being massacred ? 

.A.nswer.-I was. One morning about five or six days after the out­
break on the 11th of May, I heard at my house that there was a grea~ 
disturbance going on in the palace. I accordingly proceeded there, and 
entering by way of the Delhi Gate, I had reached the new palace, when I 
saw 'the :King's personal armed' attendants, and some of the mutinous 
soldiery were slaying the Europeans. It was about half-past nine or ten 
o'clock. At this time one of the king's servants spoke to me, saying; 
"You collect news for the English; if you continue to do so, you shall be 
served in the same way as these have been. This man's name was Bhika, 
and he was in the service of Mirza Abdullo, one of the sons of the prisonet • . 

Question.-Where were the Europeans brought from ? 

Answer.-I don't know.; but I heard they were brought from the 
King's kitchen. 

Question.-Is this kitchen in the same square or court-y!U'd with the 
King's apartments? 

Answer.-The king's apartments may be said to be on one side of the 
palace, and this place caUe~ th~ kitchen! in whicJ1 the Europea!ls were i!D" 
prisoned, was ou the Opposlte Side, the mtermedlate spaces. bemg occupied 
by the court-yard. in ~hich ~e the build~ngs of the Hall o! ~pecial Audi­
ence, and that of Public Audience; the distance from the Kmg s apartments 
may be 200 or 250 yards. 

Question.-What kind or rank of people generally occupied. this place 
assigned to European ladies and children ? 

Answer.-The building was used as an office by the King's professor 
of the Mahomedan law. 

Question.-Do you mean to say that such buildings as these ladies and 
children were confined in . were used in any way by persons of rank or 
importance? 

Answer.-No, they certainly were not. 
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Question.-:-By whom then were they used? 

Answer.-They were partially used as sheds for lumber j and formerly 
culprits imprisoned by the King used to be kept there. 

Question.-Was there any means of guarding the ladies and children 
there, if such had been wished, or is the place open to the entrance of any 
rabble who might fancy to go in ? 

Answer.-No, it was an open building, without protection or privacy. 

Question.-Would any native of ordinary respectability not consider it 
a great indignity to be put there? . . . 

Answer.-Yes, unmistakeably j he would consider himself disgraced and 
dishonoured by being sent there. 

Question.-Was this the only vacant spot in the palace in which ladies 
or children could have been kept in confinement? 

Answer.-There was no scarcity of buildings in which they might have 
had every comfort. 

Question.-By whose orders were these Europeans murdered. 

Answer.-It was done by the King's orders; who else could have given 
such an order ? 

Question.-Did you see any of the King's sons present on the occasion 
looking on at the slaughter? 

Answer.-There was a gteat crowd; I did not notice any of them. 
I observed, howev,~r, some people standing ou the roof of Mirza Moghal's 
house, and heard that he himself was looking oJ? through the lattices. 

Question.-Were the Europeans bound with cords before they were 
murdered? 

Answer.-I did not notice. 

Question.-Were they made to sit down in a row before the slaughter 
commenced? 

Answer.-I was not able to go up to the spot, and remained in the 
Trepolia. I could not see the crowd; but after the slaughter had been 
completed, and the crowd dispersed, when orders came from the King to 
remove the bodies, and they were being laden on carts, I went and asked the 
Iweepers employed, and learnt from them that 52 people had been killed. 
The corpses on the grou.nd then wer~ lying in a circle. 

Question.-How many corpses of men were among the number? 

Answer.--Only five or six; the rest were women and children. 

Question.-Do you know what was s~bsequently done with these bodies? 

Answer.-Yes, they were taken in two carts in the direction of Salim-
garh, in order to be t~own into the rivell in conformity to the prisoner's 
orders. 
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Question.~ When the massacre had been accomplished, were I/.ny guns 
fired as a token or expression of joy on the occasion. 

Answer.-I heard no guns myself, nor did I hear from anyone else 
that any had been fired. 

Question.-Can you give the Coud any information about any other 
persons murdered in other quarters of the city of Delhi ? 

Answer.-I witnessed no other murders but those I have already spoken 
of j but I heard that some Europeans, about 25, so long as their ammuni­
tion 1asted, defended themselves in the Kishangarh Rajah's house~ On 
their ammunition failing, they were brought out from an underground 
apartment, and killed by some of the Mahomedan inhabitants in concert 
with some of the mutinous troopers. 

Question.-Was the King's authority ever proclaimed in Delhi, and 
if so, when? 

Answer.-On the 12th of ·,May, the King's orders directing the re-open­
ing of the shops was proclaimed by beat of drum, and about two days after 
the King went out in state, mounted on an elephant, and accompanied by a 
regiment :>f'infantry, some guns, his own special armed retainers, and a band 
of musicians. This was done with the object of having the shops re-opened j 
he went as far as that part of the main st:reet, where the houses are built, so 
as to form a crescent on either side, and returned with the same pomp and 
ceremcny as that with which he had, set out. There was a. salute of 21 guns 
fired on his departure fr<,>m the palace, and a similar one on his return to it. 

Cross-examined by the Prisoner. 

Qllestion.-Did you ever hear that the mutinous troops which came from 
Meerut, did so at the King's suggestion, or on the impulse of their own wills? 

.tI.nswer.-I have no information on the subject either one way or the 
other. 

Question.-You stated yesterday that the building in which the ladies 
and children were confined was used by the King's professor of the Mahome­
dan law: you afterwards stated that any native of respectability sent there 
would unmistake'll.bly consider himself disgraced and dishonoured by it j how 
do you reconcile these stateme~ts ? 

Answer.-All sorts of people, high and low, used to collect there owing 
to its being an office j and from this it is evident that it could not have been 
('onsidered a fit place for the detention of people having any claims to respect­
ability. It was not the residence of the professor, it was merely where he 
used to discharge his office duties. . 

Cl,uni Lal, Pedlar, Examined by' Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Were you in Delhi on the llth and 12th of :May last? 

Answer.-Yes, I was, on both dates. ' 
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Question.-Did you, on either of those dates, hear the King's authority 
proclaimed by beat of drum? . 

Answer.-On the 11th of May, about midnight, some 20 guns were 
fired in the palace. I heard the reports at my house, and next day at about 
noon, a proclamation was made by beat of drum that the country had revert. 
ed to the possession of the King. 

Question.-Did you witness any procession made by the King on an 
elephant in state? . 

Answer.-No, I left the palace a few days after the olltbreak: I never 
saw the King's procession: but on one occasion I witnessed the state proces. 
sion of Mirza Moghal as commander-in-chief. 

Gulab, a Messenger, Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Were you in Delhi at the time the European ladies and 
children were massacred in the palaee in May last, and if so, did you see 
them on that occasion? 

Answer.-Yes I was, and saw them murdered. 

Question.-When did you first hear that they were to be killed? 

Answer.-I heard of it two days before the occurrence i it was said the 
Eur{)peans would be killed in two days, but I do not recollect what day it 
was. On the day fixed for the slaughter arriving, great crowds of people 
were flocking to the palace at about 10 a. m. I entered with them. On 
reaching the first court-yard, I saw the prisoners all standing together, sur­
rounded on all sides by the King's special armed retainers, or what you may 
term his body guard, and some of the infantry mutineers. I did not observe 
any signal orders given; but on a sudden the men just mentioned drew their 
swords and all simultaneously attacked the prisoners, and continued cutting 
at them, till they had killed them all. There were at least 100 or 150 men 
employed in this work of slaughter. 

Question.-Did anyone make any attempt to Ilave them, or did you ever 
hear that any oIl:e had interceded for them with the King? 

Answer.-No, no one made any attempt whatever to save them nor did 
I hear that anyone ever interceded with the King on their account.' 

Question.-You have stated that the time for murdering these women 
was fixed two days previously; was it stated by whose orders they were 
to be murdered ? . 

Answer.-I did not hear whose orders had been issued in the matter' 
but without orders it could not have happened. ' 

Question.-Was it generally understood that the King sanctioned the 
murder of these women and children? 

Answer.-This was not known at the time; but people spoke about it, 
saying, "The prisoners are to be )tilled the day after to-morrow." 
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- Question.-Was any authority in Delhi capable of giving an order for 
their murder beyond that of the King? 

Answer.-There were only two sources from which the order could have 
emanated, the King and his son Mirza Moghal. I don't know which of 
them gave the order. 

Question.-How many Europeans do YOll suppose were murdered on this 
occasion; and were they tied previous to being killed? . 

Answer.-I can make no estimate j they" were standing- together in a 
line, surrounded by their murderers; but the great portion of the prisoners 
were children; they were not tied in any way. 

Question.-Do you know what was done with the bodies? 

Answer.-No. the palace was cleared of the crowd by the soldiery im­
mediately after the slaughter, and I never heard what became of the bodies. 

Question.-Did you witness the murder of any people at the bank? 

Answer.-Yes" I was witness to the murder Ot Mr. Beresford- and his. 
family. When the bank was attacked by the mutineers and'the rabble, Mr. 
Beresford and his family retired to one of the out-offices for concealment, 
and when discovered were on the roof of the building. Mr. Beresford was 
armed with a sword, and Mrs. Beresford had a spear. The mutineers being 
afraid to approach them by the $taircase in front, two of the rabble suggested 
tllat they should go round and scale the wall in the rear of the house. -Mrs. 
Beresford struck one of the assailants with a spear and killed him, they were. 
however, overpowered, and all killed. I do not know what number of persons 
were killed at the bank; but there were' several. This occurred on the day 
of the outbreak, at about twelve o'clock: - -

Question. -Were any of the ladies taken away,- or were- they all' killed 
at once? 

Answer.-They were aU killed immediately j none were retained as 
prisoners. -

Question.-Were any of the King's armed retainers among the assailants 
at the bank?-

Answer.-No. 

Question.-Was the King proclaimed as- the reigning sovereign imme­
diately after the outbreak? 

Answer.-Yes, the proclamation was made by beat of drum on the veri 
dav of the outbreak, about three in the afternoon, to the effect that it was now 
the King's Government. ' 

Examined by Court. 

: Question.-Do you know why the prisoners were kept so many days iii: 
confinement, and was there any reason for appointing any particular day for 
their murder? 

Answer.-No, I have no knowledge on either point. 
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Ahsan Ulla Kflan, the Physician, examined by 1udge Advocate. 

Question.-Was a court diary of occurrences at the Falace kept by order 
of the King during the rebellion? 

Answer.-The court diary was kept up as usual according to the custom 
which had long preceded the outbreak. 

Question:-Look at this leaf, and see whether you can recognize the 
handwriting on it? • 

Answer.-Yes; it is in the handwriting of the man who kept the court 
diary, and this leaf is a portion of it. . 

Translation of an Extract- from the COUl·t Diary for the 
16th of May 1857. 

"The King held his court in the Hall of Special Audience; 49 English 
were prisoners, and the army demanded that they should be given over to 
them for slaughter. The King delivered them up, saying, 'The _ army may 
do as they please,' and the prisoners were consequently Fut to the sword. 
There was a large attendance, and all the chiefs, nobles, officials, and writers 
presented themselves at the court, and had the honour of paying their 
respects." 

Question.-Were you present on the 11th of May at Dehli? 

Answer.-Yes, I was. 

Question.-Relate what you witnessed on that occasion. 

I .Answer.-On the morning of the 16th of Ramzan, alias the 11th of May, 
at about seyen o'clock a. m., a Hindu sepoy of the 38th Regiment of Native 
Infantry came up to the door of the Hall of Special Audience in the palace, 
and said to some of the doo~-keepers that happened to be on the spot, that 
the native army at Meerut had mutinied against the State, and were now on 
the point of entering Delhi; that he and the rest of them would no longer 
serve the Company, but would fight for their faith. My house is in the 
palace, and close by th~ Hall of Special Audience, and I was immediately 
informed by one of the Mahomedan door-keepers of what the 38th sepoy had 
said. I had hardly received this information, when the King of Delhi sent 
for me. I attended on him immediately, and his Majesty said, "Look I the 
cavalry are coming by the road of the Zer 1harokha." [Zcr 1harokha is 
literally" under the lattice," but appears to be a name given generally to 
the ground immediately under the lattices ofthe palace.] llooked and saw 
about -15 or 20 of the Company's regular cavalry, then about 150 yards 
distant. They were dressed most of them in uniform, but a few hacl 
Hindustani clothes on. I immediately suggested to the King to have the 
gate fastened by which entrance to the palace from the Zer 1harokha 
is obtained, and this had scarcely been done when five or six 
of the sowars came up to the closed gate, which leads directly under the 
Saman Burj Palace, where the King has his own private residence in 
close contiguity with the apartments of the Queens and other secluded 
females of the establisbment. The sowars commcnced calling out It Dohai 
Badshah." or u Help 0 King I we pray for assistance in our fight for the 



TRIAL OF EX-KING OF DELHI. 137 

faith," The King hearing this, made no response, nor did he even shmv 
himself to the men beneath; but told Ghulam Abbas, Shamshir-ud­
doulat, who was also present, to go to Captain Douglas, commandant 
of the palace guards, and apprize him of the arrival of the sowars, and 
request him to do whatever might be necessary in the case. The KinlJ' 
then. retired to his inD;er apa~tments, and I went to the Hall of Speciai 
Audience, and almost· lIDmedlately Ghulam Abbas returned, accompanied 
by Captain Douglas. '.Qle latter instantly went to the balcony overlook­
ing the Zer Jharokha, where the cavaliy still remained, and said to them 
<t Go away from this: this is the King's palace, your presence here is an 
annoyance to the King." On this the cavalry went off in the direction 
of the Rajghat Gate, which gives an entrance to the city immediately to 
the south of the palace. The .King on hearing that Captain Douglas 
had come, went out and met him in the open space between his private 
residence and the Hall of Special Audience, when Captain Douglas. said 
to him, "Don't be alarmed, the disturbauce shall be put down at once; I 
will have the men apprehended." He was going off apparently for this 
purpose, and requested that the gate under the Saman Burj, which I had 
closed, might be opened to enable him to go and speak to the cavalry for 
the purpose of reasoning with them. The King said, "You have neither 
pistols, guns, or soldiery with you. your going among these men would -
be indiscreet." So Captain Dou~las then went off to his own apar t­
ments. A very short time subsequently to this, Pran Jemadar, a servant 
of Captain Douglas, came and said that Captain Douglas wished ithat I 
and Ghulam Abbas would go to him. We accordingly went, and on seeing 
Captain Douglas, he said to us, I have sprained or hurt my foot. There 
was another gentleman with him whom I did not recognise; he was lying 
down on a couch, and had a sabre wound on his right arm. Captain 
Douglas said, "Send .two palanquins with bearers immediately that the 
English ladies here may be taken to the Queen, and placed under her 
protection," and just at this time Mr. Simon Fraser, the Commissioner, 
came into the room, and said, "Get from the King two guns with ar­
tillery,. and place them at the gateway underneath us." On this Mr. 
Fraser came down from Captain Douglas' apartment above the gate-way, 
accompanied by myself and Ghulam .Abbas. I and Ghulam Abbas 
went straight to the King to deliver .the above message, and Mr. 
Fraser stayed at the opening of the gate-way. We, with the Kinlfs 
permission, immediately sent the palanquins for the ladies, and also 
gave instructions about the gnns; but shortly after this information 
reached us that the cavalry had entered the palace enclosure by the 
Lahore Gate, where Mr. Fraser wished the guns placed, and over which 
Captain Douglas had his residence: it was also told us that they had 
killed Mr. Fraser, and had gone up to Captain Dpuglas to kill him. 
This was instantly confirmed by the. return of the palkeel bearers, who 
told us that they had witnessed Mr. [I'raser's murder, that his body was 
in the gateway, and that the troopers had ascended to the upper build­
ing for the purpose of murdering those there. 'fhe King on hearing 
this, gave orders for all the gates of the palace to be closed; hut answer 
was given that the infantry, viz. some of the 38th Native Infantry. 
who were on guard at the palace, would not allow of such being done. Af­
ter a lapse of. some time the cavalry, to the number of about 50, rode up 
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to the Hall of Special Audience, dismounted, and picketed their horses ill 
the adjoining garden. The infantry, I am not sure of what reO"iments but 
I think of all the three Delhi regiments, also came into the" palace' en~ 
closures, and laid down their beddings in any of the palace buildinO's that 
they could make available. The infantry from Meerut did not breach 
Delhi till about 2 p. m. of that day; they did not reach Delhi in a 
body? but ~ame st~aggling il!-' and a.s they ~rrived joined the infantry of the 
DelhI reglments III spreadmg theIr beddmgo oVt!r all parts of the palace 
enclosures. There was no regular court that day; but the King came 
out some three or four times to the Hall of Special Audience, where 
the mutineers were lying about aU over the place : and the mutinous 
troopers came flocking into the palace the whole day and even after 
the night set in. The 54th came in the evening, and went off at once 
to occupy the Salimgarh Fort, where they the next day fixed guns 
which they brought out of the magazine for the purpose of checking­
any advance of European troops from Meerut. For three days cons~ 
tant alarms, and especially at nights, were given that the Europeans 
were coming, when the bugles sounded and the mutineers got under 
arms. On the 12th of May the prisoner's three sons, Mirza Moghal and 
Mirza Khair Sultan and his grandson Mirza Abulbakr applied for the 
principal commands in the army. I represented to the King that tbey 
were not of sufficient age and eXferience for such ° appointments, nor 
would they understand any of the duties, and they were much displeas~ 
ed in consequence. The matter remained pending that day. The next 
day, however, they got Mirza Menau, Mirza Bukhtawa Shah, and Mir­
za Abdulla, together with the officers of the army, to join them in 
their request, and accordingly, two days after, they were severally 
nominated to commands and received dresses of honour. 

Question.-You have said that on a requisition being made, the King 
sent palanquins for the two ladies in Captain Douglas' apartments: when 
he heard that they and Mr. Fraser had .been all murdered, did he take 
any steps to secure or punish the murderers? 

Answer.-No, there was such confusion that nothing was done. 

Question.-It is in evidence that the King's own special servants 
mp.rdered Mr. Fraser and different persons in the palace on that day,: 
were these servants continued in pay and employment? 

Answel·.-I never heard that any of the King's servants had joined in 
the murders; but certainly none of them were ever dismissed on this account. 

Question.-Do you mean to say that it was not generally known by 
whom the murders .were committed? 

Answer.-No, it was not generally known, nor did I hear who com~ 
mitted the murders. . 

the 

Qi.restion.-Was the slightest investigation ever maue on this point? 

Answer.;-No, none whatever. 

Qupstion.-How many armed retainers did the King 
outbreak ? 

possess before 
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Answer.-About 1,200 of all descriptions. 

Question.-Were these men in different branches of the army, such 
as artillery, cav:alry and' infantry? 

.A.nswer.-Yes, they were divided into artillery, cavalry and infantry. 

Question.-How many cannon did the King possess? 

Answer.-There were six serviceable ones; and I don't know how many 
others . w~re lying about which were not in use. 

Question.-How was this force employed on the 11th of May, the day 
of the outbreak? 

Answer.-They were distributed in guards at the different gates and 
other houses of the principal palace officials: some who held appointments 
in consideration of money advances, seldom attended; but received their 
monthly stipends and remained at home. 

Question.-How was it that so many English women and children' were 
brought to the palace and placed in confinement? 

Answer.-The mutineers took them in and about the city, and having 
established their own quar~ers in the palace, they brought their Rrisoners in 
with them ,too. . 

Question.-Do you mean to say that each man who took an. English 
person prisoner retained the custody of him, or of her, or of the children? 

Answer.-No, as they brought them in, they reported the circumstance to 
the prisoner, and in each successive case they were told to take the Europeans 
to the kitchen, and keep them. confined there. 

Question.-Who appointed this kitchen as the place of their confinement? 

Answer.-The King said that it was a large capacious building, and told 
the mutineers to keep the prisoners there. 

Question.-Who commanded the King's armed retainers before the out­
break? 

Answer.-M ahbub Ali Khan virtually did so. 

Question.-Did any of them go and attack the magazine on the 11th of 
May, and if so, by whose orders was it done? 

Answer.-No, none of them went according to any orders that I heard 
tf; nor do I know of any having gone at all; but some or all of those living 
out in the city n::.ay have gone for all I can say. 

Question.-Do you know whether any emissary from the King, or any 
relative of his, is . at this moment or has been lately at the court ~f the 
King of Persia? 

Answer.-No, I cannot speak as to the present time; but about two 
or three years ago, I remember reading in Muhammad Bakr's Gazette·that 
:Mirza Najaf, one of the prisoner's nephews,' had gone to the Persian Court 
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and had been received by the King of Persia with much courtesy and kind­
ness. 

Question.-Was this man sent by the King of Delhi ? 

Answer.-I don't know j but this man's brother, two years before was 
sent as an ambassador with a great number of papers to the Govern~ent 
at Calcutta. . 

Question.-Cannot you give the Court any information relative to Hasan 
Askari's. sending Sidi KaJ?bar to Persia? It is in evidence that you were 
trusted m all matters of Importance, and such as required writing and it 
is believed you know all about the matter now alluded to P • 

Answer.-I solemnly, and feeling myself on oath, declare that I have 
not concealed or misrepresented a single particular. I might have been 
confided in, but still I was a servant j many points of importance were not 
entrusted to me j for instance, when the King wished to repUdiate his wife. 
the Taj Mahall, who was by the caste a Mahomedan Domni, one of the 
lowest orders, land to whom he had been re.united in regular marriage, I was 
not at aU consulted: nor was I acquainted with the intrigues going on to 
secure the succession of Jawan Bakht and other equally important matters. 
I· know nothing of what may have been transacted between the prisoner, 
Hasan Askari and Sidi Kambar. 

Que'tion.-Do you know whether the King, through his adherents, by 
correspondence, or in any manner whatever, kept up any communication 
with native officers or soldiolrs of the Company's army, before the outbreak? 

Answer,-No, I don't know that he did j it is possible there may have 
been a correspondence j but I don't think it is likely there was. 

Question.-Are you aware whether the paper called the "Sadik-ul 
Akhbar," or "Authentic News," was generally perused by the prisoner 
before the outbreak? 

Answer.-He used not to read it regularly, but occasionally some of 
the princes may have communicated a portion of its contents. 

Question.-Did any of the princes appear to take much interest in or 
attach importance to the articles about Persia, and was it generally re­
presented that the English were being defeated by the Persians? 

.d1l8wer.-I never read the paper myself, but I heard it was generally 
represented that the Englis.h were being defe~te~ by. the Persians, and the 
princes moreover attached Importance to thiS mtelligence, and seemed to 
credit it. ' 

Question.-Before the outbreak did the Mahomedans generally beliel-e 
that the reign of the English was coming to an end. and did the princes join 
in propagating this idea? 

Answer.-No, I did not hear of any such belief. 
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Cross-examined by Prisoner. 

Question.-You said that there were 1,200 soldiers. in the King's 
~ervice; describe the uniform o~ the three branches of the King's army, and 
what were the appellations of the differeJjt regiments. 

Answer.-Therewere two regim~nts of infantry 'composed of 500 men 
each; the colour of their uniform was severally black and brown, the turbans 
and waistbands of both being red j there were no devices of ornaments 
about the uniform beyond what was necessary to distinguish the different 
grades. The artillery consisted of about 40 men; their uniform was dark 
blue, the turbans aud waistbands being red; they had no ornaments or 
devices about their dress; the special guard of the prisoner was dressed in 
red coats, with dark blue turbans and waistbands. 

Mrs. Aldwell, wife of Alexander Aldwell, a government pensioner, Examined 
by Judge Advocate. . 

Question.-Were you in Delhi on the 11th of May 1857? 

Answer.-Yes. 

Question.-Where were you residing; and at what time did· you first 
hear that the native troops from Meerut had come to Delhi? 

Answer.-I was· residing in the part of the city known. as Darya-ganj •. 
and I got intimation of the sepoys coming from Meerut between eight and 
nine A. M. on the 11th of May. . 

Question.-Relate all you witnessed on that day? 

Answer.-One of my syces came and told me that the troops had 
mutinied and come from Meerut, and had murdered all the Europeans they 
met with on their way here, and recommended th~t our carriage should at 
once be got !eady ~o take us away, as the soldiers had determined on mut. 
dering all the Europeans in Delhi also. While I was speaking to the man, 
our next door neighbour, Mr. Nowlan, confirmed the report that the syce had 
just brought, and asked if he could speak to Mr. Aldwell. They two consult­
ed together, and as our house was the largest and strongest, it was determined 
that all the Europeans in the neighbourhood should collect there and defend 
themselves as long as they could, or till such time as help should arrive. 
Aftel' that, }Olr. Aldwell and Mr. Nowlan went to the guard at a hospital 
close by. This guard was composed of native infantry sepoys, and Mr. 
Nowlau and Mr. Aldwell asked them whether they would assi~t in defending 
us, adding that the Europeans would, in return, render them all assistance 
that might be in their power. "Go and mind your business, and we will 
mind ours," was the reply given by these sc:;poys. At this time. shortly 
after eight o'clock, the Meerut sepoys had not even crossed the bridge, and 
could not therefore have communicated with this guard. After this the 
Europeans who had: by this time collected in our house began barricading 
the doors. and the women and children were sent np stairs. I think we 
must have numbered. inclusive of men, women and children, upwards of thirty 
people. We then saw the mutineers crossing the bridge at about nine 
o'clock. A good number . of them were cavalry and some infantry: this· 
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portion of the mutineers passed close under the wallsor parapets of our house, 
which is immediately on the bauks of the river, and some of them fired at 
one of the gentlemen who was then on the top of the house. 'l'his body 
then went oft'in the direction of the gaol, with the intention, as we supposed, 
of setting the prisoners free. Shortly after that, we heard they had en .. 
tered the city and were murdering tHe Europeans wherever they met them. 
About this time, one of the city people, a Mahomedan, and a dyer by trade, 
rushed into our grouuds with a drawn sword in his hand, reeking with blood, 
repeating the Kalima* and calling out to know where the Europeans 
were. Mr. Nowlan asked him who and what he was, and on his not re­
plying, shot him dead; This man was the only one who had entered the 
grounds, but then 50 or 60 of his followers, city people, collected at our 
gate About 11 o'clock, a Mrs. Foulon was brought into our house by a 
Mahomedanj she had been severely wounded in the head by some of the 
city people, who had entered and plundered her house. Nothing further 
of consequence happened till about three p. m., when the magazine blew 
up. I then requested Mr. Aldwell to let me and my three children leave 
the house, as the servants told me that the mutineers had gone fur the 
purpose of bringing guns to bear upon it, and I was anxious to obtain con­
cealment elsewhere. Myself and three children then dressed ourselves as 
natives, and left the house in two native doolies, and were taken to the 
residence of one of the King's grandsons, by name Mirza Abdulla. His wife 
and sister received us kindly, for Mr. Aldwell and myself had known the 
f.'l.mily before. We remained there till eight that evening, when Mirza 
Abdulla came and said he would remove us to a bouse of greater security, 
viz., to one belonging to his mother-in-law. He remClved us there, keeping 
some of our property with him, saying it would be dangerous for us to 
take it in the streets, and that I was to send my munshi for it the next 
morning. I accordingly sent my munshi for this property, viz., .200 rupees 
in money, aDd some silver plate; but Mirza Abdulla denied having received 
it, and sent word that if we didn't remove from his mother-in-Iaw's house, 
lie would send people down to murder us; and accordingly that evening, at 
about six o'clock, he sent his uncle and some of his servants te see if we had 
left his house, and if not, to murder us there. I did not see the uncle, but 
1 saw the servants, and they had drawn swords in their hands, when my 
munshi's mother upbraided, saying, «Is this the Mirza's hospitality? 
If this had been his intention, why did he not refuse to receive us? Why 
promise shelter and safety merely for the purposes of murder?" She also 
added, " If tou are determined to kill anyone kill me first; I have eaten 
the Christian's salt, and cannot now see them murdered." She also added 
tauntingly, " By, killing me you will perform a very meritorious action, as 
I am a Syadni, and a Shiah." This was in allusion to the King's family 
being Sunnis, and the sect of Sunnis having originally murdered the sons 
of the prophet, or the Syads. The men replied to her, that if they were to 
do so they would be as bad as infidels; but that they were determined on 
killing all the Christians, and advised all who were not so either to leave 
the house and let them kill us there, or to turn us out of the house,. and 
they would murder us in the street. It was finally permitted to us to re­
main till next morning, on condition of our then leaving. During the 

~ Mahomedan coDfellioD of faith. 
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night, however, my munshi brought my tailor to me, and I asked if be knew 
of any place where he could take and conceal us. He said that be had 
heard that NawahAhmad Ali Khan was sheltering Europeans, and be would 
take us there. He went to get the Nawah's conveyance j but when he re­
turned he said the mutineers had already got information of Europeans 
being concealed in the Nawab's residence, and had brou/tht guns to bear on 
it j but that he would take us to his own house. He did so, and while we 
were there he said that he had heard that several Christians had been" taken 
to the palace, and that the King had guaranteed their lives there, though he 
had put them into confinement j and he advised us, as the safest place, to 
go there. On Wednesday night, at between seven and eight, this tailor and 
one of the cavalry mutineers, by name Kadirdad Khan, escorted us to the 
palace. This trooper had formerly received some kindness from the tailor" and 
on this account agreed to escort us, saying at the time he would not prove 
ungrateful to him, although they had all taken an oath to murder every 
European. On reaching the Lahore Gate of the palace, we were made 
prisoners by some of the King's police stationed there as' a guard. These 
men took us to Mirza Moghal, who ordered us to be confined with the rest of 
the European prisoners then in confinement. We were accordingly taken 
there on.Wednesday night, the 13th of May. As far as' I can guess, I 
should say, men, women, and children included, there were from 46 to 50 
persons imprisoned. Their names, as far as I and my children have been 
able to recollect them, are according to the following list: viz. Mrs. Scully 
and three children, Mrs. Glynn, Mrs. Edwards and two 'children, Mrs. 
Mollony and two children, Mrs. Sheehan and child, Mrs. Corbet and 
daughter, Mrs. Staines, Mrs. Cochrane, Miss Staines, Miss M. Hunt, Miss 
E. Beresford, Miss L. Ryley, Master Richard Shaw, Miss Alice ShaW', Miss 
Ann Shaw, Mr. Roberts and son, Mr. Crow, Mr. Smith. There· was one" 
other man, whose name I don't know, nor can I recollect the names of the 
other women and children. We were all confined in one room, very- dark, with 
only one door, and no window or other opening. It was not tit for the 
residence of any human being, much less for the number of us that were 
there. We were very much crowded together, and in conseqnence of the 
sepoys, and everyone who took a fancy to do so, coming and fl'ightening 
the children, we were obliged frequently to .close the· OM door- that we had, 
which then left us without light or air. The sepoys used to come with their 
muskets loaded and bayonets fixed, and ask ns whether we wonlft consent to 
become Mahomedans, and also slaves, if the King granted us our li'Ves; but the 
King's special armed retainers, from which the gtlard over us was always fur­
nished, incited the sepoys to be content witb.nothing short of our lives, saying 
we should be cnt up in small pieces, and given as food to the: kites and crows. ' 
On Thursday some of the sepoys carne and told the ladies that they intended 
to kill us all by mining and blowing up the palace. We were very indiffer:' 
ently fed j but· on two occasions, the King sent us better food. Nothing 
further of CO::l.sequence occurred till Friday afternoon, when one of the King's 
special servants asked one of the ladies (I think it was Mrs. Staines) if the 
English were ever restored to power, how they wonld· treat them j and she 
replied, «Jnst as you have treated our husbands and chiIJren." The next 
morning, between eight and nine o'clock, viz. on Saturday, the 16th of May, 
the whole party of the Europeanst w.ith exception of myself, three children ... 
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and an old·native Mahomedan woman,who had been confined with us for 
giving food and water to some Christians, were taken out and murdered. 

Question.-How do yo";' know that these people were all murdered, 
and how was it that an exception was made in favour of yourself and children? 

4nswer.-Before leaving my tailor's house, I had a petition written ad­
dressed to the King, and was taking it myself in hopes of seeing the King, 
and being .able to present it to him in person j but when I was taken pri­
soner by the guard at the Lahore Gate, the men composing it took the pa­
per from me: in it I had stated that myself and children were from Cashmere 
and were Mussulmanis. On this account we had our food given to us sepa­
rately, and the King's own servants evidently believed we were M ussulmanis 
as they ate and drank with us. Since the outbreak on Monday, I had learnt 
and had taught my children the Mahomedan confession of faith, and 1Ie 
were all able to repeat it. It was from believing us Mussulmanis that our 
lives were spared. On the morning of the 16th of May some of the King's 
special servants., attended by a small number of infantry sepoys, came and I 

called out to our party that the Christians were to come out of the buildillg, 
and -that the five Mahomedans were to remain. The women and children 

.- --began crying, saying they knew they were going to be murdered.; but, the 
Mahomedans swore on the Kuran, and the Hindus on the J umna, that sucb 
was not the case; that they wanted to give them a better residence, and that 
the one they were in would be converted into a magazine. On this they 
went out, were counted, but I do not know the number ; a rope was thrown 
round to encircle the whole group, the same as prisoners are usually kept 
together when on the move ;!Lnd in this manner they were taken out of 
my sight, and, as I heard, brought under the pipal tree by the small re­
servoir in the courtyard, and tuere murdered with swords by the ..King's 
pl·ivateservants. None of the sepoys took part in killin~ them. The plli­
vilege, for it was so considered, of murdering them was pr ·1.':ularly reserv­
ed for the King's own servants, as it was believed by them that the killing 
an infidel would ensure them a place in paradise. I was told of this at the 
time by the wife of a sweeper, and afterwards, when residing in Delhi during 
the whole time of the rebellion, frequently heard this circumstance confirm­
ed .. Two guns were fired immediately after the massacre had been completed, 
and I was then informed that this was intended as a token of joy. About 
an hour after the massacre, an old man who used to be known as the Mufti 
Sahib came and said to the King's private servants who were guarding us 
that he wanted to see the five prisoners who had been saved. He told us 
that our lives had been spared, and told the King's servants to conduct us 
to some place of safety, but on no account, to do it during the day, as the 
sepoys or city people might murder us. (1 may mention that some of them 
had suspicion of our being Christians.) In the evening we were taken 
back to my tailor's house, and the following Tuesday we were again made 
prisoners by the police officer of the quarter where we were hiding. 'Ve 
were brought as prisoners before Mirza Moghal. The police officer in­
formed him that we were Christians in disguise, and he gave orders that 
we should be executed j but the sepoys of the 88th prevented thi. being carried 
into effect, saying they would take us. We were then taken and confined 
in Captain Douglas' apartments, where we were kept in confinement till the 
day after the battle of the Hindan, when we were released by the 88th 



!rRIAL OF EX·XING· OF .DELID. . 145 

sepoys. When the sepoys, who ·returned defeated on that occasion; came 
back to the city, the men began talking despondingly, saying they would 
have no chance against the English. The Hindu sepoys especially upbraided 
the Mahomedans, saying, "This is your first engagement with the English; 
is this the way you intend to fight for your faith?" They also already 
spoke in terms of much regret of the turn that affairs had taken, reproach­
ed the Mahomedans for having deceived them on pretences of their religion. 
and seemed to doubt greatly whether the English Government had really 
had any intention of interfering with their caste. Great numbers of the 
Hindu sepoys at this time de.clared that if they could .be sure their lives 
would be spared, they would gladly go hack to the service of the Government, 
but the Mahomedans, on the contrary, .used to assert that the King's ser­
vice was m.uch better than that of the English, that the Nawabs and Rajahs 
would supply the King with large forces, and they must eventually conquer. 

Question.--During your stay in ·the city"of Delhi, had you any oppor­
tunity of observing that there was a marked difference between the bearing 
·of the Mahomedans generally, and that of the Hindus in reference to the 
rebellion? 

Answer.---Yes, the Mahomedans always seemed glad that the mutiny 
had taken place, and duringthe Muharram festival, I heard the Mahome­
dan women praying, and teaching their children to pray for the success 
of their faith, and these prayers were generally accompanied by execrations 
against the English. 

Question.-Had the Mussulmansand Hindus any quarrels or discus­
sions among themselves on the score ·of religion when they were in Delhi 
together? 

Answer.-I think when the troops first came,the Hindus m.ade the 
King promise that there should be no oxen killed in the city, and this 
promise was kept. I believe that not a single ox was killed in Delhi 
during the whole time of the rebellion. On the festival of the Bah-Eed, 
when the Mahomedans usually slaughter an ox, a. disturbance was expected; 
but the lfahollledans refrained from doing so on this occasion. On the 
morning of the 9th of September, I effected my escape from Delhi in native 
disguise. and, accompanied by my three children and two servants, reached 
Meerut. 

Examined by Court. 

Question.-From. what has' come to your knowledge, do you believe 
. that any European females were treated with great insult and indignity, 
either by the native soldiery or populace of Delhi ? 

Answer.-Yes. 

Mr.· C. B. Saunders, Officiating Commissioner and Agent to the 
Lieutenant-governor, Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Can you give the Court any information as to the circum­
stances under which the Kings of Delhi became subjects and pensioners 
of the British Government in India? , 
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Answer.-Shah Alam, Emperor of Delhi, after having his eyes put 
out, and having suffered every indignity from the hands of Ghulam Kadir 
fell into the hand~ of the. Mahratta~ in the year. 1788. The Empero~ 
although vested wlth nommal authorlty over the Clty of Delhi, was kept 
in confinement more or less rigorous, until the year 1803, when 
General Lake having seized Aligarh, marched with the British troops· 
against Delhi. The ~Iahratta army drawn out at Patpanganj, six miles 
from Delhi, was attacked by General Lake, and utterly routed. The city 
and fort having been evacuated by the Mahrattas, the Emperor Shah Alam 
sent a message to General Lake, applying for the protection of the British 
authorities, and on the 14th of September, the date since rendered more 
memorable by the successful assault in 1857, the' British troops entered 
Delhi: from that time the kings of Delhi have become pensioned ~ubjects or 
the British Government, and have exchanged the state of rigorous confine­
ment in which they were held by the ,Mahrattas, to one of more lenient 
restraint under the British rule. The prisoner succeeded to the titular 
sovereignty of Delhi in 1837. He had no power whatever beyond the pre­
cincts of his own palace j he had the power of conferring titles and dresses 
of honour upon his own immediate retainers, but was prohibited from exer­
cising that power on any others. He and the heir afParent alone were ex­
empted from the jurisdiction of the Company's local courts, but were under 
the orders of the Supreme Government. 

Question.-Was there any limit to the number oCthe prisoner's armed 
retainers? 

Answer.-The prisoner requested Lord Auckland to be permitted to 
entertain as many men in his service as he thought proper. The Governor­
General, in reply, accorded permission to his entertaining as many men as he 
could payout of the income allotted to him. 

Question.-Can you state the amount of pension granted by the Go­
vernment to the prisoner at the time of the outbreak? 

Answer.-He was in .receipt of a stipend of one lakh of rupees per 
mensem, of which 99,000 rupees were paid at Delhi, and 1,000 at Lucknow, 
to the members of his family there. He also was in receipt of revenue to­
the amount of I! lakhs of rupees per annum .. from the Crown lands in the 
neighbourhood of Delhi. He also received a considerable sum from ground­
rents of houses aItd tenemeuts in the city ?f Delhi. 

The prisoner declines to cross-examine. 

Major Paterson, 54th Native Infantry, Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Were YOll in Delli on the II th oflast May? 

Answer.-Yes. 

Question.-Relate what'you witnessed on that occasion? 

Answer.-There w~ a parade on the mo.ruing of the 11th, for the 
purpose of hearing some order read, and it passed off as usual without any­
thing occurring to point suspicion of any outbreak being at hand j but 
about nine o'clock the regiment was ordered to parade for the purpose of 
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'Proceeding to the bridge of boats over the Jumna, to prevent some mutineers 
ef the 3rd Cavalry from crossing, it being then understood that these 
men were on their way frC!m Meerut. Arriving on parade, I was ordered 
by the late Colonel Ripley to take two companies, my own (the Grenadiers) 
a.nd No.1, for the purpose of escorting a couple of guns down. The 
Colonel directed me to proceed in'the first instance to Captain De Teissier's 
house for orders, that being on the road down, and Captain De Teissier told 
me to take my companies to the Sudder Bazar, and wait till the guns came. 
I was there for about three-quarters of an hour, and the guns not coming, I 
sent my subaltern, Lieutenant Vibart, to ascel'tain the reason of the delay, 
:and to save time I proceeded with my two companies in direction ofthe bridge 
thinking the guns would overtake me. Lieutenant Vibart rejoined me half 
'Way, saying that the native gunners were just t~ning out, but that the guns 
would now come up immediately. They joined me when I was It miles from 
"the bridge. On our arriving within about 100 yards· of the Cashmere Gate, 
I was met by Captain· Wallace, 74th·Native Infantry, field officer of the week, 
who requested me to hasten in as fast as I could, as the cavalry mutineers had 
arrived, and had shot down all the officers of the 54th Native Infantry. I 
-immediately ordered the two companies to load, and while this WIIS being done, 
Colonel Ripley came out of' the Cashmere Gate, wounded in several places, 
.and supported by the fife-major. I then marched on expecting to meet the 
mutineers, but there was not one to be seen,-not even a sepoy of the eight 
·companies of the 54th Nativelnfantry that had gone in advance with Colonel 
Ripley,-but merely the usual main guard of 50 men of the 38th Native 
Infantry under Lieutenant Proctor. Captain Wallace told me that these 
men of the 38th had seen Colonel Ripley cut down within a few yards of them 
by the cavalry troopers; and though he urged. them to rescue him, not a man 
.attempted to do so. ':I.'he sepoys of the 54th must, of course, have behaved in 
an equally shameful manner. I saw the following officers lying dead in the 
{)pen space to the west of the church, viz. Captain Smith, Captain Burrows, 
Lieutenant Edwards, and Lieutenant Waterfield, and also the serjeant­
major, all of the 54th Native Infantry. Having placed the guns in position 
and sentries at the different points, I proposed to Lieutenant Vibart that 
we should go and bring in the bodies of the officers; the sepoys of the 
companies advised us not to do so just yet, as the troopers were about 
and looking out for officers. The sepoys said they would do it, as they would 
not be touched; they did not, however, do so at this time. Shortly after 
this, we were joined by the Adjutant, Lieutenant Osborn, and Lieutenant 
Butler, who had been wounded by the city people. Ensign Angelo also 
joined us, and everything at this time was perfectly quiet· at the Cashmere 
Gate; but about 12, a sepoy of the light company came to me and said that 
the havildar major had sent him to ask where the regiment was to go. I then 
inquired where it was, .and he told me at Sabzi Mandi; that on the troopers 
shooting down the officers, the men had run away and assembled there. 
I directed him to go and order them up to the Cashmere Gate. They came 
up without any European officer, and the havildar major told me that tlley 
had been followed the whole way by some of the troopers who were inciting 
them to join ill the mutiny. After this the officers, assisted by some of the 
sepoye, went and brought in the bodies above mentioned. We were now 
joined bv the 74th under Major Abbot, and also a couple of guns of Captain 
De Tessier's. battery. I think it was about this time, 2 p. m'J that we heard 
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heavy firing in th!, direction of the magazine, which ~ontinued till about half'­
past three, when It was blown up. I forgot to mentlon that on my arrival at 
the Cashmere Gate, Mr. ' Galloway came and asked me to strengthen his 
guard at the treasury, which I did. Lieutenant Willoughby joined us, hav­
ing made his escape from the magazine, when he told us how he and the few 
Europeans with him had defended it, and of the King having in the morning 
sent down men to take possession of it, and that this being refused, scaling 
ladders had been sent down at two o'clock, according to a threat given them. 
We remained at the Cashmere Gate till about five o'clock, when all of a 
sudden. as I was standing near the outer Cashmere Gate, a volley was fired, 
which passed close in front of me, killing Captain Gordon and Lieutenant 
Revely of the 74th, and wounding Lieutenant Osborn of the 54th. A sepoy 
of the light company then put his arm on my shoulder and told me I had 
better go or I should be shot down; and seeing it was useless to remain, the 
sepoys of the 54th being nn longer under control, I went out and was joined by 
an officer of the 74th. We were going down to the flag-staff by the 
main road, but the sepoy of the light company (the only one who stood 
by me) recommended me going off the road through the several compounds, 
the main road not being safe. We did so, and on. reaching the flag-staff I 
reported to Brigadier Graves all that I had noticed. There were two guns 
and about 300 of the 38th Native Infantry at this time with Brigadier 
Graves, who, as far as I could perceive, were still obeying orders; but I was 
not there more than 15 minutes when, a retreat was determined on, th~ men 
of the 38th saying they would retreat with us wherever we went. They fell 
in, marched down the hill, took the . road through cantonments; but on 
getting near their lines went off by ones and twos to their huts, and on 
my asking them what they were going to do, said they were going to 
drink water. Thev, took off their arms and accoutrements, and in fact went 
off together. On 'seeing this I went to my own quarter guard. This was 
about half-past seven. I endeavoured to persuade the guard to come' along 
with me, and remained talking to them for about half an hour, and at last 
the havildar-major and two sepoys agreed to accompany me. 'Ve then 
started off, but lost our way during the night, and found ourselves not more 
thau four miles from Delhi in the morning. I remained three days in the 
vicinity of the ice-pits, about three miles from the city. The havildar and 
one of the sepoys left me the first morning, under the pretence of bringing 
me food; the other left me the next day, and I finally made my escape, 
assisted by a fakir, to Karnaul. 

, 
Question.-From what 'yOll observed of your own men on the 11th of 

~Iay, or any time immediately preceding it, do you think the sepoys of the 
54th Native Infantry had been apprised of the coming of the mutineers from 
Meerut before they were generally known to be near? 

Answer.-Not from anything that I observed 011 the 11th, or previous 
to it; but I now am convinced, from their whole conduct on that day, as 
well as from information I have since received, that they knew generally 
what was going to occur. Lieutenant Vibart, in September last, told me 
that the subadar-major of the regiment, Shekh Imam Baksh, had stated to 
the late Captain Russell that men had been in our lines two months before 
tbe 11th of May, coming and going away, and instigating the sepoys to rebel-
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lion. Captain Russell waS killed at Badli-ka-Serai on the 8th of June last J­
the subadar-major is, I believe, still at Meerut), and it was there, after th~ 
outbreak, that I imagine Captain Russell got-this information from him. 

Mukund Lal, Secretary to the ex-King of Delhi, Examined· by Judge 
Advocate. 

. Question.-Do you know anyfhing concerning the origin. (If the late 
rebellion in the native army? . 

Answer.-The King of Dehli has for some two years been disaffected 
against the Government, and w,as disposed not to respect his obligations to 
the English. The particulars are as follows :-when Mirza Haidar Shikoh 
and Mirza Murid, sons of Mirza Khan Baksh, son' of Mirza Sulaiman Shiloh, 
came here from Lucknow, they, in concert with Hasan Askari, arrange.d 
and suggested to the King that he should have a letter prepared and des­
patched to the King of Persia. This letter, they suggested, should repre­
sent that the English had made the King a prisoner, and had put a stod 
to all those marks of respect to which, as King, he was entitled, and hat 
suspended the appointment of an heir-apparent. It was further to represend 
that his wishes in reference to the appointment of any paTticular son as 
heir-apparent were not attended to. Under these' circumstances, the letter 
was to request that such an understanding might be established that 
mutllal interchanges of visits and letters might be the result. Sidi Kam­
bar, who was one of the King's special armed retainers, was presented with 
100 rupees, through Mahbub Ali Khan, for the expenses of his journey, and 
was ' despatched in the direction of Persia, with a letter that had been 
prepared. in the King's private secretariat office. After this, Mirza Haidar 
and his brother returned to Lucknow, and having d,~spatched his brother, 
Mirza Najaf, a distant relation of the King, with Mirza Bulaki, son o( 
Mirza Musharraf-ud-din, son of Mirza Agba Jan, to :Persia, reported the 
same to the King in Wl·iting. It is now about three years since some infantry 
soldiers stationed at Delhi became the disciples of the 'King through Mirza 
Ali, whose duty it was to receive and present all pet.itions, and also through 
Hamid Khan Jemadar: and on that occasion the King gave each of them a 
documeut detailing the names and order of those who had preceded llim in. 
the direct line, disciples to each other, himself included, together with a nap­
kin dyed pillk as an emblem of his blessing. The agent of the Lieutenant­
Governor hearing of this occurrence, inquired regarding it, and for the fu­
ture prohibited the king's making any more of tIle men of the army his dis­
ciples. It may b.e said that from that day a sort of understand'ng was estab. 
'lished between the army and the Killg. Some 20 days bef<,re the com­
mencement of the late rebellion, intelligence was J'ccei'ed 1Iere that the 
troops at l\ieemt were about breaking out in .open mutiny, but i~ had nOl­
been heard tlmt they were to come here. When the trtO[;el"s arnved, they 
1irstcame under the palace ,windows, and tqld the King that they had come 
to him after killing all the English at Meemt, .flond that they would slay 
im~cdiately those that were here; and they further ~aid that they would, 
for' the future, consider the prisoner their King, and that now th~re was not 
an Englishman left in all India..--.-all had been slain. 'lhey fUl'ti:er said the 
whole army would obey . the King's orders. 'l'he King said that if they had 
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.a disposition to come, that they should prepare themselves for all conle· 
quences, and if they were so prepared, they were at liberty to come and. 
take the management of matters into their hands. While this disturbance 
was going on, these traitors got into the city; the spedal armed retainers 
joined. them, and Kadir Dad Khan, a )'esident of Cabu], Flew the resident, 
M. l"raser, while some of the infantry soldiers, with otllers of t]le King's re." 
tainers, went to'the apartments of the commandant of the palace guards, 
and slew him there. After that tlle English were killed all about 
the city wherever they were met with. 'I'he same day proclamation was 
made by beat of drum throughout the city, that God was the Ruler 
of the World, and that Balladur Shah was sovereign of the country, 
and had the supreme authority. The next day, the 12th, when the 
troops from Meerut and tllose at De]hi had coalesced, the King took 
his seat on the throne, a salute of guns was fired, and Mahbub Ali Khan, 
the minister, was ordered to give the whole army a feast. Accordingly they 
were all supplied with confectionary, the native officers receiving in addition 
a present in money. Former]y a silver throne had been kept in the Hall 
of Special Audience, on which the King used to take his seat on special 
state occasions; but sillce the year 1842, the presentation of the usual 
offering by the agent of the Lieutenant-Governor on occasion of interviews 
and salutes was di.allowed. 'I'his throne was then removed and placed in 
a recess in the passage below tIle King's sitting-room, and since that time 
was in disuse till the 12th of 1\1ay, when it was brought O\1t again, and the 
King took his seat on it, as on a throne. 

Question.-Before the 11th of May, were any proposals Bent by the 
army to the King? 

AnsweJ·.-I don't know whether any direct proposals came to the 
prisoner, but the King's personal attendants sittiug about the entrance to 
his private appartments, used to converse among themselves, aud Bay that 
very soon, almost immediately, tIle army would revolt and come to the 
palace, when the GO"ernment of tIle King would be re-established, and all 
the old servants would be gre,atly promoted and advanced in position and 
emoluments. 

Question.-Who were the personal attendants of the King who used to 
tal~ in this way? 

Answer.-Basa'llt Ali Kha1t, and the whole body of them. 

Question.-How many day's previous to the outbreak were they talking 
in this way? . 

Answer.-Four days. 

QuesJion.-According to your statement, jt appean that Mirza Haidar 
Sllikoh took.part in the consultation relative to the correspondence witb 
Per .. ia; but it is kiiown that the King complained against Mirza Haidar 
Shikoh for having calumniated him at Lucknow; how do you explain this. 

ATlswer.-This was merely a deception adopted al a precaution against 
the chance of the true state of affairs coming to light, so that .hould such 
happen it might be brought forward as proof that there could be no com­
bination, but on the contrary dissensioa between the two partiel • 

• 
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.Question.-'By whose orders were the .ladies and children that" were 
prisoners in the palace murdered? 

.Answer.-l'hese people were being collected for tlnee days: on the 
fourth day, the infantry aud cavalry soldiers, accompanied by Mirza M:oghal, 
came to the entrance of the King's private apartments, and requested the 
King's permission to kill them. The King was at this time in his OWn 
apartments: Mirza Moglial and Basant Ali Khan weut inside while the 

• soldiery remained without: they returned ill about 20 minutes, when Basant 
Ali Khan publicly and in a loud voice. proclaimed that the King had given his 
permission for the slaughter of the prisoners, and that they couM take them 
away: accordingly the King's armed retainers, in whose custody the prison­
ers had been, took them from the place of confinement, and ill conjunctiol} 
with Borne of the mutinous soldiery, killed them. 

Question.-Do you know anything further? 

.tfnswer.-After the fighting had commenced, whoever bt:ought in the' 
head of an European soldier, or officer, received a reward of two rupees. 

Qufstion.-On any occasion was any soldier or officer taken prisoner, 
and brought in alive? 

Answer.-No. 

Qi.testion.-Previous to this outbreak; had the M'ahomedans entered 
into any conspiracy or combination to bring about this insurrection? -

Answer.-When the mutineers arrived here, the Mahomedans joined 
them at once :·-is it not to be inferred from this that some combination' must 
have previously existed between them ?-but it was only the lower and not' 
the higher orders that joined them. 

Question.-Can you Dame any men among the hilrher classes of the 
l\:lahomedans that did Dot join in rebellipn against the British Government? 
the King and all the princes most certainly did so . 

.Answer.-My former answer was in allusion to th~ day of the outbreak, 
and not to anything' which occurred subsequently. 

Question.-Who were the persons that were admitted to the private 
confidential conferences with the KiDg ? . ' 

Answer.-Mahbub Ali Khan, an eunuch and prime minister, Hasan 
Askari the priest, Zinat MallaU, the favourite queen, Nani Begnrn,· the 
prisoner's daughter, Agha Begam, another daughter of the prisoner, nrd 
Ashraf.un-nissa, one of the King's wives, and when there was a necessity 
for anything being written, it: was doue by the King's special se cretaria 
office under the direction of the physician Ahsan Ulla Khan, and a person' 
who was by caste a Kayasth, but had the same name as myself, viz:-
Mukund Lal. .. . . 

Question.-Persian papers Nos. 2, 3, and 4, arranged under tIle henel' ~ 
of ff Murder," are shown to. witness, and he ,is asked if he recognize. 
the handwriting of them? 
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AnsWer.""'-I do not. They may have been written in the new office set 
up by Subadar Bakht Khan; one of his writers, a moulavy, used to prepare 
the papers and bring them to have the King's seal affixed. 

Question.-Were you never admitted to the private confidential confer­
ences of the King? • 

Answer.-No. 

Question.-How, then, did yon become aware of what you have related 
in reference to the mission to Persia -; 

Answer.-I used to remain in attendance on Mahbub Ali Khan, the 
minister. . I was a servant of the King, but was attached especially to the 
service of Mahbub Ali Khan .. and used to hear some su bjects of confidence 
from him. 

• Question.-.Was it generally supposed in the palace that Hasan Askari 
had great influence with the King? 

AnS1oer.-Yes, not only in the palace, but throughout the city also, 
it was known that Hasan Askari, the priest, and Mahbub Ali 'Khan, exer­
cised the greatest influence over the King. 

Question.-Was not one olthe daughters of the King a disciple of 
Hasan Askari, and was either of the two you have mentioned as admitted 
t.o the confidential conference the one allnded to ? 

Answer.-A daughter of the King's, named Nawab 13egam, the wife of 
:MIrza Zaman Shah, had become a disciple of Hasan Askari, but she died II 
years ago; the other two I have named did Dot professedly become his dis­
ciples, but they always avowed great faith in his sanctity. . 

Question.- Did the prisoner on .any occasion go out of tIle palace for 
the purpose of encoo/aging the troops to fight against the English? 

Answer.-Yes, two days after the assanlt, viz. on the 16th September, 
he went in an open litter in the direction of the magazine, at the head of 
the army; but had scarcely proceeded 200 yards beyond the palace, when 
he halted for an hour, and then returned~ the army in the meantime dis­
persing. 

Question ........ Do you know what induced the prisoner to baIt after pro­
ceeding so short a distance, and to what was it generally attributed? 

Aliswer.-He had gone out with the army in order to dislodge tIle 
British from the city; .when the troops became engaged, he stayed to 
eDcourage them. 

Question.-Did the King habitually peruse the paper called the It Sadik­
ul.Akhbar" ? 

Answer.-I can't say 81 to hi"al'll'sys reading it; but this paper and 
others used to come to him? 
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.' Queltion.-Was there more than usual agitation and excitement . among 
the M ussulmans of Delhi against the British rule some few months before 
the outbreak? . 

Answer.-I don't know. 

Question.-Were you in the habit of reacIiDg the" Authentic News," 
the" Sadik-ul-Akhbar ?U 

Answer.-No, I never read it. 

Examined by Court. 

Question.-'Were any persons of the Hindu faith admitted to the private 
confidential conferences of the pI'isoner, except Mukund Lal Kayasth? 

Answer.-No, no other Hindu was so trusted. 

Question.-Are you aware whether any emissaries were despatched froni 
Delhi, after the outbreak, to induce the native regiments that had not at 
that time revolted, to come and join the mutineers in Dehli ? 

Answer.-I don't know. 

Captain Tytler, 38th Native Infantry, Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Were you in Dehli on the 10th of May last? 

Answer.-Yes. 

Question.-Did you on that day Sfe or bear any carriage, such as is 
used for travelling pos~, go into the lines of your regiment; if so, state all 
he circumstances ? 

Answer.-Yes, about 3 P. M. on Sunday tne 10th of May, I heard a 
bugle, and the sQund of call'iage wheels pass my door. This being very unusual 
where I resided, I told a servant of mine to run out and !'ee if anyone 
was coming to my house. He went and returned immediately, and 
said it was a call'iage with natives going towards the lines. My house 
being a corner one, the carriage was obliged to pass three sides of the 
grounds i so before it passed a second side, I. directed the Ilame servant 
to run to the lines and give my salaam to the subadar major of tbe 
regiment, and say I wanted to see him, for it occurred to me that 
he and the other native officers of my regiment who had been to Meerut 
on court martial duty, must be returning in this carriage. The ser­
vant returned shortly afterwards, Rnd said, there are a great number of 
l!.atl'ves in the carriage from Meerut, but none belonging to our regiment, 
by which I distinctly understood he alluded to soldiers. 

Question.-What did you witness on the 11th of May? 

Answer . ..:....On the morning of the 11th of May, I think about nine 
o'clock, one of 'my servants rushed into the room, and said, Lieutenant 
Holland had sent over to say that troops were marching on Delhi. I put 
on my uniform and went over to him~ He joined me, and we then went 
together to Lieutenant Gambier,the Adjutant, where we met Colonel Knyvett, 
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commanding the regiment, Captain Gardner and the brigade-major, Captaid 
Nicoll, and I then learnt that -mutineers were marching from Meerut on to 
Delhi j and I wa~ordered ~o proceed at once to t~le lines, and take my own 
company along wlth Captam Gardner's, completmg them to - the strength 
of 200 men, with the usual allowance of ammunition in pouch j I was then 
ordered to proceed to a house on the ridge above the new powder magazine 
outside the city, and to be very particular that no body of men crossed 
over from the opposite side of the river. Captain Gardner and I went im­
mediately to the lines j we found the men of our companies rather excited, 
and it was wit~ some slight difficulty that we succeeded in completing each 
of our compames to 100 strong. A slight delay now took place in serving 
out the ammunition, and after sending repeatedly to the magazine to 
ascertain the cause, I went myself, and the khalassies said, If What call 
we do ? the sepoys about here who have come for ammunition are quarrelling 
and squabbling with us abont the cartridges and caps, and we cannot give 
either without counting them!' I hurried the work and returned to the 
company. When the cartridges and caps were being served out, many of the 
men seized more bundles than they were entitled to j therefore, to prevent 
further delay at the time, I had these men marked, that I might pnnish 
them afterwards. Captain Gardner also remarked to me that the men of 
hiM company showed the lame anxiety to secure more ammunition than they 
were entitled to~ The order was now given to the companies to march_ 
:Both Captain Gardner and myself remarked the excited manner in which 
the men left the lines, shouting vehemently every now and then, and 
which neither of us could prevent. I wish here to record a circumstance 
that occurred 'on the morning of the 11th, but which I have omitted 
mentioning. There was a brigade parade that morning to hear the­
sentence of a general court martial read regarding a native officer,. 
Ishwari Pande, at Barrackpore, when I remarked a murmur of disap­
probation throughout the whole regiment. 'l'hough it lasted but a few 
seconds, it struck me forcibly as something extraordinary, never having' 
witnessed anything like it before. Whcn we arrived at the house over 
the magazine, I placed sentries at different points which commanded the 
bend of the river. The rest of the men, after piling arms, I took into­
the house j it was a very bot day, and as some of our men had procur­
ed water melons and some sweetmeats, th~y brought them to us, and 
insisted on our partaking of th~m, both Captain Gardner and myself 
remarked the great attention our men were paying us. In the meantime­
we were called out t:> see fires that were every now and then appearing 
in the city. Shortly after this, we heard a report of cannon. All this. 
we could not account for. Captain Gardner remarked to me how lucky 
it was that our men seemed so well disposed, as we were convinced that 
there was something serious going on in the city, particularly as 
we remembered the fires that had broken out in Ambala and other 
places. We now remarked that our men were forming small groups 
in the heat of the 8un. I ordered them to come in, and not expose 
themselves thus. They said, <t We like being in the Bun" I ordered 
them in again. When - I went into one of the rooms, I remarked, 
for the first time, a native, from his appearance IP, soldier, haranguing 
the men of tbe companies, and saying that every power or governmen~ 
existed their allotted time, and that it was nothing extraordinary that 
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that of the English had come to an end, according to what had been 
predicted !n t?eir nat~ve books. Before I could make a prisoner of him, 
the magazme In the CIty exploded, and then the men of the two companies 
with .a .tremend~us. ~hou~ t~ok ?p their. ~rms and ran off to the city; 
exclrummg, "Pnthzvz Ral KI Jaa ," or " VIctory to the Sovereign of the 
World." 

, Question.:-Did you notice anything before the lOth of May, that led 
;you to suppose that the sepoys of your regiment were disaffected? 

Answer.-No. 

Question.-Did any other circnmstance come to your notice from which 
you might infer that a disturbance at Dehli had been expected before it 
broke out? 

Answer.-Yes, one of myoId servants, a man who had been about 26 
years in our family, was about this time going on leave, and when I urged 
him particularly to return, he on several occasions, with a sorrowful ex­
pression, said, "Yes, sir, provided your hearth is still in existence," that is, 
provided you and your family are in a condition to give me service. He 
made use of these expressions about a week or 10 days before the out­
break. He left me about this time, and I have not seen or heard from him 
since. 

Serjeant Fleming, late Bazar Sergeant at Delhi, Examined by J'udgeAdvocate. 

Question.-Was vour son some time before the outbreak here in May 
last in the habit of riding and exercising the· horses of the prisoner's son 
Jawan Bakht? 

Answer.-Yes, he had done 80 for five or six years. 

Question.-What was the age of your son? 

Answer.-He was about 19. 

Question.-A short time before the outbreak, did he complain to you of 
any language used to him by the prisoner's son J awa~ Bakht • . 

Answer.-In the latter end of the month of April 1857, he came from 
Mr. Fraser's office, where he used to write, and told me that he had that 
day gone in the morning to the prime minister's house as usual, and had 
there seeu the prisoner's son, J awan Bakht, who resided in that quarter, and 
that this Jawan Bakht had then told him that he was not to come again j 

that he did not like to see the face of an English infidel, and that before 
many days be would have them all killed and under his feet. Jawan Bakht 
tben spit at him. My son told 1\1 r. Fraser of it at tbe time, but Mr. Fraser 
replied that he was a fool, and was not to listen to s?ch D~n~ense. After 
tbis as far as I recollect, about tbe 2nd of May, the prIme mlDlster sent for 
my ~on, to pay llim up, and on this occasion again, the prisoner's son; 
Jawan Bakbt abused bim still more, saying he would have bis head off in a 
few days. This, . son, of mine was· killed' in the' place here during, the 
rebellion. 
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Captain .lI1a~tineau, of the 10th Native Inlant1'y, Examined by Judge 
Advocate. 

. Question.-Were you at Ambala from .ranuary till May 1857, as instruc-
tor of musketry at the depat there? 

Answer.-Yes, I was. 

Question.-Did a detachment of sepoys from every native regiment in 
India attend at this depat for the purpose of receiving instruction lU 

musketry ? 

Answer.-Not from every native regiment, but five men from 44 of the 
native regiments attended. 

, Question . ...,..Had you any conversation with these men relative to some 
cbapaties that were circulated to different villages in these districts before 
the outbreak? 

Answer.-Yes, I had frequent conversations with various sepoys on this 
subject. I asked them what they understood in reference to them, and by 
whom they supposed that they were circulated j they described them to me 
as being in size and shape like ship biscuits, and believed them to have been 
distributed, by order of Government through the medium of their servants, 
for the purpose of intimating to the people of Hindustan that they should 
be all compelled to eat the same food j and that was considered as a token 
that they would likewise be compelled to embrace one faith, or, as they 
termed it~ " ol?-e food and one faith!' 

Question.-As far as you could understand, was this idea generally 
prevalent among all the eepoys of the various detachments at the depat ? 

Answer.-It was prevalent, as far as I could judge, among all the sepoys 
of every regiment that furnished a detachment to the depat at Ambala. 

Question.-Was there any report of the Government having mixed 
ground bones with flour for the purpose of having it distributed to the sepoys, 
and so destroying their caste? • 

Answer.-Yes, I first heard of this in the month of March. It was 
told me that all the flour retailed from the Government depats for the sup­
ply of troops ou the March was so adulterated. 

Question.-Do you think the sepoys generally firmly believed in this? 

Answer.-I have seen correspondence from various men wlJich the 
sepoys of the dep~t voluntarily placed in my hands, the writers of which, 
themselves sepoys, evidently believed that such was the case. 

Question.-Did the sepoys ever speak to you about any other cause of 
~omplaint or points on which they sought information? 

Answer.-Thcir cOI)lplaint or rather fear wi. this. They apprehended 
that Government was going forcibly to deprh·e them of their caste. 
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Question.-Did any of them ever speak about Government interference 
regarding the re-marriage of Hindu widows? 

Answer.-Yes, they alluded to that as an inv.asion of their social 
l·ights. 

Question.-Did any of thezy. refer to the annexation cf, Oudh, as a. 
measure indicating that Government wished to annihilate all the .native 
independent states? 

Answer.-At Ambala the subject was occasionally alluded to, as if it 
were not agreeable to them; but subsequently at Karnaul some troopers of 
the 3rd Cavalry, ,about a week after the mutiny, on my speaking to them 
about the revolt of their comrades, said to me, "You have conquered and 
absorbed everything in Hindustan, you have no more foreign countries to 
take, and now you have ,determined upon a crusade' agains~,our religion 
and our faith." I was on duty as commissariat officer at Kurnaul Itt this 
time, alld the men of the 3rd Cavalry, to whom I 3Uuding, were those that 
have remained faithful. 

Question . ..-Did you ever hear any of the sepoys speak complainingly 
of the efforts of English missionaries to convert natives to Christianity? 

Answer.-No, never in my life; I don't think they cared one bit about 
it. 

Queslion.-Were the cartridges which the sepoys were,callcd on to use 
at the dep~t at Ambala in any way greased P 

Answer.-No, not as issued from :the maga:/lines. They 'Were not 
allowed to touch any that had been greased rrevious to distdbution; they 
greased their own cartridges with a composition of Oki, that is, clarified 
butter, and bees' wax j these materials they th.exnselves }:urchased from 
natives, whenever they pleased to get them, 

Queslion.-Did you observe any differenca in making complaints abput 
forcible deprivation of their religion between the Hindus and Mussulmans ? . 

. Answer.-Yes, as far the cartridge question went the Mahomedan sepoYI! 
laughed at it j it was only the HindWl that made the complaints in referenc;:e 
to losing caste j but in regard to those who spoke of the annexation' of 
Oudh /!os a grieva.ncc, I can't !lay whether they wer~ 1tbhomedans OJ! 

'not, 

Examined by Court, 

. Queation.-Did you observe anything : peculiar in the oonduct of the 
sepoys under your com:mand previous to the outbrea.k, or any intimation of 
what was about to tlj.ke:'place? 

Answer.-Yes, they told me'in plain language that there would he an 
outbreak .;and there was.every evidence of it in nightly fires at AII).bala, 
The first fire comlI}enced on the very day we fired the first Enfield cartridge, 
and continued nearly nightly up to the 10th of May. W 6 commenced using 
the Enfiliid cartridges on the 17th of April; the men themselves ~emarke(l 

• 
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.that although Government offered large rewards to anyone who would give 
information of the incendiaries, yet no one was found to do 86' and that 
this was a certain ~ign, of general dissatisfaction and some' impending 
outbreak. I made a public report to the above effect to army head-quarters 
then present at Ambala, and I also made a private representation of the 
same kind to Captain Septimus Becher, assistant adjutant-general of the 

.army. 
. 

Mrs. Fleming, Wife of Sergeant Fleming, Examined by Judge Advocate. 

Queslion.-In the end of April last 'were you ·in the house of Zinat 
;Mahall, the prisoner's wife,.and did yo\l. there see h.is Bon ,Jawan Bakht? 

Answer.-Yes. 

Queslion.-Relate what'passed on that occasion l' 

Answer.-I was sitting down with his sister-in-law, and Jawan Dakht 
was standing by with his wife. My own daughter, Mrs. Scully, was also pre. 
sent. I was talking with Jawan Bakht's sister-in-law, when Mrs. Scully said 
'to me, "Mother, do you hear what this young rascal is say ing; he is telling me 
that in a short time he will have all the infidel English under his feet, and 
~fter that he will kill tke Hindus." Hearing this, I turned round to 
Jawn Bakht, and asked him, "what is that you are saying?" He replied 
that he was only joking. I said, "If what you ~hreaten were to be the 
'Case, your head would be taken off first." He told me that the Persians were 
coming to Delhi, and that when they did so, we, that is myself and daughter. 
should go to him, and he would save us. After this he left us. I think 
-this must have occurred about the middle of April, 1857. 

_ Copies of newspapers written by Chuni Lal, news-writer, from the 11th 
.to the 20th of May (both dates inclusive) having been seized in his house, 
are here read in original, and the translatiJn of them is also read and 
ent~red as follows:- . 

NARRATIVE of Occurrences.in DeIhl, .from 11th .to 20th May 1857. both 

dates inclusive, in the .Form of a Diary, by Chuni Lal, News-writer. 

SOME time during the night of the 10th May 1857, Mr. Fraser received 
'a letter from Meerut, intimat~g' the mutinous conduct ()f the infantry 
"and cavalry there; 'but he did not make any arrangements then. In the 
morning, intelligence IIl'l'ived that the 3rd cavalry and two regiments of 
native infantry had had a fight at Meerut on account of the cartridges, and 
were coming to Delhi, when Mr. FJaser immediately directed the trooper in. 
.attendance as his orderly to call the agent of ·the Jhajjar Nawab. Sir 
{L'heophilus Metcalfe at the same time came into the city, and directed the 
chief police officer to place guards of the constabulary force at the gates 
and to have them closed; the police officer carried out these orders immedi. 
ately. Mr. Fraser also came into the city -in his buggy, accompanied by 
the 'troopers of the Jhajjar canlry, constituting his personal guard. It was 
now ascertained that some cavalry men had arrived at the bridge, and had 
murdered the toll-collector, setting fire to his house. One of these troopers 
lIVai very insolent to the COIllJU,andaut of the l'alace Guardsl and tired a 
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pistol at him, but without effect. The troopers above referred. to collected 
under the palace windows, and telling the King they had come to fight for the 
faitb, I'equested him to have the gate at this point opened for them. The. 
King immediately. sent word to the Commandant of the Palace Guards that 
some troopers had. come from Meerut, and were bent on causing a disturbance. 
On receiving this message, Captain Douglas at once came to the King.' 
and addressing the troopers told them they were offending, and directed 
them to go away. They replied they would settle with him. Mr .. Fraser, 
in the meantime, came to the Cashmere Gate and reasoned with the guard 
there, telling them they had. been nurtured in the service of the East India. 
Company; that some Dllutinous troops had. come from. Meerut, and that he 
required them to assist him in making arrangements.. They however refus­
ed, saying that had an. enemy come against him, they would have .had. no 
objection to do as they were ordered. ·Mr. Fraser then, accompanied by. 
Bome gentlemen, went to the Calcutta Gate, and made such arrangements 
there as were necessary. Jowala. Singh, Mr. Fraser's personal jemadar; 
now urged him to leave the city, telling him that all the Mahomedans were 
disposed for a revolt. Mr. Fraser replied that he would not do anything of 
the kind. About tbis time all the shops in the city were closed. The Rev. 
Mr. Jennings and auother gentleman were watching the troopem. coming.­
from M.eerut with a glass, from one of the turrets of the apartments occupi­
ed by the Commandant of the Palace Guards. Captain Douglas, .getting. 
into his buggy, joined 1.1r. Fraser at the Calcutta Gate, and.taking. a letter 
out ()f his pocket, gave it to him to read. Mr. Fraser then told the t.roope~s 
of his· personal guard to remain in a state of preparation. The Mahomedans 
Elf the Thanbi-Bazar went to the Rajghat, and having made a solemn. '. 
compact with the mutineers, opened the gate and allowed them to· come 
in, when they immediately commenced firing the houses ~nd killing the Euro­
peans. Having. killed the Europeans who resided in DaryaGanj. alldset fire; 
to their houses, they murdered Chaman Lal, the native doctor, as he was, 
standing in ffont of the dispensary. The Mahopledans of the city now. 
told the troopers that Mr. Fraser was at the Calcutta Gate.. They immediate­
ly went thither, and fired their carbines and pistols at the gentlemen who had.. 
collected there, and killed two of them. Mr. Fraser's mounted guard, be­
ing Mussulmans, made no defence; but Mr. Fraser taking a carbine from 
one of the guard in question wounded one of the .mutinous cavalry meu. 
lIfr. Fraser and Captain Douglas then retreated..to the palace in a buggy. 
'l'he latter went up to his apartments over the gate, and the former W8!i 

about ascending the stair when he was attacked by some of the mutinous. 
cavalry, seconded by the. armed retainers of the King, and killed on the 
second step. His murderers now rushed up to the apartments above, where 
they. killed Captain Douglas, the Rev. 1\1r. Jennings and. his daughter, and 
another gentleman.. At this time the l\1ahomedans of the palace and city 
were going about, plundering the. apartments. of the Commandant of the. 
Palace Guards, and the houses of the Europeans. residing in the city. Sir 
Theophilus Metcalfe, mounted. on a horse, and having a drawn sword iu 
his hand, was pursued by the· mutinous cavalry as far as the. Chandni 
Bazar, and got away out of the city by the Ajmir Gate, notwithstanding. 
that the saddlers living there turned out with bludgeons to prevent his escape. 
'l'he three infantry regiments of Delhi joined the mutineers,· and murdering 
• number of their officers, came intG the city. The. whole mutineer&- then, 
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killed'all the Europeans, male and female, whom they could find concealed 
in Darya Ganj, about the Cashmere Gate, and in Major Skinner's house, 
After this, joined by the Mussulmans and some Hindus of the city, they 
nestroyed the ohief and the 12 subordinate police stations, and broke all 
the street lamps. The chief poHce officer hid himself, but his assistant 
made his escape after being wounded. When the mutineers and tebels 
botta.cked the,bank, two gentlemen, and thrr.e ladies with two children, took 
refuge on t4e roof; one of . the mutineers climbed a tree, and was shot 
by one of the gentlemen. The mutineers then set fire to the bank. The 
cavalrymen after this rode away, but the Mu.ssulmans remained, and killed 
the gentlemen and ladies with bludgeons, The 'Manomedans continued 
going about with the mutineers, shoutir.g cheers for the sucCess of their 
teligion. The Rajah of Bullubgarh had gone to visit one of ~he railway offi­
cers, and returned about 10 o'cloek.' The three infantry regiments of'Delhi 
plundered the treasury and shared the money amongst themselves ; and 
having plundered also the civil aud judicial coUrts' and the college, set, fire 
to t1i~ buildings. The ca'\TaIry went to the cantonments, and ~ed all tIle 
houses there.' lIa'\Ting accomplished all this the regiment of cavalry and two 
:regiments of infantry, "'hieh had ('Jome from Meet'nt, togethet 1Vith the three 
that bad been stationed at Delhi, waited on the King, and requested his 
suppOrt and countenance, promising to establish his rule throughout the whole 
country. The King replied that he cherished a hearty dispositio,n to show 
them every favour and kindness, and directed them to take tIP their quarters 

:in SaIimgarh, remarking at the I,;ame time that all the streets and 
hazars had been closed, and suggesting that plunder and I'obbery 
should be pre'\Tented. The cavalry and infantry hearing that 
Some! Europeans with their wives had gone into the magazine, brought 
two g'Uils from Darya Ganj, and loading them, with stones; fired them at 
1begates, the EUropeans within returning the fire from several pieces 
'With grape. Subgequently' the magazine blew up, when several of the men of the 
city were killed;' and many of the houses in the neighbourhood destroyed. The 
Europeans, men and women, who had been in the magazine, fled in the 
direction of the river ; they were, however, pursued by the cavalry; 
and killed~ Three serjeants and two women were brought yrisoners to 
the King. One of the serjeants begged the King's prot~ction. for himself 
and fellow-prisoners, saying that otherwise they would be killed by the 
mutineers; and the King had them placed in the House' of Devotion. At 
"bout half an. hour before sunset, Rajah Nahar Singh, taking his wife, 
lIi's' brother, and his brother .. in-law, and Mr. Munro in disguise, left fol:' 
Ballabhguth. The infantry mutineers attacked the house of Saligram, the 
treasurer, but were unable to force its massive 'gates till midnight, when 
they made an ehtra:nce, and . in conjunction with the Mahomedans of the 
city, plundered the place of all the property it contained. Some'serjeants 
were taking away two' guns from the cantonments, but the cavalry 
calne up 1Vith them and brcught the guns back. There was a salute of 
21 guns fired under the palace, and all night throughout the' city the 
greatest uneasiness and tumult continued to prevail in consequence of the 
plunder, pillage; and burning of houses. ' , 

., ,Tuesday) 12 May 1857.'-':'The King came in1to the hall of Special 
. A\ldien.~; where the chiefs paid their respects. The Buba4.us o~ the 54tb 
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1tegiment waited on the King, and begged that some persoIL might be 
appointed to arrange for the daily supplies. Ramsahay Mall and Dilwani 
Mall were accordingly to provide 500 rupees worth of meal, pulse and 
gram, &c., daily, and to have them conveyed to the regiments. Foul' 
European gentlemen were concealed in the house of Muhammad Ibrahim, 
son of Ali Muhammad, merchant. The troopers hearing this went there. 
and killing the Europeans) plundered the house. A European woman, 
dressed as a llative, was .going along nea.r the Ellenborough tank, and 
Was killed by the troopers~ The infantry soldiers forcibly entered and 
plundered the shops of the confectioners in all the streets of the city. 
On hearing this the King appointed Mirza Manir-ud-din Khan, formerly 
police officer of Paharganj, to the governorship of the city, and sent him 
to the chief police-office with a regiment of infantry, directing him to 
make arrangements to prevent plunder and pillage. The Mirza represent­
ed that the soldiery were then engaged plundering the Churi Bazar. Ou. this 
the King sent for the subadars of all the infantry regiments, and directed 
them to place one regiment at the Delhi gate of the city, and one under 
the palace windows, one company each at the Ajmir,. Lahore, Farash 
Khana, Cashmere and other gates, and one comFany in the Darya 
Bazar, saying that he did not approve of his subjects being plundered. 
After this the infantry and cavalry made an attack on the Nagar-Seth 
Iltreet, with the view of plundering. it. The inhabitants closed the gates 
and attacked the . soldiery with brickbats, and drove them off. Several 
clerks with their wives had taken refuge in the house known as that of 
Rajah Kalyan Singh, of Kishan Garh. The troopers went and attacked. 
them with carbines and pistols. The Europeans defended themselves 
with their firearms. The troopers then brought two. pieces of artillery 
IIgainst them, when the clerks, with their 'wives, retired to an apartment 
under ground, and the troopers came away. The King directed Mirza 
Moghal to take a company of infantry, and adopt steps to prevent the 
plunder in the city. Mirza Moghal IIccordingly went to the principal 
police stations, seated on an elephant, and had proclamation made, that every 
individual convicted of plunder would be punished "ith the loss of nose 
Ilud ears j and all shopkeepers not opening their shops, and refusing to 
supply the soldiers, would be fined and imprisoned. Her Excellency the 
Queen Taj Mahall was released from conijnement. Two European 
gentlemen going along in the disguise of natives were killed by the troopel's 
in front of the chief police station. The King seated on an elephant, 
with Jawan Bakht in the hind seat, and acccmpaniedby two regi~ents 
of infantry and some gilDS, went in state to have the shops of the 
pt'incipal streets of the city opened, directed the shopkeepers to resume 
their occupations) and supply the army with necessaries, and then returned 
to the palace. Hasan Ali now obtained a presentation through Ahsan 
UUa Khan. He submitted an offel'ing of one gold mohur, and was 
directed to rema~n in attendance, the King remarking that he wished to 
llave a conference with him. The King bestowed. a dress of honour on 
Mirza Manir-ud-din Khan on his appointment to the governorship of 
Delhi. The Mirza presented four rupees as earnest of his thankfulness. 

Wednesday, 13 JJfay 1857.-The King came to his House of Devoti:m. 
Nawab Mahbub Ali Khan and other chiefs paid their respects. The 
Chamberlain, Hasan Mirzaj was ordered to bring Mirza. Ami..l'-ud-diu 
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Khan. The Cham berlain returned and. reported that the Mirza Will 
unwell, and was, .in consequence, unable to attend. Mirza .Manir-ud. 
din Khan, chief police officer, was told that the necessaries of food 
were not supplied to the army, and was directed to make arrangements. 
Hasan Ali Khan heing in attendance, the King said to him, "The army 
has collected in the palace; what is to be done?" The said Khan repliecl 
that these soldiers were murderers, who had killed their masters, and 
that they could not with prudence be trusted. Shah Nizam-ud-din a 
descendant of the priests, and Budhan Sahib, son of. Nawab Muham~ad 
Khan, deceased, were ordered to join in the deliberative conferences. Mirza 
Moghal, Mirza Khair Su~tan, Mirza Abdulla, &c" were appointed colonels of 
Regiments of infantry, and were directed to proceed severally with two guns each 
to the Cashmere, Lahore, and Delhi gates to presene order. Shah Nizam­
ud-din represented that .the cavalry had seized Nawab Mir Hamid Ali Khall 
at his house, and had brought him on foot to the jewel room to the physician 
Ahsan Ulla Khan, on the plea that the said Mir had concealed some 
Englishmen in his house, although the Mir affirmed that he was ready t() 
acknowledge himself an offender if any Europeans should be discovered·sl) 
concealed. On this the King directed Shah Nizam-ud-din to go with thEr 
cavalry and infantry, and allow Mir Hamid Ali Khan's house to be searched. 
Shah Nizam-ud-din and Mirza Abulbakr accordingly went and made a 
search, and no Englishmen or Eurasians being found there; they had the 
property restored which had been plundered by the cavalry and infantry, 
the said Mir being at the same time released. Mirza. Abulbakr was appoint. 
ed colonel of the cavalry regiment. Intelligence was brought that 29 
persons, clerks, women, and children, were concealed. in the house of Rajah 
Kalyan Singh of Kishangarh, and the cavalry and infantry going and 
making them prisoners, shot them with volleys of musketry. Some cavalrY' 
men went to the house of Colonel Skinner, seized and brought away the 
son of Mr. Joseph Skinner, and killed him in front of the chief· police 
station. Instigated by some person, the cavalry and infantry went to the 
houses of Narayan Das and Ram Charan Das, deputy collector, and alleging. 
that Europeans were concealed there, plundered ~hem of all their property. 
Kazi Panu and his son were killed by some of the infautry soldiers. Two­
English gentlemen, dressed as natiTes, were going out by the Badarrau· 
Gate, and were killed by some cavalry men. The King presenteel all the­
regiments with 400 rupees each for their expenses. Mirza Minar-ud-dill,. 
chief police officer, had it publicly proclaimed, that alL such persons as 
wished to take service should come forward, bringing their own arms, and 
that aU those in whose houses Europeans should be found would be dealt 
with as offenders. Nawab Ahmad Ali Khan and Walidad Khan, of Mala­
gurh, attended agreeably to summons, and paid their respects, and were 
ordered to attend court daily. The King lummoned the principal grain.· 
dealers, and ordered them to regulate the rates, and to' open their granaries, 
and to commence selling the grain in the market. Mirza Manir-ud-diu· 
Khan having entertained some 200 men, has placed them in the Darya, the 
principal street, and other parts of the city, for the preservation of the peace. 
Two water-carriers, who stole some butter from a shop-keeper in the street,. 
called the Lal Kunwa, were taken up. Kuli Khan and Saf'araz Khan, twO' 
notorious bad characters, as well as Bome men accused of having committed, 
acts of plunder in Teliwara and Sabzi Mandi, were also apprehended. 
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Thursday,' 14 May, 1857.-Tbe King came from his' private' apart~ 
mems into the Hall of Devotion. The chamberlain, Hasan Mirza, Captain 
Dildar Ali Khan, and Hasan Ali Khan, and according to summons, Mirza. 
Manir-nd-din Khan, Mirza Zia-ud-din Khan, and Moulavy Sadr-ud-din 
Khan were in attendance, and paid their respects. The Moulavy presented 
one gold mohur. The King told him to conduct tbe duties of the civil and 
judicial courts. The Moulavy, however, requested that he might be excused. 
After this the treasurer Saligram attended according to orders, and presented 
one gold mohur. T~ King inquired what amount of money there was 'in 
the principal treasury. He replied. he did not know. The King then 
directed him to send an agent of hIS to the treasnrer. The treasurer said 
he would do so. Rahmat Ali Khan was introduced by Hasan Ali Khan 
and presented one gold mohur. The King asked who he was, and wa~ 
:informed that he was the son of N a~ ab Faiz Muhammad Khan, and 
nephew of Hasan Ali Khan, who had presented him. Muhammad Ali Khan 
.son of Sar Jang Khan, presented one gold mohur. The King inquired who 
:he was, and was informed he was the Jlephew of Bahadur J ang Khan, the 
.chief of Dadri. 

The confidential agent. of the chief of Sanowt presented himself and 
-submitted that the chief was unwell, and had therefore been unable to come 
1:0 court, and intended going to Jaipur. An order was accordingly written 
-to the address of Raja Ram Singh, ruler of 1 aipur, directing his early 
·attendance at court with his army, and the confidential agent above said, 
declared he would leave for Jaipur. immediately. After this, orders were 
.respectively issued in writing to Nawab Abdul Rahman Khan, of Jhajja.r j 
Bahadur Jang Khan, of Dadrij Akhbar Ali Khan, of Pantadihj Raja Nahar 
'Singh, of Ballabhgarh j Hasan Ali Khan,' of Dojauna j and Nawab 

, Ahmad Ali ,Khan, of Farokhnagar, directing their attendance at court. 
Orders were also issued to Mirza Amin-nd-din Khan and Ml'rza Zai-ud-din 
Khan to' look after the management of the district of Ihirka' Firozpur and 
that of Gurgaon, which was lying unoccnpied. Intelligence was received 
that the Goojurs of Chand Rawal were every night plundering the shops in 
Sabzi Mandi, Teliwara, Raj pur, Mandersa, &c., and Mirza Moghal was 
ordered to suppress these evil practices of the said Goojurs. Mirza Abulbakr 
accordingly went to the village in question with his regiment of cavalry, and 
'had it plundered and burnt. Bahadur Singh, superiutendent bf the landed 
property belonging to the Lucknow State, prese::J.ted an offering of one 
gold mohur. A European soldier who came as a spy from Ambala was seized 
find brought before the King, and was by him ordered to be sent to the· jail. 
A European woman was likewise brought, and she also was sent to the jail. 
Some subadars aud infantry soldiers, having their shoes on, came and stood 
.on the carpets, and the King reprehended their conduct with anger and 
displeasure. An order was issued to Manir~ud-din Khan, chief police officer, 
to take the 38th Regiment Native Infantry, and to proceed to the Delhi 

• cantonments, and. to make arrangements to prevent the depredations being 
(!ommitted there, in Sabzi Mandi, Pahari Durrung and other places. Four 
men coming from Meerut told the soldiery that European troops were on 
their way from that station for their extermination. The soldiery were not 
pleased at this intelligence, and placed the four men in question in arrest. 
The police officer of th~ Njgambo~ sectiQll was ordered to ha.ve the 
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corpses of Mr. Fraser and Captain Douglas buried, in the graveyard, 
and those of the European men and women thrown into the river. 
This order was accordingly carried into effect. The Goojurs have 
plundered and carried away all the furniture of l\fr. Fraser's house, aud 
have torn up the whole of the records of the Commissionership, aud of 
the Agency to the Lieutenant-governor. 

Friday, 15 May 1857.-The King was in his private apartments, and 
Mpulavy Abdul Kadir submitted a list he had prepared of the pay of the 
troops. His Majesty bestowed a pair of shawls on the Moulavy on account 
of his appointment to the situation of assistant to Nawab Mahbub Ali Khan. 
The Moulavy then went home seated· on an elephant. The agent - of the 
chief, Sheo Singh of Samnowt, presented a bottle of the extract of the Pan~ 
donus Adoratissumus, and a phial of essential oil on the part of his client, 
and received a written order to the address of the Rajah of Jaipur directing 
his attendance. Ghulam Nabi Khan, superintendent of the Kaulah l\fahallj 
accompanied by Mir Akhbur Ali, trooper, who used to remain in attendance 
on Mr. Fraser, came into the royal presence and stated thatfjO horsemen 
who had been sent by the Nawab of Jhajjar were in attendance, but that the 
Nawab himself had not been able to come in consequence of the unsettled 
and disturhed state of his territory. Moulavy Ahmad Ali attended on the 
part of Rajah Nahar Singh of Bullabgarh, and presented au offering of one 
rupee, together with a petition, in which the Rajah submitted that he was 
uuable to present himself at court in consequence of the plunder and violence 
the Goojurs were carrying.on; but that he will attend the royal presence 
after making provision for the. suppression of these evils. Orders were issuc(l 
for his early attendance. Intelligence was received that the Magistrate of 
Rohtak had ran away, and that that treasury, it was likely, would soon be 
plundered. It wa:s also reported that the Gurgnon treasury had been plun­
dered. On hearing this the king ordered that oue regimeut of infantry and 
some troopers should go and bring away the money ill the Rohtak treasury. 
Orders were issued to Abdul Karim to enlist 400 foot soldiers and oue rcgi. 
ment of cavalry, the pay of each foot soldicr to be five, aud that of each 
trooper 20 rupees per mensem; about 200 men have accordingly been entcr­
taind. The printer, Abdul Kadir, presented some papers for the King's in~ 
spection, and said he would make every arrangemcnt. An order was issued 
by the King to the officers of the cavalry, intimating that Mirza Abulbakr 
had been dismissed from the command of their corps, and that they would 
l'email1 under the orders of the King. Kazi }<'aiz UUa came before the King 
and presented an offering of five rupees, and a petition requesting be might 
be appointed chief police officcr of the city, and bis request was grantcd. 
A goldsmith killed a man of the same trade against whom he had an 
enmity, and was apprehended. The Mewatis of Jaisinghpura had plundered 
the house of the railway officer of 4,000 rupecs in cash, and other 
property. The ~avalry and infantry: ~ere accordingly arranging t~ go and 
seize the l\Iewabs, and to destroy JalSlnghpura, when the confidentIal agent 
of Lalla Budh Singh, the agent of the Rajah of Jaipur, presented a petition 
claiming the King's protection for the population of Jaisinghpura. An order 
was passed on this petition that no soldier of the cavalry or infantry was to 
be permitted to go to Jaisinghpura without the King's orders. Information 
was submitted that the Boldien of tbe canlry and infantrYI as a practioel 

• 
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patrolled the bazars, streets, and lanes of the city, with drawn swords, and 
that the shops in the bazars were not opened in consequence of the dread 
this inspired. Hearing this, the King sent orders to the gates of the palace, . 
enjoining that no person should go about the city with a drawn sword. 
An order was issued to the commandant of the Jhajjar cavalry to take up 
his quarters in the Mahtab garden. It was reported, that 14 boats laden 
with wheat and other grains, belonging to Ramjidas Gurwalla, had arrived 
in the morning, and an, order was thereupon issued to Dilwani Mall, appoint­
ed to arrange for supplies, to have the cargo of the said boats lauded and 
to bring it away. Two infantry soldiers had secured 200 rupees, and 
lodged the moiley with the firm of Ramjidas Gurwalla, arranging that they 
should receive it in Lucknow. The two s9ldiers, however, happened to have 
adisagreement, when the matter transpired, and a company immediately went 
to the house of the banker, who at once gave up the money. An order 
was issued to the merchants of the city' directing their attendance. The 
cavalry and infantry, after a consultation amongst themselves, came to the 
hall of special audience, and complained that they did not get their allow­
ances of pay and clothing, and stated their conviction that the physician 
Ahsan Ulla Khan and Mahbub Ali Khan were in collusion with the British_ 
The troopers and infantry then went off to the house known as the Haveli 
Lal Kumu, and accused the priest, Shah Nizam-ud-din, of having two Euro­
pean ladies concealed in his residence. Shah Nizam-ud-din replied 
that he should be confronted with their informant, and the troopers pre­
sented some man who was a :residen! of Rampoor, and who said his story had 
been hearsay. Shah Nizam-ud-din now told the trooper'! that they should 
be at liberty to plunder his house and kill him if they should discover any 
European women there j but if their real object, whether or not, in this false 
accusation was to do so, of course they had the power. In reply to this 
the troopers had nothing to say. Mahbub Ali Khan made oath on the 
Kuran that he was not in collusion with the British. The soldiery plundered 
and carried away all the property from the house of Agha Muhammad Khan. 

Saturday, 16 May 1857.-The King came into the hall of special audience 
and held a court. The physician Ahsan Ulla Khan, the paymaster Agha Sul­
tan, captain Dildar Ali Khan, Rahmat Ali Khan and other chiefs, attended 
and paid their respects. The troopers and infantry soldiers, accompanied 
by their officers, attended and presented' a letter bearing the seals of the 
physician Ahsan Ulla Khan and Nawab Mahbub Ali Khan, which they 

. said they had intercepted at the Delhi gate of the city, and com-
plained that the physician and nawab had sent this letter to the 
English, inviting them to come into the city immediately, and pro­
mising that, provided the English should agree to acknowledge Mirza 
Jawan Bakht, the son of the King by the Queen Zinat Mahall, as heir appa­
rent, they would on their part engage to seize and make over all the 
soldiery now in Delhi. This document was shown to Ahsan UUa Khan and 
Nawab Mahbub Ali Khan, who declared it was a forgery, got up by some 
person, and the impression~ on it were from counh;rfeit seals of grpsum,. and 
they took off their signet rmgs and threw them before the soldlers. They 
further swore by the Kuran that the seals on the paper were not theirs, and 
that the document was a forgery. However, the soldiers would not believe theil' 
asseverations. Some persons told the troopers tha.t a. number of Euro'peans 
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were concealed in one of the covered drains of the canal. -Hearing this, 
:Mirza Abulbakr, accompanied by the troopers, went to the place indicated, 
and, jumring into the drain, discharged his pistol in it j but no Europeans 
were discovered. After this, the men of the cavalry and infantry drew their 
swords and surrounded the physician, Ahsan UUa Khan, declaring their 
firm belief. that he maintained an understanding with the English. 
They agreed that it was on that account that he kept the European prisoners, 
intending that when the English came, Le might make them over, and would 
have the soldiers kill~d. The ~atter ended in thllir taking the Europeans, 
men, women, and children, 52 In number, from the gaol where they were 
confined, to the reservoir near the music gallery, with the intent to kill them 
there. The Prince Mirza Majhli l!-ttempted to remonstrate, urging that the 
slaughter of women was not legal, according to the Mahomedan law. The 
troopers on this resolved to kill the said Mirza, but he ran away and so 
escaped. They then made the prisoners sit down, and one of them fired his 
carbine at them. The bullet wounded Olle of the King's armed retainers. 
After this, two of the King's personal armed retainers killed ihe whole of 
the Europeans, men, women, and children, with their swords. There were 
about 200 Mussulmans standing at the reservoir~ uttering the coarsest abuse 
against the prisoners •. '£he sword of one of the King's armed retainers broke. 
After the slaughter, the bodies were laden on two carts, and thrown into 
the river. This occurrence caused a great excitement amongst the Hindus 
throughout the city, who said thatthesepurbeas who had committed this heinous 
and atrocious cruelty could never be victorious against the English. The com­
panies at the gates were relieved. Some cne informed the troopers that 
sorrie Europeans were concealed in .the house of the treasurer, Mathura Das, 
and in the street known as the Chowdhary-ka-Kuncha. Tp.ey accordingly 
made a search, but returned without finding any. The troopers did not 
aggrieve anyone on this occasion. An order was written to Walidad Khan, 
of Malagarh, noticing the anarchy prevailing on the eastern side of the . 
Jumna, caused by the lawless conduct of the Goojurs, and directing him to 
go and take steps to suppress it. Two weavers, in the disguise of infantry 
soldiers, were engaged plundering in the (!ity, and were apprehended. The 
shopkeepers of the Lahore Gate submitted a complaint that Kashi Nath, police 
officer of their section of the town, was demanding a bribe of 1,000 rupees from 
them, holding out the threat that if they did not give him the money, he 
would send them as prisoners to the chief police station. The physician Ahsan 
Una Khan accordingly sent an order to Kazi Faiz Ulla to place the said police 
officer under arrest. ' 

Sunday, 17 May 1857.-The King was in his private apartments: the men 
of the cavalry and infantry, accompanied by their officers, submitted that they 
~ad fortified Salimgarh, and that they trusted his Majesty would go there and 
inspect what had been done. The King accordingly went in an open litter, saw 
how the guns had been placed in position,. and then returned, assuring the 
soldiers that he was associated with them in a common cause, desiring them 
to place every confidence in the physician Ahsan Una Khan, Mahbub Ali 
Khan, and the Queen Zinat Mahall, and telling them he would slay with his 
own hands any Europeans they might seize and bring to him. On hearing 
this the troops were convinced, and the physician Ahsan Ulla Khan was fully 
exculpated. A man was seized at the bridge with a letter he was bringing 
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from some European at Meerut. The infantry soldiers tieuhim to a gun, 
and let him remain there. The mntineers had taken np their qnarters in the 
hall of special audience, whence they have been made to il'emove, and the hall 
has been done np anew with carpets, hangings, &c. Mirza Amin-nd-din Khan 
and Mirza Zia-ud-din Khan attended agreeably to summons, and paid their 
respects. Being ordered to attend court daily, they pleaded sickness. The 
King then directed them to raise troops, saying that large dominions should 
be conferred on them, and they replied they would do so. After this Iradat 
Khan and Mir Khan, brothers of Nawab Mustafa Khan of Jahangirabad, 
Akhbar Khan and others attended and presented offerings of two rupees each. 
The disposal of the colonelcies of the infantry regiments was next considered. 
A trooper arrived from Garhi Harsaru, and reported. that severallakhs of 
rupees, being revenue of the Gurgaon district, was on its way to Delhi, escort­
ed by a company of infantry and some troopers, and that near 300 l\fewatis 
and Goojurs of that part of the country had made an attack upon this treasure 
and that a fight was going on. On this intelligence Moulavy Muhammad 
Bakar, of the press, was directed to go out immediately with two companies 
of infantry and one troop of cavalry, in order to oppose the Goojurs, and to 
bring the treasure in safety. The infantry soldiers beat a sweeper in 
the service of Mirza Moghal very severely, on the imputation of being 
a spy. They, however, released him on Mirza Moghal's orders. A report 
was made that some of the Mewatis of Jaisinghpura, who had plundered 
the house of the railway superintendent, had been wounded: it was 
ascertained that these men .had been in the service of the English.' The 
landholders of the: village of Nadhowli attended, and, presenting a 
rupee each, made pro~ssions of their loyalty and allegiance. The King 
told them to keep up a proper management in their village, failing 
which they would be expatriated. Two of the King's messengers who 
had been sent 'for intelligence, returned from Meerut and reported that 
about 1,000 European soldiers, with some other English men, women 
and children, were collected there in the sudder bazar, and that they 
had erected fortifications on the Suraj Kund, on which they had mounted 
guns drawn by elephants. They further represented that the Goojurs 
were committing highway robberies all along the road from Meernt to 
Salimpur, and had maltreated them also. The King had accordingly two 
companies of infantry stationed at the bridge over the J umna. The 
physician Abdul Hak attended and presented five rupees. Five 
companies of the Sappers and Miners had come to Meerut from Roorkee. 
The Europeans required them to remain and perform duties there. 
To this the men objected, and the English attacked them in consequence. 
Many men were killed j and, in the end, the Sappers and Miners ran 
away, and have come to Delhi. Several missives were written and 
despatched by two, three, or four troopers each, directing early and 
immediate attendance .to Maha Raja Narendra Singh, of Patiala, Raja. 
Ramsingh of J aipur, the Raja of Alwar, and the Rajahs in Jodhpur, 
Kotah, Bundi, &c. Two children were killed by the falling of the balcony 
of Dewan Kishan Lal's house. It is reported that troops are coming 
from Ambala; otherwise everything is quiet. 

Monday, 18 May 1857.-The King came from his private apart­
ments into the hall of special 'audience~ and to~k his seat on the throne in 
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state.. The ?ands of th~ five 'regiments attended, and continued playing 
English mUSIC. The kmg bestowed arm~ and dresses of honour. varyinO' 
in grandeur; by reference to their appointments, on Mirza Moghal a~ 
Commander-in-Chief of the whole of the forces, on Mirza Kochak 
Sultan, Mirza Khair Sultan, Mirza Mendu, and on others of his sons as 
colonels of infantry, and on his grandson Abulbakr as colonel of the 
regiment of cavalry. Mirza Moghal presented two gold mohurs, and the 
other princes one gold mohur and five rupees each in thankfulness for 
the honours conferred on them. Hasan Ali 'Khan attended and paid 
his respects. He was ordered to attend court regularly every day, and 
said he would do 110. The King then said that a very large portion of country 
would be bestowed on him, and directed him therefore to raise troops 
cavalry and infantry. Hasan Ali Khan replied that he could not undertake 
this, but that he would remain in attendance on his Majesty. The two 
sowars who had been sent with the missive to Alwar returned, and 
reported that thousands of Goojurs were infesting the road and committing 
highway robberies; that they had robbed them of their horses, clothes 
and money; that they had taken the King's letter, and, tearing it up 
had put the pieces back into their hands; and that it was after much 
entreaty and supplication they were prevailed on to give back the horses. 
A camel-rider who was sent with a missive to Nawab Ahmad Ali 
Khan, of ~'arrukh-nagar. returned and reported that the Goojurs 
would not allow him to go on. The officers of the Sappers and Millers 
presented themselves and reported that five companies of their corps 
had come from Roorkee to Meerut; that all the Europeans, with their 
wives and children, were collected in their entrenchments called the 
Dum-duma.'l'hat the Europeans used every endeavour to tamper with 
the Sappers and Miners, to dissuade them from coming to Delhi, and 
to get them to remain at Meerut, and to join in the duties there, 
promising them an increase of salary, but that they declined listening to those 
proposals ; whereupon the Europeans commenced a fire of grape ou 

- them about three o'clock one morning, by which 200 and upwards of 
their numbers were killed, and the remainder. ran away, and had now 
come to hi!! Majesty's presence. They were ordered to take up their 
quarters in Salimgarh. Nawab Mahbub Ali Khan having prepared a: 
nominal "list of Ramji Das Godownwalla, Ramji Das Gurwalla, the 
treasurer Saligram, and the other merchants of the city, sent it to them 
by a confidential agent, with a message that the daily expenses of the 
troops amounted to 2,500 rupees, and that they were therefore collectively 
required to provide five lakhs of rupees. On this the whole of the 
merchants went to Mahbub Ali Khan, and reported they were· plundered 
of all they possessed on the outbreak of the troops, and whence 
now were they to raise the money? Ramji Dass said that if Mah­
bub Ali Khan could get the other merchants to pay, he also would do 
so. Mirza Abulbakr went with the regiment of cavalry to the villages 
of Chandrawal and Wazirabad to punish the Goojurs for robberies they 
were committing; but the Goojurs ran away. 

Tuesday, 19 May 1857.-The King came from his private apartments 
into the hall of special audience. Two troopers arrived from Meerut and 
reported that a force, consisting of infantry, cavaltyJ and artilletyJ had 
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come to Meerut, with several lakhs of treasure from Bareilly and 
Moradabad. The Europeans there comphined to them that the Meerut 
troops had revolted, and, killing numbers of them, had gone off to Delhi. 
The 'Bareilly and Moradabad forces replied that the Europeans had 
taken their revenge by killing three ~lUndred of the Sappers and 
Miners, and that, no doubt, they (the Bareilly and Moradabad force) 
would experience similar kindness. On hearing this, the Europeans went 
into their entrenchments and commenced a cannonade, when the troops 
from Bareilly and Moradabad erected batteries and returned the fire. 
Through the direction of God, as¥t from the latter fired the mine 
the Europeans had laid, and the whole area enclosed by their entrench­
ments was blown up. On receiying this intelligence the whole of the 
trooIs and the King were highly delighted, and fired five guns at 
Salimgarh in token. of their j.oy. After this, information arrived that 
the Collector of Gurgaon, on running away, had left 17,000 rupees at 
Harsaru Garhi. One hundred troopers and two companies of infantry 
went thither and brought the money away. It was ordered that it 
should be lodged· in'the treasury. A trooper sent by the Baija Bai 
arrived aud stated that his mistress, not crediting the report of the 
slaughter of the Europeans and their wives,. had sent him for certain 
intelligence. The King told him that all. the Europeans here had been 
exterminated, directing him to return to Gwalior accompanied by two 
troopers, and carrying a special missive, and to tell the Bai Sahib to 
come to the royal presence immediately with her troops, and manifest 
her good-will. After this the king held his court in the hall of special 
audience. His Majesty bestowed a dress of honour of great grandeur, 
together with a silver inkstand, on. account of his appointment to the 
premiership, with the title of tc Prime minister to the king of the 
conquered countries JJ on *... The said Mirza presented 10 gold 
mohurs to show his sense of the honour conferred on him. The King 
conferred a similar dress of honour on his special son, Mirza Bakhtawar 
Shah, on his appointment to the colonelcy of the 74th Regiment Native 
Infantry. The said Mirza presented two gold ·moburs and five rupees 
as his tbanks-offering. His Majesty further presented each of his sons 
who had. been appointed colonels with a pair of kettle-drums. The 
chamberlain Hasan Mirza was ordered to present Kunwar Ajit Singh 
of Patiala. The Kunwar accordingly attended and presented one gold 
mohur. The King said he well knew the Kunwar had always been 
residing in Delhi, and gave him a dress' of honour, and the Kunwar in 
acknowledgment presented an offering of five rupees. Ahmad Mirza 
and the son of the pbyaician Abdul Hak attended and presented five 
rupees each. . The Bisaldar, sent by Muhammad Akhbar Ali Khan, 
attended and presented an offering of two rupees on his own account, 
and a petition from his client, stating that, after making necessary 
arrangements in his territory, he would speedily come to the royal 
presence. There were two gentlemen, three ladies and a child concealed 
in the house of N athu, tailor; the troopers hearing this made them 
prisoners, and brought them to the palace, and burnt the tailor's house. 
The King placed these prisoners in the custody of the soldiery. His 
Majesty went to Salimgarh, where he received a general military salute 
from the troops. The officers of the 20th Regiment Native Infantry 

~ :N:.ame omitted-Jawan 13.akht WII8 probably then appointed. 
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repr!lsented that they did not credit the story of the blowing up of the 
entrenchments at Meerut brought by the two troopers, and that they 
therefore, intended to go and blow tl;1em up themselves. The King 
said it was not necessary; but suggested that, if they went, they should 
do so with the concurrence of their. general, Mirza Moghal. An order 
was issued to Kazi Faiz Una, the principal police officer of the city, 
telling him that two of the boats in the bridge over the Jnmna had 
become displaced, and directing him to send one hundred labourers to 
restore their lashings. Intelligence was received that several doctors, 
accompanied 'by a number of the Mussulman residents of the city, 
had erected the Mahomedan standard in the J ama Masjid as a declara­
tion of an obligatory war of extermination against the British ; and 
that the doctors having represented the great merit of slaying the 
English, who, they said, were infidels, thousands of Mussulmans had 
joined the standard. The King hearing this sent a message, saying, 
" All the English have been killed; against whom have you raised this 
standard )J? and directing that it should be removed. Moulavy Sadr­
ud-din Khan went to the J ama Masjid and reasoned with the doctors 
there, and prevailed on them to take the flag down. Se\"eral carts ot' 
grain, salt, &c., were seized outside the city, and brought in. 

Wednesday, 20 May 1857.-The King came from his private 
apartments into the hall of special audience. The doctor, Muhammad 
Sayad, attended Il,nd exchanged greetings with him. The' King remarkell 
that he (the doctor) had erected the Mahomedan standard in the J ama 

'Masjid against the English; but that. as they had been all killed, there 
had been no necessity for doing so. The doctor replied that it had beeu 
set up against the Hindus. On this, the King remarked that he regard­
ed Hindus and Mahomedans alike, and. he was not disposed to acquiesce 
in a religious war against the Hindus; further remarking that, as for 
the Christians, all there had been of them had been already killed. 
After this, the officers of the army attended and complained that the 
Mahomedans had raised the Mahomedan flag against them; but the 
King assured them that the object of its being erected was the slaughter 
of the English. The officers further represented that one of the magazine 
servants was 1ieized at the bridge while in the act of taking away a small 
brass guu he had stolen fr:lm the park of artillery. The King sentenced 
the man to be blown away from a gun. Mirza Amin-ud-din Khan, Mirza 
Zia.-ud-din Khan, Hasan Ali Khan, and Rahmat Ali Khan attended and paid 
their respects. The King bestowed a walking-stick on each of them as a 
mark of favour, and they severally presented five rupees each. Mirza Moghal 
received orders to proceed to Meerut, with four guns, four regiments of 
infantry, and the cavalry, in order to blow up the entrenchments there. The 
said Mirza suggested that Mirza Amin-ud-din Khan, Mirza Zia-ud-din Khan, 
Hasan Ali Khan, and o~her great chiefs holding extensive territories, might 
be sent with him, and promised to exterminate the English. Ou hearing 
this suggestion, the chiefs referred to remained sitent. The King then 
directed Mirza. Abulbakr to start with the force. Nawab Mahbub Ali 
Khan, and the physician Ahsan Una Khan, were ordered tc provide 
funds for the expenses of the army during its march to Meerut. 
The infantry soldiers searched a cart coming from Meerut 
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loud plundered some jewellery there was in it. Some troopers searched 
the Mubarak Bagh, situated beyond the cantonments, and killed two 
Europeans who had been hiding there. The officers of the army came 
and requested that the five "European women who were prisoners 
might be made over to them. The King directed the doctor, 
Mahbub Ali, to present a legal opinion according to the Mahomedan 
law in' this matter. The Moulavy presented the opinion required, 
ruling that the slaughter of women was not legal according to the Mahome,. 
dan code. The King now retired to his private apartments, where he remained 
engaged in conference with the queen and the secretary Mulrund La!. 

The following extracts from the" Authentic News" are read in Persian 
and the translations of them into English are then read and entered 
as follows:-

6th July 1857.-An order attested with the royal seal was issued to the 
Commander-in-chief Bahadur, investing him with the management of the 
daily allowances to the army, and placing the direction of aU military matters 
of Government in his hands; 

7th JUly' 1857.-A petition from Rajah Gulab Singh, ruler of Casn­
mere, reporting having established his sway throughout the country ap­
pertaining to Lahore; and a second fro~Dost Muhammad Khan, request­
ing permission to come to the royal presence, were_ received under cover of 
one from the General Bahadur. Orders directing the despatch of missives 
in' answer were issued. ' 

9th July 1857.-A report was maae tnat General Bakht Yar Khan had 
sent a force, fully equipped and appointed, to chastise the enemy, and that 
this force had fought with signal bravery. Couriers continued arriving 
every moment with reports of the progress of the fight. 

11th July 1857.-From the Court Gazette, the "Suraj-ul-Akhbar." 
It is ascertained that the King held a court. The nobles of the realm 
received admittance in the order of precedence. Particulars of the operations 
against the accursed hostile foice, of the arrangements for carrying on the 
war, and of the signal valour of the heroes composing his Majesty's army, 
were submitted for the King's information. An order was issued to 
Ghulam Nabi Khan to have the house belonging to the Jhajjar Nawab. 
situated in the section of the city known as Darya, cleared out for the 
accommodation of the wounded. Some funds were bestowed on the J ahadis* 
for their expenses'. 

12th July 1857.-A petition was received from Syad Ali and Baker Ali" 
chiefs of Benares, submitting that they had made a great slaughter of the 
doomed infidels, and that they now desire to wait on his Majesty. A favour .. 
able answer was written immediately. 

13th July 1857.-Information of the capture of Agra, through the 
blessing of God, was communicated in petition from the General Bahadur. 
'l'he King bad a salute of 21 guns fired, and the musicians played upon 
their English flutes, clarionets and drums, in token of rejoicing on the 

~ "Jahadia"-those engaged in religious war. 
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, '. 
occasion. Two spies, with English letters, were apprehended to-day and 
were sent to Mirza Moghal, for investigation in reference to them: A 
petition was received from the officers from the Jhansi reD'iment reportinO' 
the slaughter of the immoral infidels, and an answer was written. ' to 

15th July .185~.-A .royal missive was received to his .address by Husain 
:Bakht Khan, dll"ectmg hIm to go out and meet the Jhansl force which was 
expected to come in next morning, and to have them encamped outside the 
Ajmir Gate. 

16th July 1857 . ...,...The officers of Jhansi attended and presented their 
swords and pistols in token of their devotion. The King, with extreme 
munificence, bestowed 2,000 rupees for their immediate expenses. 

17th. 'J.uly 1857.-A report being made t~at two regiments of infantry 
had arrIved from Ambala, orders were Issued that Mirza Moghal 
was to assign them quarters amongst the regiments which had previously 
come. 

18th July 1857.-Several spies of the English were apprehended at the 
grave-yard, and were brought in as prisoners. . 

2nd August 1857.-A petition arrived from the Governor-General 
:Bahadur that the rebel enemy had been compelled to retreat. An order was 
IJassed on it that it should be deposited in the office. 

4th August 1857.-General Sidhari Singh, of the Neemuch troops 
and other illustrious officers having paid their respects, submitted their plans 
for driving the English away from the ridge, and the King continued conver. 
sing with them on this subject. 

5th August 1857.-The King issued two orders, the one to the address 
of Nawab Wali Dad :Babadur, in answer to his petition, intimating that 
troops will be sent to him after the capture of the ridge occupied by the 
:British j and the other to the Rajah of Alwar, directing him to forward his 
tribute with a petition. 

6th August 1857.-The King was occupied listening to accounts of the 
bravery and valour of the troops, when intelligence suddenly arrived that 
the valiant army had crowned the heights of the ridge, and orders were 
immediately issued for the despatch of more troops and ammnnition. 

7th August 1857.-It was reported that the army, having gone into the 
batteries, was now devotedly engaged in hostile operations. Near the close 
of the day the awe-inspiring intelligence ~a8 submitte~ that the magazine 
in the quarter called the Mohalla J ohanwalla had acClaentally been fired, 
and that the men and women who had been employed there as labourers 
were burnt, as if they had been roasted, and that the building was destroyed 
by the explosion. When the infantry soldiers, Illways readr to take 
advantage of any pretext for acts of oppression, beard of thIS matter, 
instigated by some ill-disposed characters, they immediately got up a false 
imputation against his Excellency the respected of the State (the cou~t 
physician), of having had the place fired, and plundered and destroyed hIS 
bouse and whatever came to each one's hand he carried off. Even the 
house; of the neighbours were plundered. The King was very' much 
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enraged on hearing this, and took the physician into his own protection; 
he further had a proclamation made, that all those who had any of the 
physician's prop,erty were to restore it immediately, otherwise their bellies 
would be ripped open. After this the King thought on God the avenger, 
and gave utterance to the.follC'wing impromptu quatrain:.,-

My enemies assembled in force on all sides. 
o Ali! all·powerful, for, G"d's sake! 
Thou has sent an unseeu army to my aid; 
It is from thee I supplicate Vi"tOl:y in my prayers. 

The following paper, No.:--, is now read in the original, and the 
translat~on of it is entered as follows:-

" Wi,th the apFroving sanction of God. The Lord of the nation.'; 

'~Exposition of Ii letter written regarding the victory of the faith." 

1\,11 you rajahs are famed for your virtues, noble qualities, and liberality~ 
and are moreover the protectors of your own faith and of the faith of others. 
Keeping your welfare in view, I Immbly submit that God has given you your 
bodily existence to establish his different religions, and requires 'you 
severally to learn the tenets of your own different religious institutions, and 
you aC90rdingly continue firm i.n them. God has moreover sent you into the 
world in your elevated position, and given y'011 dominion and government 
that you may destroy those who harm your religion. It is incumbent, 
therefore, on such of you as haye the power to kill those who may injure your 
religion, and on such. as have not, to engage heartily in devising means for 
the same end, and thus protect your faith; for it is written.in your Scriptures 
that martyrdom is preferable to adopting, the religion of another. This is 
exactly what God has said, and what is evident to everybody. 'l'he English are 
people who overthrow all religions. You should understand well the object 
of destroying the religions of Hindustan; they have for a long time been 
causing books to be written and circulated throughout the country by the 
hands of their priests, and, exercising their authority, have brought out 
numbers of preachers to spread their own tenets: this has been learned 
from one of their own trusted, agents. Consider, then, what systematic 
contrivances they have adopted to destroy our religions. For instance, first, 
when a woman became a widow they ordered her to make a second marriage. 
Secondly, the self-immolation of wives on the funeral Fyres of their deceased 
husbands was an ancient religious custom; the English had it discontinued, 
and enacted their own regulations prohibiting it. Thirdly, they told people 
it was their wish that they (the people) should adopt their faith, promising that if 
they did so they would be respected by Government; and further required them. 
to attend churches, and hear the tenets preached there. Moreover, they 
decided and told the rajahs that, such, only as were born of their wives 
would inherit the' government and property, and that adopted heirs 
would not be allowed to succeed, although, according to your Scriptures, ten 
different sorts of heirs are allowed 'shares in the inheritance. By this 
contrivance they will rob you of your governments and possessions, as they 
have already done with Nagpur and Luknow. Consider now another of 
their designing plans: .they resolved on compelling prisoners, with the 
forcible exercise of their authority, to eat their bread. Numbel'~ died of 
starvation, but did' not eat it, others ate it, and sacrific~d their faith. They 
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now perceived that this expedient did not succeed. well, and accordingly 
determined on having bones ground and mixed with 1l0ur and sugar, so that 
people might unsuspectingly eat them in this way. They had, moreover, 
bones and llesh broken small and mixed with rice, which they caused to be 
placed in the markets for sale, and tried, besides, every other possible 
plan to destroy our religions. At last some Bengali~ after due reflection, said 
that if the troops would accede to the wishes of the English in this matter 

. all the Bengalis w,ould also conform to them. The English, hearing this, 
approved of it, ane! said, "Certainly this is an excellent idea,'~ never 
imagining they would be themselves exterminated. They accordingly now 
ordered the Brahmans and others of their army to bite cartridges, in the 
making up of which fat had' been used. The Mussulman soldiers perceived 
that by this expedient the religion of the Brahmans and Hindus only was in 
danger, but nevertheless they also refused to bite them. On this the 
English now resolved on ruining the. faith of both, and blew away 
from guns all those soldiers who persisted in their refusal. Seeing 
this excessive tyranny, the soldiery now, in self-preservation, began killing 
the English, and slew them wherever they were found, and are now considering 
means for slaying the few still alive here and there. It is now my firm 
conviction that if these English continue in Hindustan they will kill 
everyone in the country, and will utterly overthrow our religions; but 
there are some of my countrymen who have joined the English, and are now 
fighting on thej.r side. I have rellected well on· their case also, and hav~ 
come to the conclusion that the English will not leave your religion to 
both you and them. You should understand this well. Under these 
circumstances, I would ask, what course have you decided on to protect 
y'bur lives and faith? Were your views and mine the same, we might 
destroy them entirely with a very little trouble; and if we do so, we shall 
protect our religions and save the country. And as these ideas have "been 
cherished and considered merely from a concern for the protection of the 
religions and liv~ of all you Hindus and Mussulmans of this country, 
this letter is printed for your information. AU you Hindus are hereby 

. solemnly adjured, by your faith in the Ganges, Tulsi, and Saligram; 
and all you M ussulmans, by your belief in God and the Kuran, as these 
English are the common enemy of bQth, to unite in considering' their 
slaugJJ.ter extremely expedient, for by this alone will the lives and faith of 
both be saved. It is expedient, then, that you sho.uld cO!lolesce and. slay 
them. The slaughter of kine is regarded by the Hmdus as a great msult 
to their religion. To prevent this a solemn compact and agreement has 
been entered into by all the Mahomedan chiefs of Hindustan, . binding 

. themselves, that if the Hindus will come forward to slay the Enghsh, the 
Mahomedans will from that very day put a stop to the slaughter of cows, 
and those of them who will not do so will be considered to have abjured the 
Kuran, and such of them as will eat beef will be regarded as though they 
had eaten pork j but if the Hindus will not gird their wins. to kill the 
English, but will try to save them, they will be as guilty in the SIght of God 
as though they had committed the sins of killing cows and eat~ng llesh. 
Perhaps the English may, for their own ends, try to &ssure the Hmdus that 
as the Mussulmans ha'Ve consented to give up killing cows from respect f?r 
the Hindu religion, they will solemuly engage to do the same, and '!'Ill 
ask th~ Hind~s to join them .gaillst the MwsWmana; but no senSIble 
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man will be, guUed by such, deceit, for the solemn promises and professions 
of the English are always deceitful and interested. Once their ends are 
gained they will infringe their engagements, for dooflption has ever been 
habitual with them, and the treachery they have always practised on the 
people of. Hindustan is known to rich and poor. Do not therefore give 
heed to what they may say. Be well assured you will never have such an 
opportunity again. We all know that writing a letter is equivalent to an 
advance half way towards fellowship. I trust you will all write answers 
approving of what bas been proposed herein. This letter has been printed 
under the direction of Moulavy Syad Kutb Shah Sahib, at the Bahaduri 
press, in the city of Bareilly. 

The following extracts from a native paper called the ffSuraj_ul_Akhbar,n 
are now read in the original. Translations of them are entered as follows :-

Tuearlag, 25tl& AUfIU8t 1857.-The time between dawn and daylight hav­
ing been passed in the usual necessart religious observances, the respected of 
the State (the physician) was allowed the honour of inspecting the royal 
pulse. The King then took his seat on the throne in state, and the great and 
dignified nobles of the realm, being allowed the honour of appearing in the 
royal presence, discharged with extreme respect their devoirs and obeisances. 
His Majesty inspected two orders prepared in the royal secretariat office, the 
one addressed to Bahadur Ali Khan, Hasan Ali Khan, Durgaprashad, and 
Bhup Singh, officers of the troops at Peshawnr, directing them to make aU 
haste in coming to the royal presence, and to bring a suitable amount of trea. 
sure with them, and the other to the prince royal, Mirza Muhammad Kochak, 
ordering him to distribute the pay of the N asirabad force. After inspection, 
these orders were sealed with the special seal, and despatched agreeably to 
the royal permission. His ,Majesty then proceeded to bestow consid~ration 
on the following petitions. First.-A petition from Tanawar Ali Khan, son 
of Muhammad Abdul Ghafar Khan, resident of Mustafabad, otherwise called 
Rampur, professing fidelity aud allegiance, and avowing his intention of com. 
ing to the roral preseuce. Secondly.-A petition from Rajah Nahar Singh, 
Chief of BallabhgaJ:\l, through Mir Fateh Ali Khau, making professions of heart­
felt fidelity, allegiance, zeal, and good-will. Thirdly.~A petition from Waris 
Muhammad Khan of Bhupal, reporting the slaughter of 56 of the accursed 
English, and enclosing copy of a proclamation issued . to the residents of the 
city and couutry, to engage in like manner iu the destruction of the damnable 
infidels, and moreover soliciting the honour of a royal missive. Fourthly.-A 
petition from 'Kashi Rao Bolkar, of Indore, expressive of his devotion and 
zealous activity in the service of the King; avowing his fixed purpose and 
determinate resolve to ruin and exterminate the English, clever in all villainy; 
and forwarding five of the heads of enemies killed. Fifthly.-A petition from 
Muhammad Amir Khan, son of Ghulam Muhammad Khan, son:>f Abdul 
Samad Khan, resident of Dojana. 

Having perused the above petitions, his Majesty decided that answers 
should be sent, after further considel'ation. . 

The officers of the army, coming into the ro;al presence, submitted that 
as Muhammad Bakh! Khan, Governor-General Bahadur, had gone with his. 
Majesty's victoriolls forces in the direction of. Alapur, to tight agaiIi.st tho-



176 TRIAL OF EX-KING OF DELHI. 

infidel enemy, and was now engaged in active operations against them, it was 
necessary that reinforcements should be sent to his assistance. On this 
representation, orders were accordingly issued that a further portion of the 
troops should be sent in that direction. 

After this his Majesty retired to his private kingly hall: at noon he par­
took of the delicacies presented for dinner, after which he enjoyed a siesta. 
He then went through the prayers appointed for the first of the daily five 

_ times, continued occupied in such. pastimes as those he delights in, and then 
read the prayers of the second time. Near the close of the day he honoured the 
respected of the State (the court physician) by allowing him to feel his 
pulse; after this he condescended to visit the luxuriant garden of Salimgarh 
for relaxation and pleasure. Returning from Salimgarh, his Majesty retired 
to his private hall. The officers of the force stationed at Teliwara rt'pre~ented 
the irregularity of no force being sent to relieve them. After this he again 
came into the hall of special audience; and held a levee, but retired again 
shortly, much agitated and displeased. After sunset those in attendance at 
court were honoured with permission to leave. 

) 

Wednesday, 26th AUf/ust 1857.-Having passed the time between dawn 
and sunrise in the observances suited to that portion of the day, his Majesty 
allowed the respected of the State (the court physician) to feel his pulse, and 
then took his seat in state on the throne, the exalted nobles in attendance 
forming a circle like a halo round the moon. The officers of the army submit­
ted tha.t reinforcements should be sent to the aid of the forces which had gone 
out to combat with the enemy, and were now engaged in this laudable service. 
Orders were accordingly issued that the whole army, infantry and cavalry, 
were to go. After this, the King having inspected the three following orders 
prepared in the royal secretariat office, they were attested with the seal, and 
the King gave permission for their being despatched: 

1. An order to the officers of the army, directing that the one­
half of the forces should proceed to the Najafgarh battery, and the other 
to th~ Teliwara battery. 

2. An order to 'Mirza Muhammad Zohur-ud-din Bahadur, regarding 
his investment with power to forgive offences, and to consid~r the army 
under his orders. . 

3. An order to Thakur Chaman Singh, to bring some more of his 
brothers. 

A petition having been received from Shahzada Muhammad Azim Bahadlir, 
representing his difficulties in consequence of the arrival of the enemies' 
forces, and requesting that reinforcements, including artillery, might be sent 
to his assistance, the king gave orders that a royal missive in reply should be 
written. After this, the King retired from the court to his private 
apartments; at noon his Majesty partook of the delicacies presented for 
dinner, and then retired to take his siesta. Having gone through the 
prayers of the first of the five times, he occupied himself with such 
amusements as lie is rartial to, and then read the prayers of the second· 
time. Near the close of the day, his ~ajesty. accompanied by. all the 
nobles of the State, went to the Salimgarh garden for recreation and 
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amusement. He returned in the evening, and retired to his private 
apartments. 

Thursday, 27th August 1857.-Rising at dawn, and passing lome 
time in the customary religious .observances, the King ponoured the respected 
of the State (the court physician) by allowing him to feel his pulse. His 
Majesty then took his seat in State on the throne, when his illustrious sons, 
and the exalted nobles of the realm, paid their respects. Ba1deo Singh Kundla 
Kush presented his nazar, when, with excessive kindly condescension, he 
was honoured with the gift of a pair of shawls as treasurer of the infantry, 
and he accordingly presented the usual nazar to shew his thankfulness 
for this honour, which was accepted. The King next examined the six 
following orders, which had been prepared in the royal secretariat office, 
and, after inspection, permitted their being attested with the special seal 
and desp,atched: . '. . 

1. An order to Mirza Muhammad Khair Sultan :Bahadur. assuring 
him that he was invested with full powers in regard to arrangements 
for raising money. and that no representations in this matter from any 
person whatsover would be heeded. 

2. An order to Mirza Moghal Bah ad ur, Mirza Khair Sultan 
:Bahadur, the officers of the army, and the members of the court of delibera­
tion. to the effect that money having been twice received from the merchant 
Ramji Das Gurwalla, he was on no account to be subjected to any further 
demand. 

3. An order to Mirza Abdul Hasan, otherwise Mirza Abdulla Bahadur. 
in answer to the petition of Amir Khan of Dojana, directing his attendance 
at court. 

4. An order to Kashi Rao Holkar of Indore, directing his attendance 
at court. 

5. An order to Rajah N ahar Singh, . Chief of :Ballabhgarh, intimating 
that a dun horse had been received, and directing him to entertain no fears 
of being molested by the army. .. 

6. An order through Fateh Ali J.(han to Tanawar Ali Khan, son of 
Abdulla Khan of Rampur, directing his attendance. Some troopers com­
municated particulars of the success, valour, and enterprise of the troops, 
and particularly of the Neemuch force; they also communicated the gather­
ing of the peasantry round Najafgarh. Feeling indisposed,' his Majesty 
issued orders for the immediate attendance of the court physician. and re­
tired to his private apartments. At noon, his Majesty ate of the delicacies 
presented for his dinner, and then took his siesta: after this he discharged 
the prayers of the second of the five daily times, continued engaged in the re­
creations he is partial to, and then read the prayers appointed for the third 
time of the day. The court physician, being in attendance. prepared and 
gave his Majesty a cooling draught. Near the close of the day all who. had 
been in attendance at court were allowed to lea\·e. 

Friday, 28th August 1857:-Having discllarged the usual religious ob­
servances, the King permitted the court physician to feel his pulse, and then 
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came into the hall' of special audience, where the nobles and chiefs of the 
;realm paid their respects. Khwaja Ismail Khan, a resident of Calpi', came 
forward and presented the offering usual on admission to the royal presence. 
His Majesty, feeling weak, then retired to his private apartments.. At noon 
he enjoyed his dinner, then took his siesta, afterwards he discharged the 
prayers appointed for the second and tbird times of the dillY, drank a cooling 
draught prepared by the court physician, and dismissed his retinue for the 
day. '. 

The four following orders were then attested with the special seal, and. 
issued agreeably to his Majesty's commands. . 

,1. An order to Muhammad Saft, brigadier, &0., in answer to his· 
petition, assuring him tbat his Majesty was not displeased or angry with 
him, nor did. he entertain any suspicions against the Neemuch troops. 

2. An order to Mirza Rahmat Bahadur to pay up the rent of the Imam­
bara, which is appropriated to the expenses of the department called the 
~'Nazar Nisar." • 

3. An order to Ahmad Ali Khan, Chief of Farrukh-nagar, directing; 
him to send some matchlocks. 

4. An order to Bahadur Jang, regarding the theft ill his territory of 
a string of 14 camels. 

A petition from Abdul Latif Khan, Chief of Kbanpur, promisin~ 
to come to court, and to bring some elephants with him, and representing 
that he had been unwell. 

John Everett, a Risaldar, late of the 14th Regiment of Irregular Cavalry,. 
and now of the Constabulary Force, Examined by Judge-Advocate. 

Question.-Were you at Delhi on the 11th of May 18571 . 

Answer.-I was. 

Question ........ Relate what you then witnessed in. refer.ence to the out­
break? 

Answe'r.-About nine o'clock in the morning the mutineer. from. 
Meerut entered the city, and the alarm was given that they were killing 
the European gentlemen and all the Christians. Half an hour afterwards 
I heard the report of musquetry near the' magazine. I remained quiet in 
the house till evening, being unwell, and only at Delhi on sick kaye; but 
not thinking myself safe in the hired house in which I was living, I went, 
about dark, into Colonel Skinner's compound and remained there all night. 
Very early next morning I went to Mirza Azim Beg's house (a Sirdar 
Bahadur and a pensioner from the lst Irregular Cavalry), and asked him to 
keep me in his house during the day, and at any rate to get me out of the 
city. He told me to remain quiet in his house, and that he would try and 
do 80. I remained there for a day and a night, and the second day he told 
me that his neighbours had got intelligence of my being hid in his house. 
Mr. George Skinner was also in his house. Mirza Azim Beg, with whom 
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'We were staying, went to the palace for the purpose of getting a guard from 
the King for our protection. He was away an hour on his errand, and then 
sent me word that the King's physician, viz., Ahsan Ulla Khan, was very 
angry at his protecting Christians in his honse (Ahsan Ulla Khan was a 
relative of Mirza Azim Beg), and desired that we were to get out of his 
house immediately. I accordingly left his house as he desired, but Mr. 
George Skinner remained concealed in the apartments of the females of the 
establishment. I had got away about 200 yards from the Sirdar Bahadnr's 
house, when I saw some of the mutineer sepoys. A masjid was close to me, and 
I thought if I could get into it and remain qniet, the mntineers would pass 
on j but just as the mutineers came in line with the masjid, some one recog­
nized me and called out to the mutineers that there was a Christian in the 
masjid. They accordingly made me a prisoner; they then went to the 
house of Mirza Azim Beg, and also made a prisoner of Mr. George Skinner. 
Both of ns were being taken to the kotwali; but bf;lfore we had reached it, 
about 11 troopers from the 3rd Light Cavalry came g.illoping up and asked 
the sepoys, "Who are you taking prisoners? Are they Christians ?" They 
replied "Yes," when some of the .troopers drew their pistols, and said, 
"Why take them to the kotwali at all; why not kill them bere?" The 
others replied, "The kotwali is not far off, let them go there, and you 
can then do as you like." On reaching the kotwali the sepoys made a report 
to the kotwal, saying they had brought two children, prisoners. The 
kQf;wal gave no answer, and a trooper came up to Mr. George Skinner and 
caught him by the heir of his head, and pnlling him away about 50 paces, 
from the kotwali, and placing him in front of the .canal wall, shot him with 
his pistol j several other shots were fired at him by some other troopers, 
and he fell dead. I stood before the kotwali . thinking they would come and 
take me j but the troopers after killing Mr. Skinner, galloped off to the fort. 
I was then ordered by the havildar at the kotwali, to go and sit among the 
prisoners; and there I remained for 25 days with 40 others, men, women, 
and children, all Christians j after which we were released in consequence 
()C a Moulavy, by the name of Muhammad Ismail, giving evidence that we 
were all Mahomedans, and that if there were any Christians they would become 
Mahomedans, and that it was not lawful to kill such as turn to Mahomeda­
nism of their own accord. We were not, however, allowed to leave the city. 
I then went to live with an African of th~ name of Moujud. 

Question.-Had you had any intercourse or intimacy with this man 
previously. 

Answer.-'-I knew the man very .well, ashe had been in Colonel 
Skinner's service formerly, and had left it; about the year 1842. 

Question.-At the time of the outbreak, in whose service was this 
African? 

Answer.-In the King's service; he had been.so some years. 

Qllestion.-Did he ever try and induce you to leave the Company's ser­
vice, and go over to that of the King? 

Answer.-Yes, he did speak to me about it, viz., about three days pre .. 

• 
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vious to the outbreak j he came to my }Iouse while I was looking at horses 
to purchase for my corps, and said he wished to speak to me. I went aside 
with him, and. he then said," You had better leave the Company's service, 
and with your troop come over to that of the King." He said this in the 
way of friendly advice. I asked him his reason. He said, "This hot wea~ 
ther you will see the Russians all over the place." I laughed at the fellow's 
ideas, and told him to go away just then, as I was busy, and I would see him 
some other time. This conversation took place on Saturday, the 9th of 
May 1857, at II a. m. He did not come back, however, and when I was re~ 
leased from the kotwali I went to him, and he said to me, rc Did I not tell 
you to come away? " And he then went on to tell me that there was an 
African; of the name of Kambar, that had been sent from here,two years 
before the outbreak, to Constantinople j he also mentioned that this man 
Kambar had left De]hi on the pretence of going to Mecca, but had really been 
sent as an ambassador from. the King of Delhi, to get some help from 
Russia: and that this man Kambar, on leaving Delhi, had made a promise 
that he would return in two years. 

Question.-During your stay with J\foujud, did you get aLY further 
intelligence from him relative to the outbreak? 

Answer.-No, not exactly in reference to the outbreak; but he used to 
return home at night, and give me the news of the day; alld on one occasion 
he told me that the King had assembled all his sons and his men of note at 
a public durbar, and remarked to them that since tIle battIe at Ghazi-ud din­
nagar, he.had observed that they had been gradually sneaking away from 
their attendance 011 him, and that he imagined this must be through a fright. 
The King added, that this was the time when they should all unite, and 
heartily combine to drive the British off the ridge. "If you do not do so," said 
he, " mark my words: if the British ever enter Delhi again, they will not 
leave one soul alive of the descendants of Taimur Shah." 1'his man Moujud 
was the chief of 10 or 12 Africans in the service of the King jbe was a 
private special attendant of his, and was always by his side, and I think his 
statements to me may be perfectly relied on. 

Question.-Did this man Moujud offer you money or any other induce­
ments to quit the Company's service? 

Answer.-No. 

Question.-Do you know whether his proposal to the above effect emanat. 
cd from the King or any high official in the palace? 

Answer.-I did not take it as such; I merely thought it the man's 
own foolishness. 

Question.-Are you aware whethcr any other pcrsons in the military 
service -of the Company were ever solicited to go' over to the King? 

Answer.-Not to my knowledge. 

Queslion.-Did you ever hear the men of your regiment talking about 
the chapatis that were cireulatedfrom village to village before the ,outbreak? 

• 
I 
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Answer.-No; I was on leave at my own village at the time, and all 
that I heard in reference to the subject was, that the chapatis were going 
about, and that nobody could make out the meaningofit. 

Question.-How long had you been in Delhi previous to the 11th 
ofMa)'? 

Answer.-About 13 or 14 days. 

Question.-During that time, had you heard the people saying and 
speaking among themselves to the effect that any disturbance was soon 
likely to oecur? 

Answer.-No, I was sick. and had little intercourse with the Deihi 
~~~. . ' 

Queslion.-You have said that Moujud told you, after the outbreak 
that the Rm,sians would soon be all over the place; do you know whether 
tllis was the general belief of the people of the city. 

Answer.-Yes, I think it was; the subject was one of general conversa­
tion among the Mahomedans with whom I was able to have intercourse; 
they said they expected the Russians this hot season. 

Question.-Had you, previous to the outbreak. any conversation with 
the native officers and meu of your regiment, on the subject of the Company's 
Government? 

Answer.-A Mahomedan officer of the 14th Irregular Cavalry, by 
the name of :Mirza Taki Beg, said it was written in his books that a change 
would take place, and that the British rule would soon be overthrown. 
This was at Peshawur. I am not sure whether it was in the year 1855 
or 1856. 

! Question.-Have you. ever heard any persons remarking on the length 
of time the English l'ule had lasted,and that in the .common order of evenh 
it could not exist much longer? 

Answer.':-'No. 

Question.-From what you know, were the Hindus in Delhi, or the 
Mussulmans, most averse to ~he Company's Government. 

Answer.-The Mussulmans. 

Question.-Did you ever hear that the King of Persia was coming with 
an army to India; or did you ever hear the war between: the 'English and 
Persians particularly alluded to by the natives? 

Answer.-No, I never nsed to talk with the natives on this subject, 
.as I got"my infOl'mation from reading the English newspapers. 

Question.-Do you know whether the expected coming of the Russians 
was believed in by the natives or talked about by them before the outbreak? 

Answer.-No, I cannot speak to the point, as I never had any inter­
course with the natives. 
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Examined by CQUl't. 

Question.-From anything you Ileard whilst in Delhi, have YOIl the lea~t 
reason to suppose that the prisoner joined the mutinous army unwillingly? 

Answer.-I can only declare what I have beard; that at the first com­
mencement the King was unwilling; but when he found himself implicated, 
he joined afterwards, viz., in about a fortnight. This is mere hearsay, and 
I can produce.no authority for it. 

Ghulam Abbas, the prisoner's attorney, re-examined by 
. Judge Advocate. 

Question.-Look at these 12 papers, and say whether you think them 
genuine or not? 

Answer.-Those which have the orders in pencil at the top are cer­
tainly genuine, for the pencil orders llre in the hand-writing of the prisoner. 
I have no reason to suppose that the other papers are not genuine; those 
which have the cypher iu pencil· are also genuine, as the cypher is in the 
King's writing. 

These papers are now read 'by the interpreter in origina.l, and the trans­
lation of them is read and entered as follows :-

No. I.-PETITION of Mukund Lal, dated Two p. m., TUet!day, 18th 
August 1857. 

To, the Nourisher of the Poor! 

Respectfu:lly sheweth,-THAT when the King, after holding Ilis Court 
had retired to his own apartments, Moulavy Fazl-ul-Hak, Nawab Ahmad 
Kuli Khan ~ahadur, Budhan Sahib and Mirza Khair Sultan Bahadur, had 
the orders written which are detailed below; that all the officers of the 
al'llly came to Nawab Ahmad Kuli Khan, demanding money for expenses; 
and that the King again came out at 12 o'clock. I have submitted these 
matters for your information. Moreover, all the orders above referred to 
came under the King's inspection. The queen of the world* Iwas asleep, 
and the seals have :therefol'e not been affixed. They will, however, be affixed 
at three o'clock. It is now two o'clcck p. m., and though the King's Court 
for the day has been ended, the whole of the officers are still sitting about 
Nawab Ahmad Kuli Khan.t 

I. To the address of Rao Tularam. To send money. Written as 
directed by the Shamshir-ud-dowlat. 

2. To the address of Rao Tularam. Ordering the remittance of money 
in reference to Sadhrowli. Written as directed by the Shamshir-ud-dowlat. 

3. To the address of Jiaji Scindiah. Written as directed by General 
Ghulam Ghoua Khan. 

• Zinat Mahall. t Or the w!lole or the officers are besetting Nawab Ahmad Xuli Xhau. 
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4. To. Baija Bai. Written as directed by General Ghnlam Ghons 
Khan. 

5. To Rana Bhagavant Singh, Ditto ditto. 

6. To the address of Chandhari :Manbedhar. Written as directed by 
General Ghnlam Ghous Khan. 

7. To the address of Moulavy Wazir Ali. Written as directed by 
Gen.eral Ghulam Ghons Khan. 

8: To the officers of the Mhow and Indore troops.. Written ~s direct­
ed by General Ghulam Ghous Khan. 

9. To the officers of the Morar troops. Written as directed by Gene­
ral Ghulam. Ghous Khan. 

ID. To the address. of Bakhsish Ali. Written .as directed by Hasan 
Baksh Uzbegi, dire~ting the enlistment of 500' Infantry for Malagarh. 

II. Passport to Lukhnow, agreeably to the request of Muhammad 
:Baksh. Written as directed by Kuliyat Ulla Beg Khan, and Hasan Baksh 
Khan U zbegi. \ . 

12. To Rao Tularam. To remit the revenue of Sadhrowli. Written 
as directed by the Shamshir-nd-dowlat Bahadlir. 

i3. TO' Rao Tular~m. To send in his trusted· accredited agent. 
Written as directed by the Shamshir-ud-dowlat Bahadur. 

14. To Rao Tularam. Tv send in treasure. Written as directed 
by the Shamshir-ud-dowlat lkhadur. 

15~ To Roo Tularam. To send in the revenue of Ta-nda. Malahaira. 

Written as directed by the Shamshir-ud-dowlat Bahadur. 

16. To Hasan Baksh Uzbegi. To realise the revenue of the Aligarh 
district. Written in the presence of Moulavy Fazl-ul-Hak, Shamshir-ud. 
dowlat, Bndhan Sahib, and Mirza Khair Sultan. 

, 17. To Faiz Ahmad. Appointing him to realise the revenues of the 
Bulandshahr and Aligarh districts. Written as directed by Moulavy 
Fazl-ul-Hak. 

18. To Walidad Khan. To aid the above two men in realizing the 
revenue; Moulavy Fazl-ul-Hak. 

19. To Rao Gulab Singh. To remit the revenue by the hands of 
Hasan .Baksh and Faiz Ahmad, 12,000 rupees. , . 

20. To Abdul Latif Khan of Khanpoor. To remit his revenue by 
the hands of Hasan Baksh and Faill Ahmad. 

21. To Muhammad Ali Khan of Chatauri. To remit his revenue 
by ilie hands of Hasan Baksh and Faiz Ahmad; 

22. To Ziohur Ali, of Dharmpur. To remit his revenue by the hands 
. of Hasau Baksh and Faiz Ahmad. . 



1840 TRIA.L OF EX-KING OF DELHI. 

23. To Mahummad Daud Khan, of Hakimpur. To rcmit his revenue 
by the hands of Hasan Baksh and Faiz Ahmad. 

24. To Rajah Damman Singh. To remit his revcnue by the hands of 
Hasan Baksh and Faiz Ahmad. -

25. To----( name illegible) of ShallUbad. '1'0 prescrve order ill 
his territory. Written as directed by the Nawab Sahih. 

26., To Moulavy Abdul Hak Kltan. To make arrangements fur rea­
lizing the revenue of the Gurgaon district. Written as directed hy Mou­
lavy Fazl-nl-Hak, whose nephew will go to Gurgaon. 

27. To Narayan Dass, merchant. To the effcct that no demand for 
money will be made. Written as directed by Mirza Khair Sultan .Bahadur. 
Petition of the slave Mukund Lal. No order or note of any kind. 

NOTE.-It does not appear to whom this petition was addrcssed j but 
i~ is probable that it was to Mirza Moghal. 

No. 2.-0RDER attested with the Official Seal of Colonel Mirza Muhammad 
Khair Sultan Bahadur, dated 9th June 1857. 

To the Officers and Subadars of the Army. 

MAY health and safety attend you. As'the troops which have been 
fighting here for their religion have, through the blessing of God, been' com­
pletely victorious, you are hereby directed, provided you still continue firm 
in your religious tenets, to come here at OIlCe, f-or you will be richly re­
warded by the Government, and will besides preserve .your religion and 
creed. It is confidently expected that the English will be all killed, where­
ever they may be. As for this place, not a single Englishman has beell 
left. Th~ King is now established on his throne. He has dune everything 
to keep your brethren of the army contented and satisfied, and has bes­
towed rewards on them. 

No. a.-AN ORDER from Mirza Muhammad Jawan Bakht, supposed to he 
in his own handwriting, Dated 9th June 1857. 

To the W ell-Wisher of unsuspected Fidelity, 1I1ir Ahmad Amir. 
MAY you continue in health and safety. A musket, dagger, and sword 

have just been received through Harprashad. This is written for your 
satisfaction. 

Note on the Reverse.-This receipt for a sword and mnsket was 
received in the police office on the 9th June 1857. Signature illegible. 

No. 4.-PETITION from the Officers of the Royal Treasury, 
Dated 11th June 1857. 

To the King! Shelter of the W orId! :May Lis prosperity cOlltinue. 

Respectfully sbewetb,-THAT agreeably to your ),Ia.1esty's orders, 1,000 
rupees have been paid througb Assistant Chamberlain 13asant Ali Khan, all 
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a present and on account of their daily allowances to the mell of the infantry 
reO'iment come from Sirsa. Your petitioner prays he may be graciously 
fa;oured with a receipt under your Majesty's signature. (Prayers for 
the prosperity of the reign.) 1,000 rupees. Petition of your Majesty's 
home-born slaves, the officers of the royal treasury. 

Autograph Order by the King, - in Pencil. 

This has rcached the royal presence. 

No. 5.-PETITION ftom the Officers of the Royal Treasury, Dated 15th 
June 1857. 

To the King I Shelter of the W orId I May his prosperity continue. 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT agreeably to your Majesty's orders, 1,300 
rupees have been paid to the troops come from Hareilly, partly as a present 
and partly on account of their daily allo'll ances. Your petitioner, therefore, 
prays that he may be graciously favoured with a receipt under the royal 
signature. . 

It was necessary and is therefore submitted. (Prayers for the prosperity 
of the reign.) 

Present, 
Allowances, 

Total 

" . Rs .. 1,000 
300 

" 
Rs. 1,300 

Petition of your Majesty's home-born slaves, the. officers of the royal 
treasury. 

Autograph note by the King, in Pencil. 

This has reached the royal presence. 

No. 6.-PE'fITION of Muhammad Murtaza Khan, Risaldar; no date. 
Date of a Note on the Reverse, 9th July 1857. 

To the King ! Shelter of the World, &c. 

RespectfUlly sheweth,-THAT agreeably to your J;oyal orders your 
petitioner and the men of the corps of cavalry have for a month and a 
half had their quarters in your Majesty's garden, generally known as that 
of Begam Sombre, and that, having had the bath-room under the house 
cleared of the accumulated filth and rubbish, at an expense of one rupee 
from their own funds, they have kept the cavalry appurtenances and accoutre­
ments there. The men of the regular cavalry, now come from Gwalior, 
have taken possession of the place, and the troopers of my corps are in 
consequence suffering great inconvenience from exposure to the rain, for 
besides this bath-room there is no other place of shelter in the gardcn 
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in question. I therefore pray that orders may be issued to tlie men­
of the regular cavalry, directing them not to disturb us in our oCCUpall(~y, 
but to search out some other quarters for themselves, or aiJ least to occupy­
one-half themselves and to l~ave t~El' other half to us. It was necessary, 
a~d I hav~ .therefore submItte~ It. (Prayers for the rrosperity of the­
reIgn.) PetitIOn of the slave IVhr Muhammad Murtaza Khan, Risal<lar. 

Autograph Order by the King," in Pencir~ 

Mirza Moghal will explain to the Gwalior troopers that they are t<>­
occupy half of the place, and are to give the other half to the Petitioners. 

A transcript of the King's order in. ink on the reverse. 

Note, also on the reverse.-According to ordells, a written. order. has­
been issued. Dated 9th July 1857. 

No. 7.-0RDER under the King's Autograph Cypher, in. Pencil, Dated" 
27th July 1857. 

To the Officers of the Royal Treasury. 

PAY 4,000 rupees from the money in your hands for the daily allowances, 
&c., of the army, and for the expenses connected with the magazine. Con. 
sider this imperative. 

4,000 rupees, the" half of which is 2,000 rupees. 

No. 8.-0RDER under the King's Autograph Cypher, in PencH, Dated; 
27th July 1857. 

To the officers of the Royal Treasury. 

SEND 1,000 rupees to the royal presence, that it may be given as If 
reward to the infantry come from Neemuch !-Allow no delay. Consider this 
imperative. 

1,000 rupees, the half of which is 500 rupees. 

No. 9.-RoUGH DRAFTS of three Orders from the King without 
Signature, S~al or Cypher. ~ote at top to . t~e effect, that copies have 
been written lD the Books, shoWIng that the orlgmals had been despatched, 
and that the office copies for record were subsequently made from these 
rough drafts.-First order, dated 21 August 1857. 

GHULAM MAU'UD-UD-DIN KHAN, subordinate collector of land revenue 
and the land-holders of Baghput.-With reference to vour application for" 
a military force, you are informed that Mirza Muhammad Shah and the 
son of "Mirza Haji are with you i and you, our slaves, are directed to exert 
yourselves with heart and soul in forwarding supplies. You are further 
directed to remain obedient to the troops, and to forward your revenue and 
your personal pecuniary offerings in token of your allegiance under the­
charge of your own trustworthy agents and the military. 
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Second.-Dated 21st August 1857. 

"fo ihe principal Farmers, Chiefs, Landholders, a~d Peasants of Sonepat, 
l'anipat, Najafgarh, Bahadurgah, &c., and to the VIllagers of the Mewant. 

You are hereby -directed to give full obedience and respect to the 
authority of Mirza Abdulla -Bahadur, son of Mirza Shah-Rukh Bahadur, 
(ind our own special grandson; and to that of the army of the Lord 
Governor-General Muhammad Bakht Khan Bahadur, proceeding in your 
direction; and all you, slaves, are further directed to furnish all necessary 
supplies agreeably to all such orders as you may receive from the said 
prince and the officers of the army. You are moreover directed to send 
all such money as you may be forwarding on account of the revenue, or' 
as offerings in token of your, allegiance in the charge of your own trusted 
men, acc:>mpanied by a milital'y guard from-the prince's army, and on 
no account to entrust it to the care of others ; observing every, precaution 
in this matter, act according to these royal orders. 

Third.-No date. 

To the Slave Siddhari Singh, and the whole of the Troops come from 
N eemuch, and to Hira Singh. 

Learn.-THAT you are hereby ordel'ed to proceed in the direction of 
Alapur, Panipat, and Sonepat, there,to join the troops come from Bareilly. 
In doing this, you will consult your pleasure; you are required to act with 
unanimity in the service of the state, and to allow no delay in your departure. 
This order has been issued at the request of the Lord Governor Bahadur. 

No. 10.-PETITION of Muhammad Khwaja Hasan Khan, deputed to 
.8aharanpur, &c., written from Muradnagar ; dated 9th September 1857. 

. To the King! Cherisher of the Poor, Lord of Mankind, &c. 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT your petitioner has before this, both bv 
petition and verbal messages, sent intelligence daily of the reported 
coming of the Europeans with six guns, for the purpose of desolating 
Muradnagar and Gazihabad, and destroying the bridge over the Rindan, 
and requesting to be favoured with reinforcements, that he might 
make a slaughter of the infidels. Your Majesty has not yet been pleased to 
bestow any aid. Information has just been obtained fl' om travellers com­
ing from Meerut, that the Europealls, accompanied by Ali Khan, the 'former 
subordinate collector of revenue in the service of the infidels, and bringing 
four guns, have left Meerut on their march iJ;l the direction of Muradnaga, 
with the object of attacking your petitioner and destroying the said bridge. 
Before this, some Europeans went with six guns from Rappar and burnt the 
village of Pilkhoah, killing nearly 150 of its inhabitallh. This force also 
intends moving in this direction. In consequence of this intelligence, your 
petitioner has taken np a position on the road with the whole force of cavalry 
and infantry, the men being kept under arms. Your petitioner has no 
reluctance to sacrifice his life in your Majesty's cause, but reflecting on the 
numerical weakness of his party, and the absence of artillery, h~ is, to some 
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extent, afraid that the bridge may be broken. Should the bridge be in any 
. way injured ( God forbid that it should be! ) the movements of the troops 

and the conveyance of supplies will be entirely hindered. Your petitioner 
trusts that a reinforcement in infantry and artillery may be speedily des­
patched by your Majesty, so that the infidels may be effectually resisted. 
( Prayers for the prosperity of the reign.) Petition of the slave Muhammad 
Khwaja Khan, deputed to Saharanpur, &c., written from Muradnagar, uu­
der date the 9th September 1857. 

Autograph Order by the King, in Pencil. 

Mirza Moghal will act in accordance with the requisition in tbe petition. 

Order on the reverse: (probably by Mirza Moghal in furthcrance of 
the King's order).-

~ 

The Brigade ::Major Sahib is directed to take such measures as may be 
necessary. 

Order, also on the reverse, by the Brigade Maj:>r apparently.-Let an 
order be written, directing the 14th Regiment of infantry to go out. Dated 
10th September 1857; year of reign, 21. 

No. n.-ORDER from the King, without Signature, Cypher, Seal, or 
. Date. (Fmbably an Office Copy). . 

To the Rajahs, Nawabs and other influential Residents of the Province 
of Allahabad. 

CONSIDER yourselves receiving the royal favour. As our special slave, 
the chief Ali Kasim, has been appointed to thc government of the provincc 
of Allahabad and the districts subordinate thereto, it will behove you to 
afford him your aid and co-operation in all matters, and in no instance 
to act contrary to his orders, or without his consent and approval. It 
is further incumbcnt that you should join him in exterminating the accurse(l 
English. If it shall appear that you have acted with zeal you will be 
gl'aciously rewarded; if not, it will not be well for you. 

Draft of an order on the reverse, without signature, 'cypher, seal, or date. 

To the N awab of :Banda. 

As our special slave, the chief Ali Kasim, has been appointed Governor 
of Allahabad, it will behove you, immediately on the receipt of this royal 
mandate, to join him with your artillery, cavalry and infantry, and extermi­
nate the English .. You are, moreover, directed not in any matter to act 
contrary to the views and wishes of the said. chief. You are to consider 
these orders extremely imperative, and are to act in accordance with them. 

No. 12.-PETITION of Syad lIfuhammad Hasan.-No date. 

To the King I Shelter of the World, &c., &c. 

Respectfully sheweth,-THAT your slave, the petitioner, has becn iu 
attendance since yesterday, but has not a place so much as to sit or stand iu. 
I therefore pray that some quarters may be assigned to me and my com pa-
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uions, in all 84 jahadis, where we may l'est ourselves. It was necessary, 
and we have submitted it. Petition of the' slave Syad Muhammad Hasan 
Jah~di, and well-wisher to his Majesty's cause. 

Autograph order of the King in pencil. 

You know what the state of the revenue just now is. May the jahadis 
be amply commended for all the meritorious deeds they are ~erforming. 

The following 18 papers are now read in . original by the interpreter 
·and the translations of them are read and entered by the Judge-Advocate, 
as follows:-

. No. l. ...... EXTRACT from the rc Auth~ntic News," page 285. 

LOCAL INTELLIGENcE.-Persia.-It is ascertained from newspapers from 
'Persia that the Persian King has issued orders to all his troops, not abso­
lutely employed in the different districts, to assemble and remain at Teher3Jl 
till further orders, which they have been told they will be expected to carry 
out with. heart and soul immediately on receipt. It is currently reported 
here that this demonstration against the Amir 'Dost Muhammad Khan is 
only a strategic move on the part of the King of Persia to cloak his real de­
sign of fighting against and conquering the English, because, confiding in 
the British power, Amir Dosl; Muhammad Khan has ·allied himself to the 
Epglish, and been the cause of all the dis.agreements between the English 
and the Persians. The King of Persia, however, has not openly thrown off 
at.nicable relations with the English, nOl: has he yet personally adopted a 
course of enmity against Amir Dost Muhammad Khan. It is nevertheless 
certain some change of feeling has taken place amongst the three Powers. 

No:2.~ExTRA.CT from the ct Authentic News," No. IV., Vol; III. 
dated 26th January 1857. 

LOCAL N Ews.-France.-The newspapers all agree in dechirbg that the 
King of France and the Emperor of Turkey have not as yet openly avowed 
themselves the allies of either the Eng1ish or the Persians; but the ambas­
sadors of these two opposite parties secretly visit the courts of both the 
. sovereigns above-mentioned, with gifts and presents. Some think that the 
King of France and the Emperor of Turkey will not mix themselves in thc 
quarrel between the Persians and the "English; . but most people say, that 
they will both side with the Persians. Whatever is ascertained hereafter will 
be published without fail. As for th.e Russians, however, they make no 
secret of the readiness with which they are assisting, and will continue to 
assist the Persians, whether it be with funds or with forces. It may be 
said that virtually the Russians are the cause of this war, and that using the 
Persians as a cloak, they intend to consummate their own designs regarding 
the conquest of Hindustan. It is to be believed that the Russians will very 
soon take the field in great force. If any thing further is ascertained, it 
will be published. Let the reade.rs of the tt Authentic News" be prepared 

,to see .wbat- theyeil.9f futurity will dis~lose. 
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No. a.-EXTRACT from the It Authentic.News," No. II., Vol. Ill., 
dated 16th March 1857, pp. 82 and 83. 

LOCAL NEws.-Court 01 Persia.-It is discovered from late Bombay pa­
pers received at this press, that the King of Persia one day summoned a 
ll,umberof Herat chiefs, together with his nobles, to his Court, and had· a 
conference with them regarding the war. After due deliberation, they all 
advised him unanimously to declare war against the' English, expressing 
their dependence that God would will his being victorious, for, said they, 
" Taking Herat, you will be in a pgsition as though you had reached the 
doorway into Hindustan." They further urged that the wish of the Rus­
sians, too, was that the Persians should go to war with the English, and 
should conquer India. On this the King declared, with an oath, that he was 
greatly pleased. with these courtiers, who had given advice so opposite to 
that of his perfidious Prime Minister, and solemnly promised that on reach­
ing india, he would appoint them to the Governorships of different provinces, 
viz., one to that of Bombay, another to that of Calcutta, a third to Poona, 
~d so on; and that he would bestow the crown on the King of Delhi. 
~ ust at this juncture, intelligence was brought that the Prime Minister had 
clandestinely sold the King's diadem, jewelled, with precious stones, through 
a. mercha.nt named Haji Ali, for a lakh and twenty-five thousand francs, 
giving him ( the merchant) a portion of the money. On this, the King 
sent for the wily Prime Minister, and questioned him on the subject, but he 
denied all knowledge of the business. The King then had the merchant ap­
prehended and,fined, and expressed his displeasure in no measured terms 
with the :Prime llinister for keeping np intrigues with people of other 
nations. It is reported that the duties of Prime Minister have been en~rusted 
to some other statesman. It is said that the Prime Minister above alluded to 
generally counselled the king to maintain a peaceable policy. It was 
reported to the ki.ng that the Emperor of Russia had sent an effective and 
thoroughly appointed army of 400,000 men, with abundant munition, to 
assist him, and that portions of these had ah'eady joined the Persians j and 
it was also reported that the Emperor of Russia had declared, that if the' 
force should be insufficient for the intended wars and slaughter, the 
constabulary army would also be sent. In answer to these communications, 
the k,ing spoke in terms of the highest praise of the Emperor Alexander 
of Russia,and issued instructions that funds for the expenses of the 
Russian army should be defrayed from his treasury, and that the courier 
from the. Russian army should not want for ~oything, or suffer any 
inconveniences. After this, the French ambassador submitted, as welcome 

'news, that his Hovereign, who had for some days been unwell, was now, 
by the blessing of God, restored to perfect health. The king, hearing 
this, said he thanked God for it. The Georgian ambassador now presented 
his master's compliments, and stated that contrary to the laws of England 
and Turkey, the sale of slaves of both sexes still continued in his country. 
Throughout Persia it is reported that the chief reason for the Persian king 
going to war with the English is, that for five successive generations, the 
occupants of the Persian throne, intending to. conquer India, had been 
accumulating all sorts of military munitions and had been laying by 
treasures j but that no one of them had been able to work up his resolutioll 
to the und.ertaking, and that/moreoverl Nasir-ud.diD, the present aovereign, 
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had himself long cherished the same wish, transmitted to him as it were 
hereditarily, when the present opportunity presented itself. On one side, 
Herat came easily into possession; on another, the unforeseen assistance 
of the Russians came to his aid; on a third, the nobles unanimously' 
counselled an advance on India, pr~dicting' that God would bestow victory; 
and ou a fourth, the whole nation rose and assembled as for a religious 
war, so that the King of Persia had no alternative but a declaration of _ 
war. It is also said that the Amir Dost Muhammad Khan, the ruler o( 
Cabul, is secretly in league with the King of Persia, while he professes to 
the English that he is at deadly enmity with him, urging as his reason that 
the sovereignty of Cabul had formerly always descended in lines of Shah 
Kamran and Shuja-ul-mulk, and that the King of Persia had appointed -the 
Prince Yusuf hiM vice-regent in the government of Herat; that this prince 
now counsels the King of Persia to take the sovereignty' of Cabul from the 
Amir, and to bestow it on him; that it is in consequence of this that the 
Persians are advancing towards Cabul, and that he seriously apprehends 

. that Prince Yusuf, assisted by the Persians, will finally take Cabul from 
the Afghans, in requittal for Shah Shujah-ul-mulk's dispossession. On 
leaving for- Cabul, the Amir wrote a letter to the King of Persia, that he 
was altogether a subject of the Persian sovereignty, and that he had no .. 
relations with the British Government. .. 

No. 4-KXTRACT from the cr Authentic News,'" No. XI., Vol. II., 
dated 19th March 185·7. 

PROCLAMATION of the King of Persia ... 

COPIES of a proclamation in the name of the King oiPersia liave Been: 
put up at the entrances to the streets and lanes oiDelhi. One of my friends 
took an exact transcript of the copy which had: been. put up ou the back of 
the J ama Masjid. This proclamatiou was seen by most- people. The­
purport of it,-iu a condensed form, is, that people professing the true faith 
should, as a matter of duty, eschew assisting the Christians, and should 
as being right and proper, exert themselves to the full extent of their­
ability to promote the welfare of the Mussulmans; that the time is at hand 
when, God willing, we, the King of Persia, will sit on the throne of India. 
and will make the king and people of that country contented and happy. 
In t~e same measure- as the English have done everything to make them 
destItute of even the 'means of subsistence. we will exert ourselves to make 

-them rich and afHuent_ We use no interference with any man's religion. 
Such is the substance of the proclamation. Moreover a person of the 
name of Muhammad Sadik Khan, oy means of whom this proclamation 
has been made public, writes, that up to the 6th instant, 900 Persian soldiers 
with some officers of high rank, had entered India, and 500 are staying in 
Delhi itself.in various disguises ; and, as an instance; he mentions himself 
particularly as having reached Delhi on the 4th March, and circulated all 
the copies of the proclamation. He says, that he receives intelligence from 
all parts. of the country, that he sends accounts regularly of every thing 
occurring here to the King of Persia, that he will communicate to all, by 
means of proclamations, every intelligence regarding the despatch and advance 
of the Persian tl'oops,.and whatever else may be worth making kIlown. 
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'People say, that this proclamation has l)een contrived merely to get ~p 
idle speculations, ' and being, of the same opinion, I too would ask, what is 
the object I)f Muhammad Sadik Khan's coming to Delhi? If his object is 
war, his coming in this way with such purpose is absolute absurdity. If he 
has .come as a spy, then his publishing his presence by.a proclamation is 
a. senseless inconsistency, and the e~penses of his mission a useless waste of 
money. Putting gain out of the calculation altogether, damage to his object 
is the likely result of such a course. Setting all this aside, however, it may 
be asked, what cause for rejoicing would the Hindus }Iave were the King 
of Persia to exercise . sway over India? From the proclamation, it appean 
that he intends himself to occupy. the throne of India. 'l'he Hindus would 
only then have cause to be pleased if the King of Persia, acting like Abbas 
Shah Safi, should~ enthrone our own king; and where would be the won­
der if he did so; for it -yras Taimur himself who bestowed sovereignty on the 
Persians, and it was reflecting on this that induced the said Abbas Shah· to 
assist Humaynn. 

No. 5.-ExTRACT frotnthe II Authentic News," No. XII, Vol. III, 
dated 23rd March 1857. 

PROCLAMATION in the name of the King of Persia. 

LATELY some designing and mischiev~us promoter of sedition of Del,hi, 
imagining notoriety would be fame, placarded a proclamation purporting to be 
from the King of Persia, on the back of the Jama Ma~jid, with the purpose 
of misleading the populace. The substance cJf this proclamation was, that 
the Mussulmans and Hindus should both refrain from helping the Christians, 
and that the King- of ,Persia will silortly conquer Hindustan, and bestowing 
rewatds and favours, will keep the people in peace and happiness. 'l'he man 
who circulated this proclamation has written his name as Muhammad Sadik 
Khan. It is said that the authorities at Delhi were very much annuyed by 
this absurd falsehood. I feel convinced, that if anyone will apprehend this 
misguided liar, he will get some pecuniary reward; but God knows whether 
he will or not. However, as for our good fl'iend Mr. Muhammad Sadik 
Khali, the forgerer, who issued this proclamation, we feel sure that if he falls 
into the hands of Government, a double-soled shoe steepecl in vinegar will be 
caused to make a precious good clatter OIl his scabby cl'anium, and his hair 
pretty well dishevelled. This fine gentleman with the alias will then learn 
that a house of bricks may be turned into dust, and how aptitude for such 
frolics may be expelled through the nose, much in same way as a cold in the 
head finds vent, and after. what fashion our fine fellows of this stamp may 
have the breath taken out of them. 

No. t).-EXTRACT from the Delhi'u Urdu News," No. XV" 

Vol. XIX., dated 12th April 1857 .. 

Local News.-Cabul,-A 'correspondent of the U Dehli Gazette," writ­
ing from Cabul under date the 29th March, says that the small force order­
ed by the Amir Dost Muhammad Khan, to punish the people of Pesh Bolak 
and Surju KhaH had returned to Jall~labad,. after, as it appears, all engage­

'ment with Muhammad Shah Khan, III whlCh nearly thll'ty of them were' 
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killed, and about the same number w~unded.' Although th A~'A 1.9...7Jlt7j 
took a great quantity of Muhammad Shah Khan's·bagg ,t~ 'Wlrqfl.,~ 
save his life, escaped to the 6rts in the country about Lu ha~~lfM:'J 
ther of Mirda'd Khan, had just arrived from Jallalabad, a . ~#thJ. 
correspondent that the saidAmir had marched in. the directio . f eg,' 
but it was not known then whether he would celebrate the fes 0 .the 
new year's day at BalJabagh or at Oabul: The brother of\. Mirdan K~rals(j 
mentioned that some English newspapers published in India were read to 
the Amir, in which the mismanagement of Government was canvassed in 
advancing money to the Amir, who, the papers said, was keeping up relations 
on both sides, and that on hearing this the Amir remarked, that when the 
English get into any difficul~y th~y ~xpended millions ,of pounds sterling, 
and that now when the PerSIans, lDstxgated by the RUSSIans, were planninO' 
the invasion of Afghanistan, with the ulterior design of disturbing th~ 
Government of India, the Governor-General had, with wisdom and 
judgment, (~onsidered his, the Amir's, alliance worth having. The corres": 
pondent adds, that it is much discussed at Cabul that in consequence of the 
instigation and mischievous designs of Sultan Muhammad Khan, Inam Haji 
is exciting the inhabitants of the hill country, and that it is also currently 
reported that Sultan Jan has, with intreaty and supplication, applied to the 
Persiau commander-in-chief at Herat for permission to invade Girrishk, 
affirming that the people of Girrishk have agreed to assist him on the con-
dition that the taxes be remitted for three years. . 

No.7.-ExTRACT from the Newspaper in the Urdu Tongue, styled 

" Compendium of News," No. VIII, Yol. I., dated 13th April 1857. 

Local News.~Persia.-Some days ago a proclamation was found pla­
carded on a wall of the Jams Masjid. A sword and shield were depicted 
on it, and the following, as coming from the Shah of Persia, was the subs­
tauce of tpe paper, viz :-That it was a religious obligation on aU true be­
lieving Muhammadans to gird their loins resolutely to assist the King of 
Persia, and to be faithfully subject and obedient to his authority, and to 
fight and contend against the English, so tbat vanquishing and routing 
them'in battle; they may receive and enjoy the favours~ rewards, and titles 
which the King of Persia will lavishly bestow on them. The proClamation 
also stated that the Persian King, or se~ond Jam, would very soon come to 
India, and annex this country as a dependency, and that great multitudes of 
people had already assembled, and were constantly repeating the following 
couplet, as if from some involuntary and irresistible impulse :-" Oh God, 
save the very dust of Persia fl'om the winds of misfortune, so long as even 
dust and wind may exist." The news writer states that the above is a transla­
tion from the Persian, but that it has not yet cometo pass, Severa~ peti­
tions without names have been given into the Magistrate's Court on the same 
subject; and in these it was also mentioned that a month }lence from this 
date. an overwhelming attack will be made onCashmcre, of the salubrity and 
beauty of which place a poet has said :-

That should a parched aud burnt up soul reach Cashmere; 
Though he might be a roasted fowl, . ' 
He would recover his wings and feat.hers. 
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and that this cool 'and heavenly country will come into the possession of tn~ 
writers of the petitions. The writer of this paper considers all this as mere 
senseless and absurd jesting and levity, for if countries are liable thus t~ 
slip out of the hands of governments, what is the use of armies? 

No. S.-EXTRACT from the Newspaper in the Urdu Tongue called th~ 
"Authentic News," No. XIX,'Vol. III., dated ilth May 1857. 

Proclamation of the King of Persia regarding the conquest of India. 
THE editor of the English newspaper called the PUlljabi, in his issue NOr 

XI., writes that on the capture of Mohumra" his cor.respondent found the 
translation of a proclamation in one of the prince's tents, the substance of 
which he communicated to the editor by electric telegraph, and which he 
now publislles for the perusal of his readers. The following is the purport of 
the proclamation: 

" Let it be known that the English Government first planted their 
victorious standard in India, and step by step subjugated all the powerful 
princes of the Eastern provinces. Some short time ago they conquered 
Afghanistap, but relinquished it in consequence of what they suffered from 
the restless turbulance of the Afghans. After this they took possession of 
the cities of Lahore and Peshawur, and of other free and independent countries. 
They now wish to come through Afghanistan and establish their sway in 
Persia also, and it is with this object that they are making friends of our 
neighbours and ,co-religionists, the Afghans, so that these' may allow them t() 
pass, and that they may then desolate and plunder Persia and cause disunion 
among the professors of the true faith. Moreover it has been heard that au 
English force, intended for the invasion of Persia by land, has already 
marched, and the English forces have taken a small maritime fort belonging 
to the Mahomedans, and have for its security placed a garrison in it, but the 
English do not allow their forces to adnnce, knowing that if they do so they 
will feel the temper and sharp edge of the Mahomedan swords, and would 
soon be on the ground struggling in the agonies of death like fish out of 
water. Shah Nasri-ud-din, King of Persia, therefore has the greatest plea­
sure in making the following proclamation :-

" Proclamation.-Let all the troops assemble at tIle different places on 
the frontiers of Persia to resist these ellemies professing an antagonistic 
faith. It behoves the Arab tribes to act up to the precepts of the prophet 
( blessed for ever be he ana his offspring). Slay all these who have 'caused 
you affliction in the same way that they intended to 'afflict you. It is now 
necessary that old and young, high and low, wi~e and foolish, peasant and 
soldier, should all without hesitation rise to the assistance of their co-religion­
ists, assume arms, raise the Mahomedan standard, and inform the members of 
their tribes of the declaration in the name of God, of a religious war of exter­
mination, for God will bestow the fruition of their hopes on those aefenders 
of the faith who will thus exert themselves, and we too will be much pleased 
with them. I have sent the noble amongst nobles, Mirza Jan Koshakchi 
Sabahi, the champion of the nation, the chiet' Mir Ali Khan, and other gene­
rals, officers, and chiefs, with 25,000 troops, to different parts of Persia. 
The Prince Nawab Shamsliir-ud-dowlat has been sent as commanding officer 
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with 11 force of 80,000 men to Mohumra. Ghulam Husan Khan, Duffadar, and 
.Jafir Kuli Khan have been sent with the cavalry regiments of Kurrachi DiggiP 
,to Kinnan. 20,000 troops well equipped and appointed have been sent to Azibia 
:and Karribia, and the Nawab Ahsan-us-Sultanat, with a force of 80,000 
men, 40 guns and other munit~ons, has been detached in the direction of 
Kutch and the Northern Provinces of Sindh. These forces have been 
thus • distributed that they may. conquer the frovinces of Afghanistan and 
then move onwards. The chief S.ultan Ahmad Khan. Shah .• Dowlat Khan, 
Sultan Ali Khan, and Mu.hammad -Alam Khan have beeu appointed to 
join .in the conquest of India in posts subor~inate to the above officers. It 
is fully to be expected, from God's blessing, that they Will be victorious. Ac­
-cordingly, now is the time for all the people 'of that country, and all the 
tribes ·of Afghans who believe in the Kuran, and walk in the precepts of 
GOlf's prophet, to join openly in the religious war of extermination, and to 
hold ·Ollt the hand of support to their brother Mahomedap.s, for' by doing 
so they willl'oop advantages both temporal and eternal. And as quelling 
disturbances along the frontiers even, is not so trifling a matter that it 
may ibe lI.'ealised by a small force of the faithful, it is incumbent on all 
Mussnlmans to assist with zeal and energy, Moreover, let it be known to 
aU the Afghan tribes, that it is no intention of the King of Persia to con­
quer and annex Afghanistan as a dependency j but that on the contrary, 
his real desire is that Kandahar should be subject to the chief's Rahimdil 
Khan and. Kohundil Khan, and that Cabul should continue, as heretofore, 
under the sway and government of tIle Amir Post Muhammad Khan, and 
that all the Afghans may, as before, have the blessing of liberty. It is 
incumbent ou the Amir Dost Muhammad "Khan personally, that he should 

. adopt the counsel of his relations, and assist the Mahomedans. acting up 
to the traditional precept of the prophet, that he who will assist a member 
of the faith will receive a good reward for. doing ~o. Hitherto, previous to 
the publication of this notice, Amir Dost Muhammad Khan nsed always 
to say, that if the armies of Persian should go against· a people of a dif. 
ferent religion, he would join them with arms and mouey. It is manifest 
that now the time he used to speak of has arrived" that is, that I have de­
clared war against the English solely in defence of the faith. Let the 
Amir Dost Khan now remember his promise, !lnd join me against the 
enemies of the Mussulmans, and let hi.m exert every energy in his power to 
slay them, fOl' no blessing, however great, can exceed the opportunity ·to 
<10 so. If he is killed he will be exalted to the dignity of a martyr, if he 
lives he will be called a defender of the faith. In every point of view; a reli­
gious war of extermination is a most meritorious undertaking. But (God 
forbid it SllOllld be so) if the Amir acts in a different way, first, he will have 
denied his religion j secondly, he will be disgl'aced in the estimation of the 
world; thirdly, he will be called a coward; and fourthly, the wrath of God 
will be sure to visit him," 

~ . The editor of the" Panjabi " says that the proclamation itself is a very 
lengthy paper, and that he has only an abstract of it, and the only good, he 
remarks, it seems to have done, as far all he can see, is that Mohumra was. 
taken, and this paper found, for otherwise it is very unlikely, it would ever 
bv~ come here~ '.It is quite enough~. however} that .thesull of. tho Eritish 
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prestige still shines unobscUl·ed. Itis to be confideutly believed that all the 
endeavours of the King of Persia will be to no purpose. 

Here ends the extract from the rc Punjabi." We now proceed to quote 
from the t~ Englishman." rc I~ is rumoured that an effective and well ap­
pointed force will shortly come through the Bolan pass, but we do not credit 
this report, as the hot season has set in. We hear that the chief SultaIf Jan, 
nephew of the Amir Dost Muhammad Khan, who, taking some offence 
against his uncle, had joined the King of Persia, is now coming with some 
troops from Furrah towards Kandahar, feeling his way as. he comes along. 
A body of Moghals, devoted to their faith, have proceeded in the direction of 
Persia. This event has caused much serious alarm to the Amir Dost Mu­
hammad Khan, as these Moghals are reputed to be men of both strong re­
ligious principles and martial qual,ificatioris." On the 23rd April 1857, 
Major Lumsden, accompanied by some European officers, and Foujdar Khan, 
the Government agent, arrived at Narab. The editor of the Kl,lrrachee news­
paper, called the" Sindhian," quoting the" Bombay Times," states in his 
issue, No 33, that there is a report to the effect that 50,000 Persians, office red by 
some three or four Russians, had recaptured Bushire, but that the English had 
again taken the place, and that 3,000 Russian~" who had part with the 'Per­
sians in this fight, had suffered a very heavy loss; that a very large force is 
gradually assembling in the north, ,and that he hears the Russians are in a 
great strength towards the Caspian Sea and Bokhara. 'rhe editor of the 
" Panjahi" writes that the Persians have fully completed their arrange­
ments, and have established cantonments in several places, as for instance,' 
at Awarganj, Kokan, Kursh, &c., where they have also accumulated large' 
stores of. necessaries. Ikram Khan, the chief Muhammad Azim Khan, 
Haidar Khan, Afzul and Jallal-ud-din Khan, the son of the late Akbar 
Khan, are in league with the King of Persia, and Ghulam Haidar Khan 
has even been honoured with a present of 36,000 rupees from the King of 
Persia, and is heart and soul devoted to him, and is looking out for the 
time when the roads will again be open. It will be nothing strange if the 
Persians shortly enter Kandahar, intending to advance farther. From" the 
statements of travellel'S coming from Peshawur, it appears that no reliance 
can be placed on tIle Amir Oost Muhammad Khan's engagements and 
compacts; but how observeable ill God's power, by which he is thus openly 
sustained, notwithstanding, it is said, that there is a very large assemblagc ' 
of the ,British troops just now at Peshawur. God forbid it; but should a 
hattle occur in that ,direction, a great slaughter will be the consequence. 
Just now, the source of news from Persia is close(1. Let not our readers 
imagine, as some ignorant people assert, that the British Government has 
prohibited the publication of intelligence. On the contrary, it is the wish 
of the Government that correct intelligence from distant 1)arts of the world 
should be placed before the eyes of the public generally, and that the 
whole country may benefit by the newspapers, and this is the reason why 
the authorities themselves read the papers with a trust and confidence in their 
faithfulness, and expend their own private funds to encouragc publishers and 
'Printers. But where is the help if the news itself is not forthcoming? However, 
let such as are interested ill news trom distant countries patiently look out for 
an early gratification, for the next mail will certainly bring news of recent, 

,dates, either of a peaceable or warlike ,character, and please Goel, I shall 
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publish them too with~)Ut freju~ice 0); bias, for. our ~ov~rnmer..t is a )u~t 
one, which does not J mder any In the free exerCIse of hIS l'lghts, and thIS' IS 
the reason why its sway is daily extending, and why the arts and sciences 
have attained· an eminence twice as great as that of former times. May 
the Almighty preserve this Government in the exercise of justice to' the end 
of time. . 

No. 9.-ExTRACT from the Newspaper in the Urdu Tongue, called the 

.. Authentic News," No. I., Vol., IV.; dated 6th July 1857. 

PROCLAMATION of the King of Persia. 

WE learn from the statements of a man come from the Panjab, that the 
King of Persia has issued a proclamation, of which the following is the 
purport :- , . 

.. Let all the troops assemhle at different places on the frontier of Persia 
to resist the!<e enemies,professing'an antagonistic faith, viz., the English. It 
behoves the Arab tribes to act up to the precept of the prophet (blessed for ever 
behe and his offspring! t Slay aU those who have caused you affliction in the same 
way that they intended to afflict you:' It is now necessary that old and young, 
high and low, wise and foolish, peasaut and soldier, sh()Uld all without hesi. 
tation, rise to the assistance of their co-religionists, assume arms, raise the 
Mahomedan standard, and inform the members of their tribes of the declara­
tion, in toe name of God, of a ;religious war of extermination, for God will bes­
tow the fruition of their hopes on those defenders of the faith who will thus 
exert themselves, and we' too will be much pleased with them. I have sent the 
noble amongst nobles, Mirza 1\1 uhammad Jan K!>shakchi Sabahi; the cham. 
pion of the nation, the chief Mir Ali Khan; and other generals, officers and 
chiefs, with 25,000 troops, to diffel'ent parts of Persia. The prince Nawab 
Shamshir-ud-dowlat has been sent as commanding officer with a force of' 
30,000 men to Eushire, the place from which the English ran away to 
]3ombay. Ghulam Hasan Khan, Duffadar, and Jafar Kuli Khan Mir Panja 
have been sent with the cavalry regiments of Kurrachi Diggir to Kil'man. 
20.,000 troops, well equipped and appointed, have been sent to Azibia and 
Karibia, andihe Nawab Ahsan-us-Sultanat, with a force of 30,000 men, 40 
guns and other munitions, has been detached in the direction of Kutch and 
the northern pI:ovinces of Sindh. These forces have been thus distributed 
that they may conquer the provinces of Afghanistan, and then move' onwards 
The chief Sultan Ahmad Khan, Shah Dowlat Khan, Sultan Ali Khan, and 
l\luhummad Alam Khan, have been appointed to join in the conquest of India, 
in posts subordinate to the above officers. It is fully to be expected, from God's 
blessing, that they will be victorious, and that they will not leave the English 
any resting place this side of London. Accordingly, now is the time for all 
the people of that country, all the trihes of Afghanistan, and the inhabitants 
ofIndia who believe in the Kuran, and walk in the precepts of God's prophet, 
to join openly in the religious war of extermination, to stand by their faith, 
and. to hold out the hand of support to their brother Mahomedans, for by do­
ing so they will reap ad vantages both temporal and eternal. It is incumbent 
on all Mussulmans to assist with zeal and energy in this matter. Moreover, 
let it be known t~ all ~he_ tribes of Afg~anistan and India) t4at it is no inten-
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tion of the King of Persia to conquer and annex Afghanistan as a derenden­
cy j but that, on the- contrary, his real desire is that Kandahar should 
be subject to the chiefs Rahimdil Khan and Kohundil Khan j Cabul to the 
Amir Dost Muhammad Khan; and India to the house ofTaimur. It is incum-
1Jent on the Amir personally to adopt the counsels of his J'elations and assist 
the Mahomedans, and to expel from his 11eart the avarice of getting a lakh of 
mpees a month, according to the tradition that it is a saying of the prophet, 
that he who will assist a member of the faith will reccive a good reward for 
doing so. Hitherto, previ9.us to the publication of this notice, Amir Dost 
Muhammad Khan used always to say that if the armies of Persia should go 
against a people of a -differellt reli&ion, he would joiu them with armies and 

-. money. It is manifest that now the time he used to speak of has arrived, so lct 
the Amir exert every energy in his power to kill the enemies of the llahome­
(lans, for no blessing can be greater than the opportunity to do so. If he is 
killcd he will be venerated as a martyr; if he lives he will be called a defender of 
the faith. In every point of view a religious war of extermination is a merito­
rious undertaking. But (and God forbid it should be so I) if the Ami .. acts in 
a different way, he will to a certainty be called a Christian, and the wrath of 
God will shortly fall on him. The King of Persia has sent also the following 
letter to the Amir Dost Muhammad Khan. 'Oh 1 Amir! have youjoined the 
English, and become a renegrarle from yortr faith 1 I, as a Mussulman, 
counsel you to separate yourself from this people, and to join me and con­
trive means for their ruination. Know, moreover, that all the Mussulmans 
complain that the Amir, by joining the English, has brought disgrace on the -
true religion. If avarice is the cause of your conduct, take twice the am(lunt 
of gold from me. And have you Dot heard what breaches of treaties and 
engagements this race have practised with the princes and chiefs of Hin­
dustan ?' The Amir cvi'nced much resFect for this letter, and resolved on 
coming in this direction himself, accompanied by the chicf of Swat. The 
King of Persia has entered Herat, and the troops at Kandahar have totally 
cut up the English who had gone forward in advance." 

No. 10.-ExTRAcT from the Newspaper ~n Urdu, called the U Authentic 
News," No. Y, Vol. IV., dated 3rd August 1857. 

Arrival of the Per8ian Army.-A friend of mine possessing great judg­
ment, aud speaking the Persian tongue, who has recently arrived, states that 
the Persian forces, which had for a considerable length of time been lyil)g 
at FUl'rah, near Herat, undcr the command of Sultan Jan _ Khan, son of 
Kohundil Khan, have now, with the permission of the King of Persia, moved 
on Kandahar. Hearing this, the son of Amir Dost Muhammad Khan met 
them with two or three thousand effective and disciplined soldiers. The 
battle lasted full six days, and some hundreds were killed and wounded on 
both sidcs. Eventually the Amir's .son fled from the field and teok refuge 
in the fort, when the Persian troops completely investecl Kandahar, and have 
almost cut off supplies of water and food. The Amir's son has therefore ap­
plied for some reinforcements from Cabul, which it is said the Amir Dost 
Muhammad· Khan will send very shortly j it is said also that the Amir bas 
sent a letter full of entreaty and supplication to the King of Persia, saying 
that he is as any other of the king'. subjects (lr servants, that he has no 
desire to have any thing_ to do with helping the English, and urging the king 
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certainly to advance his troops towards India, promising that he will not 
hold back in anything he may be able to do in the way of furnishing sup­
plies or assisting with forces. It was reported also that the Amir will. send 
the King of Persia some money and presents of valuable rarities. The Prince . 
Muhammad Usuf, Chief of Herat, is in the habit of communicating to the 
King of Persia all matters of intelligence connected with Hindustan and the 
perfidious English. The King of Persia has great confidence in this prince, 
and occasionally adopts some of his suggestions and ideas. 

No. H.-EXTRACT from an :E;ditorial Article in the Newspaper in Urdu, 

called the ff Authentic News," No. VI., Vol. IV., dated 10th Au~. 

Craftiness of the King oj Persia.-With reference to the fact that the 
King of Persia, after several fights with the accursed unbelieving English, 
sent proposals for peace through Farrukh Khan, I saw through it from the first 
that it was not without an object. As a poet says-ff The civilities of a cen­
sor are not disinterested jn and I felt convinced that there was some concealed 
craftiness in the proposals. I now feel I have reason to compliment myself 
on my penetration, for I now learn from a trustworthy slayer of the accursed 
infidels, that the real object of. the Persians was that they might continue 
in occupation of Herat, and the English retire fTom Abushahr. Accordingly, 
the event has been as was expected: In observa~ of the trea~ 0fp,~ace be­
tween the two powers, the Enghsh' completely evacuarea A us iihrrout 
when this was done, the King of J;lersia would not give up Herat. At this 
the English are very much a~amed and vexed, and say that they will bring 
the Persians to a proper understanding for this. This, however, is only an idle 
threat; we should reflect, when they had some power, much or little as 
it may have been, what were they able to do then that they, would do over 
again now? The same person states also that the Persians, considering 
the present opportunity one which should not be lost, have advanced on this 
side of Kandahar, in force to the ,extent of 50,000 men; tbat the Amir Dost 
Muhammad Khan is, to all appearances, still keeping up his friendship with 
the cursed infidels; but that secretly he is using all means of instigation and 
persuasion with the Persians, and that it is in consequence of this that the 
Persian army, some officers of which are from amongst the nobles of Cabul, 
is steadily advan'Clng towards lndia. Continuing to hear such news as the 
above, the Christians are becoming more alarmed, and admit that the down­
fa11 of, the Company has now certainly come. 

No. 12.-ExTRACT from the Newspaper ~~ned the, Delhi "Urdu News," 

No. XXXIV., Vol. XIX., dated 23rd August 1857. 

News of the Persian army.-Some people coming from the direction of 
Peshawar and t~e Panjab, state that the Persian army: has l'~ached Attok. 
Although I do not fully believe this myself, I have published ~t as hearsay­
gossip, for the thing is possible, and not by any means so unhkely, .that It 
should at once be considered and pronounced false. ~ut nevertheless l~ mu~t 
be admitted that from the way in which the people Just now talk, no mtelh­
gence can be relied on or ~elieved. l!nder these circu~sta~ces, when ins~rt. 
ing )lews, it is right to aVOId observatIons and speculatIons m l'ef~rence to It. 
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No. 13.-ExTRAcTfrom the Newspaper in the Urdll Language called the 

" Anthentic News," No. VIII., VoL, IV., dated 24th _I\UgUbt 1857. 

Near approach of the Persian armll.-The editor of the .. Triumphant 
News" says, he has heard from some people coming from tl'e direction of 
Peshawar that the perSian army lias Totlgl1t Us way up 10 AtEok-:-TUe editor 
JOes not believe this, but for several reasons it appears to me deserving of 
credence. First, No man says anything unless he has some little grounds. 
Secondly, There is a prophecy of the Saint, the revered Shah· Niamut Ulla 
Moulavy, ·in verse, to.the following effect: "After the fire-worshirers and 
Christians shall have held sway over the whole of Hindustan for 100 years, 
and when injustice and oppression shall prevail in their govel'llment, an Arab 
prince will be born who will ride forth triumphantly to slay them." Third­
ly, When the troops mutinied at Multan, some of the men stated that their 
officers had for a long time been maintaining an interchange of letters with 
the King of Persia. Fourthly, A spy.sent by the King of Persia, hearing 
that a friend of mine in the British dominions was a staunch zealot for 
Mahomedanism, met and told him that the King of Persia had defiuitely de­
termined on coming to India. 'l'hus, then, whether he 'come early or 
late, there is no doubt he will come. God only has prescience of the 
future. 

No. l4.-EXTRACT from the the Newspaper in Urdu, called the It Urdu 

News," No. XXXVII., Vol. XIX., dated 13th September 1857 • . 
LOCAL NEws . ...,...Pe1·sia.-Some people now again say that thc Persian 

army has come through the Bolan and Bibi Narri passes, and that the Amir 
Dost Muhammad Khan cheerfully gave them a free passage through his 
dominions; but according to the common Indian adage that" A Brahman 
believes in the promise of a feast cnly when he gets it," the people of India 
will believe this matter only when they haV'e some ocular proof; but 
from 'certain signs, nevertheless, we cannot help allowing credence to some cx­
tent; for whether the present intelligence be correct or false, we mnst believe 
that the Persian troops will come, whether by Bolan, or Bombay, or Sindh, it 
does not matter. God only is all-powerful and omniscient. 

No. 15.-0RDER under the Official Seal of' Mirza Moghal, as Com­

mander-in-Chief of the Army, dated 13th September 1857. 

To the Emblem of Valour, the Chief Police Officer of the City of Delhi. 

':May you be protected. 

Intelligence has just been brpught that the English intend maldng a 
general attack to-night, you are therefore directed to have it proclaimed by 
beat of drum thronghout the city, that it is incumbent on all the inl1abitant~, 
whether Hindu or Mahomedan, from a due regard to their fai~h, to assemble 
immediately in the direction of the Cashmere Gate, bringing i.-Oil picks and 
tihovels with them. Consider this order imperative. 
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No. l6.-Copy of an Order from the King, without Signature, Cypher, 
or Seal j but the Order was issued under his Seal. No date. 

To Our Son, the Illustrious and Valiant lIfil'za Zohur-ud-din, otherwise 
. !.firza !.foghal Bahadur. ' 

Learn! That when the troops, infantry and cavalry, first came to the 
royal presence, I told them pt>~sonally, by word of mouth, that I had no 
treasures or property with which to assist othem, but that I had no re­
luctance to stake my life if that could help them. They all expressed 
themselves satisfied with this declaration on my pal't, and even pledged 
themselves to sacrifice their lives in subordination and obedience to my 
commands. On this they were directed, as a first step to make proper 
provisions for the magazine and treasure, so thato 0 they might afterwards be 
profitably used by them and me. A.fter this, they took up their quarters 0 

in the Halls of Special and Public Audience, the Mahtab Garden, and other 
places, and behaved just as they pleased. In consideration of their igno­
rance,oand from a regard for their comforts, the servants of the state were 
prohibited from preventing them. In the next place, although no promise 
had been made in the matter, money was borrowed in order that daily allow­
ances might be paid to every man of the cavalry aud infantry. Repeated 
injunctions have been issued prohibiting plunder and aggression in the city, 
but all to no purpose j for although 10 days have now elapsed, the same evils 

o are prevailing to the present time. Moreover,.tl'e regiments ofinfanb'y have 
certainly left the Halls of Special anu Publie Audience, but notwithstanding 
that they were imperatively ordered to encamp outside the city and the 
men of the army, whether cavalry or infantry, were prohibited· going about 
armed through the city, and oppressing the inhabitants, yet one l'egiment of 
infantry has taken up its quarters oat the Delhi, another at the Lahore, and a 
third at the Ajmir Gate, within the walls of tha city, and have thoroughly 
desolated several of the hazars. Moreover, without reference to night Or 

. day, they °enter and plunder the houses of the inhabitants on the false plea. 
that they have concealed Europeans. 'Ihey force locks and shop doors and 
openly carry away the property from the shops, and they forcibly loose the 
llOrses of the cavalry and take them off. They commit these excesses in 
the face of the fact that all cities taken without military operations have ever 

. l)een exempted from sack and slaughter. Fven .hngilll Khan and Nadir 
Shah, kings execrated as tyrants, gave peace and rrotectioll to such cities 
as surrendered without resistance. Moreover, the men of the army go 
about threatening and intimidating the 1'Oyal scryants and the inhabitants of 
the city.* ...... Again, although repeated orders have been issued to the in-
fantrymen occupying the royal farash-khana, alld the regiment of cavalry 
staying in tile garden, to vacate these places, they have not yet done so.­
'fhese are places which not eyell Nadir Shah lior Ahmed Shah nor any of 
the British Governor-Generals of India ever entered' ou llOrseback. The 
troops first requested that the princes I'oyal might be appointed. to the 
different commands ill the army, promising they would. ohey them. This 
was done. They next urged that it would afford them greater confidence, 
if dresses of honour should be bestowed ou the princes to give a character 
of stability to their appointments as commandants, and if all the (European) 
----------------~~~----~~~=-~~--------~-------* .A. short sentence here is ill~gible. 
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prisoners should be killed at once. This was also complicd with: aud tile 
~ame day a notificat.ion,. under the special seal, was issued publicly, proclaim­
lUg that courts of Justice had been established ill the city, and prohibiting 
acts of violence on the part of the soldiery. This even had no effect. Set-

_ ting aside all these points, it may be remarked that whenever the most dis­
tinguished officers of the highest ranks in the service of the British Govern­
ment visited the palace, they dismounted at the dO(lr of tl:e Hall of Public 
Alldieuce, and came from thence. on foot. These soldiery, however, used, 
till l'ecently, to come ga~loping up to the Hall of Special Audience on their 
horses, aud as a last resort, both the gates were closed, a wicket ouly being 
left open; but they still ride up to the Hall' of Public Audience, and the 
.Talwa-khana, unsuitably dressed, and without their turbans, in utter dis­
J'egard to the forms of respect due to royalty. The officers of the army 
too make a practice of coming into court carelessly dressed, wearing caps 
instead of turbans and carrying their swords. Never during the British rule 
did any mcmbers of their profession behave in this way. Again, notwith. 
standing that they llave themselves uselessly wasted the whole of the maga­
ziue stores, and the money that was in' the treasury, they now clamorously 
demand allowances daily, and above all daily take allowances for more men 
than. are present. Besides this, with oppression and violence they forcibly 
take away the wares of the shopkeepers in the city without paying for them, 
and commit; moreover, every variety of other excesses and. aggrcssions 
imaginable. The state of things outside the city also demands notice. III 
consequence of no military troops going out to keep order, hundreds of peo­
ple are being murdered, and the property of thousands is being plundered. 
As Tegards the civi~ administration of the country, in consequence of the 
insufficiency of the royal troops for the management of the whole of the 
}ll'ovineea, revenue and police officers cannot be established, and yet none of 
the military troops, whether cavalry or infantry, can be prevailed on to 
move out beyon,d the palace anp. city. Under these circumstances, it is 
matter for distressingly serious reflection how supplies are to be ,procured 
from the country, a!ld ho.w the revenues of the State are to be realized. 
Accordingly, nothing but the total desolation of the city and country can be 
expected as the inevitable end of this state of matters. In addition to all 
that has been above noticed, the soldiery accusing the royal servants of 
entertaining views and feelings opposite to their own, suhjeet them to indig­
nities, and when they come to claim their daily allowances or ammunition 
enforce their demands with unbecoming assumption of authority, notwith­
stamling that the royal servants, in consequence of orders to tl~e.m. to that 
effect, use nothing but entreaty and every other means of co.nClliatlOn, and 
yet the soldiery willuot be satisfied. Under these circumstanccs, how is it, 
to be belicved that these people can have the welfare of the State at heart, 
01' that they cherish any desire to yield subjection and obedience t? the 
royal authority? It is further to be considered, that there is no money m. thc 
l'oyal treasury, and the city merchants having heen plundered a,~d rumed 
ha\'e 110 10llger the ability to provide a lo.an. How then are the dall~ allow­
ances to be paid for any lcngth of time? And when they shall, of ncces­
!lty, have l)een discontinued, and the supplies from th~ country . s~lall also 
have ceased, what will be the state of things then? 'Ihe m~st l'ldlCUlously 
sin~ular part of the proceedings uf the soldiery is, ,that while they them­
sehes commit these acts subversive of all rule, they lay the blame of the 
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misrule on the royal servants. In sllort, when such is the return made by 
tIle soldiery, it is evidel1t that they lla,'e no desire to act in any· way to the 
advantage and benefit of tbe government, and it is equally evident that the 
utter ruin of the sovereignty must ensue. Wearied and helpless, we have 
Ii0W resolved on making a vow to pass the remainder of our days in services 
acceptable to God, and relinquishing the title of sovereign fraught with cares 
and troubles, and in our present griefs and sorrows, assuming the garb of 8 

religious mendicant, to p)'oceed first and stay at the shrine of the saint 
Khwaja Sahib, and after making necessary arrangements for tbe journey, 
to go eventually to Mecca. It should be considered that when these troops 
came, the king's servants or the residents of the city did not oppose tllem 
in any way, nor did they commit any act of hostility against them, and they 
are accordingly not liable to the forfeiture of life and property; for if, as 
the representative of the feelings of the people, we had considered the 
soldiery. in the light of enemies, why should we }Iave made common cause 
with them, and wby should we have directly as!Sociated our offspring with 
tbem in their undertaking? ~'he tyranny and oppression nOlt prevailing arc 
a disgrace to our royal self, as tending to the belief that we, as sovereign, 
are a party to them, and that we approve of rapine and murder. It is 
worthy of consideration, that when there is amity and good feelings between 
the king and populace on the one side, and the army on the otber, is it by 
acts like these that the soldiery mean to prove their ,good will; acts which 
even an enemy or hostile force would not commit. ~'he more praiseworthy 
and prudent course for them would :Qave beeu to protect and cherish the 
people, to study tlle approbation of the sovereign, and to p.resel'Ve unanimity 
and fellowsllip with the servants cif the State, It was the peace and 
quiet which would have· resulted from this line of conduct that we had 
expected. You, our ·son, will now therefore send for all the officers of 
the cavalry and infantry, and explain to them that if tIley are really dis­
}Josed- to s~rve the 8.tate, they ought to execute a written agreement to 
that effect according to a form which will be furnished; when, foi' 
their assurance and satisfaction, we also will give them a.written document, 
m:.d that they should take immediate steps ·to suppress tlle evil and un­
bcccming acts and proc~edings now prevailing; that the tents of the 
infantry regiments be this very day removed to the outside of the city j that 
every soldiEr of the army proved guilty of tIle murder and plunder of any 
resident of the city be adequately punished; so that others may have no 
hopes of impunity for such acts; and that whenever royal orders directing 
the movements ofregim~nts, whether sillgly or in numbers, with the view or 
their quelling disturbances and keeping order. in the country may be issued, 
they should march without murmur 01' grumbling, and should make. n() 
obstinate demands for proyisions and ammunition beyond such as may be 
reasonable, Certainly when authentic infOl'mation of the near apPJoach of 
the English army is received, both these regiments will be at liberty to re­
turn, and then fight and engage in the operations of war as they may them­
sel~es arrange and deem expedient,· and also determine what amount of 
forces should be severally kept in different places, and distJ:ibute the army 
accordingly. Then there will be a necessity for the troops being withi:::t the 
city; but there is none just now, seeing the country and city are being 
alike desolated, and none of the soldiery can be prevailed on to Jrulve from 
his quarters· to make the least effort. You will further explain. to them 
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that if they 'are not disposed willingly and unanimously to acquiesce iu the 
above views and wishes, desiring rest aud quiet, we shall adopt the profes­
sion of a religious mendicant, and shall go to the shrine of the Khwaja 
Sahib. Let noue of them say anything to prevent this step, but let them 
quietly remain masters of the palace, the city, and the conntry. For none 
of the kings of the oldest antiquity, nor of the warriors who came after 
them down to modern times, ever subjected anyone claiming shelter and 
quiet to oppression and hardship, but frecly allowed him his own way. 
You will get the army to em~ody their answer to the two alternatives pre­
sented herein for their selection in a petition which you are directed to 
have attested with the 'seals and signatUl'es of the officers, and to forward to 
the royal presence. You are directed to consider this' not as any light or 
trivial business, for in consequence of our advanced age and infirmity, we 
are not able to support the burden of such excessive anxiety. The govern­
ment of a nation, anu the control of an army, are not to be treated 
with the same levity as chil<l's play. 

No. l7.-COPY of a'Royal Ol'der, without Signature, Seal, or Cypher, 

probably an Office Copy; dated 17th July 1857. 

To tIle Special Slave,~mblem of Valour, Siddhal"i Singh, of the Mhow 
Foree, and Shekh Ghotts Muhammad, Him Singh, aTOll other Officers, com­
missioned and non-commissioned, of thc' Force come from Neemuch. 

CONSIDER yO~lfselveg receiving the royal favour, and know tllat your 
petition, date,d 15th JulY,1857, I'epo~t,lng your arri.val at MU,ttra, n.11(1 apply­
ing for two l:!lege guns WIth ammumtion, was pernsed by HIS MaJesty. 

His :Majesty's written order:; umv sent to you, and you are dir:eded 
to comply therewith, and come to the l~yal piesence. Be assure!} of my 
kindness. 

No. 18.-TRANSLATIO:'S of Copies of Four Documents, as bclow:­

Ist.-Copy of a petition from Muhammad Bakht Khan, purporting to 
enclose a missive for the ruler of Jummoo, that the King's special seal 
might be affixed to it. 

2nd.-Copy of the King's order on the above petition. 

3rd.-Copy of the missive to the ruler of Jummoo, which formed the 
enclosure to the above petition. 

4th.-On the reverse, copy of an order to the officers of the army. 

There are notes on all these papers to the effect that copies llad been 
taken, and from ,this it would appear that at the i!..ae the originals were 
despatched, the office books must have been in arrears, and that these hastily­
written copies, were taken, that when the books should be written up to date, 
the copies in the books might be made from them. 

First.-A petition from Muhammad Dakltt Khan, purporting to en­
close a missive for the ruler of Jummoo that the King's special seal might 
Qe affixed to it j dated 22nd August 1857. . 



• TRJA.L OF E:x.,:raNG OF DELRI. 

To the King! Shelter of the World I 

()Iay his prosperity continue I) 

205 

Your Majesty,-I ENCLOSE a missive ,to the ,!,ddres~ .of the. ruler of 
Jummoo, and pray that it may be authenticated with au lmpresslon from 
the special seal in the cypher, and returned to me. (Prayers for the pr?s­

, })erity of the reign.) Petition of the special slave. Copy of seal upside 
dowu, thus :-

1 
·1tIl.IV a'll JO J3!'lO-U!-.l3ptllJlUIIl0t) 

ft1lJ'l)l l'lllllH: pll1I1ttl1lqn 1\1: 

Secondly.-The King's order on the above petition. 

The seal * on this petition has been affixed npsid.e down. However 
this autograph order is written l·ight. 

The special seal engraved in the cypher has been affixed agreeably to 
your request to the missive which is now sent to you. _ . . 

Thirdly.-The missive to the ruler of Jumm03, which formed the en­
closure to the petition; dated 22nd August 1857 :-

To the de~ot~dly Faithflll and Zealous Rajah Gulao Sin!lh, Ruler of 
Jummoo. 

CONSIDER yourself honoured and learn. That I have been made 
thoroughly acquainted, by your .petition, with all the particulars of the 
slaughter throughout your territory of the accursed unbelieving English. 
You are considered worthy of a hundred commendations. You have acted 
ill this matter as all brave n;l.en ever acquit themselves. May you live and 
11rosper! Of the small number of infidels, who ill jeopardy of their lives 
had betaken themselves to 'heir entrenchments on the ridge, considering 
them a refuge and protection, many have been killed, and the very few 
llolding on in their precarious existence are equally doomed to extermination, 
and will now very soon receive the punishment due to their iniquities. 
The Bombaiforce, numerically above 60,000, has now safely reached Ajmir, 
having songht out and slaughtered all the accursed unbeliever~ about Rika­
uir, Jodhpur, Kota.h, Jaipur, and in the districts belonging to them, and 
will, it is reported, now l'each the seat of Government, Dehli. in a week or 10 
days. 1\:Iay God protect them fl'om all eTils! UncleI' these circumstances, 
you are directed not to take i.nto account the difficulties to be expected from 
the present being the wrt season of the year,. but giving dlle respect to this 
order, immediately on receipt to usa all diligence to come to the royal pre­
sence, bringing your tributary contributions of money with you, and to 
slay the accursed unbelieving English and all othel' enemies wherever you. 
may find ~hem on the way. Whatever ma.y be your hopes and expectations, 
the dignity and elevation to which you will be promoted amongst your 

• A.n aooideut of this kind in tho m3.ttor of aOixiug a loal is by Boma natives considerea 
ominoul of failure, whioh .tht King', notioQ of the aooidGnt maT hl\vB_beon .upposed 8umoiant 
to anrt. 
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equals, will surpass aU that you may be able to imagine, and you will 
further be rewarded and dignified with the title of Rajah. Consider your­
self the object of our favour. 

Fourthly.-Copy of an order to the Officers of the Anny:-

To the Officers of the Regular Cavalry, Infantry and Artillery. 

W BEN complete victory shall have been obtained, and the l'evenues of 
the conquered countries shall again, as heretofore, be paid into the treasury, 
the pay of the troops will be regulated according to the following scale ,-

Trooper of regular cavalry 
Private in the regular infantry 
Private in the regular artillery 

Other troops: 
Trooper 
l<'oot soldier 

20 rupees per mensem. 
10" " 

nIank. 

14 rupees per mensem. 
8 

" " 
The monthly allowances of all others will be fixed by reference to their 

qualifications and exertions, and as the protection of the people is very much 
desired, all those who will oppress or ill-use them will receive due punish­
ment. You are urged to trust in God's blessing, and cherish full hopes of 
victory, and of the realization of the revenue, and, thus animated, to exert· 
every energy for the welfare of .the State, and with full confidence of success 
t() fight with courage and intrepidity. You are directed to act according to 
these orders. - -

The Judge Advocate now reads the translation of the prisoncl"s dc­
fence, which is entered as follows !-

TUNSLATION of the Written Defence put in by Bahadar Shah, 
Ex-King of Delhi. 

The real facts are as follows :-1 had had. n~ intelligence on the suhject 
previously to the day of the outbreak. About eight o'clock a. m., the mu­
tinous troopers suddenly arrived and !let up a noillY clamour under the palace 
windows, saying they had come from Meerut after killing all tllC English 
there: and stating, as their reason for having done 50, that they had been 
required to bite with their teeth, cartridges greased with the fat of oxcn 
and swine, in open violation of the caste of both Hindus and l\Iussulmans. 
When 1 heard this, 1 immediately had the gates under the palace windows 
closed, and sent intelligence to the commandant of the palace guards. On 
receiving the message, he came personally, and wishing to go out wItere the 
troopers were collected, requested that the gate might be opend. 1 kept 
him from this purpose, however, and when 1 would Dot allow the gate to 
be opened, he walked up to the balustrade, and said something to the 
troopers, who t,hen went away. After this, tlle commandant of the palace 
guards left me. saying he would make arrangements immediately to put down 
the disturbance. Very shortly after, Mr. Fraser sent a message for two 
guns, and the commandant another for two palanquins, saying that two 
ladies were staying with him, and requesting that I would have them taken 
to and conc~aled in my private female apartments. I sent the palanquins 
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immediately, and gave orders at the same time that the guns should also be 
taken. Very soon a~ter this, I heard that before the palanquins could reach 
them, ~rr. Fraser, the commandant of, the palace guards, and the ladies, 
1100 all been killed. Not long after this the mutinous soldiery rushed into 
the llall of special audience, crowding into the court-yard, the hall of special 
~udience itself, and the hall of devotion, surrounding me completely, and 
placing sentries on all sides. I asked them what their object was, and begged 
of t.hem to go away. In reply, .thel told me to remain a quiet spect~torJ. 
saymg, tbat they had staked their hves, and would now do all that· might 
be in tlleir power. Fearing that I should be killed, 1: kept quiet and went 
to my own private apartments. Neal' evening. these traitors bi'ought, as 
prisoners, some European men and women whom they had found in the 
magazine, and resolved on killing them. I had ,recourse to persuasion, and 
succeeded in getting their lives spared for the time. The mutinous soldiers, 
however, kept them prisoners in their own cU!ltody. Subsequently, on two 
occasions, they .again det.ermined on ,killing these Europeans, when I again 
restrained them from their purpose by entreaty and persuasion, and saved 
the lives of the 'prisoners. However, on the last occasion, though I again 
did all in my power to reason with the rebellious soldiery, they would, not 
heed me, and carried out their purpose of slaying these poor people. I gave 
no orders for this slaughter. Mi!'.z:l:..,~1.9~I, 'Mirza Kh~ ~ultan,Mirza 
Abul-bakr, and Basant one of my own personal atteiiUaiits, W;ho had leagued 
with the soldierY..J.!!.!!ill!l.ve made use ofmuame . but I have no knOWledge 
tEat they did i nor do IK"now tfiat my own armer-retainers" acting indepen­
dently of my orders, joined in the slaughter. If they did so, they may 
have been urged on to it by Mirza Moghal. Even after the massacre, no, 
one ga-re me any information regarding it. In reference to what some of 
the witnesses have said in evidence regarding my servants having joined 
in killing Mr., Fl'aser and the c'lmmandant of the palace ,guards, I make 
the same answer, viz., that I gave them no orders. 'l'hat if they did so, they 
did it of their own free will, I had no knowledge of it, and this matter also 
was not communic!1ted to me. I swear by God, who is my witness, that I 
did not, giv~ orders for the death of' Mr. Fraser or of any other 
European i Mukund Lal and other witnesses in saying that I did, have 
spoken falsely. That Mirza Moghal and Mirza Khaii.' Sultan may 
have given orders would not ,b'3 Rtrange, for they had leagued with. 
the revolted soldiery. After these ,occurrences, the rebellious troops 
brought Mirza Moghal, Mirza Khair Sultan, and Abulbakr, and said 
they wished to have them as their officers. Ynthe first instance, I 
rejected their request i but when the soldiery persisted, and Mirza Moghal 
in angel' went off to his mother's house, from dread of the soldiers, I kept 
quiet in the matter, and then by mutual consent on both sides, Mirza Moghal 
was appointed to be Commander-in-chief of the army. As regards tll& 

larders under my seal, and under my signature, the real state oMbe case is, 
that from the day the soldiery came _and killed the, European officers, and 
nude me a prisoner, I remained in their power as such. AU papers they 
thought fit, they caUSed to be prepared, and bringing them to me compelled 
me to affiJl; my seal. Sometimes they brought the rough drafts of orders, 
alld had fair copies of them made by my secretary. At other times, they 
brought the original letters intended for despatch, and left copies Qf them 
in the office. Hence sevel'alrough drafts. in a 'diversity of hands haveheelL 
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filed in the proceedIngs. Frequently they hacl the seal impressed on tlH~ 
outside of empty: unaddressed envelopes. There is no knowing what pa:pets 
they sent in these or to whom they sent them. There is a petition in tile 
proceedings without an address from Mnkund Lal to some unknown party, 
in which a list is given of the number of orders issued on that date. In 
this catalogue it is distinctly specified that so many orders were written 
u,nder the direction of so and so; so mallY others under that of such a 
one; and so on, but not one is ascribed to me. Accordingly, this also 

tproves, that whoever wished, had orders written as he chose, without Il!l 
,authorit~ot even acquainting me with their purport, while I ana my secre­
tifybelllg n jeopardy of our lives, could not dare to say anything in tIle 
matter. It was just the same case as regards the petitions bearing orders 
in my own writing. Whenever the soldiers or Mirza Moghal, or Mirza 
Khair Sultan, or Abulbakr, brought a petition, they invariably came accom­
panied by the officers of the army, and brought the order they desired, writ­
ten on a s~parate pie~~ of paper, and ~mpelled me !2-tra~scribe it with-.!!lY. 
~n~ .. ~m the pebtIQn. Matters went 011 so rar III thui way that tIier 
used to say, so that I might hear them, that those who would not attend to 
their wishes would be made to repent their conduct, and for fear of them 

t I could say nothing. Moreover, they used to accuse my servants of sendiug 
J letters toanlLof_kee,ping in league with the Etelish, more particularly the 
physician Ahsan Ullah Khan, Mahbub Xli han, and the queen Zinat 
MahaIl, whom they said they would kill for doing !lo. Thu~ one day, they 
did actually plunder the pllysician's house, and made him a prisoner, intend­
ing to kill him j but refrained from their purpose only after much entreaty 
and supplication, keeping him a prisoner, however, still. After this, they 
placed others of my servants in arrest, for instance Shamshir-ud-dowlut. 
the father of t}.e queen Zinat MahaU. They even. declared they wonld 
depose me, and make Mirza Moghal king. It is a matter for patient and 
just consideration then, what power in any way did I possess, or what reason 

_ had I to be satisfied with them.? 'rhe officers of the army went even so far 
as to require that I should make oyer th~ ~illat Mahan to them ~hat 
they might keep her a prIsoner, saying s Ie maintallleU 1'rlen'dly relab~>Ds 
with the English. Now, if I was in the fnll exercise of power Bnd authonty. 
should I have permitted the physician Ahsan Uulla Khan's ancl Mahbub Ali 
Khan's imprisonment j and shonlll I IlaTe allowed the physician's ho.use to 
be plundered,? The mutinous soldiery had establisIled a court in wInch all 
matters were deliberated on, and such measures as, after deliberation, were 

4 sanctioned by this council they adopted j but I never took any part in their 
, conferences. Thus, without my knowledge or orders, they plundered, not 
00.11 manI inditidllals~but several entire streets, plundering, robbing, kiT­
ling and imprisoning all they chose; ane! forClIlly extorting whatever s~ms of 
money they thought fit from the merchants and other respectable resldents 
of the city, and appropriating such exactions to their own private p.urpose~. 
All that has been done, was done by that rebellious army. I was Ill. their 
power, what could I do? They came suddenly, and made me a pn80~er. 
I was helpless, and constrained by my fears, I did whatever ~hey ~eqUlred 
otherwise they would immediately have killed me. This IS uD1vel"8~lly 
known. I found myself in such a predicament tllat I was weary.of my hfe. 
while my officials'had no ]lOpes of theirs being spared. In tillS st~te of 
tJIiD~s, I"resohoed to accept poverty, and adopted t'he garb, coloured WIth red 
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earth, of a religious mendicant, intending to go first to the s.11rine of tIle 
Kutb Sahib, thence to Ajmir, and from Ajmir eventually to Mecca; but the 
army would not allow me; it waS the soldiery who plundered the Govern­
ment magazine and treasury, and did what they pleased. I took nothing 
from them, nor did they bring any of the plunder to me. They, one day, 
went to the house of the queen Zinat M ahall, intending to plunder it, but 
did not succeed in breaking open the door. It should accordingly be consi­
dered if they were subservient to my authority, or had I' been in le,ague 
with them,' how would ,these things have occurred? In addition to all 

j
this, it is worthy of consideration that no person dematidstlie

n 

wife or 
the pooreS~tii' ,saying, "Give her to me, 1 wd[ make fier a prisOiier.»"" 
As regar s e Abyssinian, Kambar, he obtained leave from me to 
go on a pilgrimage to Mecca. I did not send him to Persia, nor did I 
send any letters by him to the Persian king. Some one has falsely circu-
lated this story: Mahammad Durwesh's petition is no document of mine 
that it should be trusted j if any enemy of mine or of the Mian * Hasan 
Askari has sent this petition, it ought not to be' relied on; As regards 
the behaviour of that rebellious army, it may be stated that they never 
saluted me even, nor showed me any other mark of respect. They used to 
walk into the hall of special audience and the hall of devotion with their 
shoes on. What confidence could I place in troops who had .murdered their 
own masters? In the same way that they murdered them, they made me a 
prisoner, and tyrannised over me, keeping me on in order to make use of my 
name as a sanction for their acts. Seeing that these troops killed their own 
officers, men of high authority and power, how was I, without an army, 
without treasure, without stores of ammunition, without artillery, to have 
resisted them, or make arrangemeI).ts against them P But I never gave them 
aid in any shape. When the mutinous troopers first arrived, the gateway 
under the palace windows being in my power, I had it closed. I sent for the 
commandant of the palace guards and acquainted him with what had hap­
pened, and prevented his going amongst the mutiueers. I also immediately 
sent two palanquins for the ladies, and two guns for the protection 
of the palace gate, (In the several requisitions of the commandant of. the 
palace guards and the agent to the Lieutenant-Govern:)r. Moreover, I 
despatched a letter the same night by camel express to His Honour the Lieu­
tenant-Governor of Agra, acquainting him with the calamitous occurrences 
which had happened here. So long as I had power, I did all that I was able. 

J I did not go out in procession of my own free will. I was in the power of 
I the soldiery, and they forcibly did. what. they ple!lsed: The few servants I 
engaged, I engaged for the protectIOn of my own hfe, m consequence of my 
fears of the revolted and rebellious troops: When' these troops prepared .to 

, abscond, finding an opportunity, I got away secretly under the palace 
windows, and went and stayed in Humayun's Mausoleum. From this place 
I was summoned, with a guarantee that my life should be spared, and I at 
once placed' myself under the protection of the Government. The mutinous 

~
roops wished to take me with them .. but I would~ not go. In all the abOVe, 

, filch I have caused to bewrmellfl"Om my own dictation; there is Lot the 
smallest falsehood nor deviation from truth. God knows, and is my witness, 
that I have written only what is strictly true, and the whole of what I can 

• A. term similar or equivalent to "His Honor," or, " His' Reverenco ," 
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remember. I told you with au oath, at the commencement, that I would 
write only the truth, without addition or deficiency, and so I have now done. 

Attested with autograph cypher. 

Postscript.-With reference to the copy of an order to Mirza Moo-bal 
complaining ofthe.acfs of the soldiery and explaining my resolve, in c;nse= 
quence, to go to the shrine of the Khwaja Sahib and thence to Mecca, which 
has been filed in the proceedings. I declare that I have no recollection of 
such an order having been issued. 'l'he order in question is in the Urdu 
tongue, contrary to the l'ule iu my secretariat office, where all such papers 
were written in Persian, and I accordingly do not know how and whcre it 
was prepared. ~t appears that seeing I was thoroughly wearied by the army, 
and that I had .Ill consequence resolved on discarding the world, accepting 
poverty, and gOlllg to Mecca, Mirza Moghal must have had it written in 
his office, and had my seal affixed to it. At all events, my displeasure 
against the army as well as my perfect helplessness, is proved by the order 
in questiou also, which corroborates all that I have said above. As regards 
the other documents, besides the one just referred to, viz., the copies of the 
missive to the address of Rajah Gulab Singh, Bakht Khan's petition, my 
autograph order on it, attested with my seal, and other papers which have 
been filed in the proceedings, I affirm that I have no recollection of them; 
but I have already stated that the officers. of the army caused whatever 
orders they chose to be writteu without my knowledge, and had them 
attested with my seal; and I feel convinced that these must be of the same 
kind, and that they must have compelled me to write with my haml the ordcr 
they wished on Bakht Khan's petition, 'in the same way that they did in the 
case of every other petition. 

Autograph cypher. 

The Judge-Ad vocate-General then addressed the Court as follows :­
GENTLEMEN,-It will be my object, in the present address, to collcct 

the different facts which have been elicited in the course of these proceedings, 
and to furnish them to you, as far as possible, in the order in which they 
originally occurred. Our investigation has involved inquiry over a period 
of several months, when rebellion was rampant in this city; and I trust we 
have succeeded in tracing, with considerable minuteness, many of the diffcrent 
events as they evolved themselves during the time to which I have referred. 
Our labours, indeed, have not had this limit, or we should only have accolll­
plished what might, I think, be termed the least important part of our duties. 
In immediate connection with the facts elicited are the chargcs on which 
tIle prisoner has been arraigned; and, though his former rank and royalty 
will doubtless add somewhat of temporary importance to the verdict which 
you will this day be called upon to record, yet whether it be one of acquit­
tal or conviction, it must, I imagine, prove light in the balance when 
weighed against those morc monstrous poiuts to which 80 much attcntion 
bas been, and for a long time will still be, directed. I, of course, allude to 
the causes, either remote or immediate, which gave rise to a revolt unparallel­
ed in the annals of history, either for the savagery which has been its dis­
tinctive feature, or for the suddenness with which elements, hitherto deemed 
utterly discordant on the score of religion, have united themselves. in a com­
mon crusade against a faith which, as regards the inhabitants of this country 
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whether Mahomedan or Hindu, was certainly a.most unaggre1!sive one. I 
fear, however, the subject is stiIr but imperfectly elucidated, and I may, 
perhaps, be in error in attributing to a religious influence a movement which, 
after all, may prove to have beeu merely a political one j a struggle of the 
natives for power and place, by the expulsion from the country of a people 
alien in religion, in blood, in colour, in, habits, in feelings and in every 
thing. Whatever the final opinion on this subject may be, the questi~nif 
which, as far as I am aware of, have not as yet found a satisfactory solution, 
are, by what circumstances was this most atrocious revolt, with its series of 
massacres, brought sbout,and .who were its prime original instigators? I 
feel sure the ~em bel'S of this Court will join withme in deeming that our 
proceedings do not furnish a full 'and ccmplete answer to such questions; and 
why do they not? I believe it is simply owing to the circumstance that 
any merely local investigation must be inadequate to collect evidence from 
the different quarters and sources, which are no doubt available elsewhere. 
·We may still, however, llOpe that our efforts on this point have not been 
fmitless or unavailing j if we callnot congratulate ourselyes on an entire 
success, we may perllaps be allowed credit for a near approach to it. Few, 
I imagine, will peruse these voluminous proceediDgswithout coming to the 
conclusion that intrigues and conspiracy have long been rife at this fostering 
Court of Delhi. Insignificant and contemptible as to any outward. show of 
power, it would appear that this possessor of mere nominal royalty has ever 
been looked upon by Mahomedan fanaticism as the head and culminating 
star of its faith. In him have still been centred the hopes and aspira­
'tions of millions. They have looked up to llim as the source of honour, 
and, more than . this, he has proved. the rallying point not only. to 
Mahomedans, but to thousands of others with whom it was supposed no bond 
of fanatical union could possibly be established. To throw, the fullest light 
on a subject like this, is not the work of a.day or ofa month. Time, the 
great revealer of secrets, will doubtless, sooner or later, lay bare the spI'ings 
from which a stream of so much evil and misery has flowed j but, till then, 
we must be content with such views as our present investigation affords. 
That we bave been able to unravel· many of the secret workings of the con­
spirators will, I believe, be conceded j but let me not anticipate. This is 
a point of our inquiry on which I purpose to offer some observations here­
after; but a concise narrative of events wilIperhaps best suit the com-
mencement of this address·. . 

I may state, then, that 85 men, non-commissiolH)d officers and. troopers 
of the 3rd Light Cavalry, who were tried by general court-martial at Meerut 
in May last, for refusing their cartridges, had their sentence read to them 
and were ironed on the parade-ground early on the morning of the 9th of 
May, and that the mutiny of die three native l'egiments at Meerut first 
openly developed itself at about half-past six o'clock on the evening of the 
10th of May, during which interval of nearly 36 hours thel'e were, of course, 
plenty of opportunities for interchange -of communications between the 
native troops who first rebelled at Meerut, and those who joined them at this 
station. To travel from one place to· another by coach used ordinarily to 
take about five hours j alld that the mutineers. availed themselves of this 
facility of mutual intercourse has, I think, been clearly established by the 
evidence of Captain Tytler. It appears from his statement, that a coach 
full of these ~feerut mutinee~s .. came on Sunday evening to the lines of the 
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38th Native Infantry, doubtless to prepare the sepoy. of this station for 
the arrival and /luitable reception, on Monday morning, of their rebel 
comrades j and although we may not P9ssess positive evidence to the fact 
yet it may fairly be presumed that Sunday evening was not the first 
occasion that these plotters of evil held their secret aud sinister councils 
together. Indeed we have it on record that, even before the Court, which 

. tried the mutinous cav~lry at Meerut, had come to any decision on their 
case, a compact had been entered into to ~he effect that if the use of greased 
carh'idges was persisted in, the troops at Meerut· and Delhi would unite, 
and at once unful"l the standard of revolt} .and so fully had this arrange­
ment been perfected and agreed on, that It IS related that the sepoy guards 
at the gate cf the palace on Sunday evening made no secret of their inten •. -
tions, but spoke openly among themselvell of what they expected to occur 
on the morrcw. To understand the merits and demerits of the whole tran­
sactiou, it must be recollected that, at the time when these resolutions were 
arrived at there was not a single greased cartridge in the magazines of either 
of the three native regiments at Meerut, nor, as far as I have been in­
formed, of tllOse at Delhi either. It must be further borne in mind that 
the native soldiers themselve& were the persons whQ were perllaps the best 
informed on these foints j that the cartridges for practice had, from time 
immemorial; been manufactured in the regimental magazine!! by persons of 
thei\" own colour, creed, and religious persuasion j that it was absolutely 
impossible to palm off on them a spurious. article j that the regimental 
khalasies, who were employed in making these cartridges, must have at once 
discovered their impurity, if such had really existed j that, iu fact, objec­
tionable cartridges: (I mean such as would affect the religious prejudices of 
either Mussulman or Hindu), could not possibly have been made in their 
regimental magazines, as in such case the very men to be employed in their 
manufacture would have refused their work; but, more than this, let it be 
remembered that the Mahomedan has no caste, that even the hybdd such 
as the Mahomedans of Central India has become, half Mussulman and half 
Hindu, does not pretend to a loss of religion, even from touching pork. 
'Who is there amongst us that has not" and does not almost daily witness 
these Mahomedans, in the capacity of table servants, carrying plates and 
dishes which openly contain the very substance which, in reference to the car­
tridges, has been made the pretence and the stumbling block of their offence. 
Even if we were to admit that all the cartridges were thoroughly saturated with 
pig's and with cow's fat, still what rcal valid objection on the score of their 
rcligion could the Mahomedan sepoys have had in using them? Their bro­
thers· and other relatives in the private service of officers never hesitate to 
handle or cook the dishes which they are required to bring to our tables. The 
objections of the Mahomedan sepoys on this head are so transparently falsc 
that it can hardly be a matter of wonder that not one man of sense or respec­
tability among them appears ever to have come forward to seck information 
or satisfy himself as to the truth or falsity of rumours so industriously cir­
culated about these cartridges tliat were to be the means .of depriving them 
of their faith. Some few- very few-honourable exceptions have certainly 
held aloof from and openly repudiated the conduct of their brethren j but 
such men have wanted neither guarantees nor explanations in. regard to a 
matter which was patent to all, but have come to their own conclusions on 
a subject where error had no abiding place and mistake is' incredible. 
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That neither Mussulmau nor Hindu had any honest objection' to the use of any 
of the cartt'idges at Meerut or at Delhi is sufficiently proved by the eagerness 
with which they sought possession of them, and the alacrity with which they 
used them, when their aim and object was the murder of their European 
officers, or when, unIted under the banners of the prisoner at your bar, they 
for months, constantly went forth to fight agaiust the power to. which they 
1>wed fealty and allegiance. Among the very numerous petitions which have 
been brought under your notice during these proceedings, it may have struck 
the Court as very strange that there'is not a single one in which the slightest 
allusion is made to what tbesepoys' would have us believe to be their 
great and particular grievance. We have had upwards of 180 petitions be­
fore the Court, written on aU possible subjects, from the tinkel'ing of a cooking 
pot to the recovery of a mule or a crack in Ii. horse's hoofs; and each thought 
worthy of the sign manual of I'nyalty; but-in the free inclulgence of such 
correspondence, Whetl they evidently unhul·thened their minds to their adopt­
ed sovereign; and Were certainly not restrained by any delicacy of language 
or of feeling from venting their !tcerbity against their quondam European 
tnasters, we can find no trace of the original sin, no grease spot staining 
these effusions of disloyalty. How instructive is it that, among themselves, 
and when applying to us such language as "damnable hell-doomed infidels," 
Uley apparently forego the first specifio oitence, which they would have us 
believe has led them to mutiny and rebellion, aild the perpetration of crimes 
at which humanity shlldders. When with each other, and, as they conceiv­
ed safe from the intrllsioll and eliquiries of British officers, that ins1.lrmount­
able obstacle to thell' fidelity and allegiance, the greased cat·tddge is a ppa­
rently ,altogether lost sigQt of. Not a whisper is heard of a grievance which, 
if a substantial one, must evel' have been uppermost in the memories of all ; 
mllst have been continually rankling in their minds and embittei'ing their 
thoughts; must have influenced them in their blood-thirstiness; and to 
themselves have been their oaly extenuation for crimes such as may well ex­
clude them from m.erey. 'What a contrast this to their speeches when utter­
ed WIth aprospect of reaching European ears. Greasedcartl'idges are then 
always brought forward j the us.e 6f them forms the' one continuous night­
marc of the sepoy's existence. Really, if we reflect serionsly on this-if we 
remember that in reality. there was not a single greased cartridge among 
either of the three regiments which fit'st broke out. into mutiny, murdering not 
only men, bnt un offending women-and children, and that the sepays were 
perfectly aware of this j when we call to mind that, even if greased c.artridges 
had existed, and the use of them been required at the hands of these miscre­
ants, not one of the Mahomedans at any l'Rte could possibly have been in­
jured thereby in any caste prejudice, or placed even in temporary difficulty 
with regard to his religious tenets-when to this we add, what iS,well known 
to everyone in India, whether Hindu, Mahomedan, 01' European, viz" that 
tIle native soldier has but to ask fol' his discharge, and that 'in time of peace 
it is at once granted to him, without inquiry or difficulty of any kind, it seems 
beyond the bounds of reason to imagine that these ,men were dra'lVn into acts 
of such revolting atrocity by any grievances either real 01' imagined. Let the 
chimeras, the disturbed dreams of fanaticism, of wickedness, 01' of' folly have 
been what they may; let the instigations to evil have been as industrious as 
possible, and then allow that the .sepoys to be worked upon were as credulous 
as the grossest ignorance could Plake them, still,if the greased cartrid~e ha~ 
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been the only weapon the tamperers had to work with, but the one envenom­
ed shaft in their quiver, how easy was the remedy. It required no depth of 
knowledge, no philosopher to iufurm them that they could at once escape 
from every possible llerplexity by simply applying for their discharge. I 
know not, gentlemen what conclusion you may arrive at on this much vcxed 
question, but, after pondering it in every way iu which my rcason bas Ill'e­
sented it to me, I am obliged to iufer that something deeper and more power­
ful than the nse of greased cartridges has been l'esorted to. 

The machinery that has s£;t in motion such an amount, of mutiny and 
murder, that has made its vibrations felt almost at one and the same mo­
ment from one end of India to the other, must' have been prepared, if not 
with foreseeing wisdom, yet with awful (~raft, and most successful and com­
manding subtlety. We must recollect, too, in considering this subject, that 
ill many of the places where the native tl'OOpS have risen against their 
European officers, there was no pretext even in reference to cartridges at all ; 
numbers of these mutinied, apparently, because they thought there was a 
favourable opportunity of doing so i becallse they were a hundred to one 
against those in authority, and fancied that they might pillage, lliunder and 
massacre, not only with impunity, but with admntage. Is it possible that 
such fearful results as these could have at once devcloped themselves Ilnel 
the native army, previous to the cartridge question, been in a sound and well 
affected state? Van anyone imagine that, that rancorous wide-spread enmity 
of which we have lately had such terrible proofs, has been the result of feel. 
ings suddenly and accidentally irri.tated? Doss it appear consistent with 
the natural order of events, that such intense malignity should start into 
existence on one single provocation? Or CRn it he reconciled with the ins­
tincts, the traditions, or the idiosyncracies of thc Hindus, that they shonld 
recklessly, without inquiry, and without thought, desire to imbrue their 
hands in human blood, casting aside tIle pecuniary and other ad\'antages 
that bound them to the cause of order and of the Government. Or, more 
that;t this, can it be imagined that the three regiments at Meerut, even JVllen 
join~d by those at Delhi., could have conceived au idea so dal'iog as that of 
overthrolVing,:by themselves, the British GovemlDcllt iu India. 

. I think, gentlemen, everyone must allow that if we llad no oUler evi-
dence of a plot, no testimony indicative of a previous conspiracy, the vcry 
nature of the outbreak itself' must have convinced us of the existence of one. 
In the moral, as in the physical world, there must be cause and effect i anel 
the horrible' bntcheries of the IJast year would remain all anomaly and 11 

mystery for ever, could we trace them to nothing more occult amI baneful 
than 1\ cartridge of any kind. It will be observed, that this point of the eart­
l'idges, so openly and frequently insisted on, at Meerut and elsewllere, be­
fore the 10th of May, gradually becomes· more and more indistinct as the 
plot gathers strength and matures itself, and after furnishing the mutineers 
with their first war cry at Delhi, it seems to havc answered its purpose, IlIId 
thenceforward was allowed to sink into disuse and ncgleet. With little or no 
vitality at starting,· it soon died a natural death, and was succeeded by 
a reality of purpose, and a fixedness of resolve, tbat 'Would Im"e been wor­
thy of a better cause. If we review the actions and whole conduct of theBe 
mutineers, we shall soon see that, from the very comlD£Ilcement, they hear 
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the impress of cunning and of secret combination. For instance, 85 of their­
comrades were ironed before them and sent off to jail ill their presence on 
the morning of the 9th of Uay; but this occasioned no outbreak <.:f fury. 
Not a sonnd or token of dissatisfaction escaped fmlll the men, who, then and 
long before, must have had rebellion in their hearts; no gesture indicative 
of sympathy with the culp'l'itll was exhibited by any; in fact, as far as ap·­
lll'earauces could be trusted, the iufantry regiments at Meerut, and the re· 
mainiug portion of the 31·d Cavalry, wel'e as obedient and loyal as could pos­
sibly be desired: amI this deceptioll was successfully resorted to till their­
plans were mat.ured, and the moment for open r6\'olt had arrived. The night 
of the 9th of ~rn-y, twclve hours after the imprisonment of the 3rd Cavalry 
mutineers had taken place, was as favourable an opportunity as the night 
following, for a march upon the nearest magazine; b\lt there had not then been 
time for prepariug the Delhi sepoys for a movement which the progress or­
events at Ueerut had doubtless precipitated sooner than their first calcula· 
tions had led them to expect. Hence· the necessity for communicating 
afresh with Delhi, and acquainting the scpoys there with the drama that 
was to be enacted Oil Monday the lIth. That s1mh was done is established 
by the evidence of Captain 'l'ytler; for it would be difficult to. assign any 
Qther motive for a carriage fllll of sepoys coming over fl.-om Meerut on Slln­
day evening, and dl'lving straight into. the lines of the 38th Native 
Infantry. 

Again, we can perceive, in tIle very JlOnr chosen for the outbreak at 
·Meerut, the same evidence.of cunuing alld of craft. The plan, too., of the­
:Meerut cantonments gave considerable .facilities for Cal'l'yillg out their plo.t. 
'J.'he native lines are so completely separated frOID that portion of the can· 
tonments where the European troops re!:.ide, that the disturbance and uproar­
attendant even upon open mutiny could not be heard, or even known, from 
Qne to the other until specially cOIDmunicate<l. Officers may naturally 
have been too. intent on quelling the rebellion of their men to think of om.· 
cially reporting it. Be this as it may, there would be some delay in turn· 
in'" out and supplying the Europeans with carll'idges, assembling their om· 
ce~s, and marching down a distance of not less than two miles: so. that tak .. 
in'" oue delay with another the ll1utincel'S might fairly calculate, considering­
it ~as au utter surprise to. all, ou 1 t honrs of safe and uninterrupted progress, 
and as the outbreak commenced at half-past six, this would have secured: 
them darknes!l and comparative security for their further operations. This. 
was what in effect actually took place. Oil the Europeans reaching the na .. 
ti've lines, it was already dark; no. sepoys were to be seen, and no one could 
tell whither they had gone. Subsequent inquiry revealed that, gnided by 
the instinct o.f cunning, the rebels had not, at first, taken the direct or 
Dlain road to Delhi, neither had they left i'Ieerut in militaTy formation, ·but 

_ as dl\sk set in, had gone forth in parties of five, six or ten to their fixed place 
of assembly. This was judicious for their departure from Meerut, but would 
have been highly impolitic for their entry into Delhi, where there were n{)­
Enropean troops to avoid. S?lUethillg more imposil~g and d.emou~trative 
was required he~e, and accordll\~~y we find them.c~ossmg the bl'l?ge 8Iooul.ta. 
neQusly massed In columns, and m complete mIlitary array, WIth a portlOD. 
of the cavalry sent forward as a tegular advanced guard. . 



2Hi. TRIA.L OF EX,KING OF DELHI; 

It is on this occasion that we first prove the mutineers in immediate cou­
llexion with the prisoner at your bar. The first point to which they 
turn-the first person to wlipm they address themselves, is' the titular majes­
ty of Delhi. This circumstance has )Iluch significanc(!, and, at any ratc, 
tends to show that previous conccrt existed between them. Thc prisoner's 
complicity, howe,ver, was, immediately after, opellty to commence. Scarcely 
had the very serIOUS nature of the outbreak had time to den lop itself, than his 
own special servants-in the very precinctS of his palace-and almost, as it 
were, before his own eyes, rnsh to imbrue'their hands in the blood of every 
European,they can meet with; and, when we remember that two of these 
were young and delicate women; who could have given no offence; whose 
sex and age might have tamed any hearts less pitiless than those of the 
llllman demons who destroyed them, we al'e able to realize some slight 
portion of the horril)ly unnatural influences that appear innate to Mahomedan 
treachel·Y. How otherwise was it possible that education, the pride' of royal 
ancestry. a life of tranquil ease and comparative refinement should not have 
exempted this old and gl'ey-headed man from all connexioll with deeds 
which seem too barbarous for the very outcasts of humanity, 01' even for the 
untamed but less savage denizens of the jungle. 

We stop to inquire whether it has been proved in this court, and will 
be repeated in after years, that the last king ofthe imperial house of 'l'aimur 
was au accomplice in this villainy. The circumstances shall now be fairly 
stated. These murders were committed in the broad glal'e of day, before 
dozens of witnesses. and wit~out the slightest attemft at concealment, 
They were perpett'ated, as has been already stated, by' the prisoner's own 
retainers aud within the limits of his palace, where, be it rememberell evell 
under the Company's GJvem~nt, his jurisdictiou was paramount. I shall 
not, however, attell1T)t to infer thxt the~e murdel"S must have been previously 
sanctioned by the priSOn3l' ; m3re inferences on such a point cannot be accept­
ed in a court of justice. I prefer to quote from the evidence. It is Ahsall 
UUa Khan, the physician, who is speaking, and wh() says, that at the time 
referrecl to he and Ghulam Abbas, the attorney in court, were with the king, 
when it w~s told them that the troopers had killed Mr. l"raser, and had gone 
up to Captain Douglas to kill him, and that this was instantly cOIl~I'med by the 
retnrn of the palkee bearers, _who told them that they had Witnessed Mr. 
:I!'raser's murder; that his body was in the gateway, aud that the troopers 
had Mcended to the upper building for the purpose of murdering those 
there. Why the witness suppresses all mention of .the. Pfomi.nent,part the 
kinO"s own servants took ill these massacres can eaSIly be Imagmed. III 
a s"ubsequent part of his examination, he even asserts that he never hear~ 
that any of the king's servants joined in these murders, nay more, that It 
was not generally known who committed them. Suc~ is the evasion of the 
king's own physician, who doubtless was aware of the Importance that w.ould 
necessarily attach to this point. It was not generally known who commltted 
these murders, 'and yet at this lapse of time, we have had DO difficulty iu 
tracinO' the individuals, arid ascertaining their names. It was not generally 
know; that the kin""'s own servants were the murderers, and yet we find this 
very circumstance p~ominently and specifically mentione~ at the t!me in the 
native newspapers of the city. I need !lot, af~er thlS, l·eeapltulate. th,e 
evidence of all those who have clearly and satIsfactortly proved that the klDg s' 
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fiervants were the murderers; Cor their testim,ony stands unshaken and 
unrefuted. It will amply suffice if I quote the statement of one of them, and 
which is as follows :" At this time Mr. Fraser remained below trying to 
suppress the disturbance, and while thus engaged, I noticed that Haji, 
lapidary, cut him down with a tulwar, and almost at the same inst.ant" some 
of the king's servants cut at him with' swords till he was dead. One of 
Mr. Fraser's murderers was an Abyssinian. After this they made a rush to 
the upper apartments, when I immediately ran' round by al10ther door and 
closed the door at the top of the stairs. I was engaged in shulting all the doors, 
when the crowd found entrance by the southern stair, and having forced one 
of the doors on that side, came and gave admission to the, men who had 
assisted in murdering Mr. }'raser. These immediately rushed into the apart-

. ments where the gentlemen, viz., Captain Doughlas, Mr. Hutchinson and Mr. 
Jennings, had retired, and attacking them with swords, at once murdered 
them and the two young ladies. On this I ran down the staircase. As I 
got to the bottom, I was laid hold of by one Mundoh, a bearer in the 
service of the king, who said, 'Tell me where Captain Douglas is; you 
have concealed him.' He forced me upstairs with him; I said,' You have 
yourselves killed aU the gentlemen already;' but on reaching the room where 
Captain Douglas was, I saw that he wag not quite dead. Mondoh perceiv­
ing this also, hit him with a bludgeon on the forehead, and killed him 
immediately. II Having now established that the murderers of these ladies 
were the special servants of the prisoner, it will be well to revert to the 
tcstimony of the physician, Ahsan Una Khan, and to ascertain from him the 
steps the prisoner took on the murders being reported to him. 'I'he only 
order he gave on this ,occasion appears to have been to close the gates of his 
palace; and we naturally inquire whether this was for the Pllrpose of preventing 
the escape of the murderers. The evidence distinctly proves that it was not. 
The physician being further interrogated, is obliged to confess that the pri­
soner took no steps whatever either to discover, to secure, or to punish the 
guilty, and attributes it to there being much confusion at the time; but if 
the king's authority had actually beeu set aside, and by his own servants to,o, 
this would have been the most forcible of aU reasons for immediately re-es­
tablishing it, by at 011ce bringing the offenders to justice. That' this . was 
not done we have been already informed, and we can only account for it on 
the supposition that these acts of the prisoner's servants, if not instigated 
by himself, had yet actulllly anticipated' his wishes. We are thus per­
fectly prepared for what is to follow, viz., that no servant was ever dismissed 
aud not the slightest investigation or inquiry was ever instituted; in fact, 
in the words of the question put to the witness, the king continued these 
murderers both in his pay and in employment, and this too, as we have seen 
when the very newspapers of the day gave information against them. After 
this, is it necessary to question whether he adopted these deeds as his own or 
not? I need not quote what may be the law of the land on such a point, 
for there is a yet higher law which must acquit bim or condemn him, the 
law of conscience anJ of sense ; that law which everyone who hears me can 
apply, and which carries with it a verdict more terrible than that which is 
pronounced in mel'e conformity to legal codes or military legislation: it is a 
law that does not depend upon local constitutions, upon human institutes, 
or religious creeds: it is a law fixed in the heart of man by his ~Iaker; and 
can it now here be sct aside? 
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Perhaps it may now be time to turn our attention to what was doing 
at tIle magazine, ann to trace the fUl·tI~er steps of the mutincers in that 
direction. Captain Forrest has told us that it ,vas about 9 o'clock in the 
morning when the main body of the native troops from Meerut wa~ passin" 
over the bridge in military formation (that is, ill sub-divisions of compauics)~ 
with fixed bayonets aud sloped arms, the cavalry being in front. It was 
actually in less than one hoUl' after this that a subadar of the 38th Nath'e 
Infantrv, who was·commanding the magazine guard outside the gate, in­
formed 'themthat the King of Delhi had sent a guard to take possession of 
the ·magazine, and to In·jng all the Europeans there up to his palace, and 
that if they did not consent to this, none of them wel'e to he allowed to 
leave the magazine. Captain FOllrest adds that he did not see the guard 
at this time, but that he saw the man who had bl'onght this message, and 
he was a well-dressed Mussulman. Nor was this all, for shortly after the 
above, a native officer in the king's service arrived with a strong guard of 
the king's OWll soldiers in their uniform, and told the abovementioned suha­
dar and the non-commissioned officers that he was sent down by the king 
to relieve them ~f duty. 

We thus see with what alertness and despatch this most important 
object, the seizure of the magazine, was attempted. Is it, llowever, to be­
believed that such was t~e ready, immediate, and, as it were, impulsive 
decision of the-king, or of those who formed the court? To attribute to them. 
anything of this nature would be to give them credit for a coolness of 
calculation, combined with a quickness of apprehension, such as pertains. 
only to the more gifted of mankind. The scope and entire progress of the 
scheme speak loudly of a plan previously arranged, and of deliberations long 
matured by the counsels of many. Indeed, it is difficult to conceive that 
anyone, not previously initiated in the secret, could, on the moment, so· 
promptly and so effectually have entered upon and adopted the details 
necessary for carrying it out. You will recollect the extr~me importance 
of the decision, the magnitude of the interests at stake. You will call to­
mind the cogent reasons and the numerous argument.s that would naturally 
array themselves against adopting so headlong and precipitate a measure. 
It was, in fact, an invitation to a king to league himself with ruffians and 
with cut-throats. Any inducement or prospective advantage that they 
could hold out to him was faint and almost imperceptible, compared with 
the open risk which he was to encounter. By embarking in so forloru a 
cause he imperilled everything; his olVn life, and thoqe of all belonging 
to him, and for what? The distant glimmer of a crown, which common reason, 
or the slightest.consideration, would have .convinced him was a mere i!lnis· 
fatuus-a mockery of a . sceptre, -that would avade his grasp. Are we to· 
imagine that it was under such circumstances that this weak and trcmuloul.'. 
old man seized and improved his occasion, and with all the rapid instinct 
of determination.. directed his own troops upon the magazine, to establish 
himself. there as the one point of primary and most ,'ital impOl·tance: 
and tbis too in the first moment of a surpl'ise whcn nothing but riot alld 
disorder reigned supreme? Or are we to suppose that there was a secret 
and a deeper lmowledge of what the other portions of the army were already 
ripe for, and that the five 01' six regiments to commence with were but the 
instalments of those that wc~c to follow? Or, if such previous understand-
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ing and collusion. did not exist e~ther with the ki~~ or any of those im­
mediately about 111m, are we to attnbllte to superstItlOn and the pretended 
revela.tion of dreams, circumstances which scarcely admit of satisfactory 
solution by any more' sobel' process? We have all heard, in this court, 
of the vision of a hurricane that was to arise fl'om the west with a great 
flood of water devastating the whole country, but bearing up on its surges 
this descendant of ancient royalty, and that this vision, as interpreted by 
Hassan Askari the priest, signified annihilation to the English infidels by 
the power of the King of Persia, who was to restore sovereignty 
to the heirs of the throne of Hindustan. Was it a reliance upon 
this that expedited the otherwise tardy movements of these Asiatics, 
and gave breadth and boidness to their d,ecisions? I am aware that 
under other circumstances, and in any but an eastern land, such unmean­
ing flights of a bewildered imagination would be too trivial to dwell 
UpOll, too unsubstantial for the gravity of comment; but here, in seriously 
considel'ing the nature and progress of an extensive military revolt, they 
obtrude themselves on the mind as subjects capable of influencing for evil 
the destinies of thousands. 

These observations have been elicited by the marked and unusual energy 
displayed in making the magazine the point of instant attack. It seems to 
me that such cannot be accounted for by conspiracy among the sepoys alone, 
fGl'it was the king's own troops who, were the first'to seek possession, 
and the military and systematic way in which this was done betrays the 
authority by which the orders were issued. 'There was no confusion here, 
no attempt at pillage: non-commissionecl officers wcre appointed to tho 
separate guards for the different gates of the magazi;ne, while another guard 
superintended the labourers who were removing the stores that happened to 
be outside. How could such decision, such instant transformation from 
chaos to system and to ordct· have resulted hacl not the king or some of 
bis officials been entrusted with a sort of programme of events? How, in 
fact, could the killg's troops have been in readiness and preparation for such 
work without warning of some kind? 

If I have not succeeded in tracing to the king Mmself n foreknowledge 
of the leading events that were to take place on Monday the 11th of May, I 
trust it lias been made obvious that the secret was in the possession of some 
influential inmates of the palace. The babbling garrulity of the prince 
Jawan Bakht sufficiently indicates this, for such is his joy at the anticipation 
of murdering the English, that he is unable to restrain his expressions of it. 
My chicf object, llOwe-:er, has been to render clear what I believe to be the 
truth, viz., that the conspiracy, from the very commencement, was Ii0t Con­
fined to the sepoys, aml did not even originate with them, but had its rami_ 
fications throughout thepalace and the city: and do not the murders which we 
have already adverted to tend to corroborate this fact? 1Ve have evidence 
that tIle mutineers of the 11th and 20th regiments of Native Infantry, before 
the magazine was exploded, proceeded to attack and escalade it, and it is 
then for tIle first time that we find the king, through II is troops, acting in 
open alliance with these traitors to their government. From that moment \ 
there is no further disguise, and no attempt at concealment. Fairly launch,. 
ed into the stream of sedition, he is hurried onward by the swollen flood· 

, , 
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which was not however to bear him, as lie imagined, to the throne of Hind-· 
ustan, but to leave him in its ebb a mere helpless wreck upon the sands. 

I would here pause for a second, to refer to Lieutenant Willoughby, 
and to the brave men under him, who for so long a time held, against un­
numbered odds, the magazine entrusted to them. One hardly Imows which 
to admire most, the penetration and sagacity which at a glance, fOl'esaw: tIle 
possible necessity for its destruction, and made arrangements accordingly i 
or the undaunted resolution with which the final sacrifice was accomplishcd. 
To do justice to such heroism will be the pleasing duty of the historian. I 
can merely give it a passing notice, having to dilate on other matters more 
immediately connected with the proceedings befflre us. 

With the explosion of the magazine at Delhi, every hope of stemming 
the tonent of l'ebellion seems to have vanished i resistance had been thcre 
protracted to its utmost possible extent i the sacrifice was a final one i and 
thenceforward the European community, if, in isolated spots, still preserving 
the appeal'ance of government authority, were left without one vestige of real 
power, so that it soon became a duty to the state and to themselves to save 
their lives by a timely l'etreat.Delhi was consequently abandoned to the 
miscreants who had in the short space of 24 hours stained themselves with 
crimes which can scarcely be equalled in all the catalogues of bygone iniquity. 
It is now that we find the king coming personally forward as the eldef actor 
in that great drama which had more than England and Europe for its 
spectators, the progress of which was watelled with such absorbing interest 
everywhere by the antagonistic powers of civilization and of barbarism. 
The evidence shows that on the afternoon of the 11th of May, the king, 
having entered the hall of special audience, seated himself in a chair, when 
the soldiery, officers and all, came forward one by -one and bowed their 
heads before him, asking him to place his hands on them. 'I'he king did so, 
-and each then withdrew, saying whatever came into his mind. The witness, 
viz., Ghulam Abbas, the prisoner's attorney in court, informs us that this 
ceremony of the king putting his hands on the headH of the soldiery was 
equivalent to accepting their allegiance and services i and he further states, 
that though he is not aware of any regular prJclamation having been made 
in Delhi in l'eference to the king assuming the reins of government, yet that 
such may have been done without his hearing of it; but that on the very 
day of the outbreak the king's authority was established, and that night a 
royal salute was fired of about 21 guns. 

These matters bring ns to tIle charges.against the prisoner, and it may 
perhaps be as well now to consider them, not so much in regard to dates 
as the sequence in which they have been drawn up. The first charge 
against Mahomed Bahadur Shah, ex.king of Delhi, is: II For that he, being 
a pensioner of the British Government in India, did, at Delhi, at various 
times between the 10th of ~fay and 1st of October 1857, encourage, aid, 
and abet Muhammad Bakht Khan, subadar of the regiment of artillery, and 
divers others, native commissioned officers and soldiers unk.nown, of the East 
India Company's Army, in the crimes of mutiny and l'ebellion against. 
the State." I am not going to weary the court by repeating even a tenth . 
part of the evidence which has been brought forward to establish these charges, 

" but it is perhaps necessary to show that proof of them hall been recorded. 
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Mr. Saunders, Officiating Commissioner and Agent to the Lieutenant-Gover­
nor, has explained under what circumstances the prisonet· became a pensioner 
of the .British Government in India, viz,,' that his grandfather, Shah Alam, 
after having been kept in rigorous confinement by the Mahtattas, on their 
defeat by the English in 1803, applied to the British Government for protec­
tion. This was accorded, and from that moment the titular Kings of Delhi 
became pensioned subjects of the British .. It will be seen, then, that, as far 
as this' family is concerned, there was no wrong to be complained of, and 
nothing but benefits to be remembered. The prisoner's grandfather Shah 
~W~~~~~~~W~~~~~~~~ 
cd to every species of indignity, and was still kept in most rigorous coniine­
ment, when the English, under Lord Lake, appeared as his deliverers; and; 
with generous sympathy for his misfortunes; bestowed on him rank and pen­
sion which, continued to his successors, have maintained them in ·honout' 
and in inflnence, till, like the snake in the fable, they have turned their fang's 
upon those to whom they owed the very means of their existence. The evi­
dence that connects the prisoner with Muhammad Bakht Khan, subadar of 
the artillery, and which of itself will be sufficient to establish the charge, is 
a document from beginning to end in the prisoner's own handwriting: 

"To the especial Slave, the'Lord Governor, Muhammad Bakht Khan Bahadur. 

tr Receive OUr favour; and understand that whilst the Neemuch force 
have reached Alapur, its baggage is still here, and that YOll are therefore 
directed to take 200 troopers aud five or seven cbmpanies of infanh'y, and 
have all the baggage 'alluded -to, such as tents, &c., together with· com mis­
lIariat supplies, conveyed by the gharis to Alapur. You are further directed 
not to allow the infidels staying near the Edgah to advance. Be it known to 
you further, that if the army returns without victory, and divested of its ap­
pliances of war, the consequence must be disastrous. You have been pre­
monished, and you are to consider these orders stringent." 

It is true there is no date to this communication, but the allusions in it 
leave no possible doubt as to its having been written within the period em~ 
braced by the .terms of the first charge. . 

Perhaps this will 'lJe the best place for the few observations I have to offer 
on the defence. The prisoner, like every other that we have tried, has, ac­
cording to his own showing, been the mere victim of circumstances; de­
clares that he had no intelligence on the subject previous to the outbreak; 
that the mutinous soldiery surrounded him completely, and placed sentries 
on all sides; . and that. fearing for his life, he kept quiet, !Lnd went to his 
own private apartments; that the mutinous soldiery kept the meu, wome,n, 
and children prison~rs; that he twice saved their lives by entreaty and per­
lIuasion, and that: the third time he did all in his power to save them, but 

, that the rebellious soldiery would not heed him, . and eventually, carried ou t 
their purpose Of slaying those poor people'against his orders. -Now the chief 
objection to all this. is, that it is not only -qnsupported by evidence, but is 
directly in the teeth of all the testimony, whether oral or written, and whe­
ther ,given by his own servants or by others. The entire defence indeed is 
a mere. tissue of de'nials of guilt; assertions of his not having been a' free 
ag-snt; and an endeaV'ourto put th-:: onu,of his misconduct upon others. He 
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cannot challenge the authenticity of the documents against him, or the ni,. 
dence of his own handwriting, or his own seal; and his only expedient con­
sists in asserting, that what he wrote was by compulsion, and that his seal 
was affixed iuthe same way. The only dilemma that he appears unable to ex­
tricate himself from, to his own satisfactlon, in this way, is the going out to 
Humayun's tomb, and coming in again. It was,. of course, necessary to state 
that the last was by his own choice and free will; and this would scarcely have 
been possible had his going out heen represented as compulsory i for if the se­
poys had forcibly taken him out, they would hardly allow him voluntarily to 
return, so we are treated with the following curious account :-" When the 
revolted and rebellious troops prepared to abscond, finding an opportunity, I got 
away secretly under the palace wiudows, and went and stayed in Humayun'. 
mausoleum." One would have thought that if he wished to separate himself 
from the rebellious troops, that his be~t plan would have been to have stayed 
in Delhi, when they were preparing to abscond, instead of secretly planning to 
go out with them. How()ver, I do not mean to take the defence, paragraph by 
paragraph, and thus refute it. My best reply to. it, I believe, will be by showing 
how fully aud completely the cbarges have been proved, and to this task I 
now again address myself, and proceed to the consideration of the second 
count, which is, if possible, still more fully established than the first. It 
runs as follows :-" For having at Delhi, at various times between the 10th 
of May and 1st of October 1857, encouraged, aided and abetted Mirza 
Moghal, his own son, a subject of the British Government in India, and 
divers others unknown, inhabitants of Delhi, and of the North-West provin­
ces of India, also ~ub.iects of the said British Government, to rebel and wage 
war agaist the State." 'I'he documents and other evidence in support of this 
charge are so numerous that it would be tedious even to reckon them. The 

. newspapers speak of the appointment of Mirza Moghal to the office of com­
mauder in-chief; of his inyestiture with a dress of honour; and other mat­
ters relating thereto. The oral testimony is very strong on the same subject, 
while the discovered correspondence shows that Mirza Moglial, the son, was 
perhaps, next to his father, the leading chief of the rebels in Delhi. I shall 
for form's sake give a short extract from a petition of Moulavy Muhammad 
Zohur Ali, police officer of Najaf Garh. It is as follows :-

<t To the King I Shelter of the World I 

<t Respectfully shewetb,-That the orders of the royal missive have been 
fully explained to all the Thakurs, Chowrlaries, Kanungos, and Patwaries ol 
this township of Najaf Garh, and that the best arrangements have been es­
tablished. Further,that, agreeably to your Majesty's injunctions, IIteps are 
bein'" taken to collect horsemen and footmen, and it is explained to them, 
that" their allowances will be paid from the revenue of this division of the 
district. Your slave's assurances on this point, however, will not be believ. 
ed till some Ghazis, recently engaged, shall have arrived. As regards Nagli, 
Kakrowla, Dachaoo Kallan and other adjacent villages, your slave has to 
represent tllat, unrestrained by the dread of conseqnences, and bent on all 
1I0rts of excesses, the inhabitants have commenced plundering travellers." 

This might, I think, be sufficiently conclusive as to the words of tl~e 
cbar"'e in reference to "aidinO' and abettin'" in rebellion Mirza Moghal, Ills 
own ~on, and divers other unk"nown inhabit~nts of Delhi, and of the Nortb 
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W es~ern Provinces of India, inasmuch as tile petition from wllich I 
ani quoting bears the autograph order of the prisoner referring it 
to his son Mirza Moghal, and directiughim quickly to send a reaiment cf 
infantry with its officers to Najaf Garh, in accordance with the wishes, and 
for the purpose of aiding and abetting the petitioner's schemes of .raising 
horsemen and footmen to fight against the English. But there is another 
petaion, which has not yet been submitted to the Court, having only lately 
come to hand, and which may appropriately be introduced bere. It is from 
Amir Ali Khan, son of the Nawab' of .K.hurajpura, and is dated 12th of July. 
It runs as follows :-

<t To the King I Shelter of the W orId I 

<t Respectfully sbeweth,-That- your petitioner has come to your royal 
court, at which Darius miglJt have ~erved as a doorkeeper, hav.ing left his 
house animated by tbe ambition to stake his life in your Majesty's cause, and 
laments that he has lived to see the day when the accursed English have 
presumed to direct their cannon against your royal dwelling, the guardians of 
which are t1:e angels' of heaven. From the first dawn of the powers of dis­
cernment, your petitioner has been trained, like the lion, to conflicts and 
war, and has not, like the fox, been concerned for his life-

.. Leopards destroy their prey on the summits at mountains, 
.. Crocodiles devour theirs on the banks of rivers. 

"Your petitioner submits that if his prayer is accepted, and the plans 
and stratagems nrcessary in this war are entrusted to his judgment, aided by 
your Majesty's august auspices,he will, in three days, totally exterminate 
these people with white skins and dark fortunes. It was necessary, and I 
have therefore submitted it. (Prayers for the prosperity of the reign, and 
curses in bitter and filthy. language against those who may wish it harm). 
Petition of the slave Amir Ali Khan, son of Nawab Dullail Khan, son of 
Nawab Najabat Khan, chief of Khurajpura." 

Autograph Order of the King, in Pencil. 

"Mirza Zohuruddin will make inquiries, aLd will give the petitioner service!' 

The third charge is-uFor that he, being a subject of the British Gov­
ernment in India, and not regarding the duty of his allegiance, did at 
Delhi, on the 11th May 1857, or thereabouts, as a false traitor against the 
State, proclaim and declare himself the reigning King and Sovereign of India~ 
and did, then andtheI'e, traitorously seize and take unlawful possession of 
the city of Delhi j and did moreover at various times· between the 10th of 
May and 1st of October 1857, as such false traitor' aforesaid, treasonably. 
conspire, consult, and agree with Mirza Moghal, his own son, and with Mu­
hammad Bakht Khan, subadar ofthe regiment of artillery, and divers oth~ 
false traitors unknown, to raise, levy, and make insurrection, rebellion, and war: 
against the State j and fUl'ther to fulfil and perfect his treasonable desigll oC 
overthrowing and destroying the British Government in India, did asse~hl~ 
armed forces at Delhi, and !lend them forth to fight and wage war a~~t .th~ 
laid Britiih Gove11lment.'~ .. . 
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That the prisoner wa~ jI. pensioned subject of the :British Goyernment 
in India bas been already shown in treating of the first charge j and as the 
:British Government neither deprived llim nor any member of his family of 
any sovereignty whatever, -but, on the contrary, relieving them from misery 
and oppression, bestowe~ on them largesses and pensions aggregating many 
JIlilIions of pounds sterling, the duty of their allegiance will, I tllink be 
readily admitted; yet, as we have already seen, tllis traitor rushes to seize 
the first possible opportunity of overthrowing and destroying the government 
of his benefactors. On the afternoon of the very first day of the outbreak in 
the hall of special audience, he receives the obeisances of the revolted Se}loys, 
and by laying his hands on thcir heads unites with them in a common 
brotherhood of infamy. It is perhaps difflcult to realise such a scelle. An 
enfeebled tremulous old man striving with palsied hand to reach a sceptre 
far too powerful for his puny grasp, and while bent by age and infirmity, 
inducting a monarch's garb; to give, as it were, a benison and a blessing to 
the cause of the fculest treachery and murder! Dead to every feelillg that 
falls honourably on the heart of man, this ~hrivelJed impersonation of ma­
lignity must have formed no inapt centre-piece to the group of ruffians that 
surrounded him! . 

There are ~everal witnesses who "peak to the circumstance of the prisoner 
having been proclaillled. It is variollSly 'stated as occurring on different days, 
find it is more than probable that such was actually the ~ase. One or two 
proclamations would hardly be sufficient to carry the information through aU 
the suburbs of so large a city as Delhi. '1'he prisoner's attorney allows that 
the King's authority was established on the 11th of May j and Gulab, mes­
lIenger, being asked, "Was the King proclaimed as tIle reigning sovereign 
immediately after the outbreak ?" answeJed, 'Yes, the proclamation was made 
by beat of drum on the very day of the outbreak, abeiut tIme in the afternooll, 
to the effect that it was now the King's Govemmelltj" while Chuni, pedlar, 
another witness, 'declares that, " On the 11th of May, about midnight, some 
20 guns were fired iIi the palace. I heard the reports at my house i and 
next day, at about noon, a proclamation was made by beat of drum that the 
~ountry had reverted to tlle possession of the King:" The next paragraph in 
the charge is in reference to traitorously seizing and taking unlawful posses­
sion of the city of Delhi; but this i~ a point tllat I need not quote evidence 
to establish. It is difficult to turn our eyes in any direction without having 
convincing proofs of it. The charge then goes on to assert that the prisoner 
"did at various times, between the 10th of ],fRV and lst of October 1857, 
treasonably conspire, consult, and agree with l\{irza Moghal his son, and with 
Muhammad :Bakht Khan, subadar of the regiment of artillery, and divers 
other false traitors unknown, to raise, levy, and lI1ake insurrection and war 
Ilgainst the State." Mirza }Ioghal was publicly appointed commauder-in­
chief, and a special state procession in honour of his being 80 took place a 
few days after the outbreak. The witness who deposes to this is Chuni Lal, 
pedlar j but he is unable to specify the exact date on which he witnessed it. 
Mirza Moghal's authority after this seems to have been uncontrolled, at any 
rate in all matters immediately relating to the army, until Subadar Bakht Khan, 
of the artillery arrived, and was appointed both Lord Governor-General and 
Commander-in-Chief. The date of his arrival was the 1st of July, and after 
~hd lome jealousy and clashing of authority between the two Commanderh 
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in-ChieCis observable, for, on the 17th of July, Mirza Mogbal writes and in­
forms his father, that on that day he had formed up the army and taken it 
outside the city to attack the English, when General Bakht Khan interfered, 
and for a long time kept the whole for!!e standing inactive, wanting to know 
by whose. orders it had gone out, and, saying it was not to proceed without 
his permissiou, caused it to return. Mirza Moghal adds, " that having his 
orders reversed cannot but cause vexation to any officer, high or low, and 
begs that definite instructions may be given as to whom the real authority 
over the army belongs." T~ere is no order on this letter, nor have we 
any intimation what decision was come to, but that some better arrange­
ment was the consequence is evident, for on the very next day, the 18th or 
July, we find Mirza Moghal and General Bakht Khan acting in concert, as 
the following letter from Mirza Moghal to his father will show. It is dated. 
the 19th of July, and runs as follows :-"Since yesterday the arrangements 
have been completed for carrying on active offensive operations both by 
night and day. If aid could be afforded now from the direction of Alapur, 
with the divine blessing, and through the influence of your Majesty's ever­
during prestige, a final and decisive victory, it is to be expected, would soon 
be obtained. I therefore pray that positive orders may be issued from the 
throne to the Eareily General to afford the aid in question; t~at is, . that he 
be directed to proceed with troops to Alapur, and to make an attack on the 
infidels from that direction, while your slave, ,!ith his division of the army 
makes another on this side, so that the two forces· co-operati:::Ig in the fight 
m.ay in one or two days consign all the damnable hell-doomed infidels to 
bell. Moreover, it is to be expected that the force going to Alapur will cut 
.off the enemies' supplies. It was necessary, and has therefore been submit­
ted." On this letter there is an autograph order of the king to the follow­
ing effect: "That Mirza Moghal will make whatever arrangements may be 
proper; " and also an after order, apparently by Mirza Moghal,-"That an 
.order be written to the Bareily General." I think this is conclusive oC 
the three conspiring,· consulting, and agreeing together; but it may be as 
'Well to enter here two documents which have not as yet been submitted to 
the Court. One is. a proclamation from General Muhammad Bakht Khan, 
.dated 12th of,luly, and is to the following effect. It has, I should observe, 
he en extracted from the "Delhi Urdu News" :-"Let it be generally 
!known to the persons living in the city and country, such as chiefs of free­
Jlolds, pensioners, landholders of rent-free estates, &c., that if, from anxiety . 
for their incomes, they have hitherto continued on the side of the English, 
.and have in any way colluded with them by conveying intelligence or fur­
nishing them with supplies, their having done so will not be considered inex­
!Cusable. It is accordingly now proclaimed, that all those who have been 
alluded to, are to cberish full confidence that when final and complete 
victory shall have been obtained, provided their title-deeds, former and recent, 
~han on inspection be fully verified, they will llave the present provisions in 
their favour continued to tbem, and tbat they will also receive compensation 
in full for the entire period dur~ng wbieh their incomes may bave been sus­
pended, owing to tbe present disturbances; but if, after receiving knowledge 
of these ·orders, any person shall, notwithstanding, forward intelligence or 
furnish supplies &c., to the English, he will be severely punisbed in the way 
Gov.ernment may determine. The chief police officer of the city is, therefore, 
ordered to have the signatures of all cbiefs of free-holds, of rent-free estates) and 
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pensioners residing in his jurisdiction. written on the reverse of this notification 
to them in this matter, in acknowledgment of their llaving bern duly in­
formed, and then t? send the notification immediately to his Excellency." 
The other ~ocument IS an order rrom t~e King, dated the 6th of September 
1857, and :~ addressed ~o the' chIef polIce o~cer of the city. It runs aa 
follows:- You are dIrected to have proclaImed throughout the city by 
beat of drum, that this is a religious war, and is being prosecuted on account 
o!the. faith, and that.it behoves 3:11 Hindu a.nd Mussulmall residents of the impe­
rIal CIty, or of the Villages out In the country, as well as those natives of 
Hindustan who are arrayed against us on the ridge, or are anywhere employed 
on the side of the armies of the English, whether they be men of the eastern 
provinces, or Sikhs Or foreigners, or natives of the Himalaya Hills or 
?:lepaulese, :0 contillue true to their fa~th and creeds,. and to slay the Eng­
lish and their servauts; aud you a.re directed ~o have It further proclaimed. 
that those who are now present With the EnglIsh force on the ridge, whether 
t1rey he people of Hindustan, or foreigners, . or hillmen, or Sikhs 
or whatever country they may be natives of, or whether they be Maho~ 
medans, or Hindus born· in Hindustan, they are not to eutel'­
tain any fears or dread of the enemy. Whenever they come over to 
this side, kind provision will be made for them, and they will be allowe(l to 
continue in their own creed and religions. You are directed to Jiave it pro­
claimed further, that aU who will join in the attacks on the enemy, whether 
they be or be not servants, will be allowed to keep themselves whatever 
property they may take from the English in plunder, and that they 
will beside receive additional rewards fl'oQl his Majesty, and will be am. 
ply provided for." I'his paper, which I have just perused, is an office copy, 
and was found recently among other dccuments in the office of the King'a 
chief police station. It bears the seal of that office, and is actually attested 
as a true copy by the signature of Bhao Singh, assistant to the King's chief 
police officer. A more trustworthy and convincing document could hardly: 
be laid before a Court. It seems to me fully to complete the proof of the third 
charo-e, and to reuder further quotation frmn the numerous other docu­
ments unnecessary. It also tends to establish the latter portion of the fourth 
charge. 

To this charge I will now turn my attention. It accuses the prisoner It of 
having, at Delhi, on t~e 16th of May 1857, or thereabouts, within the pre. 
cincts of the palace at Delhi, fel9niously caused and become accessory to the 
murder of 49 persons, chiefly women and children of EUI'openn aud mixed 
European descent." • As far as the murder of these poor victim'J is concerned, 
I have nothing to allege; the facts have been detailed before the Court in all 
their horrid minuteness, and they are not such as to be easily forgotten. The 
cold-blooded, hardened villainy that could revel in leading women aud young 
children to the shambles, and this, too, without the miserable apology of 
imaO'ined \HOn'" or to the mistaken zeal of religious frenzy, is something 80 

inh:man that the mind mio-ht well refuse to accept it as truth, did not all the 
force of concurrent ideas, bof direct testimony, of circumstantial proof, and 
elsewhere repeated reactings of the same dreadful tragedies, enforcc it UpOIl 
our convictions. It is not then such admitted facts as the above that I am 
here called upon to establish. T~ey are unha.ppily b~t too promir.~ntly and 
l?ainflllly shaped forth to re<lull'e furthel" Illustration, It rem,una, how~ 
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ever, to show how deeply the prisoner stands implicated in this' revolting 
butchery, and whether, as averred in the indictment, he did "feloniously 
cause and become accessory to the murder of these 49 persons." I shall 
not, in so doing, attempt to avail myself of that law which makes all persons 
joining in insurrection and sedition individually responsible for every act 
of violence that may be committed by those with whom they stand leagued 
in 'illicit combination, even though such acts may have been against their 
wishes or without their cognizance. I mean, however, separately to consider 
each fact connecting the prisoner with the deaths of these women and 
children. I will revert to the evidence of their capture, the place of their 
imprisonment, the fearful privations to which they were subjected, and the 
more than cruel treatment'which they experienced from the commencement 
of their confinement, all of which were but too prophetic of the ultimate 
doom that awaited them. The first person whose testimony I shall have 

. to quote is Ahsan UlIa Khan, the physician. When asked-" How 'was it 
that so many English women and children were brought to the palace and 
placed in confinement?" he, replied-" The mutineers took them in and 
about the city, and having established their own quarters in the palace, they 
brought their prisoners in with them too." Being further interrogated, he 
declares that the mutineers did not retain the custody of their prisoners, 
but, as each successive one was brought in, reported the circumstance to the 

'prisoner, and were told to take the Europeans to the kitchen, and keep them 
confined there. Being again questioned, he asserts that the King himself 
appointed the kitchen as the place of their confinement, and observed at the 
time that it was a large 'capacious building; so that it appears 'that the 
prisoner not only fixed upon the building, himself as the place for herding 
indiscriminately together, men, 'women and children, but from its being in 
his own palace, and' fr01Jl his volunteering a description of it, it is evident 
t~at he had some personal knowledge of wllat it was like. He terms it a 
large capacious building, lmt these are not very definite terms, and when 
USE::d in reference to different objects may relatively have widely different 
meanings. To obviatfl any misconception on such a point, I have, since 
Ahsan Ulla Khan gave this evidence, visited the place myself, and taken its 
measurements and description. The building is 40 feet long, 12 broad, and 
about 10 high.. It is old, dirty, and rlilapidated, and without the vestige 
of plaster; but it is worse than this, for it is dark, has no made fiooring, 
no windows, and is entirely without the, means of ventilation or of light. 
'There is but one aperture to it, a miserable, small wooden door; but I.will 
now let Mrs. Aldwell describe it in her own words :-" We were all confined 
iu one room, very dark, with only one tloor, and no windows or other 
opening. It was not fit for the residenc of any huma'Q being, much lesl'! 
for the number of us that were there. We were very much crowded 
together, and in consequence of. the sepo. ,and everyone who took a fancy 
to do so, coming and frightening the chi dren, we were obliged frequently 
to close the one door that we had, which thus left us without light or air. 
'l'he sepoys used to come with their mus ts loaded, and bayonets fixed, and 
ask us whether we would consent to be co e Mahommedans and also slaves, 
if the King granted us our lives; but t e King's special ,armed retainers, 
from whom the guard over us was alwa s furnished, incited the sepoys to 
be cOlit5nt with'not~liDg short of our live. saying we. should be cut up. in 
Imallpleces, andglVen as food to the kites and crows. We were very In-



2!13 TRIAL OF EX-Xll!'G OF DXLnI. 

differently fed, but on two occasions the King sent us better food/' Sucb 
was the return made by this traitor for the millions of pounds sterlin~ 
bestowed by the English on himself and on his family I Havin rr, as one 01 
the witnesses has specifically stated, "abundance of room where these English 
women and children would have been safe in the apartments occupied by 
the females of his own establishment," where, it is said, <f there are secret 
recesses in which 500 people might be concealed, and where, even had the 
rebels dared ·to violate the sanctity of the zenana, all search would have beeu 
fruitless;" and there being, according to another witness, no scarcity of 
Tacant buildings in the palace in which the ladies and children could have 

,been kept in confinement, and in which they might have had every comfort; 
this minion of En~lish generosity preferred to select for them the very den 
let apart for culprIts and for felons, and where they even received far worse 
than a felon's treatment, for they were-crowded into a small space, and were 
,daily exposed to the insult and cruelty of all who chose to molest them. 
Such was the requital to the English for a princely pension and an imperial 
palace! It will be observed from the statements of Ahsan UUa Khan and 
Mrs. Aldwell, that both agr~e in attributing these measures personally to the 
King; and when we recollect the trifling matters which' we're, on every 
occasion, referred to him, and which, as has been fully demonstrated in 
this Court, received not only his attention but were endorsed by his own 
autograph instructions, is there any room left for doubt, that the more 
important concerns were under his special control also l' Indeed, the concur­
rent testimony of many witnesses,and the irrefutable evidence of his own 
handwriting, incontestably prove that s~ch was the case. It is thus we find 
the King appointing the prison; that the King's special armed retainers 
were always.on guard over the prisoners; that it is the King who supplies 
them with their very indifferent food, and on two occasions sends them some' 
of better quality; and thus, too, the sepoys asked them whether they would 
consent to become l.fahommedans and slaves if the King granted them their 
lives; and who, on perusing even thus much of the evidence, can doubt that he 
had the power of doing 80? Has there been one sin.gle circumstance elicited 
that shows that the prisoner evan wished to eave them, or that he even 
extended to them one act of common courtesy or kindness? Very far from 
it; for whilst no check was given to those who showed the prisonel'S every 
.pecies of unmanly brutality, the ordinary charity of giving food and water 
to a Christian was severely punished, and a Mahomedan woman, simply 
on this account, was actually immured with the prisoners. Can the bit. 
terness of rancour go further than this l' Or is it possible to contemplate 
the place and nature of the con~lIement fixed for these tender women ami 
children, without coming to the conclusion that a cruel death was from the 
first moment reserved for them, and that, in the words of the witness, 111 ukund 
La}, "they were but being collect~d." Indeed the edge of the sword seems to 
have been but a merciful deliverance from the lingering death which con· 
finement in so loathsome a den, at such a scason of the year, must eventual. 
ly have inflicted on all exposed to it. 

:Might 1 not here stop, and confidently, on tbis point, await tlle decision 
.f the Court against the prisoner ~ The proof, however, swells in volume u 
it proceeds, and I mean to leave no portion of it untraced. Gulab, a 
eaaprassy or melisen~crl hal distinctly stated that, a couple of day. before: 
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the massacre took place, it Was known· that the Europeans would be killed. 
in two days, and that on the day fixed for the slaughter arriving, gre'at 
crowds of people were flocking to, the palace. Every witness to the scene 
who has spoken of it in Court has alluded to the crowds assembled, both as 
spectators and actors, on the morning in question; and as this was at the 
early hour of between eight ,and nine, there seems nodop.bt that previous 
information of what was. to take place must have been given. Nothing 
indicates that an, outburst of fury, either on the part of the populace or 
military, in any way led to a catastrophe so awful., On the contrary, the 
witness distinctly says that without orders it could not have happened, and 
that there were Dut two sources from which sqch ~n order could have 
emanated; vjz., the King and his liOllJ ~{irz4 Mog'hal; !ldding, that he does 
not know which of them gave the order. He, h<!wever, distinctly statelt 
that he was present at the murder of tl,lese European prisoners, and that 
he saw them all standing togetherJ surronnded on all sides by the King's, 
special armed retainers, or what you, piay term his body-guard, and some' 
of the infantry IQutineers; anqth&tthollgh 4e did not obs.erva any signal 
o! order given, yet, on a sudde~, the 'men just me~tioned dr~'f their, swor~s.. 
simultaneously atta!!ked the prIsoners, 'and cQntmned cuttlQg.at them tIll 
they had killed them all. A second witness; viz., Chuni Lal~ t4e news-writer. 
when asked by whose orders. these Europeans were murdered, di~tinctly. 
replies, that" it was done by the King's order: who else could have given' 
such an order ?" He and other witnesses COncur in stating that Mirza 
Moghal, the King's son, from tile top of his house which overlooked the 
court-yard, was a spectator on thi~9ccasion; this Mirza Moghal being at 
that time second only to the King himself in authority. Is it credible, then. 
under such circumstances, that the K.ing'!! own body-guard, his special armed 
retainers, could have dared to perpetrat~ this frightful butchery without his 
order, and against his. wishes? If a doubt could be entertained 'on such .1Ii 

!,ubject, it would, I think, be speedily dissipated on a perusal of the writing~ 
evidently approved by the prisoner, in which bloodthirstiness and sanguinary' 
ferocity against the English are so glaringly conspicuous. In reference to­
the presence of Mirza :M:oghal, and in further proof that it was . by the 
King's own orders that these nnhappy women and children were massa!!red, 
I shall quote the testimony of the King's own secretary, Mukund Lal. To 
the question, " By whose order were the ladies and children' taatwerEl pris­
oners in the palace murdered ?" he replies, "'fhese people were being collected 
for three days; on the fourth day, the infantry and cavalry soldiers, accompa~ 
hied by Mirza Moghal, came to the entrance of the King's private apartments, 
and requested the King's permission to kill them. The King was, at this 
time, in his own apartments. Mirza Moghal and Basant Ali Khan wen t 
inside, while the soldiery remained without. They returned in about 2 Q 
minutes, when Basant Ali Khan publicly, and in a loud voice, proclaimed that. 
the ·KinO' had given his permission for the slaughter oftha prisoners, and. 
that they could tiike them away. Accordingly, the king's armed retainers. 
in whose custody the prisoners had been, took them from the place of con­
finement, and in counexion with some 'of the mutinous soldiery, killed 
them."lt appears, then, Mirza Moghal hadjust come from thE)'prisoner's 
presence, and was arm.ed with his authority for carrying out this roost hide"! 
ousdeed of blood. ,It may seem almost superfluous to add anything to the 
Ilbove j but the l)l'oofJurnished by .the ~xtl'act froJl). the prisoner's diary 
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is so important' and convincing that I feel bound to quote it. 
The evidence of the Physician, Ahsan Ulla Khan, regarding it, is 
as follows: It Was a Court diary of occurrences at the palace 
kept by order of the King during the rebellion ?"-Answer. "The 
Court diary was kept up as usual, according to the custom which had long pre­
ceded the outbreaj{." Question." Look at this leaf, and see whether you can 
recognise the handwriting on it ?"~Answer. "Yes; it is in the handwriting of 
the man who kept the Court diary, and this leaf is a portion of it." . 

TRANSLATION of an Extract from the Court diary, for the 16th 
of May 1857. . , 

It The King held his Court in the Hall of Special Andience; 49 English 
were prisoners; and the army demanded that they should be given over to 
them for slaughter. The king delivered them up, saying, ' The army may do 
as they please,' and the prisoners were consequently put to the sword. 
There was a large attendance; and all the chiefs, nobles, officers, and 
writers presented themselves at Court, and had the honour of paying their 
respects." 

Here, then, we have oral as well as most 'unimpeachable wri"tten testi­
mony, all concurring on this point, and it would seem nearly impossible to 
make the proof clellrer, had we not the prisoner's written confession of the 
crime .. I do not mean in his defence, which is simply a document· framed for 
this Court, and is but a mere tissue of false denials, without an effort at refuting 
what stands so prominently against him. I allude, of COllrse, to his Jong 
letter to his son, Mirza Moghal, in which he actually makes merit of the 
slaughter of 4is Christian prisoners and urges it as a reason why the soldiery 
should be more attentive to his commands. After this, to prolong any argu­
ment upon the subject would be improper. There is then but the last por­
tion of the fourth charge uncommented on; and to establish it we have 
copies of circulars addressed from the KIng to Rao Bhara, the ruler of 
Kutch Bhoj, to Ranjit Singh, Chief of Jasalmir, and to Rajah Gulab Singh, 
of Jummoo. The following extracts will he sufficient, viz. :-

To Bao Bhara, Ruler of Kutch. 

It It bas been reported that you, ever-faithful one, bave put the whole 
of tbe infidels to the sword, and have thoroughly cleansed and purified your 
dominions of their unclean presence. We have been extremely gratified to 
liear of such ~onduct on your part, and you are therefore honoured with 
this address, to the intent that you will institute such arrangements 
through your territory as that none of the creatures of God may in any 
way be aggrieved or oppressed. Further, should any number of the infidels 
reach your dominions by sea, you will have .them slain. In doing this you 
will act entirely in accordance with our pleasure and wishes." 

To Banjil Sin!lh, Chief of Jasalmir. 

" It is clear to our belief that throughout your dominions the name 
and trace of these ill-omened infidels, the English, must not bave remained; 
if, however, by any chance or possibility lIome have escaped till now 
by keeping hidden and concealed, first slay them, and after that, having 
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made arrangements for the administration of your territory, present yourself at 
our court with your whole military following. Considerations and friend~ 
liuess a thousand fold will be bestowed on you, and you will be distinguish­
ed by elevation to dignities and places which the . compass of your 
qualificatbns will not have capacity to contain." . 

To Rajah Gulab Singh, Ruler of Jummoo. 

It I have been made acquainted, by your petition, with aU the parti­
culars of the slaughter throughout your territory of the accursed unbelieving 
English. You are considered worthy of a hundred commendations. You 
~ave acted in this matter as all brave men ever acquit themselves; may you 
live and prosper!' Again:" Come to the royal presence, and slay the 
accursed unbelieving English, and all other enemies, wherever you may find 
them on the, way. Whatever may be your hopes and expectations, the dignity 
and elevation to which you will be promoted amongst your equals will surpass: 
all that you may be able to imagine; and you will further be rewarded and 
dignified with the title of Rajah." On one of the petitious to the King 
from a duffadar of the 4th Irregular Cavalry, boasting of having murdered his 
officers at Moozuffernugur, the 'Order for an appointment in return is in 
.the prisoner's own ha~dwriting. 

I herewith conclude mY' observations on the charges, and it will now , 
remain, gentlemen, for you by your verdict to determine whether the 
prisoner at your bar, in retirement and seclusion, may yet claim the respect 
due to deposed majesty, or whether he must henceforth rank merely as one 
of the great crimInals of history. It will be for you to pronounce whether 
this last king of the imperial house of Taimur sh(111 this day depart from .his 
ancestral palace, be)lt down by age and by misfortune, but elevated, perhaps, 
by the dignity of his sufferings and the long-borne calamities of his race, or 
whether this magnificent hall of audience, this shrine of the higher majesty 
of justice, shall this day achieve its crowning triumph in a verdict which 
shall record to this and to all ages that kings by crime are degraded to 
felons, and that the long glories of a dynasty may be for ever effaced in 
a day. 

The consideration of the specific . charges against the prisoner being 
llOW closed, I trust it may not be thought presumptuous, if I offer some 

'observations on the evidence elicted as to the cause of the late rebellion, 
and of the existence of previous conspiracy. I have, in a former part of 
this address, argued that if the native regiments, previous to the cartridge 
question being mooted, had been. in a ,sound and well-affected state, such 
'a frightful and all but universal revolt could not have occurred; that there 
'must have been some other and more latent power at work to have thus 

, operated on a whole army sca.ttered in different cantonments from Calcutta 
'to Peshawur. I think that such could not have been accomplished. without 
some secret mutual understanding, and some previous preparation, the 
establishment of which may appropriately be termed conspiracy. I have 
stated also that it seems as if it was not owing to a cartridge of any kind 
that sucQ an amount of mutiny and murder has solely to be attributedJ 

but I Bhould be more than blind to aU that has appeared on these proceed .. 
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ings and elilewhere if I failed to recognise in the, cartridge question the 
immediate means or i.nstrument adopted for bringing about a much-desired 
end. It seems to hav~ been the spark, not accidentally shot forth, but deli he­
'rately chosen to'eiplode amine previously prepared. In alluding, theu; to 
the existence of a conspiracy, I do not mean to imply that we have cODie 
upon traces ofa particular gang of men, specially banded together for the 
fixed definite object of'causing the late rebellion in the native army, in any 
manner similar to that in which we have seen it developed, but such 
:evidence as we have been able to obtain does appear to me ,to point 01\t 
that, for a considerable time antecedent to the IOtb. of May" agitation and 
disaffection to British rule among the Mahomedans was more than ordinarily 
prevalent, and that such disaffection had been. stimulated, by active and 
designing men, who have Plost craftily taken advantage, of every cil'cum~ 
stance tbat could be made suitable for such a purpose. The' annexation of 
Qudh to British rule was, perhaps, one of these. It seems to have been 
particularly displeasing to thli Mahomedans, as annihilating the last throne 
left to them in, India'; and for sOIile other reasons, it would appear to liave 
been almost equally un'palatable to the Hindu sepoy. It may, perhaps, llllve 
interfered with his position there as a privileged servant of the Company: for 
instead of havhlg to rely on the influence and prestige of the British Govcrn~ 
ment in dealings or disputes with tlle native landholders of that rrovince, he 

,found 'himself brought at once under direct European control. One of the 
witnesses, Jat Mall, draws a marked distinction between the Hiudu sepoy 
and the Hindu tradesman in reference to their feelings for the British 
Government) and perhaps the annexation of Oudh, with other causes, may 

,tend to account for it. Being asked whether there was any difference betweeu 
the Mahomedans and Hindus in this respect, he replies, "Yes, certainly, the 
Mahom'edans as a body were all pleased at the overthrow of the British 
Government, while the merchants and respectable tradesmen among the 

,Hindus regretted it." He however, says that the general feeling throughout 
the army was the same both among the Hindus and Mahomedaus, and 
that they were both equally bitter; and this view of the case is, I think, 
supported by our experiences of both. The great bulk of the iu1imtry 
])ortion of the native army was undoubtedly Hindu, but we have not found 
this any check or restraint upon their revolting barbarity; and as far as 
the I}rmy has been concerned, Hi~dus and Mahome,dans appear to have 
vied with each 'Other only in the enormity of their crimes. But apart from 
the army, the revolt has perhaps assulDed many of the features of II: l\1ussul~ 
man conspiracy, and it is I think, probable that to Mussulman iutngue may 
eventually be traced those false and fabricated rumours which, adroitly mixed 
up with some small portion of truth, have been 110 instrumental in effacing the 
last vestiges. of fidelity in an army whose faithfulness was at one time ~erhaps 
its very chiefest pl'ide and boast. It does not belong to such an occaSlOn as 
this to revert to past years, and step by step to trace the, causes which ha~e 
combined to destroy the reliance once placed upon those who are now so notorl. 
ous for their perfidy. Some of these causes doubtless have, been b~yond 
Government control, and were perhaps, inherent to a state of .contInuel! 
progress on the one side dnd an inveterate priestly opposition to It on. the, 
other. It will be sufficient if I here merely allude to several ,preVIOUS 
.occasions, not of very distant date, when some regiments of the native arml 
showea how little they were to be depended OD. On those occaSions also' It 
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lJVas evident that a unity or purpose and a singleness ·of . feeling:were in a 
short time organized by some process uot immediately' patent to their Euro.;. 
pean: officers; a mutual correspondence either by emissaries or letters was 
perhaps then initiated, and the lesson thus learnt was not easily forgotten. 
I do not mean to argue that from that time the native Indian army became 
'one large debating society; very far from it; I believe that in their own 
fashion most of the ~epoys were good and well-meaning servants of the 
Government. I say, in their own fashion, because it appears to me they 
are always deficient in natural firmness, and have no idea of strong moral recti­
tude; their fidelity, as long as it exists, is more of a habit than of a principle, 
upheld by sUl>erstition~ but wanting the sustaining power ,of true religion. 
Among such a body as this there must always be some discontented intri­
guers; and who' that knows anything of Asiatic character will not readily 
'admit, especially with reference to Hindus, that the few are more potent 
·for evil than the many for good? Let but three or four leaders come forth 
in all the open audacity of crime, or mix themselves up iu the secret 
intrigues of sedition, and the rest, if not immediately panic:.struck, never think 
it their duty to check or oppose them .. They may. excuse themselves for a 
time, by holding aloof from what they dQ not approve, but active interference, 
even in prevention of mutiny and murder, seems to form no part of their 
'creed, either religious or political: The most serious crimes are thus passive­
ly encouraged; and temporary immunity securing proselytes, all are event;­
uallyengulfed in the same depths of infamy: thus the crimes of a few lea'd 

·to the ruin of many. That these influences have heen vigorously at work 
in extending the late. rebellion I think few will be inclined to deny. I am 

. aware that· no correspondence, and perhaps little direct evidence to such 
a point, has been brougllt before the Court; indeed, in reference to the 
sepoys, we have not been in a position to obtain either one or the other; 
still if, as has been currently and, I believe, truly reported, that the number 
'Of letters :passing among our native soldiers, for a month or two prior to the 
'Outbreak, was very considerably larger than usual, this cireumstance, 
combined with such facts as have come under our notice, would lead 
:almost irresi1\tibly to the conclusion that some sinister agitation had been 
extensively at work, and that increased disaffection and subordination would 
llecessarilybe the result: moreover, that in such a state revolt would reduce 
itself to a mere calculation of time. In the above remarks I have attributed 
much of what has occurred to the pernicious influence of evil intriguers, and 
it may naturally be inquired why these should have had greater effect at the 
'present juncture than at any. former one. Some oft,he causes I have already 
:hinted at, such as the annexation of Qudh and the progress of European 

'. civilization, Qutstriding, and in its natural course threatening, to sweep away 
the puny barriers upraised by priestly cunning for the preservation of the 
grossest ignorance, and thus commencing the subversion of religions that are 
unable to bear the lights of even natural science. I believe too that the 
'propagandists of ~edition may . artfully have availed themselves of some re­
cent acts of the Government to spread panic and alarm in .refer~nce to future 
forcible interference with caste prejudices, I aHude to .the agitation about the 
:remarriage of Hindu widows, the enlistment for general service, thecartridg~ 
es~ &c .. I do not mean in 'this to offer the slightest apology for men whose 

.conduct excites nothing but loathing and disgust. Pampered in their pride 
. and besotted in their ignorance/tliey had as a. body become too self-sufficient 
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for mi~tary subordina~ion. and unhesitating o~edienc~. Experienced, as they 
were, In mutual combmatIon, they appear agaIn easily to have entered' into 

· schemes. for dictating to the Government their views in reference to imagined 
grievances; but that open, defiant mutiny had been generally resolved upon 
by the army-or, at any rate, by the Hindu portion of it, prior to the trial 
of the 3rd Light Cavalry troopers-is more I think, than has been estab­
lished. Up to that time there was no doubt a feeling of uneasiness, a rest­
less apprehension, and an air of respectful mutiny pervading the native 
ranks. The sepeys in many instances appeared to imagine that disobedience 
~o military command was scarcely criminal if accompanied by a salute· and 
a submissive demeanor. Habituated to combination, and well aware of, the 
strength of numbers, they latterly had seldom lost an opportunity of bring­
ing forward their grievances, not individually, but iu masses. On such points 
there was no difference between M ussulman and Hindu; they could both readi­
ly, unite, and had already done so, for the purposes of insolent dictation. 
Indeed, if we search back into history, I believe we . shall find that this has 
ever been what Iroay term the nermal condition of Asiatic armies; and 
it is, perhaps, the necessary result of giving unity and pO,wer to large bodies 
of men without the checks furnished by education, loyalty, and religious prin­
ciple to control them: military discipline without these auxiliaries is but a' 
dangerous weapon, and one that has frequently been turned against those who 
have sharpened and prepared it. As a corollary to this, it may be observed that 
rebellion and insurrection among the unarmed and untutored people of Asia 
is rare. indeed; even the forcible conversion of the Hindus to Mahomeda­
nism under former emperors of India seems to have been insufficient to rouse 
them to resistance. It is, then, the attempt at domination by the sepoy 
alone that has to be guarded against. The distinctions of caste may, to a 
certain extent, at former periods have proved serious obstacles to any very 

'. extensive combination of men of different sects, either for political or other 
· purposes, but we should remember that this very circumstance of caste com­
,panionship has necessitated the existence of a number of distinct self-go­
verning societies, has habituated the people of Hindustan to meetings among 
themselves where publicity is avoided, and thus giving them their primary 
lessons in uniting for particular objects, has endowed them with a natural 
. facility for more extended combinations, of a secret and sinister character. 
· Under these· circumstances, there wanted but the means and the occasion for 
carrying them out; . and who does not perceive that the native army afforded 
· the one and a variety of incidents have favoured the other. Brahman and 
Mussulman here met, as it. were, upou neutral ground; they have had in 
the army one common brotherhood of profession, the same dress, the same 
rewards, the same objects to be arrived at by the same means. They fre-

.' quently joined each other in their separate festivals, and the union encourag-
ed by the favour of the Government was finally resorted to as a measure to 

'. subvert it. I do not, however, intend to dwell on all of the many influences 
· which may have assisted in bringing about the recent catastrophe; such a 
• discussion in this' place might not be approved of. 

It seems to me, however, apparent that it was ,not and could not have 
· been the greased cartridge alone that effected it. There was previous pre-
· paration among the sepoys; and there was also a general unsettling of 
· men's minds throughout the countrYI and among the Mahomedans in parti~ 
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enlar. I believe~ indeed, that the facts elicited' on this point may be ranged 
appropriately under the head of "Mahomedan conspiracy." the c~ief object 
of which seems to. have been to spread disaffection and distrust of 
British rule. and. by the dissemination of false and evil reports, and by fab-. 
l'ications of the most insidious,kind. to prepare all the people for . change 
and insurrection. As far as can be traced. the commencement of thIS must 
have origimited with the prisoner, or with some of those such as Hasan Askari 
and others, who were admitted to his most secret and confidential councils. 
Be this as it may, tnere cannot. I imagine, be a doubt that in . sending Sidi 
Kl!-mbar to Persia and Constantinople as an ambassador with ]etters to' the 
sovereign of that country. soliciting aid and elevation to _a throne; the 
prisoner became the principal in a conspiracy which indirectly, at any rate~ 
must have been auxiliary to. the recent frightfu1, outbreak and its attendant 
horrors. . It is worthy of particular notice, as conneCting the, two together, 
that, this Sidi Kambar's departure took place. according to the most reliable 
account, just two years befo~e May 1857, and that his promised return. with 
the aid sought for, was fixed, for the time when the outbreak actually took 
place. Coupling this with the prophecy among the M ahomedaris that Eng­
lish sovereignty in Ind'ia was to cease 100 years after its first establishment 
by the battle of Plasseyin 1757, we are able to form something - more than 
conjecture as to the causes which have given to Mahomedan fanaticism its 
delusive hope of recovering all its former prestige. I have already alluded 
to the dream of Hasan Askari the priest. and its interpretation so plausibly 
contrived to correspond with the wishes of the King. and of those about him. 
The circumstance may seem trivial to us. but it was' doubtless a llleans well 
calculated to make a ,deep impression upon the superstitious minds of those to 
whom it was addressed, and, to cause, expectation and belief in what was 
predicted by one said to be posse/ssed of miraculous powers. and accredited 
with holding direct communication with heaven. We learn too from the; 

'petition I1f Muhammad Darwesh to Mr. Colvin; the Lieutenant-Governor. 
dated 27th of March 1857; that Hasan Askari had. at this time, assured the 
K;ing of Delhi that he had certain information that the prince royal of 
:Persia had fully taken possession of, and occnpied Bushire, and that he had' 
entirely expelled the Christians. or rather, had not left one alive there, and had 
taken away many of them prisoners, and that, very soon indeed. the Persian 
~my would advance by the way of Kandahar and Cabul towards Delhi. He 
moreover adds, "That in the palace, but more especially in that portion of 
it constituting the personal apartments of the King, the subject of the con­
versation night and day was the early arrival of the Persians. Hasan Askari 
has, moreover. impI;essed the King with the belief, that he has learned, 
through a. divine Tevelation, that the dominion of the King of Persia will to 
a certainty extend to Delhi, or rather over the whole of Hindustan, and 
that the splendour of the sovereignty of Delhi wil~ again revive as the Sove­
reign, of Persia will bestow the crown on the King. J> - The, writer goes on to 
say that throughout the palace, but particularly to the King~ this belief has 
been the cause of great rejoicing, so much so that· prayers are offered and 
vows are made, while~ at the same time; Hasan Askari has entered upbn the 
daily performance, at an hour and a half before sunset, of a course of pro:' 
pitiatory ceremonies b expedite the arrival of the Persians and the expulsion 
of the Christians. It has been arranged that every Thursday, several trays 
(}f victuals, wheat-meal, oil, copper money and cloth should be sent by the 
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King in aid of these ceremonies, and they are accordingly brought to liasan 
Askari." . 

We thus see ho:w ea~ly and how deeply the priesthood interested and 
engaged ~hemselves In thIs matter, an~ how completely and exclusively Ma­
homedan in character .was this conspiracy. If we could but have stepped 

. behind the scenes, and witnessed these ceremonies at which 'superstition pre­
sided, and have heard these prayers and vows offered up for the arrival of the 
Persians ilnd. the expUlsion of the Christians, we should doubtless have had 
depicted to us the foreshadowings of those dreadful tragedies which, to all 
time! will render the past year so painfully memoralJle. We may ima"ine 
and faintly conceive to ourselves some portion of the raneour of these Ma­
,homedans, . when we recollect not only their deeds, but the concentrated 
hatred which breathes through their petitions, and does not stop with this 
world, but .-ejoiceR in the idea of eternal torments for us hereafter. One 
cannot help inquiring whether there are really many millions of human 
beings in Hip.dustan .imbued with these feelings for Europeans. I will leave 
those who hear me to form their own opinions on this suhject without vcntu­
I'ing to proffer mi::J.e. We learn, however, from Mrs. Aldwell, that during the 
Mohurrum festival, she heard the Mahomedan women praying and teaching 
their children to pray for the success of their faith, and these prayers were gene­
rally accompanied by execrations against the English. Nor did even accomp~ 
lishing the cruel death and sufferings of helpless women and childreq tend in 
any way to abate the ferocity of their malignity, "or to waken one chord of 
mercy or commiseration in their breasts, for we find from the local newspa­
pers that at the time this most hideouM massacre '11 as being perpetrated, 
about 200 Mussulmen were standing at the reservoir, uttering the coarsest 
abuse against the prisoners. Were it not too well attested, such demoniac 
malignity.would scarcely be credible. 

. The next point to which I shall advert, is the circulation of thechapaties, 
in the form of ship biscuits. Now, whether they were sent round under the 
fiction of a Government order, signifying that in future there should be but 
'one food and one faith, or whether according to another interpretation, they 
were meant to sound a note of alatm and preparation, giving warning to the 
people to stand by one another on any danger menacing them, the contrivance 
was a most insidious one, and calculated to breed, distrust and suspicioll 
in the hearts of many who were strangers to such feelings before. That it 
created no stronger impression on the native mind than it did, is perhaps at­
tributable only to the early check it received at the hands of authority, aod 
it would doubtless be both interesting and important if we could discover 
how and by whom such a proceeding was initiated. This a~d the false ru­
mour about mixing ground bones with the flour had doubtless one common 
-origin, and it is not .goin'g beyond the bounds of fair indicatio~ or ~cason­
able inferer..ce, to attrIbute both one and the other to the unceasmg WIles 0 f 
Mahomedan conspiracy. We perceive that the Hiodn sepoys under the im­
pulse o~ a first re-acti?n.in their fe7li~gs, reproached the Mahom~dans with 
misleading them, and It IS a most SIgnIficant fact on these. proceedmgs, that 
though we come upon traces of Mussulman intrigue wherever our investigation 
has carried us, yet not one paper has been found to show that the Hindus, 
as a body, had been conspiring against us, or that their Brahmans an d 
priests had been preaching a crusade against Christians. In· thci r 
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case there lias been no king to set up, no religion to be propagated, by 
the sword, To attribute to them; under such circumstances, the circulation 
of these chapatiss or the .fabrications about ground bones in the flour, would 
be to ascribe to them acts without a meaning, and a criminal deception with­
out any adequate motive. A very marked feature in this Mahomedari 
~onspiracy is the activity and persistence with ,which it has been carried 
out; the circulation of the chapatieshaving been early prohibited by authori­
ty, and thus rcnderec;l non-effective for the purpose of exteusive sedition, some 
other expedient was necessary to replace it, and we at once find the tale of 
the t< bone-dust mingled with flour" very· adroitly selected as the substitute. 
It was, in fact, still adhering to the material of ,chapaties, and continuing 
the symbol of " one food, one faith." It was indej:c1 the chapaty without its 
form, and without its inconveniences. The schemers had apparently learnt 
that the chapaty was too specific and too tangibly open to European interference 
to be largely availed of as an agent for 'evil, and hence its transformation 
into flour, the bone-dust being added to the one as the equivalent of the 
form of the ship biscuit. to the other. To give out then that such was 
the nature of the flour stored at aU the depots of supplies along the Grand 
Tl'unk Road, for, from them during' their marches, the sepoys are in a. 
manner compelled to get their .food, was to attain the very object the 
conspirators must have most desired. If true, the Government had already 
commenced what would be deemed forcible conversion to Christianity. If, 
they could then but establish a firm and general belief in this, their game 
was in their own hands; and that they did succeed in doing this to a very 
great extent is~ I imagine, undeniable. I must own that to me this appal''; 
entIy natural transition from the ,chapaties to its component parts seems a 
master stroke of cunning, alld evidenced most. able leadership in the cause 
the conspirators were embarked in. 

To prOVE', moreover, that no mean order 'of talent was at work, and that 
all the appliances that craft and treachery could avail themselves of ,were. 
resorted to, we have only to refer to the extracts from the "Authentic 
N ews,'~ and also to the other native publications of that period, and we shall 
perceive with what steadfast consistency theulterio.r aim is always kept 
in ,"iew, .The chapaties, the bone-dust in the flour, the. greased cartridges. 
'wel'e all most appropriate for the lIindus; but a different pabulum was 
requisite for the Mussulmans, and weshaU now see with what subtlety it 
was administered. The first paper commences by announcing that the King 
of Persia had ordered Ii. concentration of most of his troops at Teheran, and 
then declaring it to be currently reported that such a demonstration against 
Dost Muhammad Khan was only a strategic move to cloak the King of 
Persia's real design of fighting against and conquering the English, the 
editor makes certain that, at any l'ate, some change of feeling has taken 
place amongst the three powers. The ,next extract ·is dated the 26th of 
January 1857, and commences by asserting that all the newspapers agree 
in declaring that the King of France and the Emperor of 'l'urkey had not 
as yet openly avowed themselves the allies of either the English or the Persi­
ans; but that their ambaSsadors were secretly visiting· and presenting their 
gifts to both of the belligerents." Sonie people," says the editor," thipk 
that the King of France and the Emperor of TUl'key will not mix: themselves 
up in the quarrels between the Persians. and the English j but most pcople/', 
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he adds, tc say that they will both side with the Persians. As for t1IE 
Russians, however, they make no secret of the readiness with which they are 
assisting, and will continue to assist, the Persians, whether it be with fund! 
or with forces. It may be said that virtually the Russiaus are the caUSE 
of the war, and that using the Persians as a cloak, they intend to consum. 
mate their owu designs rcgarding the conquest of Hindustan. It is to bE 
believed that the Russians will soon take the field in great force." HerE 
i;he~ we. ha~e not cnly ~ersia and Ilussia advancing im~ediately UpOI 
IndIa wIth Immense armIes, but France and Turkey to aSsIst them, whilE 
the forsaken and. . devoted English are represented as by no means surE 
even of the alliance. of the Afghans under Dost Muhammed. 'VeIl 
might the editor, after announcing such formidable coalitions, somewha1 
dramatically exclaim, tc Let the readers of the' Authentic News' be pre, 
pared to see what the veil of futurity will disclose." Accordingly, in thE 
next extract, we perceive that "the King of Persia had solemnly promised 
to his courtiers the governorships of the different presidencies and places: 
one is to get Bombay, another Calcutta, and a third Poollah, "while thE 
crown of Itindustan is plainly spoken of as reserved for bestowal on 
the King of Delhi, this very prisoner before us. You will recollect, 
gentlemen, that several copies of this paper, the "Authentic News," 
used to be sent to the palace, and one cau imagine the joy an(] 
exultation with which such passages must have been perused, espe. 
cially wIlen, added thereto is the assertion that the Emperor of 
Russia had !!lent an effective and thoroughly appointed army of 400,000 
men with abundant munitions, to assist the King of Per!!ia in his hostile 
designs upon India. But it was not in the palace, and by the princes 
alone, that such para~raphs were .read with avidity; the whole population 
was intent on them. Sir TheoFhilus Metcalfe has told us that the subject 
of the advance of the Persians upon Herat was much discussed among the 
natives, and frequently in connexion 'with the idea of Russian aggression 
upon India; cvery newspaper having at this time its correspondent in 
Cabul. Nor indeed did the discllssion and interest excited by these concocted 
hostile movements cease here, for- the same witness declare!! that agitation 
abJut thiljl time prevailed among the sepoys, and that about five or six weeks 
before the outbreak it was currently reported in their lines, and much dis­
cussed among them, tllnt 100,000 Russians were coming fI'om the north, 
and that the Company's Government would be destroyed, and. in fact that 
the idea of a Russian invasion was universally prevalent. The venom and 
virus of these false publications were then taking their intended effect, 
and it would seem a mere perversion of rea80n longer to blind ourselves 
with the idea that the outbreak was fortuitous, or that a greased cartridge 
occasioned it. In a former article of the "Authentic News," we have 
seen Dost Muhammed alluded to as. but a doubtful ally of the English. In 
this one, however, as events progress, he is spoken of as being secretly in 
league with the King of Persia, and that superstitious aid may not be lost 
sight of, it is remarked how· wonderfully four distinct unexpected coinci­
dences had impelled the King of Persia to declare war against the English. 
The first was that Herat, in another place described as the key of India, 
had so easily fallen into his possession; the second, the unforeseen com­
ing of the Russians to assist him; the third, the nobles of Persia unani­
mously counselling an advance on India} and predicting tha.t God would 
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bestow victory; and the fourtll, the simultaneous rising' and assembling of 
the whole of Persia for the prosecution of a religious war. Portents and 
miracles were likewise bl'Ought . forward still further to excite the Mahom­
edan . mind, as the following extract from the "Authentic News," dated 
15th of September 1856, will sufficiently prove. It is headed-

fC Local News from the Hansi District. 

fC A nian just come from the country tells tlle editor, that unlike other 
places, the Huli is being burnt there at this season of the year, and tIle 
saturnalia attending the festival are now going Oll. The man who states 
this ascertained, ~n inquiry, that the reason for the unseasonable observance 
of this festival is, that three girls were born at a birth, and the three 
spoke immediately. The fil'st said, I The coming year will be one of great 
calamities; various calamitous visitations will atIlict the nation :' the second 
said, I 'I'hose who live will see :' and the third, in an impressive and forcible 
tone, said, I If the Hindus will burn the Huli in the present season they 
will escape all these evils. God alone is omniscient.''' , 

It is too much, I am afraid, the case, with persons accustomed to Euro­
pean habits of thinking, to view such statements and articles as these merely 
in referenC!e to the impression they would be likely to make on themselves. 
'I'he taking of lJerat, the predictions of the nobles, &C!., and the fabulous 
prophecies of these girls, would, in that case, receive hardly passing ,atten­
tion. Eut we shoulel commit a grievous and most fatal error if we were 
to gauge Asiatic thougMs alld understandings by the same measure that 
would be applicable to our own. If,avoiding this mistake, we proceed to 
consider the above editorials in relation to the people they were written for, 
wc shall find that they are-not only most insidiously worked up to meet 
their particular prejudices, but are also made to be,ar a striking affinity to 
the fulfilment of their prophecies; to the dreams 'of Hasan Askari: to the 
negotiations of Sidi Kambar, and to the ancient traditions of Mahom­
medanism. Are we then to suppose that in all this there was no connexion 
between the palace and the press ? Were all these concurrences fortuitous? 
Can it be that the dreams of the priest, the plots of the court, and th~ 
fabrications of the newspapers worked accidentally together ? We have 
already seen the decoys by which the Hindu sepoys were to be gained: and 
is it lIot the same spirit ,of evil that we can recognize here? Are the cir­
cumstances appealing to Mahomedan pride, to their superstitious bigotry. 
to their lust for religious war, anIJ. to their hatred for the English, dwelt 
upon with a less perfect knowledge of their peculiar inherences? In an 
extract from the" Authentic News," dated the 19th.-f March, it is stated 
that 900 Persian soldiers, with some officers of high rank, had entered India, 
and that 500 more were then staying ill Delhi itself in various disguises~ 
It is frue that this is given out on the authority of one Sadik Khan, " 
person whose id'entity not being' established, was evidently, in disguise even to 
his name; but this very circumstance was no doubt a part of the scheme. 
It gave an air of greater mystery to the announcement of the paper, and 
seems to have been purposely contrived to let the imagination of the readers 
Kupply an exaggerated idea of his real rank and importance. How, it may 
be askedl even under this cloak of a false name, could such a statement be 
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given forth in the leading newspaper of the city, without some deep and 
ulterior object? It not only assIgns deep conspiracy to the Persians, but, 
if false, as we know it to Ilave been, is proof of conspiracy in the editor 
and those who employed him. This name of Sadik Khan, be it remembfjred, 
was/the one attached to the proclamation purporting to be from Persia, and 
put up in the J (lma Masjid. The proclamation,' then, and the assertion 
about these 900 Persian soldiers, were evidently parts of one and the same 
'scheme; and seem to have been thus linked together that the one might, in 
a measure, support the other. If, for instance, any questioned the authority 
of tI,e proclamation, there was the answer ready that the bringer of it was 
actually in the city with 500 other Persians also in disguise, and vice versd. 
If the advent of the Persians was di<ilbelieved, was not the proclamation 1\ 
voucher fOl its reality? The same depth of artifice is apparent every'" here; 
and the more we consider the subject, the more fully convinced we shall be 

~ of the wiles and stratagems so systematically resorted to. For instance, 
what would snch a proclamation as that attributed to the King of Persia, 
have. been, without some demonstration, feigned or real, to support it? 
The sword depicted on one side, and the shield on tile otller, would have 
been equally meaningless, but for the story of the men in disguise, and the 
officers of high rank who evidently must have been devuted to carry it 
through. The proclamation, so evidently false, is, for that very reason, one 
of our truest and most reliable expositors of conspiracy, and of Mussulman 
conspiracy too. It is, in fact, impossible to account. for it under any other 
hypothesis. Who then was it that designed and wrote the proclamation? 
'l'his question, I believe, could be answered in every detail by the editor of 
the paper, who has recurred· to it so frequently. It is evidently a pet subject 
of his, one on whi'ch he seems to be thoroughly nthome. He has the exact 
transcript of it, is able to epitomise it, and no doubt. was equally well in­
formed as to theprepal'a~ion of it. 

I do not 'mean to wade through and to quote all the extracts from Hie 
newspapers that bear out the fact of a Mahommedan conspiracy. That ap­
'pears to me unnecessary, for I believe I shall have no difficulty in estab­
lishing it by other testimony. However, there is one otller extract, which 
it...wou1d be wrong to leave unnoticed. It bears date the 13th of April, and' 
must have been the origin of tIle report that Sir Theopllilus Metcalfe alludes 
to, when he saY8 tllRt about fifteen days before the outbreak, it was current­
ly reported that an anonymous petition had been presented to the magistrate, 
stating, "that the Cashmere gate of the city would be taken from the 
English. This being the chief stronghold in the city and main connexion 
with the cantonments of Delhi, it would naturally be tIle first point seized 
in any attempt at insurrection in the city, and being the only gate at which 
there was any military guard, the importance of it, in a strategical point of 
,'iew, must have been obvious to all." Sir Theophilus Metcalfe proceeds 
to say, "that this petition was never received; but that the current report 
about it was indicative 0'£ what was then occupying the thoughts of many 
of the natives." So, no doubt, it was; but it was also much more than 
this, for it was tIle real exposition of an article· which the editor dare not, 
without disguising it, put into print. With what ingenuity and craft the 
idea is worked out, so as to become intelligible only to tIlOse who 
'Were meant to underllta\ld it, must now be obvious to all. 'rhc 
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editor says, several petitions have been given into the magistrate's court, 
and in these it is also mentioned that «a month hence from this date an 
overwhelming attack will be made on Cashmere, of the salubrity and beauty 
of which a poet has said, 'tl!at should a parched and burnt-up soul reach 
Cashmere, though he might .be a .roasted fowl he would recover his wings 
and feathers,' and that this cool and heavenly country will come into the 
possession of the writers of the petition." How, it may be asked,were 
the writers of the, petitions given into the magistrate's court at Delhi to 
take 'Cashmere, and who does not now perceive that the Cashmere gate of· 
the city of Delhi was thus indicated by the country from which it derives 
its name, and that the salubrity and beauty of the former were to represent 
the importance and its fitness for their objects, of the latter. I shall not 
here pause to consider whether, .under the similie of a parched and burnt-up 
fowl, the prisoner before us was intended. He no doubt expected to recover 
some of his lost plumage by seizing the gate, and with it was meditating 
a flight to a lligher elevation. In declaring on the 13~h of April, that in 'one 
month from that date, an overwhelming ·attack would be made on this very 
point, for it was here the .officers were shot down; the editor of the 
.f' Authentic News" was either the confidant and accomplice of conspiracy, 
or had soared into the regions of aCtual prophecy. 

The coincidence of the "above cautiously worded aimouncement of. the 
editor, and the .indiscreet revelations of Jawan Bakht, are certainly start­
ling. The doubly foretold attack took "place on the 11th of May, and after 
what has been plOved in regald -to Mahcmedan treachery., is there any 
.one who hears me that can believe that a deep-planned and well concerted 
conspiracy had nothing to do with it? 

The proofs of the intimateconnexion of the prisoner with it, do not, 
howl:;ver, rest here, for Moujud, the Abyssinian, who w~s not merely in the 
service oithe King, but was his private special attendant, and was always 
near his person, takes Mr. Everett aside-and tells him that he had better 
leave the Company's service, and, with his troop, go over to the. King, as 
this hot weather the Russians would be all over the place. Mr. Everett 
seems to have laughed at this, and to have thought it but the man's foolish­
ness; but we have now direct proof that it was something far deeper than 
that; for at their next meeting, which occurred about a month after the 
outbreak had been accomplished, Moujud says to him, "Did I not tell you 
to come away? " And then as it were in explanation of the warning, pro­
ceeds to reveal to him the whole of the Sidi Kambar transaction: how, two 
years before, he had been sent to Constantinople as ambassador from the King 
of Delhi; how he had &tal'ted on the pretence of going to Mecca, and how he 
had promised that he would return when the two years had expired. This 
explanation seems to me a very remarkable one. It .shows clearly that it· 
was not merely on the basis of an expected distUl'banc~ at Meerut that 
such a proposal was made, but that a far wider web of sedition was weav­
ing. Who can now believe that none of the Mahommedan native officers 
and men of the regiments at Delhialld Meerut had been tampered with? 
Mr. Everett, as a Christian, was surely one of the last the conspirators 
would apply to. It should be remembered, likewise that Mr. Everett had 
none of his regiment with him at Delhi, and that had there been any Mus. 



242 TRIAL OF EX-KING OF DELHI. 

sulman officers of the corpll present, they would doubtless have been pre­
ferred to a Christian. At the time too when the application was made to 
him, the sentellce of the Meerut court-martial must have been unknown 
in Delhi. It was not, then, as a consequence of, but as an addition and an 
adjunct to, what was anticipated at Meerut, that preparation was being 
made here; and by whom was this being done? Could a mere private ser­
vant and personal attendant, however, great and favourite he might 
be, offer service to a risaldar and a whole troop of ,cavalry, withdraw-

'ing their allegiance from the Government, without, any autliority 
for so doing from his master? Who could have given the King's 
service to so large 'a body but the King himself? I would beg 
th,ose who hear me, seriously to consider these questions, and then 
determine whether the answers to them do not bring home personal com­
plicity in compassing the rebellion, to the prisoner in court. We have been 
informed, too, by Mnkund IJal, the secretary, that'it is now about three 
years since, some infantry soldiers stationed at Delhi became disciples of the 
King, and that, on that occasion, the King gave each of them a document 
detailing the names alid order of those who had preceded him in the direct 
line of disciples to each other, himself included, together with a napkiu elycll ' 
pink as an emhlem of his blessing. Now three years ago from the prescnt 
date, is about the time of Sidi Kambar's embassy to Persia, and of the ap­
parent first commencement (If Mahommedan conspiracy j and it certainly 
is a somewhat instructive fact to find that the occasion chosen for such au 
unwonted manifestation of piety on the one hand, and such an unusual dis­
play of kingly ~ondescension on the other, was precisely that in which inti­
mate relations between them of a more political character were beginning 
to be thought of. ,The Agent of the Lieutenant Governor of course put a 
stop t(l these exhibitions j but, from that day, adds the witness, it may be 
said that a sort of understanding was established between the army and the 
King. I think it will be conceded, that in addition to the cllRrges, five 
facts have been established, viz: the concerted dreams and predictions of 
Hasan Haskari, the priest; the mission to Persia. and Constantinople of 
Sidi Kambar, the Abyssinian; a deliberate continuojls plan of exciting 
distrust and revolt among the Hindus j a similar plan,' by the fabrications 
of the native press, for inciting the Mussulmans to a religious war; alld 
lastly, by these means and others, an indirect, and also a personal tamper­
ing with the fidelity of the Hindus and Mussulmans of the native army. 
Has or ,has not a guilty participation in all these five points been traced 
to the prisoner? If the question (as I believe it will be), shonld be 
answered in tlle affirmative,' t}lere will still remain another to be responded 
to, of perhaps still greater importance, \'iz., Has he in these transactions 
been the leader, or the led j has he been the original mover, the bead and 
front of the undertaking, or lias he been but the consenting too}, the willing 
instrument ill the hands of others; the forward, unscrupulous, but still 
pliant puppet, tutored by priestly craft for tIle advancement of religious 
bigotry? Many pCl'sons, I believe, will incline to the latter, The known 
restless spirit of Mahomedan fanaticism has been the first aggressor, the 
vindictive intolerance of that peculiar faith hall been strnggling for mastery, 
seditious conspiracy has been its means, the prisoner its active accomplice. 
and every Joss'ible crime the frightful result. It was, however, rather as 
the llcad of' the Mahomedan religion in India than as the descendant of a 
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line of kings, that I believe the prisoner's influences were desired; the one 
indeed is so inseparable from the other that it is difficult to say. wllere the 
difference commences. It was the union .')f the two, the religious and the. 
political, that gave such importance to the prisoner as one of the abettors 
of conspiracy. 

Thus the bitter zeal of Mahomedanism meets. us everywhere. It is 
conspicuous in the papers, flagrant in the petitions, and pedectly demoniac 
in its actions. There seems, indeed scarce any exemption from its conta. 
gious touch. The 'Prince Mirza Abdulla, robbing Ilis confiding visitor and 
former friend, and then sending his uncle to compass her death, seems no 
exaggerated instance 'of it. It is again represented by the Mahomedan 
officer, Mirza Taki Beg, at Peshawur, who, while in high employment and 
pay by the British Government, complacently quotes from his books that 
a ~hange will take place, and that the British rule will soori be overthrown. 
It finds a still more unmistakeable disciple in Karim Balcsh, of the Delhi 
Magazine, who, while drawing English pay, avails himself of his scholarship 
and knowledge of Persian, to send circulars to the native regiments to the 
effect that the cartridges prepared in the magazine had been smeared with a 
composition of fat, and that the sepoys were not to believe their Europeau 
officers if they said anything in contradiction of it. It will be recollected 
how active in his enmity this man proved when the King's' troops were 
attacking the magazine; hmv he kept up a secret communication with 
them, and how completely he ide~tified himself, from the commenc~ment, 
with the conspirators. Can there be a doubt that he was one of those .who 
had been successfully tampered with; that, while ostensibly serving the 
English, he was, in reality, in the pay aud confidence of those seeking 
their destruction? . 

But why multiply instances of Ulis sort? I would gladly cite some of 
a different tendency, and the petition of Muhammad .Dllrwesh, in his admir. 
able letter to Mr. Colvin, must not be passed .o\'er. It is one noble 
instance of faithfulness from a Mahomedan to the British. I am sorry 
I cannot class with it the petition purporting to be from Nabi Baksh Khan 
to the King, pronouncing it unlawful to slay women, and calling.for a decree 
to that effect from the doctors of the Mahomedan religion; for since I 
delIvered the paper into court considerable donbt lias been thrown on its_ 
having been written at the time indicated, and. it seems by no means im­
probable that it was fabricated after the capture of Delhi, for the purpose of 
obtaining rewards and other advantages. Indeed, a further attentive perusal 
of it lias convinced me that it is so; for no one in the situation of Nabi 
Baksh Khan would have dared to advise or propose to the King to let the 
soldiery first wre,ak their rage on his own royal person, as Nabi Baksh Khan 
pretends to have done. There are certainly a few instances in which the 
Mahomedans have behaved with kinduess . to the English, and not the less 
pleasing on account of the humble grades in which these instances OCCUr. 

We may, perhaps, deduce from ~his, that the teachings such as ~re prescrib. 
ed by their prophet, have no softening effect. on the hearts of hIS followers; 
nay more, that education iu such doctrines leads to ferocity and revolting 
crime~ and is utterly incompatible with feelil~gs. or even ordinary humanity, 
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I~ the course ~f t~is address, I have dwelt, long and frequently, upon 
those Cll'cumstances whlch appear to demonstrate that to Mussulman intriO'uc 
and Mahomedan consipiracy we may mainly attribute the dreadful calamities 
of the year 1857. I have endeavoured to point out how intimately the 
prisoner, as the head of the Mahomeda~ faith in India, has been connected 
with the organization of that conspiracy, either as is leader or its un­
scrupulous accomplice. I have alluded to the part taken by the native press 
and Mahomedans, in general, as preparing the Hindus for insurrection, 
and the native army, in particular, for revolt; and perhaps, in fgrther cor­
roboration of such facts, it may be as well to advert to the share that may 
be assigned to the Mahomedans in getting the cartridges refused on the 
parade ground of the 3rd Light Cavalry. Ou~ of these 85 troopers the far 
larger moiety was Mahomedan.These meu had no caste, and to them it 
could not possibly have mattered whether pig's and cow's fat was smeared 
on the cartridges or not. Captain Martineau tells ns that at the Ambala 
depot, as far as the cartridge question 'was concerned, the Mahomedan 
sepoys laughed at it, and we thus pereeive that. these men initiated opeu 
mutiny without one pretext for so doing, or the shadow of an excuse. They 
had not even the extenuation of a pretended grievance; yet they, at once 
leagued themselves in rebellion against us, and induced the Hindus to join 
them, by speciously exciting them on that most vulnerable of point's, the 
fear of being forcibly deprived of their caste. I say, induced the Hindus to 
join them, for such is the evidence before us, and this too on a pretext in 
which the Mahomedans could have had '110 possible sympathy with them. 
Nor indeed were the Hindus long in discrlvering this, for as a witness, who 
has been frequently quoted, informs us-" Immediately after the battIe of 
the Hindan, they spoke with much regret of the turn that affairs had taken, 
reproached the Mahomedans for having deceived ,them, and seemcd to 
doubt greatly that the English Government had really had any attention of 
interfering with their caste. Great numbers of the Hindu sepoys at this 
time declared that, if they could be sure their lives would be spared, they 
would gladly go back to the service of the Government; but the Mahom­
edans, on the contrary; used to assert that the King's service was much 
better than that of the English; that the Nawabs and Rajahs would supply 
the King with large forces, and that they must eventually conquer!' If we 
now take a retrospective view of the various circumstances which we have 
been able to clicit during our extended inquiries, we shall perceive how 
exclusively Mahomedan are all the prominent points that attach to it. 
A Mahomedan priest, with pretended visions, and assumed miraculous po­
wers-a Mahomedan King his dupe and his accomplice-a Mahomedan 
clandestine embassy to the Mahomedan powers' of Persia and Turkey 
resulting-Mahomedan prophecies as to the downfall of our power­
Mahomedan rule as the successor of our own-the most cold-blooded 
murders by Mahomedan assassins-a religious war for' Mahomedan 
ascendancy-a Mahomedan press unscrupulously abetting-and Mahom­
edan sepoys initiating the mutiny. Hinduism, I may say, is nowhere 
,either reflected or represented; if it be brought forward at alI, it is only 
in subservience to its ever-aggressive neighbour. 

The arguments in reference to a Mahomedan conspiracy are now 
closed. Ido llotmean that many others might not be deduced from the pro-
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ccedings before us, 'for I have selected only .those that appeared to me the 
most llrominent. I would wish, however, before sitting down, to quote 
one question a!ld answer from Captain Martineau's evidence: "Did you 
ever heal' any of the sepoys speak complainingly of the efforts of English 
missionaries to convert nativcs to Christianity?" Answer.-" No, never 
in my life, I don't think. they cared one .bit about it." I ,believe there is 
]10 officer whose duties have given him much experience of the sepoy's 
charac.ter 01' allY insight into Ilis feelings and prejudices, but will readily 
confirm the correctness of this opinion. There is. no dread of an open avow­
ed missionary in India. It is not the rightful conversion to Christianity 
that either sellOYS 01' natives are alarmed. at. If it be done by ~he efforts 
of persuasion, of teaching, or of example,-the only means by which it 
can be done,-it offends no caste prejudice, excites no fanatical opposition. 
A candid undisguised endeavour to gain followers to Christ, has nevel', that 
I am aware of, been viewed with the slightest sign of disapprobation by any 
portion of the natives, and werc it more constantly before their eyes, who 
can doubt that it 'would remove tlus present dark and debasing errol' that 
Christianity is itself a caste, and itspnly distinguishing tenet the privilege 
of eating everything. If this degrading idea were J'emoved, -the chief fear 
of the Hindus would ,'anish with it. Let .them see that it is - impossible 
to make converts to Christianity by force, and you deprive the seditious of 
their most potent weapon of mischief. Christianity, when seen' in its own 
pure light; has no terrors fol' the natives. It is only when kept in the 
shade, that its name can be perverted to an instrument. of evil. But I may, 
if I proceed fui,ther, be trenching on questions of State policy. I beg then 
to tender my thanks to the Court for the patient _ hearing they have given 
me, and to Mr. Murphy, the interpreter, for the able assistance he has, in 
that capacity, afforded me on this and the other State trials. His verv 
high attainments as an oriental scholar have beel~ most conspicuous. In. 
the fluency of viva voce examinations; in the quick. readiness with which . 
all kinds of papers, in different- hands, have been deciphel'ed and J'ead; and 
in the correctness and- spirit of the written tl'anslations of documents of 
no ordinary difficulty, his complete knowledge both of Urdu and l~ersian 
has been thorou~ly attested. The.notes appended to many of these papers 
arc valuable in themselves, and speak more forcibly than I can do of Mr. Mul'­
'}lhy's very high lll'oficiency as an- interpreter. I should be wanti"ng, both 
to him and myself, if I did not thus record my obligations to him. 

FINDING.-The COUl't, on the evidence befOl'e them, are of opiniou 
that tIle prisoner Muhamread Bahadm Shah, Ex-King of Delhi, is guilty of 
all and every part of the charges preferred against him. 

Delhi, 9th :March 18:>8. 

M . . Dawes, Lieut,-Colonel, President. 

F. J. Han'iott, l\~ajor, 

Deputy Judge 'Advocate Gcneral. 

Approved and confirmed. 

N. Penny, ~rajol'-Genel'al, 

Carop Sahal'un, 2nd April 1858. Commanding !lieel'ut Divi~ion. 



SUPPLEMENT to the PAOCEEDINGS on Hie TRIAL of Muhammad BalwdllY 
Shah, Ex-King of Delhi .. 

EVIDENCE of Hakim Ahsan Ulla, late Confidential Physician to the Ex­
King of Delhi. 

SINCE the time when, during the administration of Lord Ellcnborough, 
the nazar, which used to be presented to tIle King of Delhi on the part of 
the Governor-General, was discontinued, the King was always very much 
grieved .. At first, he wrote on the matter to England, and he. ahv~ys ~fter­
wards used to complain against the order, and to express IllS dissahsfac­
tion thereat. 

Subsequently, the King was very much grieved in consequence of the 
Goyernment not having acceded to his wish, that his young(jst son, Mirza 
Jawan BakhT,ni1ght be l'ecognised as heir-apparent, and having ruled that 

• the eldest son, Mirza l!'ateh-ul-mulk, shoulcl be his successor. Some time 
, aftel'wards, Mirza Haidar, son of Mirza Khan Baksh, son of Mirza Sulaiman i Shikoh, arriy~~ from L~now with his brother ~Iirza Muri.d. The;r had 

fl'equent access tOi1iCKing ; and, first of all, prevaIled upon 111m to write to 
the agent, intimating to that officer, that he (the King) lIael appointed them, 
(the princes) as his agents at the government office. 'l'he Agent to the 
Lieutenant-Governor, however, did Dot consent to this arrangement, as it 
,,"as contrary to usage to depute shahzadah8 011 such duty. 'I'he shahzadahs 
then carried away with them several papcrs, after im pressing upon them the 
scal of the King. 'l'hey had free access even into the female apartments of 
thc King. 

At Lukhnow Mirza Haidar offel'etl an alam (standard) on tIle part of 
the King of Delhi at the shrine of Shah Abbas, and delivered to the 
Mujtahid (high priest) a note writtch in pencil, anel bearing the scal of the 

liKing of 'Delhi, i.n which ~h~latt~!-..qreed.!!l.....!l.!lQll! the Shia..cr~ and de­
cried the Sunni tenets. This informatiOn was ohtaillcJTrom communication 
received from one or two princes who pI'ofessed the Sllnni creed, and also 
from petitions received from several Sunnis to the address of the King, 
Among them I remember the names of Amin-ul-rahman Khan, a lIati"e of 
Delhi, but who was residing at that time at Lukhnow, and Sidi I3ilal, who WM 

formerly in the service of the King of Delhi, but had suhsequcntly tal<cll 
~cnice at Lukhnow. "'hen the circumstance bccarbe known at Delhi, 
certain ulama * waited on the King and heggcd to be informed of the fact:i. 
'fhe King replied that :Mirza Haidar harl procured the King's seal being put 
11rOn all papers which they. had written, and liarl taken away the papers to 
Ll1khuOl,. amI that the King had also writtcn a shukka t to the Mlljtahid. 
]3ut the King adderl that his shukka to the Mujtahid mcrely stated that be 

-,Divincs. t :UlIDdlltC. 
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(tlle King) loved very much the Ahl-i-bait,*and that those who diu not 
love them were not Mahomedans. Subsequently, at the request of the 
King·, the Agent to the Lieutenant-Governor procured for him from Lukh­
now, a copy of the King's shukka to the M ujtahid. The subject-matter of 
the paper -coincided with that represented ill the petitions which had been re­
ceived from Lukhnow. It was then believed, that beside, the shukka to the 
Mnjtahid, the King must have addressed the Killg of Oudh also, who was 
also a Shia, and that Mirza Haidar must have held out llOpes of gain to 
the King of Dclhi if he should unite himself with the King of Oudh. 

About one year afterwards, a I'e port was current to tlie effect that Mil'Za~ 
l'i!!.iaf had proceeded to ,Persia. Mirza Najaf was brother to Mirza H'iUda:i) 
an~ nephew to the King of Delhi. 'l'lus report was also pubhsueil lU tlie 
newspaper ('onducted by }loulavy Bakar, .in ·which it was also mention ell 
that lHirza Najaf had been 'treated with consideration by the King of Persia. 
I inquired fJ'om Mirza Ali Bakht, who was a great friend of Mirza Najaf,· 
whettlCr the latter had cal'ried any 'letter from the Kin~ of Delhi to the 
Sultan of Persia, He replied in the affirmative, and described its contents 

f
,to ~e, to the effect that the KinQ' of De!hlJI!llL!!!!otie1 th~ ..... §4i~e~ anE 
the Kingof Persia sho.g!d helplull1. Moreover, ill la letter the. King of 
Derri:ia.escrilied his miserable and Iielpless condition. Mirza Ali BaItht at 
the same time stated that no reply had been received from Persia. A few 
months afterwards Sidi lGiinljrur applIed lor ·"caveto-proceeu-;u-Pilgrimage 
to Mecca. The leave was gral'lted through Hallnn Askari, a Pirzadah of 
Delhi, and some money was also giveu for his way expenses. After a few 
clays Jat Mall, who was a servant of the British .Government stationed 011 

duty at the palace, inquired from me whether it was true that Sidi Kambar 
had pl'oceeded on pilgrimage. He said he believed that the man had not 
gone OIl pilgrimage, hut to Persia, I replie(l, I know nothing about the 
matter; but having made inquiries privately, I ascertained from the eunuchs 
that the man had really gone to Persia, and that Hasan Askal'i the Pil'zadah, 
servant of the King, had delivered to him at night time certain papers 
wllich bore the seal of the King. From this it appears to me clear that Sidi 
Kambar had been sellt to Mirza Najaf, to ohtaiu a reply to the previous 
communications of the King. These matters wel'e concealed from all thel 
Sunnis (among whom I myself was nile), because l\'(i!_zl! __ H~i~ar..:llD.~c1\~ 
the K1E.g_to Ch!iltg~ his reliiio!!.: J31~t I oUtalDe;} Hie a~ove information from 
olher people. may also e mentIOned that the KlIIg was always very 
anxious to obtain intelligence of the events which were occurring towards 
Pel'sia during the time when war was going on at Bushire. 

Mirza Haidar was not nn insignificant man. He was a relative of the 
KinO' of Delhi, i, e. his nephew, and used to receive a pension of 1,000 
r.upc~s per mensem from Lukhnmv. He was a hereditary Shia; both his 

• The literal' meQnin~ of the phrns9 i~, members of the family, i, e" the childl'en of the 
Prophet. These were distinguished from the friends of the Prophet, who wns immediately snc­
ceeded, not by members of his family, but by his friends. It will be remembered that the fdn­
damental gronnd of opposition between Shins and Bunnis consisted ill the fact that the former 
do not admit the legality of the succession of the friends, and consider that they were usurpel's : 
whereas the Sunnis, while admitting the right of tho l'rophet's chiLul'Cll to succeed him, yct uellY 
that the" friends" WCI'e usurpers. 
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grandfa.ther Sulai~an Shikho, and his father Khan Baksll, Ileing of that 
persuasIOn. According to his faith, it was a pious aull cl'euitalJle act to 
mal{e proselytes, and he must have seen that he woulll derive much persollal 
advantage, if he could succeed in converting the King of Delhi, inasmuch 
as he would in that case have three Kings professing the same creed as his 
own, viz" the Kin~s of Delhi, Lukhnow, and Persia. 

~ 
'fhere can be no doubt that the idea of communicating with the King of 

Persia was first su,g:gested by Mirza Haidar who contemplated mnch advan­
tage to hlm8eIf; and 1£ IS probauleUiatlle ~esil'e(l that the conversion of 
the King should become known by means of a ne\1spaper to' tIle Shah of 
Persia, previous to the arrival of his brother, :Mirza Najar, in Persia, so that 
the latter might be treated with consideration and honour. 

The King BahOOur Shah hardly cared to obsei'\'e auy precautiolls itl 
regard to his political plans. His common servants had much influence 
uver him. Nothing could I'emain concealed from the eunuchs, because 
they had access to every place alld at all times. This King also admitted 
llis Begums to a sllare in Ilis political policy. Accordingly, to lllease the 
Zinat Mahall Begum, he applied for her son Jawan llakht, though incapaci­
tated by his younger age, to be recognised as his heir. '1'he eUlluchs were ill 
possession of every secret, because thay had free access eveu into thc secret 
apartments; the eunuch M:ahbub Ali was at the head of the Killg's aff:'irs. 

I never read tIle letter which was addressed by tlle 'King of Delhi 
to the King of Persia. I have repeated what I learnt from Prince Ali 
:Bakht. I consider that the King of Delhi must have asked for help in tIle 

\

Shape of money and troops. The Kin~ors~d~ey; a proof of which 
assertion may be seen in the fact that he changed his faith in his oIU age, 
only through covetousness. 

I never heard from any person that any allusion was made ill the letter to 
the King of Persia, to the scheme ')f exciting tIle native army to ll1UtillY against 
the Government: nor do I consider that allV such scheme could have been 
alluded to at that time, because nothing elf the sort \laS tLen talked of. 

I think that at tIle time when tile King of Delhi thought of seeking 
au alliance Vt'ith Persia. it dill not occur to allY oue to arrange fur wiuning 
over the native army. 

I learnt from the eunuchs (Basant and Kali Khan, the persolls who 
infol'med me that Sidi Kambar had been entrusted with sealed papers) that 
at the time when the papers were sealed and delivered to Sidi KamlJar, the 
King directed the man to carry them to Mirza Najaf, and to obtain replies 
to ~hem and the previous communications. 

I think that there was nothing new mentioned in the papers which 
were delivered to Sidi Kambar, because, although I never reau them, the 
eunuchs would have mentioned it to me if there had beeu any. 

Sidi Kambar went to Persia after it had been known and publisLed in a 
newspaper, that Mirza Najaf had reached that country. '1'he province of 

~ Qudh was incorporated. with British territory, about onE;l.J:e!lr~r Sicli 
Kam1iiir11-aJ'ert'Tiidla. The emeute at lIulluruan tiarhl also 'Occurrea 

-aJtertL""e dePal'ture of the Sidi. 
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From tlIe conversation of the Kiug, it appears that when war was going 
on in llushire, h:l hall stl'ong hopes of receiving aid ft'om Persia in the shape of 
money and troop~, and, during that perio!t he used constantly to make 
inquiries regarding the events which were tl'anspiring in that quarter, 

When the King first wrote to Persia nothing was Imown inregartl 
to his expectations, because everything was concealed. But when it was 
known that Mirza Najaf had reached Persia, and battles were being fought 
at Bllshire, it appeared that the King had hopes from that quarter, 

llahadm' Shah was 110t concerned at the determination of Government 
to cause the palace to be evacuated by the royal family after his death, 
because this determination of the Government was known after the. right of 
succession had been allotted to Mirza Fateh-ul-mlllk, to whose successioll 
the King was opposed, Indeed, tIle King used often to remark that the 
:Mirza Wateh-ul-mulk) Lad little l'eason to rejoice at his succession, fOl' 
after him (the King), his successor would neither have any authority, uor 
would he be permitted to reside in the palace. This shows that the 
'abo\'e determination of Government in regard to the evacuation of the palace 
was not the cause of the King's alienation. 

During the periOll of the war with Persia, some of the princes used to 
ohsenc that if the Emperor of Russia were to aid the Persians, the English 
would be defeated, and the Persians would become masters of India j anll 
the King himself coincided in this opinion. 

, I 11C\'er beard that l\Iil'ZR Najaf conveyed any intelligence froIU Pcrsiaf 
to Delhi. He might have seut news (if he did send auy), to his brothel' 
Mirza Haidar at Lukhnow. i 

'Vhen the King expected aid from Persia, no effort was ll1!\dc to win 
over any of the native pl'inees j aud the reason is that l\[il'za Hai,hr never 
retm'nell fl'om Lukhnow after he proceeded to that capltar:-=~hl§ 'liiJ'l,Yidual 
was a verv !lkilful inh'igner ~~e first suggested the idea of comlUuuicatili'g 
With the King of Pel'sia, an it is likely that he would have also' suggestcll 
thc winning over of the native princes if he bad beeu ,pl'escnt at the COU1·t 

of the King. 

The King was offended wit~l Lord Ellenborougll for his Lordship's 
having Iliscontiuued the llaZal' which used to be presented on the festival 
of tbe Ecd, the Bak.' Eed, tbe Nau Roz and the King's birth-day. lIe 
was' also offended with the Lieutenant-Governor of Agra, for having rufused 
to recognise Mirza Jawan llakht as the heir-apparent, aud al\,)tting the 
J'iO"ht of successiou to Mirza Fateh-ul-mulk. With the BI'itish Go,-erUlllent 
0":nera1l1.' 01' any other Bdtish officer individually, he was not dissatisfied; 
~or was he hostile to the Christian religion. 

In making ct murids" (disciples) the King was guided lUore by J'eligious 
than worldly motives. :rhe sepoys of the native arlUY were 1\ot the only 
lUen who became his murids. OtherI' als? adopted him as their spiritual 
guide. This practice was in vogue before the distUl'banres. Balladul' 
Shah's father also used to make murids, though Bahadur Shah inh'otluce(l 
the innovatiou of giving a handkerchief colourcd light rcd to his followers. 
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This practice originated in this wise. The Pirzadahs of Delhi, who were 
!>piritualjnstructors to the Kings of Delhi, impressed upou. the minds of 
the people that the King was the divine vice~gerent in spiritual matters IIpon 
earth, and that it was a creditable act to adopt him as their spiritual 
guide. 

After all, tllere is tllis much advantage in adoptin~ the practice, tlJat 
the spiritual instructor is obeyed by his followers on all matters whether 
secular or spiritual. The practice of making murids first came into opera­
tion during the time of the father of Bahadur Sltah; but the latter gained 
a larger number of followers. 

Only one method existed in which mUl'ids were made. 

I never heard that the King llad Jtny idea that his making ml\J'ids of 
the native sepoys would alienate them from the Bl'itish Government. But 
it is evident that a "Pir" expects Lis murids to unite themselves to him 
under all circumstances. 

I never heard tllat any sepoy out of the number who resorted to DelLi, 
mentioned to the King that he (the sepoy) had joined in consequence of 
Ilis being his (the King's) disciple .. Indeed, none of tile disciples came, nul' 
did any produce the reJ llandkerchief. Moreover, none of the sepovs 
adopted the King as Ilis spiritual guide during the five montl!s of th~ir 
occupation of· Delhi. I am not aware of the cause. Perhaps those sepoys 
who were the King's disciples, were abseut on leave, and so far as I cou'Id 
gather from the records of Mirza Mogllal, wllich ltave been since taken 
over by Government, and which I had seen, I can say that I found no mention 
of any of the King's disciples therein, nor did I observe in them Rny petition 
which contained an account of any of the mnricls. No ,sepoy bccame the 
King's murid during the five months following the cartridge question. I 
was present aU along, and should have known if any had become the King's 
disciple. 

The King's mnrids were made invariably from among MnhomedulJs, 
and from no other caste. 

I never heard that the King cal'ried on correspondence with the native 
troops; but he used to make a1Jxions inquiries ahuut the native army when­
ever any war took place. And inasmuch as he was dissati8fied with the 
British Government, he took :J. plcasure in hearing of their defeat or 
reverses. He expected that any other ruler who might subvert the BritiNh 
rule would treat him with greater l'espect and honour, in consideration of the 
King's dynasty. In short, he believed· that his own prospcrity would go 
hand in haud with the ruin of the British power . 

. I do not remember well, but I believe information must have reached the 
King of tl.le mutiny of some of ~he na~ive regiments after the annexation 
of ,Punjab, 10 consequence of the dlscontllluRllce of batta; and I doubt not 
Lut that the King learnt the fact with satisfaction., 

I do not remember exactly the month ill which intelligence was received 
of the reO'iment near Calcutta having refused to receive the new cartridges. 
I onlv k~ow that the information was obtaincd from a Cillcutta newspaper., 
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~nd when it was Imown that the discussion aboutthe cartridges was spread­
mg, it was remarked that, inasmuch as the matter touched the I'eligion of the 
llcoplc, the cxcitrmeut would spread extensively o,'er the entire length and 
hreadth of the country, nnd the native army would desert the British Goverll­
~ellt, whose rule would then be at an end. '1'he K.ing remarked that he would; 
III that case, be placed in better circumstances. inasmuch as a new dominant 
l10wcr would treat him with greater I'espect and considel'a~ion.-

Thc princes of the royal family used to remark that the native army 
would go over either to Nepal or Persia, But they had no idea that they 
~'ould ullite themselves ""ith the K.ing, because he had neither moncy no. 
troops. 

Although the issue of the new carh'idges was tllC ostensible cause of the 
mutiny, it was not in reality so. Some individuals of the native army had 
long before been adverse to and dissatisfied with the British Government 
They considered that they WCl'e treated with severity, and eagerly seized the 
opportunity of the issue of new cartridges as affording a good pretext for 
their defection. 'l'he wily and intriguing among them made it the fulcrum 
of their designs to excite the whole army against theil' rulers, and mixing 
therewith a religious element, alienated the minds of the troops fl'om the. 
Government. They believed that they alone constituted the power of Govern­
ment, and that against them tlle lldtish had not the means of fighting. 
'fhe mass of the people were ignorant; they believed that the G,H'ernment 
was intent upon polluting their religion; indeed, it was notorious that the 
Commandcr-ill-Chief had undertaken upon himself to christianise the whole 
of India in two years. Thus did the intelligent and cunning plan their 
designs; and the ignorant followed. them. 

I consider that the nath'e army was impregnated with malevolent 
iutentiolls towards the British Government; and had even the new cartridges 
not beeH issued, they would have made some other pretext to mutiny, because' 
if they had been actuated by l'Sligious motives alone * they would have given 
up sen'ice; and if they wished to serve they would not have mutinied. 

It~..M..~llC King's opinion th~t_~e GO\:er!!~!eal,~n~~~~ed to el~gel 
the religion oT'tTlep!:oPI'e; tun lrequently eXFlalllCd to hIm tIiatilhs wiSJ 
Oillv a rumour set afloat tiy wicked people. For, I adfled, the Bl'itish were 
wise people who WQuid do nothing which was calculatei to injUl'e whole 
masses of people, nor 'eculd I believe that they would seak to illjUl'e an army 
fl"Om whom they ~expected good service, 'rhis argument satisfied the King 
whenever I explained to him; but he l .. ~Japsed into his OWIl way of thinking a'S 
often as he listened to the representat:olls of llis eunuchs 1md ranis. 

No ill'tclligen~e was reeeivell in my presence from Mccrut. Early 
aft.er sunrise on the morning of :Monday, a sepoy of the volunteers, who 
was stationed on duty at the Lahore Gate, came and told the porters 
of the Dewan-i-khas that ~he Government troops had mutinied at Meerut, 

• Mon's motives are seldom PUt'll; they are swayed by mixe,l dosi.·es. The sopoy! believed 
that their religion was in danger, nud resisted accordingly. Had they given up service. what 
WU8 to become of them? Religion Imd porsuulll intorost com biued to urge them to rO$ist. 
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and that the infanh'Y and Cavalry would shortly arrive at Delhi. About an 
hour after this, the regiment stationed in the cantonment of Delhi entered 
the palace, and shortly afterwards the Meerut troops also arrired in the 
palace. Before this, no news was received. 

It was ne,-er mentioned in my presence that any information haa been 
l'eceived of a court-martial having assembled at Meerut to try those sepoyt:l 
who had refused to receive the new cartridgcs, 

It is not unlikely that news to this effect was received by means of some' 
newspaper, five 01' six'days afterwards. 

I do not believe that anyone was sent by the King to Meerut to procurc 
information of the proceedings at Meerut, in regarcl to the refusal of the 
sepoys to receive the cartridges at the time when they were going on at 
that place. 

I I did not hear that Zinat MahaH had sent anyone to Meerut fOl,the 
1 above purpose, 

Yes the King was surprised to see that the troops had come to him, I 
also wondel'ed at.the circumstance, because nothing had transpired immedi­
ately before their arrival, which might have lea u~ to expect them, though 
whell the discussiou about the cat'tridges first became kuown it was believed 
that it would cause some mischief. 

au the evening of the same day on which the troops al'1'ived, I 
represented to the King that nothing good could be expected from thcm, 
inasmuch as they had mutiniell against their masters, And I addt'essed a. 
letter to the Lieutenant-Governor of Agl'a, 011 the part of the King, inform­
ing him of the arrival of the troops, after they had murdet'ed their Elll'OrCa-l 

officers, and representing the King's inability to take any measures against 
them, and begging for help in the shape of Europcan troops. 

Iu the moming I had no private conversation with the King, henan,:! 
the palace was so much crowded with the mutinous troops and the King's, 
servants, that I did not find any opportunity of speaking to him. 

The King wa~ not prep!l.red b3forchanll f<>r the arrival of the mutineers, 
hecame when I and Ghulam Abbas, the King's wakil, communicltci to 
him (the King) request of the officer commandiug the palace guad'i 
and the Agent to the Lieutenant-Governor, to the cffect that two of the King's 
auns, to<J'ether witb artillerymen, might be sent to the Lahore Gate, 
~Ild a180

0 

two pal:wquin'i, with bearers, to Captain Douglas, the King, 
without making any excuse, ga,-e orders for their being sent as requestcd. 

Noholly can tell what was the object of tlle distribudon of the chapatis. 
It is not known who first projected the pIau, All the people in the }lalace 
woundered what it could mean, I had no conversation with the King on the 
subject; hut others talked in his llresence about it, wondering what could 
he the object. 

I consider that the chapati affair probably originated with the nativc 
troops, and the distri'>ution first commenced in Oudh. I also wondered 
what it was, but considered that it implied something. 
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I consider that the distribution of the chapatis first began in Oudh. 

It was the opinion of some. that the native troops had designed these 
chapatis as emblematical of some particular object. Others believed that there 
was some charm attached to tit em. inasmnch as they were distributed un­
known all over the country. and without it being known who first originated 
the idea, and whence they were first sent out. People also believed that 
these chapatis were the invention of some adept in the secret arts, in order 
to preserve unpolluted the religion of the country, which, it was reported. 
the Government had proposed to themselves to subvert in two years. 

I understood from the officers of the army that they had mutinied iu 
consequence of the Government having used fat iu the preparation of 
cartridges, and mixed ground bones with 1l0ur, which Government wished to 
nse as the means of converting the people. This was generally assigned as 
the reason of their taking up arms against, Government j but I learnt from 
Haidar Hasan. who was very familiar with the officers of the troops, that 
they spoke privately as follows:-" If we continue united together, we shall 

. not be defeated by the Government troops, but shall become masters of the 
country." 

I consider that the native troops mutinied in the hope of worldly gain'r 
The admixture of religion was only intended to disguise their real object • 
. If they were really fighting for religion, they would not have plundered the 
houses and property of the people, nor would they have oppressed and injured 
them, but would have fought only against the British Government. 

After the breaking out of the mutiny, the rebellious troops used to say 
they were masters of the country, and that they would take different princes 
to different provinces of the country. 

The volunteer* regiment of Delhi said. that before the breaking out or 
the mutiny. they had leagued with the troops at Meerut. and that the latter 
had corresponded with the. troops in. all other places. so that from every 
cantonment troops would arrive at Delhi. . 

After tIle defection of the native army, I understood that letters were 
received at Dellii. from which it was evident that they had beforehand made 
common cause among themselves. The mutineers at Delhi also wrote to 
other regiments, requesting them to come over. Indeed, at the request of 
some of the mutinous officers, the King addressed orders to the troops at 
Neemuch and Firozpur, and other places, iuviting them to proceed to join 
him. The uS'llal drift of letters addressed by the Delhi mutineers was this: 
U So many of us have come in here; do you also. according to your promise, 
come over here quickly." 

At the request of the mutinous ~fficers, the King used to give orders 
to the munshis to write as they (the officers) desired. 

I cannot give any further iuformation iu regard to the preconcerted con. 
spiracy of the native troops j I have said all I know. 

~ ~he 38th NaLive Iufuulry. 
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o Before their defection the native troops had settled it among them to 
kill all Europeans, including women and children, ill every cantonment. 

I cannot explain, in detail, the arrangements which were made by the 
mutineers before their defection. I consider, however, that all their plans had 
not been yet matured when the event took place. 

o I did not hear that any particular date had"been fixed for the execution 
of the plims of the mutineers; but I am inclined to think that noile was 
fixed, because if there had been, allusion would have been made to the fixed 
tim~, in'the letters which were addressed by the Delhi mutineers to the other 
troops, which was not the case. I mean some such language as the follow­
ing would have been used in those letters, viz., "You promised to rise up 
on such a date, but you have not arrived yet, so that you have not kept your 
promise." 

When I stated above, that the" event" took place before the plans of 
the mutineers had been matured, I referred to the" event" wllich occurred 
at Meerut. 

Indeed, I consider that bad the event at Mecrut not taken place 'so soon. 
the plans of the mutineers and their union would have become more perfect 
with greater length of time. 

The breaking out of the mutiny at Meerut somewhat before the proper 
time. may be ascribed to one of the two following causes, viz., either the 
Meerut troops were too precipitate, or the Government behaved severely 
towards them. 

Gulab 811ah, the officer of the 3rd Cavalry, who cams in from Meerut, in 
alluding to the severity of the Government, stated that they (Government) 
~isarmed the troops and imprisoned the troopers in irons. 

In addition to the issue of the new cartridges, the sepoys numbered 
among their grievances and causes of their dissatisfaction with Government, 
the short leaves allowed to the troops, tlle discontinuance of batta, the "end­
ing out oftroops to sea on shipboard, and, lastly, the little consideration 
(compared to previous times) shown, of late, to the sepoy army. 

But,they brought forward, most conspicuously, the issue of cartridges as 
the strongest cause of their mutiny. Their other grievances, as above 
mentioned, were not adduced so prominently. The reasou of this is obvious. 
In the cartridge dispute a religious element was involved, which served their 
purpose; inasmuch as the mass ofthe people (who are necessarily ignorant), 
were deceived and really believed that they were fighting for religion. The 
wicked were guided by motives of gain. 

The mutineers spoke of the British' with contempt; they called them 
It N asara* JI and infidels, but they did not use foul language against them. 

They used to say that the Government would not allow any cllief to 
hold tertitorial possessions, and would not treat the natives of India with any 
consideration . 

• NlL6&rB literally mear.e a Nazarene (CrollllS'~cth the oity ) and a Chl'ietiun, but in U80 is 
applied oontemptuouely to Chril!t.iaul. 
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In the native army both Hindus and Mahomedans were" dissdisfied 
with Gmvernment, and the Hiudus predominated in nnmbE'r: bnt, of the 
inhabitants of Delhi, the Hindus were dissatisfied ;n a less degree than the 
Mahomedans. 

The reason of the greater dissatisfaction of the Mahomedans was that 
on the occasion of the" Bakr Eed,JJ when there was a quarrel in regard to the 
slaughter of kine, the decision of the .authorities was not agreeable to the 
Mahomedan population. In addition to this, it was reported that the 
Government desired to make Christians of the natives of India by causing 
them to eat pork. 

Latterly, it was believed that the sepoys repented of their miscondulilt, 
and a proof of their repentance might be found in the fact that many secretly 
left their regiments; some applied to their officers for promotion of rank 
and increase of pay ~ and when theirrequest was not granted, they left openly • 

. ,' The people in the patace or the princes did not know previously that the 
sepoys of the volunteer regiment at Delhi had leagued with the Meerut troops 
against the Government. This was only known afterwards when the officers 
of the mutinous troops said so at Delhi. 

1 eonsider that no correspondence passed between the sepoy'! and tIle 
native chiefs, before the open mutiny oCthe former; for if .any had fassed, 
allusion would have been made in the subsequent letters addressed to the 
chiefs, to the circumstance, which was not the case. Moreover, if any such 
commuI).ication had been made, some portion of the mutinous troops would 
have proceeded to some of the chiefs with whom they had leagued. This 
also was not the case. . 

I consider that the native army mutinied of their own .accord, and not at 
the instigation of any chiefs, because in the latter case, the mutineers would 
have either . themselves proceeded to join their instigator, . Qr" caused him 
to join them. " 

. The mutinous troops would not appear to have won over the people of 
the country, because if they had, they would have treated them with con­
sideration, and would not have oppressed and plundered them as they did. 

The sepoys had not, before their breaking out into mutiny, nnited to 
themselves the Mussulman population of Delhi. If they had, they would 
n6t have oppressed and plundered the Mahomedans of Delhi in the manner 
they did. . 

The abandoned classes of the city required no instigation to rise up. 
The confusion and disorder of the time in itself encouraged them to unite 
with the sepoys. 

I am of opinion that no agreement was made between the GooJurs and 
the mutinous troops beforehand. nut, afterwards, certain mutinous officers 
cansed the King to grant a drum and standard to two Goojurs of the neigh­
bourhood of Delhi, who were enjoined to plunder the provisions of the 
nritish camp. In like manner a Rao, who resided in the vicinity of Sikandl'ah 
in the Bulandshahr district, received a. drum and standard from the King 
for similar sel' vice. 
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During the period of disturbances, no complaint was made against the 
defects of the civil administration under the British rule. The sepoys did 
not complain, because they were themselves tyrannical j and the people had 
seen too much of the oppressive administration of the sepoys to complain 
against that of the British. 

Among the cavalry officers, Gulab Shah: among those of the infantry 
regiments, the officers of the" Runseet .':* and" Alexander"t regiments; 
and among the King's servants, Sidis. Nasir Khan and Basant, eunuchs, 
were the principals who instigated the murder of the fifty Christians and 
Europeans. The reason is, that Gulab Shah and his party was encamped in 
the Hayat Bakhsh garden, and used to be seated at the entrance of the royal 
apartments in the· company of the eunuchs. 

f Amongthe princes, Prince Abulbakr and Mirza Khair Sultan were tIle 
·principals who caused the Europeans to be murdered. _ The others were 
,~>nly their accomplices. 

I spoke to the King on the subject in the presence of the eunuchs. 
When the latter, at the request of Gulab Shah, solicited the King's orders 
for killing the Europeans, I explained. to the King that it was forbidden in 
our own religion to kill women and children. I suggested to him' that it 
was also prudent in a worldly point of view to preserve them. I advised him 
to obtain a " fatwa JJ (verdict) from the doctors of the Mahomedan religion 
prohibiting the slaughter of the women and children, and to show the verdict 
to the officers of the army, and then to keep them in custody in a safe place, 
and to preser.ve them as he would his own family and children. I explained 
to him the immediate and also remote advantages of such conduct. I ex­
plained to him that such was the line of conduct adopted by Sirdar Mu­
hamed Akbar Khan, of Cabul, towards the Europeans who became his 
prisoners during the Af~han war. I pointed out to the King how, in con­
sequence of such conduct, Akbar Khan succeeded in procuring the libera­
tion of his father, the Amir Dost Muhamad Khan, from confinement in 
the hands of the British, and how the Amir was ultimately restored to his 
country and kingdom. 

The effect of my suggestions was, that the King at that time withlleld 
his sanction. to the murder of the Christians, and for two days their lives 
were preserved. But afterwards, the applicants prevailed upon the King to 
give his assent, and the eunuchs Basant and Sidi Nasir delivered up the Chris­
tians to Gulab Shah, who put them to death by the side of a reservoir in the 
palace. 

I If the King had kept the women and children in his own female apart­
ments, and on their being demanded by the sepoys had explained to the latter 
that he would only agree to their (the Christians) being murdered, after his 
( the. King's) own women and children had been first put to death, it was 
'Very probable that the sepoys would not have dared to enter the royal 
scraglio to forcibly seize and kill the Christians. 

t The King could have safely said and done so. lIe frequently spoke to 
the sepoys as resolutely. 

!' :rhe 11th Nlltive Infautry. t :rhe 74th Native Illfl\utry. 
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~ Had the King's consent not been; given, it was not p~ssible that a false 
tentry would ltave been made iirthe offiCIal documents to the effect that his 
eanction had been given. . .' . 

The officers of the Runseet and Alexande:r regiments were extremely 
hostile to Europeans and Christians, and even if Gulab Shah, and the two 
eunuchs Basant and Nasir, had not existed, the former would have demand­
ed the murder of the Christians. But I do not consider that, except them, 
there were any others so extremely hostile to the Christians. 

These Christians were put to death by Sidi Nasir, Allah Dad Wilayati 
and th~ sowar~ of Gulab Shah, and cert~in K~as-b~rdars of t~e King. They 
were kllled wlth swords. Allah Dad WIlayatl was In the serVlCe of the King. 

First of all the regular troopers came, then followed the volunteer regi;­
ment of Delhi and entered the palace. The troopers were accompanied by 
two companies oCthe volunteers who were posted at the gates of the palace. 
The officers of the volunteer regiment said in a loud voice, "Here are the 
sowars from Meerut, the infantry regiments will follow shortly!' I gather­
ed from the talk of the officers ofthe Delhi regiments that there was perfect 
nnion of mind between the Delhi and Meerut troops. Moreover, in the 
letters and orders which were addressed to the native regiments in other 
cantonments, th'e sepoys never allnded to any promi~e of the addressees to 
proceed to Delhi. It was merely stated in thOse letters that such and such 
regiments had come in, "Do you come ov~r also!' 

In my opinion the mutineers had several inducements for throwin~ 
themselves into the city of Delhi:- b 

First.-Delhi was close to Meerut, where the mutiny commenced and 
the Meerut troops were of one mind with those of DeIM. ' . 

Secondly.-There was considerable treasure and abundance of magazine 
stores at Delhi. 

Thirdly.-There was a wall round Delhi, and the city could be well 
defended. 

Fow·thly.-The King of Delhi had no army, and was defenceless j and-

Fifthly.-The King was a personage, to wait upon whom all chiefs, 
Hindu or Mahomedan, would have considered an honour to themselves. 

The troops did not inform the King previously' of their intention to go 
over to him, nor had the King any knowledge of the volunteer regiment having 
made common cause with the Meerut troops. 

I never heard any complaints from the people of Delhi .regarding the 
resumption of inams or rent-free grants, because I am not aware that any 
such grants had been resumed. But the sepoys used to say that the 
Government would gradually resume all inams and pensions, and leave none 
in the enjoyment thereof. 

The annexation of Qudh was much talked of at Delhi. Bu~, as the 
majority of the M ahomedan popu~ation. of Delhi are Sunnis~ and. a 
moulavy of their sect} named Amu' AlI, had ,been blown, together wIth 
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about four or five hundred Sunnis, from the mouth of cannon, on the occa~ 
sion of the emeute at Hanuman Garhi, by order of the King of Oudh, the 
Mahomedansof Delhi did not regard the annexation of Oudh with dissa­
tisfaction. But, on the contrary, they believed that the King of Oudh had 
been punished for having shed the blood of innorent Sunnis, in the loss of 
llis Kingdom. As rllgards the Hindus of Delhi, I never heard that they were 
in any manner dissatisfied at the annexation of Oudh. 

The sepoys used to remark that the English would take possession of 
every c~)Untry in the same manner as they had occupied Oudh; but I did not 
perceive that they were particularly grieved at the annexation of Oudh. 

I heard no complaints from the sepoys regarding the revenue adminis. 
nation under the British rule in Oudh. 

ldo not consider that the annexation of Oudh was one among other causeS 
of the revolt of the sepoys. My impression is, -that they had no cause to be 
grieved on that account. They lost nothing by it, but, on the contrary, were 
liberated froin the oppression ofthe Oudh Governme»t. The sepoys who were 
at Delhi never complained particularly against the annexation of Oudh. Dut 
they certainly used to say, that the British would take possession of every 
province as they had occupied Oudh; and that they took possession of that .. 
country even though the King did not fight against them. 

I con,sider that the sepoys would have mutinied, even thougb Oudh had 
-not been annexed, because they were ripe for revolt. 

Three or four of the Lukhnow mutinous regiments addressed petitions 
to the King, in which they stated that they wonld proceed to Delhi after 
they had made themselves masters of Oudh, and added that they had besieg­
ed the British in BailIee Guard. Kudrat-ulla Khan Risaldar, accompanied 
by 100 sowars, also brought a petition from all the Oudh troops, and was 
introduced into the King's presence by Bakht Khan. He presented tlle coin 
recently struck iIi the name of Bahadur Shah. The impression on the coin 
was as follows :-

" Siraj-ud-din Bahadur Shah Ghazi has struck npon gold the coin of 
victory." 

The petitioners stated that they had elevated a son of Wajid Ali Shah 
on the gaddi, on the condition that he should be the Wazir of Bahadur Shah, 
and acknowledge allegiance to that King. They added that they had caused 
the prince to write down an agreement to that effect, and had further explained 
to him that he had been raised to the throne subject to the sanction of the King. 

The King ordered Bakht Khan to reply to the petition conveying his 
-sanction to the arrangement • 

• The gold mohnrs which were presented by Kudrat-ulla Khan Risalday, 
to the K~Dg are now in the possession of the Commissioner of Delhi. 

t 
I do not consider that Wajid Ali Shah, the King of Oudb, had any share 

in these proceedings. _ 
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IfWajid Ail Shah or Ali Naki Khan had been in league with the sepoys, 
the circumstance could not have remained a secret, and moreover the latter. 
would have proceeded to Lukhnow. Furthermore,in that case, the sepoys 
would not have raised to the thron.e the younger son of Wajid Ali Shah, to the 
exclusion of Wajid Ail Shah himself, and his eldest son. 

I am of opinion the Qudh tro~ps would not have proceeded to Delhi 
after they had succeeded in taking' possession of Baillee Guard, because they 
would have betaken themselves to the management of the extensive territory 
of Qudh. I consider that the authority of the son ofWajid Ali Shah, whom 
they had raised to the throne, would have been only nominal. 

I never heard that any correspondence was carried on with Wajid Ali 
Shah during his residence in Calcutta, and I believe that none took place. 
Neither was any correspondence carried on with Ali Naki Khan. Formerly 
some correspondence took place through the medium of Mirza Haidar ; but 
when that individual gave out, at Lukhnow, that the King of Delhi had 
become a convert to the Shia religion, and the King denied at Delhi that he 
had, :Mirza Haidar discontinued writing to the King, nor did he come to 
Delhi afterwards, and as Mirza Haidar was the medium of communication 
between the Kings of Qudh and Delhi, and that man llad not· accompanied 
the King of Qudh to Calcutta, no correspondence took place between the two 
Kings. 

I did not hear from any of the sepoys that either the King of Qudh, or 
any of his relatives or dependants instigated the sepoys to revolt. I cannot 
speak of the Qudh troops, because none came from thence to Delhi. 

During the distUl'bances I heard that Mirza Haidar was at Lukhnow, 
but that lie was detained along with other native chiefs of influence at Baillee 
Guard by the British officers. 

No correspondence took place between Mirza Haidar and the King of 
Delhi during the distUl'bances. Indeed, all correspondence between them 
had ceased, since Mirza Haidar hau reported at Lukhnow the conversion of 
the King to the Shia. religion. 

I shall now describe from what regiments and places petitions were 
received by the King. 

NEEMucH.-The Neemuch troops addressed.& petition to the King, in 
which they stated that they had arrived at Agra, where they had gained & 
victory, and driven the British into the fort, which they had laid siege to. 
But they added that they had no heavy guns, so that they intended to 
proceed. to Dclhi, and return from thence to Agra, carrying along with them 
heavy guns from. Delhi, and they would then take the Agra Fort. They 
mentioned in their petition that they had killed their European officers. 
This petition was written from Muthra, and in the names of Ghous Khan 
and Hira Singh, subadars. It was brought by a shutar-so,var,. and was 
presented to the King by Bakht Khan, who spoke in very high terms of 
the Neemuch troops. The King directed that a reply be addressed, calling 
tlJem over to Delhi. A reply was' sent accordingly. . 
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JHANSI.-A messenger brought a petition from the Jhansi hoops, and 
delivered it to .the eunuchs, who presented it to the King. In this peti­
tion the writers stated that they had killed their European officers,and were 
desirous of proceeding to Delhi. The King directed a reply to be sent 
telling them to come over. 

DANAl'uR (DINAl'ORE) .-A petition was brought from Dinapore by an 
officer of the Delhi tKQOPS, about two and a half months after the breaking 
out of the mutiny, in which the writers stated either that they had 
started for Delhi, or intended to do so. The King ordered a reply to be 
sent, telling them to come over. I cannot say positively whether any troops 
came from Dinapore Or not. 

ALLAHABAD.-Two sepoys, in the disguise· of travellers, brought a peti­
tion from the Allahabad troops. It was presented to the King through the 
officers of the Volunteer Regiment about a month and a half after tlie mutiny. 
They signified their devotion to the King, and expressed their intention to 
proceed to Delhi. A reply was sent telling them to come over. 

ALIGARH.-A petition was presented on the part of the Aligarh troops 
to the King by an officer of the Delhi mutineers abou.t two and a half months 
after the rebellion. I do not know whether the petitirn was hrought by a 
messenger, or whether it arrived by dilk. The contents were, either that the 
petitioners had started for Delhi, or intended to do so. They were told in 
reply that they mig})t come over. 

MUTHRA.-Two messengers brought a petition from the Muthra troops 
about 20 days after the mutiny, which was presented by the officers of the 
Volunteer Regiment. The writers stated that they were proceeding to Delhi, 
bringing treasure along with them. A reply was sent as usual. Shortly 
afterwards these troops arrived, bringing one lakh of rupees of treasure. 

BULANDSHAHR.-l\firza Moghal produced before tlIe King a sepoy be­
longing to the Bulandshahr troops who had brought a petition, in which it was 
said they were marching to Delhi with all the treasure they had in their 
possession. Accordingly they brought 30,000 rupees with them j but I 
heard that the sepoys had appropriated a portion of the treasure to them­
sIeves as they were marching to Dehli. 

RaoRKI.-I believe that a sepoy, in the disguise of a traveller, brought 
a petition from the Roorki troops, which was presented to the King about a. 
month and a half after the rebellion by the officers of the" Mapert " 
* Regiment. The contents were, that the writers were desirous of proceed­
ing to Delhi, and would serve the King truly. A reply was sent as usual 
and about 300 men of the Sappen and Miners arrived, under the command 
of Kadar Baksh. This officer became very intimate with Mirza Khair Sultan, 
and acquired some influence over the King. He frequently had a voice in 
the proceedings of the army, and, in conjunction with Bakht Khan, obtained 
the permission of the King to exact money fpom the bankers and wealthy 
Mahomedans of the city. 

" 54.lh Nalive InCantry. 
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, FARRUKHABAD.-'-Bakht Khan had left some troops at Farrukhabad be-
fore he came to Delhi. He intimated the fact to the King a liWe befol'e, two 
months after the breakbg out of the mutiny. . -

lIAN~J.-Two sowllrs brought a petition from Hansi, -in which the 
writers stated that tlley were fighting for the King, and were proceeding to 
Delhi to figlJt for religion. This petition was presented to the King, I believe, 
by Gulab Shah, the commander of the Meerut troops, about six wceks after 
disturbances. Three so'W'ars came from Hansi. . 

SlRsa.-Three petitions were received from Sil'sa. One from Goud 
Shankar, officer of the "Takyur" Regiment; the second from a. cavalry 
l'isaldar, whose Dame I forget j and the third from 8hahzadah Muhamad 
Az,im, ()f the CommiHsal'iat Department. The petitioners stated that they 
had alr~ady perforI?ed.good service to the King, and added, that they were 
proceedmg to Delln with all the money of the Customs Department. These I 

petitions wel'e brought hy two messengers about six weeks after the mutiny. 
A reply was sent as usual. Shortly afterwards the troops arrived, bringing 
with them 30,000 rupees treasure, about 200 bullocks, and 50 or 60 sheep. 

KARNAL.--:-No petit{on was l'eceived from the troops at Karnal. 

• NASIRABAD.-Two sepoys brouglit a petition, in which, as usual, the troops 
signified theil' readiness to march to Delhi. Mirza Moghal presented the 
petition to the King, and the usual reply was sent. Between 2,000 to 
2,500 men, cavah'y and infantry, arrived with a number of guns. 

SAUGOR AND JUBBULPUR.-I believe petitions came from these places. 
and that replies were also sent. 

\ 

TaEPANH.B.-(FIROZPUR.)-A sepoy, disguised as a fakir, brought a. 
petition from the Fil'ozpur tl·OOpS.· Mil'za Moghal presented ~he petition ~o 
the King. The messenger was told that a reply would be given next day. 
The man told me he had come from Firozpllr, and that the troops at that 
place were ullready to march to Delhi, and had mutinied against the BI·itish 
Government. I did not see the petition, nor did fv.[irza ~Ioghal mention to 
me that any petition had been received from ~'irozpur. Tbis petition was 
received ·about six: weeks after the c'immencement' of distuI'balices; before 
.Hakht Khan had joined. Only Neemnch and Jhansi troo s arrived after 
B!.kht.,. K1!!2) the greater part of ot er troops ~d .alre~dy jOllle 
Jam. ' 

AMBALA.-A sepoy, in the disguise of a fakir, brought a petition from 
·the Ambala troops; but I cannot speak positively in this matter. noram.I 
sure that any reply was sent. 

PHILLO~R'"'7"If I recollect right, I believe that an officer of the Baillie 
.Regiment (the 20th N. I.) brought a. petition from the Phillour troops, bilt 
noue of the latter accompanied him. This was two months after the 
commencement of'distUl·bances .. 'rhe contents were, that petitioners' would 
march to Delhi after serving the King's cause at Phillour. The usual reply 
was sent. Long afterwards about 200 men came to Delhi. ' 
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JALLANDHAR.;,....I believe that some sepoy, disguised as a trR\"eller, brol1gltt 
a petition from the Jallandhar troops, and some officer of the "Runsit" 
Rt:giment (the 11th N. I.) presented the petition to the King. 'file 
contents were as usual, as was also the reply. 

SEALKoTE.-No sepoy came from Sealkote with any petition; but a pe­
tition was received from that place, and presented to tIle King by an officer 
of one of the Delhi mutinous regiments about two months and upwards at'tel' 
the mutiny. The writers expressed their desire to march to Delhi. A reply 
was ordered to be sent. I do not recollect whether any tt'oops came fronl 
Sealkote or not. 

JHELuM.-The petition from Jhelum came very late, about tllree 
months after tlle commencement of the mutiny. It 'was. received I believe, 
through Kadir l3aksh, of the Roorld Sappers and :M iners, The subject was 
as usual, as was also tIle reply . 

. RAWUL PINDEE,-Two sepoys, disguised as Brahman travellers, brought 
a petition from the Rawul Pindee troops, in which the writers stated that 
they were prepared to march to Delhi and serve the King, This petition 
was presented to the King by the officers of the" Mapert II Regiment. A 
}'eply was ordered to be written as usual. This petition was received about 
two months after the breaking out of the mutiny. 

LooDHuNA.-I heard that a petition llad been received from Loodhiana, 
and I believe that one was received; but I do not know throngh whom it 
came. I believe a reply was also sent. I do not remember its contents, but 
I heard that the troops were expected at Delhi. If any petition c'ame it 
must have arrived about two months after breaking out of disturbances . . 

No petition came from the troops at l3enares, Azimgarh, Gorukhpul", 
Cawnpur, Meerut, Saharunpur, l3ijnour, Mooradabad, Futtehgurh, Futtehpul', 
Bareilly, l3udaon, Agra, Shahjanpur, Ghazeepur. 

None also came from the troops at Amritsar, Hooshiarpnr, Kangra, 
Lahore, Attock, Peshawur, Mooltan, Googail"a, Goojrat, Dehra Isbmail 
Khan, Dehra Ghazi Khan, Shah pur, Khangal'h, or Leiah. 

Likewise no' petition was received from the troops at Calcutta 01' 

:Barrackpore or other cantonments in the eastern provinces. 

No petition was received from the l3ombayor Sindh troops; but the 
mutineers represented to the King that the Bombay army had written to 
them to the effect that they were ready to proceed to Delhi. I heard thi~ 
once or twice. I cannot speak positively whether any petition c:ame 
or not. 

A petition was received from the Gwalior troops fl"om a place beyonrl 
the Chambul (of which I forget the name), in which they Raid that they had 
50 guns, and .magazine stores in such abundance that 5,000 carts would be 
:r~o£";r~d to carry them. But they were unable to cross the Chambul, 
~;bicb ""8. at its height. This petition was received two months after the 

/oreak~ng 0":. of disturbances. They were told in reply they could come when 
the nver h)!t lubsided. 
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No communication was addressed.by the Delhi mutineers to the troops 
of Bikanir,Jasalmair, Jodhpur, Jaipur, Jhajjar, Alwar, Kotah,.or Boondy., 
Nor was any received from: them at Delhi. 

Petitions were received by the King from the chiefs of Jhajjar, ;Bal­
Jal)hgarh, Farrukhnagllr, and from Walidad Khan of Malagarh in the 
Bulandshahr district_ In these .petitions, they pI'ofessed allegiance to the 
King, aud exclIsed their personal attendance on the ground that their absence 
would unsettle their countries. 'The Jhajjar Nawab sent 300 sowars under 
the command of his father-in-law, Abdul Samad Khan. The Ballabhgarh 
chief sent 15 sowars. No troops came from Farrukhnagar; and Walidad 
Khan asked for troops and guns, but .none were sent until long afterwards, 
when 20080wars were sent.Walidad Khan was himself present at Delhi 
at the time of the breaking out of the mutiny. He obtained a patent 
conferring upon' him the government of the Doab, and left Delhi. 

Khan Bahadur Khan sent a petition and wakil through the medium of 
Bakht Khan. He also sent an elephant, a horse, with silver ornaments, 
and 101 gold mohurs as present. Several petitions \'I ere received from· Rao 
'rula Ram, asking for troops. He sent 40,000 rupees treasure, which was paid 
into the King's treasury through the medium of Bakht' Khan. f( Shukkas" 
were addressed to the following chiefs at the request of the mutinous troops, 
calling upong them (the chiefs) to come over with their troops and munitions 
of war. 

Jhajjar, BallabhgUl'h,. Farrukhnagar, Khan Bahadur Khan of BareilIy, . 
. Jaipur, Alwar, Jodhpur, Bikanir, Gwalior, and Baija Bai, and Jaisulmair. 

Two shukkas were addressed to Baija Bai; but she replied to neither of them. 

A sbukka. waS! addressed to the Patiala Rajah through Bakht Khan. 
It conveyed the pardon of the King for the Maharajah's faults, at the instauee 
of Abul Islam, and called upon the Mahal'ajah to sUFply cash, and to fight 
against the English. 

A shukka was also addressed to the Jummoo chief, and made over fo~ 
transmission to Bakht Khau. This person had previously preS'ented to the 
King a petition (which was believed. to !lave been forged), . purporting to 
have been written by Rajah Gulab Singh, in which the Rajah was 
represented to say that he would soon march to Delhi with his troops, 
punishing on his way the Maharaja of Patiala j also that the AmiI' 
Dost Muhamad Khan was an ally of Jummoo, and would not fail 
to render service to the King. The shukka to the address of the Jummoo 
chief called upon him to proceed with munitions of war to Delhi. 

Replies were received to the effect mentioned above from the cldefs 
of Jhajjar,. Ballabhgarh, !t'arrukhnagar, and Khan Bahadur Khan of BareiHy, 
but none were received from Jaipur, Alwar, Jodhpur, Bikanir, Gwalior, 
Jysulmair, Patiala or Jummoo. .'i 

These latter chiefs sent no reply because they had no inclination to side 
with the King. . ., 



TRIAL OF EX.-XING OF DELm. 

The Jodhpur and Gwalior chiefs would appear to be determined to remain 
liltaunch in their alliance to the British Government. The mutiny of their 
troops did not alienate those chiefs personally from the British . 

. No shukka was sent to Bhurtpur, because the troops at Delhi said that 
the Rajah was a child, and the administration was carried on there by British 
officers. 

Np communication was addressed to Indore and none was rrceived from 
there. . . . 

I 
Kunwar Singh, tIle rebel of Sll8.habad, was not addressed, and no com­

munication was ,received from him. 

No communication wa~ addressed to tile RDj~h of Benares or tlle Rajall of 
Rewab,nor to the Nawab of Banda, and none was received from any of those 
chiefs. 

( -Nocorrespolldence took' place between the King and the chiefs in Nagpur. 

Neitllel' the BhawaJpur; nor the KaparthulIa, nor the hill chiefs unde)' 
the Simla agency were addressed, and no communication was received from 
any of those chiefs. 

The Nepal chief was not addressed, and no communication was received 
from him. 

After the accumulation of the mutinous army at Delhi, shukkas WE're 
addressed to those chiefs who were pointed out by the troops. And as the 
troops signified no desire for the _ Nepal cLief being written to, he was 110t 

addressed. 

I No correspondence passed between the King and the chief of Gujrat ill 
the Deccau, or the chiefs of Biluchistan, Affghauistan or the Khybur Pass. 

At first, the troops said that the King's servants had not written to the 
chiefs from whom no replies llad been receivcd. But when they tllemselves 
wrote, and no reply was still received, they said the chiefs were all of them 
·disloyal, and would be punished after the British llad been vanquished. 

, 

The intelligent among the troops said that the chiefs were watching 
the turn of events, and were afraid, under the existing circumstances, 
to act decisively. Gouri Shankar, who is a most intelligent office1', 
used to observe that the presence of the Government troops on the 
hill before Delhi was a painful thorn ill their (tile mutineers') side, 
and that as soon as this. was rcmoved, all would be right • 

• The sepoys used to say that t11ere wCI'e in the fi1'st in~tancc only two 
regiments of European soldier'! on the ridge,' bitt these had diminished to 
two or three hundred only. ·And that when these shall have been killed 
'the British would leave the ridge. 

None of the officers of the troops expressed a wish for the Bhawalpur 
~awab being addressed, and I consider that ths Nawab did not address 
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·the King, because the former had au old pique against the latter, inas­
much as when Nawab Bhawal Khan, the late chief of Bhawalpur, passed 
through Delhi, the King forbade llis son to enter the Dewan-i-Khas, 
ullless he agreed to lay down his arms and take off his ornaments. 

No petition was received from any of the chukladars or Governol'S 
of Oudh. . ' 

A petition was received from M oulavy Liakat· Ali, the leader of the 
reli6ious warriors of Allahabad, in which he intimated tllat he was about 
to proceed to Delhi, and asked for military aid in order to reduce his 
part of the country. No reply was sent at the time, because he was 
himself expected; but when he came lie was introduced to tile King 
by Bakht 1\ han, and returned after obtaining a patent, appointing him 
goverllor of Lukhnow. This took place three months after the commence-
ment of disturbances. . 

1'{0 petition was received from tllSl..liann· but, about two months 
after the breaking out or'the mutiny, a co~tial agent (a mamtlla) 
of the N ana's al'l'ived at Delhi, aud was introduced to the King by Mirza~ 
M ogllal. ~t the request of the M il'ZIL, a shukka was addressed to the Nana, I 
inviting him over to Delhi. The agent then returned. . 

No petition was l'eceived fl'om any bankers; but an order was ad­
uressed to Seth Lakshmi Chand, at the instance of the' army, directing 
him to give~ the amount of 1,000,0001. sterling, amI to send 
an agent of his own to be placed in charge of the treasury .. The Seth 
was told that the revcnue coIIectioIls would be made over to him, anel 
that he would be allowed interest. on his lottn; but no l'eply ,vas rc­
ceived from the Seth. 

So far as I am aware, 110 ])E'tition wns received from any of the 
servants of Government; but I IleaI'd that a Hindustani, a Mahomedan 
of Bulandshahr, who held a high office under Government, had joined 
Wnlidad Khan, I do not know his name. ShuI,kas' were addressed to 
Mufti Sadr-ud-din, the principal Sudder Ameen,Karam Ali Khan '1I[Ull­
siff, Moulavy Ahbas Ali, Suddcr Ameeu of Delhi, and to Mirza Mullam­
mad Ali Beg, Tahsildar of Mahroli, inviting them to enter the service 
of the King ill the situations held by them under the British Govern­
ment. But they all declined the offer. But when .Bakht Khan assem­
bled the Moulavies and Ulamas of Delhi in the Jamn Masjid and com­
pelled them to declare that it was incnmbent to wage a religious wnr 
against the British, I am told he (BaHt Khan) compelled Mufti Sadr­
ud-din to put his senl upon the vcrdict. Moulavy Abbas Ali left Delhi. 
and proceeded to his home across the Jumna bcfore the arrival of 
Bakht Khan. 

No petition was received from Agl'a from any party, but Moulavy Fniz 
Allmad, who was employed in the Sudder Board's office, came in person to 
D'elhi, and adopted the King's service. He was placed in charge of the 
Adalat. .~ 
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. A shukka. was addressed to .th~ Nawab of Rampur, but no reply was 
received from hIm. Bakht Khan Insisted upon the Nawab of Rampur beina 
addressed, and said that when he (Bakht Khan) went to Rampur the Nawab 
rromised to him to remain neutral. 

Shukkas were also addressed to Nawabs Amin-ud-din Khan and Zia-ud­
din Khan, Jagirdars of Luharu, to Hasan Ali Khan, bl:other of the Nawab 
of Jhajjar, to Nawab Hamid Ali Khan, all of whom were residing at Delhi, 
and to Ajit Singh, uncle of the Maharajah of Patiala, directing them to wait 
upon the King. All these chiefs accordingly waited upon the King, but 
wrote no petition in reply to the shukkas addressed to them, aud when, at 
the instance of the army, these chiefs were called upon to pay certain sums 
of money according to the circumstances of each, each and all made some 
exnuse, and paid nothing. For this reason the troops were intent upon plun­
dering them. and in one instance carried out their intention. Mirza 
Abulbakr. grandson of the King, who commanded the regular cavalry, enter­
ed and plundered the house of Hamid Ali Khan, and carried the Nawab 
prisoner to the palace. But Zia-ud-din Khan and Amin-ud-din Khan were 
prepared to resist the troops, and therefore escaped being plundel·ed. 

A shukka was addressed to the Chief of Patoudi; but he sent no reply. 
I do not remember whether any shukka 'Was addressed to the chief of Dojana ; 
but no petition was received from him. 

I will DOW proceed to describe from what districts petitions were received 
from among the general population of ~he country. 

DISTRICT GURGAoN.-The zamindars of Gurgaon proper nddressed a 
petition, bringing to the notice of the King the disordered state of the 
dish·iet, and begging that an officer might be deputed to assume the 
administration. Thereupon Moulavy Faiz-ul-hak, who had come in from 
Alwar, proposed that Ilis sister's son (whose name I forget), who was formerly 
employed in that district under the Blitish Government, should be appointed. 
This man was accordingly appointed" Zilndar," i. e .• in charge of the district. 
TIut I am not aware whether Ire went to Gnrgaon or not. This appointment 
was made only about 15 or 20 days before the fall of Delhi. }'lIiz-ul-hal, 
also appointed several tahsildars under the ziladar. 

REWARI.-Rao Tula Ram, the perpetual settlement holder of Rewari, 
sent an agent of his own through Bakht Khan with a petition, in which 
he state(l that he had been managing the territory. but that the collec­
tions of tIle CUl"l'ent harvest hacl been expended among the 8t·my •. He 
offered to pay a" nazaran8" to the amount of 45,000 rupees in con­
sideration of the territory being granted to him in jagir in perpetuity. 
Bakht Kkau accordingly obtaiued a patent couferring Rewari in per­
Iletual jagir on Tllla Ram. '1'his was done three months afte~ the break­
iua out of the rebellion. Ten days before the fall of Delhi the sum ot 40,000 rupees was paid into the King's treasury by Tula Ram. 

BADSBABPuR.-The zamindars· of Badsbabpur applied for a tahsil­
dar. The ziladar was ordered to arrange for the appointment of a tahsildar. 

DISTlllCT OJ' DELBI.-No communication was received from any 
party of any note out of the walls of the city. 
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DISTRICT OF ROBTAK.-The Rohtak people sent no petition' to the 
King, but they arranged for supplying provisions to the troops. 

HISSAR.-The guards attached to the Bissar gaol, as well as' the 
officials of the customs department, sent petitions to the King. I do 
not remember the names of the writers j tlley stated that they were 
anxious to proceed to Delhi. This communication was received two 
months after the breaking out of disturbances. 

KARNAL . ...:-.No petition was received from this distl'ict. 

S'IRu.-I have already described the conduct of, Shahzadah Mubam­
mad Azim. No communication was received from any of the zamiudars 
of this district. 

l\:[EERUT.-No communication Was received from this district. 

BULAND8HAHR.-The conduct ofWalidad Khan has been already 
'described. No communication was received from or addressecI to any other 
party. 

SAHARANPUR AND 'MUZAFFARNAGAR.-No communication was either 
addressed to or received from auy party in these districts. 

BI~NUR.-A petition was received from the zamindars of tbis district; 
they begged that the administration might be assumed by the King. They 
were iuformed, in reply, that the management would be assumed as soon as 
the troops should march to that district. , This petition was received three 
months after the breaking out of the mutiny. 

MURADABAl>.-No -petition was received from' any rebel in that district, 
nor was any party addressed from Delhi. 

BAREILLY.-A petition was received from Khan Bhadur Khan, who 
had been elevated to the -Governorship by Bakht Khan. Be also sent an 
agent with an elephant, a hors!), and 100 gold mohurs as a present for 
the King. I forget the name of the agent; he was introduced to the 
King by Bakht Khan. A shnkka was addressed in reply, conveying the satis­
faction of the King, and' directing Khan Bahadur Khan to temit to Delhi 
the surpliIs balance of his collections after defrayiDg the expenses. 

BUDAON.-No communication was received from any party in this 
district. 

PILIBBITi-None from here. 

MATHURA DISTRICT.-The brother of Dundi Khan, the jagirdar 
of Garhi, near Mathura, sent a petition by his nephew, ill which he 
applied for: the release of his jagirs which had been. I·e.sumed ?y the 
British Government. Bakht Khan supported the applIcatIon. ThIS took 
place about three months after the commencement of the disturbances. 
Bakht Khan insisted 'upon the bearer of the petition accompanying the 
troops in one of their attacks upon the Government troops. The man 
(Umrao Bahadur) was wounded on the occasion, and died within a week. 
Bakht Khan ha~ obtained a patent granting the Istimrardari rights to the 
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applicant. But Umrao. Ealladur having died at Delhi, the patent never 
reached the intended grantee. 

DISTRICT OF AGRA.-No ('ommunication was received from this dis­
trict) but I have already mentioned that Moulavy 1"aiz Ahmud came fl'om 
that city in person i Wazir Khan, doctor, (sub-assistant surgeon) also came; 
he knew English well. Bakht Khan was his supportel', and caused a 
patent to be granted him, appointing him governor of Agra. Wazir Khan 
accOJ:npanied Bakht Khan when the latter fled from Delhi. 

DISTRICTS 01' ALIGARH, CAWNPUR, AND FATEHGARH.-No corres­
pondence passed between Delhi and these districts. 

MAINPURI.-A petition was received from the Rajah- of Mainpuri, 
asking for troops. Mirza Moghal was ordered to arrange, after consulting 
the officers of the army, for dispatching troops to Mainpuri. But next day, 
the officers represented that the troops were not willing to march until they 
llad driven off the British troops ~efore Delhi. A reply was sent to this 
effect accordingly. 

No communication was received from any other party in this district. 

DISTRICTS OF GORAKHPUR AND FATEHPUR HAswA.-I hue no remem­
brance that any communication was received from this district or from the 
district of Kumaon. 

DISTRICT 01' ALLAHABAD.-I have already mentioned tllnt Moulavi' 
Liakat Ali came from this district, and obtained a patent appointing him 
governor. No communication was received from any other pm·ty. 

RAJAH OF BANDA, NEAR REWAH.-No sllUkka was ·addressed to this 
chief, nor was any communication recei~ed from him. 

DISTRICTS OF AZIMGARH, SHAHJAHANPUR, ETAWAH, GRAZIPUR, BENARRIJ, 
AND GYA.-No communication passed between the King and these dis­
tricts. 

:BUNDELKiIAND, JUBBULPUR, SAUGOR, MAI..WA, AND THE DECCAN TEa­
RITORIES.-I hay!! no remembrance of any correspondence having passed 
between Delhi -and these districts. . 

THE NIZAM 01' HVDERABAD (DECCAN), CUCD AND GUJRAT, THE EAs­
TERN PROVINCES; CALCUTTA, BARRACIlPORE, MONGHYR, DINAPORE, &c.-No 
correspondence passed between the King and the Nizam, or any of the 
latter'!' lIubjects, nor between thc King and any parties in Cutch or Gnjrat, I 
have no remembrance of any communication having heen received from 
the Eastern districts. . 

PATNA.-Neither the Nawab of Patna, nor any other party, address­
ed the King, nor were these addressed from Delhi. 

THE PANJAB.-No communication was received from any party in . 
the Panjab. 

No communication was r~ceived from any of the zamindars of ,the 
Bari Doah district in the Panjab, nor were any addressed from Delhi. 
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I did not hear the troops making' mention of any hackery men 
from the Punjab. 

No communication was received from any of the Bundelah tribes, 
nor were they addressed from Delhi, and no person of that tribe came 
to Delhi. 

No correspondence passed between the King and the Akhund of 
Swat j but two men wel'e introduced by Bakht Khan to the King as 
having been sent by the Akhund. Hasan Askari took them before the 
King, These men were both tt Wilayatis" (people of Afghanistan). 
One, who looked rather a respectable man, presented a sword on the 
part of the Akhund to the King. He also produced a writing bearing 
the seal of the Akhund, the purport of which was that the bearer was the 
Akhund's "khalifa" (vice-regent-). He requested that it might be pro­
claimed in the city that the followers of the Akhund of Swat were on 
their way to Delhi for the purpose of joining in the religious war,* But 
llext day a syad (I do not know his name) told the King that the 
man had not been really sent by the Akhund of Swat, nor was 
he a follower of the Akhund, and that the man had forged the writing 
which he had represented as being that of the Akhund. The King gave 
orders to Bakht Kkan to make inquiries; but I do not know what Bakht 
Khan did in the matter. I know, however, that the man left Delhi three 
days afterwards. 

THE KING'S AD!lUNISTRATIVE POLICY. 

An order was issued at one time prohihiting the army and princes from 
interfering in the general administration of the State. It was proposed that 
justice should be administered .by muftis and sadr-ul-sudrs, and that neither 
the army nor revenue officers were to interfere. This order was, however, 
never acted upon. The princes, supported by the troops, always interfered. 
The King himself appointed no tehsildars for the collection of revenue; 
but Bakht Khan did appoint tahsildars at Palwal, Hodal, and Shahdarah, 
and a ziladar at Gurgaon; but 110 revenue was collected. The princes, 
also, res:>lved to send their troops to collect revenue; but the measure 
was not carried out. The tt Adalat" was presided over by Moulavy l"aiz 
Ahmad, who had arrived from Agra, and the princes Mirza Khair Sultan: 
and Mirza Moghal. A kotwal t and thalladars t were appointed in the 
city; but I do not remember the llames of the thanadars. First of all 
lIIuin-ud-din Hasan Khan, son of Nawab Kudrat-ullah Khan, inhabitant 
'of Delhi, was appointed kotwal; but he was dismissed after a ShOl t 
time, in consequence of his oppressing the people. After him the post 
of kotwal was given, at the recommendation of Khwaja 'Vajib-u.d-din 
Khan, to Kazi Ji'aizuUah, of Delhi, and next to Mil' Mubarak Shah, 
a syad of Ilaka Rampur. Thanadars were also appointed at Najaf Garh, 
Mahroli, Shahdarah, Paharganj, and Bhadrapur j but I do not remember their 

,. Th~ King !rave orders for proclaiming this accordingly. 
t Superinten dent of city police. . . 
l Police officers in chal'ge ot atations, 
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names. Besides the princes, Bakht Khan als:) interfered in these matters. 
Indeed he had caused an order to be issued to the thanadars and kotwal 
enjoining them to act up to Bakht Khan's orders . . 

The sepoys used to say that, after they had made themselves masters 
of the whole country, they would allot different provinces to the several 
princes,' 

I believe many men were not appointed for the purpose of conductina' 
the administration, and those that were, were nominated either by Bakht 
Khan or the princes. . 

No governor was appointed for Meerut. The governo),ship of Bu­
landshahr ",'as conferred on Walidad Khan. A patent was granted to Wazir 
Khan, doctor, appointing him governor of Oudh; but lIe never left Delhi 
to assume charge of his office. No man was nominated for Aligarh. Khan 
Bahadur Khan was governor of Rohilkhand. No more appointments were 
made. No man went to Rajputana, and although one was nominated to 
the Gurgaon district, he never went to ta1..e charge of the district. 

I can give no detailed information regarding the discipline of the army. 
The King was never consulted in this matter; but I understand that the 
troops which were detached for sallying out and attacking the Govemment 
forces, used to be composed of three or four sections, for instance, the 
Nasirabad and Neemuch sections, and so on, according to the regiments 
who composed the attacking column. This was arranged, the day preced­
ing that on which the attack was to be made, by the diff~rent officers in 
mutual consultation at the residence of Mirza Moghal. At all other times 
the sepoys lodged themselves as they pleased. indiscriminately, without 
reference to their regiments. 

Gouri Shankar had obtained permission to assemble the officers and 
confirm the' different parties in the ranks enjoyed by them while 
in the service of the British Government. But no such meeting was 
ever convened. No vacancies which occurred were filled; each continued 
to hold his former rank. 

My opinion is, that it was not possible to preserve proFer discipline 
in the army. The troops as a body were offended at the title of Governor 
General having been granted to Bakht Khan. They actually addressed a 
petition to the King in which they signified their unwillingness to be com­
manded by Bakht Khan. They represented that Bakht Khan was only an 
artillery officer, unfit for the office of governor; that he had neither brought 
in any treasure, nor did he show proper deference to the King. And they 
added that Mirza Moghal, the King's SOli, who had been already entrnstecl 
with full powers in military matters, was fit for the post of Governor-General 
and that the troops as a body were willing to be commanded by him. The 
King forwarded this petition to Bakht Khan, with a request that be would 
suggest a proper reply. He suggested that the army might be divided into 
three divisions, one to be composed of the infantry regiments of Delhi aud 
lIeerut i the second, of the troops who accompanied Bakht Khan, the Nee-
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much brigade and the Sirsa men; and the third division to comprise the ]'est 
of the troops. The King sent for Mirza Moghal, and explained to him 
accordiugly. 

The reason of the ascendancy of Baldlt Khan was this. When 
he first arrived, he advised the King 1I0t to entrust too much 
power in the hands of his sons, and suggested that all orders 
be communicated to him (Bakht Khan), in which case everything would 0"0 

on as should be desired by the King. The King was already dissatisfi~d 
with the insubordinate conduct of his sons, so this advi(~e of Bakht Khan 
suited his own wishes, and Eakht Khan rose daily in the estimation of 
the King. . 

THE WAHABIS.* 

During the disturbances a number of Wahabis arrived from Ton~. 
They complained that the Nawab had neither given them money nor any 
help. Wahabis also came from other directions. -

Bakht Khan was himself a Wahabi as were also Muhammad Ghafi, 
risaldar;=ana Moilla.vy Imam Khan; al~risaldar. Moulavy Abdul Ghaffur 
and Moulavy Sarfaraz Ail were also Wahabis. Sarfaraz Ali was constitut­
ed by Bakht Khan the leader of the religious warriors, and Bakht Khan 
supported these men. 

A larger number of W ~!.~j?in~!~!~r.!~~"<~~v,~l~ °f~a!~n. t 
These Wahabis printed' and published a proclamation, inviting all 

Mahomedans to arm and fight for their religion. A fatwa was also pub­
lished, declaring that it was the duty of all Mahomedans to make reli~ious 
war, and that otherwise their families and children would be destroyed 
and ruined. 

This proclamation was distinct from that of Bahadur Khan. 

Wahabis came from several parts of the country ; from J aipur, Bhupal, • 
Hansi, Hissar, and some Wilayatis: but I do not remember the names of 
the particular places from ,which they came. The_ details were contained in 
the records of Mirza Moghal's office. 

Out of Delhi, the Hindus were as much hostile to the British Gover­
ment as the Mahomedans at first, and the same was the case within the 
city itself. But when Bakht Khan came in and assembled the Maho­
medans, and compelled the moulavies to give in" fatwas" enjoining upon 
the Mahomedans the duty of making religions war upon the British, their 
fanaticism w,s aroused, and they rose up in a body against Government. 

At Bulandshahr, 'Aligarh, and Meerut, &c., the Hindus were as much 
hostile to Government as the Mahomedans. 

Bakht Khan once represented to the King that a man had arrived from 
the Akhund of Swat. The next day two men were introduced to the King 
by Pirzadah Hasan Askari; one of them presented a sword on the part of 
the Akbund. " . 

• A Beet among Mahomedaus closely correiponding with the l'uritans among Chriatiall8. 
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SESSIONS TRIAL HELD AT DELHI, JANY. 30TH, 

J'ANY. 31sT, AND FEBY. 1sT, 1862. 

THE CROWN-ver8us--MOGUL, alia8 MOGHGUL BEG. 

CMrge,-~Qrder of Mr. Simon Fraser; Capt. C, R. G. Douglas; 
Bevd. M. I. Jennmgs j Mr. Hutchinson; Miss Jennings; and Miss Clifford; 
CD the llth May 1857. 

Committed by J. lIurphy, Esquire, Extra. Assistant Comissioner on the 
27th .January 1862.', , 

'I'he Indian Penal Code does no!; apply. 

English record only of Sessions trial. 

No assessors. 

Prisoner pleads It not guilty." 

Witne88 for prosecution. 

No. I, on solem" affirmatioit.-Maharai Singlt, aiia8 Mohnum Singh, son 
of Mllthra DaSll, age 35, profession service, residence Delhi-gate of Delhi 
city:-

On the morning of the 11th May 1851, a. Chobdar came and informed 
Captain Douglas that a number of so wars were collected under the King's 
apartments on the river face of the palace. I was then an 'orderly ch'.!Pras­
see of Captain Douglas, and I, Moosahib Khan, another Chuprassee, and 
Poorun Singh, Jemadar, accompanied him to the King's apartments. Captain 
Douglas and the King went out into the verandah opposite the sowars. 
There was a number of the King's attendants present. Captain Douglas 
told the sowars to go away, and offered to descend by a staircase to speak 
to them, bllt the King dissuaded bim. He then returned to his quarters, 
but shortly afterwards went out. I did not see him going out, and I do 
not knoW' who was with him. But in a little while Pooron Singh called 
out to me and Moo811.hih Khan, to look at what was happening, and going , 
into the verandah I observed Mr. Fraser driving back to the palace in a 
buggy, and saw tbat a crowd had overtaken ICaptain Douglas, who jumped 
down into the moat at a place where some water falls into it near the Calcutta­
gate. We three and Kishenf" another Chuprassee, ran off to the spot, and 
found Captain Douglas lying on the ground sensible, but having received a 
severe blow in the forehead. We <;arried him back ,to his quarters and laid 



-' 

Tl'lIAL OF MOGlIUL lJEG. 

him on his bed, -which we -brougllt from his bed-room, to the dining-room. 
Mr. Jennings, the Collector of Delhi, whose, name I don't know, Min 
Jennings and Miss Clifford, were in the room, 'and Miss Jennings applied 
oil to Captain Douglas' forehead 4 Captain Douglas by this time had become 
insensible. Shortly after, there was a great 1I0ise down below, and I alone 
went into the verandah looking inside the palace enclosure, and saw Mr. 
Fraser standing at the bottom of the stairs with -a wound in his left side. 
His sword was broken. I saw the Prisoner, and a 'Vilayutee Moghul, whose 
Dame I.do not know, and Hajeei a seal engraver, with drawn swords, and 
followed by a rabble armed with swords and sticks, rush ,upon Mr. Fraser, 
and- I ,aw the Prisoner Moghul Beg infllct a sword·wound onllim, so that 
he fell against the wall. 1 then entered the room and told Mr. Jennings 
whit I had' seen. Mr. Jennings went into the pantry and looked-out of 
a window whence he could see Mr. Fraser. He ran in, spoke to the others, 
who got alarmed and tried to hide themselves. Almost immediately a crowd, 
headed by the Prisoner, the Wilayutee Moghul and Hajee, entered the room. 
Moosahib Khan was standing between the door and Captain Douglas, and he 
got two slight sword wounds from one of the ringleaders, and I also received 
a back handed blow from the tilt of the Prisoner's sword, and the I!Icar of 
the wound then inflicted is still visible on my forehead. (This is the case.) 
'Ve Chuprassees 'and J emadar went to the verandah of the room, and I 
saw the Prison". wound Captain Douglas with his ,word, and other of the 
rabble also cut at him. I did not see any of the others killed, for they 
had concealed th~Diselves. We followera went down-stain without passing 
through the room. 'O/all the aBBailant, Pri.ontr wa, conspicuous. I 
ivas well acquainted with him, for he lived in the palace and was an orderly 
of Muhboob, Khoja of the King, (eunuch,) and sometimes he attended as 
orderly of Juwan Bukht. I also knew the Wilayutee Moghul, for he was 
an orderly of Muhboob, and Hajee, the seal engraver used to work in the 
arcade leading from the Lahoree-gate into the palace. I had been orderly 
Chuprassee to Captain Douglas for 41 years. 

Question by Court.-In ,your examination, before Mr. MurpllY you 
said that when you looked out of the verandah, after first heariug . the 
noise, YOll saw the corpse of Mr. Fraser lying at the foot of the stairs, 
and n'ow you say that you saw the Prisoner cut him down? 

Answer.-I saw the Prisoner cut down Mr. Fraser. 

Que.tion hy Courl.-In your evidence before Mr. MurpllY you laid 
that you 'saw the Prisoner and those with him cut down the ladies, and 
DOW you say that you saw none of the deceased cut down but Captain 
Douglas ? 

. AtlBtoer.-1 did not see any of the otller English people cut down, but 
I heard the noise from inside of strokes. , 

No.2, on ,olemn affi1·mation.-Bukhtawur Singh, Bon of Mool Singl!, 
ca!te' Brahmin, age 46, residence Delhi, profession l!Ienice. ' 

On the morning of the 11th May 1857, about 9 o'clock, I went with 
Captain Douglas, whose orderly Chuprassee I was, (I had been orderly to the 
Palace Guards Commandant for 18 years,) to the Calcutta-gate, litting 
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behind the . buggy- in which he was. We found several gentlemen standin, 
there. After a time three' sowalS· entered the Calcutta-gate. followed. by I!o 
crowd. They fired at usalld wounded the CollectQ).' in the ,arm. so that ~e 
fell· off his mare. Captain Douglas, jumped dowQ. int~ the moat. I a~d 
Killhen Singh jumped down with him~ and Maharaj Singh and others wno. 
had come. remained on the glacis. Captain Douglas was not hurt, though 
confused, llnd ran along. unassisted to the stair leading from. the moat to 
the Lalloree-gate of the palace. There Maharaj Singh and the others joined 
us. Captain Douglas could not .mount the stair nnassisted. and I and ,Lall 
Mohomed ~a lamp-lighter) and others helped him up, and shortly after 
carried him up-stairs where we placed llim· on a bed. Mr .. Fraser had 
not by this time returned. Mr. Jennings told us to go down to th~ 
landing-place. between the two flights of .steps leading from the apart­
ments over the Lahoree-gate,. and I and Kishen Singh, Poorun Singh, and 
Makhun went and sat down there. Mosahib Khan and Maharaj Singh 
remained up-stairs I think. Before we went down I heard Mr. Jennings 
order KJllloo., bheestee, to wet. the tattees.Mr. Fraser presently returned 
and went. up to the room above. He then descended. and went out to' the 
gateway of the palace. a(ll1ompanied, by Jut Mul. I presently saW 
Mr. Fraser return by the ordinary road on foot. and just as he arrived-· 
at the {oot of the stairs, six men with drawn. swords, followed by a. 
large crowd partly armed with sticks, rushed on him. I recognisfJd the Pri­
Boner who saw kuown as Moghul. and Hajee, seal engraver, and one Mohomed 
Buksh. I saw the Prilfmel' inflict· the fil'st wound, which was on Mr. 
Fraser'. face. I saw Mr. Frase.r then sit down on the stepsJ and then I 
saw the leaders of the band set on him with their swords. . The Prisoner and 
Hajee. Khan were the most conspicuous. The band then passed by me 
up-stairs. Before this I had observed Mr. Jennings looking out of a 
window up-stairs, after Mr. Fraser hl!od been wounded.. After the band had 
gone up we descended and ran 91f. . I knew the rrisoner because I fre~ 
quently saw him, he was the orderly of Mehboob Ali :Khan, eunuch. 
When the prisoner ascended the stair-case after killing Mr. Fraser, I 
laW that his sword, hands, and body, were all bloody. . , , 
, No.3, on Bolemn ~ffi,.mation.-Kishen Si~gh, son of Roognaut Singh 
age 33, profession service, (now Sergeant in Delhi Police,) caste Brahmin. 
residence Delhi city. 

On the morning of the 11th May 1857, I and Maharaj ,Singh 
had gone to the J I1mna to bathe, ~ear the bridge-or-boats. 

c T~eDar.ogha of the bridge told us to go oft' quickly. ror that, there wal 
a row llllpendmg. We returned tu the Lahoree-gate of the palace. I wail 
. orderly .chuprassee to Captain Dou~las •. At the gate-way. we met a Jowar 
who sald he had come from Meerut, having killed the Europeans. I went 
up-stairs and t~ld this to Captain Douglas, who came dowu and spoke to 
the man, who sald much the same to him. When' Captain Douglas ·ordered 
the Subahdar of the 'guard at the gate to confine him, he rode off. 'Shortly 
after a man came from the King to call Captain Douglas, who went, accom­
panied by me and othe.r chup~ssees, to ,the river. face of the palace, where 

.. the . Kin; and lIo numQer of attelldantl were sitting in the verandah. In 
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front and outside were a number of sawars. Captain Douglas said he would 
go down and speak to them, but the' King told him not to do so. ,He 
accordingly addressed them from the balcony, and they retired a short 
distance. Captain Donglas had written a letter to Mr. Fraser, the 
Commissioner, before going to the King. Moosahib Khan, after Captaiu 
Douglas' return from the King, told him that Mr. Fraser had sent to 
call him. Captain Douglas got the bnggy (jf one Dildar Ali Khan, and 
drove' in it, with Bukhtawur Singh up behind, to the Calcutta-gate. I 
and the other chuprassees ran up there also. A number of English gentle­
men were collect,ed there. About six 1I0wars galloping along, shortly made 
their appearance, and firing, wounded Mr. Hutchinson in the arm. The 
mob closed ou Captain Douglas, I and others drove them back, and Captaill 
Douglas jumped down into the moat. I also jumped down with him. He 
'llUrt ,himself in the faU, so that he could not walk. 1 carried him 011 

my shoulders to the , Lahoree-gate, and when inside, we sat him down 
o~ a stone seat. He would not go up-stairs. After a time Mr. Fraser, 
accompanied by Mr. Hutchinson and another gentleman, arrived and told 
Captain Douglas to take }dm up-stairs. I and Lall Mohomed (lamp-lighter) 
carried Captain Douglas up-stairs, and Makhull Singh, Bukhtawur Singh. 
and others took up Mr. Hutchinson. We placed Captain Douglas and 
Mr. 'Hutchinson on beds, and the young ladies came and attended them. 
This was in the dining-room. Captain Douglas was sensible, but in pain. 
Mr. Fraser then went down, and 1 followed him. He told me to go 
back to the gentlemen up-stairs. 1 did not do this till I had been thrice 
ordered to go. I saw Mr. Fraser get a sword before I left llim. He 
then 'went towards the gate of the palace. Jnst as I had arrived at the 
landiIig, where were Bukhtawur Singh and Kishen Singh 2nd, I saw some 
men rush out of the buggy house, Hajee Khan at theil' bead, and some I 
saw rush out of the " Captaiu guard road," the Prisoner at their head, 
and attack Mr. }I'l'aser, who had just arrired at the foot of the stair-case. 
I saw the Prisoner strike the first hiow, and then Mr. Fraser was set on 
by the others and cut up. I called out at once. The larger number of 
the mnrderers and the rabble who accompanied them went round by another 
'way, and so reached the upper apartments, and some came past me at the 
landi.ng. Idid not observe who tlley were. After they lIad gone up, I 
'and the other chuprassees with me ran down and got away. I recognize 
the Prisoner, whose name is Mogbul Beg. He and IIajee Kban, seal 
e'ngraver, were the most forward. I had constantlg Been the Prisoner in the 
palace, and was acquainted with his appearance. 

_, It was about 1 past 8 in the morning when we ,arrived at the Calcutta­
'gate, and about 10 when Mr. Fraser was killed. At about 11 i on the 
morning of the 11th, when I had hidden in the office, I saw the Prisoner 
direCting the people, who were bringing dow~ Captain Douglas' property, 
where to put it. Allahee Buksh, elephant-driver, told Prisoner that Bome 
of the things he had got were hil, , ' , 

No.4, on solemn aflirmation.-Jut Mull, son of Boodh Singh, age 52, 
profession service, residence Delhi city. . : 

.1 was news-writer in the palace, and daily took my Ukhbar to Captain 
Douglas at about 8 or 9~ On the morning of the 11th May 1857, when I 
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left my house in the city, I heard that Captain Douglas ,had gone to the 
Calcutta-gate. I went there and saw several gentlemen collec£ed, and 
among them Mr. Simon . Fraser. After a time 10 or 12 sowars rode up 
from inside the city. Mr. Fraser took a gun from a Nujeeb and shot one 
sowar dead. He got into his buggy and drove to the Lahoree-gate of the 
palace. I ran after him and arrived there about half Ii ghurree after him. 
When I entered I saw him walking up and down the arcade. I stood 
by him while he was doing so. Shortly the people in the arcade began 
to throw dust over him and to' clap their hands. He went in towards 
the stair-ease leading to the' apartm~nts over the Lahoree-gate. I foll'owed 
him at a distance of 10 paces. Just as he' arrived at the foot of the 
stairs; Hajee Khan, seal engraver, rushed up behind llim as if to cut him 
down with his sword, but Mr. Fraser turning round made a wave of his 
8 word at, him and he retired. The'fl the Prisoner (Moghul Beg,) Khalikdad, 
Deen Mohomed, and a Sedee rushed from behind a buggy, attacked him, 
and 1 saw the Prisoner inflict a sword wound on the back of Mr. Fraser'1I 
neck, for he was then on the point of ascending the second step of the 
stairs, on which Mr. Fraser tripped and fell against the wall and thence into 
the stairs, when he was immediately despatched by' the band. 1 recognise 
the Prisoner perfectly, for he was orderly to Juwan Bukht, and also to 
Mehboob Ali Khan. I saw the prisoner and those with him ascend the 
stairs. There was no crowd at this time: the crowd collected sllbsequently. 

No.5, on solemn affirmation.-Ushruf Khan, son of Surmust Khan, 
age 35, caste Puthan, profession service, residence Delhi city. . 

I was for six years a. sowar in the King of Delhi's Iilervice, but I had 
left his service three years before the mutiny. On the '11th May 1857 .. 
I was in Delhi on leave of absence, and· meeting Buldeo. Sahai, N aib 
Kotwal, he told me to go to the Fort to enquire after Mr. Simon 
.Fraser. This was about 9, o'clock. Arriving inside the, Lahoree-gate I 
saw Mr. Fraser walking up and down the arcade. I stood there, 
shortly Mr. Fraser went inside to the staircase leading to the apart­
ments above the gate-way, and I followed him at ,a distance of 20 or 
22 paces. No disturbance or tumult had occurred in the arcade. Mr. 
Fraser simply left it to go to Captain Douglas. Just as Mr. Fraser arrived 
at the foot of the staircase, 1. saw the Prisoner and Khalikdad alone,--­
there was no one else,-:-rush 'Up and cut down and kill him. Two ghurrees 
after, as I was in Dewan-a-Khas, the Prisoner Moghul, came up with 
an octagonal pistol belonging to Capain Douglas, and shewed it to the 
people assembled. The King was not there. I heard the Prisoner" and 
'Deen Mohomed, and Hajee Khan and Sedee say at that very time when 
Prisoner' was showing the pistol, that they' had killed Mr. Fraseri 
Captain Douglas, the clergyman (Mr. Jennings) and two young ladies._ 

In 1860 I was sent by Mr. '. BerkeleY to Jeypoor to search' for tIle 
Prisoner, and l~rnt that he was in service of Captain Gholam. Ali, in the 
army of the JeypoorRaj'a. ,_ Eventually the Captain lent ~nd hacl J?risone~ 
arrested. ' 
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Cross-examined by Prisoner. 

Did you not repeatedly meet me in Jeypoor, and did not you induce mil 
to Bee P 

,..4n.twer.-I neither met nor caused the prisoner to flee. 

, ,Note 1Jy ('ommil';"_.-1 nry much di.tralt the eyiden08 of tB. mall .. regard. the death' 
.r M". Fraser, though it ioprobabll reliable .. regards thepi.tol. 

No. 6i on 801emn affirmation.-Makhun Singh, son of Poorun Singb, 
age 31, caste Aheer, profession service, resideuce Cawnpore. 

I was orderly chuprassee of Captain Douglas. On the mornin~ 
of the 11th May, two sowars came to the Lauoree-gate of the palace, 
and their arrival was announced to Captain Uougla.!I, who weut down 
aud spoke to them. They immediately rode off. SlIol·tly after ames­
sag~ was brought to Captain Douglas from the Kiug. lie weut to tile 
palace and I accompanied him. He addressed some mlltineers who were 
drawn up outside the palace walls on the banks of the river, aud then 
returned home. He asked whether any letter had been received from 
Mr. Fraser, and he was informed that he had gone to the Calcutta­
gate of the city. Captain Douglas borrowed the buggy of a native 
Captain in the King's service and drove off. I got up behind him, 
and the other Chuprassees ran along. Bukhtawur Singh was not up be­
bind. On nearing the Calcutta-gate we saw several geutlemen collecte(l. 
Shortly ILfterwal'ds, two sowars came from Durya Gllnj, and firing at 
us wounded 'Mr. Hutchinson. in the arm. Mr. Simon !f'raser took 
a gun from one of the guard and shot one of the sowars. The other. 
fled. The crowd pressed on Captain Douglas, so that he jumped down 
the moat. He was hurt by the fall, and with difficulty reached the Lahoree­
gate. All'ived there we conveyed l!im and Mr. Hutchinson up to the 
dining-Mom and placed them on coucbes. Captain Douglas told me to 
go and arrange for palkees for the young ladies. I went down and 
found a great turmoil in the arcade: DO one would heed me. I saw 
Mr. Simon Fraser down there giving directions, and having reported 
to Captain. Donglas my inability to get palkeel, and that M~r. Fraser 
was making arrangements, I aat down on. the landing between 
the two flight. of stairs. Presently I saw Pri,oner (Moghul Beg), 
Khalikdad, Deen Mohomed, and Hajee . Khan, rUBh out and kill Mr. Fra,er, 
who fell down on the stairs. Hajee Khan atruck the tirst blow. I rusbed 
np-stair. and told Mr. Jennings, who looked Ollt of a window to lee Mr. 
Fraser,'s corpse. I .then began to shut the door9, but the murderel's 
arriving immediately, they kicked a door open. I then bolted and did not 
see what occurred. A gentleman who had come back to the palace with 
Mr. Fraser in. the morning, ran by and asked where he should escape. 
He fled to a bastion in. the pI'lace aDd was subse'luently killed • 

. Not.'y COIIfIIIiIn-.-Thi. "itnell gi"es hi, eYidence in I !10\11Mw mWlJ;ler. 1 beli", 
it to be lubatantiall, correct, and to b. mixed·"ith untruth.. . 
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No. '1, on ,olemn offirmation.-Ki8hen Singh, lion of Nuthun, age 35, 
~aste Brahmin, prof elision Purohut, rellidence Delhi. 

On the morning of the . 11th May 1857, I accompanied Captain Doug­
las to the Calcutta-gate, and returned with him to the palace. When Mr~ 
Simon !t'raser was down below in the palace, looking after the arrange­
ments to be made, I also ·was with him. He got a gun and asked a sepoy 
()n guaJ'd for a couple of cartouches, but these were refused. He then 
took my sword, and told me to go and order . the Subadar of the guard 
to keep the palace gates closed.' I did this, and when I returned I found 
Mr. Fraser lying dead at the foot of the stairs leading to the upper 
apartments. He had a wound over his mouth, and several others On his 
body. I went and hid myself in an adjacent room, in, which the Jemad8.l' 
Poorun Singh used to live i and in about an hour after, I saw the Prisoner 
alld Khalikdad, a Sedee, Hajee !!eal-engraver, and a Havildar, descending, all 
with drawn hloody awards. I heard this Prisoner and the others exulting 
()ver their deed, each saying " r did it/' I subsequently saw Prisoner giv-' 
ing inatructions about the disposition of the plundered property. The Jema­
dar Poorun Singh told me to observe the murderers; for that their recogni-l 
tion would be required Bome time or other. It was 10 o'clock (about) when 
Mr. Fraser was killed. 

No.8, on ,olemn affirmation.-lilahee Buk8h, son of Ahmud Buksh,agfl 
45, profession elephant-driver, resident of Badlee:- _ 

I was elephant-driver to Captain: Douglas on the 11th May 1857.,. 
After the murder of Captain Douglas and the other Europeans in hi~ apart"; 
ments had been accomplished, I saw the Prisoner giving inatructions regard­
ing the disposition of the property .which was being brought down from 
those apartments by others. He had, a naked 1I100dy sword in his hand. 
I did not hear him say anything. This was at ,about, ~O A. M. I ~wa8 with 
my elephant when ,J saw this.. , , . 

, N~. 9, on 80lem~' aQi)·m~tion . .,....AmeerAli,~ 'son ~£ Shumshere Alit age 
23, caste Syud,: profession shawl embroi~erer, residence Delhi city, :...:.. . 

I used to keep watch at night over the room where the King slept,' 
and I used, during the day, to remain in a room ileal' the Dewan-i-Khas 
inside the palace. 'On the morning of the mutiny Mr. Fraser alidCap­
tain Douglas came to the King,. when the mutinous soldiery were stand­
ing opposite' the river front of the palace. About 10 or 11' o'clock in 
the morning I heard that Captain' Douglas and others' had been murdered, 
q,nd I went tQ the arcade near the Lahoree-gate to see what had happened; 
Arriving there I met Nubboo, alias Deen Mohomed, the Prisoner, Haj«8 
Khan, and Wulatee with naked swords hloody: They were hoasting, one 
that he had killed the ladies, one that he had killed the clergyman, and 
ISO on. They drank water and went towards the King'. quarters •. I went 
outside. ,I knew the Prisoner well because he was an orderly of Juwan 
Bukht'.. His name is :M:oghul. One Khalikdad was also called ". :M:oghul." 

No. 10, on solemn affirmation.-Boolun, !lon of Beinee Singh, age 32, 
caste Rajpoot, profession gold-twist maker, residence Delhi city }-
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At the time of the mutiny I was a chuprassee in the service Gf the 
King. On the morning of the outbreak Captain Douglas had sent ames· 
sage to the King for palkees for two ladies in his house. The King ordered 
Dusunt Ali Khan to take palkees for the ladies, and I accompanied him to 
Captain Douglas' quarters. On reaching the stair-case I saw Mr. Simon 
Fraser's corpse lying at the foot of the stairs, and going up I found Captain 
Douglas leaning against the wall. From the opposite side of the room I 
saw Nubboo, two sowars of Mr. Fraser, and another man rush up and des­
patch Captain Douglas with their swords. In an outer room, not that iu 
which I saw Captain Douglas, I saw the Prisoner (Moghul), and Khadirdad 
Khan,* and Hajee Khan standing over two murdered ladies with their drawn 
aword.. They asked me who there now was to send to the King. I then 
left. I know the Prisoner well. He was an orderly of Mehboob Ali Khan's. 
It was near 1:1 o'clock in the morning when I went np to Captain Douglas' 
quarters . 

• Note by Oommi88ioner.-By this name is meant Khalikdad Khan. '!'he witness seemed 
to think both narue8 the same. 

'!'he evidence of NOB. 11 to 15 being hearsay, I do not record it. 

January 31st 1862.-No. 16, on solemn affirmation.-Deedar Buksh,.son 
of Bhai Khan, age 21, caste Beloch, profession camel-man, resident of 
Telewara, a suburb of Delhi :-

When I heard that a proclamation had been issued for the arrest of 
Moghul Beg in Jeypoor, I enquired from Captain Gholam Ali Khan 
about him. He told me that the man who was constantly his orderly was , 
named :Moghul Beg, on this I petitioned the Political Agent to be allowed ~ 
tO'track him, for I remembered his face well. 'I went 'to Baroda; then'; 
returned to Jeypoor ; then near Kotah I got information from one Khooshka; 

, that Moghul Beg and Ghoolzar had gone to Hyderabad in Scind. I i 
went there and finally identified the Prisoner in the Shikarpoor Jail. The. J 
'Prisoner I saw' in Jeypoor for two or three years after the mutiny. 1 ~ 
heard for the first time, when Ushruf Khan came to Jeypoor, that he was a 
rebel and murderer. ' 

DEFENCE.-MoghulBeg, son of Mirza Jan Beg, age 35, caste Mogbul, 
resident of Jhujjur, profession service :-:-

I wa~in the King of Delhi's service when the mutiny broke, out, 
but two ,days after I 'left his service as orderly,' and was enlisted by Captain 
Hyder Husun ~s a sowar in the King's service, and I served under him till 
the fall of DelhI. ' I used to' attend on Juwan Bukht as orderly up to the 
llth'May 1857. On that day I did not leave the house of Ahmud Kuwabee 

'till 11 o'clo,ck in the morning, and then went to the Lal Kooa, and 
thence to the palace, which I reached at 12 o'clock. The European gentle­
'men over the Lf!.horee ... gate had been' murdered before my, arrival" and 

\, their, property' was then being plundered. Indeed on my way to the 
4.Aal Kooa, ,I passed two, Englishmen lying -killed near the Kotwalee, and 

, ther,e were an English la:dy an~ a. ~entl~man lying. ~illed near the/ H LaI­
Diggee."As Juwan Bukht was l'ldlDg to the palace befo~e l~,_,Q'clock, 
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1 joined. hhrinear the (( Lal Kooa."The followingpersous were i? atten~­
ance on Juwrtn Bukht, and know that I joined them at tll'at time, VIZ, 

Chu:jjooSingb,t Bhola Singh, Ushruf Beg,t Kura~ut Ali,Usghur, Meer 
Mohsun,t Bunarsee,t Reemoo, Futteh Alee, Kurum Khan. ,",' 

After the mntiny when all the Mohomedans were expelled from tIle 
city, I went to Jeypoor and enlisted in the Regiment of Captain Mudud 
Ali as a sepoy. I remained in that service up to nine months ago, .' when 
U shmf Alee arrived. ,He got bribed by the Captain and by the brother of 
Deedar Buksh (No. 16) as hush money, and giving me 5 Rs. told me to be 
off'. I atfirst.refU:sed, saying my name was unjustly mixed up with that 
of the Wilayutee Moghul. But eventually I went to Jodhpoor and worked 
at caps. for six months: . Some sowars then eame from Jaeobabad on leave, 
andhearing,thatthere was "service to be had there I went to Shikarpoor, 
where I was arrested after 10 or 12 days. I had been arn:,sted for two 
months when Deedar Buksh arrived at Kbyrpoor. I did not murder any of 
the English people of wh6se death I am accused . 

• Question by Court.-Chujjoo Singh, Ushruf Beg, Meer Mohsun, and 
Bunarsee, are lIot to be found, can you give any clue to the parentage, or 

"residence, or caste of the other witnesses you naIDe ? 

Answer.-The fallowing I can teU :-

Bhola Singh,' son of Rajpoot, rcsident Du:ryagunj, near Gulee of 
Kala Muhal. 

Kuramut Ali, Sayed of Fort. 
Usghur, Sayed of Furash Khana. 
Hemoo, Mirdah of }l'ort. 
Flltteh Ali, Syud of Kuddum Shureef. 
Kuram Khan, Path an of }l'ort. 

Ahmed Kuwabee was not in his house when I left on the mornino- of 
the 11th May. His wife Kalee and children (little ones) were ther.e .. ' t:l 

Re-exnmined.-Question.-Were you ever an orderly or Mehboob Ali 
Khan's? 

. Answel'.-I" as only in attendance on him as orderly when he was 
with Juwan Bukht. 

Question,;,-Why do the witnesses to the fact of the murder by y{)U of 
Mr. Fraser and'Captain Douglas give false evidence? 

. . Answel'.-They are my enemies, because there used tolle. 'cdnstatit 
sq~abblesbet"ee~ ~.r, and, them. The)'" used to come~?~he.' King f~r . 
luam, and I had to thrust them away. Ameer Ali. is a'n:lnfur~er and 
speaks falsely. Th~wft~e~srs;have all been!~l1gii!.l?!: t~,e)'nt~~~~.~~ . ,', : 

: Question.:-Besides.YQurself;and Khalilroa<lWilayut6e,",was th~e any 
oth~r person III the:$.!llV!ee ?f th~ KiJI~:known a~ ~;~Og\ul(t;~"" ,. . 

':'" ".." ,..', ,t[": ~.'" 

1ITo(e hy OOmmi8$hmer. __ lho~e marked t are not to be found. 



'282 TRIAL OF MOGHULB!G. 

, .Answer.-We two were known as" Moghul," I as tl Mogbul Beg" 
and Khalikdad as " Moghul ". 

Not, 'b!J Commi.rsioner.-The wi~neBBeB Dhola Singh to Kurum Khan to be searched 
or by the Police. 

Febll. 1st, 1862.-TVitnessfor defence, No. 19, on solemn affil'malion.­
Heemoo, son of Mudar Buksh, age 25, caste Sheikh Merdah, resident 
formerly in Fort, profession formerly sel'Vice, but now tailor :-

I was a piadall in the service of Juwan Bukht when the mutiny first 
broke out. On that morning between 6 and 7 o'clock I went with others, 
and among them was the Prisoner whose name is " :M:oghul", to the 1.Jal 
Kooa to escort Juwan Bukht, according to custom, to the palace. Juwan 
Bukht would not come, and I returned to the Fort. I do not know where 
the Prisoner went and I did not see him again on that day. 

TJTitness for defence, No 26, on solemn affirmation.-Ashruf Ali, lion 
of Meer Muzhur Ali, age 30, caste Syud, profession service, formerly· 
and now maker of silver wire, resident of Furashkhana :-

I was a servant of the King when the mutiny broke out, and I guarded 
the house of Juwan Bukht iu the Lal Kooa. The night pi'eceding the 
mutiny I kept guard at his house, and on the morning of the mlltiny at 
1 or It gurhee din churhe I went away to my house and did not return 
till the afternoon. I did )lot see the Prisoner on that day. 

Question by Court.-State what you know of the witnesses named by the 
Prisoner? 

Answer.-Chujjoo Sing is dead. 
Bhola Sing is alive, but I don't know where hc is, he is not in the city. 
Kuramut Ali lives at Bowanee. 
Ushruf Beg-I dont know anything about this man. 
Meer Mohsun is dead. 
Bunarsee is alive in the city, amI lives 11ear the Durreeba. 
Futteh Ali is dead. 
Kurum Khan I do not know. 

Note b!l Commi88ioner.- Bunarsee to be summoned. 

WilneB; for defence, No. 21, on oath.-Bhola, son of Heera, age 40, 
caste Aheer, profession service, resident of Delhi city :-

I was in the King's service when the mutiny broke out. I was in 
roy house all the morning on which the mutiny occurred i but went to 
stand sentry at the house of Juwan Bukht and Zeenutmahal at the 
Lal Kooa, at 12 o'clock (mid-day).. A number of orderlies were there. 
Juwan Bukht was in the house, and he did not leave it while I was on duty. 
I left guard at pahr din raha. I saw the Prisoner at the house when I 
arrived. He was dressed as usual. There was no blood on him. 

Witness for Defence.-No 22, on Boi~n affirmalion.-Bunanee, son or 
13unsee, Brahmin, age 31, profession service, resident of Delhi. 
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. I was an orderly of J uwan Bukht. On the morning of the mutiny at 
9 o'clock I relieved I!'utteh Ali on guard over Juwan Bukht's house in the 
Lal Kooa. At 12 o'clock I gave over the guard to Bhola Singh. I saw 
Prisoller there at 12 o'clock. He was clothe(l as usual. There was ~o 

'blood over him. 

Questi01l by COut·t.-Tell what you know about the witnesses named by 
Prisoner? 

Answer.-Chujjoo Singh is dead. 
Ushruf Beg I don't know. 
Kuramllt Ali is, I hear, at Bowaon. 
Meer Mohsum is dead. 
Futteh Ali is dead. 
Kurum Khan I don't know. 

Re-Examined . .,-JQueslion by Court. Did you see Heemoo or Ashghur 
Ali at the Lal Kooa the morning of the mutiny? 

Answe7·.-I saw Heemoo there at mid-daYJ but not Asghur Ali. 

The following extract from the evidence of Jut Mull is here translate(l 
in Court and filed with the record. 

Extract of evidence of Jut Mull at tlt(! it'ial of the King of Delhi, com­
menced on the 27tft January 1~58, evidence of. Jut lrlull recorded on 31'd 
February 1858. 

Question.-Were you here when the mutinous troops .came fl'0l!l 
Meerut? 

Answer.-I was at my own house in Delhi when I heard that some 
of the Cavalry from Meerut had killed the '1'011 Collector at the Seelumpor 
Bridge, and burnt the Toll house. I, however, did not credit the report and 
went on writing my news-letter. Having completed it, I came to the palace •. 
and I then learned that Captain Douglas, Mr. Fraset·, 1\[1'. Hutchinson 
the Magistrate, and Mr. Nixon, the head clerk of the Commissioner's office 
had gone in the direction of the Calcutta-gate, to make arrangements against 
the mutineers-. I consequently followed them, and there saw that they had 
the Calcutta-gate, viz., the one nearest to the Bridge of Boats, closed. While 
occnpied there, some one happened to report that the mutineers had entered 
the city: by the Zeenutool-Musjid-gate and were then in Duryagunj. 
and had already fired ·the staging-bungalow, and certainly the smoke 
was then visible. This was about 8 o'clock in the morning, and just 
afterwards, I. saw three of the Company's Cavalry coming from the direction 
of Duryagunj, pursuing at a gallop some European gentleman, at whom one 
of them fired his pistol as they came up, but missed his aim. This gentleman 
}'ode on in the direction of the magazine and escaped .. Just then Mr. Fraser 
took a musket from· one of the co~stabulary guard at the gate and shot one 
of the troopers. 'Ihe other troopers then shot the horse of the man who had 
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been killed, and :Mr, Fraser then got into his buggy, anll a~companied by 
Captain Douglas and MI'. Hutchinson, 150th on foot,proceedeu in the 
direction of the palace. MI', Hutchin~on had by this time been .wounded 
in the right armjrist above the elbow by a pistol shot from one of the troop­
ers; and while :Mr, Frasel' was proceeding to tlle palacc some more 
troopers had arrived, and one of these coming up behind, fired his pistol but 
'missed ]\fl'. Fra~er. At this time Bllkhtawul', who was an orderly Chupras­
see of Captain Douglas, was seate(l behind the huggy of :Mr, :l<'rasel', Cap­
tain Douglas, seeing that he was surrounded by these troopers, jumpell into 
the Fort ditch, and in doing so fell upon some loose stones and was much 
1mrt in consequence .. 'l'he troopcrs by this time began to dispcne in pursuit 
of the European~1 iu all directions; so getting an opportuuity, Bukhtllwur 
and other 11ati"e Goyernment servants, took Captain Douglas out of thc FOl·t 
ditch in a state of insensibility amI- cal'l'ied him to llis apartments oyer the 
palace-gate, "'hen he recovered Ilis speech and senses a little, lie issuecl 
instructions to people about Ilim, to bring in ?lIt-. Hutchinson who had also 
been wOll.udcd, which was done. ~h. :Fraser, who was walking in the 
covered way below adjoining the Lahoree-gatc of the palace, ILccompanied by 
flome gentleman who had only that morning arrived from Calcutta, dircctell 
"Poorull messeuger to go atHl procure two cannons from the King, I)ool'Un 
had just left Oll his errand, and ::\fIo. Fra~er had just come under t1ic centre 
opening of the covered way, when by this timc, a great crowd of men and boys 
of all ages having collected, begun clapping their hands a~ a kind of insolent 
bravado at wllat was OCCUlTing. Mr. Fraser seeing such marked feelings of 
110stility began to return to Captain Douglas' qual'ters, and as he reached 
the foot of the stairs, Hajee lapidary raised his sworel to make a cut at him; 
?If!>. l~rascr who had a sheathed sword ill his hanel tUl'ned sharply round, and 
thrust at him with the swol'Il in its sheath, saying to the Havildar of thc 
gate gnard, what I,ind of helmvioUl' is this, upon which the Havildar made a 
show of drivillg oft' the crowel, hnt no sooner was Mr, Fraser's hack tumed 
thl'1l the IIavihlar Ilolhleli wilh Ilis hcad to the lapielal'y to signify to Ilim 
that now he shouhl renew his attack. The lapidary thus encouragell rushcd 
upon 1111'. }i'raser and illfiictell a drcp and mortal wound Oil the right side 
of his neck. MI', Fraser at OIlCC fell, when three othel' mCIl of the namcs 
ofKhalikdad, a Cahulce Pathn.n, lIfoghul Beg, or Moghul Jan, nllli Shcikh 
Deen Mohomed, who had been concealed in all out-house adjoining, rn~hcll 
out and cnt him with their swords, ovcr the hcad, face all(l chest, till hc wa .. 
quite dead. Sheikh Deen Mohomed was an armed ordl)l'ly ill lhe King's 
pay, and Khalikdarl and Mogul Beg were also al'med retaincrs of Mchboob 
Ali Khan, the King's prime ministcr. 'fhese three men aftcr having 
dcspatchcd Mr. l"l'aser, followed by a crowd of others, ran upstail's to 
Captain Douglas' apartments over the palace-gate; after they hnll arrived 
nt the second ianuing place, a servant of Govcrnment in attendance on Captaiu 
Douo-Ias, by llame Makhun, toM him of the cil'cnmstance, and was ordcred 
to close the staircase. 'While this was bciug' done Oil the north sidc of the 
apal'tment, numbcrs of the crowd rusherl ill by a cOI'respondiug stail'casc on 
the southern siele, and camc rlown auc! forced open the door which ]\fakhun 
Imel closcd, and thus gave admission to the armed crowd, hcader! by the three 
men already mentiollcel as having" cut MI', Fraser, when lie hacl fallen, 
These people successively mnrdered Captain Dougla~, l\II', Hutchinson, the 
Collector, the Revercnd Mr. Jellnillg~, Miss Jennings, and :Miss Cliffol'd, 
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aU of wI 10m were in Captain Douglas' apartments. The stranger wllo 
llad arrived that morning from Calcutta contrived to get out on the ramparts 
of the palace wall, and had gone .unobserved as far as Mirza Koyash's honse 
lIear the Delhi-gate of the palace, when he was fired at by somebody and 
wounded ill the shoulder. On this he retraced h!s steps all~ was eventually 
cut down at the foot of the southern stall'case leadIng to Captain 
Donglas' apm·tments. All these murders were committed in about ! of an 
hOllr. The details. as given here I collected from MakllUll, Bukhtawul', Poorun 
and Kishel1, servants of the Government in attendance .at the time on 
Captain Douglas; but of the circumstauces up to the death of :Mr. Fuser I 
was myself an eye-witness." 

Sum.ming up.-The fact of thc murder, in and neal' the apartments over 
tIle Lahol'ee-gate of the palace in the city of Delhi, of the Europeans 
whose names are mentioned at the head of this record, is a matter of historY, 
and has been accepted as such by Government, which has removed the nam~s 
of- Mr. Simoil Fraser, Captain Douglas, the Reverend :Mr. Jenniugs, and 
Mr. Hutchinson, £i'om the list of its servants. 

Medical evidence as to the can~e of death there can of course b.e none; 
but if the no tori OilS fact of murder of all t.he persons named at the head of the 
record is not to be regarded as judicial proof, there is the evidence of wit. 
lI.CSS No. 10, ",110 saw the murder of Captain Douglas; and of Nos. 1,2,3, 
4" 5 and 6, who witnessed the murder of ]\fr. Simon Fraser. No. 10 also 
saw the murdered bodies of Miss Jennings aud Miss Clifford, lying in one of 
the apartments over the Lahorcc-gatc, anci the prisoner and two others 
stanuing by them. 

'l'here is thus ample proof of the murder of at least four of the persons 
nam etl in the charge 

'l'hat prisoner was with the band who murdcred these persons, ancl that 
he, with his own hand, cnt down l\-fr. Fraser, is stated in the evidence of 
Nos. 1 to 6 inclusive. If this evidence can be shewn to be trustworthy. 
thel'e is no altcrnative but to convict the prisoner of wilful lnurder. 

With regard to the credit to be given to these witnesses I observe­

lst.-That they werc all in the service of Captain Douglas as orderly 
Chuprassees, except No.4, who was news-writer in the palace, and ill daily 
communication with Captain Douglas, and No.5, whose evidcnce I entirely 
distrust. This man, (Ushl'llf Khan,) was employed as an infol'mer to search 
out the Prisoner. There is great suspicion that he l'ecei,7e<l J)l'ibes at JdypOOr 
under pretence of not mentioning to the British authorities that the l'l'isoner 
had been at that place, and that at the same time he induced him to abscond. 
Five of these witnesses were therefore men who were likely to be in the very 
best position for observing what they- profess to have seen; and they are 
moreover men of intelligcnce who, from their peclllial' kind of service, would 
be likely to ·observe all actions passing before them .. 

2ndly.-The cOl'respondence in the evidellce of the different witnesses, 
and thc discrepancies are not such as would have been observed had they 
combined to give false tcstimo:IY. For instance, BukhtaWlll' Singh (No; 2) 
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attests the fact that Maharaj Singh (No.1), remained up-stairs ill the 
apal·tment where Captain Douglns and Mr. Hutchinson were lyinG' in 
pain just before the murderers broke in upon them: but this fact i: not 
forced into notice or even alluded to 1>y the" others, and there is a general 
contradiction ill matters· of minor detail, which precludes the idea of a con­
spiracy. The contradictions, however, are not such as to throw Buspicion 
on any of the witnesses Nos. 1,2,3,4, and 6. One of these discrepancies 
I may allude to. Bukhtawur Singh states that he got up behind Captain 
Douglas' huggy, when that officer was ·driving from the palace to th~ Cal­
cutta-gate of the city on the morning of the 11th 1\Iay 1857 '; but M akhull 
states that he was the party so riding aud not BukhtawUl' Singh. Pel'haps 
from lapse of time he may have forgot tell what really took rlace in that 
hour of excitcment ; but it is very probable from the extract of the evidence 
of Jut Mull (No.4), given at the trial of the Ex-King in January 1858, 
tha~ Bukhtawur Singh was the man who rotle behind l'Ir. Fraser, aud 
Makhun may have ridden behind Captain Douglas. 'rhen, as nu example ot 
want of complicity, I would refer to the statement of No.3, that, when the 
property was being brought down fl'om the apartments of Captain Douglas 
and Mr. Jennings after the murder, No.8 called O!lt to "risoner that some 
of the articles were his (i. e. belonging to No.8). but No.8 makes no 
allusion to this circumstance. 

3rdlg.-The evidence given "by Jut Mull at the King's trial is wonder­
fully corroborative of that now given by the witnesses 1, 2, 3, and 6. He 
mentions in it that the murder of Mr. Fraser was accomplished by the 
Prisoner, Hajee Khan, Khalikdad, a "Cabulee Pathan," aud Sheikh Deen 
Mohomed. He states that he collected the details fl'om Makhun, llukllt­
awnr, Poorun and· Kishen, and foul' years ago he gave an account which 
tallies with that now given by three of these persons. 

4thly.-Witnesses Nos. 7 and 8 and 9 saw the prisoner with others' 
whose names tally generally with those given by the preceding witnesses, 
descending from 01" in, or under the apartments, occupied by Captain Doug­
las and Mr. Jennings just after the murder had been committed, with blood­
swords j and they were heard by Nos. 7 and 9 to exult over the deed, each 
murderer assigning to bimself the glory of what he bad done. 

5thly.-All the witnesses from 1 to 9 inclusive, except No.5, bad 
ample means of becoming acquainted with the Prisoner. He was an orderly 
in the service of Juwan Bukht,. the (,x-King's son, and Mehboob Ali 
Khan, the prime minister, and the witnesses inevitably saw him constantly 
in the palace j for the road to the King's apartments from the Chandnee 
Chowk passes by the quarters occupied by Captain Douglas and Mr. Jennings 
over the Lahoree-gate. Prisoner moreover acknowledges his acqnaintance 
with them. 

The Pl-isoner's dcfence is that he is innocent; that he did not reach the 
palace on the mornifig of the 11 th May 1857 till uearly 12 o'clock, before 
which hour the murders of which he is accused had taken place j and th.nt 
llis name has been taken for that of Khalikdad, known also. as "Moghul." 
Several witnesses are named by the Prisoner to prove his defence, but of them 
only Heemoo (19), Asghur Ali (20), .Ehola (21), and B.l1nal'Se~ (22), are to 
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be found. There is one other, Kuramut Ali, said to be at \vanaiOj:."vrflaf/i 
10 koss from Delhi, but I do not conside.r it necess~ry t:> s moIlJlf~I8l£~ 
these witnesses Heemoo and Asghur All, say nothmg In an af"OClt.lr 
the Prisoner. The evidence o~· Bhola contradicts Prisoner's o~n: ~~ce w~ 
regard to Juwan Bukht's gomg out to the Fort; and I credIt neltli~m:. 
nor Bunarsee. Moreover, if true, their evidence would not clear the Prisoner. 

I find the Prisoner 'guilty of the wil~ul murder of Mr. Simon Fraser, 
Captain Douglas, Miss Jennings and Miss Clifford, and I recommend that 
he be sentenced to be hanged. I also recommend that the sentence be 
executed in front of the Lahoree-gate of the palace, on the open space 
fronting the Chandnee Chowk, with the permission of the Military Ruthorities.-

Proceedings forwarded to Judicial Commissioner for orders. 

lat February, 1862. 

PROCEEDINGS OF THE JUDICIAL COMMISSIONER 
OF THE PUNJAB. 

THE CROWN versus J.fOGHUL BEG. 

Charge.-Murder of Mr. Fraser, Captain Douglas, Miss Jennings and 
Miss Clifford. 

This trial was conducted entirely in the English language: the hdian 
Penal Code did not apply, as the offence was committed in 1857 : the trial 
took place under the old procedure. 

There is no medical evidence, but the fact that Mr. Fraser, Captaiu 
Douglas, Miss Jennings, and Miss C~ifford, wer.e put to d.eath in the city of 
Delhi, on the eleventh of May 1857, IS of suffiCIent notorIety to be accepted 
without further proof. 'I'he deceased Mr. Fraser was Commissioner of 
Delhi; Captain Douglas commanded the King's guard; and ~Iiss Jenning$. 
and Mr. Clifford were uufortunately t?;uests in his house on the day of the 
mutinY' of the Delhi garrison. .It. is unnece.ssary to go over the whole 
evidence taken before the CommIssioner; but It may be remarked that the 
witnesses were eye-witnesses: that their presence on the spot is explained 
by the fact that theil' duties took them there: there is sufficient discrepancy 
in the petty details of their statements to show that there has been no 
conspiracy, and ,et these discrepancies do not invalidate tlle general effect 
of their testimony. . 

After the elapse of so many years, all the excited feelingsof the time 
have cooled down; the Prisoner was named by witnesses, who gave testimony 
before the Court held for the trial of the King in 1858; he has been hunted 
d~wn, and at length i~ 1862 has been confro~ted wi.th, and recognized by 
WItnesses who knew hIm well, and who saw him strIke Mr. Fraser strike 
CaJ.>tain Doug~as, stan~ with drawn sword over the. ~odies of the two' young 
ladles, heard hIm boastmg of what he h~d done, and glVlng ~rders as to the dispo. 
sal of the plundered property. The PrIsoner had opportulllty to cross-examine. 
He alleges, but does not prove, ill will betwixt himself and the witnesses: nOr 
is it apparent what they would gam. by swearing away the life of au obscure 
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pel'son, with whom, they had had no dealings for the last four (.1) years. 
The rest of llis defence amounts to a simple denial. The Commissioner 
finds a verdict of guilty, and I entirely agree with him . • 

The Commissioner proposes a sentence of death, and that tIle exccutioll 
take place it! the front of the palace of Delhi. I have no hesitatioll ill pas')­
ing this sentence, and forward all the papers for the concurrence (If the 
Lieutenant Governor. . 

Sad as are the details disclosed in this trial, still as regards the young 
ladies, it is comfort to be able to believe firmly (as the evidence hcre )'cconlcd 
warrants ns in doing) that they were murdered then and there, in the fil'st 
confusion of the outbreak: the Pl'isoner was seen standing with drawn sword 
over their bodies. 

It is also consolatory for the fricnds of the deceased public officen, to 
know that they fell at their posts,' doing their best to stem the outbreak, 
of the extent of which they had no conception, 

It is suggested that all abstract of this trial and decision, be forwarded 
to the focal press. 

RORElLT CUST, 

Judicial Commissioner. 

Copy of a Zeller No, 141, dated 22nd February 1862, from R. If. DavieR, 
Esquire, Secretary to Govt. Punjab, to R N. Cust, Esguire, Judicial 
Commissioner. 

I am directed to reply as follows to your lettel' No. ng of !lOth instant, 
submitting proceedings connected with the trial of Moghul Beg, whom you 
have sentenced to sufrer death, having found him guilty of the wilful murder 
of Mr, Simon :Frascr, Captain Douglas, Miss Jennings and Miss Clifford. 

2.-The Prisoner has llad a calm and impartial trial, after a lapse of nearly 
five years from the commission of the crime with which he stands charged. 
And after a careful review of the proceedings, the Hon'ble the Lieutenant 
Governor, I am to state, concurs ill your verdict, and cOllSiders that the 
Prisoner justly deserves the sentence passed on him. His HOllOI' accordingly 
directs that the sentence be carried out in £l'Ont of the palace at Delhi, as 
proposed, the consent of the military authol'jties being obtained IJreviously. 

3,-1 am to request tllll.t you will arl'lmge for an abstract of the trial 
to be published. 

4.-The original proceeclings received from your office are rcturncd 
herewith. 
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SESSIONS TRIAL iIELD AT DELHI, ON 10TH DECEMBER 1868. 

THE CROWN-Versus-HAJEF!. 

Case referred to Chief COUt·' by Commissioner Delhi. 

This was a Sessions trial held at Delhi on the 10th December 1868. 
with the aid of three assessors, at which the accused was charged with the 
murder of Ur. Simon Fraser. ]\fr. Hutchinson, the Reverend J . .M. Jennings. 
Miss Jennings, Captain Douglas, Miss Clifford, and another person. on-the 
occasion of the outbreak at nelhi on the morning of the 11th May 1857.­
Regulation VIII of 1799. . 

The- prisoner pleaded not guilty. 

Case for the pl·osecution. 

lIlahal'uj Singh.-I am called l\faharaj Singb; and also Uummun 
Singh. At the time of the outbreak of the mutiny in Delhi, was Orderly 
Chuprasee to Captain Douglas, Commandant of the Palace Guards-know 
the prisoner at the bar. He is Hajee, was a seal engraver residing in the 
arcade of the Lahate gate of the Palace---'Captain Douglas' quarters were 
upstairs in the same arcade. On the morning of the outbreak Captain 
Douglas went out towards the Calcutta gate in his buggy. I and other 
Chuprasees reniained behind. That was about 8 o'clock. In a short 
time we saw him coming back on foot. He staggered and fell into the 
ditch. Kishen Sing and other Chuprasees pulled him out and supported 
llim into the a\'cade. Lhelped to support him there. He was very mnch 
agitated, and had been .hurt in his fall. I and Kishen Singh, and Poorun 
Jemadar, and ]\foosahib Khan. and MukhuD. and Bukhtawur Singh, Chup­
rasees, took him upstait:s to his rooms by the stair-case that led from the 
keeli (or feel) khana, where the king's elephants used to stand. Did not 
see the prisotler at that time. We put the Captain on a charpoy, and the 
Padree Saheb and his daughter began to apply oil to the bruises caused 
by the fall into the ditch; these were on Captain Douglas' chin and 
forellead. Another lrJiss Baba was also in the room, and two strange 
gentlemen. Captain Douglas ordered all us Chuprasees down stairs. The 
othel's went down, but four of us, I and Poorun and ~foosahib Khan and 
Mukhun, remained in the verandah with the Saheb's bearer, whose name 
I don't remember. Soon we heard a. great noise below1 and we four came . . 
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down to see what it was. We looked through a taUee that was on the 
side of the room we usually stayed in, and saw the dead body of Ml·. 1<'raser 
lying on the third step of . the other staircase which leads straight up from 
the arcade. A great many people were there, and three men, the prisoner, 
.and Mogul .Beg, and one Alladad lIiogul, who was an Orderly of the 
Eunuch Mahboob, were brandishing swords, and swaggering, and each 
saying-H I killed him." PoonlU Jemadar called ont to them to disperse, 
on which a number of them went round towards the keeli khana. Presently 
there was great shouting from the upper rooms, aud we Chuprasees rushcd 
upstairs again-the assailants had elltered Captain Douglas' room. One 
of them seized Poornn Singh and tried to throw llim back. Another wounded 
Moosahib Khan with a tulwar. I saw Captain Douglas and the Padree 
Saheb and both the young ladies and both the strange gentlemen all dead. 
Captain Douglas on the bed where we had left him. All seemed to be 
dead. We Chuprasees retreated down stairs in such confusion, I had not 
particularly recognized anyone upstairs, but after I carne down I saw the 
prisoner return with oUler persons from the keeli khana direction with 
bloody swords in their llands. I escaped to my own house as soon as the' 
place was clear. Did not go upstairs again. (To an lIssessol·). I recog· 
nizen the thre,e men I have llamed because they were residents ill the l}alacc. 
I. used to see them constantly-I heard them all boasting of the deed 
when they came down the staircase. 

Bukhtawul'.-At the time tIle mutiny broke out in Delhi I was Captaill 
Douglas' orderly, accompanied him abont 81 o'clock that moming to the 
Nigumbool gate of the town, where some other gentlemen were watching 
something with their telescopes. '1'11'0 sowal's rode up and attacked 
one of the Sahebs, cutting him down from his horse, all then dispersed, and 
Captain Douglas ran towards the Palace on foot. He and Kishen Singh 
orderly fell into tIle ditch, they scram bled out, and all made for the staircase 
leading up to the Saheh>s rooms. When we got into tlle arcade the SallelJ 
sat down as· he was out of breath and hurt by his fal1. Mr. Fraser then 
came up and asked him if he would not go upstairs. He said he would 
presently. By this time aU the Orderly Chupra8ees were in attendance. 
Mr. Fraser bid us take Captain Douglas to the keeli kluma and let him 
lie down a little. There was a King's guard at the keeli khana. We 
took him there, and after a few minutes assisted him upstairs, for he could 
not walk alone. :Mr. Fraser went up with him, and so did three' other 
gentlemen who hnd arrived meanwhile. Olle of them was the same whom 
l.had seen the so wars cut down at the Nigumbool gate. lIe was slashed 
across tlle arm. I went up with Captain Douglas. 'l'he Padree Saheh and 
his daughter, and another young lady who had come n fortnight before from 
Goorgaon, were in the room. Captain Douglas was faint. He ordercd 
UII all down stail·s. Mukhun and Maharaj anll l\'Ioosabib did not come 
down. 'l'hc rest of us did, we came down to our waiting room, which was 
below one flight of stairs, bnt abore the second. 1'1'e8ently Mr. Fraser 
came down, 110t by the keeli khana stairs, but by the otller which lead 
straight iuto the arcade. He went and spoke to the SubaJal'. We wAtchcll 
him, we could see the whole arcade thl'Ough the tallee. He rctul'lled to 
the stairs and was commencing to mount agaiu when a rush was made at Ilim 
by half a dozen meD, amoIlg them were the prisoner and Mogul D{'g ami 
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AUadad, and one Mabom~d Buksh Mucltliwala, Ilnd a man with a big 

.. Note by Sessions Judge. beard whose name I forgot, but he also 
was hanged* for it. They killed Mr. 

Witness probably alludes to Nnbeee Fraser, on seein!! which we shouted, and. 
lluksh, who was hn.nged in 1859, not how· ~ 
ever for these murders, but for t1:0S6 of they then !'an rouna to the keeli lchana. 
t.he Christian coptives .in the Palace, a But what. happened then I did not see, 
fuw days.afterwn.rds. for I did not go upstairs again, but in 
It short time afterwards. I saw the persons I have named, along with many 
others who had afterwards joined them, I'e-appear in the arcade with bloody 
swords bahadooring and shouting" rr Deen! Deer,.! we have done it." I 
]mew the men whose na,mes I ha7e given. I had often Aeen them. Prisoner 
was a seal engraver, and lived iu the arcade. At the time of the murders 
he wore a koorta and tehmul. 

After the l'ecapture of Delhi, Jut MIll!, who wa"l au Akbar Nuvees, and 
con!'tantly with Metcalfe Saheb, took me and Mukhun one day to Arab 
Serai, for. he said he llad the Saheb's orc1ers to arrest Hajee seal engraver, 
and. he had got some clue to him. , 'Yheu the prisoner was seized I and 
Mukhun were sent oft'to tell the Saheb. We "came to Delhi and told him, 
and I remained behind while Muk.llUll accompanied him back to Arab 
Scrai. Jut Mull died long ago, and I have just heard of Mukhun's death 
also. 

Kisllen EiTlgh.-Am now a Sergeant in the.Delhi police. At the time 
of the mutiny was an Orderly Chuprasee of Captain Donglas. Was with 
him the whole of the morning of his murder, accomp:l.niedhim to the 
Nigumbool gate anel back to the Palace, was w!th' him when he rested in 
the arcade of the Lahore gate and then in the keeli !chana, went upstairs 
with him,' and then, Ah!l!lnoolah Khan the King's physician, came to 
enquire about him, for news of the fight at the Calcutta gate had got 
to the palace, and confusion was beginning. Ahsunoolah promised to send 
a guard aud guns and two palkies for the young ladies, but as none came 
soon Mr, Fraser went down stairs to hasten thein. I went with him. He 
took a spare tulwar .belonging to Goknl Chuprasee, who was' absent, and 
he took an umbrella from my hand, and told me to go back to Captain 
Douglas. I went up one flight of stairs to our waiting room, and from 
there I saw Mr, Frasel; murdered. .The prisoner was one of the murderers. 
Moghul Beg was" another, Alukhdad Khan was another, a!ld \Vajib Ali 
Shah was another, Thel'e were several others following them. I called 
out to Mogul Beg, and to a Havildar of the guard. who was dowu bebw 
looking on. and the assailants then went round to the keeli !cllana. I did 
not see the murders that followed, I came down from the waiting room to the 
duftur. Did not see anvthing more of the murderers either. A ghw'ree 
afterwards I went into 1\1ukhun Orderly's house, which 'Was .at the feel 
kltana (or keeli klwna)J and some budmashes come in to "loot it j they 
pretended that POOl'llll Jemadar (Mukhun's father) had secreted Captain 
Douglas. We said Captain Douglas was elead upstairs, and we went up. 
Mumdoo struck the corpse with a lathee, there were,.. five corpses of Euro­
peans in the room and onc outside on the walls, making with Mr. Fraser's, 
which was lying at the foot of the stairs, seven in all. I knew the prisoner 
before. He was that day wearing a kool'ta and a sort of dhotee they call 
tehmul. Have nevcrseCll him since till his arrest now. 
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Kishen Sing, 2nd.-Was Captain Douglas' Orderly on the day of the 
()utbreak, and was with him at the Calcutta gate when the sowars came, 
and Mr. :1o'raser shot one of them, and anotlier of them cut down one of the 
Sahebs. When Captain Douglas got back to near t]le Palace and fell al\(\ 
llUrt llimse]f, the other Chuprasees helped bim in, but tbe gate was shut 
upon me, and I stayed outside. Not long afterwards there was a tremclld~ 
()US sllOuting inside, and the gate was opened and all Hie crowd was saying 
tIle Sallehs have been killed. I ran up to our waiting room, and there 
Poorun Sing told me to look well and make sure of the murderers, who 
were swaggering in tbe arcade below ",iih bloody swords. He said that 
one day we should ha\'e to give evidence against them, as the Company's 
rule extended for 1,400 kos, and tIley could ne\'er escape. I recognized the 
prisoner, and Moglml Beg, aud Alladad Kllan, alld four Seedees. 'l'hey ]Iad 
bloody swords, and were sllOuting "Deen I Deen I "-.there were others 
also. It was in the room callcd "kumancha" where POOl'un Jemadar used 
to sit tilat 1.e spoke to JDe. 'ille only corpse I saw was that of Mr. Fraser, 
at the foot of tbe stail·s. I did not go llP to Captain Douglas' rooms at all. 
I knew the prisoner well before. He was a seal engraver, aud used to live 
in the arcade of the Lahore gate-wa" above "'hich were Captain pouglas' 
~~ . . . 

Boolun.-At the time of the mutiny was one of the King's Orderlies 
(wore a chuprass, was not. a khwas bnt a hllrkara.) On the morning M the 
outbreak I was on duty at the door, and I had to tell Busunt Ali Khan 
Eunuch if anyone came to say anything. Captain Douglas' Jemadar 
Poorun Sing came and told Busunt Ali Khan that' Mr. Fraser had been 
killed, and some palkiell were wanted to take away two ladies to a place of 
safety. The Eunuch went to the King, and came back and said to Ahsan­
oolah Khan physician, who was there, that the palkies were. to go at onco 
and a guard of kIIashllrdats. I went aud got the palkifs and started for 
Captain Douglas' quarters j went up stairs, and there saw the IJrisouer 
Hajee with a bloody sword, and Mogliul Beg, and Khulukdad, and one 
Nubboo, and t'Y'o sowars. Going into the room, saw two or three .bodies 
lying that seemed dead, and Captain Douglas leaning or Fropped up against 
the wall with his face in his hands. He looked as if he were still alive, 
and Nubboo thinking so cut him down with a tulwar. lIe then fell on the 
floor. I was so hewildered I did not know what to do. I ran from the 
place and met the palkies at tbe door, and told the kuhars to go away, it 
was all over~ I knew the prisoner well before. I fully recognized him 
on tllat occasion, but did not speak to Lim or he to me. Never saw him 
arrain till his present arrest. I have worked since those days as an em­
b;oiderer. Am now employed 8S a clmprasee of the Mission School. 
.By ptisoner.-Did you see me kill Captain Douglas i No j if he was alive 
"'hen I saw him, Nubboo finished hiII!-. 

Ahnlfld JJirza.-:-At tile time of mutiny was in Mirza Aboobuker's 
employ, on the morning of the mutiny I came through the arcade of the 
Lahore gate of the palace while Mr. Fraser's body was still lying there, 
!lnd I saw the prisoner with a bloody sword. I saw also Nuhboo (since 
dead), :!.Ioghul Beg (since hanged), Hyder (since dead), Khalukdad, and a 
J;ouple of ~hujjur Bowars. They were swaggering with drawD swords; there 
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was a large crowd. I saw the persons I have named coming down the 
stairs from above tlle gateway, the people below were . shouting If Deen I 
Deen! hogeia I" I looked on from about 100 paces, the time was between 
8 and 9 o'clock. (By prisoner.-Did you see me kill anyone?) No. (Did 
~ou see me coming down the stairs?) Yes. . 

Abbas Mirza.-Was an acting Sepoy on Rs. 2-11-0 per month in tIle 
King's Kali Pultun at the time of the mutiny. Was Bent by Mahboob Ali 
Khan Eunuch with two palkies to fetch some ladies from Captain Douglas' 
qualters between 9 and 11 o'clock the morning the disturbances commenced. 
Boolun HUl'kara went first aI,ld mounted the stairs, and as I followed a 
little after I saw Mr. Fraser's body lying at the foot of the staircase, and 
the prisoner Hajee came down with a bloody sword in his hand. Khalikdad. 
Mogul Beg, two men called Nubboo (one has been hanged and the other 
released). and two orderly sowars of Mr. Fraser's also came down the stairs. 
All had swords. Prisoner was one of Mahboob Ali Khan's orderlies. He 
was wearing an angrikha and paejamas. I did not go up to Captain Doug­
las' rooms. I met Boohm coming down. He said tr Faisala hogeia" (its 
all settled), so I took away the palkies. 

Gm·edkun . .,.-Am a Poojaree of the Serowgee temple, and was the same 
at the time of the mutiny. Did not go to the palace the day it began. I 
know the prisoner Hajee. Shortly after the recapture of Dehli, one Jut 
M)lU, who is since dead, came and asked me if I knew Hajee the seal 
engraver. I said yes. He asked me then to go with him and see if the man 
he would point out was Hajee, as he had a reason for identifying him. Next 
day J ~t Mull came with two men, who he said were Mukhun aud Bukhtawnr. 
lately orderlies of Captain Douglas. We went to KUdumshmree£ (suburb 
of Dehli ), where Khoda Buksh joined us. We then went to Nizamooddeen. 
Ilnd Jut Mull posted me and Khoda Buksh, saying we were to look out 
for Hajee and let him know if we saw him j. he and Mukhun and. Bukhta­
wur would wait near in Arab SeraL It was then about noon. A couple of 
ghurrees afterwards, lIajee made his appearance at a buniah's shop and 
bought some ghee and salt. . Khoda Buksh went up and said « come into 
the Serai you are wanted/' He first said he would take his ghee and salt 
home; but on Khoda Buksh saying he must go to the Serai at once, he made 
no demur and went. When we got thei'e I said to Jut Mull. now you've 
got the lDan, I may go. He said wait till the Sakeo comes, and he sent 
Mukhun and Bukhtawur to call Metcalfe Saheh. ·1 don't know where he 
was, but it was getting late and cold, when I said to Jut Mull we can't stay 
the night here, and he agreed to come away to Delhi. We got the. chowki­
dar (whose name I forgot) and pinioned the prisoner, and Jut Mull,all(J 
Khoda Buksh and the chowkidar, and 1 starte(1 with him. We had gone 
but a short way when we met Metcalfe Saheh with some sowars; He dis­
mounted and asked the prisoner his name. He replied Meer Hajee. Your 
occupation? Begri. What do you mean by Begri? Seal engraving. The 
Baheb drew his sword and cut him down. I ran as soon as I saw the sword 
out, but heard the blow and looking round saw prisoner on the ground 
with a gash across his neck and the blood flowing from it. Metcalfe Saheb 
remounted, and hid me come to him in Delhi. I did so the next day, and 
all that had occurred was written down by-M,r. Berkeley. Khooda Bul~sh 
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is present. When Metcalfe Saheb came with the sowars Mukhnn was with 
him. Bukhtawur Singh was not. I have heal'dthat l\lukhun is since dead. 

Medha.'-':'Am chowkidar of Nizamooddeen, was formerly of Arab Serai. 
The prisoner is the man Metcalfe Saheb cut down at Arab Serai, one even­
ing after sunset after the recapture of Delhi. l\lany Fersolls who' escaped 
from Delhi at that time stopped about Nizamooddeen and Arab Serai. I 
was called one evening to assist in taking'the prisoner into Delhi, as he hall 
mnrdered the Bura Saheh, and I was going with him wheu Metcalfe Saheb 
came np, and as we thought, killed him. I asked the Saheb what were his 
orders about the dead body. He gave none. It was lying within the limits 
of Ali Buksh, another chowkidar-who is since dead. I troublctl my~clf 
nothing about it, and how it was removed and when it came to life again 
I cannot say. ' 

Akhhar Khan.-Am a constable of the Delhi Police. I was sent somo 
six or seven months ago to Lahore to arrest one Hajce, a seal engraver, the 
informer who was to identify him Leillg with me. We did not find him. 
The Lahore Police said he had absconded. Some time afterwards I was 
sent a second time, and the informer pointed him out to the Lahol'e Police. 
He was arrested and made over to my custody. ,I brought him to Delhi. 

For the defence :-

The prisoner Hajee.-Having pleaded not guilty says-I <lid not li"e 
in the Palace at the time of the mutiny. I had once had a shop there in 
the arcade of the Lahore gate for about three months, long before the 
mutiny, but afte\'wal'ds took one in the J ohri Bazar ill the city, and I lived 
in Koocha Rahman off the Ch:1.lldni Chowk. I ran from Delhi like every 
one else when it was recaptured, and stayed at Nizamoodeen, where olle 
evening I was seized, and Metcalfe Saheb coming up without a word of 
inquiry gave me such a cut on the neck that I did not come to DIy senses 
for four months. When I did I fOllnd myself at Rewaree. My brother-in­
law had taken me there he said. He is dead since. I went off to Jeypoor, 
stayed there three years, aml then went to Lahore, where I have been 
engaged on my trade of seal engraving for the last nille 01' ten ycarl!. 'Oll 

the day of the mutiny I did not lea.ve my house in Koocha Rahman at all. 
I would have gone as usual to work in the Johl'i Bazar but I heard of the 
disturbances and did not go out. My sas was in the palace. I have llO 

more to say. 

Bubhoo, aliaa Mahomed Ilussain.-The prisoner used to live he fore the 
mutinies in Rahman Koocha, and he had his shop ill J ohri 13azar at the 
/catha or hala Mana. He did some work for me there about 10 or 12 
days before the outbreak. (To Court.) -Cannot Bay up to what time before 
the mutinies he used to live ill Rahman Koocha, but heard he had removed 
and taken a house in the Palace. Do not know this for certaiu. lIis 
wife's family lived in the Palace. 

z.,[ahometl Husaian.-Prisoner was a seal engraver like myself. I usc<l 
~o work at the kotha in the Johri Bazar, and he u~cd to cOllle aud work 
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there too. He ~as a well conducted man, and lived in Rahman Koocha. 
(To Court) .-He may have worked in the Palace. I did not know much 
about him. He was in a lower branch of the trade and worked in copper. 

lJfahamed Azeem.-I have ofteJ;l seen the prisoner working' at the "atha 
in the Johl'i Bazar where I used to work. He lived in Rahman Kooc1la up 
to the mutiny. Know nothing about llim since. (To Court) ,-Do 110t know 
if he worked in the Palace. Do not know where his wife's family lh'ed. 
Did not see him on the day of the outbreak. 

Matee.-Prisoner llsed to get work from me to do before the mutiny. 
He used to live in Rallman Koocha, off'the Ch;tndni Chowk. Do not know 
that he ever wor'ked in the Johri Bazar. Do not know that he ever worked 
in the Palace. Do not know anything about his wife's family. 

Jugga Mull.-:l'l'isoner used to work for me sometimes before the 
mutinies. He had a house in Johri Bazar at one time, bllt he gave it up, 
and I asked him one day where he had taken anotqer, and he said in Rah. 
man Koocha. But it was no aff'airof mine 'and I only know what he said. 

Ahmed Putwa.-I know the prisoner was a seal engl'a\'er, but that is 
all I know about him. He used to say he lived in Rahman Koocha, bllt 
I never went to his house. Do not know anything about his wife'afamity. 
I was iu Dehli on the day of the outbreak j did not go to the Palace, Did 
not see the prisoner. 

Sahit Ali.-I was a khawas in the King's service, and resided in Rah. 
man Koocha j prisoner lived in the same Koocha. The day of the outbreak 
I did not go 1:> the Palace-my turn of duty only came every eighth day­
did not see prisoner the day of the outbreak-was at home all that day. 
Prisoner's wife's family used to live in the Palace. His sas was a wet nurse 
there. Can't say if he worked there himself 01' not. I used to see the shop" 
keepers at ,their shops iu the gateway as I went and came, but I cau't 
say who they were. 

Judgment of Sessions Judge.-It is unnecessary to discuss the evidence 
adduced in this case to prove the actual occurrence of the tragedy to whicb 
it relates. The fact that the Europeans, in the murder of whom prisoner is 
chalged with having taken part, were murdered in the Palace of the Kin'" of 
Dehli on the morning of the 11th May 1857, has been amply proved" on 
former trials; and as remarked by the Judicial Commissioner ill his order 
dated 20th 1!'ebruary 1862, cenfirming the Eentence of death,passed by this 
Court ou Mogul Beg, who was one of the murderers, it is of sufficient 
notoriety to be accepted without further proof. Enough evidence has never­
theless been again recorded upon this point in the present trial to make the 
case complete in itself, and to show in the proceeuings now Leld that these 
murders were perpetrated. 

There being no room for doubt nOl' any denial of the actual commission 
of the crime charged, the ouly question before the COUl't is whether or not 
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the prisoner is proved to have bee~ concerned in it; and tllls again becomes 
a mere question of credibility of the witnesses for the prosecution, two of 
whom depose that they saw the prisoner murder Mr. Fraser, while they and 
others further depose that the prisoner was one of the band who immediately 
afterwards rail upstairs to Captain Douglas' rooms and came down again 
with bloody swords and shouts of Deen I peen I when the butchery up 
there had been completed. 1t is qulte clear that if these witnesses are ~ell­
ing the truth, in saying that they recognized the prisoner as they allege, 
then he is guilty of the murder of all the seven victims of that morning's 
work, though no one is alive to say who struck the blows with his own hand 
in Captain Douglas' r()o~s. I, have no hesitation in recording my full belief 
that the witnesses are telhng the truth, and that the prisoner is one of the 
murderers. This is not a case in whIch any suspicion of false evidence, 
whether intentional or froUl a mistake as to the identity of the prisonerl 
can attach to witnesses for the prosecution. They have named the prisoner 
from the very first as one of the cut-throats, and not only they but many 
others who are now dead have done so. Not a trial of any person accused, 
in connection with these occurrences has taken place in which Hajee !!'eal 
engraver has not been specified as olle of the murderers upstairs, and the 
ringleader and principal murderer of Mr. Simon Fraser below in the arcade. 
In the King's trial held in March 1858, in that of Mogul Beg sentenced 
to death lst February 1862, in that of Nubboo acquitted 28th March 18G2, 
and in that of Mahomed Shuffee alias Suynd Meerun acquitted 4th June 
1868, we find consistently the same evidence given against Hajee as lias 
been given against him now; and we do not find that the witnesses have 
in any case given false evidence, for they refused to implicate Nubboo 
and Suyud Meerun, though it is not an unreasonable supposition that they 
were invited to do so. 

No enmity or grudge against the prisoner is imputed to tIle witnesses, 
and to the question of how they were able to recognize IIajee as olle of the 
murderers the answer is satisfactory. He was often in the palace, his 
mother-in-law was living there, and he used to sit at work in one of the 
I!hops of tbe arcade in the gateway above which were Captain Dotlglarl 
quarters, where the witnesses, who \Vere Captain Douglas' chuprasces, wcre in 
constant attendance. Besides the witnesses who have been produced on this 
trial, there were several others who gave evidence on the trial of the King 
and of MoglIl Beg and of Nubboo, but there is not one who was an eye­
witness of the murders on the morning of the 11th May 1857 who does not 
say that Hajee seal engraver took a part ill them. Their statements may 
not be evidence against bim now. They are dead, and cannot be confront­
ed with him, but 'their statements are of value as corroborating the veracity 
of the witnesses who are still alive. 

The possibility of mistaken identity is further precluded by what hap­
pened after the fall of Dehli, when tbe prisoner, having fiecl from the city 
with the rest of the inhabitants, took refuge at Nizamoodcen, a village four 
miles off. A plot was laid to catch him, because lie was the assassin of 
Mr. Fraser. He was seized and. was being brought into Dehli when Sir 
T. Metcalfe, who had ordered tbe arrest, and to whom news of its accom­
plishment was COL.veyedJ met the pal'ty and with his own hand cut down the 
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prisoner, . leaving him, as he thought dead, upon the ground. This is in 
evidence in the present case, and the prisoner does not attempt to.deny that 
he is the man whom Sir 'r. Metcalfe intclnded to kill, and very nearly did 
kill on that occasion. 

Prisoner's defence is a simple denial of the cllarge. He admits that llis 
mother-in-law lived in the Palace at the time of the mutiny, and that he had 
been livhg there himself, but he says he had left it before the outbreak and 
was then living in Koocha Rahman off the Chandni Chowk. On the day 
the outbreak took place he did not goto the Palace at all, he says, but 
remained at home. His witnesses have been examined, but even if all 
they say be believed, it amounts to nothing in the prisoner's favor. As to ·his 
never having beeu heard of since Sir T. Metcalfe wounded him till now that 
au informer has had him arrested at Lahore, he explains that on recovering 
liis senses, four months (so he says) after having been cut down, he found 
that his brother-in-law had conveyed him to Rewaree. From that he went 
to Jeypore, where he remained three years, and since then he has been at 
Lahore. There is certainly nothing extraordinary in his never having re-
turned to Dehli. . 

The assessors have arrived at no logical conclusion upon this trial. 
One, indeed, finds the prisoner guilty of the charge, but the other two are 
.of opinion that he joined in the outbreak in the Palace, though there is not 
sufficient proof that he to~k part in the murders. This is to believe the 
evidence and to disbelieve it; but the Court, abstaining from giving. any 
hint of its own opinion, the two assessors could arrive at nothing more 
definite, and it is therefore l'ecorded that the majority of these gentlemen 
acquit the prisoner~ 

.The Court, differing from the majority, and concurring with the minority 
of the assessors, finds that the prisoner Hajee is guilty of the charge, an$! 
has committed an offence punishable with death under Regulation VIII of 
1799 j and the Court directs that the said Hajee suffer death' by hanging. 
Further, the Court, following the precedent of the execution of Mogul Beg, 
directs, subject to the approval of the Military authorities, that the prisoner 
be hanged in front of the Lahoree gate of the Dehli Fort, formerly the King's 
Palace, the scene of the crime Qf which the prisoner has been convicted, 

The record is submitted to the Chief Court. 

Order of Chief Court-17th December 1868.-At a Court of Sessions held 
at Delhi, for the district of Delhi by Colonel W. McNeile, Sessions Judge of 
the Dehli Division, on the 10th day of December 1868, with the aia of three 
assessors, Hajee,son of Museeta, was charged with the murder, on the 11th May 
1857, of Mr. Fraser and other Europeans. The Court, differing from the ma­
jority and concurring with the minority of the assessors, found the prisoner 
guilty of the charge, and sentencea him to death, subject to the confirmation of 
the Chief Court, for which the proceedings have now,been forwarded. 

As remarked by the Judicial Commissioner in his judgment dated 1st 
February 1862, in the case of the Crown versus Mogul Beg, the fact that 
1\Ir. Fraser, Captain Douglal$, 1\Iiss Jennings, and 1\Iiss Clifford were put 
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to dea.th in the citr of D~hli on the 11th 1\1ay 1857, is ~att~l' of history, lIut 
there IS also sufficIent eVIdence of the fact upon record In thIS case, 

The accused, ~ajee, seal engraver, was named at the very first as one 
of the leading actors in the massacre; and a short time after the fall of 
Dehli his whereabouts was traced in one of the suburbs, and he wns arrested 
by order of Sir T. Metcalfe on this charge. But the pnrty in cuarge of 
him, being met by that officer on their way to Dehli, Sir '1'. Metcalfe cut 
down the accused with his own hand, and left him for dead on the ground. 

As the accused was supposed to be dead, he escaped notice for some 
time, but afterwards information was given to .tbe .Dehli Police that be was 
alive, and ultimately it was ascerta.ined that be was residing at Lahore 
under the name of Abdoollah. The first attem pt made to app)'ehend him 
failed owing to his having absconded beforehand, but he was eventually 
t.raced by the Lahore Police, and the present trial is the result of his al)~ 
prehension. 

The Sessions Judge thus sums up the evidence. (Reads.) 

The Court fully concurs in the opinion expressed by the Sessions Judge 
with regard to the credibility af the witnesses for the prosecution, which is 
really the only point on which any question can be raised in the present 
case. His reasons appear to us conclusive, and we have no addition to make 
to them. 

We need hardly remark that death is the only punishment adequate to 
the offence committed by the accused; and the only thing which it appears 
to us it would be possible to urge in mitigation, is his having already suffered 
in the attack made upon him by Sir T. Metcalfe, who left him on the ground 
for dead. Considering however the brutality and atrocity of the crime, and 
the leading part in it taken by the accused, we are unable to commute the 
capital sentence on account of the occurrence to which we have alluded. 

Accordingly, the 'Court confirms the sentence of death passed by the 
Sessions Judge on Hajee, son of Museeta, 
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Abbas Mirza, ... Sepoy in King's" Kali Witness in 
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Abdool Huk, ... Prime minister to Bul-
lubgurh State and 
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Do. Do, ... Prbter, ... Ditto, 164 
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ii 

1 2 

. NAME. Occup~tion~ 

3 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accus~d 

rebel, witne~8 
or othQrwise. 

Page. 

-,-....... -----II---------I~------
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••• Not given, 
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Ahmed Khan, ... Res/!-ldar 9th Cavalry, Rebel, ... 71, 89, 90. 

Ahmed Kulli Khan,... N awab; Ditto, 182 

Ahmed Mirza, 

Ahmed Mirza, 

Ahmud Putwa, 

Ahsan-ul-hak, 

Ahsan-oola Khan, 

... Servant. to, 
. Aboobuker, 

Mirza 
... Witness in 

Haji's trial, 202 

... Farmer, village ofBul-
lubgurb, ... Rebel, ••• 56, 169 . 

... Not given, ... Witness in 
Haji'. trial, 295 
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Akhbur Ali Khan, ... N awab' ofPantadih, ... Rebel, ... '163 

Akhbur Khan, ... Not given, ... Ditto, 167 

Akhbur Khan, ... Police constable, ... Witness in 
H~ji's trial, 291 

Alladad Khan, ... Orderly to Eunuch 
- Mahboob, ... Assassin .... 291.292 • 

AlIadad Mogul, ... Orderly to Eunuch 
Mahboob, ... Ditto. 290 

/ 

Allahee Bux, ... Elephant driver. ... Witness in 
trialofMo-
gul Beg .... 276.279. 

Ali Buksh, 
. 

Chowkedar, 294 ... ... .. . 
Alli Kasim, ... Governor of Allahabad , Rebel. ... 18S 

Alli Khan.' ... Sub-Collector of ne-
venue under British 

, 

Government, ... Loyal, . .. 187 

AlIi Mahomed, ... Merchant, ... Ditto. 161 

Allukhdad Khan, ... Orderly to Eunuch 
Mahboob, ..... Assassin, ... 291 

Alwur, ... Raja. ... Rebel, ... 167,172. 
I 

Amanut Ali, '" Soobadar 1st Regiment 
Native Infantry .... Rebel. ... 85 

Amin-ool-R a h man 
Khan. ... ... ... 246 

Amir Ali. ... Supdt., of Build-
ings and store rooms 
Bullubgurh Raja, ... Ditto., 56 
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Amir Ali (son of Shum-

Ilhere Ali, ... Shawl embroiderer, ... Witness in 
trial of Mo-
gul Beg, ... 279, 281. 

Amir Ali Khan, ... SO'1 of N awab of Khu-
rajpura, ... Rebel, ... 223. 

Amir DostMahomed 
See C. "Cabul," &; D. Khan, ... Ruler of Cabul, ... .. . 

"Dost Mahomed 
Khan." 

Amir Khan of Dojana, - - 175,177. ... ... 
Asghur Ali, ... ... . .. See Usghur Ali. 

Ashruf Ali, ... Silver wire maker, ... Witness for 
defence in 

Mogul Beg's 
trial. See U shruf Ali. 

Ashruf-un-Nissa, ... Wife of Ex-King, ... . .. 151 

B. 
Bahadoor Ali Khan, Officer Peshawur Force , Rebel, ... 175 

Bahadoor J ung Khan, Nawab of Dadri, ~ .. Ditto, 163,178. 

Bahadoor Sing, ... Superintendant of 
landed property 

163 Lucknow State, ... Ditto, 

Baija Bai of Gwalior, ... Ditto, 169, 183. 

Bakar Moulvie, ... Editor of" newspaper, Ditto, 247 

Bakht Yar Khan, ... General, . .. Ditto, 171 

Bakshish Alli, ... Not given, ... Ditto, 183 

Bakur Al!i, ... Chief of Benares, ... Ditto, 171 
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:Banee Ram, ... Soobadar Major, ... Rebel, . ... 60 

:Basharat Alii, ... Do. 5thN.I.Gwalior 
Force, ... Ditta, 85 

:Bbagavant Sing, ... Rana, , Ditto, 183 ... 
:Bhawani Sing, ... Private 30th N. I., .•. Ditto, 87 

:Bhika, ... Servant to Mirza 
Abdoolla, ... D~tto, 131 

:Bhola Sing, ... Servi.ce, ... Witness for 
defence of 
Mogul:Beg, 281, 282, 283, 286 

287. 

:Bhup Sing, ... Officer Peshawur Force, Rebel, . .. 175 

:Bhutia, ... Land-holder Furreed-
abad, . ... Ditto, 36 

:Bindee Mull, alias . 
:Bindrabun, ... :Banker, . .. Ditto, 18, 61, 62, G3. 

:Bindrabun, ( See 
:Bindee Mull). 

:Boolun, ... Gold-twist maker 
King's Orderly, ... Witness in 

. trial of Mo-
gul :Beg, .... 279, 292, 293; 

:Bubboo, alias Mahom. . 
ed Hoosein, ... Not given, . .. Witness for 

Haji mur· 
2941 derer, ... 

11';ldhan Sahib, Not given, . Rebel, 162, 182. 183. ... ... . .. 
:Budh Sing. Lalla, .... Agent, Jaipur Raja .... Ditto, 164 

:Budr-ood·deen Ali 
Khan, ... Seal Engraver, ... Ditto, 31 
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Bukhtawar Sing, ... Captain Douglas' Or • 

derly Chuprassie, ... Loyal witness 109, 110, 119, 120, 
. 274, 276, 278, 284, 

285, 286, 289; 290, 
293, 294. 

Buldeo, ... Farmer, ... Rebel, . .. 13 

Buldeo Sahai, ... N aib Kotewall, Delhi, ... 277 

Buldeo Sing, Kundla, 
Kush, ... Treasurer of Infantry, Ditt.:>, 177 

BullubgurQ; .... Raja, . .. Ditto, See N.) Nahar Sing. 

Buruirsee, ... Service, . .. Witness for 
defence in 

Mogul Beg's 
281, 282, 280, 287. trial, ... 

Bundi, ... Uaja, ... Rebel, .. . 167 

Bussunt Ali Khan, ... King's body servant 
. 

. (Asst. Chamberlain), Ditto, 104, 112, 114, 150, 
151, 184, 207, 248, 

c. 280, 292. 

Cabul, ... Ruler of, ... .. . 171, un, l!)2, 193 
to 200. 

" 

Cashmere, ... Ditto, ... 171, 204, 205, 210, 
230,231. 

Chajju, ... Shop.Keeper, ... .. . 29 

Chaman Singh, brother 
of the Chief of Jai. 
pur, ... Thakoor, ... Rebel, .. . 99, 170. 

Chandari Yanbedhar, Not given, ... Ditto, 183 

Chandiram, ... Land·owner ... Ditto, 92 
.. ' . 

Chand Khan, ... Not given, ... Ditto, 10 



vii 

1 2 3 4 - ---
I In what res. 

NAME. Occupation. 
pect mention. 

Page. ed, accused, 
rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

- , - -. 
Chujjoo Sing, ... Not given, ... . .. ·281, 282, 283 . , 
Chunni,Lall, ... Trooper 4th I., Cavy., Rebel, ... 74 

Ditto, N ews.writer,- ... Loyal, ... 127, 158, 229~ 

Ditto, . Pedlar, ... Witness, . .. 133 

. 
D. . . 

Damman Sing, ... ~ajab; ... Rebel, .. . 1841 
. . 

Deedar Buksh, ... Camel driver, ... Witness in 
trial of Mo. 

Deen Mabomed, alias A.rmed Orderly 
gulBeg, ... 280, 281. 

of. 
Nubboo, ... King, ... Murderer of 

Capt., Dou. 
110, 277,278, 279, . glas, . . .. 

., 280,284,286,292, . . 293,296 . 

D,evi Sing, ... Farmer, ... Rebel, ... 93 

Dildar Ali Khan, .. , Captain, ... Ditto, 7, 165, 276. 

Dilwani M~ll. ... Supdt., of supplies, ... Rebel, ... 165 

Doondiah Khan, ... Farmer, ... Ditto, 29,30. 

Dost Mahomed Khan, Ru~er of CabQol, .. , .... 171, 191-':'200, 237, 
238. 

Durga Pel'Bhaud, '" Registra~ of landed 
proprietary' rights 

Ditto, Putnahee districts, ·33 

Ditto, Officer Peshawur force, Ditto, 175 

" 

E. Nil. • . 



. viii 

1 2 a 4 

----------------1----------,-------1--------------------------

NAYE. Occupation; 

In what res· 
pect mention­
ed, accused, 
rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

-------------·1-----------------
F. 

Faiz Ahmed, 

Faiz-oolla Kazi, 

•.• Collector of Revenues, Rebel, 

Chief Police Officer, 
City, . 

Faiz-ud-deen Khan, ••• Cavalry man, 

Falak-ud-deen Shah, Director of Finance 
and Army, 

Farkhu.nda Zamani, .•• Princess, 

Futten Ali, Syud of K u d dum 
Shurreef, 

Futteh .A.li Sahab Mir, Confidential servant 
of King, 

Futteh Mahomed, ••• Merchant, 

Fuzl-ul-huk, Moulvie, 

G. 
Gaindab, 

Ga7j-ood-deen Khan,· Resaldar, 

Ghous Mahomed 
Sheikh, 

Girdhari Sing, ... 

Gokul, 

Goolab, 

Goolab Khan, 

Goolab Shah, • 

Officer of the Nee. 
much troops, 

Soobadar 16th Bom-
bay N. I., 

Chuprassie, 

Messenger, 

Officer ard N. Caval-
ry, l\Ieerut, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, . 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

. Ditto, 

Rebel, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Loyal, 

Do. Witness, 

Rebel, 

Ditto, 

183, 184. 

164, 16G, 170. 

70 

100 

15 

281, 282, 283. 

50, 54, 55. 

66 

183, 181.. 

51 

70 

204, 259. 

86,99. 

291 

75, 1340, 228. 

10 

254, 25G, 257. 



ix 

1 2 3 4 _____ ----1-_-_________ 1 __ ----_ 

N A. JiI: E. Occupation .. 

In what'res· 
pect mention· 

'. ed, accused, 
rebel, witne&s 
or otherwise. 

.Page. 

____ · ___ · ___ ~_I·---·---c~.~-~-----.-~----------
Goolab Sing, 

Do. Do, 

Goolam Abbas, 

Do. Do., 

Goolam Alli 
homed), 

... 

... 

... 

. 
(~a. ... 

" Do. . also. Khan, ... 
, 

Do., ... 

Goolam Ghous Khan, 

Goolam Hydur Khan, 

Goolam Mirza Hoosein, 

Goolam Mu'id.ood· 
deEm Khan, ... 

Do. Do. ~ ... 
.. 

Goolam Nubbi .. Khan, 

, 
Goolzar, ... 
Goomani, - ... 

, ' 

Rao, . .. Rebel, ... 183 

Ruler of C~sbmir; ... ... 171, 204, ~05, 210, 
230,231. 

Native Lawyer to: 
assist Ex.King on 
,his trial" ·t· WitJ:l,essj' ., .. ,24, 38, 137, 18!?, 

216, 220, 252. 

Duffactar 4th Regi. , 
ment Cavalry, Rebel, 98,99 . ... .. . . " 

Watchma~ . .. A prison~r, 25,26 • 

Captain J eypoor Ra • 
ja's service, ... ... 277, 280. 

. , 

Super~tJ.tendent ofMa· 
gazme, Rebel, ... 91 

General, ... Ditto, 182, 183 • 
, . .. ... ... 25 

. Ressildar 18th Irre· 
gular Cavalry, .... Rebel, .1 ••• 95,91$ . 

" 

Principal Resaldar. , 
from Tonk, ... Ditto, ... 84 

Sub~Collector of Land .. 
Revenue, Ditto, ... 186 .. ... 

, . 
Supdt. of Kaulah 

Mahal. :Pitto, 164 .-
. . ... ... , 

... ... 280 

... A prisoner, 25 



x 

1 2 3 

---------------1------·---------1----------1---------,-----

NAME. Occupation. 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness, 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

-----,----1--------1-----------
Goredhun, ... Poojaree of the Se-

rowjee Temple, ... Wit n e R 8 

against Ha-
ji, ... 293 

Gouri Shunkur Sukal, Hurriana Light In: 
fantry, ••. Bebel, ... 67, 7,.. 

GungaRam, 

H. 
••• Peon, ... Rebel, ... 62 

Haji,· also Haji Khan, 

Haji Ahmua, ... 
Haji Ali, ... 
Haji Mulla Buksh, ... 

Haji Rahim Buksh, ••• 

Hamid Khan, oo. 

Harsukh, ... 
Hasan Ali Khan, 'oo 

Do. Do. Do. 

Hasan Askari, .oo 

Lapidary, Seal engr&-
ver, . ... Murderer of 

Merchant, 
. ... 

llit.to, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

lemadar in King'. 
service, ... 

. .. 
Officer l'eshr.wur 

Force, . .oo 

Nawab of Dojauna, ... 

Pirzada (Priest,) .oo 

Captain 
Douglas, ... 

Bebel, .. . 
... 
... 

Rebel, ... 

100, 110, 119, 274 
to 280, 2~4, 2S6 
289, 291 to 208 
see .. Abdoolla." 

66 

190 

66 

66 

Ditto, 149 

A prisoner, 25 

Hebel, 

Ditto, 

Di.tto, 

... 175 

161, 162, 163, 170. 

102, 103, 104, 10~, 
106, 107, 110, 111, 
123, 140, 151, 152, 
209, 219, 235, 242, 
247. 



xi 

1 2 3 ---------1--___ , ____ _ 

N.u[\~. Occupation. 

-----------------1--------------
II,,"an Baksh Khan 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

----1---------
U,begi, Collector of Revenues, Rebel 183 

Hasan Mirzil, 

IIeemoo; 

Het Ram, 

net Ram, 

IIira Sing, 

llissar-ud-din, 

Hullasi, 

Hussein Ali Khan, 
Syud, 

Hyder, 

Hyder Hussein, 

I. 

Ilahee Buksb, .. , 

Imam-ulla-Khan, 

Indore, 

Iradat Khan, 

Iahwari Pershaud, 
Pathan, 

Chamberlain, Ditto, 161, 163, 169. 

Formerly :r.Iirdan of 
Fort lately Tailor, Witness for 

Land-holder, 

Soobadar Major, 

Officet: Neemucb 
Force, 

Jemad~r, 

Lascar, 

Police Officer, 

Captain in King's Be~ 
vice, 

Elephant driver, 

Trooper, 

. Raja of, 

Brother of N awab of 
J ahangerabad, 

Jemadar, .~"I 

Mogul Beg, 281, 282, 283, 286, 
287. 

Rebel, 9 

Rebel, 60 

. Ditto, 187,20! • 

Dittd, 56 

Ditto, 80 

Rebel, 20 

292 

280 

Witness in 
trial of 
Mogul Beg, See cc Alahee Bux." 

Reb,el, 28 

Ditto, .' 175,177 • 

Ditto, .167 

Ditto, 96,97. 



1 2 3 4 ----------1-,---, _________ ---

Occupation. 

In what res. 
pect mention­
ed, tC(,lIsed, 
rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

---'---1----------1--;.' ---1---------
J. 

Jaipooi', 

Jamal-tId-din, 

•.. Raja of, ... Rebel, •.. '163, 167 . 

... Publisher of news, ... Ditto, 129 

Jammajee, Cashmeree, 25 

Jang Baz khan, ... Police Officer, Allapur, :aebel, ... 8 

Jasalmer, ... lluler of, 

Jattu or JatmulT, ... News writer, 

Ditto, 

, .. Witness on 
t,rialofEx. 
King, ... 
• ~t' :' 

Jawahir Buksh, ... Private 11th Native 

99, 230. ' 

103, 106, 232, 247, 
275, 276, 28:3, 286, 
291,293. 

Infantry, ... Rebel, .. , 23 

Jiwan Bukht, 

Jawan ]3ukht, 

... Merchant, 

... Son ~fEx-King, 

j'ewarant 
Chobe, 

Ajoodbya 

Jiwaralnj 

Jiwa Sing, 

... Soobadal' Brd Rl'gi. 
ment Native Infan-
try, .. . 

... Soobadar Major, .. . 

... Soobadllr Brd Regi­
ment Native Infan­
try, ... 

Johdpoor, ... Baja of, 

Jogul Kishwar, ... Merchant;, 

J owahir Sing, ... Sepoy ~ 

J owalanath, ... Clerk ,to 
Moghul, 

Mirza 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Rebel, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto,' 

Ditto, 

66 

02, 53,140, 155, 
158, 161, 105, 184, 
219, 241, 246,248, 

,274, 277, 279,288, 
286, 281. 

... 88 

60 

85 

167 

14 

92,93.' 

(j8 



...... 
. Alll 

___ ~-11--_':-'-____ 3 ___ . ___ 4. __ -

NAME. Occupation.' 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed. accused; 

rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

,1----------------
Jawalanath Pundit, als a Treasurer of Raj~ Of 
called Jowalla Pershad ,Bullubgurh, ••• Rebel, ..... 56,57 • 

J owaila Sing, Mr. Fraser's Jemadar, .... 75, 159 • 

Jowlea Nath,' 'Servant of King, Rebel, 9 ~ 

Jugga, Syce. ,Ditto, ,17 

Jugga Mull, Not given; Witness- for 
Haji's de-
fence, ... 295 

J umma-ud-din Khan, Newspaper publisher, Ditto, 11 

Jumna Dass, Land-holder, :M:uthra, Rebel, 18,19,21. 

.Towal1a Prashad, ... ~ervant of King, Ditto, 9 

K. 
Kad,ir Buksh, ... Commandant Sappers 

and Miners, ... Rebel, 95 

Kadirdad Khan, Cavalryman, Ditto, 143 
• 

Kaihar, Sing, ... Land~holder, Mukim. 
poor, Ditto, 93 

Kalandar Khan, Resildar 10th Irregu-
Loyal, 89 lar Cavalry, ... 

Kalaudar Buksh Khan, Resildar in service of 
,Bullubgurh Raja, Rebel, 46,50. 

Kalayau l'l arain, ' Not given, Ditto, 70 

Kalee, Wife of Ahmud Ka-
wabee, 281 

Kalka Tewari, Sepoy, Rebel, 80 

Kalyan Singh; Corporal, ... \ Ditto, 81 



xiv 
.. 

1 2 3 40 ------.------------I~-- -.--------
N.un:. Occupation, 

In what reR. 
pect mention. 
ed, accused, 

rebel, witnesR 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

---------------I---~------~--·I--------------------
Kalyan Sing, Raja of Kisbangur, .... 

Klunbar Si4i (Abyssi. 
nian), Servant of the King, Rebel, 

Kamdar Khan, 

Kanlai Khan, 

Watchman; 

Artilleryman, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Karamdin, Merchant, 

Karim Bux, -alias 
Nuthua, Not given, 

Karim B'ux. Merchant, 

Do. Do. Ahmed, .. ; Dltto, 

Do. Do., Ditto, 

Do. Do., 

Do. Do., 

Do. Do .. 

Karum Khan, 

Kashi Nath, 

Kasim.ud·din, 

KauIia Khan, 

Kazi Panu, 

Kesh~i Singh, 

Kliabru, 

Resaldar, nebel~ 

.Trooper 4th Irregular 
Cavalry, Ditto, 

Magazine sel'vant, Ditto, 

Not given, Ditto, 

. Police officer. Ditto, 

Private 59th Regi. 
ment Native Illfim. 
try, Ditto, 

Mendicant, 

Not given, 

Resaldar 10th Irregu. 

Sf: C •• W", ::: I L"~:. 

162 

.. ; See" Sidi Kambar." 

17, 97, 

6!) 

66 

23,24. 

66 

66 

66 

71 

80 

117,118,213. 

281, 282, 283 • 

166 

90 

26 

162 

8!J 

34.,35. 



xv 

1 2 

Occupation. 

• 
Khadirdad Khan, ... Retaine!' of King's 

Prime .Minister, '" 

Khalakdad, Cabuli, ... Betainer of King's 
Prime Minister, ..•. 

. 

Khoila Bux, ... N oJ;. given, . .. 
Kbooshka, ... Ditto, ... 
Khuila Bux, ... Ditto, . .. 

Do. Khan, ... Assistant to Chief 
Police officer, ... 

Khwaja Ishmail Khan, Besident of Cal pi, ... 

... Kishen Sing, ... Servants of Captain 
t Do. Do., ... Douglas, . .. 

, 

Kotah, ... Raja of, '" 

Kuli Khan, ... King's body Bervant, 

Do. Do., ... Noli given, .., 

Kuli Yat Khan, ... Soobadar Bu.badoor 
9th Regiment N a-
tive Infantry, ... 

3 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness 
or otherwise . 

Bebel, mur-
dererofCapt. 
Douglas. 

. Bebel and 
murderer 
of Captain 
Douglas, 

... . 

. .. 
A prisoner, 

... 
Rebel, . .. 

Witnesses in 
the trials 
of Mogul· 
Beg and 
~aji, ... 

Rebel, .... 
Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

4 

Page. 

280 

110, 277 to 2 SO, 
284, 286,292, 2 93. 

293 

280 . 
25, 26-

17 

178 

-1st-llO,120,l 25, 
126, 273, 275, 2 79, 
285, 286, 289, 2 9O~ 
291. 

t2nd"':"276, 2 79, 
292. 

·167 

104,248. 

IG2 

94.,95 . -



1 2 3 4 
----
In what res· 

NA..HE. , Occupation. 
pec~ mention· . 
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness 
Page. 

or otherwise. 

---"-

Kllliyat UllaBeg Khan, Not given, ... Rebel,. .. . 183 . 
KlllIoo, Bbeestie, 

. 
275 ... . .. . .. 

Kunwur Ajit Siug, 
P~tiala, ... ... . .. 169 

Karamut Alli, ... Syud of fort, ... Witness' 
named by . 

Mogul Beg, 281,282,283,287. 

Kutb~ud.din, ... Merchant, ... ... 66 

Klltch Bhoj, ... Ruler of, . .. Rebel, ' . .. 09, 230 . 

Kwaja Khaira.t Alli, ... Clerk Governor's Of. 
fice, ... Ditto, 83, OS . 

Kwaja. N azir.ud.din, Police oflicer of Blla· 
drapoor, ... Ditto, 77,78. 

L· 

I,akshman Doss, ... Officer of Pay depart. 
ment, ... Rebel, ... 9 

Lakshmiram, ... Merchant, ... ... 60 
I 

Lalla Prashad, ... Soobadar 2nd Regi. 
ment Native In. 
fantry, ... Rebel, ... 85 

Lall Mohomed, ... Lamp lighter, ... Loyal, 275, 276. 

La.l Pande, ... Subadar 4th Troop 
Artillery, ... Rebel, ... 85 

LI'l Sing, ... Subadar 1st Troop 
Artillery, ... Ditto, 85 



xvii 

1 2 3 4 I ---------------,---·-------------1-----·-------------

NAME. Occupation~ 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accused, 
rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

-------1---------1------·-----------
~,. 

Madari Khan, ... Eesaldar 9th Irregular 
Cavalry, ... Rebel, ... '11 

Mahahal Sing, ... Sepoy 11th Eegiment 
Native Infantry, ... 

Maharaj Sing, alias 
lIiohnum Sing and 
MUllllllun Sing, ••• Service, 

Ditto, 

Witness 
against Mo­
gul Beg and 
Hajj, •... 

81 

273, 275, 286, 289, . 
. 290. . 

Mahbuh Ali, 

Mahbuh Ali 
Eunuch, 

... Doctor, ... Rebel, ... 171 

Khan, 
... Minister of Ex-King, Ditto, 

Mahomed Abdool Eah­
man Khan Baha-

... 110, 139, 149 to 152 
161, 164 to 166 
208,248,274,275 
277,280,281,286 
290,293. 

door, •.. Minister of the State, Ditto, 37 

Mahomed Akbur Ali 
I Khan Bahadoor, Ruler of Patnahi, ... Ditto, ... 33 

" Ali Beg, ... Sub.collector of Land 
Reve:.ue, ... Ditto, - ... 6, 8. 

" Ali, ••• Seller of shoes, 25 

" Ali Khan, ... Nephew of Chief of Rebel, ... 163 

M ahomed Ali Khan 
of Chatauri, ... 

Dadri, ... 

Ditto, 183 



1 

NAJIlE. 

K 

K 

K 

Illiyat UllaBeg Khan, 

ulloo, ... 
unwur Ajit Sing, 
P~tiuJa, ... 

K aramut AlIi, ... 

utb~ud.din, ... 
utch Bhoj, ... 

K 

K 

K waja Khaira.t Alli, ... 

K waja N azir-ud.din, 

L· 

I .akshman DOBS, 

L 

L 

akshmiram, 

L 

L 

L 

alla Prashad, 

all Mohomed, 

al Pande,. 

al Sing, 

... 
... 
... 

' ... 
... 
... 

2 

Occupation. 

Not given, ... . 
Bheestie, ... 

... 
Syud of fort, ... 

Merchant, ... 
Ruler of, ... 
Clerk Governor's Of-

fice, ... 
Police olIicer of Bha-

drapoor, ... 

Officer of Pay depart-
ment, ... 

Merchant, ... 
Soobadar 2nd Regi-

ment Native In-
fantry, ... 

Lamp lighter, ... 
Subadar 4th Troop 

Artillery, ... 
Subadar lst Troop 

Artillery, ... 

3 4 
-

In what res-
pec~ mention- . 
ed, accused, Page. 

rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

---- -
Rebel,. .. . 183 

... 275 

. .. 169 

Witness' 
named by . 

Mogul Beg, 281, 282,283,287. 

... 66 

Rebel, • . .. 99, 230 . 

Ditto, 83, 98 . 

Ditto, 77, 78. 

, 

Rebel, '" 9 

... 60 
I 

Rebel, ... 85 

Loyal, 275, 276. 

Rebel, ... 85 

Ditto, 85 



xvii 

1 I 2 3 4 
-----

In whatnie-

NAME. Occupation~ 
pect mention-
ed, accused, 
rebel, witness 

Page. 

or otherwise. 

- - ----
M. 

M adari Khan, ' .. Resaldar 9th Irregular 
Cavalry, '" Rebel, 71 

M ahabal Sing, ... Sepoy 11th Regiment 
Native Infantry, ... Ditto, 81 

M nharaj Sing, alias 
Mohnum Sing and 

Service, Witness Mummun Sing, ... . .. 
against Mo~ 
gul Beg and 
Haji, .... 273, 275. 286. 289 , ' 

, 290. . 

M ahbub Ali, ... Doctor, ... Rebel, ... 171 

M ahbub Ali Khan, 
Eunuch, ... Minister of Ex.King, Ditto, ... 110,139, 149 to 152 

161, 164 to 166 
208,248,274,275 
277,280,281,286 
290,293. 

M ahomed Abdool Rah-
man Khan Baha-
door, ... Minister Qf the State, Ditto, 37 

M ahomed Akbur. Ali 
I Khan Bahadoor, Ruler of Patnahi, ... Ditto, ... 33 

'! 
Ali Beg, ... Sub-collector of Land 

Reve:r..ue, ... Ditto, - ... 6,8. 

" 
Ali, ... Seller of shoes, ... . .. 25 

" 
Ali Khan, ... Nephew of Chief of Rebel, ... 163 

Dadri, ... 
, 

M ahomed Ali Khan 
of Chatauri, ... ... Ditto, 183 



xx 

________ 1·_-----'11--------2-------1----3--~----. _________ _ 

N AYE. Occupation. 

In what res­
pect Jllention­
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

---------11-------_·_----~---------
Mahomed Takki Khan, Sudder Ameen Dehli, Witness, 9 

" 
Zohur Ali, Police officer Najuf-

Maida, 

Makhan. 

gur, Rebel, 

Shop keeper. 

Servant of C~ptaill 
Douglas.' ... W:tne~s in 

:lIfogul Beg's 
trial. 

Servant of Ex· King, Rebel, 

Manir-ud·d.in Khan.... Governor of Dehli, 
Chief Police Officer, Ditto, 

Ditto. Manir.ud.dowlut, 

Mardan Khan, 

Muthra Doss, 

Do. Do., 

l\Iedba, 

Not given, 

Ditto, 

Treasurer, 

Merchant, 

••• I Ditto, 

... ! Ditto, 

Ditto, 

G 

29 

110, 125, 275, 276.-
278,284.285,286, 
2!JO, 2!H, 2!J3, 2!H. 

11!J, 217, 2!J1. 

161, 162, 163. 

61 

7Q 

23, I6li 

64,65. 

Chowkedar of Nizam- I 
oodeen, Witness in 

Haji's trial, 21),1. 

Meer MohsnD. 

lIIir Akbur Ali. Trooper in attendance 
on Mr. Fraser, Rebel, 

Mir Hamid Ali Khan. Nawab, Ditto, 

l\Iir IIydur Hoosein. Cominandant of King's 
Artillery, Ditto. 

Mir Khan, Brother of N'awab of 
Jahangirabad. Rebel. 

281, 282. 283. 

16.J. 

162 

75, 107. 

167 



1 2 3 4 ------·----------I----------------I---------I.--________ ~·--· 

N A. H·E. . Occupation. 

Mir Nawab, aliu ,Ab-, 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

dul Hasan, .. , Not given, ... Doubtful,... 11 

Mirza Alli, .• - Servant of Ex-King, Rebel, ... 149 

Mirza Alli :Bukht,... Prince, 

.. Amin-ud-din Khan, Chief, 

" ~mir-ud-din Khan, Not given, 

"Azim :Beg, ... Pensioner 1st Irregu-
lar Cavalry, ... 

" :Bhadoor, ••. Son of Ex-King, 

... :Bulaki, ... Prince, 

.. Fateh-ul-Mulkh, Son of Ex-Kin~, ... 

.. Fazil :Beg Khan, Not given, 

" Haidur (Shikoh) Lucknow Prince (Ne­
phew of Ex-King, ) 

.. Jawan :Bukht, ... Son of Ex-King, ... 

" Khair Sultan, ... ditto, 

" Khan :Buksh,... Lur:know Prince, .. . 

" Khurshed Kadir, Son of Ex-King, .. . 

" Kochak, ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

• ditto, 

ditto, . 

247,248. 

16~, 167, 170. 

161 

178 

33 

149 

246,249. 

68 

149, 150, 24(;, 248, 
259. 

52, 53, 140, 155, 
158, 161, 165, 184, 
219, 241, 246, 248, 
274, 277, 279 to 
283, 286, 287. 

12, 13, 14, 31, 64, 
67,77,85,91,138, 
162, 168, 177,182, 
184, 287. 

149 

34 

114, 168, 175. 



xxii 

1 2 3 
------'-'---1----·------------------

Occupation. 

Mirza. Koyash, Prince, 

,,]'.Iahomed Ab-
doolla, Son .of Ex-King, 

" " ~an, 

Abdool Ru-

" l\fahomed A bul-

Son of Ex-King and 
. Col. 20th N. Infy, 

bah Bahadoor,... Grandson of Ex.King, 

" Mahomed Azeem, Door k eper, 

" Majhli, 

Mirza Mend u, 

" Moghul, 

" Murid, 

" Najar, 

Prince, 

Son of Ex-King, 

Ditto, 

Lucknow Princl', '" 

Nephew of Ex-King, 

" Rahmut Bahadur, Not given, 

" Safari SuI tan 
Zainul-ab-din, Son of Ex-King, 

" SaB. Sultan, Ditto, 

In what res­
pect mention-
ed, accused, Pa"'e. 

rebel, witness, ~ t:I 

or otherwise. 

Rebel, 285. 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

14, 79, 131, 14:2, 
162, 177, 187. 

91 

14 to 17, 138, 162, 
163, 164,166, 168, 
170, 207,208, 21)2. 

71,72. 

166 

138,168. 

I, 7, 8, 10-12, 14; 
15, 17 to 22, 24, 
26, 27, 29, 46, 58, 
61 to 63, 65, 66, 

.68 to 83, 85, 87, 
88, 90 to 97, 99, 
Ill, 114, 138, 151" 
] 62, 167,170,184, 
201,207, 208, 210, 

, 222, 223, 225, 229, 
230,250. 

149,246. 

139, '247,248. 

178 

33 

34 



1 2 

Occupation. 

3 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accused, 

rebel, witnllss 
or otherwise. 

Page;-



xxiv 

1 2 
-

N.urE. Occupation. 

Mubarak AliKhan, ... Servant o(Bullubgurh 
Raja, ... 

" 
Shah, ... Chief Police O.6icer, 

Dehli City, '" 

MududAli, .... Cap,tain, Jeypoor Ser-
Vice, ... 

Mukta Prashad, ... Lawyer, Bullubgurh 
State, ... 

Mukund Lall, ... Secretary to Ex-King, 

De. (Kayasth), '" Not given, '" 

N. 
Nabi Buksh, ... Merchant, 

'" 

Ditto Khan, '" Agent of late KiBg 
Akbur Shah, '" 

Nahar Singh, ... Raja of 13ullubgurh, 

Nand KishwlU', ... ... 
Nani Begum, ... Daughter of Ex.King, 

Narayan Doss, ... ... 
Narayn Doss, ... Merchant, ... 

" 
Sing, ... Sepoy 46th Native In-

fantry, ... . 
eN utha Khan, ... Magazine Store-keeper, 

Nathia Khan, ... Trooper, ... 

3 

In what res-
pect mention-
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

... 

Rebel, ... 

... 

Rebel, ... 
Witness, . .. 

Rebel.l . .. 

Rebel, . .. 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

'" 

Rebel, ... 
.. . 

Rebel, . .. 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

'4 --
Page. 

_--L.-

56 

27,28 . 

281 

-
56 

9, 57, 62, 67, 14 
171,182, 184,207 
242. 

9, 

151, 163. 

51, 52, 65, 66 . 

36,243. 

44 to 50, 52 to 5 
160, 163, 175, 17 

128 

151 

162 

184 

13 

94 

10 

7, 
7. 
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I 
2 3 4 -

In what res-
pect mention-

Nun:. , Occupation. ed, accused, Page. 
rebel, witness 
or otherwise. 

- -' ---
Nazir-ud..din Khan, '" PolicEl Officer, Bhadra-

1)00r, ... Rebel, ... 441 

Nathu, ... Tailor, ... Loyal, . .. 169 

-, 

Nissar Ali, ... Deputy Prime Minis-
ter, Bullubgurh 

5G State, ... ... . 
Nizam-ud·din Shah, ... Member of King's de. 

liber&tive confer-
Rebel, - 162 ences, ... ... 

Nubbee Buksh, ... Not given~ . .. Murderer of 
European 
captives in 
the palace, 291 

N u boo, alias Deen Ma-
homed, ... Armed Orderly of 

King, ... Rebel and 
murderer . of Captain 
Douglas & 

Mr. Fraser, See " Deen Ma. 
homed." 

No.2, - - 293 " ... ... .... 
, 

Nur Mahomed ,Khan, Resaldar 10th Irregu-
lar Cavalry, Rebel, 

. 
8S ... ... 

O. Nil. 

p. -. 
-) 

Patiala, - ". Maharaja ofj ... t •• 167 

Persia, 0" King of, . .. , 102, 107. 128, 140, 
150, IS!}, 193 to 
200,247. 

Pir Baksh, 
. 

~erchant, - Rebel, 66 ... ... . ... 
, 



xxvi 

1 

'\ 
2 1_3_ 4 ---

In what res-

NAllE. Occupation. 
pect mention-
ed, accused, Page. 
rebel, witI!ess 
or otherwise. 

Pir Baksh neg, Tinker. Rebel, 31 
Poorun Sing, Jemadar of Orderlies, Loyal, 273, 275, 279, 2841 

to 286, 289 to 203. 

Pran, Servant of Captain 
Douglas, ditto, 109, 110, 13'1. 

o· Nil. 

R· 
llagonath Rao, Sepoy, Rebel, 80 

Rahimulla, A prisoner, 25 

Rahmut Ali Khan, Chief, Rebel, 163, 165, 170. 

Raja Lall, Chief Secretary Eul. 
lubgurh State, Ditto, 56 

:Raja Ram Sing, Ruler of Jaipur, Ditto, 163,167. 

Rajub Ali, Jemadar Dehli lra.. 
gazine, Ditto, 7,94-

Bam Eubb, Subadar 74th Native 
, Infantry, Ditto, 941 

Ram Charan, Trooper 4th Irregular 
Cavalry, ... Ditto, 74 

Bam Churn Dass, Deputy Collector, ... Ditto, 162 

Ramdeen, Subadar 4th Native 
Infantry, Ditto, 85 

Ramjeedoss Gurwalla, Gram merehant, Ditto, 165,168, 177. 

Bamjeedess Godown· 
walla, Merchant, Ditto, 168 

Ramsahoy Mall, Supdt. of Supplies, Ditt(), 161 

• 



1 

N,ll£E. 

Ram Sing, ... 

]!amzan Khan, ... 

:tlao Ebara, 

Roushun Sing, ... 
Runjit Sing, ... 
Rustum Ali, resident 

of Kerowli, .. -. 
R uttun Chund, ... 

S. 

S aadut AU Khan, ... 

S abit Ali, ... 

s 
s 

afi Tehmanseb Mirza., 

s 
s 
s 

s 
s 

ahib Lall, 

aifulla, 

aligram, 

aligram, 

amman, 

ant Lall, 

... 

... 

... 
'" 

... 

... 

xxvii 

2 

Occupation. 

Subadar 5th Troop 
Artillery, ... 

Risaldar 8th Irregu-
lar Cavalry; ... 

,Ruler of Kutch Bhoj, 

Land.owner, •.. 
Ruler of J asalmir, . .. 

." 
Superintendent Royal 

GardeIas, ••• 

Police Officer, Eullub-
gurh :state, ... 

Servant of Ex. King, 

Son of Ex. King, ... 
Soobadar, 2nd Troop 

Artillery, ... 
Merchant, . .. 
TreasuI'er, ... 
Bullock Trab. Pro-

prietor, ... 
King's Service; ... 
Officer of the Pay De. 

partment, ... 

3 I 4 

In what res-
pect mention-

ed, accused, 
rebel, witness 

Page. 

or otherwise. 

----
Rebel, . .. 85 

Ditto, 23 

Ditto, 99,230. 
\ 
Ditto, 92 

Ditto, 99,230. 

Ditto, 
I 

51 

Ditto" 19 

Doubtful, ... 56 

Witness on 
trial of 
Hajee, ... 205 

... 34 

Rebel, . .. 85 

Ditto, 60 

Ditto, 163,168. 

Ditto, 28, '29.' 

Ditto, 9 

Ditto, 9 



xxviii 

1 I 2 3 
-----------------:-----------

NAME. Occupation. 

In what ret!­
pect mention­
ed, Ilccu&ed, 

rebl:Ol, witness 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

------------I-~------ ---------,~--

Sci~dia, 

Shadiram, 

lIaharaja of Gwalior, Doubtful, ... 182 

••. Merchant, 

Shah Nizam.~d-din,... Priest, 

Shah Rukh Beg, ... Not given, 

Rebel, 20 

Doubtful, .. , 165 

Robel, 73 

Shamsher-ud-Dowlut, Father of Queen 
Einat Maha11. Doubtful, ... 208 

"harif-ul:Hulr, Chief Police Officer, 
Delhi, Loyal, 

Sbekh Bansu, Corporal 44th N. 1., Rebel, 

Shekh Din Mahomed, Armed Orderly 
King, 

of 
Murderer of 
Captain 

127 

73 

Douglas,... See" Deen Mahom· 

Shekh Imam Buksh, Soobadar, ard Troop 
Artillery, He bel, 

Shekh II!lam Buksb, Soobadar 54th N. I., 

Sheo, ~:~ Moonshee in King's 
private office, 

SheodasB Pathuk, Sepoy 46th N. I., 

Sheodial, Merchant, 

Sheo Prashad, Merchant, 

Sheo Ram Miser, Soobadar Major, 

Rheo Singh, Chief of Sumnout, 

Sher KhaD, Personal friend to Ab­
dool Huk, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

ed." • 

85 

~48 

9 

13 

20 

a 
GO 

IGi 

56 



xxix 

1 2 3 4 
------- ---._------ ----------~ 

NAME. Occupation. 

In what res­
pect mention- . 
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness. 
or otherwise. 

Page. 

----"----1---.------,-- ----. - ----
Siddhai, 

Sidhari Singh, 

. Jemadar of Lascars, Rebel,· 

Sidi Bilal, 

General, Neemuch 
Troops, 

Forml'rly in employ 
of Ex-King, 

Sidi Kl,tmhur, Abyssi-
nian, C~ief of Abyssinians, 

Somair Singh, • ,;a Soobadar Babadur, ... 

Sudder-ud-din Baha-
dur, Moulvie, 

Suill-ud-din S06ltan 
Mahomed, Bon of Ex-King, , .. 

" " Waseh, 
lIld. ~ufi Sooltan, Ditto, 

Sukhan Lall, 

Sultan Hoosein, 

,.. Service of Ex-King, 

Son of Ex-King, 

Surfuraz Khan, ... Duffadar, Artillery, .. , 

Syud Abdulla, 

Syud Ali, 

Byud Goolzar Ali, 

Priest, 

Chief of Benares, 

Cavalryman, 

Byud Kutb Shah Sa-
hib, '... Moulvie of Bareilly, 

Byud Mahomed, Asc~ti~, 

Syud Mahomed Hasan'l Jabadi (C.rusader), 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

80 

172, 187, 204. 

246 . 

103, 106, 107, 124, 
140, 149, 180, 209, 
235, 241, 242,' 247, 
248. . 

81 

9, '170. 

33 

34 

9 

33 

80, 162. 

13 

171 

70 

175 

15 

188,189. 



1 .\ 

NAlIE. 

Syud Meerun, alias 
Mahomed Shuffee, 

T. Nil. 

u· 

· xxx 

2 

Occupation. 

3 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accused, 

rebel;witness, 
or otherwise. 

Rubel, 

U sbgurh .Mi, .,. Syud ot Farasb ·KbanD, WitneRI\ for 

4 

Pl\ge. 

Seo " Maholl'ed 
Shuffeo." 

Mogul Beg, 281, 283, 28G, 287. 

Usbruf All, ••. Maker of Silver.wire, Witness for 
defence in 
MoguL Beg's 
Trial, 281, 282. 

UsbrufBeg, 

U shrut Khan, 

v. Nil. 

W. 
Wajib Ali Shab, 

Attendant on lawan 
Bukht, Rebel, 281, 282, 283. 

Chuprassie, 

Not given, 

Witness in 
Mogul Beg's 
Trial, 277, 280, 28:;. 

Assassin, 291 

Walidad Khltn, Nawab of Malagurh, Rebel, 162, 1GG, 172, 183. 

W arris ~Iahomed 
Khan of Bhopal, Ditto, 

Wassih Ali Shah, 

WazirAli: 

'WazirA~ 

Wilayuttee ~rogul 
.. (probably Khalikdad 
Cabuli ), 

Son of Ex-King, 

lemadar, 

Moulvie, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Ditto, 

Retainer of King's 
Prime Minister, '" Assassin, 

175 

33 

78 

183 
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1 2 3 4 
------/----------/------ ---------

NAME. Occupation. 

In what res­
pect mention­
ed, accused, 

rebel, witness 
or otherwi~e. 

Page. 

------·-----1-------------------------
X. :Nil. 

v· 
Yusf Beg, 

z· 
Zabtay Khan, 

Zinat Mahall, 

Not given, 

•..• Police Officer, 

Queen, 

"' 

... Rebel, ... 18 

Rebel, 

Ditto, 

.9,75,76 . 

151, 158, 182, 208, 
209, 248, 252, 2~2. 

. Zohur Ali, Chief. of Dhurmpur, Ditto, 

Ditto, 

183 

Zohur Ali, Mahomed, Moulvie, 222 
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